The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry 103 *Series Editors:* Damià Barceló · Andrey G. Kostianoy

Sandra Pérez Solsona Nicola Montemurro Serge Chiron Damià Barceló *Editors*

Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems

The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater



The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry

Volume 103

Founding Editor: Otto Hutzinger

Series Editors: Damià Barceló • Andrey G. Kostianoy

Editorial Board Members: Jacob de Boer, Philippe Garrigues, Ji-Dong Gu, Kevin C. Jones, Thomas P. Knepper, Abdelazim M. Negm, Alice Newton, Duc Long Nghiem, Sergi Garcia-Segura In over three decades, *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* has established itself as the premier reference source, providing sound and solid knowledge about environmental topics from a chemical perspective. Written by leading experts with practical experience in the field, the series continues to be essential reading for environmental scientists as well as for environmental managers and decision-makers in industry, government, agencies and public-interest groups.

Two distinguished Series Editors, internationally renowned volume editors as well as a prestigious Editorial Board safeguard publication of volumes according to high scientific standards.

Presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches in topical volumes, the scope of the series covers topics such as

- local and global changes of natural environment and climate
- anthropogenic impact on the environment
- water, air and soil pollution
- remediation and waste characterization
- environmental contaminants
- biogeochemistry and geoecology
- chemical reactions and processes
- chemical and biological transformations as well as physical transport of chemicals in the environment
- environmental modeling

A particular focus of the series lies on methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

The Handbook of Envir onmental Chemistry is available both in print and online via http://link.springer.com/bookseries/698. Articles are published online as soon as they have been reviewed and approved for publication.

Meeting the needs of the scientific community, publication of volumes in subseries has been discontinued to achieve a broader scope for the series as a whole.

Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems

The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater

Volume Editors: Sandra Pérez Solsona · Nicola Montemurro · Serge Chiron · Damià Barceló

With contributions by

E. Ammar · D. Barceló · L. Beneduce · Y. Bigott · M. Bilal · M. Brienza · W. Buchberger · L. J. Carter · P. N. Carvalho · C. Castillo-Zacarías · S. Chiron · C. Cruzeiro · G. Disciglio · P. Eichhorn · A. Gagliardi · S. Gallego · G. Gatta · A. Ginebreda · M. M. Giuliani · M. Himmelsbach · B. Huerta · H. M. N. Iqbal · D. M. Khalaf · C. W. Klampfl · F. Labad · A. Libutti · R. Manasfi · F. Martin-Laurent · H. Maury · F. Mlynek · N. Montemurro · L. Morin · R. Parra-Saldivar · J. M. Peña-Herrera · S. Pérez · J. B. Sallach · J. C. Sanchez-Hernandez · A. Sauvêtre · P. Schröder · P. M. Schröder · A. Sghir · M. Solé · E. Tarantino · M. Williams



Editors Sandra Pérez Solsona Department of Environmental and Food Chemistry (ENFOCHEM) Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research (IDAEA-CSIC) Barcelona, Spain

Serge Chiron D University of Montpellier - IRD Montpellier, France Nicola Montemurro Department of Environmental and Food Chemistry (ENFOCHEM) Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research (IDAEA-CSIC) Barcelona, Spain

Damià Barceló D Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA) Parc Científic i Tecnològic de la Universitat de Girona Girona, Spain

ISSN 1867-979X ISSN 1616-864X (electronic) The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry ISBN 978-3-030-61289-4 ISBN 978-3-030-61290-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-61290-0

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG. The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Series Editors

Prof. Dr. Damià Barceló

Department of Environmental Chemistry IDAEA-CSIC C/Jordi Girona 18–26 08034 Barcelona, Spain and Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA) H20 Building Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona Emili Grahit, 101 17003 Girona, Spain dbcgam@cid.csic.es

Prof. Dr. Andrey G. Kostianoy

Shirshov Institute of Oceanology Russian Academy of Sciences 36, Nakhimovsky Pr. 117997 Moscow, Russia and S.Yu. Witte Moscow University Moscow, Russia *kostianoy@gmail.com*

Editorial Board Members

Prof. Dr. Jacob de Boer VU University Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands Prof. Dr. Philippe Garrigues Université de Bordeaux, Talence Cedex, France Prof. Dr. Ji-Dong Gu Guangdong Technion-Israel Institute of Technology, Shantou, Guangdong, China Prof. Dr. Kevin C. Jones Lancaster University, Lancaster, UK Prof. Dr. Thomas P. Knepper Hochschule Fresenius, Idstein, Hessen, Germany Prof. Dr. Abdelazim M. Negm Zagazig University, Zagazig, Egypt Prof. Dr. Alice Newton University of Algarve, Faro, Portugal Prof. Dr. Duc Long Nghiem University of Technology Sydney, Broadway, NSW, Australia Prof. Dr. Sergi Garcia-Segura Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ, USA

Series Preface

With remarkable vision, Prof. Otto Hutzinger initiated *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* in 1980 and became the founding Editor-in-Chief. At that time, environmental chemistry was an emerging field, aiming at a complete description of the Earth's environment, encompassing the physical, chemical, biological, and geological transformations of chemical substances occurring on a local as well as a global scale. Environmental chemistry was intended to provide an account of the impact of man's activities on the natural environment by describing observed changes.

While a considerable amount of knowledge has been accumulated over the last four decades, as reflected in the more than 150 volumes of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, there are still many scientific and policy challenges ahead due to the complexity and interdisciplinary nature of the field. The series will therefore continue to provide compilations of current knowledge. Contributions are written by leading experts with practical experience in their fields. *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* grows with the increases in our scientific understanding, and provides a valuable source not only for scientists but also for environmental topics from a chemical perspective, including methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

In recent years, there has been a growing tendency to include subject matter of societal relevance in the broad view of environmental chemistry. Topics include life cycle analysis, environmental management, sustainable development, and socio-economic, legal and even political problems, among others. While these topics are of great importance for the development and acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, the publisher and Editors-in-Chief have decided to keep the handbook essentially a source of information on "hard sciences" with a particular emphasis on chemistry, but also covering biology, geology, hydrology and engineering as applied to environmental sciences.

The volumes of the series are written at an advanced level, addressing the needs of both researchers and graduate students, as well as of people outside the field of "pure" chemistry, including those in industry, business, government, research establishments, and public interest groups. It would be very satisfying to see these volumes used as a basis for graduate courses in environmental chemistry. With its high standards of scientific quality and clarity, *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* provides a solid basis from which scientists can share their knowledge on the different aspects of environmental problems, presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches.

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry is available both in print and online via www.springerlink.com/content/110354/. Articles are published online as soon as they have been approved for publication. Authors, Volume Editors and Editors-in-Chief are rewarded by the broad acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* by the scientific community, from whom suggestions for new topics to the Editors-in-Chief are always very welcome.

Damià Barceló Andrey G. Kostianoy Series Editors

Contents

Part I Introduction

The Journey of Human Drugs from Their Design at the Bench to Their Fate in Crops	3
Nicola Montemurro, Juan Manuel Peña-Herrera, Antoni Ginebreda, Peter Eichhorn, and Sandra Pérez	
Sources of Pharmaceuticals in Water Roberto Parra-Saldivar, Carlos Castillo-Zacarías, Muhammad Bilal, Hafiz M. N. Iqbal, and Damiá Barceló	33
Environmental, Economic, and Ethical Assessment of the Treated Wastewater and Sewage Sludge Valorization in Agriculture Emna Ammar, Hugo Maury, Loïc Morin, and Abdelghani Sghir	49
Wastewater Reuse in Agriculture: Effects on Soil-Plant SystemPropertiesGiuseppe Gatta, Angela Libutti, Anna Gagliardi, Grazia Disciglio,Emanuele Tarantino, Luciano Beneduce, and Marcella Michela Giuliani	79
Uptake and Translocation of Pharmaceuticals in Plants: Principles and Data Analysis	103
Part II Fate, Uptake and Metabolism of Drugs in Crops	
Soil Sorption and Degradation Studies of Pharmaceutical Compounds Present in Recycled Wastewaters Based on Enantiomeric Fractionation	143
Monica Brienza, Belinda Huerta, Rayana Manasfi, and Serge Chiron	

Uptake and Effects of Pharmaceuticals in the Soil-Plant-Earthworm System	175
Laura J. Carter, Mike Williams, and J. Brett Sallach	
Metabolism of Pharmaceuticals in Plants and Their Associated Microbiota Andrés Sauvêtre, Peter Eichhorn, and Sandra Pérez	221
Part III Remediation and Impacts	
Impact of PhACs on Soil Microorganisms	267
Biomarkers in Earthworms	311
Vermiremediation of Pharmaceutical-Contaminated Soils and Organic Amendments	339
Constructed Wetlands and Phytoremediation as a Tool for Pharmaceutical Removal	377
Part IV Current Status of Analytical Methods	
Development of Methods for the Determination of PhACs in Soil/Earthworm/Crop System Irrigated with Reclaimed Water Rayana Manasfi, Francesc Labad, and Nicola Montemurro	417
Analytical Approaches for the Determination and Identification of Drug Metabolites in Plants After Uptake	493
Conclusions and Future Perspectives	525

Part I Introduction

The Journey of Human Drugs from Their Design at the Bench to Their Fate in Crops



Nicola Montemurro, Juan Manuel Peña-Herrera, Antoni Ginebreda, Peter Eichhorn, and Sandra Pérez

Contents

1	Introduction	4			
2	Drug Discovery and Development	5			
3	Physico-chemical Space of Small-Molecule Drugs	8			
4	Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Excretion (ADME)	10			
5	Environmental Regulatory Perspective in the European Union	12			
6	Presence of Pharmaceuticals in Wastewater	17			
7	Pharmaceuticals in Crops Irrigated with Treated Wastewater	19			
8	Uptake, Distribution, and Metabolism of PhACs in Crops	19			
9	Presence of Drugs in Earthworms	22			
10	Drugs in Constructed Wetlands	22			
11	Analysis of Drugs and Their Metabolites	24			
Refe	2 eferences				

Abstract The topic of this book is dedicated to the analysis, fate, metabolism, effects, and remediation of pharmaceutically active compounds in water-soil-biota systems. While the majority of readers are likely to already have a broad understanding of potential entry points, flows, transformation pathways, and temporary and permanent sinks of drugs in the environment, the objectives of this first chapter are fourfold: (a) to provide a concise overview of the journey a drug takes from its inception at the laboratory bench to the desk of the reviewer at the regulatory agency; (b) to understand the biological and physiological processes a drug undergoes from administration to humans – or to the animal in case of veterinary medicines – to their excretion and ultimately discharge into wastes; (c) to describe the physico-chemical space small-molecule drugs reside in as this characteristic largely governs their later environmental fate; (d) to review their presence, fate, and metabolism in crops and

N. Montemurro (⊠), J. M. Peña-Herrera, A. Ginebreda, P. Eichhorn, and S. Pérez ENFOCHEM, Department of Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: nmoqam@cid.csic.es

Sandra Pérez Solsona, Nicola Montemurro, Serge Chiron, and Damià Barceló (eds.), Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems: The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater, Hdb Env Chem (2021) 103: 3–32, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_643, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 21 August 2020

plants determined using innovative analytical methods; as well as (e) to evaluate the effects and remediation of drugs in crops and biota.

Keywords ADME, Analytical methods, Crops, Distribution, Drug development, Drug discovery, Earthworms, Fate, Humans, Metabolism, Soil, Wetlands

1 Introduction

According to the definition of the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA), an active ingredient is "any component that provides pharmacological activity or other direct effect in the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease, or to affect the structure or any function of the body of man or animals."¹ Within the realm of the pharmaceutical industry and the regulatory agencies, the terms "active ingredient," "pharmaceutically active substance," and "drug" are used interchangeably with the latter term commonly preferred for the sake of simplicity. Here, for the remainder of this introductory chapter, the term drug is used, although many publications in the field of environmental sciences tend to differentiate between pharmaceutically active compounds (PhACs) on the one hand and drugs in the sense of illegal or illicit ones on the other hand.

Regarding the above definition, most drugs elicit their pharmacological effect in the target organism through interactions with specific macromolecular entities which are involved in physiological processes or signaling cascades. The understanding of these biological processes at a molecular level allows to design drugs for the selective modulation of their activity. In view of the broad variety of potential pharmacological targets comprising enzymes, transmembrane receptors, ion channels, transport proteins, nuclear receptors, protein-protein interfaces, RNA, and DNA [1], the chemical structures of drug molecules are highly diverse, and after the dominating role of small-molecule drugs for most of the existence of modern drug research, novel therapeutic modalities are becoming ever more important, including monoclonal antibodies, proteins, peptides, and antisense oligonucleotides [2]. Within the context of environmental studies, though, the focus has been on low molecular weight compounds (<800-1,000 Da) of well-defined structure that are accessible through classical organic synthesis or can be isolated, and if needed chemically modified, with relative ease from naturally occurring microorganisms (e.g., macrolide antibiotics).

Irrespective of the drug class to aim at, engaging into the business of drug discovery and development is characterized by a lengthy and tedious process, tremendous investment, high risk of failure, and uncertainty about the return on

¹https://www.fda.gov/drugs/drug-approvals-and-databases/drugsfda-glossary-terms

investment. The multi-faceted challenges encountered in drug development are closely associated with the fact that the entire path toward marketing authorization is highly regulated by the respective agencies (the FDA in the United States, the European Medicines Agency at the level of the European Union, and the Pharmaceuticals and Medical Devices Agency in Japan). It is the task of these regulatory bodies to evaluate the efficacy and safety of novel drug and may ultimately grant marketing authorization for drug applications.

Taking into consideration that it takes tens of thousands of compounds to be screened for affinity toward the pharmacological target, about 10 years from the first hint of disease-relevant activity in an animal model to the solid proof of clinical safety and efficacy in a large patient population, and an estimated 1,000,000,000 USD until submission of the dossier to the regulatory agency, it is clear that such an undertaking requires an exceptional combination of financial resources, scientific expertise, and, once the drug product has been approved, a well-implemented commercial network that reaches out to patients and prescribers. This explains why nowadays – after 25 years of major mergers and acquisitions in the sector – a few global players among the pharmaceutical companies dominate the market, the largest one being the United States with a value of 340 billion USD.

2 Drug Discovery and Development

The drug discovery and development process can be roughly divided into three phases: the discovery phase (Fig. 1) usually starts with the hypothesis that alteration of a physiologic pathway may lead to changes in a pathologic condition. For example, inhibition of the enzyme cyclooxygenase (COX) was identified to reduce the conversion of polyunsaturated fatty acids into prostaglandins, which are key factors in the development of inflammation (this discovery eventually resulted in the family of widely used non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs). Following the decision to pursue a target, chemical libraries with thousands of compounds are screened for their affinity toward the receptor (e.g., COX). Modification of the resulting hits by conventional organic synthesis then aims at improving the binding properties. It is the medicinal chemists who attempt to understand the impact of specific structural changes on the potency of the compounds. This reiterative process leads to the discovery of highly potent, and ideally selective, substances. In parallel to the improvements in potency, the chemical design addresses the aspects of target exposure in order ensure efficient delivery of the drug to the site of action at concentrations sufficiently high to trigger the desired biological response (see Sect. 4 on pharmacokinetic principles). Next, the in vivo efficacy is tested in animal models mimicking the human disease, for example, carrageenan-induced edema of the rat paw. All these efforts made in a research program make up about 3 to 4 years of the overall process and ultimately aim at identifying a candidate for preclinical development. Apart from demonstrated in vitro potency, target exposure, and in vivo efficiency, additional criteria for selecting appropriate compounds are high



Fig. 1 Drug discovery and development process of small-molecule drugs

selectivity for the target and absence of liabilities of the cardiovascular system and the central nervous system.

The objective of the preclinical development stage (Fig. 1) is to conduct a series of toxicity studies in rodent and non-rodent species that support the first clinical trials with healthy human volunteers. In these studies, the animals are dosed by acute or sub-chronic treatment to achieve systemic concentrations by far exceeding those predicted for clinical settings with humans, which allows to identify target organs of toxicity and to anticipate potential undesirable effects in humans. By comparing exposure scenarios between the so-called no observed adverse effect (NOAEL) levels in the test species with the estimated exposure in humans at the therapeutically active dose, the safety margins of the compound are calculated. These safety assessments go alongside the development of a pharmaceutical formulation that ensures the physical, chemical, and microbiological stability of the active ingredient in the drug product. In addition, strict requirements apply as to controlling and documenting the manufacturing process of the active and the formation and identification of possible by-products in the chemical synthesis. Finally, to move the

compound forward into clinical testing, approval of the national or international regulatory agency is sought for by submitting the application for a new investigational drug. Provided that the mandatory studies have been executed according to the relevant guidelines and that the outcomes of the toxicological evaluations allow to discard potential concerns about the risk of the drug substance on health of the human subjects, the third phase can be initiated.

The clinical development stage (Fig. 1) comprises three sequential phases and commonly stretches over a period of 6–8 years. The major objectives of Phase I trial are to recruit a small number of healthy volunteers (usually adult males of young age) for assessing safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of the new drug. By gradually increasing the dose from sub-therapeutic levels, potential adverse effects are recorded, and a maximum tolerated dose can be identified. Despite all the encouraging findings collected during discovery and preclinical development, statistically speaking, about half of all Phase I trials conclude with the premature termination of the project, be it for lack of safety and tolerability and due to suboptimal pharmacokinetics properties. Compounds surviving the scrutiny of the first clinical assays enter Phase II trials which is the first time that a patient population with the target indication is treated with the new drug at therapeutic doses. At this point, it all comes down to obtaining the proof of concept in studies of limited duration and a relatively small population size (several tens to a few hundreds): is the drug efficacious at the given dose with an acceptable safety profile? This question is of particular importance for novel mechanisms of action, which have not yet been validated in the clinics. In case of satisfactory findings, the drug enters Phase III trials to evaluate efficacy and safety in a large number of patients (several hundreds to several thousands) over an extended treatment period.

Despite all the understanding of the underlying mechanism of a disease and the arsenal of "(bio)chemical weapons" to modulate them, and despite sufficiently high safety margins estimated from a large number of toxicological studies in animal species, the discouraging reality in the twenty-first century is that, on average, a mere 10% of all drugs entering into clinical trials are eventually granted marketing authorization by the regulatory agencies as the ultimate authority for evaluating the risk-benefit ratio of new drugs [3, 4].

Notwithstanding this rather modest success rate, numerous are the cases where breakthroughs in treatment options of chronic diseases have led to outstanding commercial triumphs. Two examples shall serve here to illustrate the economic impact of very successful drugs: the monoclonal antibody adalimumab (AbbVie's Humira), which is prescribed for the treatment of several autoimmune diseases, was in 2018 the best-selling drug worldwide generating revenues of 20.4 billion USD. Another record is hold by the cholesterol-lowering atorvastatin (Pfizer's Lipitor) that generated sales figures on the amount of 150 billion USD from the time of approval in 1997 until patent expiration, and therefore loss of market exclusivity, in 2011.

3 Physico-chemical Space of Small-Molecule Drugs

With the exclusive coverage of small-molecule drugs in this book, the focus of this section is on the 3,000+ substances with marketing approval. The physico-chemical space they occupy can be defined by three simple, and experimentally readily accessible, properties, namely, molecular weight (MW), lipophilicity, and ion class. While the molecular weight is derived directly from the elemental formula, lipophilicity is commonly measured as the partition coefficient of the compound between n-octanol and water (yielding logP for neutral species or the pH-dependent logD for charged species). The ion class reflects the presence of functional groups in the chemical structure that are ionizable at physiological pH, e.g., the carboxylic acid-bearing anti-inflammatory drug diclofenac belongs the group of acids, whereas the aliphatic amine in the antidepressant sertraline acts as a basic center amenable to protonation. The modern cookbook of the medicinal chemist is replete of synthetic approaches to design virtually any organic molecule; but what are his/her criteria in the search for the right spot in the three-dimensional space? The answer lies first and foremost at the molecular level in the binding of the molecule to the receptor whose physiological function he/she set out to modulate in the belief that this ultimately translates into the desired pharmacological response in humans. For this binding to take place, the drug molecule has to establish a number of specific interactions with the structural building blocks of the receptor, typically in the form of hydrogen bonding, van der Waals interactions, and hydrophobic interactions. In case of protein targets, the drug molecule interacts through its functional groups with the structurally diverse amino acids constituting the protein. The number and strength of interactions of the molecule with the site of the receptor essential for its physiological function, e.g., the site of the enzyme where its natural ligand binds to, then determine the thermodynamic association constant, i.e., its potency toward the target. Tuning these interactions for high affinity toward the selected pharmacological target while minimizing off-target selectivity is the ultimate goal of the synthetic efforts. When no previous knowledge on the chemical environment of functionaltering site is available in the public domain, screening of chemical libraries is a commonly applied approach with subsequent optimization of hit compounds in a trial-and-error mode in order to establish structure-activity relationships. On the other hand, if the three-dimensional structure of the receptor has been elucidated, e.g., through X-ray crystallography, and competitor compounds are available, virtual docking methods can help identify ways to improve the binding of the ligand to the receptor. Such strategy ultimately yields structurally very similar drugs, which may exhibit differences in one or several aspects relating to potency, pharmacokinetic properties, and overall safety and tolerability profiles.

Next to the aforementioned binding criteria, a further key attribute intimately linked to the physico-chemical properties of the compound is the ability to reach the target site in amounts sufficient for coverage. For example, atorvastatin contained in an orally dosed tablet undergoes a sequence of events to reach the site of action: liberation of the active, dissolution, absorption in the intestine, transfer into the bloodstream, and transport to the liver where it finally reaches the enzyme HMG-CoA reductase anchored in the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum. For this to happen, an oral small-molecule drug – and in fact, the large majority of marketed drugs are given by the oral route for ease of administration and patient compliance - needs to combine two important features: aqueous solubility and membrane permeability. Unfortunately, these two properties work in opposite directions insofar as solubility increases with decreasing logP (and MW) while the crossing of biological membrane composed of lipid bilayers is facilitated with increasing logP. Consequently, optimization of compound properties during the drug discovery phase always has a close eye on the lipophilicity. Moving too far away from the drug-like space increases the risk of acquiring suboptimal pharmacokinetic properties. For instance, very polar drugs ($\log P < 0$) suffer from poor absorption, while very lipophilic ones ($\log P > 5$) are poorly soluble in the aqueous environment of the gastrointestinal tract and are likely to display poor absorption behavior. As a general rule, a logP in the range of 1-3 is considered a good compromise for oral small-molecule drugs.

As far as the molecular weight is concerned, for an efficient interaction of a drug molecule with its target receptor, as thus its potency, specific structural elements and functional groups are necessary, which in the end determine the size of the molecule. With increasing molecular weight, however, organic drug-like molecules tend to gain in lipophilicity, which compromises water solubility [5]. To render large molecules more soluble, medicinal chemists can introduce functional groups or motifs that enhance their polarity, be it by adding polar functionalities (hydroxyl or amino group) or by substituting lipophilic building blocks through closely related more polar motifs of similar size and shape (phenyl ring to N-heterocycle switch). Again, such modifications need to be considered with caution because too much polarity in a large molecule, computed as topological polar surface area (TPSA), is detrimental to its ability of passively diffusing through biological membranes. Taken together, finding the right balance in compound structure and properties to satisfy the requirements in potency, membrane permeability, and water solubility eventually defines the chemical space: the majority of oral drugs have a logD 0-4 and a molecular weight of 200–500 Da [6].

Regarding the ion class [7], selection of one type or the other may be dictated by the preference of the receptor for ligands with specific functional groups. For instance, the serotonin re-uptake inhibitor sertraline competes with the endogenous ligand for its binding site on the neuron. Hence, designing a drug with a basic center to displace the likewise basic natural binding partner of the 5-HT receptor is a way of building in affinity toward the target. It is worth stressing that ion class has a direct impact on the three important inherent compound properties: lipophilicity, water solubility, and membrane permeability. Functional groups that are ionized at physiological pH to a significant extent – mostly basic amines with basicity constants (pK_b) above 8 and carboxylic acid-bearing compounds with acidity constants (pK_a) typically below 4.5 – cause a reduction of the logP, i.e., the logD as a more physiologically relevant measure of lipophilicity is shifted to lower values. While this benefits their water solubility (with the exception of the acidic environment of the stomach (pH 2–3) where carboxylic acids are mostly present in their undissociated form), it comes at the expense of passive permeability. The latter is particularly prominent for anionic drugs owing to repulsive interactions with the negatively charged head groups of the phospholipids constituting the lipid bilayer of cell membranes.

4 Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Excretion (ADME)

The multi-parametric optimization of drug properties extends well beyond target affinity, solubility, and permeability (not even considering the experimental evaluation of in vivo efficacy in disease model, off-target selectivity, or safety pharmacology!) with pharmacokinetic properties being a pivotal decision criterion for defining compound quality. Although small-molecule drugs can be delivered locally and systemically by different routes, including inhalation, subcutaneous and intramuscular injection, or dermal application, oral administration represents the single most important delivery option. Once swallowed, the formulation reaches the highly acidic environment of the stomach where release and dissolution of the active ingredient usually take place. Following gastric emptying into the duodenum (pH 5.5-7), the concentration gradient between the drug in the lumen and the enterocytes as the epithelial cells lining the inner surface of the intestine drives the absorption. Importantly, the fraction of dose absorbed in the intestine is largely governed by the two aforementioned compound properties; for the compound to be efficiently absorbed, it needs to be present in dissolved state and exhibit good cellular permeability. When these two requirements are not properly addressed during chemical design, the active is discharged from the body in altered form through feces and thereby contributes directly to the drug burden in municipal sewage.

After uptake into the enterocyte, the drug gets into the blood of the portal vein and flows to the liver (weighing about 1.5 kg in an adult male) as the port of entry to systemic circulation. Next to the physical barrier of the intestinal wall, this organ represents the second barrier to the drug molecule on its way to the site of action (unless it is the liver itself as in case of the family of statins acting on HMG-CoA reductase). As a mechanism of natural protection from foreign substances of no apparent beneficial value, the human liver has evolved over the course of evolution to produce specific enzymes capable of metabolizing unwanted compounds. Synthetic drugs, but also potentially harmful drugs of natural origins, are recognized and subject to metabolic reactions (see chapter "Metabolism of Pharmaceuticals in Plants and their Associated Microbiota" for a more detailed description of drug metabolism) which convert the substrate into more polar and thereby more readily excretable metabolites. This presystemic elimination is referred to as first-pass metabolism and is in most instances an undesired process that needs to be strictly controlled whenever high blood concentrations are necessary to achieve the desired pharmacological effect.

Once in systemic circulation, provided that the drug is sufficiently membrane permeable, it is distributed to all organs and tissues until an equilibrium is achieved where the rate of transfer into tissues equals the rate of back-diffusion into blood. The extent of this distribution is dependent on the partition coefficient (K_n) between tissue/organ and blood which in turn is a function of the affinity of the compound for plasma proteins on the one hand and non-specific binding to tissue components on the other. The pharmacokinetic parameter that quantitatively describes this property of a drug is the volume of distribution, V_d (in units of L/kg), with a high value indicating extensive tissue distribution [8]. Apart from lipophilicity, the compound property with the largest effect on V_d is the ion class: the low V_d of acids arises from strong binding to albumin as the most abundant plasma protein (4-5%) with numerous basic amino acids available for electrostatic interactions [9]. A further contributing factor to the low V_d of acidic drugs is the repulsion by phospholipidbased membranes of tissue cells. Basic compounds, in turn, display a pronounced affinity for tissues (pH range: 7.1–7.4) because they are, in least in part, protonated under these settings which allows for strong interaction with the negatively charged phospholipids. At a macroscopic level, this translates into a high partition coefficient with total tissue concentrations exceeding those measured in blood [10]. When interpreting partition coefficients, however, it is crucial to understand that a high K_p is not indicative of tissue accumulation but the consequence of non-specific binding to tissue components; in other words, total tissue concentrations provide very limited information and do not allow to infer the actual unbound concentration potentially triggering off-target pharmacological responses. This fundamental concept helps explain the high tissue-specific K_p 's of sertraline reported for vertebrates exposed to this highly lipophilic base (logP: 5.15).

The two major eliminatory processes contributing to the removal of drug from the bloodstream are renal and biliary excretion of the unchanged parent compound and hepatic metabolism. As a simple rule, polar drugs of small size (log D < 0) are excreted with relative ease into urine through glomerular filtration at the nephron, whereas large molecules with high TPSA are amenable to biliary excretion, which drains the compound through the bile duct into the intestine for excretion alongside feces [11, 12]. The major elimination mechanism for the majority of marketed drugs, however, is enzyme-mediated biotransformation giving rise to drug metabolites [13].

Given the diversity and substrate selectivity of drug-metabolizing enzymes, particularly in the liver as the predominant site of drug metabolism, a molecule can undergo a variety of reactions generating metabolites with an inherent chance of being excreted into human wastes. With the ultimate goal of maximizing human exposure at the lowest possible dose, identification of the site of metabolism within a discovery compound and chemical design to improve the metabolic stability in the next generation of compounds is one of the principal tasks of dedicated ADME scientists who work closely together with medicinal chemists. The fact that commonly tens to hundreds of compounds need to be screened in oral drug discovery

programs in the search for chemical structures with low affinity for drugmetabolizing enzymes – while maintaining satisfactory properties in all other disciplines – reflects the impact of metabolic clearance in the optimization cycle during all stages until nomination of a candidate for preclinical development. If renal and biliary excretion are negligible pathways, it is the intrinsic metabolic clearance of a compound that has a large influence on the size of the human efficacious dose and eventually on the amount of intact drug reaching the sewage plant. Suboptimal drugs require not only a high dose, but they also suffer from the need for frequent dosing in order to ensure sufficient coverage of the molecular target over the dosing interval. When applying today's standards for a successful drug with respect to dose size and administration frequency, paracetamol with its thrice daily dosing of up to 1,000 mg each clearly ranks at the bottom of the favorite drugs' list and automatically becomes a drug with high amounts in untreated sewage, either in form of intact parent or as metabolites.

It is a legitimate question to ask whether novel small-molecule drugs can be designed to be "environmentally friendly," i.e., combining low therapeutic doses with high biodegradability in the activated sludge treatment of the wastewater treatment plant. The former aspect is undoubtedly addressed in research programs at the pharmaceutical industry for a number of reasons: lower cost of goods, competitive dose sizes and dosing intervals, and reduced risk of adverse effects and drug-drug interactions. The latter, however, is – to the disappointment of environmental scientists – not among the compound optimization criteria. Designing compounds with structural elements susceptible to rapid and efficient microbial degradation will be counterproductive. Too large are the similarities between xenobiotic-recognizing enzymes (hydrolytic, oxidative, and conjugative ones) between the human body and microbial communities.

5 Environmental Regulatory Perspective in the European Union

Drugs that have been absorbed to reach systemic circulation are metabolized and subsequently excreted through the bodily wastes as a mixture of parent compound and the metabolites generated in the target organism. Finally, the complex mixture is discharged through the sewage system and often, but not always, treated in wastewater plants, before the final effluents are released into the environment, where further biotic and abiotic processes including sorption, photolysis, hydrolysis, and biodegradation. Whereas excretion is the predominant input of drugs into the environment, other pathways like inappropriate disposal, industrial spills, or manure spread (particularly for veterinary drugs) should not be overlooked. From the environmental point of view, the following facts of concern are worth considering:

- 1. Drug consumption is increasing owing to demographic growth, aging population, and improved access to medication. The process is ubiquitous on space and continuous on time and extends to some thousands of available drugs.
- 2. Depending on each specific compound and characteristics of the wastewater treatment, their elimination may be not complete. Although specific tertiary treatment steps may be added, an additional technology increases the economic cost of the waste treatment.
- 3. Even though many drugs are degraded, their continuous input into the environment makes them to behave as "pseudo-persistent."
- 4. Drugs are, by design, biologically active compounds, targeted to specific organisms, and having modes of action. Possible side effects on other unintentionally non-targeted exposed organisms living in the receiving ecosystem cannot be ruled out.
- 5. In addition to long-term ecotoxicity effects, there is a human health concerns about antimicrobials (antibiotics, antifungals), whose occurrence in the environment has been proved to promote the development of resistance genes (antimicrobial resistance genes, ARG).
- 6. The "cocktail" of many drugs, metabolites, and transformation products may have unexpected and unpredictable mixture interaction effects (i.e., synergistic, antagonistic, etc.) on environmental wildlife.
- 7. Last but not least, the anthropogenic water cycle includes the safe supply of drinking water to the population. The occurrence of drugs residues in drinking water may pose a risk in human health; therefore their presence must be minimized.

Altogether, it is recognized that the occurrence of drugs in the environment is not devoid of risk and there is a need for incorporating environmental safety aspects into existing regulatory frameworks. In this regard, two broad areas of legislation may be highlighted, namely, (1) the registration process of drugs and (2) the occurrence of drugs in the environment and more specifically in the aquatic environment. Here we will briefly review the current status of both aspects of drug legislation in the European Union.

(a) Regulation of Drugs in the Aquatic Environment

The preservation of the aquatic environment, either surface (marine and fresh) or groundwater in Europe is essentially regulated by the Water Framework Directive (WFD) (Directive 2000/60/EC) [14] and derived pieces of legislation. In that context, to achieve the good status of European water bodies, both the good ecological and chemical status requirements must be fulfilled. For the latter, environmental levels must be in compliance with the environmental quality standards (EQS) of the so called priority substances, whose EQS were set up in the WFD daughter directives (Directive 2008/105/EC amended by Directive 2013/39/EU) [15, 16]. Currently, the list of priority substances" is subjected to periodic revision, meaning that it is open to the incorporation of new candidate substances. To do so Directive

Substance	CAS	Therapy class	Remark
17-Alpha-ethinylestradiol (EE2)	57-63-6	Synthetic hormone	Included in Decision (EU) 2015/ 495 [18]
17-Beta-estradiol (E2)	50-28-2	Hormone	Included in Decision (EU) 2015/ 495 [18]
Estrone (E1)	53-16-7	Hormone	Included in Decision (EU) 2015/ 495 [18]
Erythromycin	114-07-8	Macrolide antibiotic	Included in Decision (EU) 2018/ 840 [19]
Azithromycin	83905-01-5	Macrolide antibiotic	Included in Decision (EU) 2018/ 840 [19]
Clarithromycin	81103-11-9	Macrolide antibiotic	Included in Decision (EU) 2018/ 840 [19]
Amoxicillin	26787-78-0	Penicillin antibiotic	Included in Decision (EU) 2018/ 840 [19]
Ciprofloxacin	85721-33-1	Quinolone antibiotic	Included in Decision (EU) 2018/ 840 [19]
Diclofenac	15307-86-5	NSAID	Included in Decision (EU) 2015/ 495 [18] Withdrawn in Decision (EU) 2018/ 840 [19]

Table 1 Pharmaceutical substances included in the "watch list" according to Decision (EU) 2015/495 and Decision (EU) 2018/840

2013/39/EU (Article 8b) foresees establishing a "watch list" of new substances of concern for which new monitoring data need to be gathered (sic) "for the purpose of supporting future prioritization exercises in accordance with article 16(2) of the WFD." Hence, the inclusion of a substance in the "watch list" might be regarded as a necessary (but not sufficient) condition to its final incorporation into the list of priority substances. The European Commission, on the other hand, in art. 8c of the aforementioned Directive 2013/39/EU entitled "Specific provisions for pharmaceutical substances", undertakes to carry out a specific study on the risks posed by medicinal products in the environment and developing within the next 2 years a strategic approach to pollution of water by pharmaceutical substances. The final outcomes of such approach are available in the corresponding document issued by the European Commission [17].

Up to now the list of priority substances does not include any pharmaceutical substance. Contrastingly, several of them have been already added in the "watch list," in their two successive versions (Table 1). The compounds included are three estrogenic natural or synthetic hormones and five antibiotics belonging to three different families (three macrolides, one penicillin, and one quinolone). It is worth mentioning the case of the NSAID diclofenac that appeared in the first watch list but was finally withdrawn from the second one. A new "watch list" is currently under preparation led by the JRC (Ispra, Italy), but at the time of writing this book chapter, only a preliminary draft is available [20]. Notably, this document incorporates new pharmaceuticals as proposed candidate substances, namely, the antifungals

clotrimazole, fluconazole, and miconazole, the antibiotics sulfamethoxazole and trimethoprim, the proton pump inhibitors omeprazole and its metabolite 4-hydroxy omeprazole sulfide (OM14), the synthetic hormone norethisterone, and the antidepressant venlafaxine.

(b) Environmental Aspects in the Registration of Pharmaceuticals

The legal basis for the registration, production, distribution, and use of medicinal products in the EU member states is governed by the Directive 2001/83/EC. In accordance with their provisions, any medical product should get an official authorization previous to its marketing, which is issued by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) after the proper completion of a registry process. According to Article 8(3) of the aforesaid directive, applicants must submit a dossier containing the necessary information to ensure the safety and therapeutic and clinical efficacy of the pharmaceutical product. As part of this authorization file, information regarding the potential risks of the drug to the environment is required. Therefore, companies wishing to register a new drug have to provide an Environmental Risk Assessment (ERA) [21, 22]. The norm has as well some exceptions (i.e., magistral formulas, research products, radionuclides, blood derivatives, or natural constituents like electrolytes, carbohydrates, lipids, amino acids, peptides, proteins, etc.). Medicinal products consisting of genetically modified organisms have specific requirements as well.

To facilitate and harmonize the ERA procedures, the EMA has elaborated the corresponding guidelines, which have been conveniently updated [23].

According to the EMA guideline 2019 [23], the overall process is depicted in Fig. 1 and includes a risk assessment and a specific hazard assessment. The risk assessment is focused on the environmental occurrence (exposure) and ecotoxic potential effects of the product on the exposed organisms. For some specific biological effects and substances (i.e., endocrine disruptors, antibiotics, etc.), additional aspects have to be considered. In turn, the hazard assessment refers to intrinsic properties of the products considered harmful for the living organisms exposed regardless of the concentration and specifically to the persistence, bioaccumulation, and toxicity (in short, PBT) characteristics. For full details the interested readers are addressed to the above referred EMA guideline [23].

Briefly, the procedure includes two phases (Fig. 2). In general, Phase I consists of a decision tree mostly addressed to differentiate among products that require a further assessment (Phase II) or those that not. This is done on the basis of the predicted environmental concentration (PEC) in surface water of the product estimated from its predicted use. If PEC $\geq 0.01 \ \mu g/L$, the product enters Phase II; otherwise the process is finished. Phase II is a tiered process, starting with the study of physico-chemical properties, environmental fate and ecotoxicity, and a Predicted No Effect Concentration (PNEC). Among other aspects like potential risk to the groundwater and the soil, or the possibility of secondary poisoning in across the trophic chain, Tier A examines the risk ratio PEC/PNEC in surface water, and if it exceeds 1, a Tier B with PNEC refinement is performed. The PBT hazard assessment, carried out (if necessary) in parallel to the risk assessment, aims at evaluating





the potential long-term effects of the product in the environment, regardless of its environmental exposure concentration. Depending on the results obtained in the Phase I (screening phase), a more detailed and definitive assessment is performed in Phase II.

To conclude, and despite recognizing that the implementation of the ERA procedures has constituted a relevant progress to prevent the environmental undesirable effects of pharmaceuticals, some limiting aspects are worth to be mentioned:

- Even though that the presentation of an ERA is mandatory in the registration of a drug, the final authorization or refusal does not depend on the ERA itself.
- ERAs are compulsory for new drugs, but not for those authorized before the approval of the Directive 2001/83/EC.
- ERAs are conducted with pharmaceutical products rather than with drugs.

6 Presence of Pharmaceuticals in Wastewater

The presence of pharmaceuticals in treated wastewater, surface water, and other freshwater resources is a common phenomenon at a global level that has been documented for almost four decades [24–32]. As seen before, drugs and metabolites are excreted and reach wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) [30, 33–48]. Drugs for human use are the main source in wastewater, whereas hospital wastes are the second largest source. Discharges from drug manufacturers are of minor relevance [32].

The persistence of pharmaceutical compounds in wastewater (or pseudopersistence) is mainly due their continuous release into the WWTPs. Although the total amount is affected by the continuous degradation wastewater treatment processes, their continuous inputs in small quantities due to multiple sources, cause many pharmaceutical products remain in the aquatic environment for long periods of time [49–53]. For example, some pharmaceuticals such as carbamazepine, clofibric acid, diclofenac, naproxen, sulfamethoxazole, and lamotrigine can pass the treatment in WWTPs. Once in the aquatic environment, naproxen and sulfamethoxazole can resist up to 1 year in nature being biologically active, while clofibric acid can be maintained in its original form for several years [32].

The most frequently detected families of pharmaceuticals in wastewater worldwide are antibiotics, analgesics, blood lipid regulators, cardiovascular drugs, and antidepressants. For example, while the highest amount of antibiotics was detected in Asia, the highest amount of painkillers was detected in Europe, and the highest concentration of antidepressants was measured in North America [24, 54]. Currently, of the approximately 1,500 pharmaceutical ingredients most used and studied in total (which represent only a limited portion of the total) [55], nearly 560 different compounds have been effectively detected globally in wastewater [24]. Figure 3 shows the total concentrations of several families of drugs detected in European WWTPs since 2010. Analgesics/anti-inflammatory drugs, β -blocker agents, drugs



Fig. 3 Total concentration of families of pharmaceuticals reported in influents and effluents studies in European wastewater treatment plants. Sources: [31, 56–62]

used for lipid control, and psychiatric drugs are the top four families present in raw sewage, with a total concentration of up to 1.5 mg/L in the case of analgesic/antiinflammatory drugs and 1 mg/L for β -blockers. The highest concentration of an individual drug was reported for acetaminophen in Portugal with a concentration of 0.6 mg/L [61].

Removal efficiency is class-dependent with contrast agents, analgesic/antiinflammatory drugs, psychiatric drugs, and antihypertensives being the four most detected therapeutic classes (Fig. 3). Contrast agents were detected with total concentrations as high as up to 0.094 mg/L, and the analgesic/anti-inflammatory drugs were presented at 0.037 mg/L. The highest concentrations, reported for iopromide (contrast agent), valsartan (antihypertensive), and gabapentin (psychiatric drug), were reported in Portugal and Germany at 0.085, 0.015, and 0.012 mg/L [59, 62].

WWTPs typically employ primary and secondary treatment systems, with aerobic and anaerobic treatment [32, 63]; nevertheless, those processes are able to reduce partially the pharmaceuticals concentration from the wastewater, because WWTPs are not designed for complete removal of this type of contaminants in water. Advanced wastewater treatments such as photocatalysis, sonolysis, or advances oxidation processes can be implemented to reduce considerably the load of pharmaceuticals in wastewater effluents, but investments into installation of full scale at elevated operational costs hamper their widespread implementation [32, 63].

7 Pharmaceuticals in Crops Irrigated with Treated Wastewater

With freshwater becoming increasingly scarce, the water crisis is turning into a political, economic and social issue. Hence, the growing pressure on water resources forces to look for alternative sources of freshwater. In this sense, the reliance on extraction of freshwater, surface water, and groundwater can be diminished by using reclaimed wastewater. The reuse of wastewater is a fundamental requirement for the management of water resources, although globally there is a lack of legislation on the minimum requirements for water quality and monitoring for water reclamation. In view of the high content of nutrients such as phosphorus and nitrogen, treated wastewater lends itself readily for irrigation purposes in agriculture. Furthermore, by reducing the need for additional mineral fertilizer applications, water reclamation contributes to the promotion of the circular economy by recovering nutrients and saving money. The use of wastewater in agriculture for irrigation and fertilization purposes has ancient origins that are lost over time [64]. Currently, Israel uses around 50% of its treated wastewater for its agricultural sector. However, before authorizing the use of recycled water in agriculture on a global scale, it would be advisable to develop minimum requirements to reduce the possible human and environmental risk resulting from this type of practice, as well as the uncontrolled introduction of exogenous contaminants into the agricultural ecosystem [65]. Today there are concerns remaining about the safety of irrigation with treated wastewater from conventional wastewater treatments plants because it contains various contaminants among them pharmaceuticals and their metabolites. Soil irrigated with treated wastewater will therefore be exposed to these xenobiotics. Besides, crops and soil fauna such as earthworms are sensitive to environmental pollutants contributing directly or indirectly to their degradation. Not surprisingly, the use of treated wastewater represents the main source of drugs in arable land, in agreement with the agricultural water management systems [66]. Therefore, in real crops, pharmaceuticals and their metabolites can be retained in the soil, metabolized in earthworms, directly taken up by crops, or translocated from soil to plant tissues above the ground.

8 Uptake, Distribution, and Metabolism of PhACs in Crops

Studies on the absorption, translocation, and metabolism of PhACs are still very scarce or limited to studies under controlled or laboratory conditions, while studies in the natural environment or field conditions are minimal. Experiments in greenhouse or laboratory conditions such as hydroponic systems are usually performed with a period of controlled light, relative humidity, temperature, etc.

The uptake of PhACs by crops is related to growth conditions, soil properties, plant biology, exposure medium, and compound properties. The properties of

PhACs, among them lipophilicity and molecular diameter, strongly influence their ability to passively pass through the membranes of plant cells. Higher lipophilicity may allow faster diffusion between lipid bilayers but may impede translocation in cell wall or the cytosol. However, the majority of PhACs for human or veterinary use are polar or ionizable compounds. Plants absorb water and the mineral salts dissolved in it from the soil, through the root. A hydraulic mechanism displaces water from the roots to the leaves in response to an energy difference in water potential from a region where the water potential is higher to one in which it is lower by dragging inorganic elements and organic molecules in its movement. If polar and ionizable compounds such as PhACs are present in the soil pore water, these are captured by the roots and absorbed by the plant. Once absorbed, the water devoid of nutrients retained by the cells is released into the atmosphere in the form of water vapor (transpiration). Most of the water absorbed by the roots is lost by transpiration through the leaves and returned to the atmosphere. It is estimated that only 1-5% of all the water absorbed is retained by the plant, while the rest is emitted from the leaves. This suction force of the leaves reaches values of tens of atmospheres. Water and small solutes and consequently polar PhACs in ionized form can move from the soil pore water to the vascularized tissue of the roots through three paths:

- Transmembrane pathway, from cell to cell (crossing twice the plasmatic membrane of each single cell, in and out)
- *Symplastic pathway*, after having crossed once the plasmalemma (through cells via plasmodesmata)
- *Apoplastic pathway* (along the cell walls through the intercellular space) up to the endoderm where it must necessarily cross the plasma membrane

In the symplastic and transmembrane way, water and salts pass through the cytoplasmic membranes of the root hairs and penetrate into the symplast. In the apoplastic pathway, water and salts pass through the apoplast without ever crossing a plasmatic membrane.

In order to enter the stele, the water and minerals must pass into the symplast because the passage through the apoplast is prevented by the walls of the endoderm (Casparian strip). The endoderm acts as a hydrophobic barrier preventing any substance from reaching the conductive tissue without crossing a membrane and preventing the reflux of water and salts from the stele. After passing the endoderm, the water and minerals will be translocated in the symplastic continuum and finally reach the leaves.

The ions actively absorbed by the rhizodermic cells follow the symplastic pathway spread from cell to cell through plasmodesmata after having passed the Casparian strip. At the xylematic parenchyma level, they are actively transferred into the tracheas or tracheids. Ions transported together with the water via the apoplastic way are stopped at the lipophilic endodermis and selected by the cytoplasma membrane of the endodermis cells.

According to a recent study, the symplast pathway could allow the passage of the small PAhCs absorbed with the flow of water through the Casparian strip toward the xylem, while the large PAhCs would enter the root through the apoplastic path, and

therefore blocked by the Casparian strip [67]. Hence, polar and ionizable compounds absorbed exclusively by the apoplastic pathway cannot cross the Casparian strip and will not reach the vascular tissue. Consequently, they remain confined at the root level and accumulate there [68]. Furthermore, given the negative charge of the plant cell wall, positively charged compounds will also be hindered from entering through the cell wall matrix. Transport through the cell membrane could only be allowed through the passage through non-selective channels which would allow to bypass the Casparian strip. It has also been suggested that the absorption of basic compounds would occur through processes mediated actively by carrier proteins due to similarities of natural compounds absorbed by these pathways [68]. Polar compounds that are able to pass the Casparian strip or enter the root through passive diffusion into the symplastic path or by active absorption can move through the roots and reach and accumulate in the aerial parts of the plant. Once in the xylem, transpiration guides these compounds from the roots to the shoots and leaves with the water flow. However, it seems that many PhACs tend to accumulate mainly in the roots and in the green parts, shoots and leaves, rather than in the fruits, and that translocation occurs mainly via xylem [69–71].

The biological characteristics of the plants, the physical-chemical properties of the PhACs (molecular weight, Kow and pKa), the ionic nature of the PhACs, and the characteristics of the soil are all factors that influence absorption and translocation of PhACs in roots and aerial parts of the plant. PhACs with log Kow between 1 and 4 can easily be translocated in the different compartments of the plant [72]. In a recent review based mainly on hydroponic studies, it is assumed that anionic PhACs preferably accumulate in the roots, while neutral and cationic PhACs preferentially move in the green parts of the plant or even into the fruits [73].

Soil also plays a key role in the absorption and distribution of drugs in cropping systems. In fact, the soil is the first bulk receptor of organic contaminants when agricultural fields are irrigated with wastewater [74]. The concentration of PhACs in the water of the soil pores, and then in the availability of PhACs for the absorption of plants, depends on the physico-chemical characteristics of the soil, in particular from soil texture. The negative charge of organo-mineral colloids is the resultant of the sum of the permanent negative charge of the clay minerals and the pH-dependent charge of the humic matrices. High percentages of silt and clay make soil less fertile and reduce the availability of ionizable compounds due to the presence of a greater number of negative charges due mainly to clays. A strong electrostatic bond of PhACs to soil particles generally reduces availability for plants, especially for those chemicals with strong hydrophobicity or positive charge.

Once absorbed by plant cells, contaminants can accumulate as they are or undergo metabolic processes of plants, which have similarities to those of the mammalian detox system since many enzymes responsible for cell detoxification, including cytochromes P450 (CYP450s), present high similarity. The processes that the plant cell puts in place to reduce the toxicity of these exogenous compounds begin with Phase I metabolism processes (oxidation, reduction, and hydrolysis) and then move on to Phase II processes where they are conjugated with a polar molecule such as sugars or amino acids, or glutathione [68]. Compared to mammalian cells, a

part of these two phases, the plant cell can implement a further phase III detoxification mechanism constituted by the enzymes present in the vacuole [75].

Among the numerous studies carried out, it appears that the psychoactive drugs are compounds that most accumulate, translocate, and metabolize inside the plant. In particular, the carbamazepine is among the most studied model compounds, since its presence in wastewater is pseudo-constant due to its recalcitrance to degradation. Hence, numerous studies report the presence of carbamazepine and its metabolites in different agricultural crops [76–78].

9 Presence of Drugs in Earthworms

The presence and effects of drugs following the use of wastewater in agriculture has also been observed in soil invertebrates [79–85]. Of all the terrestrial invertebrates that live in the area explored by the roots, earthworms are the most abundant species in terms of biomass (80% of the soil biota). This causes earthworms to be considered key organisms of the soil-root-plant system since, by constantly digging through the soil, earthworms recycle nutrients and create the conditions for good soil aeration and drainage, leading to a fertile environment [85]. Unfortunately, in addition to making the soil more fertile, earthworms with their movements redistribute organic contaminants from the deepest areas to the root area, consequently increasing the availability of these compounds for plants. Being in close contact with the soil matrix, earthworms are exposed to a variety of anthropogenic organic pollutants including pharmaceutical products. They are therefore indispensable organisms for assessing soil contaminants into food chains, since they occupy the lowest level in the trophic web.

However, the number of studies to evaluate the effects of pharmaceutical products on soil invertebrates is currently quite limited, and most of the research is largely focused on laboratory tests. In part this could also be due to the lack of reliable multiresidual analytical methods, since the extraction and analysis of these compounds from earthworm tissues is quite complicated [85].

10 Drugs in Constructed Wetlands

Drugs can be also depurated from wastewater by plants in constructed wetlands (CW). They are a low-cost alternative wastewater treatment technology mainly used for the treatment of urban or agro-livestock wastewater from small rural towns. Consisting of flooded vegetated beds designed to imitate the well-known water purification capacity of natural wetlands, CWs are a nature-based solution for wastewater management. Furthermore, in recent years, CWs have proven to be an excellent advanced (tertiary) treatment system since they reduce most of the

pathogens and other components such as nutrients (very effective denitrification processes) and metals. In addition, CWs represent a potential low-cost solution for the removal of contamination from emerging organic contaminants, including pharmaceutical products in wastewater effluents [63]. In fact, in these natural environments, a multitude of physical, chemical, and biological processes occur simultaneously, such as adsorption (soil or sediments), photolysis, volatilization, absorption and accumulation in plants, exudation, and microbial degradation [86, 87]. CWs allow to treat a high load of wastewater with large quantities of organic substances and PhACs representing a great potential of use in low-income countries and in rural areas [88]. The removal efficiency of PhACs in wetlands may be influenced by numerous design parameters in addition to the presence and type of vegetation as well as the type of substrate. In addition to the design and operating factors (area, bed depth, hydraulic loading speed, organic loading speed, and hydraulic retention time), other variables that could influence the removal efficiency of the CW are the physical-chemical parameters (dissolved oxygen, temperature, and pH), the amount of sunlight, the type and composition of microbiota, the age of the wetland, and the seasonality of the high microbial biomass. The geographic variables and the temperature together with the type of vegetation affect the microbial activity and evapotranspiration and consequently the mobility and the degradation of organic compounds [89]. In fact, seasonality affects the intensity and the cycle of light, consequently influencing the biological cycle of the plants, microbes, and their activities. Generally, constructed wetlands consist of a single species, e.g., dense reed plantations with heights that can reach 2 or 3 meters. These reeds are mainly formed by marsh straw or rushes (*Phragmites australis* or Juncus effusus), in areas with lower water, while in waters of greater depth, mainly by cattails (Typha latifolia or Typha angustifolia), may be utilized. Plants absorb pollutants through their roots which can be translocated to non-immersed parts, such as stems and leaves where they can be accumulated, translocated, metabolized, or degraded by the plant itself or in cooperation with the endophytic microorganisms inhabiting plant tissues. In fact, the rhizosphere constitutes the most active reaction zone of the submerged plants of the wetlands, where physical-chemical and biological processes occur induced by the interaction of plants, microorganisms, substrate, and pollutants [90, 91]. In most cases. greatest biodegradation of pharmaceutical products occurs there [92]. Although CWs are a green and economic alternative to wastewater treatment especially in rural or economically disadvantaged areas, the biggest problem is the removal and disposal of the large vegetable biomass produced. A non-careful management of this biomass, in fact, could recirculate large amounts of toxic organic substances accumulated in it into the environment.

11 Analysis of Drugs and Their Metabolites

Currently, the scarcity of sensitive multi-residue analytical methods represents the bottleneck to the comprehensive screening of wastewater contaminants. Although hundreds of analytical methods for the quantitative determination of drugs and their metabolites in wastewater and surface water have been published over the years, the number of robust and reliable methods for their determination in plant tissues and soil is still quite few. Several analytical methods have been developed to extract drugs from plant tissues using a wide array of techniques. Some methods have been developed to extract wastewater-borne pollutants from plant tissues using traditional approaches with large amounts of solvents such as solid-liquid extraction [76, 93], accelerated solvent extraction [94], and ultrasound-based extraction [77, 81, 95-98]. However, the aforementioned methods are not environmentally sustainable. In recent years, several analytical methods have proposed the use of a rapid, easy, cheap, effective, robust, and safe method, QuEChERS protocols, for the determination of pharmaceutical products in lettuce or other vegetable products [76, 94, 99-103]. This extraction method is widely used in the analysis of pesticides in fruits and vegetables. The determination of pharmaceuticals and their metabolites by means of liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (LC-MS) is challenging because of their low concentrations, but it is the method of choice because it is the unique method capable of detecting such amounts of drugs after their extraction and preconcentration.

Book Description

In the following chapters, the long journey of drugs from the first synthesis (chapter "The Journey of Human Drugs from Their Design at the Bench to Their Fate in Crops") to the whereabouts in crops and ultimately their analysis is described beginning with the identification of the sources of drugs in water (chapter "Sources of Pharmaceuticals in Water"). Their main routes of entry into the environment are alongside wastewater and sewage sludge. Both can be considered valuable resources rather than waste products in accordance with circular economy rules (chapter "Environmental, Economic, and Ethical Assessment of the Treated Wastewater and Sewage Sludge Valorization in Agriculture"). The amount of essential nutrients supplied to the soil through wastewater irrigation and amendment of digested sewage sludge must be carefully considered. Furthermore, these practices imply the conscious yet undesired introduction of known or unknown trace contaminants such as human drugs into agricultural soils, whose impact (chapter "Wastewater Reuse in Agriculture: Effects on Soil-Plant System Properties") on soil quality needs to be evaluated. Drugs originating from reclaimed wastewater or biosolids enter crops through plant roots and may accumulate to different degrees in various plant compartments. The uptake and translocation are dependent on multiple parameters, namely, physico-chemical properties of the compounds, plant physiology, and environmental factors (chapter "Uptake and Translocation of Pharmaceuticals in Plants: Principles and Data Analyses"). Drugs remaining in the soil following land application of wastewater, sewage sludge, and manures (chapter "Soil Sorption and Degradation Studies of Pharmaceutical Compounds Present in Recycled Wastewaters Based on Enantiomeric Fractionation") can affect plants and lower animals from our agroecosystems which have similar receptor and metabolic enzymatic systems (chapter "Uptake and effects of pharmaceuticals in the Soil-Plant-Earthworm System"). However, plants have evolved very sophisticated detoxification systems including a complementary battery of enzymes that are capable of transforming xenobiotic compounds to yield chemically diverse metabolites (chapter "Metabolism of Pharmaceuticals in Plants and their Associated Microbiota"). Many of them are formed in analogy to the liver in mammalian systems, but a number of plant-specific metabolic reactions have also been identified (chapter "Metabolism of Pharmaceuticals in Plants and their Associated Microbiota"). The presence of drugs residues in soil can compromise the abundance, diversity, and activity of the soil microbial community which is one of the key players in a range of soil ecosystem services (chapter "Impact of PhACs on Soil Microorganisms"). Moreover, drug accumulation in agricultural soils may pose a serious threat to non-target organisms and natural resources (chapter "Biomarkers in Earthworms"). As the accumulation of drugs in soil can constitute a potential risk for soil quality and food security, several engineered remediation methodologies have been developed for their removal from contaminated soils. Unfortunately, these techniques are often economically prohibitive and may cause adverse side effects in the environment. Microbes, soil fauna (e.g., earthworms), and their interactions exert a strong control in the organic matter decomposition and nutrient cycling of soil. By taking advantages of these naturally occurring processes, the use of earthworms has been proposed to clean biosolids and manure and to reduce the bioavailability of pharmaceuticals to plants (chapter "Vermiremediation of Pharmaceutical-Contaminated Soils and Organic Amendments"). Another remediation technique is constructed wetland which is one of the most commonly applied natural solutions relying on plants for wastewater purification (chapter "Constructed Wetlands and Phytoremediation as a Tool for Pharmaceutical Removal"). In these environmentally friendly and cost-efficient systems, drugs are adsorbed and metabolized in soil and can also be taken up and metabolized in plants. To understand the whereabouts of drugs in the environment once there have been emitted from the various sources, sensitive analytical methodologies are required for their detection and quantification as well as for the identification of metabolites in soil and plants (chapters "Development of Methods for the Determination of PhACs in Soil/Earthworm/ Crop System Irrigated with Reclaimed Water" and "Analytical Approaches for the Determination and Identification of Drug Metabolites in Plants After Uptake").

References

- Gashaw I, Ellinghaus P, Sommer A, Asadullah K (2011) What makes a good drug target? Drug Discov Today 16(23–24):1037–1043
- Espiritu MJ, Collier AC, Bingham J-P (2014) A 21st-century approach to age-old problems: the ascension of biologics in clinical therapeutics. Drug Discov Today 19(8):1109–1113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2014.01.008

- Hay M, Thomas DW, Craighead JL, Economides C, Rosenthal J (2014) Clinical development success rates for investigational drugs. Nat Biotechnol 32(1):40–51. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nbt.2786
- Shultz MD (2019) Two decades under the influence of the rule of five and the changing properties of approved oral drugs. J Med Chem 62(4):1701–1714. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs. jmedchem.8b00686
- Testa B, Crivori P, Reist M, Carrupt P-A (2000) The influence of lipophilicity on the pharmacokinetic behavior of drugs: concepts and examples. Persp Drug Discov Des 19 (1):179–211. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008741731244
- Sakaeda T, Okamura N, Nagata S, Yagami T, Horinouchi M, Okumura K, Yamashita F, Hashida M (2001) Molecular and pharmacokinetic properties of 222 commercially available oral drugs in humans. Biol Pharm Bull 24(8):935–940. https://doi.org/10.1248/bpb.24.935
- Charifson PS, Walters WP (2014) Acidic and basic drugs in medicinal chemistry: a perspective. J Med Chem 57(23):9701–9717. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm501000a
- Smith DA, Beaumont K, Maurer TS, Di L (2015) Volume of distribution in drug design. J Med Chem 58(15):5691–5698. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b00201
- Trainor GL (2007) The importance of plasma protein binding in drug discovery. Expert Opin Drug Discovery 2(1):51–64. https://doi.org/10.1517/17460441.2.1.51
- Jansson R, Bredberg U, Ashton M (2008) Prediction of drug tissue to plasma concentration ratios using a measured volume of distribution in combination with lipophilicity. J Pharm Sci 97(6):2324–2339. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.21130
- Hosey CM, Broccatelli F, Benet LZ (2014) Predicting when biliary excretion of parent drug is a major route of elimination in humans. AAPS J 16(5):1085–1096. https://doi.org/10.1208/ s12248-014-9636-1
- Paine SW, Barton P, Bird J, Denton R, Menochet K, Smith A, Tomkinson NP, Chohan KK (2010) A rapid computational filter for predicting the rate of human renal clearance. J Mol Graph Model 29(4):529–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmgm.2010.10.003
- Di L (2014) The role of drug metabolizing enzymes in clearance. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 10(3):379–393. https://doi.org/10.1517/17425255.2014.876006
- 14. Directive WF (2003) Common implementation strategy for the water framework directive (2000/60/EC). Guidance document (7)
- 15. Carvalho RN, Ceriani L, Ippolito A, Lettieri T (2015) Development of the first watch list under the environmental quality standards directive. JRC Science Hub, Brussels
- 16. Directive E (2013) Directive 2013/39/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 August 2013 amending Directives 2000/60/EC and 2008/105/EC as regards priority substances in the field of water policy. Off J Eur Union L 226:1–17
- European, Commission (2019) Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council and the European Economic and Social Committee European Union Strategic Approach to Pharmaceuticals in the Environment. Brussels, 1132019 COM (2019) 128 final
- 18. Decision E (2015) 495/2015, Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2015/495 of 20 March 2015 establishing a watch list of substances for Union-wide monitoring in the field of water policy pursuant to Directive 2008/105/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council. Off J Eur Union L 78:40–42
- 19. Union E (2018) Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2018/840 of 5 June 2018 establishing a watch list of substances for Union-wide monitoring in the field of water policy pursuant to Directive 2008/105/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2015/495. Off J Eur Union 141:9–12
- 20. Gómez Cortés L, Marinov D, Sanseverino I, Navarro Cuenca A, Niegowska M, Porcel Rodriguez E, Lettieri T (2019) Selection of substances for the 3rd Watch List under the Water Framework Directive (draft). European Comission, JRC Technical Reports
- Walter S, Mitkidis K (2018) The risk assessment of pharmaceuticals in the environment: EU and US regulatory approach. Eur J Risk Regul 9(3):527–547

- 22. Lee D, Choi K (2019) Comparison of regulatory frameworks of environmental risk assessments for human pharmaceuticals in EU, USA, and Canada. Sci Total Environ 671:1026–1035
- Agency EM (2019) Draft guideline on the environmental risk assessment of medicinal products for human use – Revision 1 EMEA/CHMP/SWP/4447/00 Rev. 1. Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP)
- 24. aus der Beek T, Weber FA, Bergmann A, Hickmann S, Ebert I, Hein A, Küster A (2016) Pharmaceuticals in the environment – global occurrences and perspectives. Environ Toxicol Chem 35(4):823–835
- Schwarzenbach RP, Escher BI, Fenner K, Hofstetter TB, Johnson CA, Von Gunten U, Wehrli B (2006) The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. Science 313(5790):1072–1077
- 26. Heberer T (2002) Occurrence, fate, and removal of pharmaceutical residues in the aquatic environment: a review of recent research data. Toxicol Lett 131(1):5–17
- Behera SK, Kim HW, Oh J-E, Park H-S (2011) Occurrence and removal of antibiotics, hormones and several other pharmaceuticals in wastewater treatment plants of the largest industrial city of Korea. Sci Total Environ 409(20):4351–4360. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2011.07.015
- Evgenidou EN, Konstantinou IK, Lambropoulou DA (2015) Occurrence and removal of transformation products of PPCPs and illicit drugs in wastewaters: a review. Sci Total Environ 505:905–926
- Bottoni P, Caroli S, Caracciolo AB (2010) Pharmaceuticals as priority water contaminants. Toxicol Environ Chem 92(3):549–565
- Lapworth D, Baran N, Stuart M, Ward R (2012) Emerging organic contaminants in groundwater: a review of sources, fate and occurrence. Environ Pollut 163:287–303
- Patrolecco L, Ademollo N, Grenni P, Tolomei A, Caracciolo AB, Capri S (2013) Simultaneous determination of human pharmaceuticals in water samples by solid phase extraction and HPLC with UV-fluorescence detection. Microchem J 107:165–171
- Patel M, Kumar R, Kishor K, Mlsna T, Pittman Jr CU, Mohan D (2019) Pharmaceuticals of emerging concern in aquatic systems: chemistry, occurrence, effects, and removal methods. Chem Rev 119(6):3510–3673
- 33. Lopez-Serna R, Petrovic M, Barcelo D (2012) Direct analysis of pharmaceuticals, their metabolites and transformation products in environmental waters using on-line TurboFlow chromatography-liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1252:115–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2012.06.078
- 34. Gros M, Petrovic M, Barcelo D (2008) Tracing pharmaceutical residues of different therapeutic classes in environmental waters by using liquid chromatography/quadrupole-linear ion trap mass spectrometry and automated library searching. Anal Chem 81(3):898–912
- Oulton RL, Kohn T, Cwiertny DM (2010) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in effluent matrices: a survey of transformation and removal during wastewater treatment and implications for wastewater management. J Environ Monit 12(11):1956–1978. https://doi.org/ 10.1039/c0em00068j
- 36. Mandaric L, Kalogianni E, Skoulikidis N, Petrovic M, Sabater S (2019) Contamination patterns and attenuation of pharmaceuticals in a temporary Mediterranean river. Sci Total Environ 647:561–569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.07.308
- 37. Jelic A, Gros M, Ginebreda A, Cespedes-Sánchez R, Ventura F, Petrovic M, Barcelo D (2011) Occurrence, partition and removal of pharmaceuticals in sewage water and sludge during wastewater treatment. Water Res 45(3):1165–1176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.11. 010
- Verlicchi P, Al Aukidy M, Zambello E (2012) Occurrence of pharmaceutical compounds in urban wastewater: removal, mass load and environmental risk after a secondary treatment – a review. Sci Total Environ 429:123–155
- Rivera-Jaimes JA, Postigo C, Melgoza-Alemán RM, Aceña J, Barceló D, López de Alda M (2018) Study of pharmaceuticals in surface and wastewater from Cuernavaca, Morelos,
Mexico: occurrence and environmental risk assessment. Sci Total Environ 613-614:1263–1274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.09.134

- 40. Yang Y, Ok YS, Kim K-H, Kwon EE, Tsang YF (2017) Occurrences and removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in drinking water and water/sewage treatment plants: a review. Sci Total Environ 596-597:303–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2017.04.102
- 41. López-Serna R, Pérez S, Ginebreda A, Petrović M, Barceló D (2010) Fully automated determination of 74 pharmaceuticals in environmental and waste waters by online solid phase extraction-liquid chromatography- electrospray-tandem mass spectrometry. Talanta 83 (2):410–424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2010.09.046
- 42. Osorio V, Marce R, Perez S, Ginebreda A, Cortina JL, Barcelo D (2012) Occurrence and modeling of pharmaceuticals on a sewage-impacted Mediterranean river and their dynamics under different hydrological conditions. Sci Total Environ 440:3–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2012.08.040
- 43. Mendoza A, Aceña J, Pérez S, De Alda ML, Barceló D, Gil A, Valcárcel Y (2015) Pharmaceuticals and iodinated contrast media in a hospital wastewater: a case study to analyse their presence and characterise their environmental risk and hazard. Environ Res 140:225–241
- 44. Water U (2017) The United Nations world water development report 2017: wastewater the untapped resource. UNESCO, Paris
- 45. Daughton CG (2013) Pharmaceuticals in the environment: sources and their management. In: Comprehensive analytical chemistry, vol 62. Elsevier, New York, pp 37–69
- 46. Fent K, Weston AA, Caminada D (2006) Ecotoxicology of human pharmaceuticals. Aquat Toxicol 76(2):122–159
- 47. Oliveira TS, Al Aukidy M, Verlicchi P (2017) Occurrence of common pollutants and pharmaceuticals in hospital effluents. In: Hospital wastewaters. Springer, Cham, pp 17–32
- 48. Ginebreda A, Pérez S, Rivas D, Kuzmanovic M, Barceló D (2015) Pollutants of emerging concern in rivers of catalonia: occurrence, fate, and risk. In: Experiences from surface water quality monitoring. Springer, Cham, pp 283–320
- Daughton CG (2004) Non-regulated water contaminants: emerging research. Environ Impact Assess Rev 24(7–8):711–732
- 50. Kolpin DW, Furlong ET, Meyer MT, Thurman EM, Zaugg SD, Barber LB, Buxton HT (2002) Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in US streams, 1999– 2000: a national reconnaissance. Environ Sci Technol 36(6):1202–1211
- 51. Zwiener C (2007) Occurrence and analysis of pharmaceuticals and their transformation products in drinking water treatment. Anal Bioanal Chem 387(4):1159–1162
- 52. Nikolaou A, Meric S, Fatta D (2007) Occurrence patterns of pharmaceuticals in water and wastewater environments. Anal Bioanal Chem 387(4):1225–1234
- 53. Daughton CG (2003) Cradle-to-cradle stewardship of drugs for minimizing their environmental disposition while promoting human health. II. Drug disposal, waste reduction, and future directions. Environ Health Perspect 111(5):775–785
- Hughes SR, Kay P, Brown LE (2013) Global synthesis and critical evaluation of pharmaceutical data sets collected from river systems. Environ Sci Technol 47(2):661–677
- 55. Guo J, Sinclair CJ, Selby K, Boxall AB (2016) Toxicological and ecotoxicological risk-based prioritization of pharmaceuticals in the natural environment. Environ Toxicol Chem 35 (6):1550–1559
- 56. Castiglioni S, Bagnati R, Fanelli R, Pomati F, Calamari D, Zuccato E (2006) Removal of pharmaceuticals in sewage treatment plants in Italy. Environ Sci Technol 40(1):357–363
- 57. Chiffre A, Degiorgi F, Buleté A, Spinner L, Badot P-M (2016) Occurrence of pharmaceuticals in WWTP effluents and their impact in a karstic rural catchment of eastern France. Environ Sci Pollut Res 23(24):25427–25441
- 58. Gros M, Rodriguez-Mozaz S, Barcelo D (2012) Fast and comprehensive multi-residue analysis of a broad range of human and veterinary pharmaceuticals and some of their metabolites in surface and treated waters by ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to

quadrupole-linear ion trap tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1248:104–121. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2012.05.084

- 59. Gurke R, Rossmann J, Schubert S, Sandmann T, Rößler M, Oertel R, Fauler J (2015) Development of a SPE-HPLC–MS/MS method for the determination of most prescribed pharmaceuticals and related metabolites in urban sewage samples. J Chromatogr B 990:23–30
- 60. Hapeshi E, Gros M, Lopez-Serna R, Boleda MR, Ventura F, Petrovic M, Barceló D, Fatta-Kassinos D (2015) Licit and illicit drugs in urban wastewater in Cyprus. CLEAN Soil Air Water 43(9):1272–1278
- 61. Paíga P, Santos LH, Ramos S, Jorge S, Silva JG, Delerue-Matos C (2016) Presence of pharmaceuticals in the Lis river (Portugal): sources, fate and seasonal variation. Sci Total Environ 573:164–177
- 62. Santos LH, Gros M, Rodriguez-Mozaz S, Delerue-Matos C, Pena A, Barceló D, Montenegro MCB (2013) Contribution of hospital effluents to the load of pharmaceuticals in urban wastewaters: identification of ecologically relevant pharmaceuticals. Sci Total Environ 461:302–316
- 63. Montemurro N, García-Vara M, Peña-Herrera JM, Lladó J, Barceló D, Pérez S (2018) Conventional and advanced processes for the removal of pharmaceuticals and their human metabolites from wastewater. In: Integrated and sustainable environmental remediation. ACS symposium series, vol 1302. American Chemical Society, Washington, pp 15–67. https://doi. org/10.1021/bk-2018-1302.ch002
- 64. Angelakis AN, Snyder SA (2015) Wastewater treatment and reuse: past, present, and future. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute, Basel
- 65. Commission E (2018) Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on minimum requirements for water reuse (COM(2018) 337 final 2018/0169 (COD))
- 66. Carter LJ, Chefetz B, Abdeen Z, Boxall AB (2019) Emerging investigator series: towards a framework for establishing the impacts of pharmaceuticals in wastewater irrigation systems on agro-ecosystems and human health. Environ Sci Process Impacts 21(4):605–622
- 67. Chuang Y-H, Liu C-H, Sallach JB, Hammerschmidt R, Zhang W, Boyd SA, Li H (2019) Mechanistic study on uptake and transport of pharmaceuticals in lettuce from water. Environ Int 131:104976
- Miller EL, Nason SL, Karthikeyan K, Pedersen JA (2016) Root uptake of pharmaceuticals and personal care product ingredients. Environ Sci Technol 50(2):525–541
- 69. Shenker M, Harush D, Ben-Ari J, Chefetz B (2011) Uptake of carbamazepine by cucumber plants – a case study related to irrigation with reclaimed wastewater. Chemosphere 82 (6):905–910
- Wu X, Conkle JL, Ernst F, Gan J (2014) Treated wastewater irrigation: uptake of pharmaceutical and personal care products by common vegetables under field conditions. Environ Sci Technol 48(19):11286–11293
- 71. Christou A, Karaolia P, Hapeshi E, Michael C, Fatta-Kassinos D (2017) Long-term wastewater irrigation of vegetables in real agricultural systems: concentration of pharmaceuticals in soil, uptake and bioaccumulation in tomato fruits and human health risk assessment. Water Res 109:24–34
- 72. Colon B, Toor G (2016) A review of uptake and translocation of pharmaceuticals and personal care products by food crops irrigated with treated wastewater. In: Advances in agronomy, vol 140. Elsevier, New York, pp 75–100
- Madikizela LM, Ncube S, Chimuka L (2018) Uptake of pharmaceuticals by plants grown under hydroponic conditions and natural occurring plant species: a review. Sci Total Environ 636:477–486
- 74. Fu Q, Malchi T, Carter LJ, Li H, Gan J, Chefetz B (2019) Pharmaceutical and personal care products: from wastewater treatment into agro-food systems. ACS Publications, Washington
- 75. Wolf AE, Dietz K-J, Schröder P (1996) Degradation of glutathione S-conjugates by a carboxypeptidase in the plant vacuole. FEBS Lett 384(1):31–34

- 76. Riemenschneider C, Seiwert B, Moeder M, Schwarz D, Reemtsma T (2017) Extensive transformation of the pharmaceutical carbamazepine following uptake into intact tomato plants. Environ Sci Technol 51(11):6100–6109
- Carter LJ, Harris E, Williams M, Ryan JJ, Kookana RS, Boxall AB (2014) Fate and uptake of pharmaceuticals in soil–plant systems. J Agric Food Chem 62(4):816–825
- Mordechay EB, Tarchitzky J, Chen Y, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2018) Composted biosolids and treated wastewater as sources of pharmaceuticals and personal care products for plant uptake: a case study with carbamazepine. Environ Pollut 232:164–172
- Carter LJ, Ryan JJ, Boxall AB (2016) Does uptake of pharmaceuticals vary across earthworm species? Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 97(3):316–322
- Carter LJ, Ryan JJ, Boxall AB (2016) Effects of soil properties on the uptake of pharmaceuticals into earthworms. Environ Pollut 213:922–931
- Carter LJ, Garman CD, Ryan J, Dowle A, Bergström E, Thomas-Oates J, Boxall AB (2014) Fate and uptake of pharmaceuticals in soil–earthworm systems. Environ Sci Technol 48 (10):5955–5963
- 82. Bergé A, Vulliet E (2015) Development of a method for the analysis of hormones and pharmaceuticals in earthworms by quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged and safe (QuEChERS) extraction followed by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS). Anal Bioanal Chem 407(26):7995–8008
- 83. Kinney CA, Furlong ET, Kolpin DW, Burkhardt MR, Zaugg SD, Werner SL, Bossio JP, Benotti MJ (2008) Bioaccumulation of pharmaceuticals and other anthropogenic waste indicators in earthworms from agricultural soil amended with biosolid or swine manure. Environ Sci Technol 42(6):1863–1870
- 84. Macherius A, Lapen DR, Reemtsma T, Römbke J, Topp E, Coors A (2014) Triclocarban, triclosan and its transformation product methyl triclosan in native earthworm species four years after a commercial-scale biosolids application. Sci Total Environ 472:235–238
- 85. Montemurro N, Joedicke J, Perez S (2021) Development and application of a QuEChERS method with liquid chromatography-quadrupole time of flight-mass spectrometry for the determination of 50 wastewater-borne pollutants in earthworms exposed through treated wastewater. Chemosphere (Accepted)
- Matamoros V, Bayona JM (2006) Elimination of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in subsurface flow constructed wetlands. Environ Sci Technol 40(18):5811–5816
- Dordio A, Carvalho AP, Teixeira DM, Dias CB, Pinto AP (2010) Removal of pharmaceuticals in microcosm constructed wetlands using Typha spp. and LECA. Bioresour Technol 101 (3):886–892
- Arden S, Ma X (2018) Constructed wetlands for greywater recycle and reuse: a review. Sci Total Environ 630:587–599
- Carvalho PN, Basto MCP, Almeida CMR, Brix H (2014) A review of plant–pharmaceutical interactions: from uptake and effects in crop plants to phytoremediation in constructed wetlands. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21(20):11729–11763
- 90. Nguyen PM, Afzal M, Ullah I, Shahid N, Baqar M, Arslan M (2019) Removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products using constructed wetlands: effective plant-bacteria synergism may enhance degradation efficiency. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24:1–18
- Sauvêtre A, May R, Harpaintner R, Poschenrieder C, Schröder P (2018) Metabolism of carbamazepine in plant roots and endophytic rhizobacteria isolated from Phragmites australis. J Hazard Mater 342:85–95
- 92. Sauvêtre A, Schröder P (2015) Uptake of carbamazepine by rhizomes and endophytic bacteria of Phragmites australis. Front Plant Sci 6:83
- Boxall AB, Johnson P, Smith EJ, Sinclair CJ, Stutt E, Levy LS (2006) Uptake of veterinary medicines from soils into plants. J Agric Food Chem 54(6):2288–2297
- 94. Chuang Y-H, Zhang Y, Zhang W, Boyd SA, Li H (2015) Comparison of accelerated solvent extraction and quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged and safe method for extraction and determination of pharmaceuticals in vegetables. J Chromatogr A 1404:1–9

- Wu X, Conkle JL, Gan J (2012) Multi-residue determination of pharmaceutical and personal care products in vegetables. J Chromatogr A 1254:78–86
- 96. Albero B, Tadeo JL, Delgado MDM, Miguel E, Pérez RA (2019) Analysis of multiclass antibiotics in lettuce by liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry to monitor their plant uptake. Molecules 24(22):4066
- 97. Zheng W, Wiles KN, Holm N, Deppe NA, Shipley CR (2014) Uptake, translocation, and accumulation of pharmaceutical and hormone contaminants in vegetables. In: Retention, uptake, and translocation of agrochemicals in plants. ACS Publications, Washington, pp 167–181
- Montemurro N, Postigo C, Lonigro A, Perez S, Barceló D (2017) Development and validation of an analytical method based on liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry detection for the simultaneous determination of 13 relevant wastewater-derived contaminants in lettuce. Anal Bioanal Chem 409(23):5375–5387
- 99. Martínez-Piernas A, Polo-López M, Fernández-Ibáñez P, Agüera A (2018) Validation and application of a multiresidue method based on liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for evaluating the plant uptake of 74 microcontaminants in crops irrigated with treated municipal wastewater. J Chromatogr A 1534:10–21
- 100. Ferro G, Polo-López MI, Martínez-Piernas AB, Fernandez-Ibanez P, Agüera A, Rizzo L (2015) Cross-contamination of residual emerging contaminants and antibiotic resistant bacteria in lettuce crops and soil irrigated with wastewater treated by sunlight/H2O2. Environ Sci Technol 49(18):11096–11104
- 101. Hu F, Bian K, Liu Y, Su Y, Zhou T, Song X, He L (2014) Development of a modified QUick, Easy, CHeap, Effective, Rugged and Safe method for the determination of multi-class antimicrobials in vegetables by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1368:52–63
- 102. Yu X, Liu H, Pu C, Chen J, Sun Y, Hu L (2018) Determination of multiple antibiotics in leafy vegetables using QuEChERS–UHPLC–MS/MS. J Sep Sci 41(3):713–722
- 103. He Z, Wang Y, Xu Y, Liu X (2018) Determination of antibiotics in vegetables using quechersbased method and liquid chromatography-quadrupole linear ion trap mass spectrometry. Food Anal Methods 11(10):2857–2864

Sources of Pharmaceuticals in Water



Roberto Parra-Saldivar, Carlos Castillo-Zacarías, Muhammad Bilal, Hafiz M. N. Iqbal, and Damiá Barceló

Contents

1	Introduction: Problem Statement and Opportunities	34	
2	Sources of Pharmaceuticals	36	
3	Case Studies of Point-Based Source Pollution	39	
4	Case Studies of Diffuse-Based Source Pollution	42	
5	Pharmaceuticals' Fate in the Environment	42	
6	Concluding Remarks and Outlook	43	
Ret	References		

Abstract This chapter focuses on the increasing environmental apprehensions and persistence of numerous organic contaminants so-called emerging contaminants (ECs), including biologically active elements from pharmaceutical source industries. Several types of diverse pharmaceutical-related compounds are being detected in environmental matrices and wastewater treatment units. Owing to this broader occurrence, transformation, and detection of pharmaceutical-related compounds in water matrices, people and legislative authorities are now more concerned about potential sources and ecological consequences of ECs. This is mainly because the free movement of ECs in water matrices is posing noteworthy adverse effects on human, aquatic animals, and naturally occurring plants, even at minimal

M. Bilal

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Girona, Spain

College of Environmental and Resources Sciences, Zhejiang A&F University, Hangzhou, China

R. Parra-Saldivar, C. Castillo-Zacarías, and H. M. N. Iqbal (🖂)

Tecnologico de Monterrey, School of Engineering and Sciences, Monterrey, NL, Mexico e-mail: hafiz.iqbal@tec.mx

School of Life Science and Food Engineering, Huaiyin Institute of Technology, Huaian, China

D. Barceló

Water and Soil Quality Research Group, Department of Environmental Chemistry, IDAEA-CSIC, Barcelona, Spain

Sandra Pérez Solsona, Nicola Montemurro, Serge Chiron, and Damià Barceló (eds.), Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems: The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater, Hdb Env Chem (2021) 103: 33–48, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_623, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 18 July 2020

concentrations. So far, several detection and treatment processes have been proposed and exploited against numerous pharmaceutical-related ECs. The useful and side effects of pharmaceutical-related compounds have been extensively inspected. Owing to this substantial research gap, the sources and environmental persistence of pharmaceutical-related ECs and their direct/indirect adverse effects have now been the topic of intensive studies. From the surface water perspective, wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) are the major source of pharmaceutical-related ECs. The current chapter spotlights the widespread occurrence, numerous sources, and transportation fate of pharmaceutical-related ECs in water matrices.

Keywords Aquatic environment, Biological risks, Emerging contaminants, Hazardous compounds, Pharmaceuticals, Sources, Toxicity, Transmission fate, Wastewater treatment

1 Introduction: Problem Statement and Opportunities

In recent years, the term "emerging contaminants (ECs)" has raised the ecological concerns and public attention to the presence of toxic entities in the aquatic environment. Such harmful entities, with particular reference to the occurrence of pharmaceutical-related ECs, are mainly introduced in our water matrices through various industrial and domestic practices. A constant rise in the global population and urbanization and their associated increase in the consumption of pharmaceuticals have redirected the researches' attention. In addition, wide-ranging water contamination by pharmaceutical compounds has become a growing worldwide concern [1, 2]. The concentrations of persistent organic pollutants, such as pharmaceuticals and their metabolites, are continuously rising in the natural environment due to human activities [3–6]. The most practiced pharmaceuticals include analgesics/anti-inflammatories and synthetic antibiotic compounds. Some of them are β -lactams (amoxicillin and penicillin), cardiovascular pharmaceuticals (β -blockers/diuretics), estrogens and hormonal compounds (estriol, estradiol, estrone, and 17 α -ethinylestradiol), and antiepileptic drugs (carbamazepine) [7].

The major source of pharmaceutical-related ECs is the treated/untreated effluents of WWTPs. WWTPs are not designed to eliminate environmental pollutants completely, and thus they can percolate through WWTPs and incorporated into the aquatic systems (streams and rivers) [8]. For example, the contents of diclofenac (an anti-inflammatory drug) and carbamazepine reached 0.99 and 0.95 μ g/L, respectively, in WWTP effluents [9]. Particularly, a detectable level of diclofenac has been identified in drinking, surface, and groundwaters in the range of ng/L to μ g/L in Sweden, Spain, Switzerland, and the Baltic region [10–12]. Apart from this, other pharmaceuticals, including tramadol, carbamazepine, ibuprofen, oxazepam, and naproxen, have also recently been detected in drinking water supplies in some

countries. These concentrations of pharmaceuticals can induce serious environmental threats such as congenital disorders, physical abnormalities, impairments of the endocrine and reproductive system, and feminization of some fish species [13, 14]. Due to the capability of micro-pollutants and pharmaceutically active compounds to cause adverse effects to the ecosystem and human health, they have attracted the principal research focus in recent days. Some notable adverse effects of numerous ECs are shown in Fig. 1 [14].

This chapter focuses on the widespread occurrence, and numerous sources, such as domestic, medical, agricultural, and industrial sectors that discharge pharmaceutical-related ECs into water matrices. The focus is also given to the fate of pharmaceutical-related ECs in the aquatic environment. The later part of the chapter discusses risk management issues to advance the existing knowledge further to improve the sewage WWTPs and increase public consciousness of the concentration of pharmaceutical-related ECs and biologically active residues in the water matrices.



Fig. 1 A schematic illustration of considerable adverse effects of abundant ECs. Reprinted from Morsi et al. [14] Laccases and peroxidases: The smart, greener and futuristic biocatalytic tools to mitigate recalcitrant emerging pollutants. Science of The Total Environment, 714, 136572, © 2020 Elsevier B.V., with permission from Elsevier

2 Sources of Pharmaceuticals

Broadly speaking, the sources of pharmaceuticals can be categorized in two ways, i.e., (1) point-based pharmaceutical-related ECs and (2) diffuse-based pharmaceutical-related ECs. The former type is further considered as a single identifiable source that initiates from various location-based sources, such as domestic sewage sources, domestic solid waste, pharmaceutical-related industrial sector waste effluents, biomedical (hospital) wastes (effluents and solid wastes), and WWTPs. Such pointbased sources are easy to identify and quantify from the specific location hotspots and can be calculated via mathematical modeling [7, 15]. Moreover, the wastewater effluent-based point sources are the main cause of environmental pollution and soil zone and water matrix contamination. Unlike point-based source pollution, the exact source location of the second category, i.e., diffuse-based source pollution, is hard to identify, which generally occurs over a broader geographical scale [15]. Some main examples of diffuse-based source pollution are the agricultural soil erosion/runoff, urban runoff, and unrecognized leakage of waste from wastewater treatment systems and plants [7, 16]. As it can be seen from Fig. 2, it shows the possible routes of antibiotics, one type of pharmaceuticals, that how such polluting agents are discharged from their sources and found their way to the receptor locations, such as ground and surface water bodies [1]. In addition to this, the receptor locations/ hotspots, which are directly or indirectly influenced by the pharmaceutical-related



Fig. 2 Major point and nonpoint-based sources of antibiotics pollution and their possible transmission routes to groundwater and surface water bodies. Reprinted from Bilal et al. [1] Biocatalytic degradation/redefining "removal" fate of pharmaceutically active compounds and antibiotics in the aquatic environment. Science of The Total Environment, 691, 1190–1211, © 2019 Elsevier B.V., with permission from Elsevier

ECs, can be categorized into three main spots, i.e., (1) unsaturated soil zone, (2) groundwater, and (3) surface water. Plentiful aspects such as the type and class of antibiotics, concentration, unwarranted dosage, acquaintance time, persistence duration, removal pattern, reception hotspots, i.e., soil, water, or air. Moreover, the occurrences of multi-antibiotics along with other biologically active pollutants as a complex mixture pointedly affect their conceivable transmission into the aquatic environment. Consequently, a diverse spectrum of biologically active constituents of antibiotics has been found as micro-contaminants in soil and water matrices, in the past two decades [17, 18].

In addition, besides their broader occurrence, the concentration is disturbingly growing in an uncontrolled manner. The hefty usage of numerous antibiotics, regardless of types and classes, is being practiced around the globe in a controlled or uncontrolled fashion [1]. Main examples of heavily consumed antibiotics include active members from the class penicillins (under the category of amoxicillin, ampicillin, and dicloxacillin), active members from the class cephalosporins (under the category of cephalexin, cefaclor, cefotaxime, and ceftazidime), active members from the class macrolides (under the category of erythromycin, clarithromycin, and azithromycin), active members from the class quinolones (under the category of ciprofloxacin, levofloxacin, moxifloxacin, and ofloxacin), active members from the class sulfonamides (under the category of sulfasalazine and trimethoprim), active members from the class tetracyclines (under the category of minocycline, eravacycline, demeclocycline, and doxycycline), active members from the class glycopeptides (under the category of dalbavancin, oritavancin, telavancin, and vancomycin), active members from the class aminoglycosides (under the category of gentamicin, tobramycin, and amikacin), and active members from the class carbapenems (under the category of meropenem, doripenem, ertapenem, imipenem, and cilastatin) (Fig. 3) [1].

In a modern medicine practice, several types of antibiotics as mentioned above are among the most recurrently prescribed medications. According to one study, in the USA alone, out of 61 million US women with reproductive age, i.e., 15-44 years, around 99% used at least one contraceptive-based medicine, whereas other 60% regularly use contraceptive-based medicine [19-21]. More specifically, out of all those who used contraceptive-based medicine, approximately 72% practice nonpermanent methods, i.e., primarily hormonal methods (i.e., the pill, patch, implant, injectable, and vaginal ring) [21, 22]. Ultimately, upon excretion in the domestic sewage of poorly metabolized active residues of the used contraceptives find their way into the aquatic environment [17], even after passing through a partial or inadequate treatment at of the swage waste at the WWTPs. Similarly, other pharmaceuticals, such as ibuprofen, naproxen, acetaminophen, acetylsalicylic acid, and carbamazepine, have been considered high-use and/or overuse antibiotics in Canada [23]. Despite the excessive consumption of pharmaceuticals by humans, several other pharmaceutically active constituents, such as antibacterials, antifungals, and parasiticides, are tremendously employed in the aquaculture, veterinary, agriculture, and animal care settings. In the USA alone, about 92,500 and 196,400 kg antibacterials/year are used for aquaculture-based applications. Moreover, around 8.5 and 11.2 million kg antibacterials are employed in the agricultural setting, annually [24, 25]. Regardless of their usefulness in the respective sectors, the heavily



Fig. 3 Illustration of selected antibiotics. Structural, molecular, and CAS details for each represented antibiotic are also given accordingly. (1) Amoxicillin, (2) ampicillin, (3) dicloxacillin, (4) cephalexin, (5) cefaclor, (6) cefotaxime, (7) ceftazidime, (8) erythromycin, (9) clarithromycin, (10) azithromycin, (11) ciprofloxacin, (12) levofloxacin, (13) moxifloxacin, (14) ofloxacin,

exploited antibiotics end up their transmission fate to the soil, groundwater reservoirs, and surface waters, directly or indirectly, through runoff or drain-off [26]. Such a controlled or uncontrolled transmission of antibiotics residues massively stress the ecosystem that should be dealt with care for their effective mitigation prior to release into water matrices. Other potential sources of pharmaceuticals in our water bodies include the unrestrained spillage or improper dumping of expired drugs in the landfill site. Besides, drainage/sewage system and waste effluent streams are also the points of significant contamination [27, 28].

3 Case Studies of Point-Based Source Pollution

As mentioned earlier, WWTPs are considered one of the significant and imperative point-based sources of pharmaceutical-related ECs in water matrices [29-31]. The existing literature evidently shows that a diverse range of around 16 to 54 types of pharmaceuticals is found in wastewater effluents. For instance, He et al. [31] performed a scale-based approximation of pharmaceutical concentrations and associated environmental risk in the Japanese wastewater system. It was recorded that 36 pharmaceuticals, majority of them were antibiotics and analgesics, had high predicted environmental concentrations in influent with pranlukast, a receptor antagonist which has the highest concentration in wastewater influent at 257.0 µg/L. Moreover, among all tested pharmaceuticals, the occurrence concentrations of 26 were relatively higher than 1.0 μ g/L, while the predicted environmental concentrations of 6 other pharmaceutical-related compounds were extremely higher than 10.0 µg/L. Such existence or occurrence of pharmaceuticals at extreme/higher level possibly attributes to excessive consumption rates by consumers and poor removal rates in WWTPs. From a consumers-based source view, partially or incompletely metabolized pharmaceutical excretion into the domestic sewage stream is the main cause of pharmaceuticals to the aquatic environment [32]. Among several reported pharmaceutical compounds, analgesics/anti-inflammatories (i.e., acetaminophen, salicylic acid, and salicylamide) are abundant in wastewater influent (>100 ng/L) in Japan [33, 34]. Likewise, the occurrence of pharmaceuticals in wastewater stream/ influents in the USA, the UK, Spain, Italy, India, and China has been reported [35– 40]. To avoid literature redundancy, Table 1 summarizes various studies that report the notable occurrence of pharmaceuticals in environmental matrices.

Fig. 3 (continued) (15) sulfasalazine, (16) trimethoprim, (17) minocycline, (18) eravacycline, (19) demeclocycline, (20) doxycycline, (21) dalbavancin, (22) oritavancin, (23) telavancin, (24) vancomycin, (25) gentamicin, (26) tobramycin, (27) amikacin, (28) meropenem, (29) doripenem, (30) ertapenem, (31) imipenem, and (32) cilastatin. MW: molecular weight (g/mol). See CAS # for further details. Reprinted from Bilal et al. [1] Biocatalytic degradation/ redefining "removal" fate of pharmaceutically active compounds and antibiotics in the aquatic environment. Science of The Total Environment, 691, 1190–1211, © 2019 Elsevier B.V., with permission from Elsevier

Reference	Pharmaceuticals	Remarks/highlights
He et al. [31]	Acetaminophen, salicylic acid, salicylamide, ibuprofen, naproxen, ketoprofen, clarithromycin, trimetho- prim, roxithromycin, azithromycin, sul- famethoxazole, sulpiride, thiamphenicol, atenolol, diphenhydramine, and pirenzepine	Thirty-six pharmaceuticals, majority of them were antibiotics and analgesics, had high predicted environmental con- centrations in influent. Nine pharma- ceuticals in the effluent showed high toxicity based on predicted environ- mental concentrations/predicted no effect concentration ratio
Felis et al. [41]	Aminoglycosides, β -lactams, glycopep- tides, macrolides, fluoroquinolones, sul- fonamides and trimethoprim, tetracyclines	Occurrence and environmental impli- cations of antimicrobial pharmaceuti- cals in the aquatic environment WWTPs are indeed the main source responsible for the prevalence of these factors in the aquatic environment
Nantaba et al. [42]	Trimethoprim, azithromycin, sulfameth- oxazole, diclofenac, ibuprofen, sulfamethazine, enoxacin, sulfacetamide, atenolol, oxytetracycline, metoprolol, tetracycline, erythromycin, roxithromycin, bezafibrate, ciprofloxa- cin, levofloxacin, norfloxacin, sparfloxacin, metronidazole, diazepam, acetaminophen, carbamazepine, and fluoxetine	Occurrence of pharmaceutical residues in Africa's largest freshwater lake Twenty-four pharmaceuticals were detected in water from Lake Victoria, Uganda
Su et al. [43]	Caffeine, carbamazepine, azithromycin, bezafibrate, metoprolol, sulfadiazine, sulfamethoxazole, clarithromycin, erythromycin, roxithromycin, and trimethoprim	Spatiotemporal distribution of 27 phar- maceuticals in the Chaobai River Agriculture area presented the highest pharmaceutical concentrations The acute toxic pressure in the river was mainly driven by caffeine
Stroski et al. [6]	Atenolol, carbamazepine, metoprolol, naproxen, sulfapyridine, sulfamethoxa- zole, and trimethoprim	Seven pharmaceuticals were detected in Canadian Arctic wastewater Abundances of pharmaceuticals varied between communities and treatment methods
Reis et al. [44]	Phenazone, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, phenylbutazone, betamethasone, raniti- dine, loratadine, cimetidine, clarithromycin, erythromycin, paroxe- tine, scopolamine, omeprazole, trimetroprim, atenolol, fenofibrate, gem- fibrozil, atorvastatin, fluconazole, pred- nisone, metformin, amoxicillin, ampicillin, caffeine, and enoxacin	Trace levels of pharmaceuticals were detected in superficial and drinking water Conventional drinking water treatment plants were not able to remove the pharmaceuticals completely Drier periods were related to the highest concentration of the pharmaceuticals Drinking water treatment plants' removal efficiency shows a great varia- tion over the year
Greenham et al. [45]	Acetaminophen, caffeine, atorvastatin, lorazepam, cotinine, metformin,	Twelve of top-used pharmaceuticals and 2 metabolites were assessed

 Table 1
 Various studies that report the notable occurrence of pharmaceuticals in the environmental matrices

(continued)

Peference	Pharmaceuticals	Pemarks/highlights
Reference	Filamaceuticais	Kemarks/mgmgms
	metoprolol, paraxanthine, naproxen, quetiapine, ramipril, salbutamol, venlafaxine, and warfarin	Primary treatment was significantly less efficient than other technologies Removal efficiencies of pharmaceuti- cals with 9 different treatment technol- ogies were tested
Kleywegt et al. [46]	Paroxetine, sertraline, carbamazepine, penicillin, acetaminophen, codeine, ibu- profen, naproxen, oxycodone, atorva- statin, metoprolol, amlodipine, diltiazem, furosemide, and verapamil	Direct discharges from pharmaceutical facilities are a crucial source of pollu- tion to receiving sewer sheds Elevated concentrations of pharmaceu- ticals are detected in effluents from manufacturers The manufacturer facilities may be discharging several kilograms of lost products directly to the sewers daily
Kołecka et al. [47]	Ibuprofen, paracetamol, flurbiprofen, naproxen, diclofenac and its metabolites	Pharmaceuticals' distribution in waste- water treatment plant plus sludge treat- ment reed beds differs between season and chemical type Ibuprofen, naproxen, and paracetamol were eliminated by the conventional wastewater treatment plant
Hanamoto et al. [34]	Caffeine, theophylline, acetaminophen, lincomycin, sulfamonomethoxine, met- oprolol, ofloxacin, ketoprofen, bezafibrate, and roxithromycin	In-stream attenuation of pharmaceuti- cals was observed by a mass balance approach Source was estimated based on populations for pharmaceuticals con- servative in the river Three pharmaceuticals were substan- tially affected by household septic tanks
Afonso- Olivares et al. [48]	Trimethoprim, ofloxacin, metronidazole, ciprofloxacin, sulfamethoxazole, ateno- lol erythromycin, propanolol, ranitidine, omeprazole, fluoxetine, carbamazepine, metamizole, ketoprofen, naproxen, ibu- profen, diclofenac, bezafibrate, gemfi- brozil, clofibric acid, nicotine, paraxanthine, caffeine, atenolol d7, sul- famethoxazole d4, ibuprofen d3	Twenty-three pharmaceuticals were monitored in sewage from wastewater treatment plants in Gran Canaria (Spain) Removal efficiencies of pharmaceuti- cals from two different wastewater treatment plants were evaluated Environmental risk assessment of phar- maceuticals was determined
Liu et al. [49]	Amoxicillin, erythromycin, clarithromycin, ofloxacin, roxithromycin, norfloxacin, levofloxacin, lincomycin, sulfamethoxa- zole, ibuprofen, trimethoprim, flumequine, metronidazole, metoprolol, caffeine, chlortetracycline, clofibric acid, diclofenac, salicylic acid, and carbamazepine	Caffeine showed the highest influent concentration than other pharmaceuti- cals Wastewater treatment plants in north China had a higher influent level of total pharmaceuticals Several high-risk pharmaceuticals to the environment were identified

Table 1 (continued)

4 Case Studies of Diffuse-Based Source Pollution

The unidentified movement of several organic contaminants that include active pharmaceutical compounds enters the soil zone and aquatic environments by numerous direct or indirect routes, with bioactive sludge being one of the furthermost essential diffuse sources [7, 50]. The excessive utilization of bioactive sludge, as a biofertilizer, in the agricultural settings is a dominant diffuse-based source of the pharmaceuticals which can then run off to the ground and enters the groundwater and freshwater resources [15]. Generally, bioactive sludge, also termed as biosolid which is commonly used as a biofertilizer, is a type of active residue obtained from the leftovers of the wastewater treatment plants. Such sewage sludge, as a biofertilizer, is typically used for soil amendment. For instance, it has been estimated that around 8 \times 106 dry tons of sludge are produced, and 50% of the obtained sewage sludge is applied to the agricultural land in America. However, the maximum concentration of the pharmaceuticals found in the biosolid, i.e., thiabendazole, is 5,000 µg/kg, and other varieties of pharmaceuticals, e.g., caffeine and carbamazepine, can also be found in the sewage sludge. Owing to this high concentration of active pharmaceutical compounds and high solubility of halogenated hydrocarbon in sewage sludge, it leads to groundwater pollution from the application of biosolid to soil and surface runoff of the biosolid containing soil [15]. The controlled or uncontrolled excessive consumption of biologically active compounds in the agricultural settings is the foremost contributor, through activities such as agricultural runoff, the application of fertilizers and pesticides, tillage practices, habitat alteration, animal waste, and soil erosion. Thus, far more complex challenges are being posed by the diffuse-based source of the pharmaceuticals, which is also known as nonpoint source pollution. Considering the complexity, the diffuse-based source or nonpoint source pollution is a leading water quality problem, in recent times, as compared to the point-based source pollution. Moreover, the diffuse-based source or nonpoint source pollution from agriculture and the urban periphery is a most intractable dimension [51, 52], which is progressively being recognized by policymakers and regulatory authorities. According to the European Union Article 11(3)(h), the Water Framework Directive sets out lowest compliance requirements, i.e., "for diffuse sources liable to cause pollution, measures to prevent or control the input of pollutants. Controls may take the form of a prerequisite for prior regulation, e.g., a proscription on the entry of pollutants into water matrices, prior authorization based on general binding rules where such a prerequisite is not otherwise provided for under Community legislation" [53].

5 Pharmaceuticals' Fate in the Environment

Owing to the complications of diffuse-based source or nonpoint source pollution, the real information on the fate of various pharmaceuticals in the environment is limited [54–56]. Another possible reason behind this vague fate of pharmaceuticals in the

environment could be the low-level volatility of pharmaceuticals. Therefore, the main distribution/transportation of pharmaceuticals in the environment majorly occurs by aqueous transport via a point-based source route. The occurrence of pharmaceutical-related ECs in the environment is low but consistent/persistent. However, pharmaceutical-related ECs are ubiquitous in aqueous matrices. Such consistency/persistence of pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment is mainly because the release rate is higher than the transformation rate [56, 57]. From the persistence viewpoint, sulfonamides and fluoroquinolones are the most persistent and then macrolides, tetracyclines, aminoglycosides, and β -lactam antibiotics. Among them, sulfonamides and fluoroquinolones are easier to adsorb than macrolides, sulfonamides, aminoglycosides, and β -lactams by the soils and sediments, which make them the most persistent [58].

The major transformation fate of biologically active pharmaceuticals occurs in WWTPs to soils via sludge usage as biofertilizer. However, such WWTP-based transformation significantly depends on the overall sewage composition, treatment conditions, and the design and operational factors of the wastewater treatment process [59]. The ultimate fate of pharmaceutical-related ECs and/or their active residues/metabolites in WWTPs could be mineralization to carbon dioxide and water. In the case of lipophilic-type pharmaceutical compounds, the end fate is adsorption on suspended solids or release in the effluent as broken-down residues or as degraded products [60]. From WWTP effluent sources, the persistent pharmaceuticals can afterward be transported to groundwater and/or surface water matrices, whereas the pharmaceutical products used in the aquaculture are directly released into the surface water bodies [61–63].

6 Concluding Remarks and Outlook

In conclusion, based on the above-discussed literature with suitable examples, environmental contamination with a range of emerging anthropogenic pollutants has become a global problem. This chapter is of particular interest, which spotlights a diverse source of pharmaceuticals such as analgesics/anti-inflammatories (narcotic analgesics, nonnarcotic analgesics, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID)) and synthetic antibiotic (β -lactams, macrolides, fluoroquinolones, aminoglycosides, sulfonamide, and tetracycline). Some of them are β -lactams (amoxicillin and penicillin)), cardiovascular pharmaceuticals (β -blockers/diuretics), estrogens and hormonal compounds (estriol, estradiol, estrone, and 17- α -ethinylestradiol), and antiepileptic drugs (carbamazepine) in the water matrices. A brief transmission fate of pharmaceutical-related ECs and their metabolized compounds to soils, groundwater, and surface water bodies is also given from point-based source and nonpoint-based source pollution. The growing water contamination with a controlled or uncontrolled discharge of incompletely or inadequately treated industrial wastes and WWTP effluents harshly distressing the whole living ecosystem. Considering the above-discussed scenarios, there is a dire need to develop highly efficient bioremediation strategies that are clean, green, sustainable, and environmental-friendly and can replace the in-practice inefficient remediation approaches.

Acknowledgments The work is a part of the project entitled "Contaminantes emergentes y prioritarios en las aguas reutilizadas en agricultura: riesgos y efectos en suelos, produc-ción agrícola y entorno ambiental" funded by CSIC-Tecnologico de Monterrey under iLink program. All listed authors are also grateful to their representative universities/institutes for providing literature facilities.

Conflict of Interest Authors declare no conflict of interests in any capacity, including competing or financial.

References

- 1. Bilal M, Ashraf SS, Barceló D, Iqbal HM (2019) Biocatalytic degradation/redefining "removal" fate of pharmaceutically active compounds and antibiotics in the aquatic environment. Sci Total Environ 691:1190–1211
- Pylypchuk IV, Daniel G, Kessler VG, Seisenbaeva GA (2020) Removal of diclofenac, paracetamol, and carbamazepine from model aqueous solutions by magnetic Sol–Gel encapsulated horseradish peroxidase and lignin peroxidase composites. Nano 10(2):282
- Bilal M, Mehmood S, Rasheed T, Iqbal HM (2020) Antibiotics traces in the aquatic environment: persistence and adverse environmental impact. Curr Opin Environ Sci Health 13:68–74
- 4. Ebele AJ, Abdallah MAE, Harrad S (2017) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in the freshwater aquatic environment. Emerg Contam 3(1):1–16
- Miarov O, Tal A, Avisar D (2020) A critical evaluation of comparative regulatory strategies for monitoring pharmaceuticals in recycled wastewater. J Environ Manag 254:109794
- 6. Stroski KM, Luong KH, Challis JK, Chaves-Barquero LG, Hanson ML, Wong CS (2020) Wastewater sources of per-and polyfluorinated alkyl substances (PFAS) and pharmaceuticals in four Canadian Arctic communities. Sci Total Environ 708:134494
- 7. Li WC (2014) Occurrence, sources, and fate of pharmaceuticals in aquatic environment and soil. Environ Pollut 187:193–201
- Petrović M, Gonzalez S, Barceló D (2003) Analysis and removal of emerging contaminants in wastewater and drinking water. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 22(10):685–696
- Tixier C, Singer HP, Oellers S, Müller SR (2003) Occurrence and fate of carbamazepine, clofibric acid, diclofenac, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, and naproxen in surface waters. Environ Sci Technol 37(6):1061–1068
- Aldekoa J, Medici C, Osorio V, Pérez S, Marcé R, Barceló D, Francés F (2013) Modelling the emerging pollutant diclofenac with the GREAT-ER model: application to the Llobregat River basin. J Hazard Mater 263:207–213
- Buser HR, Poiger T, Müller MD (1998) Occurrence and fate of the pharmaceutical drug diclofenac in surface waters: rapid photodegradation in a lake. Environ Sci Technol 32 (22):3449–3456
- 12. Hallgren P, Wallberg P (2015) Background report on pharmaceutical concentrations and effects in the Baltic Sea. In: Policy area hazards of the EU strategy for the Baltic Sea region. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Stockholm
- Belhaj D, Baccar R, Jaabiri I, Bouzid J, Kallel M, Ayadi H, Zhou JL (2015) Fate of selected estrogenic hormones in an urban sewage treatment plant in Tunisia (North Africa). Sci Total Environ 505:154–160

- Morsi R, Bilal M, Iqbal HM, Ashraf SS (2020) Laccases and peroxidases: the smart, greener and futuristic biocatalytic tools to mitigate recalcitrant emerging pollutants. Sci Total Environ 714:136572
- Lapworth DJ, Baran N, Stuart ME, Ward RS (2012) Emerging organic contaminants in groundwater: a review of sources, fate and occurrence. Environ Pollut 163:287–303
- 16. Bueno MM, Gomez MJ, Herrera S, Hernando MD, Agüera A, Fernández-Alba AR (2012) Occurrence and persistence of organic emerging contaminants and priority pollutants in five sewage treatment plants of Spain: two years pilot survey monitoring. Environ Pollut 164:267–273
- Boxall AB (2004) The environmental side effects of medication: how are human and veterinary medicines in soils and water bodies affecting human and environmental health? EMBO Rep 5 (12):1110–1116
- Carvalho IT, Santos L (2016) Antibiotics in the aquatic environments: a review of the European scenario. Environ Int 94:736–757
- Daniels K, Daugherty JD, Jones J, Mosher WD (2015) Current contraceptive use and variation by selected characteristics among women aged 15-44: United States, 2011-2013. Natl Health Stat Rep 86:1–15
- Daniels K, Mosher WD, Jones J (2013) Contraceptive methods women have ever used: United States, 1982-2010. Natl Health Stat Rep 62:1–15
- 21. Kavanaugh ML, Jerman J (2018) Contraceptive method use in the United States: trends and characteristics between 2008, 2012 and 2014. Contraception 97(1):14–21
- 22. Mosher WD, Jones J (2010) Use of contraception in the United States: 1982-2008. In: Vital and health statistics. Series 23, data from the national survey of family growth, vol 29, pp 1–44
- 23. Metcalfe C, Miao XS, Hua W, Letcher R, Servos M (2004) Pharmaceuticals in the Canadian environment. In: Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Springer, Berlin, pp 67–90
- 24. Mellon M, Benbrook C, Benbrook KL (2001) Hogging it: estimates of antimicrobial abuse in livestock. Union of Concerned Scientists, Cambridge
- 25. Nawaz MS, Erickson BD, Khan AA, Khan SA, Pothuluri JV, Rafii F et al (2002) Human health impact and regulatory issues involving antimicrobial resistance in the food animal production environment. Res Perspect J 1(1):1–10
- 26. Korada SK, Yarla NS, Putta S, Hanumakonda AS, Lakkappa DB, Bishayee A et al (2018) A critical appraisal of different food safety and quality management tools to accomplish food safety. In: Food safety and preservation. Academic Press, San Diego, pp 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814956-0.00001-9
- 27. Akici A, Aydin V, Kiroglu A (2018) Assessment of the association between drug disposal practices and drug use and storage behaviors. Saudi Pharm J 26(1):7–13
- Ben Y, Fu C, Hu M, Liu L, Wong MH, Zheng C (2019) Human health risk assessment of antibiotic resistance associated with antibiotic residues in the environment: a review. Environ Res 169:483–493
- 29. de Oliveira M, Frihling BEF, Velasques J, Magalhães Filho FJC, Cavalheri PS, Migliolo L (2020) Pharmaceuticals residues and xenobiotics contaminants: occurrence, analytical techniques and sustainable alternatives for wastewater treatment. Sci Total Environ 705:135568
- 30. Glassmeyer ST, Furlong ET, Kolpin DW, Cahill JD, Zaugg SD, Werner SL et al (2005) Transport of chemical and microbial compounds from known wastewater discharges: potential for use as indicators of human fecal contamination. Environ Sci Technol 39(14):5157–5169
- 31. He K, Borthwick AG, Lin Y, Li Y, Fu J, Wong Y, Liu W (2020) Sale-based estimation of pharmaceutical concentrations and associated environmental risk in the Japanese wastewater system. Environ Int 139:105690
- 32. Kümmerer K (2010) Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Annu Rev Environ Resour 35:57–75
- 33. Azuma T, Otomo K, Kunitou M, Shimizu M, Hosomaru K, Mikata S et al (2019) Environmental fate of pharmaceutical compounds and antimicrobial-resistant bacteria in hospital effluents, and contributions to pollutant loads in the surface waters in Japan. Sci Total Environ 657:476–484

- 34. Hanamoto S, Nakada N, Yamashita N, Tanaka H (2018) Source estimation of pharmaceuticals based on catchment population and in-stream attenuation in Yodo River watershed, Japan. Sci Total Environ 615:964–971
- Čelić M, Gros M, Farré M, Barceló D, Petrović M (2019) Pharmaceuticals as chemical markers of wastewater contamination in the vulnerable area of the Ebro Delta (Spain). Sci Total Environ 652:952–963
- 36. Kostich MS, Batt AL, Lazorchak JM (2014) Concentrations of prioritized pharmaceuticals in effluents from 50 large wastewater treatment plants in the US and implications for risk estimation. Environ Pollut 184:354–359
- 37. Liu JL, Wong MH (2013) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs): a review on environmental contamination in China. Environ Int 59:208–224
- Munro K, Martins CP, Loewenthal M, Comber S, Cowan DA, Pereira L, Barron LP (2019) Evaluation of combined sewer overflow impacts on short-term pharmaceutical and illicit drug occurrence in a heavily urbanised tidal river catchment (London, UK). Sci Total Environ 657:1099–1111
- 39. Spataro F, Ademollo N, Pescatore T, Rauseo J, Patrolecco L (2019) Antibiotic residues and endocrine disrupting compounds in municipal wastewater treatment plants in Rome, Italy. Microchem J 148:634–642
- 40. Thalla AK, Vannarath AS (2020) Occurrence and environmental risks of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs in urban wastewater in the southwest monsoon region of India. Environ Monit Assess 192(3):1–13
- Felis E, Kalka J, Sochacki A, Kowalska K, Bajkacz S, Harnisz M, Korzeniewska E (2020) Antimicrobial pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment-occurrence and environmental implications. Eur J Pharmacol 866:172813
- 42. Nantaba F, Wasswa J, Kylin H, Palm WU, Bouwman H, Kümmerer K (2020) Occurrence, distribution, and ecotoxicological risk assessment of selected pharmaceutical compounds in water from Lake Victoria, Uganda. Chemosphere 239:124642
- 43. Su D, Ben W, Strobel BW, Qiang Z (2020) Occurrence, source estimation and risk assessment of pharmaceuticals in the Chaobai River characterized by adjacent land use. Sci Total Environ 712:134525
- 44. Reis EO, Foureaux AFS, Rodrigues JS, Moreira VR, Lebron YA, Santos LV et al (2019) Occurrence, removal and seasonal variation of pharmaceuticals in Brasilian drinking water treatment plants. Environ Pollut 250:773–781
- 45. Greenham RT, Miller KY, Tong A (2019) Removal efficiencies of top-used pharmaceuticals at sewage treatment plants with various technologies. J Environ Chem Eng 7(5):103294
- 46. Kleywegt S, Payne M, Ng F, Fletcher T (2019) Environmental loadings of active pharmaceutical ingredients from manufacturing facilities in Canada. Sci Total Environ 646:257–264
- 47. Kołecka K, Gajewska M, Stepnowski P, Caban M (2019) Spatial distribution of pharmaceuticals in conventional wastewater treatment plant with sludge treatment reed beds technology. Sci Total Environ 647:149–157
- 48. Afonso-Olivares C, Sosa-Ferrera Z, Santana-Rodríguez JJ (2017) Occurrence and environmental impact of pharmaceutical residues from conventional and natural wastewater treatment plants in Gran Canaria (Spain). Sci Total Environ 599:934–943
- 49. Liu HQ, Lam JC, Li WW, Yu HQ, Lam PK (2017) Spatial distribution and removal performance of pharmaceuticals in municipal wastewater treatment plants in China. Sci Total Environ 586:1162–1169
- Harrison EZ, Oakes SR, Hysell M, Hay A (2006) Organic chemicals in sewage sludges. Sci Total Environ 367(2–3):481–497
- Gunningham N, Sinclair D (2005) Policy instrument choice and diffuse source pollution. J Environ Law 17(1):51–81
- 52. Ribaudo M, Horan RD, Smith ME (1999) Economics of water quality protection from non-point sources; theory and practice. In: Ribaudo MO, Horan RD, Smith ME (eds) Agricultural economic report; no. 782 an economic research service report

- 53. Directive WF (2000) Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for community action in the field of water policy. Off J Eur Communities 22(12):2000
- 54. Ashton D, Hilton M, Thomas KV (2004) Investigating the environmental transport of human pharmaceuticals to streams in the United Kingdom. Sci Total Environ 333(1–3):167–184
- 55. Kolpin DW, Battaglin WA, Conn KE, Furlong ET, Glassmeyer ST, Kalkhoff SJ et al (2008) Occurrence of transformation products in the environment. In: Transformation products of synthetic chemicals in the environment. Springer, Berlin, pp 83–100
- 56. Nikolaou A, Meric S, Fatta D (2007) Occurrence patterns of pharmaceuticals in water and wastewater environments. Anal Bioanal Chem 387(4):1225–1234
- Bendz D, Paxéus NA, Ginn TR, Loge FJ (2005) Occurrence and fate of pharmaceutically active compounds in the environment, a case study: Höje River in Sweden. J Hazard Mater 122 (3):195–204
- Huang CH, Renew JE, Smeby KL, Pinkston K, Sedlak DL (2011) Assessment of potential antibiotic contaminants in water and preliminary occurrence analysis. J Contem Water Res Educ 120(1):4
- Roberts PH, Thomas KV (2006) The occurrence of selected pharmaceuticals in wastewater effluent and surface waters of the lower Tyne catchment. Sci Total Environ 356(1–3):143–153
- 60. Lishman L, Smyth SA, Sarafin K, Kleywegt S, Toito J, Peart T et al (2006) Occurrence and reductions of pharmaceuticals and personal care products and estrogens by municipal wastewater treatment plants in Ontario, Canada. Sci Total Environ 367(2–3):544–558
- 61. Angeles LF, Islam S, Aldstadt J, Saqeeb KN, Alam M, Khan MA et al (2020) Retrospective suspect screening reveals previously ignored antibiotics, antifungal compounds, and metabolites in Bangladesh surface waters. Sci Total Environ 712:136285
- 62. Carlsson C, Johansson AK, Alvan G, Bergman K, Kühler T (2006) Are pharmaceuticals potent environmental pollutants?: part I: environmental risk assessments of selected active pharmaceutical ingredients. Sci Total Environ 364(1–3):67–87
- 63. Gao XY, Liu Y, Miao LL, Liu ZP (2020) Pseudomonas sp. AOB-7 utilizes PHA granules as a sustained-release carbon source and biofilm carrier for aerobic denitrification of aquaculture water. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 104(7):3183–3192

Environmental, Economic, and Ethical Assessment of the Treated Wastewater and Sewage Sludge Valorization in Agriculture



Emna Ammar, Hugo Maury, Loïc Morin, and Abdelghani Sghir

Contents

1	Introduction	50
2	Biological Sewage Sludge Formation Within the WWTP	54
3	Chemical Composition of the WW Sludge	55
	3.1 Macro- and Micropollutants as Plant Nutrients	55
	3.2 Metal Trace Elements (MTE) and Nanomaterials	56
	3.3 Organic Micropollutants	58
4	The Sludge Microbiome Composition: An Untapped Diversity – Potential Consequences	
	of WW Irrigation and Sludge Spreading on Agricultural Soil	59
	4.1 Eukaryotic Components	60
	4.2 Prokaryotic Components	64
	4.3 Viral Components of the Sludge Microbiome	65
	4.4 Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria, Genes, and Mobile Genetic Elements	65
5	Sewage Sludge Management	67
6	Sewage Sludge: An Ambiguous Status	69
7	Sewage Sludge: Questions at the Crossroads of Ethics and the Economy	71
8	Concluding Remarks and Future Recommendations	72
Re	ferences	73

E. Ammar

H. Maury and A. Sghir (⊠) Génomique métabolique, Genoscope, Institut de Biologie François Jacob, CEA, CNRS, Université d'Evry, Université Paris-Saclay, Evry, France e-mail: sghir@genoscope.cns.fr

L. Morin

Sandra Pérez Solsona, Nicola Montemurro, Serge Chiron, and Damià Barceló (eds.), Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems: The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater, Hdb Env Chem (2021) 103: 49–78, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_606, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 23 September 2020

Laboratoire des Sciences de l'Environnement et Développement Durable, Université de Sfax, Ecole Nationale d'Ingénieurs de Sfax, Sfax, Tunisie e-mail: ammarenis@yahoo.fr

Institut de Biologie Intégrative de la Cellule, Université d'Evry Paris Saclay, Orsay Cedex, France

Abstract Sewage sludge is a by-product of the sewage treatment plants. Because of its richness in nutrients and for several environmental and economic reasons, this waste by-product is widely used as a fertilizer for agricultural purposes under specific conditions. This practice might be hazardous since this waste includes many known and unknown non-biodegradable and harmful pollutants, especially emerging organic contaminants (EOCs), as well as cultivable and non-cultivable pathogens. The present work is aiming at (1) providing information on the nature of sludge in terms of persistent pollutants and cultivable and non-cultivable microbiota generated by the currently implemented treatment processes, (2) analyzing the consequences of the agricultural valorization on ecosystem biodiversity and soil fertility, and (3) addressing and discussing the economic, ethical, and environmental benefits or damage of this type of valorization. These issues need full consideration by policy makers regarding the agricultural use of this waste by-product in terms of irrigation with treated domestic wastewater or sludge land spreading as soil fertilizer and plant growth promoter.

Keywords Economy, Ecotoxicity, Emerging organic contaminants, Ethics, Irrigation, Land spreading, Metagenomics uncultured pathogens and parasites, Microbiome, Micropollutants, Sewage sludge

1 Introduction

The human access to drinking water and sanitation is a universal right since water is a vital resource for life and indispensable for the economy and the development of nations. The protection of water resources and their sustainable use is becoming a global issue to thwart consequences of population growth, increased urbanization, and tourism and climate change with the risk of drought. The treatment and "reuse" of sewage is among the possible solutions to solve the problem of water availability for future generations as the world's demand for safe and healthy food and water is rapidly increasing [1]. According to the United Nations, the world's population is estimated to be 9.7 billion in 2050. Hence, preventing the degradation of soil ecosystems and water resources must be a priority to consider for the next decades [2].

Current estimates show the daily water consumption of an individual varies according to the country and the environment (urban or rural); it can be excessive $(600 \text{ L day}^{-1}, \text{ in the USA})$, average (150 to 165 L day⁻¹, in France), low (80 to 120 L day⁻¹, in developing countries), or very low (<40 L day⁻¹, in rural areas) [3]. After use, the wastewater (WW) is discharged into the sewage system to join WW treatment plants (WWTPs) where it will be purified. WW undergoes a series of mechanical, physicochemical, and biological processes to produce clean water that meets environmental quality standards, preventing stream and river eutrophication

and groundwater contamination. The first stage of the treatment consists in physical separation of the pollutants of large size using mechanical tools to retain and harvest solid and bulky waste such as floating grease, plastic bags, leaves, sheets, condoms, etc. carried by raw WW. These materials are insensitive to biological treatment and harmful for downstream installations (pumps and pipes). Decanted materials are referred to as primary sludge, which are then collected [2, 4]. After the decantation step, the water loaded with dissolved organic matter (OM) and suspended colloidal particles (diameter $< 200 \ \mu m$) flow through to the biological treatment processes where it will be assimilated and metabolized by a complex and diversified microbiota including aerobic, anoxic, and anaerobic processes [2, 4, 5] (Fig. 1). WW's microbiota assembles into aggregated structures called flocs, where exopolymeric substances (EPS) are establishing the bonds between microorganisms. Aggregation and accumulation of mineral and organic compounds to and within the flocs make their weight increase, allowing them to settle into the bottom of the WW basins [2, 4, 6]. Free-living microorganisms, which do not aggregate to the flocs, grow at the expense of dissolved OM and constitute suspended matter (SM) [7]. At the end of the biological treatment, after assimilation or elimination of carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus, as well as other biodegradable elements, the WW undergoes a second decantation in the clarifying basin. Following sludge decantation, purified water is discharged into the natural environment or reused mainly for irrigation [8]. After this treatment, the secondary or activated sludge is collected from the clarifier, which mainly consists of microbial cells and other SM, with the eventual chelation of sewage compounds leading to the formation of so-called "biological" or secondary sludge (Fig. 1).

It was reported that the United States is generating 40 Mt of sewage annually, while in the European Union, the figure is 50 Mt, representing about 7.5 Mt of dry matter [3, 9, 10]. In the countries located near the Baltic Sea watershed, the generated sewage sludge is about 3.5 Mt of dry solids annually. Germany is the highest sludge producer, followed by the United Kingdom and France. It is estimated that these countries with Spain and Italy generate altogether nearly 75% of the European sewage sludge [11]. In France, this production is of the order of 1.8 Mt SM year⁻¹, which represents 15–19 kg inhabitant⁻¹ year⁻¹ of SM [3]. Considering the organic waste recovery, French policy predicts an increase of 55 to 65% over the period going from 2020 to 2025 [10, 12].

Treated WW and sludge quality are specified by national and international standards and guidelines according to the receiving environment or their use for different purposes [13, 14]. Physicochemical parameters including organic pollutants or micropollutants and minerals, among which are metal trace elements (MTE), and pathogenic microorganisms indicating fecal contamination and nematode eggs are analyzed (Fig. 2). The analyses are achieved to ensure that there will be no negative effect on the quality of the receiving environments, such as streams, rivers, or soil and groundwater, when spreading the sludge or following agricultural fields' irrigation with treated WW [15–17].

Based on the economic point of view, recent cost analysis data estimate that half of the total operating cost of a WWTP accounts for sewage sludge management









[18]. For this, many techniques were deployed to manage the sewage sludge including ocean disposal, incineration, landfilling, and agricultural valorization. In fact, there are many strategies to use sewage sludge but also many restrictions on the use of the given management method [11]. However, these routes of waste disposal may have numerous drawbacks and environmental hazards. To preserve marine ecology, ocean sewage sludge disposal was prohibited by the London Convention 97 protocol [19]. The presence of heavy metals, organic pollutants, pathogens, and other trace elements confines the sewage sludge use as agricultural fertilizer. For the best suitable option, some basic criteria have been described in the circular economy "from waste to resources" sense. The importance of sewage sludge as a valuable source of matter and energy and a potential risk related to the application of those strategies have been appreciated [11]. Moreover, to reduce freshwater consumption, as well as the discharge of effluents into freshwater ecosystems, treated WW (re)use may be a valid option [20]. Consequently, WW and its sludge become a valued resource rather than a waste product in line with circular economy rules. However to the best of our knowledge, the applied guidelines do not cover the impact and consequences of the introduction of known or unknown biological contaminants such as microbial pathogens or microorganisms resistant to antibiotics, heavy metals, or persistent and emerging micropollutants such as endocrine disruptors on the soil microbiome and its metabolic activity [9, 21, 22]. Consequently, the complex network of telluric microbial communities and mesofauna established based on tight interrelations between soil abiotic and biotic parameters may be affected [7, 23]. The introduction of nonindigenous potential invasive species may cause adverse effects at several levels of biological organization, inducing the elimination of indigenous microorganisms by competition, parasitism, or following changes in soil physicochemical properties [9, 16, 23, 24]. At the current state, to fill these gaps of knowledge, such studies remain to be achieved.

2 Biological Sewage Sludge Formation Within the WWTP

Biological treatment of WW converts dissolved OM into biosolids that consist of highly hydrated flocs. Oxygenation allows the dissolved OM conversion into microbial cells that eventually settle in the WWTP basins, following a physical collision and flocculation, based on the aggregation of colloidal particles. Consequently, the flocs characteristics (shape, size, density, and porosity) affect its sedimentation rate [6, 22]. WW sludge may be in liquid, solid, or pasty form and contain OM (carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus), mineral elements, and heavy metals [10] (Fig. 2).

The sludge structure is closely related to that of the flocs. Microorganisms in the purifying biomass excrete complex mixtures of high molecular weight polymers [6, 12, 23]. Microbial EPS are an abundant and important group of compounds that can be secreted by *Archaea*, *Bacteria*, *Fungi*, and algae [25–27]. Cultivable bacteria of the genera *Bacillus*, *Pseudomonas*, and *Klebsiella* count among the hyper-producers of EPS [28]. In addition to EPS, *Zoogloea* is producing poly-beta-

hydroxy-butyrate, nitrate reductase, urease, and gelatinase and hydrolyzing benzoate forming a gelatinous structure. Other gelatinous matrices produced by phytoplankton and associated bacteria can flocculate under stressful conditions [10].

In sludge, the EPS concentration ranges from 73 to 139 g L⁻¹. These EPSs consist of sugars, proteins, lipids, nucleic acids, glycoproteins, phospholipids, as well as minerals and metals (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, Fe²⁺, Al³⁺, Cr⁶⁺, and Cd²⁺), contributing to the flocs formation [1, 10, 29]. EPSs allow bacterial adhesion to external surfaces, forming a protective layer, and fill the space between prokaryotes and eukaryotes inhabiting aggregates, where a variety of microorganisms develops and produces more specific EPSs [7, 23, 24, 28, 30]. EPSs also play the role of scavenger, transport and transform, store, and facilitate the degradation of nutrients in the environment, help detoxify xenobiotics following their sorption, accumulate toxic metal ions, and retain water [6, 10, 23].

For an efficient use of nutrients by microorganisms, the optimum C/N/P ratio should be 100/5/1. The optimal production of sludge is obtained for a C/N ratio of 9 to 21; its deterioration occurs when the C/N ratio ranges between 21 and 43. Moreover, under C and N limiting conditions, the biosolids' hydrophobicity decreases and dehydration becomes difficult [6]. The size and shape of the floc vary according to the interactions between the types of particles (microorganisms, organic and inorganic particles, and ions) and their affinities. These parameters influence the growth and organization of flocs, resulting in hydrated clusters of aggregates of living and nonliving organisms, interacting with the EPS. Nitrogen limitation affects EPS production. In fact, for a high C/N rates, the microbial activity decreases with the release of ammonia [4, 6]. However, floc size increases at high C/N ratios. Sludge color may vary from white to brown, depending on the constituents and types of bacteria present, aggregated particle density, oxygen availability, and age of aggregates [24, 31]. To facilitate sludge handling, its volume is reduced by various processes including thickening, dehydration, and drying, which may reduce its management costs [10, 24].

3 Chemical Composition of the WW Sludge

3.1 Macro- and Micropollutants as Plant Nutrients

The WW sludge microbiome partly assimilates carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, and residual nutrients; the excess quantities are found in sludge which, together with all the non-metabolizable pollutants, make out of it a matrix rich in fertilizing material (C, 32–38%; N, 2.9–5.2%; P, 1.5–2.7%) [29, 32]. This matrix contains also elements at low concentrations more or less biodegradable [28, 33], which are at the origin of the problem raised when it comes to the urban WW sludge valorization [23, 31, 34]. In fact, the fertilizing elements of the WW sludge are organic carbon in its different forms, resulting from human activities, some of which is found in the form of humic substances adsorbed on the EPS, which represent 20% of the sludge carbon

[34, 35]. Nitrogen is the second compound present at relatively high concentrations (2–8% of DM). It is found in organic form (63%: proteins, amino acids, and urea) and ionic (37%: nitrates and nitrites) [23, 24, 26, 28, 29, 36, 37]. Phosphorus is also an important fertilizer in sludge (2–8% of dry matter). It results from exogenous contributions of detergents, pesticides, agricultural fertilizers, or microorganisms' storage (polyphosphates) [35, 38]. Sludge also contains other macro-elements such as K, Ca, Mg, and Na that result from urban activities [38, 39] (Table 1).

3.2 Metal Trace Elements (MTE) and Nanomaterials

Heavy metals found in WW or its sludge are associated with various products of domestic, industrial, or agricultural use or come from road leaching. The most frequently found MTEs are Zn, Cu, Ni, Pb, Cd, Hg, and Cr [42]. The concentrations of the MTEs, which are often important, depend on the countries and the type of effluents discharged into the urban network (Table. 2). They are characterized by their persistence, their bioaccumulation, and their toxicity vis-à-vis the soil and the environment (Fig. 2). Ferreiro-Domínguez et al. showed that land spreading of sewage sludge increases copper content of plants grown in agronomic and forest soils; this effect is more pronounced in unseeded areas of forest soils [42]. Their accumulation in the soil known as "terraccumulation" is defined as the concentration of pollutants in soils from land application of contaminated biosolids generated by agricultural practices, water, and WW facilities. It occurs when the soil ecosystem becomes unable to metabolize contaminants supplied by biosolids or water [45]. This may cause toxicity effect on plant and may disturb the autochthonous microbial communities (e.g., reduction of microbial biomass or alteration of the community structure).

Due to their widespread use in commercial products, nanomaterial (NM) research continues to expand, and their impacts on the environment are documented by numerous reviews and papers, describing new methods of detection, environmental occurrence and fate, as well as toxicity. Using wetland mesocosms with aquatic plants, Colman et al. published an interesting study on the impact of silver nanoparticles on ecosystems. They investigated two diameters of nanosilver (12 and 49 nm) compared to ionic silver (Ag⁺) in 19 wetland mesocosms. Over 30 days of exposure, they concluded that all three silver treatments were toxic to the aquatic plants, leading to a significant release of dissolved organic carbon and chloride following exposure. Despite widely different toxicities observed in controlled laboratory tests, toxicities in the outdoor mesocosms were very similar [36].

Table 1	Urban wastewater sludge	chemical o	characterization				
Referenc	ä	нн	Organic carbon	Total nitroven	aNH, ⁺	aNO, -	PO, ^{3–}

Reference	рН	Organic carbon	Total nitrogen	$^{\mathrm{a}}\mathrm{NH}_4^+$	$^{\mathrm{a}}\mathrm{NO}_{3}^{-}$	PO_4^{3-}	Ca	Mg	Na	K	Fe
Tabatabai and Frankeraber [40]	6.9	24.0	2.25	668	163	0.9	9.3	1.1	0.25	0.31	1.95
EPA [41]	>5.5	ND	3.00	ND	ND	1.5	4	0.4	QN	0.3	1.70
Mantovi et al. [33]	7.9	29.6	4.25	0.62	ND	1.8	QN	QZ	0.40	0.71	Q

ND not determined $\ensuremath{^{\mathrm{a}}}\xspace$ here the rest is expressed as a percentage of dry matter

-		-			-		
Country	Zn	Cu	Cr	Pb	Ni	Cd	Hg
USA (1977) [32]	1,740	850	890	300	82	19.0	3.0
USA (2002) [41]	705	511	35	65	23	2.3	1.5
France (1999) [38]	761	286	4.5	107	35	4.5	2.1
China (2018) [43]	674	204	236	26	334	0.9	0.9
Concentration limit EPA [41]	7,500	4,300	ND	840	420	85	57
Sludge limit values, France ^a	60-	20-	30-	70-	15-	0.5-	0.1-
[44]	200	100	100	100	70	1.5	1.0

Table 2 Heavy metal concentrations in sludge of various origins (mg kg⁻¹)

ND not determined

^aIn ppm; the rest is expressed as a percentage of dry matter. Values likely to amend a soil

3.3 Organic Micropollutants

In addition to the easily quantifiable known elements found in treated WW or sludge, the most problematic source of pollution is represented by persistent and emerging micropollutants, among which are synthetic molecules such as plastics, hydrocarbons, certain drug molecules (hormones, antibiotics, analgesics, etc.) and endocrine disruptors (e.g., pesticides, metabolites, toxins, plasticizers, surfactants) [9, 21, 34, 38, 44] (Fig. 2). The European Union has compiled a list of 143,000 industrial chemicals, known as emerging, persistent, and ecotoxic chemicals, and criteria for the agricultural use of biosolids have been established [32]. Among these molecules, some are stable and recalcitrant to degradation and are characterized by a dose effect, which would impose their control to avoid the related environmental problems [7]. These contaminants were found in sludge and surface water at a concentration between 1 µg and 1 mg L^{-1} [9]. Motoyama et al. found that residues of 12 drugs were found in recycled sludge in agricultural soil [39]. Recently, a fungicide (carbendizine) was found in treated WW and soil [21], and there are interactions between different pollutants and sludge formation conditions affecting their adsorption [23]. In addition, bisphenol A and irgasan were detected in untreated sludge with removal of 60% for bisphenol A [46]. Recent studies have demonstrated that conventional WW treatment using the activated sludge process is insufficient to remove persistent micropollutants, and 32 pharmaceutical compounds were found in sludge [47]. The fate of some of these molecules in soils is still unknown [38]. In the long term, irrigation with treated WW could lead to the accumulation of organic pollutants and micropollutants in soils such as phenolic compounds, surfactants, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), pharmaceutical products, and MTEs with a disastrous impact on the soil microbiota and soil physicochemical properties. The risk may then arise with their gradual accumulation in the soil over the years of sludge application or through the irrigation process. For example, phenanthrene, a model compound for polyaromatic hydrocarbons, has negative effects on several bacterial groups, reducing soil richness and

evenness [48]. Endocrine disruptors and a myriad of pharmaceutical products, antimicrobials, personal care products, lipid regulator agents, anti-inflammatory drugs, beta-blockers, cancer therapeutics, contraceptives, and other hormones are contaminants of emerging concern [22, 49]. Some of them are not degraded at all, or degraded at low level by the WW microbiota.

A very interesting recent discovery made by Susan D. Richardson et al., from the University of South Carolina shows that compounds used for medical imaging (X-ray contrast media) can react with chlorine or chloramines in drinking water treatment to form the most toxic iodinated disinfection by-products (DBPs) identified to date [50]. Even though X-ray contrast media are nontoxic to humans in their parent form and are excreted within about 24 h, these iodinated disinfection by-products are very resistant to degradation in the WWTP, such that high levels are released to rivers and streams (up to 100 ppb) and can enter drinking water sources to form these highly toxic DBPs.

In the United States, concerns grow over tainted sewage sludge spread on croplands because of the perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in biosolids. PFASs are extensively used in the manufacture of surfactants, lubricants, polishes, textile coatings, and fire-retarding foams. On September 12, 2019, John Flesher and Michael Casey of the Associated Press reported that in Maine, a dairy farm was forced to shut down because of high levels of PFAS in the milk, after sludge land spreading. The concern is that certain PFAS chemicals, which studies have associated with an increased risk of cancer and damage to organs such as the liver and thyroid, could be absorbed by crops grown in soils treated with polluted sludge and wind up in foods. The Food and Drug Administration agency reported finding substantial levels of the chemicals in random samples of grocery store meats, dairy products, seafood, and even off-the-shelf chocolate cake, although the study did not mention any connection to sewage waste (https://apnews.com/ 32c65a5b3c27468ea2cdd2ce97848825). The significant loading of PFAS to US further increases concern about groundwater and surface soils water contamination [51].

Hence, collaborative projects are needed between environmental chemists, microbiologists, and engineers to harness the potential of new screening techniques for assessing the environmental and ecological impact of micropollutants, their metabolic end products, and their derivatives on overall ecological health.

4 The Sludge Microbiome Composition: An Untapped Diversity – Potential Consequences of WW Irrigation and Sludge Spreading on Agricultural Soil

Sludge from WWTP concentrates 85 to 90% of solid and contains a large amount of prokaryotic microorganisms, which account for 95% of the microbiota. These microorganisms include functional groups that ensure carbon removal by oxidation

or fermentation; nitrogen by nitrification, denitrification, or assimilation; and phosphorus in the form of polyphosphate polymers, stored as a source of energy for the WW biome. Thus, functional properties of sludge microbiota help in avoiding eutrophication and deterioration of recipient surface waters such as rivers and streams. Within this anthropized ecosystem, prokaryotes live in tight association with eukaryotes comprising protists, fungi, metazoans, metaphytes, and viruses. They form a complex microbiome with a large part (>95–98%) still awaiting culture and characterization [52–54].

Culture-independent molecular analysis of the sludge microbiome circumvents conventional culture methods. It gives valuable information about microbiome composition, community structure, and function. Thus, high-throughput sequencing of 16S and 18S rRNA genes has depicted the high complexity of microbial populations. Our most recent studies using 16S and 18S rDNA barcoding show that at the phylum level, we found at least 40 and 15 prokaryotic (*Archaea* and *Bacteria* domains) and eukaryotic phyla, respectively (Morin et al., 2020).

4.1 Eukaryotic Components

The eukaryotic compartment of the sludge microbiome is predominantly composed of at least 15 phyla. The most predominant are Nucletmycea, Holozoa, Amoebozoa, Rhizaria. Alveolata (Ciliophora, Apicomplexa), Stramenopiles, Discoba. Chloroplastida, and Protalveolata, representing up to 90% of the total species, or "operational taxonomic units (OTUs)." Unknown and multi-affiliation phyla are making up to 10% of the total OTUs. The remaining six minor phyla affiliate with Apusozoa, Rhodophyta, Cryptia, Haptisia, Metamonada, and Dinoflagellata. They altogether totalize 1% of the total OTUs (Fig. 3a). In terms of abundance, seven predominant phyla, Holozoa, Nucletmycea, Amoebozoa, Rhizaria, Ciliophora, Discoba, and Stramenopiles, represent >98% of the total V9 18S rDNA sequence reads (Fig. 3a, b). The remaining ten eukaryotic phyla made up only 1.20% of the total eukaryotic V9 18S rDNA sequence reads (Morin et al., 2020). These phyla comprise an abundance of non-cultivable species and lineages (60-90%).

Among novel lineages the phylum *Cryptomycota*, formerly known as LKM11 and LKM118, was found in abundance, making up to 76% of the total fungal population within a domestic WWTP. The *Cryptomycota* are currently not represented by only one cultivated species [54] (Fig. 3a, b; Morin et al., 2020). Pathogenic fungi such as *Olpidium, Paecilomyces, Aspergillus, Rhodotorula, Penicillium, Candida, Synchytrium, Phyllosticta*, and *Mucor* have been isolated from WWTPs and would be very dangerous to human health since treated WW in some cases is not only used for irrigation but also to produce drinking water [55]. In our study of domestic WWTP sludge, we detected 45 potential human fungal generacontaining pathogen species. *Candida* and *Pichia* were the two most important genera reported for *Ascomycota* phylum, while *Lichtheimia* and *Rhizopus* were observed for *Mucoromycota* phylum. These genera represent the most persistent



Fig. 3 (a) Eukaryotic diversity of domestic wastewater sludge at the genera level based on the phylogenetic analysis of the V9 region of the 18S rDNA sequence reads. Metagenomic DNA was extracted from 23 time series samples over 236 days. Only reads \geq 5% of abundance average were included in the analyses (Morin et al., article in preparation). (b) Bacterial diversity of domestic wastewater sludge at the genera level based on the phylogenetic analysis of the V4 region of the 16S rDNA sequence reads. Metagenomic DNA was extracted from 23 time series samples over 236 days. Only reads >1% of average abundance average were included in the analyses (Morin et al., article in preparation)





fungal pathogens within the WWTP microbiome, over the 236 sampling days. In the WWTPs, some pathogenic fungi are of a great interest, they can be a serious threat to human health and an issue of concern because fungi are not completely removed by conventional WWTP and they are not included in regulatory frameworks. Furthermore, some species may produce mycotoxins, which are toxic to humans. These pathogenic fungi may have also a significant impact on crop and plant life, affecting food security and the whole ecosystem [43].

Cysticercosis is a parasitic infection caused by larvae of Taenia solitary worms. In Europe and in cold or temperate regions, the species *Taenia saginata* is predominant. In Africa, we find Taenia solium. These worms are most commonly found in cattle and pigs respectively, and may infect humans. They may pose a serious risk of ocular or neurological damage. The problem posed by Taenia is that its eggs are particularly resistant and can survive the different treatments of sewage sludge [56]. This is why the persistence of helminth eggs is a criterion taken into account in the law of 1998 on the approval of sewage sludge as fertilizer. The transmission of worms is the consequence of sludge spreading on plots intended for pig, sheep, or cattle breeding. Ascariasis is a parasitic infection caused by the nematode worm Ascaris parasitizing the small intestine of mammals. Ascaris lumbricoides is found in sewage sludge, and its eggs contaminate the soil and plants after sludge spreading, resulting in the infection of any organism that consumes them [1]. A. lumbricoides is the largest intestinal roundworm and is the most common helminth infection of humans worldwide. Infestation can cause morbidity by compromising human nutritional status [57] or affecting cognitive processes [58] inducing tissue reactions such as granuloma to larval stages and causing intestinal obstruction, which can be fatal. This worm weakens its host by eating the ingested nutrients. Knowing that this worm is particularly virulent in the tropics, it causes problems of undernutrition in countries having trouble feeding. Thus, it decreases the hosts' immune defenses making them vulnerable to other diseases. In endemic areas, massive infections (200 to 1,000 worms) cause serious damage including intestinal obstruction that can lead to death. The worms in abundance eventually cross the intestinal wall to spread throughout the body and cause multiple problems (irritation, lesions, and edema). Hookworms Ancylostoma duodenale and Necator americanus are two nematodes parasitizing mammalian duodenum and jejunum. As with most parasitic nematode worms, they cause skin lesions, respiratory irritation and lack of nutrition with inflammation of the intestine. However, hookworms differ from other intestinal helminthiases in attacking male adults rather than children. Giardiasis is also an intestinal disease, including diarrhea, caused by *Giardia intestinalis*, a flagellated protozoan [59]. This parasite can form cysts that are particularly resistant to WW treatment. It can be transmitted to humans by non-potable water or by ingestion of contaminated food. In the case of sewage sludge, it can be transferred to livestock after soil sludge application. Giardia is asymptomatic most of the time. However, it can cause diarrhea from a certain concentration of parasites. These diarrheas can become serious when the protozoan is present at high quantity. A recent study by Amorós et al. [60] in raw and treated sewage sludge showed that Cryptosporidium oocysts and Giardia cysts were present in 26 of the 30 samples (86.6%) of raw sludge samples in Spain. In treated sludge samples, oocysts have been observed in all WWTPs analyzed (25 samples) with different stabilization treatment (83.3%). This study provides evidence that oocysts are present in sewage sludge end products from WW treatment processes with the negative consequences for public health [60].

4.2 Prokaryotic Components

The predominant prokaryotic phyla are affiliated mainly with *Hydrobacteria* represented by *Proteobacteria*, *Bacteroidetes*, *Planctomycetes*, and *Verrucomicrobia* and *Terrabacteria* represented by *Chloroflexi*, *Firmicutes*, and *Actinobacteria* (Fig. 3b). *Archaea* domain is accounting for 0.02% of the total 18S rDNA reads, represented by 70% of human intestinal methanogens (Morin et al., 2020).

Prokaryotes and eukaryotes are involved in important biogeochemical processes such as carbon, nitrogen, sulfur, or phosphorus biogeochemical cycles of which a large number of microorganisms are always represented by so-called candidate species (Fig. 3b) [52]. These microbial phyla would be of great importance for the transformation of chemical elements, making them available to plants, thus contributing to soil fertility. Some of these non-cultivable microbial lineages are affiliated with obligate intracellular bacteria such as the *Alphaproteobacteria* and *Rickettsiae* [61], while others are affiliated with *Bacteroidetes* [62] or close to *Chlamydiae* [63]. Within this latter family, two new genera, *Parachlamydia* and *Neochlamydia*, have been described [62, 64].

Although only 12-15% of the 16S rRNA gene sequences extracted from the sludge microbiota are affiliated with the human gastrointestinal tract microbiota, 97% of the fecal taxa preserved in the sludge reflect the population structure of the human or animal fecal microbiota [65, 66]. Among Proteobacteria and Bacteroidetes phyla, members of the orders Aeromonadales, Alteromonadales, Enterobacteriales. Legionellales, Pseudomonadales. Vibrionales. Xanthomonadales, Actinomycetales, Bacillales, Clostridiales, Lactobacillales, and Bacteroidales are common members of the human microbiome (NIH Human Microbiome Project catalogue, http://www.hmpdacc.org/catalog/) and described as carriers of multiple determinants of antibiotic resistance [67]. Some human or animal pathogens detected in the final effluent or constituting a part of the sludge generated during WW purification process can survive the treatment process. This is also the case for several commensal or saprophytic microorganisms that can adopt a pathogenic lifestyle in inappropriate ecological niche, or whenever the host defenses are weakened or compromised. The possibility of a transfer of these microorganisms to humans, animals, and plants through inappropriately treated WW or sludge use cannot be ruled out [68].

It is well recognized that several plant pathogens, either bacteria, fungi, viruses, parasitic nematodes, or oomycetes (e.g., *Phytophthora* and *Pythium*) are waterborne [69, 70]. Phytopathogenic bacteria are present in treated WW used in irrigation

systems and include, among others, *Pseudomonas syringae*, *Ralstonia solanacearum*, *Corynebacterium flaccumfaciens*, *Erwinia* spp., and *Xanthomonas* spp. [70]. Some species of *Xanthomonas*, *Pseudomonas*, and other phytopathogenic agents such as *Herbaspirillum* and *Acidovorax* or *Staphylococcus* and *Pseudomonas* are particularly monitored because they can originate from hospitals' WW [71]. Evidence of possible risks are supported by reports involving the use of recycled freshwater in plant nurseries and greenhouses, concluding that this can be identified as an important source for the spread of plant pathogens [72]. More studies on the presence of phytopathogens in treated WW need to be done for assessing the risks posed by WW irrigation.

4.3 Viral Components of the Sludge Microbiome

In a typical WWTP, the number of viral particles varies from 10^8 ml^{-1} to 10^{10} ml^{-1} . 10–1,000 times higher than in other aquatic environments [73–75] suggesting that WWTPs can be considered as an important reservoir of viruses. Despite viruses' importance in WWTPs and their potential impact on surrounding environments after discharge, little is known about their diversity, function, and fate throughout the treatment of a typical WWTP. The few metagenomic studies revealed novel diversity and function of DNA viral communities in the influent, activated sludge, anaerobic sludge digester, and effluent of a domestic WWTP. The few molecular studies show that many viruses found in the WWTP are novel, resulting in only <5–20% of the sequence reads being phylogenetically or functionally assigned [76]. Viruses of the families Tombusviridae, Geminiviridae, and Nanoviridae were identified [77, 78]. The most recent studies of the sludge microbiome show an important underestimation of diversity of sewage sludge viruses infecting humans. These studies demonstrate the prevalence of respiratory viruses in sewage sludge. Herpesviruses and coronaviruses were found to be responsible for infections, one of which is latent and the other acute and can be fatal [8]. Viruses are also predicted to account for the most significant fraction of human illnesses in sewage-contaminated water under specific exposure scenarios [79].

4.4 Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria, Genes, and Mobile Genetic Elements

WW effluents generally retain a variety of antimicrobial components, antibioticresistant bacteria (ARBs), antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs), as well as mobile genetic elements even after treatment [23, 30, 80]. In soils, through WW irrigation or sludge fertilization, antimicrobial compounds can disrupt the structure and activity of telluric microbial communities [22, 48, 81]. In fact, disturbances of the nitrogen
cycle, methanogenesis, and sulfate reduction have been reported [81]. It was also observed that degradation products of amoxicillin contaminate groundwater in an agricultural field irrigated with WW [82].

With regard to the ARGs, studies by Wang et al. demonstrated that the WWTP could not effectively remove super antibiotic resistance genes (SARGs) with high amount being discharged into the Yangtze River. They were transported into the drinking water treatment plant (DWTP), and the persistent SARGs in the effluent would probably be transferred into human, thus imposing great threats on public health [83]. About 40% of the erythromycin resistance genes and 80% of the tetracycline resistance genes could not be eliminated from the WW even after chlorination [84, 85]. In a recent study, using metagenomics approaches Chu et al. have also shown a large abundance of ARGs belonging to the aminoglycoside and phenicols groups, including chloramphenicol and its florfenicol derivatives and thiamphenicol, in river water that has received effluents from the WWTP [86]. Indeed, they tracked genes specific to antibiotic resistance and mobile genetic elements and their associated organisms, from WWTPs to lake sediments, based on two different WWTPs microbiomes with different treatment processes. Thus, a thorough risk assessment of antibiotics and ARGs within the sewage sludge and treated water is required [87] (Fig. 4). WW and sludge antibiotic-resistant populations can proliferate in soil or plants, behaving as invasive species; some antibiotic resistance genes may then be horizontally transferred by conjugation, transduction, or transformation, from WW bacteria to soil or plant rhizo- or phyllosphere.



Fig. 4 Diagram of the principle of characterization of waste hazard according to the National Institute for the Industrial Environment and Risks [88]

5 Sewage Sludge Management

Searches of the International Scientific Indexing database (ISI) for articles dealing with sludge and biosolids vielded 4,030 articles published between 1976 and 2008 and 6,410 between 2009 and 2018. The articles dealing with application on agricultural land were concerned with the emission of gases (CH₄, NO₂, NH₃), with 15% of ammonia (NH₃) [31, 89]. The evaluation of sludge life cycle highlights their richness in nitrogen and phosphorus explaining their valorization as fertilizer in several countries. Within EU countries, there are three main sludge disposal possibilities. Sludge valorisation as fertilizer remains a priority, and in France, 60% of WW sludge is used as fertilizer in agricultural fields [89], even though different existing methods for sludge disposal are based on landfilling, composting and incineration are practiced [90, 91] (Fig. 4). Sludge is used as fertilizer for agriculture in Portugal, Ireland, the United Kingdom, Spain, Norway, and Albania. However, 2/3 of sludge was composted in Estonia (2013 data) and Hungary (2015 data). Incineration is the main mode of sludge disposal in the Netherlands, Germany, Slovenia, and Austria, as well as Switzerland. Controlled landfill is the main and only mode of treatment used in Malta and Serbia, as well as in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Other sludge treatment routes are applicable such as composting, and especially lombricomposting (Fig. 5) [34, 43]. Methane production and biomineralization represent very interesting alternative routes over land spreading.



Fig. 5 Sewage treatment and sludge disposal pathways

Methane production from anaerobic digestion (AD) of sludge is commonly practiced, providing a residual carbon content of 35%. AD process is naturally present in many ecosystems such as the digestive tract of insects (e.g., termite) and mammalians (e.g., cows, pigs, sheep, gazelle) and humans as well as in natural and cultivated ecosystems like wetlands, marine sediments, and rice fields where it is actively involved in biogeochemical cycles of matter. Indeed, It has been applied since the end of the nineteenth century for the treatment of household WWs in septic tanks of slurries in digesters. AD not only enables to reduce and stabilize the volume of sludge to be disposed, but it is also a way to recover energy from WW process. This leads at least to reduce the energy demand for the aeration on the water line to reach energy self-sufficiency for WW treatment plants. Because of these different aspects, there is no doubt that AD is a mature and exciting process that gathers many advantages that is worth to optimize and to promote. As for incineration, it produces CO₂ and energy (12–20 MJ/kg of sludge's calorific value) [23]. Nurrokhmah et al. showed that direct application to agricultural soil presents the lowest cost compared to the other options, whereas co-incineration had the highest cost [92].

Biomineralization represents a novel route of sludge valorization based on microbial-induced calcite precipitation. Biomineralization is a physiological process that allows living organisms to develop a mineral structure, called the biomineral, which is distinguished from its purely mineral equivalent by the presence of organic molecules that give it specific properties such as better resistance to fracture. This phenomenon occurs naturally and chemically but over several thousand years to give rise to rocks such as sandstone or stromatolites. Bio-calcification occurs when microorganism metabolic activities lead to the precipitation of calcium carbonate $(CaCO_3)$. This process has been utilized in broad spectrum of applications using different bacterial communities, such as calcium removal in WW, carbon sequestration, soil stabilization, and concrete durability improvement as well as cement manufacturing alternative fuel [93, 94]. Bacterial precipitation of calcium carbonate can be accomplished quickly (day-hours) by the hydrolysis of urea via a biological enzyme catalyst, the urease. This leads to the alkalization of the microenvironment, allowing the precipitation of carbonate ions in the presence of calcium ions. The alkalineophilic bacterium Sporosarcina pasteurii, with high intracellular concentrations of urease, is often used to catalyze the biomineralization process. This process is carried out without energy supply and releases ammonium, a source of valuable nitrogen fertilizer. Biomineralization may be an efficient alternative for recycling WW sludge. Calcium carbonate precipitation by sludge microorganisms would be used in applications for environmental protection, material technology, and other applications. Recently a strain called Microbacterium sp. GM-1, isolated from active sludge, was investigated for its ability to produce urease and induce calcium carbonate precipitation in a metabolic process. Xu et al. evidenced that Microbacterium sp. GM-1 can biologically induce calcification, and they suggested that this strain may play a potential role in the synthesis of new biominerals and in bioremediation or biorecovery [95].

Due to the sludge biochemical characteristics, it has been suggested that biomineralization could potentially provide an eco-friendly cost-effective alternative for sludge treatment through its conversion into construction materials. Recently, in Korea, a study was conducted for evaluating CO_2 fixation through biomineralization of sludge underneath landfill cover soil [96]. It was proven that sludge could potentially serve as an effective medium for biomineralization and can naturally and efficiently mitigate the CO_2 emitted from landfills.

The challenges for the use of sludge by-products in France and Europe are to build the transition strategies of their territories through the establishment of a circular economy. The recycling of by-products from two sectors: water treatment (sand, biomass, and leachate) and building site waste brick aggregates, concrete and mortar to use as a substitute of the other materials, may limit pressure on raw materials.

6 Sewage Sludge: An Ambiguous Status

Based on legal texts, sewage sludge has a waste status according to the Article R211–28, within the meaning of the legislative provisions of the Environment Code 23 [89]. Sludge land application is specified in the scope of Articles L. 214-1 to L. 214-6 of the Public Health Code with regard to hygiene rules. These regulations define the technical provisions for land application (R211-38). If the treatment plant polluting flow is greater than 120 kg day^{-1} in terms of chemical oxygen demand, special adjustments are made (R211-39); the spreading period and the applied quantities are adapted according to the soil type (R211-40) and the climatic conditions (R211-41). The spreading technical rules are also legislated (R211-43). The sludge must be subject to a physical, biological, chemical, or thermal treatment, in order to reduce their fermentable capacity and the health risks associated with their use. The authority designated in the code for public security (CSP) article L. 1313-5 shall issue the marketing authorization and the permit for the introduction of a fertilizing material, or a fertilizer adjuvant. The authorization is issued following an evaluation which must reveal the absence of any harmful effect on human and animal health and the environment and its effectiveness with regard to plants and plant products or soils (Fig. 2) [17, 90, 97].

The sludge is also considered as a product according to the rural code (CR law no 79-595 of the 13/07/79 relating to the organization of the control of the fertilizing materials and the supports of culture, articles L. 255-1 to 255 -11 CR). According to the French Decree of 21/12/98, Article L 1323-1, the CSP entrusts ANSES (The French Agency for Food, Environmental and Occupational Health & Safety) with their evaluation and their approval as fertilizing materials and culture media; these products' safety through regular testing is required and specified by legislation [43].

In addition, Article L255-7 modified by the ordinance no 2015-615 of June 4, 2015 – art.1 defines fertilizers as "products intended to ensure or improve plant nutrition or the soil physical, chemical and biological properties." These products include amendments intended to modify or improve the properties of soils or materials which, when applied to the soil or around plants, stimulate natural nutrition

processes. Their purpose is to facilitate or regulate the nutrients absorption by plants or improve their resistance to abiotic stress.

The apprehension of the legal definitions of the terms waste and products applied to WWTPs sludge as fertilizing materials brings out a harmony and the coherence between these terms for the use of sludge as fertilizer for agricultural applications after their stabilization, as required and legislated. Nevertheless, before being considered as a recoverable waste that can be integrated into a circular economy process, sludge should be safe for human health and without any harm to the environment, creating hence no risk for surface water or groundwater, neither air nor soil or flora and fauna (L125-1) [12]. Therefore, an assessment of the hazardous properties should be made taking into account the complex composition of the sludge [1].

Considering the sludge formation process, its composition closely related to that of the initially treated effluent, and the nature of its pollutant load, various types of compounds with negative impacts on health and soil could be present (Fig. 2). The persistent substances concentration effects and their mixing may reinforce the danger of the product resulting from the WW treatment. The key point of ethical issues about sewage sludge valorization is related to the nature of the product emanating from a depollution process to become a fertilizer with added agricultural value. **In fact, the sludge use will depend first on its legal status:** Is it a by-product of effluent treatment used as an input into a second activity that is agriculture according to the circular economy principles? Should we first ensure the safety of this by-product before considering its recycling in a circular economy?

A comparison of recent data available on the dangerousness of persistent compounds that can be found in sludge is required with the implementation of direct tests and methods of specific analysis and calculation considering the different hazardous properties to be evaluated [1].

Taking into account the limitations of the biological treatment of certain polluting substances such as endocrine disruptors and metalloids, as well as the risk of cultivable and non-cultivable pathogenic microorganisms' presence [91, 98] for humans, animals, and the environment, could we continue to exploit agricultural sludge without concern? In addition, without being exempted of toxic compounds or pathogens whose quantification should be possible, mustn't we take a strong decision regarding their safe recycling?.

As it is known, a standard is a viable tool that responds to a specific problem. Should it be required to revise the standard specific to sludge reuse in agriculture (NF U 44-095) [99] and update its specifications to meet a crucial need for safety and of the environment protection?

In France, most of the produced WW sludge is used in agricultural farming (47%), particularly in cereal crops (3% of the agricultural area). WW sludge is also mixed with green waste and composted (26%); of the ten million tons of sewage sludge produced each year in France, three million are now valued this way. The compost is then sold to farmers with the objective to reduce the use of chemical fertilizers, although this practice is still limited to 1% of the useful agricultural area. However, **the "Waste Directive" adopted in 2018** by the European Union, Directive (EU) 2018/850, requires Member States to reduce significantly waste disposal

by landfilling to ensure that economically valuable waste materials are recovered through proper waste management. Use of landfills should remain exceptional rather than the common way. Furthermore, the Member States will take the necessary measures to ensure that by year 2035, the amount of municipal waste disposed of in landfills is reduced to 10% or less of the total amount of municipal waste generated. Although it undergoes a process of stabilization of the organic matter, the compost obtained is not free from any toxic risk, since the persistent molecules as well as pathogens including emerging ones and helminth eggs are not completely eliminated. In addition, composting sludge also concentrates heavy metals. The obtained compost must be then homologated according to NF U 44-095 standard, which sets the concentration of organic matter and the threshold values of a few MTEs and conventional pathogens as well, without worrying about endocrine disruptors or pathogenic microorganisms recently identified in such composts. **Nevertheless, the use of these types of compost obtained from WW sewage sludge co-composting remains unauthorized in organic farming**.

It is becoming necessary to set up a balance between the utilitarian position that favors beneficence such as the agronomic value of sludge, a short-term economic solution that is not viable in the long term and might be of terrible consequences, and the principle of prevention that promotes non-maleficence by cumulative pollution for a sustainable solution. The invention of novel water and sludge treatment processes as well as very advanced and more sophisticated analytic tools is necessary for favoring one or the other solution and helps political decision-making.

7 Sewage Sludge: Questions at the Crossroads of Ethics and the Economy

Economic growth often relies on depleting natural resources that are either consumed or destroyed. If current trends persist, the tomorrow world will be even more crowded, more polluted, more ecologically unstable, and more exposed to disturbances than it is today. It is in this context that the notion of "sustainable development" or "non-destructive development" has been coined. In its 1987 Report entitled Our Common Future, the World Commission on Environment and Development defined sustainable development as "development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs." The central idea of sustainable development is that the needs of present and future generations must be taken into account, and many international instruments affirm our responsibility towards future generations. An example is the Rio Declaration on Environment and Development adopted in 1992. The ethical foundations of this principle are set out in the Declaration on the Responsibilities of the present generations towards future generations, adopted by UNESCO in 1997. Article 4 of this Declaration proclaims, "The present generations have the responsibility to bequeath to the future generations Earth that is not irreparably damaged by human activity." Finally, we need to understand that we are part of nature; our prosperity depends on that of nature and the wise exploitation of the ecosystems services they may offer. We have a duty to preserve and protect the integrity of the ecosystem components and their overall biodiversity. Each generation should give the next generation equal opportunity to lead a happy life and therefore leave them a healthy planet.

Ethics in general has little influence as a formal decision support tool relative to law and economics. This is because ethicists have no standard classification system; the acceptability of an act depends on its effect; the basis of utilitarian ethics and utilitarian interest may extend well beyond economic welfare. People may be willing to give up on economic resources out of sympathy to avoid repugnant experiences in accordance with the deontological stance, which advocate human obligation to protect the land and ecosystems.

Considerations of consequences are almost inevitable; the decision to sacrifice the soil for sewage sludge disposal must be based on the determination that consequences of disposing it in other ecosystems will be more severe or other alternative solutions are totally depleted. Increasing stakeholder influence in the business point of view of water and sludge management operators, farmers, loggers, and ranchers, in general, tends to accentuate ecological health problems and to diminish ecological issues. Scientists should participate in stakeholders-informed decision processes by clearly presenting the results of their research and assessments. They must learn to work with economists, lawyers, risk managers, and policy analysts independently of human emotion.

8 Concluding Remarks and Future Recommendations

The WW irrigation or sludge application impact on soil microbial communities and soil properties depends on the direct effects of the exogenous microbiota, WW physicochemical characteristics, and biosolids pollutants contents. These factors may be responsible for the elimination of indigenous soil microorganisms through competition or parasitism, or through modification of the soil physicochemical properties, inducing disturbances of the indigenous soil microbial and mesofauna community. These impacts are rarely characterized if not characterized at all, constituting profound gaps in our knowledge. One of the challenges for future research programs is to understand if and how the two parameters will affect the soil micro- and macrobiome, which represent the backbone of soil fertility and productivity, but also the capacity of the exogenous WW organisms to survive in the soil and constitute a health risk to livestock and humans.

Currently culture-independent methods have a big advantage over traditional cultivation of microorganisms, resulting in an improved representative picture of a community, including the "viable but non-cultivable" fraction. Multi-omics approaches (e.g., metagenomics, metatranscriptomics, and metaproteomics) combined to a myriad of molecular ecology techniques (e.g., isotope probing,

fluorescence in situ hybridization, flow cytometry, NanoSIMS, etc.) should provide valuable information on the sludge and soil microbial communities' structure, dynamics, and metabolic activities. These tools combined to statistical methods may help in establishing correlations of these parameters to the effectiveness of any soil amendment with sludge or WW irrigation. This way we will be able to effectively track not only the fate of pathogenic bacteria in irrigated soil or to which sludge is applied, in terms of survival, leakage, and spread to both groundwater and surrounding crops, but also the modification of overall soil microbial activity. Novel chemical analytical methods to detect and quantify organic and mineral micropollutants such as gas chromatography-mass spectrometry and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry, combined to different ionization modes, total organic halogen (TOX) analysis, and ion chromatography as well as high-resolution MS, represent effective tools for measuring trace levels of compounds in complex environmental matrices. These tools, combined, may eventually lead to the development of reliable qualitative and quantitative microbiological and chemical risk assessments that are invaluable in the prediction of the potential risks of WW use and application of sewage sludge [100].

Scientists must move from the reductionism analyses to a more holistic view of nature to give a realistic view to the public and policy makers in order to help them to take the right decisions. Governments and environmental agencies should update their technical standards making use of the above methods for assessing overall ecological health risks and should further study whether treated sewage sludge causes health problems for farmers who apply it to their land and for residents who live nearby. These studies nowadays are affordable through the application of the above novel molecular analytical approaches and those to come.

The destruction of biodiversity can be very rapid, on a human scale; however, the resilience goes through processes that are often very long on an ecological scale and depends on the intrinsic properties of an ecosystem and damage amplitude. The recovery is usually long and incomplete. Avoiding ecosystems destruction is safer and less expensive than their rebuilding.

Finally, because of improved understanding of the functions of the complex systems that are human cells and organs, the practice of medicine had already begun to move from reactive treatment of patients' symptoms to proactive and personalized care, and so we advocate for our environment!

References

- 1. Balet J-M (2014) Gestion des déchets: aide-mémoire. Dunod, L'Usine nouvelle, Paris
- 2. Bora AP, Gupta DP, Durbha KS (2020) Sewage sludge to bio-fuel: a review on the sustainable approach of transforming sewage waste to alternative fuel. Fuel 259:116262
- European C. & Statistical Office of the European C (2018) Statistics explained: your guide to European statistics. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/4031688/9384328/KS-06-18-063-EN-N.pdf/2628be36-08f3-4c0e-a7bc-8a8d16364b68. Accessed 14 May 2018

- 4. Ammar E, Ueno S, Cercle Japonais d'Etude pour la Politique de Protection de, l'Environnement and Association Japonaise pour le Contrôle et la Protection de l'Environnement (1999) Connaissances de base pour la lutte contre la pollution des eaux usées, Sfax, Tunisie
- Dauga C, Doré J, Sghir A (2005) Expanding the known diversity and environmental distribution of cultured and uncultured bacteria. Med Sci (Paris) 21:290–296
- Tansel B (2018) Morphology, composition and aggregation mechanisms of soft bioflocs in marine snow and activated sludge: a comparative review. J Environ Manage 205:231–243
- Kruglova A, Gonzalez-Martinez A, Kråkström M, Mikola A, Vahala R (2017) Bacterial diversity and population shifts driven by spotlight wastewater micropollutants in low-temperature highly nitrifying activated sludge. Sci Total Environ 605-606:291–299
- Narumiya M, Nakada N, Yamashita N, Tanaka H (2013) Phase distribution and removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products during anaerobic sludge digestion. J Hazard Mater 260:305–312
- 9. Pal A, He Y, Jekel M, Reinhard M, Gin KY-H (2014) Emerging contaminants of public health significance as water quality indicator compounds in the urban water cycle. Environ Int 71:46–62
- 10. Salama Y, Chennaoui M, Sylla A, Mountadar M, Rihani M, Assobhei O (2016) Characterization, structure, and function of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) of microbial biofilm in biological wastewater treatment systems: a review. Desalin Water Treat 57:16220–16237
- 11. Kacprzak M, Neczaj E, Fijalkowski K, Grobelak A, Grosser A, Worwag M, Rorat A, Brattebo H, Almås Å, Singh BR (2017) Sewage sludge disposal strategies for sustainable development. Environ Res 156:39–46
- France, Cans C, Makowiak J, Dejean É (2019) Code de l'environnement: annoté & commenté. Collectif DALLOZ
- 13. Blazej A, Prívarová V (2014) Environmental biotechnology. Elsevier Science
- 14. Pachura S, Block C, Stoufflet A (2019) Évaluation des risques sanitaires chez des salariés travaillant en station de séchage thermique de boues dépuration: dosage urinaire du cadmium. Arch des Mal Prof et de l'Environ 80:358–366
- Cucina M, Ricci A, Zadra C, Pezzolla D, Tacconi C, Sordi S, Gigliotti G (2019) Benefits and risks of long-term recycling of pharmaceutical sewage sludge on agricultural soil. Sci Total Environ 695:2019–2012
- 16. US EPA, Office of Wastewater (2012) Guidelines for water reuse
- 17. WHO (2006) Guidelines for the safe use of wastewater, excreta and Greywater, volume 1: policy and regulatory aspects. World Health Organization, Geneva
- He C, Chen C-L, Giannis A, Yang Y, Wang J-Y (2014) Hydrothermal gasification of sewage sludge and model compounds for renewable hydrogen production: A review. Renew Sust Energ Rev 39:1127–1142
- Kwon EE, Kim S, Jeon YJ, Yi H (2012) Biodiesel production from sewage sludge: new paradigm for mining energy from municipal hazardous material. Environ Sci Technol 46:10222–10228
- 20. Bixio D, Thoeye C, De Koning J, Joksimovic D, Savic D, Wintgens T, Melin T (2006) Wastewater reuse in Europe. Desalination 187:89–101
- Merel S, Benzing S, Gleiser C, Di Napoli-Davis G, Zwiener C (2018) Occurrence and overlooked sources of the biocide carbendazim in wastewater and surface water. Environ Pollut 239:512–521
- 22. Michael I, Rizzo L, Mcardell CS, Manaia CM, Merlin C, Schwartz T, Dagot C, Fatta-Kassinos D (2013) Urban wastewater treatment plants as hotspots for the release of antibiotics in the environment: a review. Water Res 47:957–995
- Devi P, Saroha AK (2017) Utilization of sludge based adsorbents for the removal of various pollutants: A review. Sci Total Environ 578:16–33
- 24. Cravedi J-P, Zalko D, Savouret J-F, Menuet A, Jégou B (2010) Le concept de perturbation endocrinienne et la santé humaine. Med Sci (Paris) 23:198–204

- 25. Flemming HC, Wingender J (2001) Relevance of microbial extracellular polymeric substances (EPSs) - part I: structural and ecological aspects. Water Sci Technol J Int Assoc Water Pollut Res 43:1–8
- More TT, Yadav JS, Yan S, Tyagi RD, Surampalli RY (2014) Extracellular polymeric substances of bacteria and their potential environmental applications. J Environ Manag 144:1–25
- 27. Wingender J, Thomas RN, Flemming H-C (1999) Microbial extracellular polymeric substances: characterization, structure and function. Springer, Berlin
- Shahnavaz B, Maroof S, Karrabi M, Mashreghi M (2015) Characterization and molecular identification of extracellular polymeric substance (EPS) producing bacteria from activated sludge. J Cell Mol Res 7(2):86–93
- Nouha K, Kumar RS, Balasubramanian S, Tyagi RD (2018) Critical review of EPS production, synthesis and composition for sludge flocculation. J Environ Sci (China) 66:225–245
- 30. Clarke R, Peyton D, Healy MG, Fenton O, Cummins E (2017) A quantitative microbial risk assessment model for total coliforms and *E. coli* in surface runoff following application of biosolids to grassland. Environ Pollut 224:739–750
- Tao J, Wu S, Sun L, Tan X, Yu S, Zhang Z (2012) Composition of waste sludge from municipal wastewater treatment plant. Procedia Environ Sci 12:964–971
- 32. Clarke BO, Smith SR (2011) Review of emerging organic contaminants in biosolids and assessment of international research priorities for the agricultural use of biosolids. Environ Int 37:226–247
- Mantovi P, Baldoni G, Toderi G (2005) Reuse of liquid, dewatered, and composted sewage sludge on agricultural land: effects of long-term application on soil and crop. Water Res 39:289–296
- 34. Chan WP, Wang JY (2018) Characterisation of sludge for pyrolysis conversion process based on biomass composition analysis and simulation of pyrolytic properties. Waste Manag 72:274–286
- 35. Wang B-B, Liu X-T, Chen J-M, Peng D-C, He F (2018) Composition and functional group characterization of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) in activated sludge: the impacts of polymerization degree of proteinaceous substrates. Water Res 129:133–142
- 36. Colman BP, Espinasse B, Richardson CJ, Matson CW, Lowry GV, Hunt DE, Wiesner MR, Bernhardt ES (2014) Emerging contaminant or an old toxin in disguise? Silver nanoparticle impacts on ecosystems. Environ Sci Technol 48:5229–5236
- Ferreiro-Dominguez N, Rigueiro-Rodriguez A, Mosquera-Losada MR (2012) Sewage sludge fertiliser use: implications for soil and plant copper evolution in forest and agronomic soils. Sci Total Environ 424:39–47
- Behra P, Cognet P (2013) Chimie et environnement: cours, étude de cas et exercices corrigés. Dunod, Paris, pp 240–273
- 39. Motoyama M, Nakagawa S, Tanoue R, Sato Y, Nomiyama K, Shinohara R (2011) Residues of pharmaceutical products in recycled organic manure produced from sewage sludge and solid waste from livestock and relationship to their fermentation level. Chemosphere 84:432–438
- 40. Tatabai MA, Frankenberger Jr WT (1979) Chemical composition of sewage sludge in Iowa. Iowa Agric Home Econ Exp Stn Res Bull 36(586):934–944
- EPA (2002) Biosolids applied to land: advancing standards and practices. National Academy Press, Washington, DC. 282pp
- 42. Ferreiro-Domínguez N, Rigueiro-Rodríguez A, Mosquera-Losada MR (2012) Sewage sludge fertiliser use: implications for soil and plant copper evolution in forest and agronomic soils. Sci Total Environ 424:39–47
- 43. Zhang X, Xiang N, Wang W, Liao W, Yang X, Shui W, Wu J, Deng S (2018) An emergy evaluation of the sewage sludge treatment system with earthworm compositing technology in Chengdu, China. Ecol Eng 110:8–17
- 44. Amiard J-C (2017) Les risques chimiques environnementaux: méthodes d'évaluation et impacts sur les organismes. Lavoisier, Paris
- Rooklidge SJ (2004) Environmental antimicrobial contamination from terraccumulation and diffuse pollution pathways. Sci Total Environ 325:1–13

- 46. Pilnácek V, Innemanová P, Seres M, Michalíková K, Stránská S, Wimmerová L, Cajthaml T (2019) Micropollutant biodegradation and the hygienization potential of biodrying as a pretreatment method prior to the application of sewage sludge in agriculture. Ecol Eng 127:212–219
- 47. Tiwari B, Ouarda Y, Drogui P, Tyagi RD, Sellamuthu B, Buelna G (2017) Review on fate and mechanism of removal of pharmaceutical pollutants from wastewater using biological approach. Bioresour Technol 224:1–12
- Ding C, He J (2010) Effect of antibiotics in the environment on microbial populations. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87:925–941
- 49. Chen Q, An X, Li H, Su J, Ma Y, Zhu YG (2016) Long-term field application of sewage sludge increases the abundance of antibiotic resistance genes in soil. Environ Int 93:1–10
- 50. Jeong CH, Machek EJ, Shakeri M, Duirk SE, Ternes TA, Richardson SD, Wagner ED, Plewa MJ (2017) The impact of iodinated X-ray contrast agents on formation and toxicity of disinfection by-products in drinking water. J Environ Sci (China) 58:173–182
- 51. Venkatesan AK, Halden RU (2013) National inventory of perfluoroalkyl substances in archived U.S. biosolids from the 2001 EPA National Sewage Sludge Survey. J Hazard Mater 253:413–418
- 52. Chouari R, Le Paslier D, Daegelen P, Ginestet P, Weissenbach J, Sghir A (2005) Novel predominant archaeal and bacterial groups revealed by molecular analysis of an anaerobic sludge digester. Environ Microbiol 7:1104–1115
- 53. Chouari R, Leonard M, Bouali M, Guermazi S, Rahli N, Zrafi I, Morin L, Sghir A (2017) Eukaryotic molecular diversity at different steps of the wastewater treatment plant process reveals more phylogenetic novel lineages. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 33:017–2217
- 54. Matsunaga K, Kubota K, Harada H (2014) Molecular diversity of eukaryotes in municipal wastewater treatment processes as revealed by 18S rRNA gene analysis. Microbes Environ 29:401–407
- 55. Assress HA, Selvarajan R, Nyoni H, Ntushelo K, Mamba BB, Msagati TAM (2019) Diversity, co-occurrence and implications of fungal communities in wastewater treatment plants. Sci Rep 9(1):14056
- 56. Dabrowska J, Zdybel J, Karamon J, Kochanowski M, Stojecki K, Cencek T, Klapec T (2014) Assessment of viability of the nematode eggs (*Ascaris, Toxocara, Trichuris*) in sewage sludge with the use of LIVE/DEAD bacterial viability kit. Ann Agric Environ Med 21:35–41
- Hall A, Hewitt G, Tuffrey V, De Silva N (2008) A review and meta-analysis of the impact of intestinal worms on child growth and nutrition. Matern Child Nutr 4:118–236
- 58. Jardim-Botelho A, Raff S, De Ávila Rodrigues R, Hoffman HJ, Diemert DJ, Corrêa-Oliveira R, Bethony JM, Gazzinelli MF (2008) Hookworm, *Ascaris lumbricoides* infection and polyparasitism associated with poor cognitive performance in Brazilian schoolchildren. Tropical Med Int Health 13:994–1004
- 59. Filice FP (1952) Studies on the cytology and life history of a Giardia from the laboratory rat. University of California Press, Berkeley
- 60. Amoros I, Moreno Y, Reyes M, Moreno-Mesonero L, Alonso JL (2016) Prevalence of *Cryptosporidium* oocysts and *Giardia* cysts in raw and treated sewage sludges. Environ Technol 37:2898–2904
- 61. Beier CL, Horn M, Michel R, Schweikert M, Gortz HD, Wagner M (2002) The genus Caedibacter comprises endosymbionts of Paramecium spp. related to the Rickettsiales (Alphaproteobacteria) and to Francisella tularensis (Gammaproteobacteria). Appl Environ Microbiol 68:6043–6050
- 62. Horn M, Harzenetter MD, Linner T, Schmid EN, Müller K-D, Michel R, Wagner M (2001) Members of the Cytophaga-Flavobacterium-Bacteroides phylum as intracellular bacteria of acanthamoebae: proposal of Candidatus Amoebophilus asiaticus. Environ Microbiol 3:440–449

- 63. Amann R, Springer N, Schoenhuber W, Ludwig W, Schmid EN, Mueller KD, Michel R (1997) Obligate intracellular bacterial parasites of *Acanthamoebae* related to *Chlamydia* spp. Appl Environ Microbiol 63:115–121
- 64. Fritsche TR, Horn M, Wagner M, Herwig RP, Schleifer KH, Gautom RK (2000) Phylogenetic diversity among geographically dispersed *Chlamydiales* endosymbionts recovered from clinical and environmental isolates of *Acanthamoeba* spp. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:2613–2619
- 65. Newton RJ, Mclellan SL, Dila DK, Vineis JH, Morrison HG, Eren AM, Sogin ML (2015) Sewage reflects the microbiomes of human populations. MBio 6:02574–02514
- 66. Shanks OC, Newton RJ, Kelty CA, Huse SM, Sogin ML, Mclellan SL (2013) Comparison of the microbial community structures of untreated wastewaters from different geographic locales. Appl Environ Microbiol 79:2906–2913
- 67. Vaz-Moreira I, Nunes OC, Manaia CM (2014) Bacterial diversity and antibiotic resistance in water habitats: searching the links with the human microbiome. FEMS Microbiol Rev 38:761–778
- 68. Becerra-Castro C, Lopes AR, Vaz-Moreira I, Silva EF, Manaia CM, Nunes OC (2015) Wastewater reuse in irrigation: a microbiological perspective on implications in soil fertility and human and environmental health. Environ Int 75:117–135
- Bush EA, Hong C, Stromberg EL (2003) Fluctuations of *Phytophthora* and *Pythium* spp. in components of a recycling irrigation system. Plant Dis St Paul 87:1500–1506
- Hong CX, Moorman GW (2005) Plant pathogens in irrigation water: challenges and opportunities. Rev Plant Sci 24:189–208
- Dudley DJ, Guentzel MN, Ibarra MJ, Moore BE, Sagik BP (1980) Enumeration of potentially pathogenic bacteria from sewage sludges. Appl Environ Microbiol 39:118–126
- 72. Stewart-Wade SM (2011) Plant pathogens in recycled irrigation water in commercial plant nurseries and greenhouses: their detection and management. Irrig Sci 29:267–297
- 73. Otawa K, Lee SH, Yamazoe A, Onuki M, Satoh H, Mino T (2007) Abundance, diversity, and dynamics of viruses on microorganisms in activated sludge processes. Microb Ecol 53:143–152
- Wommack KE, Colwell RR (2000) Virioplankton: viruses in aquatic ecosystems. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 64:69–114
- 75. Wu Q, Liu W-T (2009) Determination of virus abundance, diversity and distribution in a municipal wastewater treatment plant. Water Res 43:1101–1109
- 76. Tamaki H, Zhang R, Angly FE, Nakamura S, Hong PY, Yasunaga T, Kamagata Y, Liu WT (2012) Metagenomic analysis of DNA viruses in a wastewater treatment plant in tropical climate. Environ Microbiol 14:441–452
- 77. Al-Lahham O, El-Assi NM, Fayyad M (2003) Impact of treated wastewater irrigation on quality attributes and contamination of tomato fruit. Agric Water Manag 61:51–62
- Rosario K, Nilsson C, Lim YW, Ruan Y, Breitbart M (2009) Metagenomic analysis of viruses in reclaimed water. Environ Microbiol 11:2806–2820
- 79. Boehm AB, Soller JA, Shanks OC (2015) Human-associated fecal quantitative polymerase chain reaction measurements and simulated risk of gastrointestinal illness in recreational waters contaminated with raw sewage. Environ Sci Technol Lett 2:270–275
- 80. Karkman A, Johnson TA, Lyra C, Stedtfeld RD, Tamminen M, Tiedje JM, Virta M (2016) High-throughput quantification of antibiotic resistance genes from an urban wastewater treatment plant. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 92(3)
- Liu CK, Hoekstra AY, Gerbens-Leenes W (2012) Past and future trends in grey water footprints of anthropogenic nitrogen and phosphorus inputs to major world rivers. http:// edepot.wur.nl/188765. Accessed 2 Jun 2019
- Gozlan I, Rotstein A, Avisar D (2013) Amoxicillin-degradation products formed under controlled environmental conditions: identification and determination in the aquatic environment. Chemosphere 91:985–992

- 83. Wang R-N, Zhang Y, Cao Z-H, Wang X-Y, Ma B, Wu W-B, Hu N, Huo Z-Y, Yuan Q-B (2019) Occurrence of super antibiotic resistance genes in the downstream of the Yangtze River in China: prevalence and antibiotic resistance profiles. Sci Total Environ 651:1946–1957
- 84. Pei M, Zhang B, He Y, Su J, Gin K, Lev O, Shen G, Hu S (2019) State of the art of tertiary treatment technologies for controlling antibiotic resistance in wastewater treatment plants. Environ Int 131:105026. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.105026
- Qing-Bin Y, Mei-Ting G, Jian Y (2015) Fate of antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes during wastewater chlorination: implication for antibiotic resistance control. 10(3):e0119403
- 86. Chu BTT, Petrovich ML, Chaudhary A, Wright D, Murphy B, Wells G, Poretsky R (2018) Metagenomics reveals the impact of wastewater treatment plants on the dispersal of microorganisms and genes in aquatic sediments. Appl Environ Microbiol 84:02168–02117
- Bondarczuk K, Markowicz A, Piotrowska-Seget Z (2016) The urgent need for risk assessment on the antibiotic resistance spread via sewage sludge land application. Environ Int 87:49–55
- INERIS (2016) Classification réglementaire des déchets Guide d'application pour la caractérisation en dangerosité. INERIS, Paris. 54pp
- Rogaume T (2015) Gestion des déchets: réglementation, organisation, mise en oeuvre. Ellipses, Paris
- 90. Turlan T (2018) Les déchets: collecte, traitement, tri, recyclage. Collection: Technique et ingénierie, Dunod
- Zhang Q, Hu J, Lee DJ, Chang Y, Lee YJ (2017) Sludge treatment: current research trends. Bioresour Technol 243:1159–1172
- 92. Nurrokhmah L, Mezher T, Abu-Zahra MR (2013) Evaluation of handling and reuse approaches for the waste generated from MEA-based CO₂ capture with the consideration of regulations in the UAE. Environ Sci Technol 47(23):13644
- Bernardi D, Dejong JT, Montoya BM, Martinez BC (2014) Bio-bricks: biologically cemented sandstone bricks. Constr Mater 55:462–469
- 94. GALVEZ-MARTOS (2020) Wastewater treatment residues as resources for biorefinery products and biofuels. Elsevier, New York
- 95. Xu G, Li D, Jiao B, Lun L, Zhao Z, Li S, Yin Y (2017) Biomineralization of a calcifying ureolytic bacterium *Microbacterium* sp. GM-1. Electron J Biotechnol 25:21–27
- 96. Ahn CM, Kim CG (2015) Assessments of CO₂ biomineralization and its kinetics using indigenous microorganisms derived from landfill cover soil. Desalin Water Treat 54:3632–3638
- 97. Tchoffo Djomkouo V, Hastings M, Université Du Droit Et De La, S (2000) La politique de gestion des déchets ménagers en France : l'exemple de la Communauté urbaine de Lille, vol 2. Thèse de doctorat, Science Politique: Lille
- Groussin M, Mazel F (2017) Évolution des microbiotes intestinaux de mammifères et ses conséquences sur la santé humaine. Med Sci (Paris) 33:1038–1042
- 99. Association Française De, Normalisation (2008) Amendements organiques composts contenant des matières d'intérêt agronomique: issues du traitement des eaux. Saint-Denis La Plaine, Association française de normalisation
- Arthurson V (2008) Proper sanitization of sewage sludge: a critical issue for a sustainable society. Appl Environ Microbiol 74:5267–5275
- 101. Morin L, Goubet A, Madigou C, Pernelle JJ, Palmier K, Labadie K, Lemainque A, Michot O, Astoul L, Barbier P, Almayrac JL, Sghir A (2020) Colonization kinetics and implantation follow-up of the sewage microbiome in an urban wastewater treatment plant. Sci Rep 10 (1):11634

Wastewater Reuse in Agriculture: Effects on Soil-Plant System Properties



Giuseppe Gatta, Angela Libutti, Anna Gagliardi, Grazia Disciglio, Emanuele Tarantino, Luciano Beneduce, and Marcella Michela Giuliani

Contents

1	Introduction					
	1.1	Legislative Framework	80			
	1.2	Characteristics of the Municipal and Agro-Industrial Wastewaters	82			
2	Main Advantages and Risks of Treated Wastewater Reuse in Agriculture					
	2.1	Supply of Mineral Nutrients for Crop Growth	83			
	2.2	Heavy Metal Accumulation in Soil and Crops	84			
	2.3	Microbiological Risks	85			
3 Agronomic Practices Related to Treated Wastewater Reuse: The Role of Irrigation						
	Methods					
4 Effects of Wastewater on Soil-Plant System						
	4.1	Effects on Physical and Chemical Characteristics of the Soil	90			
	4.2	Effects on Soil Microbiological Characteristics	93			
	4.3	Quantitative and Qualitative Response of Crops to Irrigation with Wastewater	94			
5	Final	Considerations	96			
Ref	References 97					

Abstract The use of non-conventional water resources can help to mitigate water stress and can support the agricultural sector. Treated municipal wastewater is one of the most readily available alternative water resources, and its use in agriculture has been adopted to reduce fresh water usage in several countries, under their respective water quality regulations. This chapter reviews the results of past and current research on the reuse of treated wastewater (municipal and agro-industrial) for irrigation and the corresponding effects on soil and plant systems. Particular attention has been given to research efforts highlighting the effects of chemical-physical

e-mail: giuseppe.gatta@unifg.it

G. Gatta (🖂), A. Libutti, A. Gagliardi, G. Disciglio, E. Tarantino, L. Beneduce, and M. M. Giuliani

Department of Agricultural, Food and Environmental Sciences, University of Foggia, Foggia, Italy

wastewater characteristics (e.g. nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, sodium, and heavy metals) and the corresponding microbiological indicators (e.g. *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella*) on irrigated crops and soils. The selection of irrigation methods is another topic discussed in this chapter. Drip and subsurface irrigation methods are considered the more suitable irrigation techniques to be used with treated wastewater; they minimise toxicity hazards for plants, reduce the contamination of edible crop products, and mitigate human health risks by minimising direct contact between wastewater and plant.

Keywords Agro-industrial wastewater, Crop irrigation, Microbiological risks, Municipal wastewater, Wastewater reuse

1 Introduction

Wastewater reuse has potential benefits for agriculture and water resources management but can also determine substantial risks to public health. Moreover, chemical risks for plant and environment could occur due to soil and groundwater pollution. Indeed, the main problems related to wastewater reuse can be linked to the possible environmental dispersion of macro- and micronutrients, soil and plant accumulation of heavy metals and the contamination due to microbial pathogens.

Once crops are exposed to chemicals, the potential uptake and accumulation in the edible parts (fruits and vegetables) need to be controlled in order to assess their introduction into the food chain.

Water quality criteria and guidelines for effluent reuse in irrigation have been implemented and can act as protecting measures to farmers health as well as to public health; moreover, the quality criteria can prevent problems such as soil salinity and toxicity and other phenomena that can generate issues for soil and crop production.

This chapter does not address the effects of the emerging pollutants (i.e. contaminants of emerging concern, CECs) detected in wastewater sources on the soil-plant system. This research topic is reported in detail in other chapters.

1.1 Legislative Framework

The use of reclaimed wastewater for crop irrigation could play a strategic role in mitigating the problems of decreasing water availability for the agricultural sector and competition with civil and industrial water uses. The use of reclaimed wastewater in agriculture may also increase the environmental sustainability of crop production. However, reuse of wastewater in this sector is constrained by relevant

legislative frameworks, which can in turn represent an important driving force in its adoption.

In 2006, the World Health Organization (WHO) released the guidelines for the safe use of wastewater in order to improve its use in agriculture and provide clear guidance for local decision-makers. The purpose of the WHO's guidelines was to support the definition of specific government regulations related to wastewater use and management, in consideration of each country governance [1].

In 2012, based on global data, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (US-EPA) completed the "Guidelines for Wastewater Reuse" that includes an updated overview of water reuse regulations adopted in the USA, current advancements in wastewater treatment technology, international water reuse practices, and other factors supporting the safe and sustainable expansion of wastewater reuse.

The treated wastewater reuse guidelines mentioned above (WHO, FAO, and US-EPA) constitute the basis for the formulation of local regulations in other countries [2].

In the European Union (EU), there currently are no guidelines for wastewater reuse, but according to UE Directives (91/271/EEC, 2000/60/EC) and other international guidelines, several Member States have produced legislative regulations for water reuse applications. Standards differ among and within the Member States, in response to different socio-economic conditions at the regional and local levels.

The Spanish legislation (RD 1620/2007 – *The legal framework for the reuse of treated wastewater*) includes the following different uses of reclaimed water: urban, agricultural, industrial, recreational and environmental. As for the Portuguese guide-lines (NP 4434 2005 – *Reuse of reclaimed urban water for irrigation*), they only refer to urban areas irrigation, and the main applications are for agricultural and landscape purpose (e.g. golf courses irrigation).

The French standards on wastewater reuse (JORF no. 0153, 4 July 2014) define water reuse for the irrigation of agricultural lands and green areas and exclude industrial and urban uses and aquifer recharging, while Cypriot regulation (Law 106 (1) 2002 – *Water and Soil pollution control and associated regulations*) does not allow any industrial or urban use of reclaimed water (Water Reuse in Europe, UE 2014).

The Cyprus, Greece and Spain wastewater guidelines include also aquifer recharging with reclaimed water by percolation or direct injection, with the aim to reduce the depletion of groundwater and to mitigate the impacts of saline intrusion in coastal zones.

In Italy, the agricultural reuse of municipal and agro-industrial reclaimed wastewater is regulated by Legislative Decree no. 152/2006 of the Ministry for the Environment, which presents restrictive limits for microbiological parameters (e.g. *Escherichia coli*) [6, 7], but does not define different limits according to the risk associated with different destinations for reuse (e.g. irrigation of food or no-food crops).

To maximise the benefits and minimise the risks related to the use of treated wastewater, uniform legislative frameworks should be adopted [3]. To this regard, a

new proposal for European regulation of minimum requirements for water reuse [4, 5] is currently pending approval by the European Parliament and the European Council. This new proposal defines, for the first time, the minimum water quality acceptable for reclaimed water destined for crop irrigation in European Countries.

1.2 Characteristics of the Municipal and Agro-Industrial Wastewaters

Wastewater effluents can originate as by-products from the civil, industrial, and agricultural sectors. Following purification, treated wastewater represents an important and readily available water source to meet the increasing demands of crop irrigation, particularly in water-scarce countries. Indeed, wastewater recycling in agriculture has gained importance as a component of the agricultural water supply in some regions (e.g. Mediterranean area) [8].

Wastewater reuse provides significant amounts of irrigation water and helps reduce the environmental impacts related to the discharge of municipal and/or agro-industrial effluents into water bodies [8, 9]. Municipal and agro-industrial wastewater contains approximately 0.1% solid substances, represented by organic and inorganic solids and microorganisms [10]. The chemical-physical characteristics of the wastewater effluent depend on its origin and vary with climate, social and economic situation and with the habits of the population of origin.

Organic substances can include carbohydrates, lignin, fats, proteins and their decomposition products, as well as various organic chemicals of natural and synthetic origin derived from industrial processes [11].

Inorganic substances include potentially hazardous compounds and heavy metals, which may be present in wastewater at phytotoxic levels and cause health risks [11, 12]. In particular, municipal wastewater can contain wastes from domestic, small-scale craft and livestock activities.

The quality of agro-industrial wastewater is closely related to the type of vegetable products and to the processing systems adopted; such wastewater typically contains organic substances that are suspended and partly dissolved (sugars, proteins, fats, and residues of plant and animal products).

Agro-industrial wastewaters can contain heavy metals, although the concentrations are unlikely to reach levels dangerous for crops and consumers [13]. Health risks associated with the use of wastewater for crop irrigation are primarily due to microbial pathogens (bacteria, viruses, and protozoa) [14, 15]. To mitigate hazards and damage to human and environment health, wastewater should be adequately treated before use in irrigation.

The positive or negative effects of treated wastewater application on the soil and on plants are primarily dependent upon the quality and quantity of the organic and mineral chemical substances (in particular plant nutrients, such as N, P, K, heavy metals, and salts) in the solution.

2 Main Advantages and Risks of Treated Wastewater Reuse in Agriculture

2.1 Supply of Mineral Nutrients for Crop Growth

The quantity of crop nutrients supplied to the soil by wastewater (municipal or agroindustrial) in irrigation must be carefully considered. The concentrations of the primary mineral nutrients necessary for plant growth (such as N, P and K) in municipal and agro-industrial wastewater vary significantly according to the quality of the wastewater. Generally, nitrogen concentrations vary from 20 to 35 mg L⁻¹, phosphorus concentrations from 3 to 10 mg L⁻¹ [10, 16–19], and potassium concentrations from 10 to 25 mg L⁻¹ [18, 20].

Wastewater effluents can also contain high levels of micro-nutrients (e.g., boron, iron, copper, zinc, manganese, and molybdenum), which are essential for the growth and development of crops. The effects of macro- and micronutrients supplied with wastewaters can change in relation to the crop cycle (i.e., vegetable annual crop vs tree crops) and to different intake rate of nutrients.

As for vegetable crops, in a study carried out on a succession of processing tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.) and broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* L. var. *italica*) crops, secondary and tertiary treated agro-industrial wastewaters were compared with groundwater irrigation. The findings indicated that treated agro-industrial effluents supplied greater amounts of mineral nutrients (N-NH₄, N-NO₃, and K⁺) to the crops [20]. The authors suggested that the use of treated agro-industrial effluents as irrigation water could reduce the need for supplementary mineral compounds through chemical fertilisation.

Other research has shown that treated wastewater irrigation of vegetable crops (lettuce) could successfully increase the availability of irrigation water and increase the concentration of some soil nutrients (K, Ca, H, Al, and S) [21].

In a study of the effects of secondary and tertiary treated wastewater irrigation on globe artichoke crop performance, Gatta et al. [19] reported that the total inorganic nitrogen (i.e. N-NH₄, N-NO₃) supplied to the crops through treated irrigation water was on average 95 kg ha⁻¹ and 66 kg ha⁻¹ for the secondary and tertiary wastewaters, respectively, representing approximately 25% to 17% of the nitrogen requirements of the artichoke crop.

As for tree crops, Vivaldi et al. [22] reported the effects of irrigation by treated wastewater and the deficit irrigation strategy on almond trees (*Prunus dulcis* L.). The results of this study showed that the nutritional contribution of treated wastewater to irrigated soil was 35.8 kg ha⁻¹ of NO₃⁻, 4.41 kg ha⁻¹ of PO₄³⁻, and 149.9 kg ha⁻¹ of K⁺. Other similar studies on tree crops irrigated by reclaimed water have reported that high concentrations of macro- and meso-nutrients supplied to soil through wastewater could facilitate a significant reduction in fertiliser application [23–25].

The supply of mineral nutrients by wastewater application to cultivated species represents a significant agronomic value of this water resource. However, this benefit must be assessed with particular attention to the possibility of plant nutritional imbalances and phytotoxicity [26]. Each cultivated species is characterised by specific nutrient requirements depending on the phenological phase. Excesses or deficiencies in some mineral elements can significantly affect crop production, both in quantitative and qualitative terms [27].

2.2 Heavy Metal Accumulation in Soil and Crops

Another possible outcome of wastewater reuse for cultivated species is the accumulation of heavy metals in the irrigated soil. The presence of heavy metals in the soil at very low concentrations is necessary for the growth plants, but at high concentrations, they can be toxic and harmful [12, 28]. Although the heavy metal content in wastewater used for irrigation is subject to legal limits, continuous use of wastewater can lead to their buildup in the soil [29]; this can cause stress to plants due to interference with the metabolic activities and physiological functions in the plants [30].

Excessive levels of metals can also degrade soil quality, reduce marketable crop yields, and reduce the quality of marketable agricultural products; these effects can also pose significant hazards to the health of humans and the surrounding ecosystem [12, 31].

The leaves and vegetative tissues of cultivated plants tend to accumulate higher amounts of heavy metals than the fruits [32]. Studies have shown that heavy metals taken up through plant roots can be transported to the shoots through the xylem vessels [33] but have poor mobility in the phloem [34]. Crop storage organs (primarily fruits and seeds) are characterised by low transpiration rates and do not accumulate heavy metals because they are largely phloem-loaded. Harmful effects on human health from soil and vegetables contaminated with heavy metals have, however, been widely reported [12, 35].

Heavy metal activity in the soil is highly influenced by chemical and physical soil characteristics (pH, texture, and organic matter content) and the effect of heavy metals on plants varies by crop. It is therefore challenging to set precise limits and thresholds of tolerance and/or hazard deriving from the presence of heavy metals.

The risk to human health related to the uptake of heavy metals by food crops depends more on the increase in their available fraction than on their total concentration in the soil [36]; moreover, it is dependent on the heavy metal speciation and solubility and on the crops cultivated in contaminated soil [37].

High contents of heavy metals are normally found in industrial wastewater, whereas the concentrations of these metals in domestic wastewater are generally low due to the settling of solids during treatment [29, 38].

Generally speaking, the use of treated municipal wastewater in agriculture may result in heavy metal accumulation in the surface layers of the soil [1, 39, 40] following very long periods (decades) of application, after which concentrations that can cause adverse effects on crop growth are possible [41–43]. However, regardless of the heavy metal content of the wastewater, the metals are only taken

up by the crop at certain concentration thresholds, and uptake can only occur if the metals are in the mobile phase. Additionally, the concentration of heavy metals in the soil solution is influenced by soil characteristics.

Heavy metals are less available at soil pH over 6.5, due to precipitation phenomena and the presence of higher amounts of organic substances. On the contrary, at lower pH values, heavy metals become mobile in the soil and can be absorbed by crops [44]. Not all heavy metals are easily absorbed by plants; lead, chromium, and mercury, for example, are bound by soil particles and very slowly absorbed by crops, even when accumulated in the soil. Copper, boron, and zinc are more easily absorbed by plants, sometime reaching levels of accumulation ten times higher in a plant than in its originating soil [45]. In this regard, cadmium and nickel represent the highest risk to human health. The impact of heavy metals on crops is complex, because antagonistic reactions can occur the influence their absorption [46].

Table 1 shows the heavy metal concentrations in wastewater-irrigated soils reported by several authors, considering the irrigation length period (short and long term), type of wastewater, and the effects on soil and plant. The concentration of some heavy metals exceeds the international threshold values, especially in long-term experimental trials, with consequently accumulation in plants.

Table 2 shows a classification of heavy metals added to the soil with wastewater when used for crop irrigation, according to risk characteristics and classes relative to their effect on plant nutrition and human health.

2.3 Microbiological Risks

One of the primary obstacles to the widespread use of reclaimed wastewater for irrigation of agricultural crops is the possible persistence of pathogenic microorganisms through treatments and their potential contamination of vegetable crops, causing outbreaks of foodborne illness. The risk of biological contamination is primarily related to the spread of bacteria, viruses, helminths, and protozoa that are harmful to humans through the soil environment and onto crops which are then ingested.

Bacterial pathogens like *Salmonella* spp., *Shigella* spp. enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* serotypes, and *Vibrio cholerae* are of major concern for public health systems worldwide. The helminths *Ascaris* and *Tenia* spp. and the protozoans intestinal *Giardia* and *Crysptospridium* are also of public health concern. The waterborne viruses HAV, HEV, rotavirus, and adenovirus are reported to have the greatest risk of transmission through reused wastewater [1]. The direct detection of such a wide array of pathogen microorganisms (whose levels are generally low and fluctuating) by laboratory methods is not an efficient monitoring strategy in terms of monetary cost and time required for the microbial methods of isolation and confirmation. The use of microbial indicators of faecal contamination has therefore been considered for decades by health and environmental authorities worldwide to be the most reliable method of monitoring water quality and the performance of water treatment systems [47, 48].

	Soil guidelines (mg kg ⁻¹)					Effect on	
Metal	EUs ^a	IR ^b	Case study (mg kg $^{-1}$)	Source	Period	Soil	Plant
Cd	3.0	3.0 ^c	^d 0.2 [41]	PTE effluent	L-T	+	
			3.8 [42]	UE	L-T		+↓
			5–13 [39]	TE	S-T	+	
			^d 0.037 [40]	STE	S-T	-	
Cr	150	100 ^c	112.8 [42]	UE	L-T		+↓
			936.5 [43]	UE	L-T	+	-
Cu	140	100 ^c	^d 35.0 [41]	PTE	L-T	+	
			75.0 [42]	UE	L-T		+↓
			8–16 [39]	TE	S-T	+	
			^d 1.25 [40]	STE	S-T	-	
			^d 94.4 [43]	UE	L-T	+	+↑
Ni	75	50 ^c	^d 5.76 [41]	PTE	L-T	+	
			703.2 [42]	UE	L-T		+↓
			^d 0.80 [40]	STE	S-T	+	
			55.6 [43]	UE	L-T	+	+↑
Pb	300	100 ^c	^d 12.8 [41]	PTE	L-T	+	
			135.6 [42]	UE	L-T		+↓
			126 [39]	TE	S-T	-	
			^d 2.0 [40]	STE	S-T	+	
			94 [43]	UE	L-T	+	+↑
Zn	300	300 ^c	78.2 [42]	UE	L-T		+↓
			70–80 [39]	TE	S-T	-	
			^d 1.25 [40]	STE	S-T	-	
			285.37 [43]	UE	L-T	+	+↑
Mn		2,000 ^e	^d 5.0 [40]	STE	S-T	+	
			77.5 [43]	UE	L-T	+	+↑

 Table 1
 Heavy metal concentrations of wastewater irrigated-soils detected in several field studies, considering the irrigation length period (short and long term), type of wastewater (source), and the effects on soil and plant

PTE primary treated effluent, *UE* untreated effluent, *TE* treated wastewater, *STE* secondary treated effluent, *L-T* long-time trial, *S-T* short-time trial

+, the concentration increases compared to control; $+\downarrow$, the concentration increase than control, below guideline thresholds [96]; $+\uparrow$, the concentration increase than control, above guideline thresholds [96]; -, the concentration does not increase compared to control

^aEUs European union standards (EU 2002) [93]

^b*IR* international references [94, 95]

^dExtractable content (DTPA method)

Rapid and sensitive molecular methods (mostly PCR based) introduced in the 1990s to detect pathogens in water [49] are still facing issues related to sampling DNA preparation, standardising protocols, and assessing only viable. Consequently, the use of indicators is still necessary for the assessment of both water quality and

^{°[95]}

^e[94]

Risk characteristics and classes	Metals
Low risk	Mn, Fe, Zn, Cu, Se, Sb
High risk	Cr, As, Pb, Hg, Ni, Al, Cd
Essential micronutrients for plants	Cu, Fe, Mn, Mo, Zn, Ni
Important elements for some crops	Co, Na, Si
Can accumulate in crops at toxic levels for consumers	Cd, Cu, Mo
No toxicological threshold established for irrigation reuse	Hg
Thresholds high enough for irrigation reuse	Cu, Fe, Mn, Zn
Low absorption by plants	Co, Cu, Mn, Zn

 Table 2
 Risk characteristics and classes of heavy metals present in urban wastewater used for crop irrigation [97, 98]

water management [50]. The most important and widely used microbial indicator for faecal contamination of water and wastewater is the species *Escherichia coli*, supported by the previously more frequently considered indicator groups of faecal coliforms and enterococci.

In many countries, the legislation of microbial parameters for wastewater reuse is affected by different interpretations of the concept of microbiological risk; such legislation frequently constitutes a simplification that is inadequate to exploit the full potential of wastewater reuse in agriculture [51].

Table 3 details the dissimilarities of limits for wastewater reuse for various regions, including consideration of different microbial indicators and threshold levels, different methods of detection, inclusion of nematode eggs, and consideration for different types of crops as restricted or unrestricted (herbaceous vs arboreous, food vs feed, etc.).

Ideally, wastewater treatment could effectively and reliably reduce the microbial risk through relatively simple and inexpensive means, justifying the use of reclaimed water as an alternative to higher quality water and securing that supply for conservation or other uses. Wastewater from different sources generally differs to a great extent in its physicochemical and biological characteristics, and any evaluation of possible sustainable reuse must therefore rely on the determination of the specific chemical and biological qualities of the water and their interactions with the field environment and with irrigated crops.

Urban wastewater tends to harbour a higher number of microorganisms of faecal origin and, therefore, to represent a major potential source of human pathogens. Industrial wastewater possesses an intrinsically higher variability due to the different processes for which it is used. In the last 20 years, many studies have focused on the evaluation of microbiological safety in the reuse of treated wastewater for crop irrigation. Assessments of the microbiological quality of agricultural crops irrigated through different methods and by different types of wastewater have frequently reported that possible health risks due to *E. coli* and helminth eggs were not directly correlated with the use of wastewater for irrigation [15].

In some reported cases, crops irrigated with wastewater from various depuration technologies were microbiologically equivalent to the crops irrigated with well

	1	1			
Country or		Total coliform	Faecal coliform	E. coli	Nematode
organism		(CFU 100 mL)	(CFU/100 mL)	(CFU/100 mL)	eggs (no./L)
US – EPA	UR		Absent		
	R		2×10^2		
WHO	UR			10 ³	≤ 1
(2006)	R			-	≤ 1
Italy	ND			10 ²	
France	UR		4 ^a	2.5×10^{2}	
	R		2-3 ^a	$10^4 - 10^5$	
Spain	UR			10 ²	0.1
	R			$10^{3}-10^{4}$	0.1
Portugal	UR		10 ²		
	R		2×10^{2} -10 ⁴		
Australia	UR	10		$10^2 - 10^4$	
	R	$10^2 - 10^4$			
Israel	ND		10		
Saudi	UR	2.2 ^b			1
Arabia	R	10 ^{3b}			1
China	UR		2×10^4		
	R		4×10^{4}		
Mexico	UR		240 ^b		
	R		$10^{3 b}$		

Table 3 Microbial limits for wastewater reuse in different countries

Adapted from Becerra-Castro et al. [51]

UR unrestricted, U restricted, ND no distinction

^aLog reduction

^bMPN/100 mL

water, as assessed by faecal indicators (*E. coli*, faecal coliforms, and enterococci) and pathogens like *Salmonella* spp. *E. coli* O157:H7 and *Listeria* spp. [52, 53].

Orlofsky et al. [54] carried out field experiments to monitor the human pathogenic bacteria, protozoa, and viruses in parallel trials of tomatoes watered with treated wastewater or with fresh water using a combination of microscopic, cultivation-based, and molecular techniques. The results revealed that microbial contamination on the surface of the tomatoes was not associated with the source of the irrigation water. In the specific case of greywater (domestic wastewater that excludes wastewater from toilets), contradicting results regarding increasing levels of faecal coliforms in soils following long-term greywater irrigation have been reported [55].

Efficacy of removal of pathogens and indicators is strictly dependent on the type of treatment conducted prior to irrigation reuse of wastewater: engineered systems that may include membrane filtration and UV disinfection units typically achieve the highest performance but also have higher installation and upkeep costs. Conversely, constructed wetlands and phytodepuration systems are considerably less technolog-ically and energetically demanding, but their performance is consequently more variable [56].

In addition to the efficacy of the water treatment prior to reuse, it must be considered that the survival rate of potential pathogenic microorganisms in the treated water is highly variable, depending on the type of microorganism, water stocking and distribution system, environmental conditions, and other variables. Moreover, irrigation water is only one of the potential sources of contamination for cultivated crops, and the safe reuse of wastewater alone is not sufficient to eliminate risks related to other sources of potential contamination [57]. Therefore, an integrative approach aiming to assess and evaluate risks through microbiological laboratory tests, epidemiological studies, and quantitative microbiological risk assessment (QMRA) is necessary to elaborate novel safety rules for wastewater reuse in agriculture [2]. A balance must be struck between excessive restrictions that hamper the reuse of wastewater reuse and a lack of safety procedures that could lead to foodborne outbreaks; balanced legislation should therefore be a priority on the agenda of national and international regulation agencies. For example, a scientific study aiming at modelling the impact of recent FDA rules on the microbial safety of lettuce production illustrated how less stringent microbial parameters could maintain safety levels suitable for consumption [58].

3 Agronomic Practices Related to Treated Wastewater Reuse: The Role of Irrigation Methods

The use of treated wastewater for crop irrigation requires proper management of these resources at the farm and at the district level. The irrigation strategies for crops should consider the characteristics of the available water sources. Irrigation variables such as irrigation interval, irrigation volume, and seasonal irrigation volume should be established according to the adopted irrigation method and regime (full irrigation or deficit irrigation), temporal availability of the water source, climatic trends, and crop phenological stage.

In the use of treated municipal and agro-industrial wastewater, the definition of irrigation variables is based on the same principles and criteria used for conventional water [59]. For this reason, the irrigation scheduling strategies adopted for conventional water use are also considered valid for wastewater irrigation reuse. Regardless, the selection of adequate irrigation techniques for wastewater use plays an important role in the qualitative and quantitative increase of yields, water resource preservation, and environment protection.

The choice of irrigation system is related to factors including the socio-economic condition and the orographic characteristics of the agricultural area, the adopted crop system, the level of agricultural mechanisation of the farm, and the availability and qualitative properties of the irrigation water resource.

For irrigation with treated wastewater, the most suitable methods are drip and subsurface irrigation systems. These methods offer several advantages. First, the irrigation water efficiency of drip irrigation systems is very high, achieving efficiencies of 90–95% and allowing up to 30–40% water saving as compared to sprinkler and surface irrigation systems. Localised irrigation systems save water through mitigation of water loss through evaporation from the soil.

Drip irrigation systems are characterised by more frequent applications of smaller water volumes, thus ensuring a low and nearly constant soil water tension in the root zone (about -0.1/-0.2 MPa). These aspects mitigate the problems of salt concentration in the root zone due to possible salt addition from wastewater application.

Finally, drip irrigation is considered the more suitable irrigation method to use with treated wastewater because it minimises toxicity hazards for plants, reduces the contamination risk for edible crop products, and mitigates hazards to human health by minimising direct contact with the wastewater. These latter advantages can also be achieved by adopting the sub-irrigation method, with the concurrent benefits of lower water loss to evaporation (15–30%), maximum irrigation efficiency, and lower visual/environmental impact of wastewater distribution.

Experimental trials comparing wastewater application by drip and subsurface irrigation methods did not show significant differences in the irrigated crop yields or for the microbiological contamination levels of the soil and the marketable crop [3, 19, 60].

Drip irrigation methods for crop irrigation with wastewater present a suitable and useful technical solution applicable to all types of soil and crops. However, wastewater containing high total dissolved solids (TDS) can cause nozzle clogging in drip irrigation systems and require the adoption of appropriate filtering systems and treatment of the irrigation water with acid and/or chlorine [61].

Table 4 details the factors influencing the choice of irrigation method, the safety measures that farmers must adopt for treated wastewater, and recommendations for use relative to crop type.

4 Effects of Wastewater on Soil-Plant System

4.1 Effects on Physical and Chemical Characteristics of the Soil

Many studies have been carried out to determine the effects of wastewater use on various soil characteristics. Particular emphasis has been placed by some authors on long-term variations in soil physical and chemical properties [62, 63].

The physical and mechanical properties of the soil (such as porosity, stability of aggregates, water retention, infiltration, and permeability) are very sensitive to organic matter and exchangeable ion types present in the irrigation water [64, 65].

The organic materials added by wastewater irrigation can accumulate in the soil fraction where intense microbial degradation and transformation of these substances occur, leading to the formation of humic compounds and the release of mineral elements. The mineral elements released in the soil following organic substance

Irrigation method	Factors influencing the choice of the irrigation method	Safety measures to adopt for irrigation wastewater reuse	Suitable crops to irrigate with wastewater
Submersion	 Low irrigation water efficiency Low cost No soil preparation 	• Maximum protection for field workers and consumers	• Use on non-food crops is recommended
Furrow infiltration	Low cost Required soil surface levelling	• Maximum protection for field workers and consumers	• Use on non-food crops is recommended
Sprinkler irrigation	Good irrigation water efficiencyNo soil preparation	 Requires protection for workers Distance of filed from the houses is needed 	 Non-food crops Irrigation of golf courses Irrigation of parks and gardens
Subsurface irrigation	 High irrigation water efficiency High plant cost Difficult control of irrigation lines 	• No precaution Waste- water can be used in all cases	• Irrigation of all the food and non-food herbaceous and tree crops
Drip irrigation	 High irrigation water efficiency High plant cost No soil preparation 	• No precaution Waste- water can used in all cases	• Irrigation of the food and non-food herbaceous and tree crops

 Table 4
 Suitability of irrigation methods for applying wastewater

degradation enrich the soil with elements useful for plant nutrition, while the humic compounds improve the soil structure and increase its stability, facilitating the movement of water and air along the soil profile.

The integration of the organic substances into soil aggregates guarantees the physical protection of organic substances, limiting their mineralisation by microorganisms and enzymes [66]. This increase in structural stability is due to the cementing action of substances originating from the decomposition of the organic fraction of wastewater and primarily consists of organic polymers (polysaccharides), which form bonds between the soil particles.

In Mediterranean agricultural areas, the soils are frequently characterised by low organic matter contents due to intensive cropping systems and high temperatures that facilitate organic matter mineralisation. In these agricultural contexts, the use of wastewater for crop irrigation could reduce the depletion of soil organic matter.

Once applied to the soil, soluble and insoluble compounds contained in wastewater are involved in numerous physicochemical and microbiological processes that influence their mobility and biodegradability [67].

Field research carried out in the Apulia region of Italy aimed to verify the effect of secondary and tertiary treated municipal wastewater on artichoke crops in comparison with conventional groundwater. No significant differences were found for several chemical parameters (pH, EC, NO₃-N, NH₄-N, and organic matter content) in the upper 30 cm layer of the soil irrigated with the three different water sources [68]. On the contrary, Vergine et al. [20] and Libutti et al. [60] compared the use of groundwater with secondary and tertiary treated municipal wastewater to irrigate a succession of tomato and broccoli crops and found that the soil irrigated with secondary treated wastewater resulted in a significant increase of pH and NH_4 -N, as well as of Na⁺, SAR, and EC, although these were below the threshold value used to define the soil as saline. According to the authors, the EC increase due to salt accumulation was particularly evident during the cultivation of tomatoes, while this condition changed completely during the cultivation of the broccoli due to the leaching effect of the autumn and winter rains.

However, other researchers have noted that use of low-quality irrigation water requires the addition of a leaching fraction to avoid salt accumulation in the root zone. Basic recommendations to appropriately manage low-quality water and avoid salinity hazards and soil degradation have been provided by Ayers and Westcot [69] and Rhoades and Loveday [70]. Moreover, numerous studies reported the impacts of salinity control measures in irrigated agriculture [60, 71–73].

In terms of the accumulation of heavy metals in soil, Campi et al. [74] carried out a 3-year field study within the In.Te.R.R.A. project in which annual energy crops were irrigated with secondary and tertiary treated municipal wastewater and compared with crops irrigated with conventional water. The results showed that the concentrations of heavy metals in the soil were characterised by negligible mean variations and no significant differences were found among the experimental treatments.

These results confirm those reported by other authors in studies conducted over middle-term time scales. Surdyk et al. [75] in the European FP6 SAFIR project examined heavy metal comportment in soils irrigated by treated wastewater over 3 years in Serbia, Crete, Italy, and China. The authors reported that, when properly treated, wastewater influent with higher heavy metal contents can be used over the middle-term (about 3 years) without visible degradation of the soil, even if long-term cumulative effects cannot be excluded. To this note, some long-term studies have reported significant increases in heavy metal concentrations in soil surface layers, although these were below the critical thresholds established by the international guidelines [62, 76, 77].

Other authors define the effect of wastewater in the long term. Dere et al. [78] and Lucho-Constantino et al. [79] evaluated the effects of heavy metal concentrations in soils irrigated over several decades (up to 100 years) with the low-quality wastewaters (raw sewage) of two cities (Paris and Mexico City). They found significant heavy metal accumulation, especially in wastewater-irrigated soil zone.

Similar research conducted in three different areas of Zimbabwe [34] has demonstrated that the concentrations of the analysed heavy metals (i.e. Cu, Zn, Cd, Cr, Pb, and Ni) in the wastewater-irrigated soils were significantly higher respect to the concentrations found in the non-irrigated soils. These results highlighted that the application of wastewater had enriched the soils with heavy metals, and the authors concluded that soil contamination by wastewater use presents long-term environmental and health risks.

The effect of wastewater on the accumulation of heavy metals in soil profiles and groundwater was examined by monitoring zones irrigated with wastewater for different years (20, 30, and 40 years) in China [80]. The authors reported that longterm wastewaters irrigation does not constitute heavy metals pollution in soil and groundwater; however, they suggested that the monitoring of Hg, Pb, and Cu concentrations should be evaluated in areas that use treated wastewater irrigation to avoid health risks.

4.2 Effects on Soil Microbiological Characteristics

The soil microbiota is an essential component of the soil system, interacting with inorganic components, the atmosphere, soil organic matter, and with other organisms of the soil ecosystem, including plant crops. Microorganisms provide many functions in the soil ecosystems that are essential for the quality and productivity of agricultural products, including plant growth promotion, organic matter turnover, availability of nutrients, and plant pathogen suppression. The application of treated wastewater to agricultural soil can affect the structure and functions of the soil microbiome in two primary ways: first, through the introduction of exogenous microorganisms (with repeated events following each irrigation treatment) leading to changes in microbial diversity and dynamics; and second, through changes in the physicochemical properties of soil due to the composition of the wastewater and the consequent intake of salts, inorganic nitrogen and phosphorous, metals, and micropollutants, with unavoidable impacts on the properties of the soil and on cultivated crops.

There is still a lack of information regarding the stability of exogenous microbial communities from wastewater. One study [3] found that short-term applications of treated industrial wastewater could cause a shift in soil microbial communities during a single tomato crop season. More recently, Dang et al. [81] found that irrigation with treated industrial wastewater had a greater impact on microbial community structures than domestic wastewater; irrigation significantly affected the composition of indigenous soil microbial communities at different soil depths and might therefore introduce exogenous microbes into the soil environment.

The composition of wastewater can effect of the degree to which its application modifies the physicochemical properties of the soil; generally, any deviation from the native soil structure and composition (pH, salinity, etc.) tends to reduce microbial diversity, and bacteria are particularly sensitive to soil perturbations. However, an increase in microbial diversity does not necessarily imply an increase in functional diversity, in terms of microbial metabolic activity within the soil. As an example, Cheng et al. [82] found that aquaculture wastewater irrigation of agricultural soil reduced the functional activity of microbial communities (primarily due to increased salinity) but induced a higher richness of microbial taxa.

4.3 Quantitative and Qualitative Response of Crops to Irrigation with Wastewater

The quality of water used for crop irrigation can impose a major constraint to agricultural productivity because of its influence on soil fertility and crop yields. Therefore, the knowledge of the effects of the water quality used for irrigation on crop yield response is critical to the understanding of necessary management criteria for long-term productivity as well as to develop the most suitable irrigation schedule to get the optimum plant yield and the desired profit from irrigation. These aspects are of particular importance if considering that the continuous decrease in water resources in the world in general, and in arid and semi-arid regions in particular, is continuously forcing farmers to use wastewaters and modify the conventional irrigation practices.

The plant responses in terms of yield and quality of agricultural products to wastewater are often contrasting; generally, either positive or negative and sometimes even neutral effects have been reported for crops. Positive effects of treated wastewaters reuse on the growth and production of cultivated crop, as well as on the chemical and microbiological characteristics of crop products, were observed within the experimental trials of the already mentioned In.Te.R.R.A project.

Field experiments were carried out in different pedoclimatic conditions of the Apulia region (Southern Italy) with the aim to evaluate the quali-quantitative response of several horticultural and vegetable crops to the irrigation with municipal and agro-industrial-treated wastewaters [3, 17, 18, 60]. At the same time, the hygienic traits of crop products, such as the presence of Coliforms, *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella*, and the risks for human and environmental health related to the reuse of this irrigation source, were verified. Horticultural crops, such as processing tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.), artichoke (*Cynara cardunculus* L. subsp. *scólymus* Hayek), broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* L. var. *italica*), and vegetable crops for fresh consumption, such as lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.), fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare* Mill.), melon (*Cucumis melo* L.) and cucumber (*Cucumis sativus* L.), were examined. The results obtained indicated that the qualitative traits of crop products (e.g. dry matter content, diameter, soluble solid content, titratable acidity, pH) were similar to those obtained when the crops were irrigated with conventional water.

In some cases, when the amounts of nutrient elements (N, P, K) supplied to the crops by wastewater were higher than those supplied by conventional water, also the productive response of the crops, in terms of both total and marketable yield, was positive. During the considered crop cycles, a sporadic presence of pathogenic microorganisms was observed in the soil and, only in rare cases, on the aerial part of the plants. However, in no case the presence of pathogenic microorganism was possible related to the wastewaters microbiological quality, because other potential contamination factors, such as vector insects, aerosols, wild animals, birds, processing and harvesting personnel, endogenous environmental factors, can likely have played a role in microbial contamination of soil and plants [83]. As

consequence of irrigation with wastewater, a reduction of the crop cycles, ranging from 7 to 10 days, was also observed within these experimental trials, but without compromising crop qualitative and quantitative performances. This was due to the high amount of nutrients, especially nitrogen, not removed by depuration processes in the considered treated wastewaters that were frequently applied to the plants (2–3 days interval), up to a few days before harvesting.

In this regard, it is well known that treated municipal wastes, if not undergone to denitrification treatment, contain high quantities of nitrates, ammonia salts, mineral perphosphates, and macro-elements than conventional water. High nitrogen supply to the plants, especially close to product harvest, affects crop cycle duration, delaying the reproductive phase and reducing the vegetative phase. Therefore, the plants whose crop cycle ends with the reproductive phase (seed production), under the irrigation with wastewater, tend to lengthen the crop cycle; on the contrary, species that are harvested before the production of seeds (horticultural crops whose product is intended for cooked and/or raw consumption), such as fennel, lettuce, chicory, cucumber, and barter, can reduce their crop cycle [84]. All the quali-quantitative crop response observed within the In.Te.R.R.A research activities confirm the results of previous studies aimed at evaluating the agricultural reuse of municipal wastewaters as alternative irrigation water source, carried out in Apulia region (Southern Italy) [85, 86].

A field experiment carried out by Qaryouti et al. [87] showed the increase of some cucumber and tomato crop parameters when wastewater from industry rich in organic matter and nutrients, particularly K, was reused for irrigation. Especially in cucumber plant the height, fruit yield and average fruit weight, as well as the tomato leaf area and plant dry weight were even significantly increased due to the replacement of K-chemical fertilizer by the wastewater. Also Al-Lahham et al. [88] reported an increase in tomato fruit size and weight when irrigated with reclaimed domestic wastewater. Any adverse effect on chemical quality of several vegetable crop fruits, such as okra (*Abelmoschus esculentus L.*), bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris L.*), corn (*Zea Mays L.*) and sunflower (*Helianthus annuus L.*) was observed when grey treated wastewater, characterized by high BOD and COD values, was used for irrigation [89].

In addition to plant nutrients, wastewaters may contain various potentially toxic mineral elements (see Sect. 2.2) with harmful effects on human and animal health [90]. The transfer of heavy metals to plants irrigated with wastewater may cause accumulation in plant tissues, and in some cases, the content of these metals may reach phytotoxicity thresholds. Particularly, high concentration of heavy metals can result in the reduction in marketable crop yield and/or poor quality of marketable agricultural products [12]. To this regard, Gatta et al. [29] observed heavy metal contents (Al, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Fe, Ni, Pb, Zn, and Mn) of artichoke heads, harvested after irrigation with secondary and tertiary treated wastewaters, lower than the international threshold values. They also found low bioaccumulation factors for the edible part of the artichoke crop and not significant health risks (hazard index <1.0) to adults and children after the consumption of the artichoke heads.

On the contrary, other authors [13] found concentrations of Ni, Pb, Cd, and Cr in the edible portions of okra vegetable crop grown on a soil irrigated with treated wastewater well above the safe limit and a Health Risk Index (HRI) higher than 1, indicating a potential health risk. Similarly, heavy metal concentrations (Zn, Pb and Cd) several times higher than the WHO prescribed permissible limits were observed by Uddin et al. [91] in edible portions of red amaranth (*Amaranthus cruentus* L.) and tomato irrigated with industrial wastewater.

The results of several research activities on wastewaters (untreated and treated) clearly highlight that these irrigation sources are a rich source of nutrients and most crops give higher than hypothesized yields with the adoption of a wastewater irrigation system, diminishing the requirement for synthetic fertilizers and bringing about reduction of investment cost to farmers. Nevertheless, if the estimated nitrogen provided for harvesting by the wastewater system exceeds the required dosage for the ideal yields, it may reinforce vegetative development, but it may delay growth and cause adverse effect on crop yield [92]. The presence of toxic elements in wastewater must be also considered since they are hazardous and might be poisonous to plants in high amounts and to human health. Therefore, evaluating the impacts of wastewater irrigation sources on characteristics of crop yield in the different agronomic situations is fundamental in a perspective of wastewater irrigation system development, under the best agronomic and water management practices.

5 Final Considerations

In this chapter, the possibility of recovery of wastewater for irrigation purposes was illustrated and discussed, highlighting the advantages, disadvantages, and possible risks of the practice. Interest in wastewater reuse is continuously developing and derives from the growing worldwide demand for water resources, particularly for food crop irrigation, and not restricted to countries characterised by water scarcity.

The primary results of past and recent research on irrigation reuse of treated wastewater, both of municipal and agro-industrial origin, can be summarised as follows:

- The reuse of treated municipal and agro-industrial wastewater in agriculture can mitigate the increasing scarcity of conventional water resources for a particularly water-demanding sector such as agriculture; agricultural wastewater use could improve the chemical fertility of the irrigated soils; treated wastewater could represent a resource of strategic importance in terms of nutrient availability (e.g. N, P, and K) for the irrigated plants. However, this benefit must be assessed with particular attention because can cause plant nutritional imbalance and phytotoxicity.
- The use of treated wastewater in agriculture (with particular reference to industrial or agro-industrial wastewaters) can lead to heavy metal accumulation in the soil following long periods of application. Therefore, the monitoring of heavy

metals in wastewater-irrigated soils and crops is very important for the prevention of potential environmental and human health risks.

- The application of treated wastewater to agricultural soil can affect the structure and functions of the soil microbiome, mainly owing to the introduction of exogenous microorganisms, with effects on some physical-chemical properties of the soil.
- Soil salinization can become a problem in the long term, particularly if wastewater irrigation takes place in soils already affected by salinity problems.

Finally, the assessment of the suitability of treated wastewater in the agricultural sector cannot be separated from specific scientific studies on the effects of emerging micro-pollutants (e.g. contaminants of emerging concern, CECs) both on the soil-plant system and on human health.

References

- 1. WHO (2006) Guidelines for the safe use of wastewater, excreta and greywater. In: Wastewater use in agriculture, vol 2. World Health Organization, Geneva
- Jaramillo MF, Restrepo I (2017) Wastewater reuse in agriculture: a review about its limitations and benefits. Sustainability 9:1734. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9101734
- Gatta G, Libutti A, Gagliardi A, Beneduce L, Brusetti L, Borruso L, Disciglio G, Tarantino E (2015) Treated agro-industrial wastewater irrigation of tomato crop: effects on qualitative/ quantitative characteristics of production and microbiological properties of the soil. Agric Water Manag 149:33–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2014.10.016
- 4. COM₂₀₁₈/0337. https://eurlex.europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar:e8951067-627c-11e8-ab9c-01aa75ed71a1.0001.03/DOC_1&format=PDF. Accessed 13 Apr 2020
- 5. 2018/0169_(COD). https://oeil.secure.europarl.europa.eu/oeil/popups/ficheprocedure.do? lang=fr&reference=2018/0169(COD). Accessed 13 Apr 2020
- Licciardello F, Milani M, Consoli S, Pappalardo N, Barbagallo S, Cirelli G (2018) Wastewater tertiary treatment options to match reuse standards in agriculture. Agric Water Manag 210:232–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2018.08.001
- 7. Ventura D, Consoli S, Barbagallo S, Marzo A, Vanella D, Licciardello F, Cirelli GL (2019) How to overcome barriers for wastewater agricultural reuse in Sicily (Italy)? Water 11:335. https://doi.org/10.3390/w11020335
- Pedrero F, Kalavrouziotis I, Alarcón JJ, Koukoulakis P, Asano T (2010) Use of treated municipal wastewater in irrigated agriculture-review of some practices in Spain and Greece. Agric Water Manag 97:1233–1241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2010.03.003
- Agrafioti E, Diamadopoulos E (2012) A strategic plan for reuse of treated municipal wastewater for crop irrigation on the island of Crete. Agric Water Manag 105:57–64. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.agwat.2012.01.002
- von Sperling M (2007) Wastewater characteristics, treatment and disposal, vol 1. IWA Publishing, London, pp 1–292
- 11. Bundi KL, Njeru CW (2018) Use of vegetative wastewater treatment systems for counties' effluent management in Kenya. RJESTE 1(1). https://doi.org/10.4314/rjeste.v1i1.1S
- 12. Khan I, Ghani A, Rehman AU, Awan SA, Jawed H, Gul R (2016) The analyses of heavy metal concentration in soil, wastewater and Raphanus sativus (L.) at three different growth stages. Pyrex J Res Environ Stud 3:42–48

- Balkhair KS, Ashraf MA (2016) Field accumulation risks of heavy metals in a soil and vegetable crop irrigated with sewage water in western region of Saudi Arabia. Saudi J Biol Sci 23(1S):S32–S44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2015.09.023
- Petterson SR, Ashbolt NJ, Sharma A (2001) Microbial risks from wastewater irrigation of salad crops: a screening-level risk assessment. Water Environ Res 73(6):667–672. https://doi.org/10. 2175/106143001x143402
- 15. Forslund A, Ensink JHJ, Markussen B, Battilani A, Psarras G, Gola S, Sandei L, Fletcher T, Dalsgaard A (2012) Escherichia coli contamination and health aspects of soil and tomatoes (Solanum lycopersicum L.) subsurface drip irrigated with on-site treated domestic wastewater. Water Res 46:5917–5934. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.08.011
- 16. Metcalf and Eddy (1991) Wastewater engineering: treatment, disposal and reuse, 3rd edn., p 1334
- Vergine P, Lonigro A, Salerno C, Rubino P, Berardi G, Pollice A (2016) Nutrient recovery and crop yield enhancement in irrigation with reclaimed wastewater: a case study. Urban Water J 14 (3):325–330. https://doi.org/10.1080/1573062X.2016.1141224
- Lonigro A, Rubino P, Lacasella V, Montemurro N (2016) Faecal pollution on vegetables and soil drip irrigated with treated municipal wastewaters. Agric Water Manag 174:66–73. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2016.02.001
- Gatta G, Libutti A, Beneduce L, Gagliardi A, Disciglio G, Lonigro A, Tarantino E (2016) Reuse of treated municipal wastewater for globe artichoke irrigation: assessment of effects on morphoquantitative parameters and microbial safety of yield. Sci Hortic 213:55–65. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scienta.2016.10.011
- Vergine P, Salerno C, Libutti A, Beneduce L, Gatta G, Berardi G, Pollice A (2017) Closing the water cycle in the agro-industrial sector by reusing treated wastewater for irrigation. J Clean Prod 164:587–596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.06.239
- Urbano VR, Mendonca TG, Bastos RG, Souza CF (2017) Effects of treated wastewater irrigation on soil properties and lettuce yield. Agric Water Manag 181:108–115. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.agwat.2016.12.001
- Vivaldi GA, Camposeno S, Lopriore G, Romeros-Trigueros C, Salcedo FP (2019) Using saline reclaimed water on almond grown in Mediterranean conditions: deficit irrigation strategies and salinity effects. Water Supply 19(5):1413–1421. https://doi.org/10.2166/ws.2019.008
- Pedrero F, Maestre-Valero JF, Mounzer O, Alarcón JJ, Nicolás E (2014) Physiological and agronomic mandarin trees performance under saline reclaimed water combined with regulated deficit irrigation. Agric Water Manag 146:228–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2014.08. 013
- 24. Vivaldi GA, Stellacci AM, Vitti C, Rubino P, Pedrero F, Camposeno S (2017) Nutrient uptake and fruit quality in a nectarine orchard irrigated with treated municipal wastewaters. Desalin Water Treat 71:312–320. https://doi.org/10.5004/dwt.2017.20564
- Montemurro N, Cucci G, Mastro MA, Lacolla G, Lonigro A (2017) The nitrogen role in vegetables irrigated with treated municipal wastewater. Agron Res 15(5):2012–2025. https:// doi.org/10.15159/AR.17.044
- 26. Grattan SR, Díaz FJ, Pedrero F, Vivaldi GA (2015) Assessing the suitability of saline wastewaters for irrigation of Citrus spp.: emphasis on boron and specific-ion interactions. Agric Water Manag 157:48–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2015.01.002
- Segal E, Dag A, Ben-Gal A, Zipori I, Erel R, Suryano S, Yermiyahu U (2011) Olive orchard irrigation with reclaimed wastewater: agronomic and environmental considerations. Agric Ecosyst Environ 140:454–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2011.01.009
- Almuktar SAAN, Scholz M (2016) Mineral and biological contamination of soil and Capsicum annuum irrigated with recycled domestic wastewater. Agric Water Manag 167:95–109. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2016.01.008
- 29. Gatta G, Gagliardi A, Disciglio G, Lonigro A, Francavilla M, Tarantino E, Giuliani MM (2018) Irrigation with treated municipal wastewater on artichoke crop: assessment of soil and yield heavy metal content and human risk. Water 10:255. https://doi.org/10.3390/w10030255

- 30. Singh RP, Agrawal M (2010) Effect of different sewage sludge applications on growth and yield of Vigna radiata L. field crop: metal uptake by plant. Ecol Eng 36(7):969–972. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2010.03.008
- 31. Gatta G, Libutti A, Gagliardi A, Disciglio G, Beneduce L, d'Antuono M, Rendina M, Tarantino E (2015) Effects of treated agro-industrial wastewater irrigation on tomato processing quality. Ital J Agron 10:97–100. https://doi.org/10.4081/ija.2015.632
- 32. Sawidis T, Chettrib MK, Papaioannouc A, Zachariadisc G, Stratisc J (2001) A study of metal distribution from lignite fuels using trees as biological monitors. Ecotox Environ Safe 48 (1):27–35. https://doi.org/10.1006/eesa.2000.2001
- 33. Thakur S, Singh L, Ab Wahid Z, Siddiqui MF, Atnaw SM, Md Din MF (2016) Plant-driven removal of heavy metals from soil: uptake, translocation, tolerance mechanism, challenges, and future perspectives. Environ Monit Assess 188:206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-016-5211-9
- 34. Mapanda F, Mangwayana EN, Nyamangara J, Gillera KE (2005) The effect of long-term irrigation using wastewater on heavy metal contents of soils under vegetables in Harare, Zimbabwe. Agric Ecosyst Environ 107:151–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2004.11.005
- 35. Zhuang P, McBride MB, Xia H, Li N, Li Z (2009) Health risk from heavy metals via consumption of food crops in the vicinity of Dabaoshan mine, South China. Sci Total Environ 407:1551–1561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.10.061
- 36. Remon E, Bouchardon JL, Cornier B, Guy B, Leclerc JC, Faure O (2005) Soil characteristics, heavy metal availability and vegetation recovery at a former metallurgical landfill: implications in risk assessment and site restoration. Environ Pollut 137:316–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2005.01.012
- 37. Ismael A, Riaz M, Akhtar S, Ismail T, Amir M, Zafar-ul-Hye M (2014) Heavy metals in vegetables and respective soils irrigated by canal, municipal waste and tube well waters. Food Addit Contam 7:213–219. https://doi.org/10.1080/19393210.2014.888783
- Toze S (2006) Reuse of effluent water: benefits and risks. Agric Water Manag 80:147–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2005.07.010
- 39. Khaskhoussy K, Kahlaoui B, Nefzi BM, Jozdan O, Dakheel A, Hachicha M (2015) Effect of treated wastewater irrigation on heavy metals distribution in a Tunisian soil. Eng Technol Appl Sci Res 5(3):805–810
- 40. Abedi-Koupai J, Mostafazadeh-Fard B, Afyuni M, Bagheri MR (2006) Effect of treated wastewater on soil chemical and physical properties in an arid region. Plant Soil Environ 52 (8):335–344
- Abd-Elwahed MS (2018) Influence of long-term wastewater irrigation on soil quality and its spatial distribution. Ann Agri Sci 63:191–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aoas.2018.11.004
- 42. Dotaniya ML, Rajendiran S, Meena VD, Coumar MV, Saha JK, Kundu S, Patra AK (2018) Impact of long-term application of sewage on soil and crop quality in vertisols of Central India. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 101:779–786. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-018-2458-6
- 43. Masona C, Mapfaire L, Mapurazi S, Makanda R (2011) Assessment of heavy metal accumulation in wastewater irrigated soil and uptake by maize plants (Zea Mays L) at Firle Farm in Harare. J Sustain Dev 4(6). https://doi.org/10.5539/jsd.v4n6p132
- 44. Gola D, Malik A, Ahammad Shaikh Z, Sreekrishnan TR (2016) Impact of heavy metal containing wastewater on agricultural soil and produce: relevance of biological treatment. Environ Process 3:1063–1080
- 45. Wuana RA, Okieimen FE (2011) Heavy metals in contaminated soils: a review of sources, chemistry, risks and best available strategies for remediation. Isrn Ecol 2011:20. https://doi.org/ 10.5402/2011/402647
- 46. Chibuike GU, Obiora SC (2014) Heavy metal polluted soils: effect on plants and bioremediation methods. Appl Environ Soil Sci:12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/752708
- 47. WHO (2001) Indicators of microbial water quality. In: Fewtrell L, Bartram J (eds) Water quality: guidelines, standards and health: assessment of risk and risk management for water-related infectious diseases. IWA Publishing, London

- 48. Fujioka RS (2002) Microbial indicators of water quality. In: Hurst CJ, Crawfod RL, Knudsen GR, McInerney MJ, Stetzenbach LD (eds) Manual of environmental microbiology. American Society for Microbiology Press, Washington, pp 234–243
- 49. Toze S (1999) PCR and the detection of microbial pathogens in water and wastewater. Water Res 33(17):3545–3556. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(99)00071-8
- García Aljaro C, Blanch A, Campos C, Jofre J, Lucena F (2019) Pathogens, faecal indicators and human specific microbial source tracking markers in sewage. J Appl Microbiol 126:701–717. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.14112
- 51. Becerra-Castro C, Lopesa AR, Vaz-Moreiraa I, Silva EF, Manaia CM, Nunes OC (2015) Wastewater reuse in irrigation: a microbiological perspective on implications in soil fertility and human and environmental health. Environ Int 75:117–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint. 2014.11.001
- 52. Christou A, Maratheftis G, Eliadou E, Michael C, Hapeshi E, Fatta-Kassinos D (2014) Impact assessment of the reuse of two discrete treated wastewaters for the irrigation of tomato crop on the soil geochemical properties, fruit safety and crop productivity. Agric Ecosyst Environ 192:105–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2014.04.007
- 53. Beneduce L, Gatta G, Bevilacqua A, Libutti A, Tarantino E, Bellubbi M, Troiano E, Spano G (2017) Impact of the reusing of food manufacturing wastewater for irrigation in a closed system on the microbiological quality of the food crops. Int J Food Microbiol 260:51–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2017.08.009
- 54. Orlofskya E, Bernsteinb N, Sacksc M, Vonshaka A, Benamia M, Kundud A, Makid M, Smithe W, Wuertzd S, Shapirof K, Gillor O (2016) Comparable levels of microbial contamination in soil and on tomato crops after drip irrigation with treated wastewater or potable water. Agric Ecosyst Environ 215:140–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.08.008
- 55. Benami M, Gillor O, Gross A (2016) Potential microbial hazards from graywater reuse and associated matrices: a review. Water Res 106:183–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016. 09.058
- 56. Shingare RP, Thawale PR, Raghunathan K, Mishra A, Kumar S (2019) Constructed wetland for wastewater reuse: role and efficiency in removing enteric pathogens. J Environ Manag 246:444–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.05.157
- 57. Alegbeleye OO, Singleton I, Sant'Ana S (2018) Sources and contamination routes of microbial pathogens to fresh produce during field cultivation: a review. Food Microbiol 73:177–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2018.01.003
- Rock CM, Brassil N, Dery JL, Carr D, Mclaine JE, Bright KR, Gerba CP (2019) Review of water quality criteria for water reuse and risk-based implications for irrigated produce under the FDA food safety modernization act, produce safety rule. Environ Res 172:616–629. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.12.050
- 59. Rubino P, Tarantino E (2015) In: Te.R.R.A. project. Innovazioni Tecnologiche e di Processo per il Riutilizzo irriguo delle acque Reflue urbane e Agroindustriali ai fini della gestione sostenibile delle risorse idriche. A cura di Rubino P. e Lonigro A. Edizione di Pagina, Bari, pp 183–192
- 60. Libutti A, Gatta G, Gagliardi A, Vergine P, Pollice A, Beneduce L, Disciglio G, Tarantino E (2018) Agro-industrial wastewater reuse for irrigation of a vegetable crop succession under Mediterranean conditions. Agric Water Manag 196:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2017. 10.015
- 61. Ribeiro TAP, Paterniani JES, Coletti C (2008) Chemical treatment to Unclogg dripper irrigation systems due to biological problems. Sci Agric 65(1):1–9
- 62. Xu J, Wu L, Chang AC, Zhang Y (2010) Impact of long-term reclaimed wastewater irrigation on agricultural soils: a preliminary assessment. J Hazard Mater 183:780–786. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jhazmat.2010.07.094
- Tarchouna LG, Merdy P, Raynaud M, Pfeifer HR, Lucas Y (2010) Effects of long-term irrigation with treated wastewater. Part I: evolution of soil physico-chemical properties. J App Geochem 25:1703–1710. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeochem.2010.08.018

- 64. Gloaguen TV, Forti MC, Lucas Y, Montes CR, Gonçalves RA, Uwe H, Melfi AJ (2007) Soil solution chemistry of a Brazilian Oxisol irrigated with treated sewage effluent. Agric Water Manag 88:119–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2006.10.018
- Mandal UK, Warrington DN, Bhardwaj AK, Bar-Tal A, Kautsky L, Minz D, Levy GJ (2008) Evaluating impact of irrigation water quality on a calcareous clay soil using principal component analysis. Geoderma 144(1–2):189–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2007.11.014
- 66. Baldock JA, Skjemstad JO (2000) Role of the soil matrix and minerals in protecting natural organic materials against biological attack. Org Geochem 31(7–8):697–710. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0146-6380(00)00049-8
- 67. Saviozzi A, Levi-Minzi R, Riffaldi R (1990) Cinetica della decomposizione nel terreno del carbonio organico delle acque di vegetazione. Agrochimica 34:1–2
- Disciglio G, Gatta G, Tarantino A, Frabboni L, Tarantino E (2014) Use of treated municipal wastewater on artichoke crop. Int J Agric Byosyst Eng 8:224–229
- 69. Ayers RS, Westcot DW (1989) Water quality for agriculture. Irrigation and drainage paper no. 29. FAO, Rome, p 163
- Rhoades JD, Loveday J (1990) Salinity in irrigated agriculture. In: Steward BA, Nielsen R (eds) Irrigation of agricultural crop, vol 30. ASA Monograph, London, pp 1089–1142
- Libutti A, Monteleone M (2012) Irrigation management in Mediterranean salt affected agriculture: how leaching operates. Ital J Agron 7-5:28–35. https://doi.org/10.4081/ija.2012.e5
- 72. Libutti A, Monteleone M (2017) Soil vs. groundwater: the quality dilemma. Managing nitrogen leaching and salinity control under irrigated agriculture in Mediterranean conditions. Agric Water Manag 186:40–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2017.02.019
- Monteleone M, Libutti A (2012) Salt leaching due to rain in Mediterranean climate: is it enough? Ital J Agron 7-6:36–43. https://doi.org/10.4081/ija.2012.e6
- 74. Campi P, Stellacci AM, Navarro A, Vitti C, Mastrorilli M (2015) In: Te.R.R.A. project. Innovazioni Tecnologiche e di Processo per il Riutilizzo irriguo delle acque Reflue urbane e Agroindustriali ai fini della gestione sostenibile delle risorse idriche. A cura di Rubino P. e Lonigro A., Edizione di Pagina, Bari, pp 231–246
- 75. Surdyk N, Cary L, Blagojevic S, Jovanovic Z, Stikic R, Vucelic-Radovic B, Zarkovic B, Sandei L, Pettenati M, Kloppmann W (2010) Impact of irrigation with treated low quality water on the heavy metal contents of a soil-crop system in Serbia. Agric Water Manag 98 (3):451–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2010.10.009
- 76. Siebe C, Fischer WR (1996) Adsorption of Pb, Cd, Cu and Zn by two soils of volcanic origin under long term irrigation with untreated sewage effluent in Central Mexico. J Plant Nutr Soil Sc 159:357–364
- 77. Simmons RW, Pongsakul P (2002) Toward the development of an effective sampling protocol to "rapidly" evaluate the distribution of Cd in contaminated, irrigated rice based agricultural systems. In: Transactions of the 17th world congress of soil science, Bangkok, 14–21 August 2002. Vienna, international union of soil science. WHO guidelines, 2006
- 78. Dere C, Cornu S, Lamy I (2006) Factors affecting the three-dimensional distribution of exogenous zinc in a sandy Luvisol subjected to intensive irrigation withdraw wastewaters. Soil Use Manag 22(3):289–297. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-2743.2006.00044.x
- 79. Lucho-Constantino CA, Prieto-Garcia F, Del Razo LM, Rodriguez-Vazquez R, Poggi-Varaldo HM (2005) Chemical fractionation of boron and heavy metalsin soils irrigated with wastewater in Central Mexico. Agric Ecosyst Environ 108:57–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2004.12. 013
- Bao Z, Wenyong W, Honglu L, Honghan C, Shiyang Y (2014) Impact of long-term irrigation with sewage on heavy metals in soils, crops, and groundwater – a case study in Beijing. Pol J Environ Stud 23(2):309–318
- 81. Dang Q, Tan W, Zhao X, Li D, Li Y, Yang T, Li R, Zu G, Xi B (2019) Linking the response of soil microbial community structure in soils to long-term wastewater irrigation and soil depth. Sci Total Environ 688:26–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.06.138
- 82. Cheng P, Wang Y, Liu T, Liu D (2017) Biofilm attached cultivation of *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* is a developed system for swine wastewater treatment and lipid production. Front Plant Sci 8:1594. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2017.01594
- Venglovsky J, Martinez J, Placha I (2006) Hygienic and ecological risks connected with utilization of animal manures and biosolids in agriculture. Livest Sci 102:197–203. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2006.03.017
- 84. Rubino P, Lonigro A (2015) In: Te.R.R.A. project. Innovazioni Tecnologiche e di Processo per il Riutilizzo irriguo delle acque Reflue urbane e Agroindustriali ai fini della gestione sostenibile delle risorse idriche. Linee guida per il riuso irriguo delle acque reflue depurate, p 271
- Lopez A, Pollice A, Laera G, Lonigro A, Rubino P (2010) Membrane filtration of municipal wastewater effluents for implementing agricultural reuse in southern Italy. Water Sci Technol 62:1121–1128. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2010.393
- 86. Pollice A, Lopez A, Larera G, Rubino P, Lonigro A (2004) Tertiary filtered municipal wastewater as alternative water source in agriculture: a field investigation in southern Italy. Sci Total Environ 324(1–3):201–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2003.10.018
- Qaryouti M, Bani-Hani N, Abu-Sharar TM, Shnikat I, Hiari M, Radiadeh M (2015) Effect of using raw waste water from food industry on soil fertility, cucumber and tomato growth, yield and fruit quality. Sci Hortic 193:99–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2015.07.002
- Al-Lahham O, El Assi NM, Fayyad M (2003) Impact of treated wastewater irrigation on quality attributes and contamination of tomato fruit. Agric Water Manag 61(1):51–62. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0378-3774(02)00173-7
- Al-Hamaiedeh A, Bino M (2010) Effect of treated grey water reuse in irrigation on soil and plants. Desalination 256:115–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2010.02.004
- 90. Singh R, Gautam N, Mishra A, Gupta R (2011) Heavy metals and living systems: an overview. Indian J Pharmacol 43:246–253. https://doi.org/10.4103/02537613.81505
- Uddin MJ, Khanom S, Al Mamun S, Parveen Z (2015) Effects of irrigation water on some vegetables around industrial areas of Dhaka, Bangladesh. J Sci Res 28(2):151–159. https://doi. org/10.3329/bjsr.v28i2.26785
- Odoemena KK, Rowshon KMD, Binti CMH (2019) Advances in utilization of wastewater in agricultural practice: a technical note. Irrig Drain. https://doi.org/10.1002/ird.2384
- Commission Regulation (EC) No 1881/2006 of 19 December 2006: setting maximum levels for certain contaminants in foodstuffs. Official Journal of the European Union (L. 264). http://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content. Accessed 22 Jan 2017
- 94. Pendias AK, Pendias H (1992) Elements of group VIII. In: Trace elements in soils and plants. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 271–276
- 95. Ewers U (1991) Standards, guidelines and legislative regulations concerning metals and their compounds. In: Merian E (ed) Metals and their compounds in the environment: occurrence. Analysis and biological relevance. VCH, Weinheim, pp 458–468
- 96. FAO/WHO (2001) Food additives and contaminants. FAO/WHO food standards program, ALINORM 01/12A, Joint Codex Alimentarius Commission, Rome
- 97. Pescod M (1992) Wastewater treatment and use in agriculture, FAO irrigation and drainage paper 47, Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome
- 98. Durán-Álvarez JC, Jiménez-Cisneros B (2014) Beneficial and negative impacts on soil by the reuse of treated/untreated municipal wastewater for agricultural irrigation a review of the current knowledge and future perspectives. In: Hernandez-Soriano MC (ed) Environmental risk assessment of soil contamination

Uptake and Translocation of Pharmaceuticals in Plants: Principles and Data Analysis



Yvonne Bigott, David Mamdouh Khalaf, Peter Schröder, Peter M. Schröder, and Catarina Cruzeiro

Contents

1	Back	ground	104
2	Whic	ch Factors Can Influence the Uptake of Pharmaceuticals by Plant Roots?	105
	2.1	Compounds Properties	107
	2.2	Uptake of Pharmaceuticals by Plant Roots	108
	2.3	Translocation of Pharmaceuticals Within Different Plant Parts	111
	2.4	Role of Biotransformation in the Translocation of Pharmaceuticals	114
	2.5	Vacuolar Transport and Sequestration	116
3	Expe	rimental Section	117
	3.1	Data Collected	118
	3.2	Data Analysis	121
4	Reco	mmendations and Outcomes from Data Analysis	130
	4.1	Concluding Remarks	131
Re	ferenc	es	132

Abstract Pharmaceuticals originating from reclaimed wastewater or biosolid-, livestock manure- or sewage sludge-amended soils can enter crops by irrigation and fertilization. Generally, the putative uptake occurs through the plants' roots and

Research Unit Comparative Microbiome Analysis, Helmholtz Zentrum München German Research Center for Environmental Health, Neuherberg, Germany e-mail: catarina.cruzeiro@helmholtz-muenchen.de; catarinarcruzeiro@hotmail.com

D. M. Khalaf

Research Unit Comparative Microbiome Analysis, Helmholtz Zentrum München German Research Center for Environmental Health, Neuherberg, Germany

Botany and Microbiology Department, Faculty of Science, Assiut University, Assiut, Egypt

P. M. Schröder Technical University of Munich, Freising, Germany

103

Y. Bigott, P. Schröder, and C. Cruzeiro (🖂)

can lead to the bioaccumulation in different plant parts. The uptake and translocation therefore is dependent on multiple parameters, i.e. physicochemical properties of compounds, plant physiology and environmental factors. This book chapter combines a theoretical background on the main principles of uptake and translocation of pharmaceuticals by plants and a critical evaluation of current available literature, by analysing studies for the bioconcentration and translocation factors of different pharmaceutical groups in several plant species. Thereby, interesting results were obtained by looking at the translocation of various pharmaceuticals in radish and at cationic compounds in soil studies. Comparing the different studies, the relevance of testing not only high but also real environmental concentrations became obvious, since for some pharmaceuticals, higher uptake and translocation ratios were achieved with lower applied concentrations. Basic guidelines could provide a possibility to make scientific data more comparable and reliable and to avoid the exclusion of potential reasons for the missing uptake or translocation of pharmaceuticals. This book chapter provides recommendations for future research studies to generate more valid conclusions within the scientific community.

Keywords Bioconcentration factor, Hydroponic studies, Ionic compounds, Sequestration, Soil studies, Translocation factor

1 Background

Ecosystems are often exposed to natural or synthetic substances that have no direct nutritional value or significance for metabolism but can have a negative impact on the function and performance of biota. Commonly, these substances enter the aquatic environments through wastewater treatment plant effluents as a consequence of partial and/or inefficient removal during wastewater treatment processes. Recent studies, supported by powerful analytical screening analyses, described a high number of emerging pollutants in those effluents; they can range from pesticides, pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs), illicit drugs, endocrine disruptive compounds, flame retardants, food additives, disinfection by-products through all possible metabolites and transformation products (TPs) [1, 2]. Although only low concentrations (ng/L-µg/L) of these organic molecules were frequently found in surface and groundwater, they can be considered as 'pseudo-persistent' because of their continuous discharge and deposition into the environment [3]. These substances can also enter the terrestrial environment by agricultural practices, i.e. the irrigation of plants with treated wastewater or fertilization with manure; after their exposure to agricultural soils, compounds can be taken up by crops and therefore enter the food chain. In case of pharmaceuticals, long-term exposure to low concentration levels can induce toxic or metabolic dysregulation in terrestrial and aquatic organisms [4, 5].

Due to their chemical properties, a topic that will be also discussed further in this chapter, pharmaceutical residues, metabolites and TPs might be adsorbed to soil particles and taken up by plants [6]. In order to be able to estimate the effects not only on biota but also on human health, an understanding of the absorption and transport processes in plants is of ample relevance.

This chapter will provide readers with an overview of the most important uptake mechanisms in plants, in addition to the transport of pharmaceutical compounds through the plant vascular system. Concepts will be resumed from soil and chemical properties ending up in plant biotransformation and sequestration mechanisms and environmental factors that can influence the pharmaceuticals' uptake.

This article will cover the main pharmaceutical groups, i.e. antibiotics, hormones, analgesics, anti-inflammatory, lipid regulator agents, antidiabetic, anticonvulsants, stimulants, psychotropic drugs and antihypertensives (e.g. beta-blockers, calcium channel- or angiotensin receptor blockers) since these compound classes are in continuous debit into the environment and due to their chemical characteristics that make them prone to plant uptake.

Data on pharmaceutical uptake and translocation published from year 2013 on were analysed to take conclusions based on different experiments and conditions.

2 Which Factors Can Influence the Uptake of Pharmaceuticals by Plant Roots?

Soil properties, like ionic strength, pH and organic matter (OM) content, are determining factors in the fate of emergent compounds (as pharmaceuticals) in soil-plant systems. OM is an important sorbent for pharmaceuticals, which changes their bioavailability/bioaccessibility for root uptake [7, 8] (see Fig. 1). According to Miller and co-authors [9], polar and ionizable pharmaceuticals can engage in interactions beyond hydrophobic partitioning, including electron donor-acceptor interactions, cation and anion exchange, protonation, water bridging, cation bridging and surface complexation. Moreover, for ionizable compounds, several physicochemical properties strongly influence the degree of association with soil particles.

Abiotic transformations like redox reactions may occur in the clay fraction through reactive mineral phases and influence the molecule's integrity. Photolysis can likewise be involved in processes close to soil surfaces, but it has a lower relevance due to strong light attenuation deeper in soils [9].

Synergistic effects between different pharmaceuticals can also play an important role. Especially, when crops are irrigated with treated wastewater, plants are not only exposed to one but to a cocktail of pharmaceuticals and other compounds. The co-occurrence of carbamazepine and lamotrigine in crops showed that synergistic effects enhanced the uptake of lamotrigine when carbamazepine was present, but the uptake of carbamazepine was not affected in presence of lamotrigine in cucumber plants (*Cucumis sativus*) grown under hydroponic conditions [10]. Moreover, the



Fig. 1 Multiple parameters, which play a critical role on plants' uptake of pharmaceuticals along with their distribution among different plant organs

uptake of pharmaceuticals, when applied in a mixture compared to single compound exposure, also differed between plant species. The concentration of atenolol was higher during the single compound exposure in the roots of lamb's lettuce (*Valerianella locusta* L.) whereas on arugula (*Eruca sativa* L.) and radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.) did not show higher values compared to the mixture application. The uptake and translocation of other substances were in contrast similar between plant species in the single and mixture application of pharmaceuticals [11]. However, as this study was performed in soil, the additional soil effects might influence the uptake of these pharmaceuticals, which was also shown in the same study. Furthermore, interactions between pharmaceuticals, heavy metals and metalloids were detected in beet root (*Beta vulgaris* L.). The concentration of sulfamethoxazole in beet root increased with increasing concentration of a mixture of heavy metals (Mn, Zn, Cu, Cd, CO, Cr, Ni and Pb). In contrast, the accumulation of metoprolol decreased with increasing heavy metal concentration. For other compounds, the changes were negligible or no clear trend was observed [12]. To conclude,

interactions between different pharmaceuticals but also pharmaceuticals and heavy metals could be observed, which are not always favouring an increased or decreased accumulation in plants. This uptake is rather influenced by additional parameters like physicochemical properties of the compound, plant physiology or soil composition.

Biodegradation is considered the most important process for eliminating the majority of xenobiotics (e.g. pharmaceuticals), where microorganisms – as important degraders – provide products to other organisms in the food web. However, these processes are only significant when the molecules' toxicity does not inhibit microbial activity. Although, known for a long time, the biodegradation of drugs and their effects on ecological processes driven by microorganisms is quite scarce but may be also too complex to be fully addressed in this book chapter [13]. Besides the potential transformation of pharmaceuticals by soil organisms, their bioavailability might also be reduced by the microbial communities at root surfaces – so-called rhizobacteria – which can act as enhancers of phytoremediation efficiency; the same concept has been proposed for endophytic bacteria inhabiting root tissue. Moreover, the latter can interact closely with their host plant boosting the degradation pathways and metabolic activities and then decreasing both phytotoxicity and evapotranspiration of volatile organic compounds [14–16].

Various microbial species and strains may perform differently under different environmental and growth conditions, determining their efficiency and hence their usefulness [17, 18]. Although many microbial species are still unidentified, Agrawal and co-authors [17] listed a wide range of pollutant-degrading microorganisms that have been spotted by culture-independent techniques and could be harboured in the root environment of various plant species. The full metabolic capacity of the plant associated bacteria (plant endophytes and rhizosphere bacteria) has not been completely resolved yet, although first experiments indicate that microbial activities can have a strong influence on biotransformation processes of pharmaceuticals [15, 19] (more details are provided in chapter "Impact of PhACs on Soil Microorganisms").

Another factor that has been mostly neglected is the direct availability of active metabolites that may be excreted from animals or humans. Generally, it is assumed that 90% of an active compound are metabolized from a mammalian body within 48 h, after treatment. In any case, the availability of parent compounds and major metabolites will be decisive for their further fate in plants.

2.1 Compounds Properties

One of the primary criteria that influences uptake into roots and translocation in plant tissue is the *molar mass* of the pharmaceuticals [20]. Low-molar mass organic compounds can easily enter the soft rhizodermis and move through the porous mesh of the cell wall. Hence, organic substances with molar mass <1,000 g/mol are easily absorbed by the apical sections of plant roots [21]. However according to Chuang and co-workers [20], only molecules below 300 g/mol can, in general, enter

the roots easily, when compared to large-sized pharmaceuticals (molar mass >400 g/ mol).

In the living parenchymal tissue deeper inside the root, and towards the delicate younger apical roots, the cell wall and the biomembrane (plasmalemma) may function as filters (*membrane permeation*) limiting the uptake or movement of organic molecules based on their size.

Besides that, physicochemical properties of the molecules, like *lipophilicity* and *ionic strength* (polarity H bonding), will dictate their fate, even before uptake and transport into the plant vascular translocation system (xylem and phloem) occur. A significant proportion of pharmaceuticals are ionizable meaning that they can assume neutral, cationic, anionic or zwitterionic form under different pH conditions [22]. This means that the difference in lipophilicity between the neutral and ionic forms varies within compounds and is difficult to predict. Usually, a single log K_{OW} value (also called *P*) is determined, reflecting only the lipophilicity of neutral species [23]. So, it has been discussed that for ionic forms, log D_{OW} seems to be more appropriate to express the lipophilicity of these molecules because it accounts for pH dependence (i.e. acid dissociation constant (pKa)) of a molecule in aqueous solution [24].

In early research on the topic, Briggs and co-workers [25] established a linear relationship between K_{OW} of non-ionized chemicals and the observed root concentration. Albeit only shown for industrial pollutants and herbicides [26], this relationship seems to hold true also for other synthetic molecules like pharmaceuticals. It is crucial to consider that pharmaceuticals have been specifically designed to penetrate through biological borders and membranes, to ensure their rapid delivery at the site of action. Wild and co-workers [27] pointed out that non-ionic organic chemicals with log $K_{OW} > 4$ seem to exhibit high retention in plant roots, while Cousins and Mackay [28] suggested that for organic chemicals with log $K_{OW} < 2$ and a Henry's Law constant of less than 100 cm³ cm⁻³, the water filled intercellular space seemed to be the main storage compartment [29]; the topic has been extensively covered by Schröder and Collins [30].

2.2 Uptake of Pharmaceuticals by Plant Roots

In the first step, compounds from the surrounding medium or pore water (usable water in soil for plants) become available for root uptake by diffusion, where compounds properties like *solubility*, lipophilicity, molar mass, *compound concentration* and characteristics from the surrounding environment as temperature and soil humidity (if the case) will influence the uptake performance [21] (Fig. 1). Here, soils with high proportions of clay minerals might be a significant temporary sink for charged molecules and build up local hotspots of organic pollutants. In a second phase, compounds are available to root uptake: due to a negative water potential in soils at field capacity, a net movement of pharmaceutics towards plant rhizospheres might prevail. The root surface and its extensions are key compartments for uptake

of organic compounds: roots of perennial plants (except monocots) typically develop a rigid protective structure called periderm (replaces the normal rhizoderm), which comprises a large component of bark and the most outer layer called phellem, consisting of suberized-dead cells [31]. These bark-like materials contain accumulations of lipophilic substances and may hence act as a sink for lipophilic compounds. In this context, the role of the protective root cap and its mucilage has not been investigated as sink in depth.

Although chemical features of a molecule may be important predictors for the uptake, the physiology of the plant root itself and its composition can also have significant influence. Trapp and Pussemeir [32] critically reviewed the relationship derived by Briggs and co-workers [25] as an overestimate of the uptake of some herbicides by common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) [33]. We are still lacking knowledge about the factors determining such differences.

Among all biological factors, root extractable lipid content seems to have the strongest influence on the emerging compounds' uptake [34]. Either way, lipophilic compounds are expected to partition to root lipids (membrane and storage lipids) and thus concentrate in roots, until an equilibrium between the chemical concentration in the aqueous phase within the plant root and the external solution is reached. The strong affinity of charged compounds or their metabolites in roots retards pharmaceutical transport to shoots and results in a significant accumulation in roots, making tuberous vegetables critical sources of food and fodder [35]. However, protein content was found to have a greater influence on the prediction of uptake than the lipid content as described by González García and co-authors [36]. For weak acids like ibuprofen, ketoprofen and naproxen, higher concentrations in roots than in leaves were quantified, suggesting the adsorption to proteins and consequently retention in roots, which supported their model.

Once a solute enters the root – through the growing tip of the root hair epidermis passing by cortex, endodermis and pericycle, ending up with the entrance into the vascular tissue – it can take two pathways to reach the xylem, along which it is transported to the aerial plant parts:

In the *apoplastic pathway*, the solute travels along cell walls through the intercellular space of the epidermis and cortex region of the root and across cell membranes at the endodermis. Non-ionic pharmaceutics are able to cross cell membranes easily and thus have higher potential to be taken up by the roots due to their higher lipophilicity [37]. However, compounds taken up exclusively by the apoplastic route cannot cross the Casparian strip; that is, they must cross at least one lipid bilayer to enter the xylem or phloem; if not, they tend to accumulate in roots [9]. Little research has been directed towards elucidating xenobiotic uptake mechanisms and pathways, knowledge that is needed to develop models to predict uptake and accumulation. Chemical sorption to lipophilic root structures may be a significant factor influencing the available concentration.

In the *symplastic pathway*, the solute crosses cell membranes of root hairs, epidermis and cortex and moves to the vascular cylinders by the plasmodesmata and/or by membrane permeation [38], which means that only a small fraction of the compounds is transported via the symplastic movement into cellular vacuoles



Fig. 2 Cross section of an iris (*Iris pseudacorus*) root. Diffusive uptake of chemicals can occur via the apoplast, i.e. through the cell wall continuum (dotted line). However, at the endodermis with its thickened suberized cell walls (Casparian strip; red), diffusive apoplastic transfer is stopped. This mechanism is responsible for the accumulation of various pollutants in the root. Chemicals can only penetrate into the central tissues after active passage to the symplast, i.e. the continuum of living cells (solid line). Their passage into the central cylinder with its access to vessels is facilitated by passage cells (asterisk in yellow) lacking the suberized wall deposits

[39]. Once in the symplast, these compounds can move through the xylem in the direction of the transpiration stream and accumulated mostly in transpiring organs (i.e. leaves) [8, 37]. Ionizable compounds may be subject to additional processes such as ion trapping and electrostatic interactions with cell walls [9] (see Fig. 2).

As large numbers of pharmaceuticals, as well as endogenous metabolites, are organic ions, it seems that uptake, distribution and sequestration of these compounds highly correlates with the expression of the transport system [40]. It is well known that the major facilitator superfamily (MFS) and/or ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters are responsible of conveying organic compounds (like sugars or amino acids) throughout the plant [41]. Members of solute carrier 22 family (SLC22), which have been initially found in animals [42], are plasma membrane transporters that belong to the MFS and strongly contribute to organic ions homeostasis. The SLC22 family encompasses organic cation transporters (OCTs), organic cation/zwitterions transporters (OCTNs) and organic anion transporters (OATs) [43]. Transporters of multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) are cation antiporters,

which are considered as one of the major transporter families in plants [44]. It has been reported that the first isolated MATE transporters from in plants (specifically in Arabidopsis) were involved in the detoxification of xenobiotics [45, 46]. Li and co-authors [46] succeeded to characterize the first multi-specific MATE transporter and named it AtDTX1 (for Arabidopsis thaliana detoxification 1). Moreover, they demonstrated that AtDTX1 serves as an efflux carrier for the antibiotic norfloxacin during functional screening with Escherichia coli KAM3 mutant. Furthermore, they suggested that AtDTX1 is localized in the plasma membrane and consequently will mediate the efflux of exogenous or plant-derived toxic compounds from the cytoplasm. PvOCT1 is the first protein linked to the SLC22 family and has been identified in *Phaseolus vulgaris* [47]. The expression of PvOCT1 is upregulated after exposure to the drought stress, and this presumes that it plays a role in stress adaption. In 2007, Lelandais-Briere and co-workers [48] discovered AtOCT1 (a PvOCT1 homologous) that is localized in the plasma membrane of Arabidopsis and can be characterized as carnitine transporter. The other five members of A. thaliana OCT family (AtOCT2-AtOCT6) are localized in the tonoplast, and their functions are still unknown; nevertheless, the expression of these genes was upregulated during the exposure of Arabidopsis plants to drought, cold and salt stress [49]. In a recent study, it was suggested that OCTs might provide an important route for delivery of the antidiabetic drug metformin (MET) [50], showing that MET transport was significantly affected in common cattail (Typha latifolia) roots after addition of quinidine (OCTs inhibitor in mammals).

2.3 Translocation of Pharmaceuticals Within Different Plant Parts

After organic contaminants (e.g. pharmaceuticals) entered the root, translocation might occur to the aerial part of the plant via the vascular tissue. These compounds can be transported upwards with water and other solutes by *transpiration* through vessels and tracheids in the xylem (Fig. 2). Transpiration flow, driven by root pressure and transpirational pulling, was shown to be the main driving force of the translocation of pharmaceuticals [51].

During photosynthesis and to protect plants from overheating, stomatal apparatus – specific ventilation pores – mostly present on the abaxial side of the leaf are open for gas exchange or evaporative cooling. Mesophyllic cells located above the stomata are transpiring water, leading to water deficiency and increased negative water potential. To compensate this effect, the cell takes away water from neighbouring cells, which results in a spreading suction force towards leaf vessels, to xylem tracheids and finally to roots to take up water from the surrounding environment. A high *light intensity* (higher photosynthesis rates), *warm temperature* (which increase saturation level of water vapour within leaves) and *dry air or wind* enhance transpiration rates. Transpiration rates determine the flux of water and solutes and

depend on plant species and shoot height. Environmental factors are also influencing the daily transpiration rates. As it has been mentioned before, the molecular size of pharmaceuticals can determine their diffusion rate through root cell membranes. A good example of a pharmaceutical being translocated by xylem flow is carbamazepine. The uncharged compound with intermediate hydrophobicity (log K_{OW} 3.64) is known to be frequently detected in higher concentrations in aerial parts rather than in roots [20, 52, 53]. Moreover, carbamazepine was detected through the whole plant in xylem sap and even found in transpiration waters in the ambient air [10, 54].

Pharmaceuticals could be also transported via sieve tubes of the phloem, as shown already for several herbicides [55, 56]. Compared to the unidirectional flow from roots to leaves in the xylem, compounds in phloem can be translocated in two directions: together with photosynthates (photosynthetically derived carbohydrates) from leaves to the plant below (branch, shoot, root) and above (young developing leaves, apical meristem, fruits). As generally alleged, phloem mass flow is driven by an osmotically generated pressure gradient by the accumulation (active loading) of sugars in the photosynthetically active leaves (source) and their deliverance (unloading) to the place of consumption (sink). Therefore, it is hypothesized that neutral compounds, which are mainly translocated by water flow (xylem), can be generally found in higher concentrations in mature leaves [53], in contrast to xenobiotics being transported via phloem to younger leaves, as suggested by Hsu and Kleier [57]. In this respect the abovementioned carbamazepine, which is known to be transported by xylem, was detected in higher concentrations in old leaves compared to young leaves of cucumber plants. In contrast, the anionic antibiotic tetracycline was quantified in similar concentrations in both kinds of leaves [58].

However, for non-ionic compounds, like the insecticide fipronil or some neonicotinoids, the ion trap theory does not apply, and the active ingredient can move freely between phloem and xylem according to its membrane permeability [59]. Herbicides with high ability to cross membranes may equilibrate between phloem and xylem but are preferentially transported by xylem because of the higher water flow [60]. Although only described for agrochemicals, this concept may as well influence the pharmaceutical compounds transport in plants.

The *transpiration stream concentration factor* (TSCF) is a descriptor for the quantitative uptake of contaminants. It is defined as a ratio of contaminant concentration in the xylem to the concentration in nutrient media, and this ratio varies between 0 and 1 [61]. The hydrophilic compound caffeine had a higher TSCF value than the more hydrophobic compounds triclocarban or endosulfan in zucchini (*Cucurbita pepo ssp. pepo*), soybean (*Glycine max* L.) and squash (*Cucurbita pepo ssp. ovifera*). Hence, hydrophilic pharmaceuticals, after passing the Casparian strip, seem to be translocated faster than hydrophobic ones [62]. The TSCF can give useful information about the translocation of compounds although not many studies exist measuring the pharmaceutical concentrations in xylem sap. Thus, the *translocation factor* (TF) describing the ratio between the pharmaceutical concentrations in the leaf compared to the root is often used to characterize the translocated by xylem or phloem.

Another difference between xylem and phloem, which influence the translocation of environmental contaminants (e.g. pharmaceuticals), is the pH. Phloem juice is about 8.0, which is similar to cytoplasmic pH (6.9–7.6), but inside xylem vessels, and also in the apoplast and intracellular spaces, the pH is about 5.0 [63]. Translocation of emerging contaminants is also interlinked to physical and chemical properties of the organic compounds. pKa values, influencing the charge of some pharmaceuticals at a specific pH is highly relevant (see previous section about root uptake). Accumulation of lamotrigine in leaves correlated with uncharged lamotrigine in pore water; thus, the pH-dependent charge of the molecule in the soil had an impact on its translocation to aerial parts of durum weed (Triticum durum) [64]. Such as the pKa, also the *lipophilicity* of compounds plays a crucial role, as moderately lipophilic neutral substances, with log K_{OW} (1–3.5) or log D_{OW} (0.5–3), are preferably translocated [65, 66]. Collins and co-workers [33] pointed out that for some uptake models, the lipid content (in their case, of the leaves) represents the most sensitive input parameter for lipophilic chemicals. It has not yet been investigated whether this is also valid for the root compartment, although several experimental studies showed missing or very low translocation of lipophilic compounds to aboveground parts [67, 68], but an exception exists. Astonishingly, zucchini is able to take up and translocate different highly hydrophobic polychlorinated dibenzodioxins and furans (PCDD/F) congeners to leaves and to the entire fruit, whereas for pumpkin and cucumber, contaminants were shown to be restricted to the outer part of the fruit [69]. It was hypothesized that zucchini might release a binding substance for PCDD/Fs with root exudates, which forms a hydrophilic complex with the pollutant to enable the uptake by the plants' roots. Furthermore, molecules in leaf extracts and in the xylem sap of zucchini and melon (*Cucumis melo* L.) were detected with the ability to increase the apparent aqueous solubility of tetrachlorodibenzodioxin (TCDD) by forming a reversible binding [70]. More recently, 17-kD proteins (probably major latex-like proteins (MLPs)) in xylem sap of zucchini were suggested to influence the translocation of hydrophobic organic contaminants, as the expression of the MLP-GR3 gene in C. pepo cultivars correlated positively with the presence of the 17-kD proteins and BCFs of dioxins and dioxin-like compounds [71]. The translocation of hydrophobic pharmaceuticals to shoots was as well enhanced in zucchini plants compared to soybean and closely related squash. Additionally, higher xylem sap solubilities of these chemicals were detected in zucchini, leading to the hypothesis of an involvement of xylem sap proteins in the enhanced translocation of pharmaceuticals to aerial tissues like for other ECs [62].

Dilution by growth is another factor influencing the concentration in plant parts, which is especially important for the prediction of the foliar uptake of organic compounds [29]. The resulting increased plant biomass leads to a potential dilution of the pharmaceutical concentration relative to the flux of their uptake. In contrast, expanded plant leaf area provides a larger surface for the *foliar uptake* of emerging contaminants from ambient air [30, 33]. The uptake of organic contaminants by aerial tissues was shown for many pesticides, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) or polychlorinated contaminants [72–75]. To enter the leaf, chemicals have

to either cross the cuticle or to enter through the stomata. Therefore, cutin, cuticular waxes and other cellular lipids act as a lipophilic barrier that might absorb different substances. A correlation could furthermore be detected between the surface wax concentration and the resistance to foliar penetration [76]. Although spray irrigation with treated wastewater contaminated with pharmaceuticals serves the possibility that these molecules are deposited on plants' leaves and could therefore be taken up, we are not aware of studies about the leaf penetration of these chemical contaminants. Some hints for the possibility of pharmaceuticals uptake by leaves are given [77]. Comparing the bioaccumulation in roots and leaves of a submerged and a freefloating plant species, differences in allocation of several pharmaceuticals could be detected. Highest concentrations of these chemicals were found in the plant tissue, which was exposed to the contaminated environment. Free-floating common water hyacinth (Eichhornia crassipes) having their roots exposed to different pharmaceuticals in water exhibited a higher concentration in the roots rather than leaves, except for carbamazepine which is known to be translocated to the leaves very fast [20]. For the submerged plant, burhead (Echinodorus horemanii), where leaves are surrounded by contaminated water, the tested compounds accumulated in the leaves in a higher proportion compared to roots. Even though submerged plants show differences compared to higher terrestrial plants (e.g. no transpiration, reduced xylem, thin cuticle), this study gives useful initial information about the possible uptake of pharmaceuticals by plant leaves.

Many pharmaceuticals are susceptible to *photodegradation*, which is an advantage in the wastewater treatment process to degrade them by UV treatment [78, 79]. As leaves are exposed to intensive light intensities, photodegradation within plants is theoretically possible, although no evidence about photodegradation of pharmaceuticals in plants is available till now.

2.4 Role of Biotransformation in the Translocation of Pharmaceuticals

The *biotransformation* of pharmaceuticals plays an important role in their translocation and risk assessment. From the intensive research about herbicide resistance in weeds, herbicide detoxification in crops and the removal of organic xenobiotics by phytoremediation, it has been known that plants possess an elaborate detoxification system for organic xenobiotics and agrochemicals, comprising of a metabolic cascade proceeding in three phases [80–82] (see Fig. 3). During phase I, xenobiotics can be activated by oxidation, reduction or hydrolysis depending on their molecule structure. The activated molecules can be conjugated to reactive groups, such as amino acids, glutathione or sugars by specific enzymes like glutathione *S*-transferases or glycosyltransferases to reduce the compounds reactivity and increase their water solubility during the consecutive phase II. Conjugated metabolites can afterwards be sequestered in vacuoles during phase III (*vacuolar sequestration*) or form



Fig. 3 The metabolic cascade of the green liver concept implies three phases for the fate of herbicides and foreign compounds in plants. It can be assumed that pharmaceuticals follow the same routes. While many compounds are finally bound to cell wall material to form insoluble residues, other xenobiotics may be stored in the vacuole as "soluble residues" and undergo further metabolism (adapted from [83])

insoluble residues in the cell wall (bound residues) [80] chapter "Metabolism of Pharmaceuticals in Plants and their Associated Microbiota". Several studies showed that this detoxification mechanism is also applicable for the metabolization of pharmaceuticals in plants [84–86]. The metabolization of particular pharmaceuticals can be differentially pronounced in plant tissues. Therefore, the metabolization of the anticonvulsant carbamazepine was noticeably higher in shoots than in roots, which might suggest a higher metabolism occurring in the leaves. However, one should bear in mind the fast translocation and the subsequent higher concentration of carbamazepine in shoots compared to roots [10]. Supporting this hypothesis, the phase and metabolites 4'-OH diclofenac, I phase Π 4**-**0glucopyranosyloxydiclofenac and 4-OH-glutathionyl-diclofenac were present in much higher concentrations in roots than shoots of cattail. These conjugates all originated from diclofenac, a pharmaceutical known to accumulate in roots rather than to be translocated to shoots [84]. In light of current literature, it is also possible that partially metabolized compounds, at least after phase I reactions, or even as conjugates can be translocated in plants via the vascular tissue [87, 88]. Nonetheless, many recently published studies about the uptake and translocation of environmental contaminants overlook the concentration of metabolites. Neglecting pharmaceutical metabolites in environmental studies might lead to a severe underestimation of the uptake and translocation of pharmaceuticals in plants and eventually to an underestimated human exposure to these contaminants in food [89]. Therefore, it is always necessary to perform mass balance analysis because only this can provide clear-cut information to evaluate the potential metabolic routes of pharmaceuticals in distinct plant tissues.

Figure 3 displays the current knowledge about the detoxification cascade for herbicides [90]. While the traditional scheme of herbicide detoxification concluded in a phase III leading to bound cell wall residues has been well accepted for agrochemicals as the concept of the "green liver" [80], information on the fate of non-herbicidal pollutants and pharmaceuticals in plants is only poor and scattered. However, it can be assumed that pharmaceuticals undergo exactly the same metabolic steps since they possess similar molecular properties and sometimes derive from identical chemical families (e.g. triazines, sulfonylureas). Since experimental evidence indicated that xenobiotic glutathione or glucosyl conjugates may inhibit cytosolic processes [91], it has generally been accepted that xenobiotic conjugates are sequestered from the cytosol in higher plants during phase III.

2.5 Vacuolar Transport and Sequestration

Considering now the central dogma of xenobiotic metabolism in plants as valid that conjugation of xenobiotics may not be the end point of metabolism, a deeper look should be taken into plant storage processes. In fact, it seems that storage may be only intermediary for many substances and that further breakdown of these polar derivatives can lead to a complex set of processing reactions (Fig. 3), both in the vacuole and in the cytoplasm [92, 93]. One of the best studied routes of xenobiotic conjugate catabolism relates to glutathionylated pesticides [94]. An early report followed a chloroacetamide herbicide in cereals that could be tracked into the vacuole, where the respective detoxification products, glutathione conjugates, were cleaved by a carboxypeptidase to produce γ -Glu-Cys-alachlor conjugates [95].

Hence, it is not unlikely that ABC and MATE transporters in plasmalemma and tonoplast may also be involved in the detoxification of organic compounds other than herbicides, since enzymes involved in the synthesis of secondary compounds may also recognize and modify potentially toxic molecules taken up by the plant. Subsequently, molecules can yield cell wall residues or be transported into the vacuole for final detoxification (Fig. 3). Evidence for this latter sequestration step has been presented for several species and seems to be ubiquitous [96]. In a recent paper, the uptake and metabolism of the sun shield, oxybenzone, has been followed in umbrella papyrus (*Cyperus alternifolius*). Uptake and phase I and II metabolism followed the green liver concept, and it seems likely that some member of the ABCC subfamily was responsible for vacuolar delivery of the glutathionated phase II

metabolite [85, 97]. This is an important finding, since so far only plasma membrane-localized MATEs had been found to be involved in detoxification (reviewed in [98]). It is likely that further studies will reveal a role for vacuolar MATEs in cellular detoxification. Sequestration of detoxified compounds seems beneficial for the living plant cell, and the vacuole might be regarded as final storage compartment. Break down to smaller metabolites [95] or adding a malonyl residue alters the molecule so that backflush through the ABC transporters is prevented and final storage in vacuoles occurs [99, 100]. Interestingly, in umbrella papyrus the oxybenzone conjugate also undergoes partial cleavage and subsequent malonylation [85].

The significance of such phase III sequestration mechanism for the uptake of xenobiotics may be understood from the membrane potential across the tonoplast, which is -30 to -40 mV, and maintained by the activity of ATPases [101]. Since most ABC transporters are antiporters, the extrusion of cations leads to the accumulation of organic anions by a factor of 3 or 4 [96]. Such an efficient flow of xenobiotic metabolites will lead to a diminished cytosolic concentration of the active parent compound and hence be a strong driver for further diffusive uptake into the cell.

3 Experimental Section

For a bibliographic online search (using the search engine Google Scholar) of the scientific literature on plant uptake of pharmaceutical compounds, crossing 7 years of publications, authors used a combination of keywords as "plant uptake + pharmaceutical group" or "plant uptake + compound name" to obtain the highest number of articles within the topic and pharmaceutical group. Parameters like concentration applied in the study, time of exposure, type of experiment (hydroponic, pot or plate experiment), final concentration in the plant or plant part with clear units and plant species were used to decide which articles would be part of the study.

Field and lysimeter studies were not included due to their complexity and the number of external factors that can influence the results and therefore may not be compatible with the other studies. Experiments with different time points where concentrations in nutrient media/soil were not mentioned for the middle time points were also excluded, since it was not possible to calculate bioconcentration factors for these cases. Moreover, when no numerical data was provided in the studies, approximate values were extracted from figures with support of ImageJ software (version 1.52a) using the tools "set scale" and "analyse".

Chemical properties like molar mass (g/mol), logarithmic octanol-water partition coefficient (log K_{OW}) and water solubility (mg/L) were gathered from PubChem and/or DrugBank website, while the acid dissociation constant (pKa) and the logarithmic distribution coefficient (log D_{OW}) were calculated using the software SPARC Performs Automated Reasoning in Chemistry and values used according to the pH measured in each article.

The bioconcentration factor (BCF), which is the ratio of the concentration of a chemical in an organism to the concentration of the chemical in the surrounding environment [37], was calculated as:

$$BCF = \frac{\text{concentration}_{\text{root}} (ng/kg)}{\text{concentration}_{\text{soil}} (ng/kg)} \text{ or}$$
$$BCF = \frac{\text{concentration}_{\text{root}} (ng/kg)}{\text{concentration}_{\text{nutrient media}} (ng/L)}$$

The concentration in soil or nutrient media was applied as the difference between the spiked concentration and the concentration found at that particular time point; like this, a more realistic BCF can be obtained since it is only considered the concentration that was available for the plant.

The translocation factor (TF) or mobilization ratio was calculated to determine relative translocation from root to shoots (stem and/or leaves) [102]:

$$TF = \frac{\text{concentration}_{shoot} (ng/kg)}{\text{concentration}_{root} (ng/kg)}$$

Therefore, TF > 1 means that the target compound was effectively translocated from roots to shoots. In contrast, TF < 1 highlights an accumulation in the roots rather than a translocation to shoots.

For BCFs and TFs, plant-to-soil/nutrient media or leaves-to-root concentrations were both expressed in fresh weight (FW/FW) or dry weight (DW/DW). If not, data would be converted using the percentage of dry weight for each plant species.

3.1 Data Collected

A total of 53 ISI scientific articles and one technical report were used in this study. From all covered years, 2016 and 2018 presented the highest number of articles (n = 11) published on the uptake and translocation of pharmaceuticals in plants. Antibiotics (n = 19) and the psychotropic drugs (n = 14) were the pharmaceutical classes with the highest number of different compounds studied. Furthermore, antibiotics was the most frequent pharmaceutical class addressed in several articles (27.6%), followed by anticonvulsants (15.6%) and anti-inflammatory drugs (14.6%), which is showing a special interest by the scientific community in these chemicals. These numbers illustrate also, to which extent scientists are concerned about the presence and the potential effects of antibiotics, anti-inflammatory drugs, anticonvulsants and psychotropic drugs in the environment and in a second baseline, the publics' concern.

Regarding antibiotics, the main concern is the propagation of multiresistant bacteria and as a consequence, the dispersal of genes related to resistance against those agents. This issue creates two main lines of scientific work: phytoremediation and human health risk assessment. From the collected articles, only 12.5% of the studies focused on phytoremediation [103–105], which shows a trend towards a focus on edible plants for further human risk assessments. In that respect, the most studied plant of the analysed studies was lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*) (29.65%), followed by radish (12.96%) and cucumber (7.41%), which are all economically relevant crops.

The duration of exposure in the collected studies varied between 6 h and 98 days; some showed only single time point measurements (n = 32) and others a time course with multiple time points (n = 22). Considering only single time points studies, in 71.9% of the cases, they tested a duration of at least 21 days. As it was mention before, only studies with multiple collection time points with given concentrations in nutrient media or soil at tested time points were used, to avoid overestimations of BCFs. It is also necessary to be aware of studies where nutrient solutions or soils were replenished/irrigated with solutions containing pharmaceuticals during the time course of the experiment when no information about volume, concentration and frequency of the added solution were mentioned to calculate the correct BCF. The tested concentrations of pharmaceuticals varied between 100 ng/L and 200 mg/L. In some studies, a single concentrations were studied ranging from 100 ng/L to 10 mg/L.

Taking into account all conditions and limitations presented above, data from selected publications was grouped and expressed as BCF and TF, according to the chemical properties and the ionic status of the compounds and additionally separated into trials done as hydroponic (a) and soil (b) experiments (Tables 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6). Information is presented like this, because most of the concepts in the first part of this chapter can only be directly related to experimental data with controlled and/or few external interferences, as the hydroponic experiments. With the soil experiments, factors like the percentage of OM and even the soil constituents will interfere in the analysis, especially when comparing different studies, but on the other hand, the results will be closer to a realistic scenario.

The boxplots (designed using GraphPad Prism software, v 6.01) in Figs. 4, 5 and 6, which are showing the BCFs and TFs of the distribution of observations from different studies as well as minimum, median and maximum values, were also separated according to the ionic status of the compounds and the type of study (hydroponic and soil experiments), as mentioned above. One study can include several observations (shown by dots) by testing various conditions like duration, concentration or pH. Therefore, boxplots (Figs. 4, 5 and 6) provide a detailed picture of summarized data in Tables 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6, and exceptions can be detected easily and considered for discussion to secure the validity of BCF and TF average values.

For the uptake and translocation of organic compounds, the molar mass with high possibility only plays a role for big molecules with molar mass $\geq 1,000$ g/mol [21] or as hypothesized for pharmaceuticals with molar mass ≥ 400 g/mol [20]. None of the studied pharmaceuticals was $\geq 1,000$ g/mol, and only eight of them can be

				log							
	log	pН	p <i>K</i> a	Dow	BCF	TF					
Compounds K_{0}		Avera	ige valu	ies	Authors						
Analgesic											
Acetaminophen	0.46	5.60	0.00	0.09	1.43	0.49	[20, 58, 107–111]				
Antibacterial											
Triclocarban	4.34	na	0.00	5.23	31.39	0.01	[109, 110]				
Antibiotic											
Sulfamethoxazole	0.89	5.59	0.00	-0.06	0.55	0.13	[11, 109, 110, 112– 114]				
Sulfapyridine	0.35	6.53	0.00	4.21	3.29	0.03	[105]				
Anticonvulsant											
Carbamazepine	2.45	6.23	0.00	3.64	0.93	2.05	[10, 11, 20, 110, 114– 119]				
Primidone	0.91	na	0.00	-1.23	1.61	0.17	[109]				
Hormone											
17β-estradiol	0.20	na	0.00	4.33	2.01	1.11	[106]				
17α-ethinylestradiol	3.67	5.30	0.00	4.94	0.98	1.04	[106, 112, 114]				
Beta-estradiol	3.67	5.55	0.00	4.33	0.01	nd in leaf	[20, 114]				
Estrone	3.13	5.55	0.00	4.23	0.13	0.07	[20, 114]				
Levonorgestrel	3.48	na	0.00	4.27	17.26	nd in leaf	[101]				
Lipid regulator											
Atorvastatin	6.36	na	0.00	2.38	0.48	0.26	[109]				
Psychotropic drug											
Meprobamate	0.70	na	0.00	1.16	0.37	6.11	[109, 110]				
Stimulant											
Caffeine	-0.07	5.68	0.00	0.95	0.32	12.06	[20, 109, 114, 116, 119, 120]				

 Table 1
 Chemical properties of neutral pharmaceuticals, as well as the average BCFs and TFs calculated per compound in hydroponic studies

Symbols: na, means not available; nd, means not detected

considered as large-sized pharmaceuticals, as mentioned by Chuang and co-workers [20]. Of these pharmaceuticals, five were antibiotics (clarithromycin, streptomycin, oxytetracycline, tetracycline and lincomycin), two drugs against high blood pressure (verapamil and valsartan) and one lipid regulator (atorvastatin). All selected compounds can enter the roots, and only a minor amount of the tested pharmaceuticals could have difficulties to enter because of their high molar mass.

	1	nH	nKa	log Dam	BCE	TE		
Compounds	K_{OW}	Avera	ge valu	les	Authors			
Analgesic		,	-				1	
Acetaminophen	0.46	8.10	0.00	0.09	0.01	0.34	[102]	
Antibacterial								
Triclocarban	4.34	6.42	0.00	5.23	0.02	0.50	[121]	
Antibiotic								
Sulfamethoxazole	0.89	5.67	0.00	-0.06	0.96	0.58	[11, 112, 122, 123]	
Anticonvulsant								
Carbamazepine	2.45	7.03	0.00	3.64	0.62	3.57	[11, 102, 112, 123– 128]	
Hormone								
17α-ethinylestradiol	3.67	6.60	0.00	4.94	0.61	0.06	[129]	
Estrone	3.13	8.10	0.00	4.23	0.00	2.45	[20]	
Psychotropic drug								
Oxazepam	2.24	6.30	0.00	3.42	0.04	17.15	[130]	
Temazepam	2.19	6.30	0.00	4.71	0.01	5.99	[130]	
Stimulant								
Caffeine	-0.07	7.87	0.00	0.95	0.23	20.03	[102, 126, 127]	

Table 2 Chemical properties of neutral pharmaceuticals, as well as the average BCFs and TFs calculated per compound in soil studies

Symbols: na, means not available; nd, means not detected

3.2 Data Analysis

3.2.1 Neutral Compounds

Neutral organic compounds were identified as having higher membrane penetration than ionized substances [140]. Therefore, it is expected, that these molecules can be taken up and translocated easily by transpiration via the xylem [51], resulting in TFs > BCFs. For compounds like meprobamate, caffeine and carbamazepine and, additionally, estrone, oxazepam and temazepam (in soil assays), this pattern was observed (Tables 1 and 2). Figure 4 shows that many observations and studies were made on the uptake and translocation of caffeine and carbamazepine, reflecting a TF > BCF, which clearly underlines their validity. However, this pattern is not clearly detected for the whole group of compounds.

Looking at the data in detail, triclocarban (antibacterial) stands out with an average BCF of 31.4, as a result from data reported in Sun and co-authors [109] and Wu and co-authors [110] (Table 1). In total, these two studies had nine observations, and none of them had TF higher than 0.08 (Fig. 4). BCFs (18.9–32.4) obtained by Wu and co-workers [110] for spinach and lettuce, when exposed for 21 days at two different concentrations (5 and 0.5 μ g/L), were similar, and also Sun and co-authors [109] observed a relatively high BCF (12.6) when cucumber was exposed for 7 days to a concentration of 5.0 μ g/L. Therefore, the

				log							
	log	pH	p <i>K</i> a	$D_{\rm OW}$	BCF	TF					
Compounds	Kow	Avera	ge values		Authors						
Antibacterial											
Triclosan	4.76	5.47	-0.01	5.42	1.50	0.20	[9, 19, 41, 55, 117]				
Antibiotic											
Ofloxacin	-0.39	7.80	-0.16	0.74	0.01	nm in leaves	[131]				
Oxytetracycline	-0.90	5.97	-0.15	-6.49	0.59	0.02	[25, 55]				
Sulfadiazine	-0.09	6.81	-0.88	1.04	14.87	0.15	[46, 87]				
Sulfamerazine	0.14	6.81	-0.58	3.54	25.98	0.03	[105]				
Sulfamethazine	0.89	6.85	-0.23	4.39	9.13	0.02	[105, 116]				
Sulfamethoxazole	0.89	6.85	-0.002	-0.06	16.61	0.02	[105]				
Sulfapyridine	0.35	6.91	-0.01	4.21	11.78	0.03	[105]				
Tetracycline	-1.30	na	-0.08	-5.44	0.15	3.18	[103]				
Anticonvulsant											
Dilantin	2.47	na	-0.003	1.71	0.95	2.98	[41, 110]				
Anti-inflammatory											
Diclofenac	4.51	6.61	-0.98	1.85	2.82	0.24	[43, 55, 56, 65,				
							101, 132]				
Ibuprofen	3.97	5.48	-0.90	2.25	0.21	1.52	[109, 110, 116,				
							133–135]				
Naproxen	3.18	5.65	-0.89	2.09	0.61	0.90	[109, 110, 114,				
							119]				
Lipid regulator											
Clofibric acid	3.32	6.00	-0.99	1.20	1.37	1.59	[119]				
Gemfibrozil	4.77	na	-1.00	2.92	4.03	0.04	[109]				

Table 3 Chemical properties of anionic pharmaceuticals, as well as the average BCFs and TFs calculated per compound in hydroponic studies

Symbols: na, means not available; nm, means not measured

dynamic between BCF and TF reported in the two studies was the opposite of what was expected (i.e. BCF > TF) but might be explained due to the high lipophilicity of triclocarban (log $K_{OW} = 4.34$). Indeed, several models purposed different ranges during which translocation is favoured or not. All of these models predicted a low transfer for compounds with around log $K_{OW} > 4$ [25, 61, 140, 141].

Another neutral compound that stands out from the proposed observation was levonorgestrel (hormone). Li and co-workers [101] described a BCF average of 17.3, where no compound was detected in stems and leaves. Therefore, further investigation is needed to scrutinize these results.

Sulfamethoxazole was another pharmaceutical, which was studied intensively in hydroponic and soil experiments. This antibiotic and the analgesic acetaminophen, which is also studied on several hydroponic experiments, showed a slightly higher average BCF > TF. Moreover, as many observations were showing similar results for these two pharmaceuticals, the validity is high. The reason for this might be their

				log							
	log	pН	p <i>K</i> a	D _{ow}	BCF	TF					
Compounds	Kow	Avera	ge values	5	Authors						
Antibacterial											
Triclosan	4.76	7.05	-0.11	5.33	1.09	1.06	[103, 116, 121, 124, 125, 129]				
Antibiotic											
Amoxicillin	0.87	7.01	-0.40	-2.05	0.00	na	[132]				
Oxytetracycline	-0.90	7.50	-0.91	-6.64	0.00	0.58	[102]				
Sulfadiazine	-0.09	7.50	-0.98	1.02	0.65	1.72	[102, 136]				
Sulfamethoxazole	0.89	7.68	-0.03	-0.06	0.27	0.77	[11, 102, 123]				
Tetracycline	-1.30	7.28	-0.66	-5.59	0.00	na	[132]				
Trimethoprim	0.91	8.10	-0.44	0.67	0.00	5.38	[102]				
Anti-inflammatory											
Diclofenac	4.51	6.25	-0.98	2.13	2.02	2.43	[125, 126]				
Ibuprofen	3.97	7.42	-0.97	2.08	2.51	1.38	[126, 127]				
Naproxen	3.18	na	-0.95	1.86	0.24	0.51	[126]				
Blood pressure											
Furosemide	2.03	7.42	-1.00	0.73	1.27	nd in leaves	[127]				
Lipid regulator											
Clofibric acid	3.32	7.42	-1.00	1.20	1.11	0.04	[127]				
Psychotropic drug											
Diazepam	2.82	6.30	-0.99	4.73	0.03	3.13	[130]				

Table 4 Chemical properties of anionic pharmaceuticals, as well as the average BCFs and TFs calculated per compound in soil studies

Symbols: na, means not available; nd, means not detected

metabolization by plants [105, 118]. As mentioned before, the fast biotransformation of some pharmaceuticals should not be neglected to not underestimate BCFs and TFs of the parent compound.

3.2.2 Anionic Compounds

Among the anionic compounds, antibiotics are represented by the largest group of studied substances in both hydroponic and soil experiments. Within antibiotics, the sulfonamides (SAs), i.e. sulfadiazine, sulfamerazine, sulfamethazine, sulfamethoxazole and sulfapyridine, display the largest group. They are widely used for the control of infectious diseases, in both human and livestock care, and due to their stability – with a half-life over 81 days [105] – they are ubiquitously present in wastewaters. Therefore, SAs receive a special attention by the researchers since they are prone to increase the resistance of pathogenic bacteria and boost the spread of antibiotic resistance, hostile to aquatic environments and human health. According to Wang and co-authors [142], the uptake process of these molecules might be

		рН	p <i>K</i> a	log Dow	BCF	TF	
Compounds	log Kow	Averag	re values	Authors			
Antibiotic	105 1100	Trefug	,e value:	,			riunors
Annoione							
Clarithromycin	3.16	na	1.00	-1.98	9.91	0.04	[137]
Lincomycin	0.20	5.80	1.00	-4.84	0.33	0.08	[20]
Trimethoprim	0.91	5.80	0.88	0.09	2.45	0.23	[20, 97, 110, 112]
Anticonvulsant							
Lamotrigine	2.57	6.05	0.65	2.49	7.86	0.12	[138]
Antidiabetic		-					
Metformin	-2.64	6.00	1.01	-2.56	32.14	0.02	[65]
Beta-blocker							
Atenolol	0.16	7.80	0.98	-2.23	0.21	2.79	[11, 109, 131]
Propranolol	3.48	na	1.00	0.15	0.92	0.22	[116]
Lipid regulator							
Gemfibrozil	4.77	5.30	0.81	3.56	-	0.06	[114]
Psychotropic drug	3						
Amitriptyline	4.92	7.00	1.00	3.60	29.85	1.11	[117]
Clomipramine	5.19	na	1.00	2.35	0.18	0.62	[139]
Diazepam	2.82	na	0.01	4.73	3.21	0.45	[109, 110]
Fluoxetine	4.05	7.00	1.00	1.05	13.96	1.03	[110, 117]
Sertraline	1.37	na	1.00	2.27	0.43	0.12	[139]
Trazodone	3.21	na	0.10	3.97	0.09	2.89	[139]

 Table 5
 Chemical properties of cationic pharmaceuticals, as well as the average BCFs and TFs calculated per compound in hydroponic studies

Symbols: na, means not available; - not possible to calculate

slower, when compared to cationic and neutral compounds due to electrostatic repulsion between root surface and anionic substances. However, looking at data from the hydroponic experiment of Tai and co-workers [105] (Table 3, Fig. 5a), high BCF ratios of SAs, ranging from 9.1 to 26.0, were quantified in two wetland plant species (Indian shot (*Canna indica*) and yellow iris (*Iris pseudacorus*)) in a 7-day trial. In this work, authors suggested that plants take up SAs via active processes. However, the high BCF values might be related to the plant lipid content, since it is considered as the main storage site for hydrophobic organic contaminants, as hypothesized by the same group. To support this hypothesis, a positive correlation between the obtained BCF and the respective log D_{OW} , for several nutrient media and soil articles (cited in Tables 3 and 4), was calculated (0.29 and 0.42, accordingly (p > 0.05)). Nonetheless, for a specific antibiotic (tetracycline), the results were the opposite (i.e. TF > BCF), meaning that this compound is rather translocated to the aerial parts than being stored in roots [104], which can be explained by its hydrophilic behaviour (log $D_{OW} - 5.44$).

As observed for SAs, high average BCF > TF values for triclosan, diclofenac and gemfibrozil were registered in hydroponic experiments (see Table 3). Several studies focused on the antibacterial pharmaceutical triclosan, but only in some of them, high average BCFs were obtained. It can be highlighted that highest BCFs were

		pH	p <i>K</i> a	$\log D_{\rm OW}$	BCF	TF			
Compounds	$\log K_{\rm OW}$	Average	Authors						
Antibiotic									
Lincomycin	0.20	7.58	0.75	-3.35	0.00	9.96	[102]		
Anticonvulsant									
Lamotrigine	2.57	8.10	0.18	2.70	0.03	1.93	[102]		
Antidiabetic									
Metformin	-2.64	na	1.01	-2.56	0.34	0.61	[126]		
Beta-blocker									
Atenolol	0.16	6.96	0.99	-2.60	0.39	3.51	[124]		
Propranolol	3.48	6.63	0.99	0.59	2.59	1.97	[125]		
Psychotropic drug									
Chlordiazepoxide	2.44	6.30	0.43	-0.12	0.04	6.58	[130]		
Clonazepam	2.41	6.30	0.01	3.56	0.01	16.82	[130]		
Fluoxetine	4.05	6.25	1.00	1.07	0.04	0.24	[125]		
Flurazepam	3.80	6.30	1.00	3.77	0.01	1.24	[130]		

Table 6 Chemical properties of cationic pharmaceuticals, as well as the average BCFs and TFs calculated per compound in soil studies

Symbols: na, means not available

calculated for several plant species (cucumber, lettuce, spinach (in hydroponic experiments) and for ryegrass and lettuce (in soil)), with a time exposure ranging from 7 to 40 days [109, 110, 125, 127]. For all the selected cases, the applied concentrations were relatively low (2.7–69.0 µg/L), when compared to the rest of the studies (5.0–758.0 µg/L), which might indicate a more efficient uptake for lower applied concentrations. For the well-studied anti-inflammatory drug diclofenac, ten times higher average BCF > TF values were detected in hydroponic experiments (Table 3); nonetheless, four of thirteen studies had higher BCFs (3.2–17.7) than the rest of the studies (BCF \approx 0.5; Fig. 5a) [101, 111, 112, 126]. Several works therefore reported that this pattern is caused by the hydrophobicity of diclofenac [115, 119], but as for charged molecules, the log D_{OW} rather than the log K_{OW} should be considered. Since this compound has a log D_{OW} of 1.85 translocation should be favoured, however it is not the case. As mentioned in the first part of the chapter, the protein plant composition might play an important role on storage of anionic compounds in roots, as discussed by González García and co-authors [36].

The same pattern (BCF > TF) was also obtained for gemfibrozil (lipid regulator) in a 2-week study with old cucumber plants [109] (Table 3); this result might be related to the high metabolism of young plants, since for different type of compounds (neutral, anionic and cationic) BCF > TF were registered in this study. In any case, further investigation is needed to evaluate the uptake results according to rigorous pH measurements, since this molecule dramatically changes its ionization status (pKa 0.8 to -0.99) in a very short pH interval (5.3–6).

In contrast to the behaving of most of the anionic compounds, dilantin (anticonvulsant) presented a higher average TF (2.9) when compared to its BCF (0.9)



Fig. 4 Boxplot visualization of all BCF (black) and TF (green) values of several neutral compounds (every dot, represents an observation) from hydroponic (a) and soil studies (b); data references in Tables 1 and 2



Fig. 5 Boxplot visualization of all BCF (black) and TF (green) values of several anionic compounds (every dot, represents an observation) from hydroponic (a) and soil studies (b); data references in Tables 3 and 4



Fig. 6 Boxplot visualization of all BCF (black) and TF (green) values of several cationic compounds (every dot, represents an observation) from hydroponic (a) and soil studies (b); data references in Tables 5 and 6

(Table 3). These results are mainly represented by Wu and co-workers [110], where the highest translocations were observed for pepper plants (*Capsicum annuum*) even when exposed to different concentrations (0.5 and 5 μ g/L), which might indicate a favoured translocation because of the plant species. Moreover, dilantin displays only a slightly negative pKa (-0.003), which could mean that its behaviour is more similar to a neutral compound, like carbamazepine, than to an anionic one.

The uptake of the psychotropic drug diazepam was studied in a radish experiment in soil [130]. As for all studied compounds on this crop, TF values were higher than the ones for BCF (Table 4, Fig. 5b), however according to its log D_{OW} (4.73), it would be expected the opposite, which might indicate the important role of this specific plant species [11, 102, 112, 121, 124]. This hypothesis is also supported by the higher BCF > TF values of diazepam in different other plants (cucumber, lettuce, pepper, spinach), which was tested in hydroponic experiments [109, 110].

Lastly, average TF values of ibuprofen (anti-inflammatory) were higher than average BCF values in hydroponic studies [109, 110, 126, 127, 135]. However, these differences are mainly caused by the presence of an outlier in TF observations (see Fig. 5a).

3.2.3 Cationic Compounds

In hydroponic studies with cationic compounds, generally higher BCFs>TFs were obtained (Tables 5 and 6, Fig. 6). The main reason behind this observation might be the fact that plant cell walls are negatively charged, due to their high concentration in uronic acids [142]. The electrostatic attraction between the root cell wall and the cationic compounds may facilitate adsorption to the root epidermis. Compounds that are positively charged at pH 4–6 can be trapped in the apoplast or root vacuoles (pH 5) [63]. Consequently, a reduced concentration can enter the vascular system for the translocation to aerial parts.

Among these cases, atenolol (beta-blocker) and trazodone (psychotropic drug) presented TFs > BCFs. For both compounds, this might be related to the high concentrations applied (830–1,000 and 10,000 μ g/L, respectively) and to the plant species used [11, 139]. Kedosová and colleagues [11] registered higher atenolol concentrations in leaves of radish and spinach than in arugula and lamb's lettuce. Additionally, in the study of Reichl et al. [139], high amounts of trazodone in cress aerial tissues (*Lepidium sativum*) were registered, showing that uptake efficiency is dependent of the plant species used, and therefore, for studies of human health risk assessment, different plant species should be tested to estimate more reliable risks.

For soil data, when compared to BCFs values, higher TFs were calculated (Table 6). According to Miller and co-workers [9], some evidences were already demonstrated, that cationic compounds applied to soil have higher TF values than, for example, anionic ones. However, in our studies no correlation was found between TFs and the respective log D_{OW} , suggesting that other factors might be more relevant for the translocation of cationic compounds.

4 Recommendations and Outcomes from Data Analysis

When compiling data to do this analysis, it became obvious that some articles had to be omitted, because there was a lack of important information needed to compare data between studies. Basic guidelines for controlled uptake and translocation studies, including relevant properties of the compound, the plant and the environment, are crucial to produce valid results. Indeed, comparability and reliability of scientific data have become burning topics recently and therefore were discussed by many publishing and governmental agencies, which are concerned about data integrity and how data can be made "available" for all stakeholders. Accordingly, a resume of recommendations for future studies might be:

A crucial parameter is the *concentration applied* in water or soil at the beginning of each study as theoretical and analytical value. In several articles where both concentrations were provided, theoretical and practical concentrations varied significantly for specific compounds. In any case, similar *concentration units* (expressed in fresh weight or dry weight) should be provided, to better relate data expressed in the same units.

In case *additional irrigation or replenishment* of nutrient media is needed, during the time course of the experiment, authors should mention the volume of water added, frequency of occurrence and if irrigation water was previously spiked with pharmaceuticals. Additionally, the quantification of the spiked irrigation water is a crucial information to calculate the exact concentration to which the plant was exposed. This is very important when estimating the BCF, since the concentration in nutrient media/soil is always considered as a base. In many cases, authors only relate its value to the concentration at T0, which finally leads to an overestimation of BCFs. Also, if the nutrient media is completely renewed, the concentration before and after removal should be measured and mentioned. For *kinetic studies*, it is moreover important to quantify the concentration in the nutrient media/soil at each sampling time, in order to relate it to the concentration in the plant at that specific time point and avoid wrong BCF assumptions.

In all the cases, pH measurements – in nutrient media or in pore water and soil – are recommended at least for each time point of collection. Some *chemical properties* (i.e. pKa and log Dow) of selected compounds are dependent on the measured pH values; this is central when compounds change their ionic status easily in a very narrow pH range.

Moreover, authors should always consider using different *controls*, i.e. the inclusion of negative controls (where no plant is included in the spiked nutrient media/ soil, which is used to evaluate the adsorption and potential degradation along the study) and the plant in a non-spiked situation (to evaluate the plant growth performance in normal conditions).

For soil studies, measuring soil properties besides pH, like *percentage of humidity* and *organic carbon content* plus the *soil porosity* and *texture*, is recommended to enable the comparison of studies and diminish the bias.

Another parameter influencing the uptake and translocation of pharmaceuticals is the *plant* per se. It is recommended to consider the plants' age (number of days after germination) and developmental stage (e.g. two-leaf stage, vegetative growth or flowering/fruiting) at the time point of exposure and during the study. The plant variety, the percentage of dry weight (root and aerial part) as well as the total lipid content should be provided, since this information is necessary to successfully indicate the differences on the uptake and translocation of especially lipophilic pharmaceuticals in different plant organs or varieties.

Analytically, the *extraction protocol* for target compounds in the different studied matrices should be provided along with the specific *limits of detection* and *quantification*. This is essential when authors cannot quantify a specific compound, so the readers can understand if this is due to an analytical limitation or if the compound is not present in that matrix. Furthermore, concentrations of pharmaceuticals in plant tissues can be easily underestimated when only parent compounds are quantified. As some pharmaceuticals can undergo a rapid metabolization within a few hours, it is recommended to consider the measurement of the main *metabolites*, if technically possible, to prove the uptake and translocation of such compounds.

4.1 Concluding Remarks

In many studies it became obvious that the concentration in nutrient media/soil does not correlate with the concentration in plants, and thus it is not easy to forecast transfer rates. Chemistry and plant physiology play important roles in the processes involved. Moreover, interactions with soil constituents, rhizosphere processes governed by microbes and the selective uptake mechanisms of several plant species may be decisive for the fate of PPCP as well. The concentration of pharmaceuticals applied in controlled experiments may affect in opposite way the BCF and TF ratio values, since in some studies higher uptake and translocation ratios were achieved with lower concentrations, which is highlighting the relevance of realistic environmental concentrations in uptake studies. Some plant species may also have special features, such as Cucurbitaceae, which is known to be the only family to take up and translocate hydrophobic PAHs. Interestingly, radish from the Brassicaceae family stands out with consistent higher translocations, for all pharmaceutical compounds in the analysed studies. Furthermore, it may hold true that most cationic pharmaceuticals show higher TFs in soil studies, but some will also undergo activation and metabolization on the way, which might change their behaviour and fate. As highlighted before, it is crucial to take all relevant plant and physicochemical properties into consideration through every step of the scientific process that starts with the experimental design and ends with data analysis and interpretation.

Acknowledgements This research was developed by the Water Joint Programming Initiative (WATER-JPI) of the European Research Area (ERA-NET). We would like to thank the responsible persons for raising the AWARE project and the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food

(Projektträger Bundesanstalt für Landwirtschaft und Ernährung) (2816ERA04W), which also supported the author Y Bigott. DM Khalaf was granted by the Katholischer Akademischer Ausländer-Dienst (KAAD). C Cruzeiro was funded by the European project IDOUM (Water challenges for a changing world – IC4Water) as part of the WATER21015 JPI.

We thank Andreia Canito for providing us the coloured lettuce representation and Philip Schmode for helping us with data organization.

References

- Gago-Ferrero P, Bletsou AA, Damalas DE, Aalizadeh R, Alygizakis NA, Singer HP, Hollender J, Thomaidis NS (2020) Wide-scope target screening of >2000 emerging contaminants in wastewater samples with UPLC-Q-ToF-HRMS/MS and smart evaluation of its performance through the validation of 195 selected representative analytes. J Hazard Mater 387:121712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.121712
- Ibáñez M, Borova V, Boix C, Aalizadeh R, Bade R, Thomaidis NS, Hernández F (2017) UHPLC-QTOF MS screening of pharmaceuticals and their metabolites in treated wastewater samples from Athens. J Hazard Mater 323:26–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.03. 078
- Grassi M, Rizzo L, Farina A (2013) Endocrine disruptors compounds, pharmaceuticals and personal care products in urban wastewater: implications for agricultural reuse and their removal by adsorption process. Environ Sci Pollut Res 20:3616–3628. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11356-013-1636-7
- Madureira TV, Cruzeiro C, Rocha MJ, Rocha E (2011) The toxicity potential of pharmaceuticals found in the Douro River estuary (Portugal) – experimental assessment using a zebrafish embryo test. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 32:212–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2011.05. 005
- Watanabe H, Tamura I, Abe R, Takanobu H, Nakamura A, Suzuki T, Hirose A, Nishimura T, Tatarazako N (2016) Chronic toxicity of an environmentally relevant mixture of pharmaceuticals to three aquatic organisms (alga, daphnid, and fish). Environ Toxicol Chem 35:996–1006. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3285
- Fatta-Kassinos D, Meric S, Nikolaou A (2011) Pharmaceutical residues in environmental waters and wastewater: current state of knowledge and future research. Anal Bioanal Chem 399:251–275. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-010-4300-9
- Christou A, Karaolia P, Hapeshi E, Michael C, Fatta-Kassinos D (2017) Long-term wastewater irrigation of vegetables in real agricultural systems: concentration of pharmaceuticals in soil, uptake and bioaccumulation in tomato fruits and human health risk assessment. Water Res 109:24–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.11.033
- Goldstein M, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2014) Insights into the uptake processes of wastewaterborne pharmaceuticals by vegetables. Environ Sci Technol 48:5593–5600. https://doi.org/10. 1021/es5008615
- Miller EL, Nason SL, Karthikeyan KG, Pedersen JA (2016) Root uptake of pharmaceuticals and personal care product ingredients. Environ Sci Technol 50:525–541. https://doi.org/10. 1021/acs.est.5b01546
- Goldstein M, Malchi T, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2018) Pharmacokinetics in plants: carbamazepine and its interactions with lamotrigine. Environ Sci Technol 52:6957–6964. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01682
- Kodešová R, Klement A, Golovko O, Fér M, Nikodem A, Kočárek M, Grabic R (2019) Root uptake of atenolol, sulfamethoxazole and carbamazepine, and their transformation in three soils and four plants. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26:9876–9891. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-04333-9

- 12. Papaioannou D, Koukoulakis PH, Lambropoulou D, Papageorgiou M, Kalavrouziotis IK (2019) The dynamics of the pharmaceutical and personal care product interactive capacity under the effect of artificial enrichment of soil with heavy metals and of wastewater reuse. Sci Total Environ 662:537–546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.01.111
- Barra Caracciolo A, Topp E, Grenni P (2015) Pharmaceuticals in the environment: biodegradation and effects on natural microbial communities. A review. J Pharm Biomed Anal 106:25–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2014.11.040
- Afzal M, Khan QM, Sessitsch A (2014) Endophytic bacteria: prospects and applications for the phytoremediation of organic pollutants. Chemosphere 117:232–242. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chemosphere.2014.06.078
- Sauvêtre A, Schröder P (2015) Uptake of carbamazepine by rhizomes and endophytic bacteria of *Phragmites australis*. Front Plant Sci 6:83. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00083
- Weyens N, van der Lelie D, Taghavi S, Vangronsveld J (2009) Phytoremediation: plantendophyte partnerships take the challenge. Curr Opin Biotechnol 20:248–254. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.copbio.2009.02.012
- Agrawal N, Shahi SK (2015) An environmental cleanup strategy-microbial transformation of xenobiotic compounds. Int J Curr Microbiol App Sci 4:429–461
- Miransari M (2013) Soil microbes and the availability of soil nutrients. Acta Physiol Plant 35:3075–3084. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-013-1338-2
- Diekmann F, Nepovim A, Schröder P (2004) Influence of Serratia liquifaciens and a xenobiotic glutathione conjugate on the detoxification enzymes in a hairy root culture of horseradish (*Armoracia rusticana*). J Appl Bot 78:64–67
- Chuang YH, Liu CH, Sallach JB, Hammerschmidt R, Zhang W, Boyd SA, Li H (2019) Mechanistic study on uptake and transport of pharmaceuticals in lettuce from water. Environ Int 131:104976. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.104976
- Kvesitadze G, Khatisashvili G, Sadunishvili T, Kvesitadze E (2016) Plants for remediation: uptake, translocation and transformation of organic pollutants. In: Plants, pollutants and remediation. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 241–308. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-7194-8_ 12
- 22. Boxall ABA, Rudd MA, Brooks BW, Caldwell DJ, Choi K, Hickmann S, Innes E, Ostapyk K, Staveley JP, Verslycke T, Ankley GT, Beazley KF, Belanger SE, Berninger JP, Carriquiriborde P, Coors A, DeLeo PC, Dyer SD, Ericson JF, Gagné F, Giesy JP, Gouin T, Hallstrom L, Karlsson MV, Joakim Larsson DG, Lazorchak JM, Mastrocco F, McLaughlin A, McMaster ME, Meyerhoff RD, Moore R, Parrott JL, Snape JR, Murray-Smith R, Servos MR, Sibley PK, Straub JO, Szabo ND, Topp E, Tetreault GR, Trudeau VL, Van Der Kraak G (2012) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: what are the big questions? Environ Health Perspect 120:1221–1229. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1104477
- 23. Kah M, Brown CD (2008) Log D: lipophilicity for ionisable compounds. Chemosphere 72:1401–1408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.04.074
- Xing L, Glen RC (2002) Novel methods for the prediction of logP, Pka, and logD. J Chem Inf Comput Sci 42:796–805. https://doi.org/10.1021/ci010315d
- 25. Briggs GG, Bromilow RH, Evans AA, Williams M (1983) Relationships between lipophilicity and the distribution of non-ionised chemicals in barley shoots following uptake by the roots. Pestic Sci 14:492–500. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.2780140506
- Schröder P, Collins C (2002) Conjugating enzymes involved in xenobiotic metabolism of organic xenobiotics in plants. Int J Phytoremediation 4:247–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15226510208500086
- Wild E, Dent J, Thomas GO, Jones KC (2005) Direct observation of organic contaminant uptake, storage, and metabolism within plant roots. Environ Sci Technol 39:3695–3702. https://doi.org/10.1021/es048136a
- Cousins IT, Mackay D (2001) Strategies for including vegetation compartments in multimedia models. Chemosphere 44:643–654. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(00)00514-2

- 29. Collins CD, Finnegan E (2010) Modeling the plant uptake of organic chemicals, including the soil – air – plant pathway. Environ Sci Technol 44:998–1003. https://doi.org/10.1021/ es901941z
- 30. Schröder P, Collins C (2011) Organic xenobiotics and plants from mode of action to ecophysiology. Springer, Berlin. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-9852-8
- Crang R, Lyons-Sobaski S, Wise R, Crang R, Lyons-Sobaski S, Wise R (2018) Periderm. In: Plant anatomy. Springer, Cham, pp 553–575. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77315-5_16
- 32. Trapp S, Pussemier L (1991) Model calculations and measurements of uptake and translocation of carbamates by bean plants. Chemosphere 22:327–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6535(91)90321-4
- Collins CD, Martin I, Doucette W (2011) Plant uptake of xenobiotics. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-9852-8_1
- 34. Zhang C, Feng Y, Wang LY, Qing CH, Jun LZ, Ming XJ (2017) Uptake and translocation of organic pollutants in plants: a review. J Integr Agric 16:1659–1668. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2095-3119(16)61590-3
- Eggen T, Asp TN, Grave K, Hormazabal V (2011) Uptake and translocation of metformin, ciprofloxacin and narasin in forage- and crop plants. Chemosphere 85:26–33. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.06.041
- 36. González García M, Fernández-López C, Polesel F, Trapp S (2019) Predicting the uptake of emerging organic contaminants in vegetables irrigated with treated wastewater – implications for food safety assessment. Environ Res 172:175–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019. 02.011
- Trapp S (2009) Bioaccumulation of polar and ionizable compounds in plants. Springer, Boston, pp 299–353. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-0197-2_11
- Kumar K, Gupta SC (2016) A framework to predict uptake of trace organic compounds by plants. J Environ Qual 45:555–564. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2015.06.0261
- 39. Su YH, Zhu YG (2007) Transport mechanisms for the uptake of organic compounds by rice (*Oryza sativa*) roots. Environ Pollut 148:94–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2006.11. 004
- Volk C (2014) OCTs, OATs, and OCTNs: structure and function of the polyspecific organic ion transporters of the SLC22 family. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Membr Transp Signal 3:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/wmts.100
- 41. Lalonde S, Wipf D, Frommer WB (2004) Transport mechanism for organic forms of carbon and nitrogen between source and sink. Annu Rev Plant Biol 55:341–372. https://doi.org/10. 1146/annurev.arplant.55.031903.141758
- 42. Gründemann D, Gorboulev V, Gambaryan S, Veyhl M, Koepsell H (1994) Drug excretion mediated by a new prototype of polyspecific transporter. Nature 372:549–552. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/372549a0
- Koepsell H, Endou H (2004) The SLC22 drug transporter family. Pflugers Arch Eur J Physiol 447:666–676. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-003-1089-9
- 44. Takanashi K, Shitan N, Yazaki K (2014) The multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) family in plants. Plant Biotechnol 31:417–430
- 45. Diener AC, Gaxiola RA, Fink GR (2001) Arabidopsis ALF5, a multidrug efflux transporter gene family member, confers resistance to toxins. Plant Cell 13:1625–1638. https://doi.org/10. 1105/tpc.010035
- 46. Li L, He Z, Pandey GK, Tsuchiya T, Luan S (2002) Functional cloning and characterization of a plant efflux carrier for multidrug and heavy metal detoxification. J Biol Chem 277:5360–5368. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M108777200
- 47. Torres GAM, Lelandais-Brière C, Besin E, Jubier MF, Roche O, Mazubert C, Corre-Menguy-F, Hartmann C (2003) Characterization of the expression of *Phaseolus vulgaris* OCT1, a dehydration-regulated gene that encodes a new type of phloem transporter. Plant Mol Biol 51:341–349. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022014229899

- Lelandais-Brière C, Jovanovic M, Torres GAM, Perrin Y, Lemoine R, Corre-Menguy F, Hartmann C (2007) Disruption of AtOCT1, an organic cation transporter gene, affects root development and carnitine-related responses in Arabidopsis. Plant J 51:154–164. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2007.03131.x
- 49. Küfner I, Koch W (2008) Stress regulated members of the plant organic cation transporter family are localized to the vacuolar membrane. BMC Res Notes 1:43. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1756-0500-1-43
- Cui H, Hense BA, Müller J, Schröder P (2015) Short term uptake and transport process for metformin in roots of *Phragmites australis* and *Typha latifolia*. Chemosphere 134:307–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.04.072
- Dodgen LK, Ueda A, Wu X, Parker DR, Gan J (2015) Effect of transpiration on plant accumulation and translocation of PPCP/EDCs. Environ Pollut 198:144–153. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envpol.2015.01.002
- 52. Malchi T, Maor Y, Tadmor G, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2014) Irrigation of root vegetables with treated wastewater: evaluating uptake of pharmaceuticals and the associated human health risks. Environ Sci Technol 48:9325. https://doi.org/10.1021/es5017894
- 53. Shenker M, Harush D, Ben-Ari J, Chefetz B (2011) Uptake of carbamazepine by cucumber plants – a case study related to irrigation with reclaimed wastewater. Chemosphere. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.10.052
- 54. Tanoue R, Sato Y, Motoyama M, Nakagawa S, Shinohara R, Nomiyama K (2012) Plant uptake of pharmaceutical chemicals detected in recycled organic manure and reclaimed wastewater. J Agric Food Chem. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf303142t
- 55. Bromilow RH, Chamberlain K (2000) The herbicide glyphosate and related molecules: physicochemical and structural factors determining their mobility in phloem. Pest Manag Sci 56:368–373. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1526-4998(200004)56:4<368::AID-PS153>3.0.CO;2-V
- 56. Grangeot M, Chauvel B, Gauvrit C (2006) Spray retention, foliar uptake and translocation of glufosinate and glyphosate in *Ambrosia artemisiifolia*. Weed Res 46:152–162. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365-3180.2006.00495.x
- Hsu FC, Kleier DA (1996) Phloem mobility of xenobiotics VIII. A short review. J Exp Bot 47:1265–1271. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/47.special_issue.1265
- McGinnis M, Sun C, Dudley S, Gan J (2019) Effect of low-dose, repeated exposure of contaminants of emerging concern on plant development and hormone homeostasis. Environ Pollut 252:706–714. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.05.159
- Sur R, Stork A (2003) Uptake, translocation and metabolism of imidacloprid in plants. Bull Insectol 56:35–40
- Bromilow RH, Chamberlain K, Evans AA (1990) Physicochemical aspects of phloem translocation of herbicides. Weed Sci 38:305–314. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0043174500056575
- 61. Dettenmaier EM, Doucette WJ, Bugbee B (2009) Chemical hydrophobicity and uptake by plant roots. Environ Sci Technol 43:324–329. https://doi.org/10.1021/es801751x
- 62. Garvin N, Doucette WJ, White JC (2015) Investigating differences in the root to shoot transfer and xylem sap solubility of organic compounds between zucchini, squash and soybean using a pressure chamber method. Chemosphere 130:98–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2014.11.075
- Weigel HJ, Weis E (1984) Determination of the proton concentration difference across the tonoplast membrane of isolated vacuoles by means of (-amino fluorescence. Plant Sci Lett 33:163–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4211(84)90006-3
- 64. Nason SL, Miller EL, Karthikeyan KG, Pedersen JA (2018) Plant-induced changes to rhizosphere pH impact leaf accumulation of lamotrigine but not carbamazepine. Environ Sci Technol Lett 5:377–381. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.8b00246
- 65. Cui H, Schröder P (2016) Uptake, translocation and possible biodegradation of the antidiabetic agent metformin by hydroponically grown *Typha latifolia*. J Hazard Mater 308:355–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.01.054

- 66. Mercado-Borrayo BM, Cram Heydrich S, Rosas Pérez I, Hernández Quiroz M, Ponce De León Hill C (2015) Organophosphorus and organochlorine pesticides bioaccumulation by *Eichhornia crassipes* in irrigation canals in an urban agricultural system. Int J Phytoremediation 17:701–708. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2014.964841
- Briggs GG, Bromilow RH, Evans AA (1982) Relationships between lipophilicity and root uptake and translocation of non-ionised chemicals by barley. Pestic Sci 13:495–504. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ps.2780130506
- Felizeter S, McLachlan MS, De Voogt P (2012) Uptake of perfluorinated alkyl acids by hydroponically grown lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*). Environ Sci Technol 46:11735–11743. https://doi.org/10.1021/es302398u
- Huelster A, Marschner H (1994) The influence of root exudates on the uptake of PCDD/PCDF by plants. Organohalogen Compd 20:31–34
- 70. Campanella B, Paul R (2000) Presence, in the rhizosphere and leaf extracts of zucchini (*Cucurbita pepo* L.) and melon (*Cucumis melo* L.), of molecules capable of increasing the apparent aqueous solubility of hydrophobic pollutants. Int J Phytoremediation 2:145–158. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226510008500036
- Inui H, Sawada M, Goto J, Yamazaki K, Kodama N, Tsuruta H, Eun H (2013) A major latexlike protein is a key factor in crop contamination by persistent organic pollutants. Plant Physiol 161:2128–2135. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.112.213645
- Lin H, Tao S, Zuo Q, Coveney RM (2007) Uptake of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by maize plants. Environ Pollut 148:614–619. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2006.11.026
- Schreiber L, Schönherr J (1992) Analysis of foliar uptake of pesticides in barley leaves: role of epicuticular waxes and compartmentation. Pestic Sci 36:213–221. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps. 2780360307
- 74. Thomas W, Riihlingt A, Simon H (1984) Accumulation of airborne pollutants (PAH, chlorinated hydrocarbons, heavy metals) in various plant species and humus. Environ Pollut 36:295–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/0143-1471(84)90099-0
- 75. Wang CJ, Liu ZQ (2007) Foliar uptake of pesticides present status and future challenge. Pestic Biochem Physiol 87:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PESTBP.2006.04.004
- 76. Topp E, Scheunert I, Attar A, Korte F (1986) Factors affecting the uptake of ¹⁴C-labeled organic chemicals by plants from soil. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 2:219–228. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0147-6513(86)90066-7
- 77. Pi N, Ng JZ, Kelly BC (2017) Bioaccumulation of pharmaceutically active compounds and endocrine disrupting chemicals in aquatic macrophytes: results of hydroponic experiments with *Echinodorus horemanii* and *Eichhornia crassipes*. Sci Total Environ 601–602:812–820. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.05.137
- Kim I, Yamashita N, Tanaka H (2009) Photodegradation of pharmaceuticals and personal care products during UV and UV/H₂O₂ treatments. Chemosphere 77:518–525. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chemosphere.2009.07.041
- 79. Wols BA, Hofman-Caris CHM, Harmsen DJH, Beerendonk EF (2013) Degradation of 40 selected pharmaceuticals by UV/H₂O₂. Water Res 47:5876–5888. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.WATRES.2013.07.008
- Sandermann H (1994) Higher plant metabolism of xenobiotics: the "green liver" concept. Pharmacogenetics 4:225–241. https://doi.org/10.1097/00008571-199410000-00001
- 81. Schröder P (1997) Fate of glutathione S-conjugates in plants: cleavage of the glutathione moiety. In: Regulation of enzymatic systems detoxifying xenobiotics in plants, NATO ASI series. Kluwer Academic Publishers, The Hague, pp 233–244
- Shimabukuro RH, Frear DS, Swanson HR, Walsh WC (1971) Glutathione conjugation. An enzymatic basis for atrazine resistance in corn. Plant Physiol 47:10–14. https://doi.org/10. 1104/pp.47.1.10
- Coleman JOD, Frova C, Schröder P, Tissut M (2002) Exploiting plant metabolism for the phytoremediation of persistent herbicides. Environ Sci Pollut Res 9:18–28

- 84. Bartha B, Huber C, Schröder P (2014) Uptake and metabolism of diclofenac in *Typha latifolia* how plants cope with human pharmaceutical pollution. Plant Sci 227:12–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2014.06.001
- 85. Chen F, Huber C, Schröder P (2017) Fate of the sunscreen compound oxybenzone in *Cyperus alternifolius* based hydroponic culture: uptake, biotransformation and phytotoxicity. Chemosphere 182:638–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.05.072
- Huber C, Bartha B, Schröder P (2012) Metabolism of diclofenac in plants hydroxylation is followed by glucose conjugation. J Hazard Mater 243:250–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhazmat.2012.10.023
- Lamoureux GL, Rusness DG (1995) Quinclorac absorption, translocation, metabolism, and toxicity in leafy spurge (*Euphorbia esula*). Pestic Biochem Physiol 53:210–226. https://doi. org/10.1006/pest.1995.1069
- Schröder P, Matucha M, Forczek ST, Uhlířová H, Fuksová K, Albrechtová J (2003) Uptake, translocation and fate of trichloroacetic acid in a Norway spruce/soil system. Chemosphere 52:437–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(03)00208-X
- Macherius A, Seiwert B, Schröder P, Huber C, Lorenz W, Reemtsma T (2014) Identification of plant metabolites of environmental contaminants by UPLC-QToF-MS: the in vitro metabolism of triclosan in horseradish. J Agric Food Chem 62:1001–1009. https://doi.org/10.1021/ jf404784q
- 90. Coleman M (2007) Spatial and temporal patterns of root distribution in developing stands of four woody crop species grown with drip irrigation and fertilization. Plant and Soil 299:195–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-007-9375-5
- 91. Ishikawa T, Wright CD, Ishizuka H (1994) GS-X pump is functionally overexpressed in cis-diamminedichloroplatinum (II)-resistant human leukemia HL-60 cells and down-regulated by cell differentiation. J Biol Environ Sci 269:29085–29093
- 92. Lamoureux GL, Rusness DG, Schröder P, Rennenberg H (1991) Diphenyl ether herbicide metabolism in a spruce cell suspension culture: the identification of two novel metabolites derived from a glutathione conjugate. Pestic Biochem Physiol 39:291–301. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0048-3575(91)90124-5
- 93. Schröder P, Navarro-Aviñó J, Azaizeh H, Goldhirsh AG, DiGregorio S, Komives T, Langergraber G, Lenz A, Maestri E, Memon AR, Ranalli A, Sebastiani L, Smrcek S, Vanek T, Vuilleumier S, Wissing F (2007) Using phytoremediation technologies to upgrade waste water treatment in Europe. Environ Sci Pollut Res 14:490–497
- 94. Brazier-Hicks M, Evans KM, Cunningham OD, Hodgson DRW, Steel PG, Edwards R (2008) Catabolism of glutathione conjugates in *Arabidopsis thaliana*: role in metabolic reactivation of the herbicide safener fenclorim. J Biol Chem 283:21102–21112. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M801998200
- Wolf AE, Dietz KJ, Schröder P (1996) A carboxypeptidase degrades glutathione conjugates in the vacuoles of higher plants. FEBS Lett 384:31–34
- 96. Martinoia E, Meyer S, De Angeli A, Nagy R (2012) Vacuolar transporters in their physiological context. Annu Rev Plant Biol 63:183–213. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-042811-105608
- 97. Chen F, Schnick S, Schröder P (2018) Concentration effects of the UV filter oxybenzone in *Cyperus alternifolius*: assessment of tolerance by stress-related response. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25:16080–16090. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-1839-z
- 98. Rea PA (2007) Plant ATP-binding cassette transporters. Annu Rev Plant Biol 58:347–375. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.57.032905.105406
- 99. Sandermann H, Schmitt R, Eckey H, Bauknecht T (1991) Plant biochemistry of xenobiotics: isolation and properties of soybean O- and N-glucosyl and O- and N-malonyltransferases for chlorinated phenols and anilines. Arch Biochem Biophys 287:341–350. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0003-9861(91)90488-5
- 100. Taguchi G, Ubukata T, Nozue H, Kobayashi Y, Takahi M, Yamamoto H, Hayashida N (2010) Malonylation is a key reaction in the metabolism of xenobiotic phenolic glucosides in
Arabidopsis and tobacco. Plant J 63:1031–1041. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2010. 04298.x

- 101. Li G, Zhai J, He Q, Zhi Y, Xiao H, Rong J (2014) Phytoremediation of levonorgestrel in aquatic environment by hydrophytes. J Environ Sci (China) 26:1869–1873. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jes.2014.06.030
- 102. Li Y, Sallach JB, Zhang W, Boyd SA, Li H (2019) Insight into the distribution of pharmaceuticals in soil-water-plant systems. Water Res 152:38–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres. 2018.12.039
- 103. Chen J, Deng WJ, Liu YS, Hu LX, He LY, Zhao JL, Wang TT, Ying GG (2019) Fate and removal of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in hybrid constructed wetlands. Environ Pollut 249:894–903. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.03.111
- 104. Datta R, Das P, Smith S, Punamiya P, Ramanathan DM, Reddy R, Sarkar D (2013) Phytoremediation potential of vetiver grass (*Chrysopogon zizanioides* (L.)) for tetracycline. Int J Phytoremediation 15:343–351. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2012.702803
- 105. Tai Y, Fung-Yee Tam N, Ruan W, Yang Y, Yang Y, Tao R, Zhang J (2019) Specific metabolism related to sulfonamide tolerance and uptake in wetland plants. Chemosphere 227:496–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.04.069
- 106. Adeel M, Yang YS, Wang YY, Song XM, Ahmad MA, Rogers HJ (2018) Uptake and transformation of steroid estrogens as emerging contaminants influence plant development. Environ Pollut 243:1487–1497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.09.016
- 107. Kummerová M, Zezulka Š, Babula P, Tříska J (2016) Possible ecological risk of two pharmaceuticals diclofenac and paracetamol demonstrated on a model plant *Lemna minor*. J Hazard Mater 302:351–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2015.09.057
- 108. Phong VHN, Koottatep T, Chapagain SK, Panuvatvanich A, Polprasert C, Ahn K-H (2016) Removal of acetaminophen from wastewater by constructed wetlands with *Scirpus validus*. Environ Eng Res 21:164–170. https://doi.org/10.4491/eer.2015.132
- 109. Sun C, Dudley S, Trumble J, Gan J (2018) Pharmaceutical and personal care products-induced stress symptoms and detoxification mechanisms in cucumber plants. Environ Pollut 234:39–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.11.041
- 110. Wu X, Ernst F, Conkle JL, Gan J (2013) Comparative uptake and translocation of pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) by common vegetables. Environ Int 60:15–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.07.015
- 111. Zezulka Š, Kummerová M, Babula P, Hájková M, Oravec M (2019) Sensitivity of physiological and biochemical endpoints in early ontogenetic stages of crops under diclofenac and paracetamol treatments. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26:3965–3979. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11356-018-3930-x
- 112. Christou A, Antoniou C, Christodoulou C, Hapeshi E, Stavrou I, Michael C, Fatta-Kassinos D, Fotopoulos V (2016) Stress-related phenomena and detoxification mechanisms induced by common pharmaceuticals in alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) plants. Sci Total Environ 557–558:652–664. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.054
- 113. Zhang H, Li X, Yang Q, Sun L, Yang X, Zhou M, Deng R, Bi L (2017) Plant growth, antibiotic uptake, and prevalence of antibiotic resistance in an endophytic system of Pakchoi under antibiotic exposure. Int J Environ Res Public Health 14:1336. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph14111336
- 114. Zheng W, Wiles K, Dodge L (2016) Uptake and accumulation of pharmaceuticals and hormones in vegetables after irrigation with reuse water. Illinois Sustainable Technology Center, Champaign
- 115. González García M, Fernández-López C, Pedrero-Salcedo F, Alarcón JJ (2018) Absorption of carbamazepine and diclofenac in hydroponically cultivated lettuces and human health risk assessment. Agric Water Manag 206:42–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2018.04.018
- 116. Hurtado C, Domínguez C, Pérez-Babace L, Cañameras N, Comas J, Bayona JM (2016) Estimate of uptake and translocation of emerging organic contaminants from irrigation water

concentration in lettuce grown under controlled conditions. J Hazard Mater 305:139–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2015.11.039

- 117. Nason SL, Miller EL, Karthikeyan KG, Pedersen JA (2019) Effects of binary mixtures and transpiration on accumulation of pharmaceuticals by spinach. Environ Sci Technol 53:4850–4859. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b05515
- 118. Sun C, Dudley S, McGinnis M, Trumble J, Gan J (2019) Acetaminophen detoxification in cucumber plants via induction of glutathione S-transferases. Sci Total Environ 649:431–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.08.346
- 119. Zhang DQ, Gersberg RM, Hua T, Zhu J, Goyal MK, Ng WJ, Tan SK (2013) Fate of pharmaceutical compounds in hydroponic mesocosms planted with *Scirpus validus*. Environ Pollut 181:98–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.06.016
- 120. Chuang YH, Liu CH, Hammerschmidt R, Zhang W, Boyd SA, Li H (2018) Metabolic demethylation and oxidation of caffeine during uptake by lettuce. J Agric Food Chem 66:7907–7915. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.8b02235
- 121. Fu Q, Wu X, Ye Q, Ernst F, Gan J (2016) Biosolids inhibit bioavailability and plant uptake of triclosan and triclocarban. Water Res 102:117–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.06. 026
- 122. Al-Rimawi F, Hijaz F, Nehela Y, Batuman O, Killiny N (2019) Uptake, translocation, and stability of oxytetracycline and streptomycin in citrus plants. Antibiotics 8:196. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/antibiotics8040196
- 123. Klement A, Kodešová R, Golovko O, Fér M, Nikodem A, Kočárek M, Grabic R (2020) Uptake, translocation and transformation of three pharmaceuticals in green pea plants. J Hydrol Hydromech 68(1):1–11. https://doi.org/10.2478/johh-2020-0001
- 124. Beltrán EM, Pablos MV, Fernández Torija C, Porcel MÁ, González-Doncel M (2020) Uptake of atenolol, carbamazepine and triclosan by crops irrigated with reclaimed water in a Mediterranean scenario. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 191:110171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv. 2020.110171
- 125. Carter LJ, Harris E, Williams M, Ryan JJ, Kookana RS, Boxall ABA (2014) Fate and uptake of pharmaceuticals in soil-plant systems. J Agric Food Chem 62:816–825. https://doi.org/10. 1021/jf404282y
- 126. He Y, Sutton NB, Lei Y, Rijnaarts HHM, Langenhoff AAM (2018) Fate and distribution of pharmaceutically active compounds in mesocosm constructed wetlands. J Hazard Mater 357:198–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2018.05.035
- 127. Hurtado C, Cañameras N, Domínguez C, Price GW, Comas J, Bayona JM (2017) Effect of soil biochar concentration on the mitigation of emerging organic contaminant uptake in lettuce. J Hazard Mater 323:386–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.046
- 128. Knight ER, Carter LJ, McLaughlin MJ (2018) Bioaccumulation, uptake, and toxicity of carbamazepine in soil-plant systems. Environ Toxicol Chem 37:1122–1130. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/etc.4053
- 129. Cantarero R, Richter P, Brown S, Ascar L, Ahumada I (2017) Effects of applying biosolids to soils on the adsorption and bioavailability of 17α-ethinylestradiol and triclosan in wheat plants. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24:12847–12859. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-8836-5
- Carter LJ, Williams M, Martin S, Kamaludeen SPB, Kookana RS (2018) Sorption, plant uptake and metabolism of benzodiazepines. Sci Total Environ 628–629:18–25. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.01.337
- 131. Santiago S, Roll DM, Ray C, Williams C, Moravcik P, Knopf A (2016) Effects of soil moisture depletion on vegetable crop uptake of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs). Environ Sci Pollut Res 23:20257–20268. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7194-z
- 132. Azanu D, Mortey C, Darko G, Weisser JJ, Styrishave B, Abaidoo RC (2016) Uptake of antibiotics from irrigation water by plants. Chemosphere 157:107–114. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chemosphere.2016.05.035
- 133. Di Baccio D, Pietrini F, Bertolotto P, Pérez S, Barcelò D, Zacchini M, Donati E (2017) Response of *Lemna gibba* L. to high and environmentally relevant concentrations of

ibuprofen: removal, metabolism and morpho-physiological traits for biomonitoring of emerging contaminants. Sci Total Environ 584–585:363–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2016.12.191

- 134. He Y, Langenhoff AAM, Sutton NB, Rijnaarts HHM, Blokland MH, Chen F, Huber C, Schröder P (2017) Metabolism of ibuprofen by *Phragmites australis*: uptake and Phytodegradation. Environ Sci Technol 51:4576–4584. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est. 7b00458
- 135. Zhang Y, Lv T, Carvalho PN, Arias CA, Chen Z, Brix H (2016) Removal of the pharmaceuticals ibuprofen and iohexol by four wetland plant species in hydroponic culture: plant uptake and microbial degradation. Environ Sci Pollut Res 23:2890–2898. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11356-015-5552-x
- 136. Michelini L, Meggio F, Reichel R, Thiele-Bruhn S, Pitacco A, Scattolin L, Montecchio L, Alberghini S, Squartini A, Ghisi R (2015) Sulfadiazine uptake and effects in common hazel (*Corylus avellana* L.). Environ Sci Pollut Res 22:13362–13371. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11356-015-4560-1
- 137. Tian R, Zhang R, Uddin M, Qiao X, Chen J, Gu G (2019) Uptake and metabolism of clarithromycin and sulfadiazine in lettuce. Environ Pollut 247:1134–1142. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.envpol.2019.02.009
- 138. Bigott Y, Chowdhury S, Pérez S, Montemurro N, Manasfi R, Schröder P. Elucidating stress responses in lettuce exposed to the pharmaceuticals diclofenac and lamotrigine using a multidisciplinary approach. Submitted
- 139. Reichl B, Himmelsbach M, Emhofer L, Klampfl CW, Buchberger W (2018) Uptake and metabolism of the antidepressants sertraline, clomipramine, and trazodone in a garden cress (*Lepidium sativum*) model. Electrophoresis 39:1301–1308. https://doi.org/10.1002/elps. 201700482
- 140. Hsu FC, Marxmiller RL, Yang AYS (1990) Study of root uptake and xylem translocation of cinmethylin and related compounds in detopped soybean roots using a pressure chamber technique. Plant Physiol 93:1573–1578. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.93.4.1573
- 141. Burken JG, Schnoor JL (1998) Predictive relationships for uptake of organic contaminants by hybrid poplar trees. Environ Sci Technol 32:3379–3385. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9706817
- 142. Wang J, Yang Y, Zhu H, Braam J, Schnoor JL, Alvarez PJJ (2014) Uptake, translocation, and transformation of quantum dots with cationic versus anionic coatings by *Populus deltoides* × nigra cuttings. Environ Sci Technol 48:6754–6762. https://doi.org/10.1021/es501425r

Part II Fate, Uptake and Metabolism of Drugs in Crops

Soil Sorption and Degradation Studies of Pharmaceutical Compounds Present in Recycled Wastewaters Based on Enantiomeric Fractionation



Monica Brienza, Belinda Huerta, Rayana Manasfi, and Serge Chiron

Contents

1	Intro	duction	144
2	Phar	maceuticals in Soil: Occurrence, Sources, and Fate	145
	2.1	Factors Affecting Pharmaceutical Concentrations in Wastewater Effluent	
		and Irrigation Water	146
	2.2	Occurrence in Soil	147
3	Enan	tiomeric Fractionation as a Tool to Investigate the Fate of PhACs in Soil	160
4	Conc	lusion	169
Re	ferenc	es	170

Abstract Wastewater (WW) reuse and biosolid application for vegetable crop culture is a practice applied worldwide. This strategy helps mitigate the pressure on water resources and improve the fertility of soil. Wastewater reuse is currently not included in chemical risk assessment, but its application has risk of potential accumulation of contaminants of emerging concern such as pharmaceutical active compounds (PhACs). In fact, this practice has caused the uptake of PhACs by plant and their subsequent entrance on the food chain. Residual quantities of contaminants may enter in soil, and they can be accumulated or percolated, consequently leading to contamination of groundwater. Herein, we report the main factors that play an important role on the accumulation of PhACs in soil after irrigation with treated wastewater. Limited data is actually available on the fate of PhACs in field studies because several processes are in competition for their dissipation including sorption

M. Brienza (🖂)

Department of Science, University of Basilicata, Potenza, Italy e-mail: monica.brienza@unibas.it

B. Huerta, R. Manasfi, and S. Chiron UMR HydroSciences Montpellier, Montpellier University, IRD, Montpellier, Cedex 5, France

Sandra Pérez Solsona, Nicola Montemurro, Serge Chiron, and Damià Barceló (eds.), Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems: The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater, Hdb Env Chem (2021) 103: 143–174, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_638, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 26 October 2020 143

and formation of non-extractable residues, leaching, as well as biotransformation. Consequently, an approach based on enantiomeric fractionation of chiral PhACs has been suggested to discriminate between biotic and abiotic dissipation processes.

Keywords Abiotic dissipation, Ameliorating, Biosolid, Biotransformation, Osmotic effects

1 Introduction

Water is fundamental for food production, and the increasing scarcity of this essential natural resource has significant repercussions for the ability of humanity to feed itself. The exponential world population growth and associated food consumption are exerting immense pressure on freshwater resources, resulting in groundwater withdrawal rate to increase 1% per year since the 1980s. Water for agriculture is at the core of any discussion of water and food security. Agriculture accounts for approximately 70% of all water withdrawals globally. Competition for water resources is expected to increase in the future due to food demand growth by at least 50% by 2050. A greater application of nonconventional, alternative sources of water, such as wastewater effluents, could mitigate this situation.

Wastewater is defined as a combination of one or more of black water (excreta, urine, fecal sludge), gray water (kitchen and bathing wastewater), commercial and industrial effluents (including hospitals), storm water and other urban runoff, as well as agricultural, horticultural, and aquaculture effluents. In fact, according to the UN (2003), about 200 million ha in more than 50 countries are irrigated with untreated and/or treated wastewater. In Israel, treated wastewater (TWW) has been used for crop irrigation since the early 1980s [1]. Countries such as Syria, Iraq, and Mexico use more than 40% of their municipal wastewater for this purpose [2]. Likewise, agricultural irrigation with TWW is a common practice in many other areas, including Greece, Italy, Spain, France, and China [3–5].

Wastewater treatment produces also large amounts of biosolids, which are considered a good source of organic matter and beneficial plant nutrients, especially N and P, therefore becoming good soil-ameliorating agents [6]. Approximately 4 billion tons of solid waste (municipal, industrial, and hazardous waste) is produced globally on an annual basis. For example, the generation of municipal solid waste (MSW) ranges from 1.6 to 2 billion tons [7]. The reuse of wastewater and biosolids in agriculture brings many social and economic benefits and contributes to agricultural and environmental sustainability.

However, there are some negative effects related to the application of treated wastewater on soil and crops, including (1) osmotic effects on the water potential of the soil and plants [8]; (2) toxic effects due to high concentration of ions, e.g., sodium, chloride, and boron [9, 10]; and (3) alteration on the physical properties of

soil such as increase of sodium adsorption ratio, hydraulic conductivity and aggregate stability due to high sodium adsorption ratio [SAR] and exchangeable sodium percentage [ESP], and consequences in the rooting zone [11–16]. In addition, wastewater irrigation results in continuous discharges of heavy metals, pathogens, resistant organic pollutants, and other "contaminants of emerging concern" into the agro-food system. The focus of human/environmental concern has now included pharmaceutical active compounds (PhACs) that enter the environment predominantly through domestic routes and ultimately end up in biosolids from wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs). Humans and animals are the main producers of pharmaceutical residues in the environment, although PhACs are also used to control the bacterial infections of plants through injection or soil drenching. Soil amendments, fertilizers made of contaminated animal manure, and biosolids also introduce pharmaceuticals into water cycle through drifting, surface runoff, irrigation, and leaching of residues deep into the soil layers [17, 18].

PhACs have hardly been studied in soil environmental matrices under real agricultural conditions, and the very limited data on their occurrence is associated with research on pharmaceutical removal following effluent irrigation onto land [19]. The chemical risk assessment frameworks only require testing in simulation soil studies, usually applying radioactively labelled compounds and often studying each individual compound separately. The results of these studies are actually poorly transferable to specific situations such soils irrigated with TWW with a high content of organic matter and a large diversity of PhACs, making the prediction of their fate still very difficult.

The aim of this chapter is to report the main factors that play an important role on the accumulation of PhACs in soil after irrigation with TWW, and special focus will be on a new tool based on enantiomeric fractionation of chiral PhACs to investigate their fate in field studies where the use of radioactively labelled compounds is not allowed.

2 Pharmaceuticals in Soil: Occurrence, Sources, and Fate

PhACs are considered as emerging contaminants as many of them are ubiquitous, persistent, and biologically active substances. The main route for them to enter the soil is through treated or untreated wastewater irrigation and biosolid amendments. The fate of PhACs in soil has been scarcely investigated due to complexity of the soil-water-plant system. The potential occurrence, sources, and fate of PhACs in agricultural soils irrigated with wastewater or amended with biosolids are serious causes for concern due to their potential uptake by crops and their potential introduction into the food chain [20].

2.1 Factors Affecting Pharmaceutical Concentrations in Wastewater Effluent and Irrigation Water

Kasprzyk-Hordern et al. [21] explained that the probability of soil and groundwater contaminations by PhACs as a result of the discharge of wastewater treatment effluents depends on factors such as the physicochemical properties of these pollutants, the type of wastewater treatment used, and climatic conditions (e.g., temperature, rainfall, and irradiation).

Irrigation wastewater quality must be compliant with FAO guidelines [22]. The characteristics of the wastewater used for irrigation can help in elucidating the potential transfer of these contaminants from water to soil. We can find an example in the following parameters: the concentrations of Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD₅) and Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD). COD is the amount of oxygen required to chemically oxidize organic matter in wastewater into inorganic matter, whereas BOD is the amount of oxygen required to biologically oxidize the organics, usually after 5 days or 21 days of incubation time, depending on the bioassay followed. The ratio of BOD/COD of wastewater is a good indicator of the concentrations of the total organic load (or oxygen demand) that is bioavailable for degradation. This organic load affects the bioavailability of weakly acid pharmaceuticals. Polar interactions between acidic pharmaceuticals and dissolved organic matter (DOM) create water-soluble complexes that are not available for uptake or sorption to the solid phases, which also reduces their concentrations in soil. Another important parameter is the water pH, because it determines the dissociation of ionic organic compounds. For instance, in slightly alkaline water, contaminants such as diclofenac and sulfamethoxazole are present mainly as ions, whereas trimethoprim is in its neutral form.

Wastewater treatment plants were not designed to remove PhACs. In fact, removal efficiencies drop to <10% for compounds such as carbamazepine, atenolol, mefenamic acid, and atenolol. The PhAC concentrations discharged into the environment vary according to time, space, season, and socioeconomic aspects, as they depend on usage patterns, location, input of manufacturing facilities, and the presence of hospitals. For example, antihypertensive, antibiotic, and nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug use increases during winter while sunscreens and antihistamines during summer. The concentrations found in effluents used for irrigation are in the range up to $\mu g L^{-1}$ [23, 24], and it depends on the season due to the dilution effect brought by the higher flow in January respect in spring/summer season. Biel-Maeso et al. [25] established the connection between presence, quantity, and seasonal distribution of several PhACs in wastewater and sewage-impacted receiving soils. Compounds in urban wastewater were detected at concentration from 73 to 372 μ g L⁻¹ in the influent and from 3 to 41 μ g L⁻¹ in the effluent. Removal efficiencies were <50% and only traces (ng g⁻¹) of PhACs such as diclofenac, acetaminophen, and caffeine were detected in soil irrigated with TWW.

2.2 Occurrence in Soil

Data on the concentration of PhACs in agricultural soil is sparse. Table 1 shows the more prevalent contaminants detected in agricultural soils irrigated with TWW. On this topic, a recent study on the occurrence of pharmaceuticals in soils irrigated with reclaimed wastewater conducted by Biel-Maeso et al. [25] showed the prevalence of analgesic and anti-inflammatories, followed by antibiotics and psychiatric drugs on surface soils (0-20 cm). All the PhAC concentrations summed up in soils were between 2 and 15 ng g^{-1} d.w. The highest concentrations were detected for the compounds diclofenac and caffeine, followed by hydrochlorothiazide, mefenamic acid, flumequine, and carbamazepine. Biel-Maeso group [41] demonstrated the occurrence of a wide number of PhACs in vertical soil profiles up to 175 cm, demonstrating also potential leaching. Gielen et al. [42] reported the impact of soil type on the removal or leaching of PhACs such as carbamazepine, caffeine, ibuprofen, naproxen, and salicylic acid. Only carbamazepine and caffeine were discovered in the soil-water leachates. Carbamazepine behaved very conservatively in the sand soil, and it was largely removed in the investigated volcanic soil. Lamotrigine has similar pharmacological activity, while carbamazepine, however, has distinct chemical structure and properties that can affect its environmental behavior. In fact, Paz and co-workers [43] reported a high sorption affinity of lamotrigine to soil with respect to carbamazepine. The triazine ring and amino group give the ability of the molecules to form hydrogen bonds with functional groups on polar soil organic matter. Borgman and Chefetz [44] demonstrated the importance of organic matter content for lamotrigine sorption to soil, increasing it when biosoilds were added to sandy soil. The accumulation of carbamazepine, sulfamethoxazole, and ciprofloxacin after long-term irrigation of soils with untreated wastewater was also reported by Dalkmann and co-workers [28]. The accumulation of sulfamethoxazole and ciprofloxacin in soil was not accompanied by an increase of relative abundance of respective resistance genes. Also, Kinney et al. [19] found that carbamazepine, acetaminophen, fluoxetine, caffeine, and erythromycin accumulated in the upper 30-cm soil layer. In arid zones, wastewater irrigation is extensively applied, which can lead to accumulation of PhACs in soil and leaching to groundwater. However, not all compounds present in wastewater effluent accumulated in soil. For example, Durán-Alvarez et al. [31] reported the concentrations of acidic pharmaceuticals in soil irrigated by untreated wastewater for 90 years were less than 1 ng g^{-1} . In a study developed in Mexico by Gibson et al. [33], carbamazepine and triclosan had accumulated by a factor of 603-942% and 519-858%, respectively. In contrast, diclofenac, naproxen, and bezafibrate were not retained and therefore did not accumulate in soil. The persistence of PhACs can potentially enrich the reservoir of antimicrobial resistance genes in soils [45].

Besides the accumulation of PhACs, the possible formation of stable transformation products (TPs) in soil was reported in few studies (see Table 1). For instance, Koda et al. [35] reported the persistence of carbamazepine and its metabolites (10,11-epoxide; 10,11-dihydrocarbamazepine; and trans-10,11-dihydro-10,11-

Table 1 Concentrations	of prevalent PhACs and their tr	ansformation products (TPs) detecte	ed in agricultural soils irrigated	with TWW
Compounds	Structure	TPs ^a	Conc. (ng g^{-1})	Ref.
Analgesic				
Acetaminophen	HO NH OH SCH3	Hydroxy-acetaminophen Hydroquinone 1,4-benzoquinone N-acetyl-p-benzoquinone imine p-acetanisidide 4-methoxyphenol 2-hexenoic acid 1,4-dimethoxybenzene	5.95 ^b 33.2 ^c	Biel-Maeso et al. [25] Kinney et al. [19] Li et al. [26] ^a
Diclofenac	U D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D D	2,6-dichloroaniline carboxylated 2-hydroxy- phenylacetic acid 1-O-acylglucuronide Hydroxy-diclofenac di-hydroxy diclofenac	5.06 ^b 0.3-0.1; 0.2-0.2; 0.1-0.1 ^d 0.1-0.54 ^e 0.06-0.15 ^f	Biel-Maeso et al. [25] Corada-Fernández et al. [27] Dalkmann et al. [28] Christou et al. [29] Facey et al. [30] ^a
Ibuprofen	H ₅ C-CH ₅ CH ₅ OH	4-IsobutyI-acetophenone	$0.25\pm 0.04^{ m g}$	Durán-Alvarez et al. [31] Vulava et al. [32] ^a
Mefenamic acid	H ₃ C CH ₃ O OH		0.08–1.97 ^h	Biel-Maeso et al. [25]

148

Biel-Maeso et al. [25]	Durán-Alvarez et al. [31] Dalkmann et al. [28] Gibson et al. [33] Vulava et al. [32] ^a		Biel-Maeso et al. [25] Dalkmann et al. [28]	Biel-Maeso et al. [25]	Corada-Fernández et al. [27] Grossberger et al. [34] Koda et al. [35] ^a	(continued)
0.36 ^b	$\begin{array}{c} 0.55 \pm 0.01^{\text{g}} \\ 0.73 \pm 0.20^{\text{g}} \\ 0.51 - 3.06^{\text{e}} \\ 0.27 - 0.61^{\text{i}} \end{array}$		0.38 ^b <lod-1.07<sup>c</lod-1.07<sup>	0.02-0.06 th	0.5-0.1, 0.6-0.6, 0.1-1.5-0.6 ^d 0.91, 1.33, 3.27 ^j	
	2-acetyl-6-methoxy-naphtha- lene				Metoprolol acid	
H ₃ C N CH ₃	H ₉ C	pertensive	Ho Contraction of the contractio	CH ₃ CH ₃ OH	H ₂ C-0 M+C-0 M+C-1 M+C-1 M+C-1 M+C-1 M+C-1 M+C-0	
Phenazone	Naproxen	Lipid regulator – antihy	Bezafibrate	Gemfibrozil	Metoprolol	

Soil Sorption and Degradation Studies of Pharmaceutical Compounds Present in...

Table 1 (continued)				
Compounds	Structure	TPs ^a	Conc. ($\operatorname{ng} \operatorname{g}^{-1}$)	Ref.
Psychiatric drugs				
Carbamazepine	C HHN	10,11-dihydro-10-hydroxy CBZ CBZ-10,11-epoxide acridone-N-carbaldehyde 4-aldehyde-9-acridone acridine	$\begin{array}{c} 0.08 - 1.36^{\mathrm{h}} \\ 17.6^{\mathrm{c}} \\ 0.1 - 0.1, \ 0.1^{\mathrm{d}} \\ 6.48 \pm 0.59^{\mathrm{g}}, \ 5.14 \pm 0.48^{\mathrm{g}} \\ 1.49 - 8.38^{\mathrm{g}} \\ 2.6 - 7.57^{\mathrm{i}} \\ 5.67, \ 2.33, \ 3.88^{\mathrm{i}} \end{array}$	Biel-Maeso et al. [25] Kinney et al. [19] Corada-Fernández et al. [27] Durán-Alvarez et al. [31] Dalkmann et al. [28] Gibson et al. [33] Grossberger et al. [34]
Caffeine	H ₃ C CH ₃ C CH ₃ C		0.51–3.21 ^h 6.81 ^c 12.62, 6.51, 12.28 ^j	Biel-Maeso et al. [25] Kinney et al. [19] Grossberger et al. [34]
Fluoxetine			8.8°	Kinney et al. [19]
Antibiotics				
Flumequine	HO N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N		<i>5.31</i> ^b	Biel-Maeso et al. [25]

150

0.03 ^b Biel-Maeso et al. [25]	0.251 Biel-Maeso et al. [25] 9.133 8.133 $0.98-5.966$ Dalkmann et al. [28] $0.28, 0.25, 0.128$ Grossberger et al. [34] $0.38 to 0.989$ Christou et al. [29] $0.38 to 0.989$ Martínez-Hernández et al. [37] ^a	0.47 ^h Biel-Maeso et al. [25]	0.04^{b} Biel-Maeso et al. [25] 1.22^{c} Kinney et al. [19] $0.13-2.44^{c}$ Dalkmann et al. [28] $0.15 to 0.62^{f}$ Christou et al. [29] Koba et al. [38] ^a
	cetyl-sulfamethoxazole		oxy- trimethoprim
H, C, CH, CH, CH, CH, CH, CH, CH, CH, CH	N4-ac	D HO HO HO	Hydr
Lincomycin	Sulfamethoxazole	Ornidazole	Trimethoprim

	Ref.	Dalkmann et al. [28] Girardi et al. [39] ^a	Corada-Fernández et al. [27] Dalkmann et al. [28]	Kinney et al. [19] Dalkmann et al. [28]		Grossberger et al. [34]
	Conc. (ng g^{-1})	0.35–2.62°	0.5-0.5, 1.3-0.5, 0.3-0.6-0.7 ^d <3-5.43 ^e	202° <lod-1.21< td=""><td></td><td>4.43, 2.35, 2.2ⁱ</td></lod-1.21<>		4.43, 2.35, 2.2 ⁱ
	TPs ^a					
	Structure	H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H	His of the second secon	Ho de la construction de la cons		H ₂ N NH2 N N NH2
Table 1 (continued)	Compounds	Ciprofloxacin	Clarithromycin	Erythromycin	Antiepileptic	Lamotrigine

152

rectile dysfunction				
denafil		2.54, 2	2.16, 5.98	Grossberger et al. [34]
tifungal				
iconazole		1.41°		Kinney et al. [19]
her PhACs				
drochloro-thiazide	Hydro Contraction of the second secon	0.38)	.20 ^h	Biel-Maeso et al. [25]
yburide	and the second s	0.02b		Biel-Maeso et al. [25]
				(continued)

	ney et al. [25]	ney et al. [19]	ney et al. [19]	ney et al. [19]
Ref.	Kini	Kini	Kini	Kini
Conc. (ng g^{-1})	3.4°	1.56°	1.39°	23.9°
TPs ^a				
Structure	Z HO HO S	e - c - c - c - c - c - c - c - c - c -	H ₅ C O CH ₅	e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e
Compounds	Cotinine	Diphen-hydramine	Dehydro-nifedipine	Warfarin

Table 1 (continued)

Diltiazem	HSC OF HS		0.13°	Kinney et al. [19]
Triclosan		Methyl triclosan	4.4 ± 0.1 ^g 18.6 ± 1.2 ⁱ	Durán-Alvarez et al. [31] Gibson et al. [33] Butler et al. [40]
^a Citation refers to transfor ^b Max concentration detect ^c Average pharmaceutical ¹ ^d Concentrations of PhACs ^e Total extracted pharmace ^f Range concentration in sc ^g Concentrations in Phaeoz ^b Min-max concentration in ⁱ Total extracted pharmacet ^j Average concentration in	mation product led masses in soils normalized to so masses in soils normalized to so in three soil cores [27] utical concentration from soil [3 id during the 3-year irrigation e sem and Leptosol soils [31] n superficial soil samples [25] utical concentration from soil [34]	oil organic carbon content [19] 28] sxperiment [29] 33]		

dihydroxycarbamazepine) on 13 different soils. This phenomenon with low carbamazepine sorption may cause adverse effects on the environment due the possibility to leaching to groundwater. Similar behavior was observed by Butler and co-workers [40] on the fate of triclosan and its major metabolite methyl-triclosan that is more lipophilic and potentially more persistent than the parent compound [46]. After 1 year, both triclosan and methyl-triclosan remained in the top 10 cm layer in all three investigated agricultural soils.

Sorption of PhACs and personal care products to soil is influenced by the soil pore water chemistry and the type of mineral and organic sorbents [47]. The retention of some analytes may reflect the interactions of PhAC physicochemical properties and soil characteristics with the different locations, and it is not only consequences of their high abundance in wastewater.

To understand the fate of PhACs in soil, it is necessary to investigate all processes that can be involved such as biodegradation, sorption, and the formation of NER, as well as to understand what parameters can influence these processes (e.g., pH, soil texture, particulate and dissolved organic matter, ion exchange capacity, hydrophobicity of PhACs, and their charge).

2.2.1 Biodegradation

Biotransformation of PhACs is the most important and effective way for their removal in soil. Microorganisms have the ability to interact with chemicals, both chemically and physically, leading to structural changes or to complete degradation of the target molecules. For example, after 45-d incubation time, the fraction of degraded clofibric acid and diclofenac in non-sterile and sterilized agricultural soils was 88–100% (non-sterile) and 33–43% (sterilized), respectively, indicating a significant role of microorganisms in degrading these pharmaceuticals. The degradation rate decreased at increasing initial chemical concentrations in soil, implying that the microbial activity was inhibited with high chemical loading levels [48]. In soil, microorganisms metabolize PhACs aerobically and/or anaerobically. For instance, Thelusmond et al. [49] reported the biodegradation of diclofenac, carbamazepine, and triclocarban in four agricultural soils. Rapid degradation of diclofenac was observed under aerobic conditions with respect to carbamazepine and triclocarban. Specific phylotypes were found to be associated with the biodegradation processes. Pan and Chu [50] observed anaerobic and aerobic adsorption and degradation of five antibiotics. All antibiotics presented higher degradation under aerobic conditions with half-lives ranging between 2.9 and 43.3 days in non-sterilized soil and 40.8 to 86.6 days in sterilized soil. This study highlighted that biodegradation depends on antibiotic physicochemical proprieties, soil texture, and microbial activity as well as oxygen content. This was also confirmed by Biel-Maeso [41], who demonstrated that nine PhACs (nadolol, sulfamethizole, sulfamethoxazole, sulfamethoxypyridazine, carbamazepine, ibuprofen, diclofenac, hydrochlorothiazide, and gemfibrozil) and four artificial sweeteners (acesulfame, saccharin, cyclamate and sucralose) in soil had a high degradation rate under aerobic conditions, but they were relatively persistent under anaerobic conditions. For instance, over 90% of nadolol was degraded in aerobic soils after 4 days of incubation, while only 18–24% was lost in the absence of oxygen after 1 month, resulting in half-life values between 95 and 103 days. Biosolid amendments also tend to contribute to PhACs accumulation in soil. Biodegradation of PhACs is correlated with soil properties, and it is well known that the application of biosolids have effects on the soil properties [48]. It was reported that biosolid amendments could inhibit PhAC degradation due to an increase of the organic matter content in soil, leading to increase sorption of PhACs to soil and prolonging their persistence [36].

2.2.2 Sorption

Sorption has often been the most studied process because it determines the mobility of PhACs in the porous media. Doretto et al. [51] studied the behavior of sulfonamides (sulfadimethoxine, sulfaquinoxaline, and sulfamethazine) in the 0-20-cm upper layer of four different soils in Brazil. The PhAC adsorption/desorption data fitted the Freundlich isotherms well in the logarithmic form. The adsorption coefficients obtained suggesting that all target PhACs were weakly adsorbed on the soils. The Freundlich desorption coefficients suggest that the sulfonamides tend to leached from soil whit high sand and low organic carbon contents. These results suggest that there is potential groundwater contamination by sulfonamides. Biel-Maeso et al. [41] have also reported the sorption of PhACs and artificial sweeteners in two soils under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Equilibrium sorption data fitted well to a Freundlich isotherm model [41, 48]. The higher K_f was determined for cyclamate (162 L kg^{-1}) and acesulfame (156 L kg^{-1}) , while the lowest sorption coefficients were measured for ibuprofen $(1-7 \text{ L kg}^{-1})$. Pan and Chu [50] evaluated the adsorption of five antibiotics in sterilized and non-sterilized agricultural soils under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. The five antibiotics exhibited adsorption affinities on soil in the descending order: tetracycline > norfloxacin > erythromycin > chloramphenicol > sulfamethazine. Sulfamethazine was the most mobile antibiotic in soil among the five compounds, while tetracycline was the least mobile. Mobility depends on the presence of soil organic matter (SOM) and chemical and environmental properties [47, 52]. There is limited information on how the physicochemical properties of different soils can influence the sorption of PhACs, and prediction is elusive due to the complexity of interactions specifically between polar ionic contaminants and mineral surfaces in the presence of DOM.

2.2.3 Non-extractable Residues (NER)

Contaminants entering the environment undergo various processes already described, such as sorption and biodegradation, but in addition, a proportion will be immobilized in soil by NER. Conforming to the IUPAC definition [53], NER in plants and soil are defined as chemical substances that remain in soil or sediment

matrix when extracted by methods that do not significantly change the chemical nature or the structure of the matrix. NER are the sum of three types of residues: (1) those strongly entrapped in the soil, (2) those covalently bound to soil and considered as irreversibly bound, and (3) those derived from biotic degradation [54, 55]. Type I NER are relevant for the environment because they are presumed to be reversible once degradation of the humic matter fraction occurs that could lead to contaminant release [56]. NER have to be quantified by isotope-labelled (either with radioactive or stable isotopes) chemicals at the most stable part of the molecule, and consequently their analysis is often not possible at environmental concentrations of contaminants. Nowadays, there are no standardized procedures for their determination due to the lack of a common regulation in EU [55]. The most studied NER contaminants in the last 50 years have been soil-bound residues of pesticides [56, 57]. In contrast, information on pharmaceutical NER is very scarce because obtaining experimental data requires significant investments in terms of time and money. In these conditions, knowledge on pesticide NER will be likely very useful to predict the formation of pharmaceutical NER. For instance, Li et al. [58] reported recently the phytotransformation and metabolic pathways of ¹⁴C-carbamazepine in carrot and celery. This study highlighted that ¹⁴C detected in bound residues was lower than in extractable residues (>85% of the uptake 14 C radioactivity) in plant tissues and a total of nine radioactive transformation products of carbamazepine were identified.

2.2.4 Soil pH

Many contaminants are ionizable under environmental conditions. Ionic compounds are more soluble in water than their neutral counterpart and typically nonvolatile. Strongly pH-dependent distributions were found for many chemicals, including basic aromatic amines [59], basic N-heterocyclic compounds [60], basic and acid pesticides [61], basic and acid pharmaceuticals [62]. These studies reported a decrease of sorption corresponding with an increase of pH. Normally, wastewater is slightly alkaline, which attenuates the acidic nature of the soil. Several equations to predict the correlation between pH and the sorption capacity have been developed, but unfortunately, the complexity of the interaction has not allowed for the application of a unique model. Theoretically, cationic pharmaceuticals should be able to sorb negatively charged soil components, such as clay and organic matter [63]. Vazquez-Roig et al. [64] showed the influence of pH on fluoroquinolone antibiotics due to their two pKa values. Ofloxacin has two pKa, 5.97 and 8.28, and at environmental pH tends to be zwitterionic but can also be cationic, anionic, or uncharged. The ciprofloxacin cation (pKa 6.18 and 8.76) dominant at pH \leq 5 exhibited a greater potential for cation exchange than the net neutral zwitterion (relevant at pH > 6) [65]. Zhang et al. [66] demonstrated how low pH and a soil rich of organic matter had a positive impact on sorption of trimethoprim, sulfapyridine, sulfameter, and sulfadimethoxine. For example, the sorption of trimethoprim increased with decreasing pH. Based on its pKa, it is positively charged at acid conditions and neutral at $pH \ge 7$. The highest sorption affinity for this antibiotic was obtained in the range of pH 4 to 6. These results were similar to those reported in Bekçi et al. [67]. The pH can also influence the pH-dependent charge on organic matter and clay minerals which can have an effect on pharmaceutical sorption [68].

2.2.5 Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC)

Clay cation exchange charge (CEC) depends on the type of clay. The sorption of nonionic (neutral) PhACs is mainly driven by hydrophobic partitioning to the soil organic matter via van der Waals and electron donor-acceptor interactions and by hydrogen bonding with hydroxyl groups on the solid surfaces. Sorption of neutral compounds is therefore highly dependent on the soil organic matter content. In contrast, the mechanisms and effects of ionization on the behavior of PhACs in soil are less known and remain inconclusive. The sorption of cationic molecules is mainly governed by the attraction to negative charges of the solid surface (e.g., a clay mineral surface or organic matter). In an attempt to predict persistence and mobility of ionizable PhACs, the determination of the cation exchange capacity (CEC) of soils, which is a measure of the negatively charged site on the soil surface, has been suggested. Clay may exhibit an anion exchange capacity (AEC) due to the protonation of the surface hydroxyl groups. The ratio AEC/CEC gives an indication about the difference between the soil pore water pH and the pH of the net zero charge of the clay, as reported by Hyun and Lee [69]. The cation exchange charge of the clay has been reported to be important for the sorption of some antibiotics such as fluoroquinolones [65].

The larger the CEC value, the more important the sorption of the positively charged PhACs can be [70]. However, sorption of organic compounds and CEC evaluated on disintegrated soils (i.e., in soil slurry) could be greater than that measured on soil aggregates. The main reason is that a part of the sorption capacity of the soil components is not available due to their interactions with aggregated soil and acidic environments.

2.2.6 Soil Organic Matter

Soil organic matter is made up of particulate organic matter (POM) and, in pore water, colloidal dissolved organic matter (CDOM). In soils, organic matter (OM) is the most important sorbent for hydrophobic organic pollutants due to their colloidal properties that can increase the solubility and contribute to reduce their sorption to solid matrixes in soil and sediments. The mobility and the bioavailability of organic compounds may be influenced by the interactions with dissolved organic matter [71]. Leenheer [72] reported that DOM can be fractionated based on the hydrophobic-hydrophilic characteristics of its materials, and it was demonstrated that this fractionation scheme has provided important information on the interaction



Fig. 1 Rayleigh equation model for the mathematical description of the relationship between the extent of degradation and (**a**) the isotopic composition of a targeted PhAC and (**b**) the enantiomeric composition of a chiral PhAC

of DOM with the environment and with organic pollutants. Ilani et al. [73] reported that sorption of triazine by DOM is correlated by the content of the hydrophobic acid and neutral fraction of DOM. This phenomenon was also confirmed by Moaz and Chefetz [74] on the sorption of naproxen and carbamazepine, but it was strongly ph-dependent. In fact it was efficient at pH near the pKa of the analytes. The hydrophilic fraction exhibited the highest sorption affinity with naproxen at pH 8.

The transport of pharmaceuticals may be enhanced by wastewater irrigation either in low or in high POM content soils. Since the 1980s, it has been reported the ability of surface water CDOM to bind contaminants even though the mechanisms have been poorly elucidated. For instance, Carmosini and Lee [75] reported that ciprofloxacin was partitioned to the humic material CDOM following a pH-dependent cation exchange mechanism.

3 Enantiomeric Fractionation as a Tool to Investigate the Fate of PhACs in Soil

The occurrence and potential accumulation of PhAC residues in soil irrigated with treated wastewater are scarce. In contrast, our knowledge on their fate in soil has been more limited. Several processes are in competition for PhAC removal in soil including sorption and formation of NER, phototransformation at the soil surface, plant uptake, and biotransformation [58]. Most of the studies dealing with the fate of PhACs in soil compartments have been carried out at lab-scale, under controlled conditions of temperature and moisture. In these conditions, compounds labelled with a carbon isotope (e.g., ¹⁴C or ¹³C) were used, and a mass balance could be established as well as major dissipation pathways elucidated. Kinetic profiles have

often been found biphasic due to nutrient and carbon limitations, typically with faster initial phases followed by slower declines. When switching to field studies, ¹⁴C-labelled compounds are not allowed, and additional dissipation processes of compounds can occur simultaneously including leaching to deeper soil layers with irrigation water and photodegradation at the surface of soil due to an upward water flow movement by capillarity [76]. In field studies, the loss in microbial activities due to nutrient limitation is not an issue. However, biphasic degradation kinetics are still often observed. This is due to the decrease in compound bioavailability as the result of compound concentration decrease due to their biodegradation or plant uptake [77]. Biphasic degradation may also be found with chiral compounds because the individual stereoisomers are often degraded at different rates. If the degradation rates of two enantiomers in a racemic mixture are very different, the overall decline of the compound, when determined with a non-enantioselective analytical method, will be biphasic [78]. Consequently, the behavior and fate of PhACs in soil are very complex due to interconnected processes. It is often impossible to discriminate between abiotic and biotic processes, so the development of an in situ molecular marker of biodegradation would be desirable. This will be relevant because biodegradation is probably the most important dissipation pathway, which can lead to PhAC elimination.

In order to develop a molecular marker of biodegradation, several approaches have been considered. Isotopic fractionation (i.e., compound stable isotope analysis (CSIA)) is considered the best molecular marker of biodegradation. Stable isotope fractionation relies on the observation of ratio shifts of stable isotope mainly C, H, and N, prompted by the breaking or generation of chemical bonds during chemical transformations [79]. The mathematical description of the relationship between the extent of degradation and isotopic composition of a targeted compound can be expressed by the Rayleigh equation (see Fig. 1a).

 E_t and E_0 represent the initial and conversion-dependent isotope ratio, Conc_t/ Conc₀ is the residual fraction of the contaminant, and ε represents the isotope enrichment factor. ε can be obtained as the slope of the linear regression line of the natural log of the isotopic enrichment against the natural log of the extent of the degradation. It is usually expressed in per mill unit, requires very accurate measurements to obtain, and is very specific to a biotransformation reaction. This approach has already been applied to quantify in situ contaminant biodegradation and to investigate mechanisms of biodegradation [80]. However, CSIA require specific instrumentations (e.g., GC-IRMS), are still difficult to achieve in a routine way, and are very often limited to GC amenable compounds. Limits of detection (LODs) are not compatible with the occurrence and levels of compounds in soil (i.e., ng g⁻¹ level), and analyte enrichment and purification steps are needed during which isotopic fractionation might be induced.

In this context, a novel approach applied to investigate biodegradation of PhACs in environmental compartments is enantiomeric fractionation, which measures the enantiomeric ratio (ER). Enantioselective process occurs when one enantiomer of a chiral compound is favored over the other during biotransformation. This approach makes sense because more than 50% of PhACs are actually commercialized as racemic mixtures, which are mixtures of two enantiomers at equal concentrations.

Enantioselective metabolism has been deeply investigated in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics because biological activity and toxicity are very often largely dependent on chirality. Less is known about environmental enantioselective transformations because chirality has not been included in any regulatory risk assessment procedure yet. As enantioselectivity is mainly specific to biodegradation processes, PhAC chirality could be used to track the pollutant sources in treated and nontreated wastewater [81] as well as to better understand their environmental fate. Indeed, enantioselectivity reflects biological processes, since nonbiological enantioselective catalysis is rare in nature. Abiotic enantioselective processes such as sorption on environmental surfaces have been found in some cases [82] but usually of minor significance with respect to biodegradation-related enantioselectivity. The major advantage of the enantiomeric fractionation approach has been the relative simple analysis of ER using chiral chromatography coupled to conventional mass spectrometry (LC-MS) with appropriate LODs of ng L^{-1} in waters or of ng g^{-1} in solid matrices for environmental studies. The concept of applying the Rayleigh equation, which was developed for isotopic fractionation, to enantioselective processes was suggested by Jammer et al. [83, 84] for in vitro enzymatic transformations under laboratory controlled conditions. In this case, the isotope ratio was replaced by the enantiomeric enrichment (ERt), expressed as a ratio between two enantiomers. A linear relationship between the evolution of the log of enantiomeric ratio and the log of the evolution of a chiral compound concentration can be still obtained, and the slope of the straight line gives the enantiomeric enrichment factor ε_{FR} (see Fig. 1b). This factor is usually larger than the isotopic enrichment factor. Actually, it is expressed in percent unit and not in per mill unit and can be used as a characteristic tool for an enzymatic reaction. This extension of the Raleigh model to enantioselective processes is only valid providing that degradation kinetics of each enantiomer fit to a first-order kinetic model. Enzymatic reactions are frequently described by Michaelis-Menten kinetics (Eq. 1), which are nonlinear. However, the equation gives linear dependence when the concentration of the substrate C is much lower than the Michaelis–Menten constant, K_M :

$$\frac{dC}{dt} = \frac{-kC}{[K_M + C]} \tag{1}$$

This approximation is usually correct in environmental studies because contaminants are found in very low concentrations. However, the first-order kinetic model can be disturbed by sorption processes because sorption processes are nonlinear processes [85]. Indeed, when PhAC concentrations decrease, their bioavailability often decreases leading to slower declines. This can be a source of uncertainty in the determination of the biodegradation extent by using the enantiomeric fractionation making it less accurate than the CSIA approach. Till now, the parallel process of comparing the enrichment of one enantiomer relative to the other has been applied in enantiomeric analysis to prove the existence of biodegradation and to try to quantify the extent of this process exclusively in activated sludge treatments both at the lab-scale [86] and in biological wastewater treatment plants [87, 88]. The contribution of this work was to expand the current knowledge of enantioselective processes in activated sludge to soil and to better know what chirality can teach about biodegradation significance in soil. For this purpose, two probe chiral compounds were selected: (1) metoprolol (MTP), a highly prescribed β -blocker, and (2) climbazole (CLB), an imidazole fungicide often used as an active ingredient in antidandruff shampoos removing dandruff at approximatively 15 g L⁻¹ rate (see Fig. 3 for chemical structures). MTP and CLB are chiral pharmaceuticals due to the presence of an asymmetric carbon in their chemical structure, and both are marketed as racemic mixtures of two enantiomers. These compounds were selected because MTP undergoes biodegradation under aerobic conditions, while CLB undergoes biodegradation under anoxic/anaerobic conditions, covering then different soil conditions under irrigation with treated wastewater.

Transformation pathways have to be known because many significant environmental transformations are enantioselective and the possibility of overlapping of different enantioselective reactions may exist. The best scenario would be to find chiral PhACs that undergo a very predominant enantioselective biotransformation pathway. First, the transformation pathways of MTP and CBZ were determined under aerobic (nitrification) and under anoxic (denitrification) conditions, respectively. For MTP, biotransformation included two pathways. A major one was a O-dealkylation enantioselective reaction leading to metoprolol acid (MTPA) (see Fig. 2a). A very minor one was through benzylic hydroxylation, leading to α -hydroxymetoprolol (α -HMTP). Under anoxic conditions, the enantioselective reduction of the ketone function of CBZ into a secondary alcohol function occurred to give CBZ alcohol (CBZ-OH; see Fig. 2b). Moreover, some compounds have



Fig. 2 Proposed transformation pathways of metoprolol (MTP) under aerobic conditions and climbazole (CBZ) under anoxic conditions

unstable stereo-configuration [89] and could undergo enantiomer interconversion during degradation but also during sample preparation and storage. This is a very sensitive step. For MTP, pure enantiomers were commercially available and separately incubated in soil slurry experiments. Enantiomer interconversion was never observed. Due to the lack of enantiopure standards of CBZ, potential CBZ enantiomerization was investigated in the presence of D₂O, where the formation of deuterated CBZ enantiomers was observed. However, the rate constants for deuteration reaction (K_{deut}) were found to be slightly higher for CBZ (E1) than for CBZ (E2) ($K_{deut} = 0.91$ and 1.12×10^{-5} min⁻¹ ($T_{1/2} = 52.9$ days and 43.0 days) for CBZ (E1) and CBZ (E2), respectively). This result could be explained by the very weak hydrogen acidity of the α -carbonyl carbon precluding the C–H bond cleavage, the formation of a carbocation, and at the end the possibility of CBZ enantiomerization [87].

Chiral analytical methods were then developed for the determination of the ER of MTP and CBZ in soil slurries. In routine chiral analysis, several rules should be respected. The most important one is the removal as much dissolved organic matter as possible because humic and fulvic substances are good chiral selectors which usually degrade the quality of the enantiomer separation after a few injections. Consequently, a resolution >1 should be obtained for accurate ER calculation. Finally, quantification by isotopic dilution is compulsory because matrix effect causes different ion suppression of a pair of enantiomers in electrospray with negative implications in ER calculation. In practice, 10-mL supernatant of soil slurries were percolated through mixed-mode cation exchange cartridges after water acidification at pH 3 to remove as much dissolved organic matter as possible. The use of a sequential elution protocol allows for the removal of neutral and acidic interferences before analyte elution with methanol containing ammonia. This led to a significant reduction of matrix effects in LC-HRMS analysis [87]. Enantiomers of MTP and those of its major transformation products were separated using an ASTEC vancomycin-based analytical column (Chirobiotic V) using a reverse phase isocratic mode of elution with a mobile phase consisting of water +30 mM ammonium acetate/methanol, 10/90 (v/v) (see Fig. 3a). Enantiomers of CBZ were separated using a Phenomenex Lux Amylose-2 analytical column only using water/acetonitrile (35/65, v/v) as mobile phase in an isocratic mode of elution (see Fig. 3b). LODs down to 10 ng L^{-1} were obtained with both analytical methods, which made them suitable for the analysis of MTP and CBZ in soil slurries.

The validated chiral analytical methods were then applied to investigate the relationship between the evolution of the enantiomeric ratio of MTP and CLB and the extent of their biodegradation rates in soil slurry experiments under laboratory control conditions. Soil slurries were spiked with MTP or CBZ at concentrations close to environmental concentrations, that is, $20 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$. MTP incubations were carried under aerobic conditions by bubbling the reactor with air, and CBZ incubations were conducted under anoxic conditions in 100 mL serum bottles, sealed with butyl rubber stoppers and aluminum caps in which syringes were inserted for sample collection. Serum bottles were charged with 10 g of an agricultural soil and filled with secondary treated wastewater collected at a biological wastewater treatment



Fig. 3 Extracted ion chromatograms (EICs) corresponding to chiral analysis of (a) metoprolol (MTP) and its major transformation products, metoprolol acid (MTPA), O-desmethylmetoprolol (O-DMTP), and α -hydroxymetoprolol (α -HMTP), and (b) climbazole (CBZ) by LC-HRMS, both in positive mode of ionization

plant (WWTP). Prior to spiking probe compounds, the test systems were preconditioned for 2 days. The pH, redox potential, and dissolved oxygen were controlled by electrode measurements. Poisoned experiments with sodium azide (NaN_3) at 1 g L⁻¹ were also added. Abiotic control was needed by using sterilized soil for estimating enantioselective sorption processes which are usually minor processes. Experiments were also carried out in dark and light conditions because MTP and CBZ might also undergo phototransformation upon natural light irradiation. At different time points, 10-mL supernatant were collected and filtered on 0.22- μ M nylon filter before SPE and LC-HRMS for kinetic studies and TP identification.

As expected biodegradation was the main transformation route of MTP with metoprolol acid (MTPA) being the major identified TP. However, photodegradation also contributed to the degradation of MTP even though in a minor extent than biodegradation [88]. For this specific route of degradation, O-desmethyl-MTP and α -hydroxy-MTP were identified in addition to MTPA. The bioreduction of CBZ into CBZ alcohol was the unique biodegradation route identified for CBZ, and biodegradation was the major transformation route of CBZ, while phototransformation also occurred in light conditions but similarly to MTP in a much lesser extent than biodegradation. Reductive dechlorination, hydroxylation, and cleavage of the ether bond were the major transformation routes observed under photolysis [87]. Results for MTP biodegradation kinetic experiments in soil slurry experiment system are shown in Fig. 4a, b.

Experiments in the light degraded MTP quicker than their dark equivalents due to MTP photolysis. No stereoselectivity in MTP degradation was observed in any abiotic experiments. Stereoselective degradation of MTP leading to a (S)-enrichment was exclusively observed under biotic conditions, confirming the specificity of ER variations to biodegradation processes. Enantiomeric fractionation (ER_t/ER₀) was plotted against the MTP residual fraction (Ct/C₀) according to the Rayleigh equation for all biotic experiments. The linear fit to the Rayleigh approximation was obtained under both dark and light conditions ($R^2 > 0.99$ and > 0.98, respectively). Both enantiomers followed the same first-order kinetic and probably obey the same degradation mechanisms. In these conditions, the ER-conversion relationship does not depend on reaction conditions but mainly depends on reaction time. The enantiomeric enrichment factor was calculated to be 22% and 56% in light and dark conditions, respectively.

In anoxic soil slurry experiments, the transformation of CBZ into CBZ-OH was nearly quantitative, and biodegradation gave a first-order kinetic fit (see Fig. 5a, b). When the enantiomeric fractionation was plotted against the CBZ residual fraction, the linear fit to the Rayleigh equation was obtained with r squared above 0.98 as quality control parameter. The enantiomeric enrichment factor was given by the slope of linear regression line and was found to be 33% in dark conditions and 26% in light conditions. This lower value in light condition is due to the slight contribution of phototransformation to the whole degradation of CBZ.

The environmental significance of these results is that on the basis of the knowledge of the enantiomeric enrichment factors (ε_R), which are specific to one biotransformation reaction, and on the basis of the experimental measurement of ER of MTP and CBZ by chiral LC-MS, it is possible to derive the percentage of the dissipation of selected PhACs in soil which can be directly attributed to biodegradation processes without establishing a mass balance during the course of the degradation. This approach avoids to carry out analysis in soil leachates and in plant or to evaluate the formation of non-extractable residues to evaluate the biodegradation rate of a chiral pharmaceutical.



Fig. 4 (a) MTP-(S) and MTP-(R) concentration evolution against time under aerobic soil slurry conditions and in dark conditions, (b) Rayleigh representation of the enantiomeric enrichment of MTP versus MTP biodegradation in dark and light irradiation conditions



Fig. 5 (a) CBZ (E1), CBZ (E2), and CBZ-OH concentration evolutions against time during soil suspension incubation under anoxic conditions; (b) Rayleigh representation of the enantiomeric enrichment of CBZ versus CBZ biodegradation

4 Conclusion

The extensive use of treated wastewater in irrigation can be a significant source of PhACs into agricultural soils, which can be further accumulated in plants and food. There were only a few studies reporting their potential accumulation in irrigated soils. This chapter only analyzed studies conducted under agricultural growing and irrigation conditions because they enable an appropriate risk assessment of wastewater-derived contaminants to accumulate in soil as they integrate irrigation, soil, and plant processes.

The main conclusion highlights the lack of PhAC cumulative pattern in soil across time under long-term TWW irrigation scenarios. PhAC concentration levels in the 0.06–200 ng g^{-1} range were frequently observed. This lack of accumulation could be likely related to abiotic and biotic transformation processes and to the formation of NER. Chronic and repeated application of TWW on agricultural soils has implication on PhAC degradation because there is a potential for agricultural soil to develop accelerated biodegradation due to microorganism's adaptation processes, similar to what has been observed for pesticides [90].

Soil plays therefore a significant role as regulator of the pharmaceuticals available for plant uptake. The behavior and fate of PhACs in soil are very complex due to interconnected processes (e.g., sorption, formation of NER, biodegradation). These environmental processes were briefly discussed in this chapter.

However, the main challenge is related to the determination of the relative significance of these different abiotic and biotic processes. Enantiomeric fractionation of chiral PhACs has been discussed as a tool for discriminating abiotic and biotic degradation processes in field studies where the use of radioactively labelled compounds is not allowed and consequently when a mass balance is difficult to achieve. The enantiomeric fractionation of two chiral PhACs, namely, MET and CLB, has been investigated by using chiral LC-HRMS because the former one underwent aerobic biodegradation and the latter one under anaerobic conditions, thus covering different environmental conditions. As enantioselectivity reflects very predominantly biological processes, a shift in enantiomeric ratio of a chiral PhAC highlighted biodegradation and allowed for differentiating between photodegradation and biodegradation processes. This approach might be also quantitative by applying the Rayleigh model allowing for a quantitative assessment of biodegradation processes without establishing a mass balance. The main scientific gap remains the quantitative determination of the formation of NER of PhACs in soil because these studies require the use of isotope-labelled compounds (e.g., ¹⁴C or 13 C) and are costly and suffer from a lack of standardized procedures in their implementation.

References

- 1. Israel Ministry of Finance (2018) The Water Sector
- Lees K, Fitzsimons M, Snape J, Tappin A, Comber S (2016) Pharmaceuticals in soils of lower countries: physico-chemical fate and risks from wastewater irrigation. Environ Int 94:712–723
- 3. Bixio D, Thoeye C, De Koning J, Joksimovic D, Savic D, Wintgens T, Melin T (2006) Wastewater reuse in Europe. Desalination 187:89–101
- 4. Iglesias R, Ortega E, Batanero G, Quintas L (2010) Water reuse in Spain: data overview and costs estimation of suitable treatment trains. Desalination 263:1–10
- Yi L, Jiao W, Chen X, Chen W (2011) An overview of reclaimed water reuse in China. J Environ Sci 23:1585–1593
- Latare AM, Kumar O, Singh SK, Gupta A (2014) Direct and residual effect of sewage sludge on yield, heavy metals content and soil fertility under rice-wheat system. Ecol Eng 69:17–24
- Vaish B, Sarkar A, Singh P, Singh PK, Sengupta C, Singh RP (2016) Prospects of biomethanation in Indian urban solid waste: stepping towards a sustainable future. In: Karthikeyan OP, Heimann K, Muthu SS (eds) Recycling of solid waste for biofuels and bio-chemicals. Springer, Singapore, pp 1–29
- Carden DE, Walker DJ, Flowers TJ, Miller AJ (2003) Single-cell measurements of the contributions of cytosolic Na+ and K+ to salt tolerance. Plant Physiol 131:676–683
- Aucejo A, Burguet MC, Munoz R, Marques JL (1995) Densities viscosities, and refractive indices of some n-alkane binary liquid systems at 298.15K. J Chem Eng Data 40:141–147
- Noshadi I, Salahi A, Hemmati M, Rekabdar F, Mohammadi T (2013a) Experimental and ANFIS modelling for fouling analysis of oily wastewater treatment using ultrafiltration. Asia Pac J Chem Eng 8:527–538
- Assouline S, Narkis K (2013) Effect of long-term irrigation with treated wastewater on the root zone environment. Vadose Zone J 12(2):vzj2012.0216
- Assouline S, Russo D, Silber A, Or D (2015) Balancing water scarcity and quality for sustainable irrigated agriculture. Water Resour Res 51:3419–3436
- 13. Bardhan G, Russo D, Goldstein D, Levy GJ (2016) Changes in the hydraulic properties of a clay soil under long-term irrigation with treated wastewater. Geoderma 264:1–9
- Levy GJ, Assouline S (2010) Physical aspects. In: Levy GJP, Fine P, Bar-Tal A (eds) Treated wastewater in agriculture: use and impacts on the soil environment and crops. Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford, pp 306–327
- Noshadi M, Fahandej S, Sepaskhah AR (2013b) Effects of salinity and irrigation water management in soil and tomato in drip irrigation. Int J Plant Prod 7:1735–6814
- Schacht K, Marschner B (2015) Treated wastewater irrigation effects on soil hydraulic conductivity and aggregate stability of loamy soils in Israel. J Hydrol Hydromech 63:47–54
- Benotti MJ, Snyder SA (2009) Pharmaceuticals and endocrine disrupting compounds: implications for ground water replenishment with recycled water. Ground Water 47:499–502
- Boxall AB, Johnson P, Smith EJ, Sinclair CJ, Stutt E, Levy LS (2006) Uptake of veterinary medicines from soils into plants. J Agric Food Chem 54:2288–2297
- Kinney CA, Furlong ET, Werner SL, Cahill D (2006) Presence and distribution of wastewaterderived pharmaceuticals in soil irrigated with reclaimed water. Environ Toxicol Chem 25:317–326
- Wu X, Dodgen LK, Conkle JL, Gan J (2015) Plant uptake of pharmaceutical and personal care products from recycled water and biosolids: a review. Sci Total Environ 536:655–666
- Kasprzyk-Hordern B, Dinsdale RM, Guwy AJ (2009) The removal of pharmaceuticals, personal care products, endocrine disruptors and illicit drugs during wastewater treatment and its impact on the quality of receiving waters. Water Res 43:363–380
- 22. Ayers RS, Westcot DW (eds) (1985) Water quality for irrigation. FAO, Rome
- Chefetz B, Mualem T, Ben-Ari J (2008) Sorption and mobility of pharmaceutical compounds in soil irrigated with reclaimed wastewater. Chemosphere 73:1335–1343

- 24. Siemens J, Huschek G, Siebe C, Kaupenjohann M (2008) Concentrations and mobility of human pharmaceuticals in the world's largest wastewater irrigation system, Mexico City-Mezquital Valley. Water Res 42:2124–2134
- Biel-Maeso M, Corada-Fernández C, Lara-Martín PA (2018) Monitoring the occurrence of pharmaceuticals in soils irrigated with reclaimed wastewater. Environ Pollut 235:312–321
- 26. Li J, Dodgen L, Ye Q, Gan J (2014) Degradation and transformation products of acetaminophen in soil. Water Res 49:44–52
- 27. Corada-Fernández C, Jiménez-Martínez J, Candela L, González-Mazo E, Lara-Martín PA (2015) Occurrence and spatial distribution of emerging contaminants in the unsaturated zone. Case study: Guadalete River basin (Cadiz, Spain). Chemosphere 119:s131–s137
- Dalkmann P, Broszat M, Siebe C, Willaschek E, Sakinc T, Huebner J, Amelung W, Grohmann E, Siemens J (2012) Accumulation of pharmaceuticals, enterococcus, and resistance genes in soils irrigated with wastewater for zero to 100 years in Central Mexico. PLoS One 7(9): e45397
- 29. Christou A, Karaolia P, Hapeshi E, Michael C, Fatta-Kassinos D (2017) Long-term wastewater irrigation of vegetables in real agricultural systems: concentration of pharmaceuticals in soil, uptake and bioaccumulation in tomato fruits and human health risk assessment. Water Res 109:24–34
- Facey SJ, Nebel BA, Kontny L, Allgaier M, Hauer B (2018) Rapid and complete degradation of diclofenac by native soil microorganisms. Environ Technol Innov 10:55–61. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.eti.2017.12.009
- 31. Durán-Alvarez JC, Becerril-Bravo E, Silva Castro V, Jiménez B, Gibson R (2009) The analysis of a group of acidic pharmaceuticals, carbamazepine, and potential endocrine disrupting compounds in wastewater irrigated soils by gas chromatography–mass spectrometry. Talanta 78:1159–1166
- 32. Vulava VM, Cory WC, Murphey VL, Ulmer CZ (2016) Sorption, photodegradation, and chemical transformation of naproxen and ibuprofen in soils and water. Sci Total Environ 565:1063–1070
- 33. Gibson R, Durán-Alvarez JC, Estrada KL, Chávez A, Cisneros BJ (2010) Accumulation and leaching potential of some pharmaceuticals and potential endocrine disruptors in soils irrigated with wastewater in the Tula Valley, Mexico. Chemosphere 81:1437–1445
- 34. Grossberger A, Hadar Y, Borch T, Chefetz B (2014) Biodegradability of pharmaceutical compounds in agricultural soils irrigated with treated wastewater. Environ Pollut 185:168–177
- 35. Koda O, Golovko O, Kodešová R, Klement A, Grabic R (2016) Transformation of atenolol, metoprolol, and carbamazepine in soils: the identification, quantification, and stability of the transformation products and further implications for the environment. Environ Pollut 218:574–585
- 36. Li J, Dodgen L, Ye Q, Gan J (2013) Degradation kinetics and metabolites of carbamazepine in soil. Environ Sci Technol 47:3678–3684
- 37. Martínez-Hernández V, Meffe R, López SH, de Bustamante I (2016) The role of sorption and biodegradation in the removal of acetaminophen, carbamazepine, caffeine, naproxen and sulfamethoxazole during soil contact: a kinetic study. Sci Total Environ 559:232–241
- Koba O, Golovko O, Kodešová R, Fér M, Grabic R (2017) Antibiotics degradation in soil: a case of clindamycin, trimethoprim, sulfamethoxazole and their transformation products. Environ Pollut 220:1251–1263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.11.007
- Girardi C, Greve J, Lamshöft M, Fetzer I, Miltner A, Schäffer A, Kästner M (2011) Biodegradation of ciprofloxacin in water and soil and its effects on the microbial communities. J Hazard Mater 198:22–30
- 40. Butler E, Whelan MJ, Sakrabani R, van Egmond R (2012) Fate of triclosan in field soils receiving sewage sludge. Environ Pollut 167:101–109
- Biel-Maeso M, González-González C, Lara-Martín PA, Corada-Fernández C (2019) Sorption and degradation of contaminants of emerging concern in soils under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Sci Total Environ 666:662–671

- 42. Gielen GC, van den Heuvel MR, Clinton PW, Greenfield LG (2009) Factors impacting on pharmaceutical leaching following sewage application to land. Chemosphere 74:537–542
- 43. Paz A, Tadmor G, Malchi T, Blotevogel J, Borch T, Polubesova T, Chefetz B (2016) Fate of carbamazepine, its metabolites, and lamotrigine in soils irrigated with reclaimed wastewater: sorption, leaching and plant uptake. Chemosphere 160:22–29
- 44. Borgman O, Chefetz B (2013) Combined effects of biosolids application and irrigation whit reclaimed wastewater on transport of pharmaceuticals compounds in arable soils. Water Res 47:3431–3443
- 45. Lau CH-F, Tien YC, Stedtfeld RD, Topp E (2020) Impacts of multi-year field exposure of agricultural soil to macrolide resistance genes and selected mobile genetic elements. Sci Total Environ 559:232–241
- 46. Coogan MA, Edziyie RE, La Point TW, Venables BJ (2007) Algal bioaccumulation of triclocarban, triclosan and methyl-triclosan in a North Texas wastewater treatment plant receiving stream. Chemosphere 67:1911–1918
- Tolls J (2001) Sorption of veterinary pharmaceuticals in soils: a review. Environ Sci Technol 35:3397–3406
- Xu J, Wu L, Chang AC (2009) Degradation and adsorption of selected pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in agricultural soils. Chemosphere 77:1299–1305
- Thelusmond JR, Kawka E, Strathmann TJ, Cupples AM (2018) Diclofenac, carbamazepine and triclocarban biodegradation in agricultural soils and the microorganisms and metabolic pathways affected. Sci. Total Environ 640–640:1393–1410
- Pan M, Chu LM (2016) Adsorption and degradation of five selected antibiotics in agricultural soil. Sci Total Environ 545-546:48–56
- 51. Doretto KM, Peruchi LM, Rath S (2014) Sorption and desorption of sulfadimethoxine, sulfaquinoxaline and sulfamethazine antimicrobials in Brazilian soils. Sci Total Environ (476–477):406–414
- Loffler D, Rombke J, Meller M, Ternes TA (2005) Environmental fate of pharmaceuticals in water/sediment systems. Environ Sci Technol 39:5209–5218
- 53. Roberts TR (1984) Non-extractable pesticide residues in soils and plants. Pure Appl Chem 56 (7):945–956
- 54. Loffler D, Hatz A, Albrecht D, Fligg M, Hogeback J, Ternes TA (2020) Determination of non-extractable residues in soils: towards a standardised approach. Environ Pollut 259:113826
- 55. Schäffer A, Kästner M, Trapp S (2018) A unified approach for including non-extractable residues (NER) of chemicals and pesticides in the assessment of persistence. Environ Sci Eur 30:51
- 56. Kästner M, Trapp S, Schaeffer A (2018) Consultancy service to support ECHA in improving the interpretation of non-extractable residues (NER) in degradation assessment. Discussion paper-final report
- Barriuso E, Benoit P, Dubus IG (2008) Formation of pesticides nonextractable (bound) residues in soil: magnitude, controlling factors and reversibility. Environ Sci Technol 42(6):1845–1854
- Li Y, Sallach J-B, Zhang W, Boyd S, Li H (2019) Insight into the distribution of pharmaceuticals in soil-water-plant systems. Water Res 152:38–46
- 59. Li H, Lee LS, Fabrega JR, Jafvert CT (2001) Role of pH in partitioning and cation exchange of aromatic amines on water-saturated soils. Chemosphere 44:627–635
- 60. Bi E, Schmidt TC, Haderlein SB (2006) Sorption of heterocyclic organic compounds to reference soils: column studies for process identification. Environ Sci Technol 40:5962–5970
- Guangyao S, Yaning Y, Minsheng H, Kai Y (2005) Influence of pH on pesticide sorption by soil containing wheat residue-derived char. Environ Pollut 134:457–463
- 62. Holten Lützhøft HC, Vaes WHJ, Halling-Sørensen B, Hermens JLM (2000) Influence of pH and other modifying factors on the distribution behavior of 4-quinolones to solid phases and humic acids studied by "negligible-depletion" SPME-HPLC. Environ Sci Technol 34:4989–4994
- Franco A, Fu W, Trapp S (2009) Influence of soil pH on the sorption of ionizable chemicals: modelling advances. Environ Toxicol Chem 28:458–464

- 64. Vazquez-Roig P, Andreu V, Blasco C, Picó Y (2012) Risk assessment on the presence of pharmaceuticals in sediments, soils and waters of the Pego-Oliva Marshlands (Valencia, eastern Spain). Sci Total Environ 440:24–32
- Vasudevan D, Bruland GL, Torrance BS, Upchurch VG, MacKay AA (2009) pH-dependent ciprofloxacin sorption to soils: interaction mechanisms and soil factors influencing sorption. Geoderma 151:68–76
- 66. Zhang Y-L, Lin S-S, Dai C-M, Shi L, Zhou X-F (2014) Sorption-desorption and transport of trimethoprim and sulfanamide antibiotics in agricultural soil: effect of soil type, dissolved organic matter, and pH. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21:5827–5835
- 67. Bekçi Z, Seki Y, Yurdakoç MK (2006) Equilibrium studies for trimethoprim adsorption on montmorillonite KSF. J Hazard Mat B 133:233–242
- Tülp HC, Fenner K, Schwarzenbach RP, Goss KU (2009) pH-dependent sorption of acid organic chemicals to soil organic matter. Environ Sci Technol 43:9189–9195
- Hyun S, Lee LS (2004) Factors controlling sorption of prosulfuron by variable charge soils and model sorbents. J Environ Qual 33:1354–1361
- 70. Liu X, Zhang H, Luo Y, Zhu R, Wang H, Huang B (2020) Sorption of oxytetracycline in particulate organic matter in soils and sediments: roles of pH, ionic strength and temperature. Sci Total Environ 714:136628
- Cox L, Velarde P, Cabrera A, Hermosin MC, Cornejo J (2007) Dissolved organic carbon interactions whit sorption and leaching of diuron in organic amended soils. Eur J Soil Sci 58 (3):714–721
- 72. Leenheer JA (1981) Comprehensive approach to preparative isolation and fractionation of dissolved organic carbon from natural waters and wastewaters. Environ Sci Technol 15 (5):578–587
- 73. Ilani T, Schulz E, Chefetz B (2005) Interactions of organic compounds with wastewater dissolved organic matter: role of hydrophobic fractions. J Environ Qual 34:552–562
- 74. Maoz A, Chefetz B (2010) Sorption of the pharmaceuticals carbamazepine and naproxen to dissolved organic matter: role of structural fractions. Water Res 44:981–989
- Carmosini N, Lee LS (2009) Ciprofloxacin sorption by dissolved organic carbon from reference and bio-waste materials. Chemosphere 77:813–820
- 76. Buerge I, Kasteel R, Bächli A, Poiger T (2019a) Behavior of the chiral herbicide imazamox in soils: enantiomer composition differentiates between biodegradation and photodegradation. Environ Sci Technol 53:5733–5740
- 77. Gulkowska A, Buerge IJ, Poiger T, Kasteel R (2016) Time-dependent sorption of two novel fungicides in soils within a regulatory framework. Pest Manag Sci 72:2218–2230
- Buerge I, Bächli A, Kasteel R, Portmann R, Lopez-Cabeza R, Schwarb L, Poiger T (2019b) Behavior of the chiral herbicide imazamox in soils: pH-dependent, enantioselective degradation, formation and degradation of several chiral metabolites. Environ Sci Technol 53:5725–5732
- 79. Elsner M, Imfeld G (2016) Compound-specific isotope analysis (CSIA) of micropollutants in the environment – current developments and future challenges. Curr Opin Biotechnol 41:60–72
- Maiers M, Prasse C, Pati S, Nitsche S, Li Z, Radke M, Meyer A, Hofstetter T, Ternes T, Elsner M (2016) Exploring trends of C and N isotope fractionation to trace transformation reactions of diclofenac in natural and engineered systems. Environ Sci Technol 50:10933–10942
- Kunkel U, Radke M (2012) Fate of pharmaceuticals in rivers: deriving a benchmark dataset at favorable attenuation conditions. Water Res 46:5551–5565
- 82. Gamiz B, Facenda G, Celis R (2016) Evidence for the effect of sorption enantioselectivity on the availability of chiral pesticide enantiomers in soil. Environ Pollut 213:966–973
- 83. Jammer S, Gelman F, Lev O (2016) Applicability of the Rayleigh equation for enantioselective metabolism of chiral xenobiotics by microsomes, hepatocytes and in-vivo retention in rabbit tissues. Sci Rep 6:23715

- 84. Jammer S, Voloshenko A, Gelman F, Lev O (2014) Chiral and isotope analyses for assessing the degradation of organic contaminants in the environment: Rayleigh dependence. Environ Sci Technol 48:3310–3318
- Jin B, Rolle M (2016) Joint interpretation of enantiomer and stable isotope fractionation for chiral pesticides degradation. Water Res 105:178–186
- 86. Gasser G, Pankratov I, Elhanany S, Werner P, Gun J, Gelman F, Lev O (2012) Field and laboratory studies of the fate and enantiomeric enrichment of venlafaxine and O-desmethylvenlafaxine under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Chemosphere 88:98–105
- 87. Brienza M, Chiron S (2017) Enantioselective reductive transformation of climbazole: a concept towards quantitative biodegradation assessment in anaerobic biological treatment processes. Water Res 116:203–210
- Souchier M, Benali-Raclot D, Casella C, Ingrand V, Chiron S (2016) Enantiomeric fractionation as a tool for quantitative assessment of biodegradation: the case of metoprolol. Water Res 95:19–26
- Poiger T, Müller M, Buser H-R, Buerge I (2015) Environmental behavior of the chiral herbicide haloxyfop. 1. Rapid and preferential interconversion of the enantiomers in soil. J Agric Food Chem 63:2583–2590
- Arbeli Z, Fuentes CL (2007) Accelerated biodegradation of pesticides: an overview of the phenomenon, its basis and possible solutions; and a discussion on the tropical dimension. Crop Prot 26:1733–1746
Uptake and Effects of Pharmaceuticals in the Soil-Plant-Earthworm System



Laura J. Carter, Mike Williams, and J. Brett Sallach

Contents

1	Introduction	176
2	Plant Uptake from Hydroponic Solutions	185
	2.1 Mechanistic Uptake	185
	2.2 Plant Metabolism	187
	2.3 Environmental Phytoremediation: Uptake in Aquatic Plants	187
3	Plant Uptake from Spiked Soil	187
	3.1 Distribution Amongst Different Plant Organs	189
	3.2 Differences in Accumulation Amongst Different Plant Species	191
	3.3 Metabolism	192
4	Plant Uptake from Wastewater Irrigation	193
	4.1 Fortified Wastewater Exposure	193
	4.2 Wastewater Exposure	196
5	Plant Uptake from Biosolid Amendment	200
6	Uptake into Soil Invertebrates	202
7	Effects of Pharmaceuticals in Terrestrial Organisms	205
	7.1 Pharmaceutical-Induced Effects in Plants	205
	7.2 Soil Invertebrate Toxicity	207
8	Implications of Pharmaceutical Uptake in Terrestrial Systems and Future Research	
	Needs	209
Re	ferences	212

Abstract The reuse of wastewater to meet increasing demands on freshwater resources coupled with the use of biosolids as soil amendments in agricultural landscapes provides many pathways for exposure to pharmaceuticals into the

L. J. Carter

Faculty of Environment, School of Geography, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK

M. Williams CSIRO Land and Water Campus, Adelaide, SA, Australia

J. B. Sallach (⊠) Department of Environment and Geography, University of York, York, UK e-mail: brett.sallach@york.ac.uk

Sandra Pérez Solsona, Nicola Montemurro, Serge Chiron, and Damià Barceló (eds.), Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems: The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater, Hdb Env Chem (2021) 103: 175–220, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_617, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 23 September 2020 175

agroecosystem. Wastewater and both agricultural and municipal biosolids are known reservoirs for the potentially hundreds of pharmaceuticals that are in use throughout the world. Over the past 15 years, research has focussed on gaining an understanding of the extent of exposure, the fate and uptake of these compounds and the potential toxicological impacts these compounds may have once introduced. The agricultural system is a complex web of micro and macro fauna that includes microbes, fungi, invertebrates and plants which all may act as sinks for bioaccumulation and receptors for these biological active xenobiotic compounds. In this review, we describe how different experimental designs have been utilised to provide insights into the extent of uptake into plants and invertebrates, the mechanisms that govern this fate process and the evidence of biological effects that makes up our current understanding of pharmaceutical exposure in agricultural systems. We highlight the types of compounds as well as the model plant and invertebrate organisms that have been most studied. Furthermore, we discuss how geographical and economic drivers have influenced where research has been conducted and how this may bias our current understanding of pharmaceutical exposure risk as it relates to low- and middle-income countries.

Keywords Biosolid amendments, Earthworms, Pharmaceuticals, Plant uptake, Wastewater reuse

1 Introduction

The demonstrated persistence of pharmaceuticals in soils following land application of wastewaters, sludges and manures [1-3] spurred on a wealth of studies to evaluate the fate of pharmaceuticals in terrestrial systems. In particular, research efforts have centred on the uptake and accumulation of pharmaceuticals in plants and terrestrial invertebrates, including earthworms.

In the case of plant uptake studies, the majority has been carried out to consider edible crop accumulation of pharmaceuticals and related human health risks following ingestion (reviewed by [4]). Other studies have focussed on the ability of plants to remediate pharmaceutical-contaminated water bodies through the use of selected aquatic macrophytes, such as constructed wetlands. For example, several researchers have tried to evaluate the removal of carbamazepine by plants (e.g. *Lolium perenne*, *Typha spp., Typha latifolia, Iris sibirica, Zantedeschia aethiopica* and *Scirpus validus*) and their potential use in phytoremediation with removal efficiencies reported to range from 34 to 82% [5–9].

A suite of experimental set-ups in both the field and the laboratory have been used to evaluate the uptake and accumulation of pharmaceuticals from soils into terrestrial plants. In countries with a high demand for limited freshwater resources (e.g. Israel, Saudi Arabia), research has typically focussed on field studies coupled with exposure via artificially spiked or natural wastewater, in an attempt to understand the impacts of wastewater reuse schemes increasingly used in agriculture [10, 11]. Other field experiments have studied the uptake of pharmaceuticals following the land application of organic fertilisers such as sewage sludge (biosolids) and manure (e.g. [12, 13]). Antibiotics are typically the most abundant pharmaceuticals detected in plants following soil amendments with manure, a result of their high usage in agricultural husbandry, which are commonly used as agricultural fertilisers.

A variety of crop types including roots, shoots, stems and fruits have been shown to accumulate a range of pharmaceuticals. Studies have reported highly variable rates of accumulation with concentrations ranging from no detection to low $\mu g/kg$ concentrations in an environmentally relevant exposure scenario. As highlighted in Tables 1 and 2, there has been a focus on edible crops that require minimal processing, such as vegetables with fewer studies evaluating the uptake and accumulation in grain crops such as maize and wheat. In addition, studies have typically worked to define whole organ accumulation, such as leaf tissues, rather than demonstrating cellular accumulation [34, 35].

Short-term laboratory exposures are typically used to provide mechanistic insight into the uptake of pharmaceuticals (e.g. [5]) as well an evaluation of the formation of metabolites (e.g. [35, 36]) (see chapter "Impact of PhACs on Soil Microorganisms"). Mechanistic studies also typically use hydroponics, where plants are grown in a nutrient medium, thereby negating competitive sorption processes observed when soil is present. Laboratory exposures allow for the evaluation of specific end points following exposure in well-controlled conditions (e.g. growth chamber) where temperature, light and humidity can be regulated. However, it has been argued that this exposure lacks environmental relevance as it does not replicate natural environmental fluctuations. Generally, plant uptake studies are relatively short term consisting of one crop cycle (i.e. fruiting or maturation) and have seldom considered accumulation or toxicity resulting from a multigenerational exposure (i.e. from contaminated seed).

To date, research has demonstrated that physiochemical properties of the pharmaceuticals, such as ionisable functional groups, have a profound impact on the uptake, accumulation, translocation and transformation of pharmaceuticals in plants. In addition, the plant species traits, soil properties which control the fate of the chemical, water quality and experimental set-up (exposure duration, concentration and pharmaceutical application) also affect the uptake and accumulation of these chemicals.

The following discussion will give an overview of the uptake of pharmaceuticals in plants and invertebrates through various exposure pathways, including from spiked soils, wastewater irrigation and application of wastewater sludges, or biosolids. Factors that affect the uptake of pharmaceuticals, such as plant species or the physicochemical properties of the pharmaceutical and the environment, are discussed along with implications of uptake, including biological transformation and toxicity of pharmaceuticals. Finally, the geographic location of these studies is considered throughout this chapter to identify where our current understanding is applicable and where knowledge gaps need to be addressed.

				Tissue				
Compound	Experiment tyne	Concentration (no/o or no/L.) ^a	Plant snecies	concentration (ng/g)	Fresh weight (FW) or drv weight (DW	BCF	Location	Reference
				12,2.				
Acetaminophen	Field	200	Maize	27.5	DW	AN	Jarama River subhasin Snain	[14]
Amitrintvline	Greenhouse	70	Lettuce	1.5	FW	NA	Snain	[15]
(- J				1				
Atenolol	Field	850	Cabbage	55.0	FW	1.4	Al Hayer, Saudi Arabia	[11]
	Semi-field	492	Maize	1.2	FW	2.67	Madrid, Spain	[16]
	Semi-field	492	Lettuce	2.0	FW	0.67	Madrid, Spain	[16]
	Semi-field	492	Radish	1.9	FW	1.58	Madrid, Spain	[16]
	Greenhouse	1,629	Lettuce	0.1	FW	NA	Spain	[15]
Azithromycin	Field	302	Bermuda orass	90.0	FW	NA	Arizona, USA	[17]
Caffeine	Greenhouse	M/N	Tomato fruit	1.0	FW	NA	Almeria. Spain	[18]
	1	1 5 40		105.0		;		
	Field	1,548	Cabbage	0.621	ΓŴ	1.3	Al Hayer, Saudı Arabia	Ξ
	Field	17,000	Cabbage	21.0	DW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
	Field	17,000	Potato	30.0	DW	NA	Jordan Valley,	[19]
							Jordan	
	Lysimeter	1,003	Sweet potato	0.3	FW	NA	Kiryat Gat, Israel	[20]
	Lysimeter	1,003	Carrot	0.3	FW	NA	Kiryat Gat, Israel	[20]
	Greenhouse	590	Cucumber	3.7	DW	NA	Rehovot, Israel	[10]
	Greenhouse	590	Tomato	0.5	DW	NA	Rehovot, Israel	[10]
	Greenhouse	756	Radish	1.2	FW	NA	Spain	[15]
	Greenhouse	756	Lettuce	1.3	FW	NA	Spain	[15]

Table 1 Pharmaceutical compounds detected in edible plant tissues irrigated with treated wastewater

Field	23	Wheat grain	1.9	DW	NA	Pennsylvania, USA	[21]
Greenhouse	N/M	Tomato	0.2	FW	NA	Almeria, Spain	[18]
Field	2,400	Eggplant	32.0	FW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
Field	2,400	Cabbage	10.0	DW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
Field	2,400	Zucchini	7.0	DW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
Field	2,400	Pepper	9.0	DW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
Field	2,400	Tomato	5.0	DW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
Field	2,400	Parsley	90.06	DW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
Field	2,400	Rucola	60.0	DW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
Field	2,400	Lettuce	230.0	DW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
Field	2,400	Potato	75.0	DW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
Field	2,400	Carrot	15.0	DW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
Field	130	Maize	0.4	DW	0.05	Jarama River subbasin, Spain	[14]
Semi-field	114	Maize	1	FW	0.22	Madrid, Spain	[16]
Semi-field	114	Lettuce	1.8	FW	2.12	Madrid, Spain	[16]
Semi-field	114	Radish	I	FW	1.15	Madrid, Spain	[16]
Lysimeter	810	Sweet potatoes	0.1	FW	NA	Kiryat Gat, Israel	[20]
							(continued)

Carbamazepine

Table 1 (continued)								
Compound	Experiment type	Concentration (ng/g or ng/L) ^a	Plant species	Tissue concentration (ng/g)	Fresh weight (FW) or dry weight (DW	BCF	Location	Reference
	Lysimeter	810	Carrot	0.8	FW	NA	Kiryat Gat, Israel	[20]
	Greenhouse	369	Carrot	60.0	FW	NA	Caldes de Montbui, Spain	[22]
	Greenhouse	1,060	Cucumber	13.0	DW	NA	Rehovot, Israel	[10]
	Greenhouse	1,060	Tomato	1.5	DW	NA	Rehovot, Israel	[10]
	Greenhouse	156	Radish	0.2	FW	NA	Spain	[15]
	Greenhouse	156	Lettuce	0.4	FW	NA	Spain	[15]
	Greenhouse	2,990	Cucumber	1.0	FW	18	Rehovot, Israel	[23]
Ciprofloxacin	Field	600	Cabbage	7.0	DW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
	Field	600	Carrot	12.0	DW	AN	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
Clarithromycin	Field	QN	Bermuda grass	135.0	FW	NA	Arizona, USA	[17]
Clofibric acid	Greenhouse	18	Lettuce	18.0	FW	NA	Caldes de Montbui, Spain	[22]
Diclofenac	Field	49.67	Tomato fruit	11.6	FW	132	Nicosia, Cyprus	[24]
	Field	1,600	Eggplant	18.0	DW	NA	Jordan Valley, Jordan	[19]
	Greenhouse	22,410	Lettuce	19.0	FW	NA	Caldes de Montbui, Spain	[22]
Flunixin	Greenhouse	367	Lettuce	83.0	FW	NA	Caldes de Montbui, Spain	[22]
	Greenhouse	367	Carrot	17.0	FW	NA	Caldes de Montbui, Spain	[22]

[19]	[1]	[19]	[11]	[1]	[1]	[18]	[19]	[15]	[15]	[14]	[22]	[22]	[20]	[10]	[18]	[15]	continued)
Jordan Valley, Jordan	Jordan Valley, Jordan	Jordan Valley, Jordan	Al Hayer, Saudi Arabia	Al Hayer, Saudi Arabia	Al Hayer, Saudi Arabia	Almeria, Spain	Jordan Valley, Jordan	Spain	Spain	Jarama River subbasin, Spain	Caldes de Montbui, Spain	Caldes de Montbui, Spain	Kiryat Gat, Israel	Rehovot, Israel	Almeria, Spain	Spain	
NA	NA	NA	1.3	1.2	0.9	NA	NA	NA	NA	0.05	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	
DW	DW	DW	FW	FW	FW	FW	DW	FW	FW	DW	FW	FW	FW	DW	FW	FW	
20.0	38.0	0.0	75.0	45.0	34.0	0.2	10.0	2.0	0.5	1.1	30.0	16.0	1.0	2.0	0.1	0.2	
Parsley	Rucola	Carrot	Cabbage	Green beans	Eggplant	Tomato fruit	Parsley	Radish	Lettuce	Maize	Lettuce	Carrot	Carrot	Cucumber	Tomato	Lettuce	
2,100	2,100	2,100	452	452	452	N/M	2,100	1927	1927	220	350	350	1910	1,490	M/M	39	
Field	Field	Field	Field	Field	Field	Greenhouse	Field	Greenhouse	Greenhouse	Field	Greenhouse	Greenhouse	Lysimeter	Greenhouse	Commercial greenhouse	Greenhouse	
Gabapentin						Hydrochlorothiazide				Ibuprofen			Lamotrigine		Mepivacaine		

Table 1 (continued)								
	Experiment	Concentration		Tissue concentration	Fresh weight (FW)			
Compound	type	(ng/g or ng/L) ^a	Plant species	(ng/g)	or dry weight (DW	BCF	Location	Reference
Naproxen	Field	252	Cabbage	38.0	FW	NA	Al Hayer, Saudi	[11]
							Arabia	
	Greenhouse	576	Lettuce	113.0	FW	NA	Caldes de	[22]
							Montbui, Spain	
	Greenhouse	576	Carrot	17.0	FW	NA	Caldes de	[22]
							Montbui, Spain	
Nicotine	Field	220	Maize	1.2	DW	NA	Jarama River	[14]
							subbasin, Spain	
Nicotinic acid	Greenhouse	4,738	Lettuce	3.1	FW	NA	Spain	[15]
Ofloxacin	Field	2,200	Wheat grain	2.3	DW	NA	Pennsylvania,	[21]
							USA	
Sildenafil	Greenhouse	30	Tomato	0.2	DW	NA	Rehovot, Israel	[10]
Sulfamethoxazole	Field	55.23	Tomato fruit	0.6	DW	5.4	Nicosia, Cyprus	[24]
	Field	22,000	Wheat grain	0.6	DW	NA	Pennsylvania,	[21]
							USA	
Tramadol	Greenhouse	N/M	Tomato	0.7	FW	NA	Almeria, Spain	[18]
Triclosan	Semi-field	40	Maize	3.1	FW	4.24	Madrid, Spain	[16]
	Semi-field	40	Lettuce	1.0	FW	0.13	Madrid, Spain	[16]
	Semi-field	40	Radish	1.8	FW	0.03	Madrid, Spain	[16]
Trimethoprim	Field	73.23	Tomato	3.4	DW	6.4	Nicosia, Cyprus	[24]
Venlafaxine	Greenhouse	649	Lettuce	2.3	FW	NA	Spain	[15]
	Greenhouse	N/M	Tomato	0.1	FW	NA	Almeria, Spain	[18]

(continued)
-
e
q
Ŀ
<u> </u>

		Reference	[25]				[26]		[27]			[28]				[29]				[30]			[31]			(continued)
		Findings	Uptake of atenolol, ciprofloxacin,	4, epianhydrotetracycline,	glyburide, naproxen, triamterene	(all <6 ng/g) relative to control	BCF greater in unspiked biosolid;	biosolids increased sorption and decreased desorption of EE2	No plant uptake occurred			Biosolids significantly reduced	uptake for all plant species over 60d	growth compared with no biosolid;	biosolid rate had smaller effect	13 pharmaceuticals accumulated in	leaves and roots; large	bioaccumulation for sertraline,	tramadol and carbamazepine	Biosolids significantly reduced	BCF for tomato, lettuce and wheat	ears	No plant uptake occurred			
Biosolids	application	rate	8 t/ha (nine	WWTPs)			90 t/ha (one	WWTP)	5-40 t/ha	(one	(MMTP)	5 and 10%	w/w (one	WWTP)		3-4% w/w	(two	WWTPs)		60 m ³ /ha	(one	WWTP)	1.5% w/w	(one	WWTP)	
	Plant	species	Sweet	corn	Carrot	Tomato Potato	Wheat		Wheat	Corn		Celery	Carrot	Pak choi		Spinach				Tomato	Wheat	Lettuce	Soybean	Wheat		
	Concentration	(ng/g) ^a	0.8-5,870				$500 (10,000^{a})$		165-492			$7,600^{a}$				Up to 920				29 ± 2			22 (DCF),	217 (IBU)		
		Compound	44 pharmaceuticals				17α -ethynylestradiol (EE2)		Climbazole Clotrimazole	Miconazole		Carbamazepine				45 pharmaceuticals				Carbamazepine (and metabolites)			Ketoprofen (KET)	Naproxen (NAP)	Diclofenac (DCF)	
	Experiment	type	Field				Greenhouse		Field			Greenhouse				Greenhouse				Lysimeter			Greenhouse			
		Location	Canada				Chile		China							Czech	Republic			Israel			Sweden			

lable 2	continued)						
					Biosolids		
	Experiment		Concentration	Plant	application		
Location	type	Compound	(ng/g) ^a	species	rate	Findings	Reference
UK		50 pharmaceuticals (mainly anti-	ND	Sugar	ND	No plant residues of 50 pharmaceu-	[32]
		microbial) screened		beet		ticals detected; biosolid application	
				Oilseed		rate and pharmaceutical loads not	
				rape		done	
				Wheat			
USA	Greenhouse	Carbamazepine (CBZ),	93	Cabbage	2% w/w	CBZ, SFM (not aerials), SBT	[33]
		Salbutamol (SBT), Sulfamethoxa-	30		(one	detected in cabbage. Biosolids	
		zole (SFM), Trimethoprim (TRM)	67		(dTWW)	decreased frequency of SFM uptake	
			25			but not CBZ, SBT	
	Greenhouse	Carbamazepine (CBZ)	$10,000^{a}$	Soybean	5 t/ha (one	Biosolids led to greater uptake	[13]
		Diphenhydramine (DPH)			(dLMM)	(compared with pharmaceutical-	
		Fluoxetine (FLX)				irrigated soil) due to greater load but	
						reduced bioconcentration factor	
	-						

^aArtificially spiked

Table 2 (continued)

2 Plant Uptake from Hydroponic Solutions

Hydroponic exposure, where pharmaceuticals are dissolved in nutrient solutions and plants grow suspended either in the solution or in non-reactive media like glass beads, can offer a mechanistic understanding of plant uptake without the complexities of soil-plant-pharmaceutical interactions. In addition to being ideal systems for uptake studies, hydroponic studies maintain environmental relevance especially as it relates to phytoremediation of contaminated water systems.

2.1 Mechanistic Uptake

One of the earliest mechanistic uptake studies was conducted with the tetracycline antibiotic oxytetracycline in alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*) [37]. This study revealed that the uptake into alfalfa from solution followed the Michaelis-Menten equation which relates the rate of uptake and substrate concentration with a measure of substratebinding affinity called the Michaelis constant (K_M). The uptake of a structurally different sulphonamide antibiotic, sulfamethazine, in alfalfa was investigated by Kurwadkar et al. [38], which revealed that the greatest concentrations were detected in the roots, whilst there was some translocation to other plant portions including shoots and sap. Interestingly, they found that higher concentrations were measured in the upper plant tissues compared to lower shoots. Mathews et al. [39] investigated the uptake and translocation of the antimicrobials triclocarban and triclosan in 11 food crops. Their study revealed that translocation of 1.9% and 3.7% for triclocarban and triclosan, respectively. Concentrations in tubers were also less than the concentrations in roots.

The use of chemical inhibition of various plant processes has also provided insights into the uptake mechanisms of antibiotics. Kong et al. [37] followed up their initial oxytetracycline experiments by showing that decreased uptake corresponded to plant metabolic inhibition using 2,4-dinitrophenol and that aquaporin competition with glycerol and silver ions (Ag^+) had no impact on oxytetracycline uptake. Furthermore, cellular stress resulting from mercury (Hg^{2+}) exposure also reduced uptake. These results suggest that uptake of oxytetracycline is not passive, rather an energy-dependent process. More recently, Zhang et al. [40] used the respiration inhibitors salicylhydroxamic acid and sodium azide (NaN_3) and the aquaporin blocker mercuric chloride $(HgCl_2)$ to show that the uptake of three veterinary antibiotics (chlortetracycline, sulphamethoxazole, sulfathiazole) was also an active process and that the uptake of chlortetracycline and sulfamethoxazole was associated with aquaporin activity.

¹⁴C radiolabelled compounds have been used to provide detailed insights into the distribution of pharmaceuticals in hydroponic systems. The benefits of using radiolabelled compounds include the ability to overcome poor ionisation of some

compounds as well as matrix effects inherent in traditional mass spectrometric instruments [41]. Dodgen et al. [42] investigated the uptake of diclofenac and naproxen and found limited translocation of these anionic compounds in plant edible portions of lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*) and collards (*Brassica oleracea*). Interestingly, they found that the vast majority of ¹⁴C was not extractable from plant tissues.

Meanwhile, the development of multi-residue methods for the analysis of pharmaceuticals with varied physiochemical properties was used to elicit associations between compound properties and distribution within plants. In experiments using 20 frequently occurring pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs), the root uptake of neutral compounds was shown to positively correlate with the pH-adjusted octanol-water partition coefficient (K_{OW}) adjusted for pH (D_{ow}), whilst the inverse correlation governed translocation from roots to leaves [43]. These trends suggest the importance of fat solubility (lipophilicity) in root uptake and water solubility (hydrophilicity) in xylem-mediated translocation. This work builds upon the results of Tanoue et al. [44] who associated plant uptake with octanol-water partitioning and translocation with chemical polarity using a suite of 13 pharmaceutical compounds.

Recently, the uptake of 13 other commonly used pharmaceuticals selected to represent the wide range of physicochemical properties inherent to these compounds was investigated in lettuce [34]. This study investigated the multiple inter- and intracellular pathways by which pharmaceuticals can enter and translocate within plants. These were the symplast pathway, utilising either passive diffusion across the lipid bilayer membranes or transport utilising integral protein transport in cell walls, and the apoplast pathway as well as the role of the casparian strip in controlling which compounds enter the xylem. The study suggests that there is a molecular weight cut-off around 300 g/mol where physical limitation controlled the pathway that a compound could utilise. Furthermore, using a traditional sorption isotherm system with freeze-dried plants roots, the sorption affinity of these compounds was shown to be a strong indicator of root accumulation and predicted limited translocation to other plant parts [34].

Protein-mediated transport was demonstrated for the psychoactive pharmaceutical amitriptyline by Nason et al. [45]. Investigating the uptake of four psychoactive drugs (carbamazepine, amitriptyline, fluoxetine and lamotrigine), the authors found that the uptake strongly followed transpiration-based accumulation and suggested that underestimation by the model could be the result of a lack of consideration of transporter protein-facilitated uptake. Furthermore, this work also showed that the co-occurrence of psychoactive compounds affected both uptake and metabolism of these compounds and highlights the need for more studies investigating mixture effects. Nason et al.'s study confirmed the earlier work of Dodgen et al. [46], whereby the hydroponic system was used to show that increased transpiration resulted in increased uptake for ionised compounds.

2.2 Plant Metabolism

Hydroponic studies have also been used to reveal the mechanisms used by plants to metabolise pharmaceuticals and identify the metabolites. Emhofer et al. [47] used high-resolution mass spectrometry to reveal the metabolites of four non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (ketoprofen, mefenamic acid, naproxen and diclofenac). Using the model species cress (*Lepidium sativum*), they identified 16 metabolites formed by hydroxylation of the parent compound or conjugation with polar plant metabolites like glucose, amino acids and small organic acids. They then followed this up by studying the in-plant metabolism of lipid-lowering statin drugs, including atorvastatin, fluvastatin and simvastatin. These studies revealed nearly 40 metabolites and confirmed hydroxylation and conjugation with sugars and amino acids as major metabolic pathways [48]. Importantly, at near environmentally relevant exposures (1–10 μ g/L), 50% of the metabolites identified could be detected. Hydroxylation of diclofenac has been shown to occur within 3 h of exposure, whereby the resulting 4'OH-diclofenac metabolite is conjugated with glucose [49].

Recently, Chuang et al. [34] investigated the metabolism of caffeine in lettuce. Their studies revealed the significance of demethylation reactions in the metabolism of caffeine in lettuce roots with oxidation and hydroxylation providing other metabolic pathways. Using authentic standards for eight metabolites, this study revealed that 20% of the initially applied caffeine was transformed into demethylated metabolites.

2.3 Environmental Phytoremediation: Uptake in Aquatic Plants

The environmentally relevant implications of hydroponic exposure are demonstrated by studies investigating the suitability of aquatic plants, often referred to as hydrophytes or macrophytes, for phytoremediation in wetlands. Whilst addressed in detail in chapter "Conclusions and Future Perspectives", it should be noted that an extensive amount of work has been done investigating the plant uptake of pharmaceuticals in these systems including veterinary medicines [50, 51], triclosan [52], metformin [53], ibuprofen [54] and diclofenac [55]. More generally, the efficacy of constructed wetlands in the removal of 137 pharmaceuticals was reviewed by Verlicci and Zambello [56].

3 Plant Uptake from Spiked Soil

Following identification of potential pathways by which pharmaceuticals, from both human and veterinary origin, can accumulate in soils, work started to evaluate the potential for uptake and accumulation of these chemicals in plants. This was primarily led from a human health perspective with a need to assess the risks from consuming edible food crops contaminated with pharmaceutical residues [57].

Some of the earliest published research, from mid-2000 onwards, started by assessing the uptake and accumulation of pharmaceuticals in plants, from soils spiked directly with chemical residues. Boxall et al. [57] provided some of the first experimental evidence that veterinary medicines persist in soils and can accumulate in carrot (*Daucus carota*) roots (tubers) and lettuce leaves. Results suggested that a combination of chemical properties and the crop species influenced the degree of uptake, with only two of the ten target analytes detected both in the carrot and the lettuce leaves (florfenicol and trimethoprim) with levamisole also observed in lettuce leaves and diazinon and enrofloxacin in the carrot roots. The lack of uptake of some pharmaceuticals can be well explained by their degradation in soils, with >90% of dissipation of amoxicillin, sulfadiazine and tylosin observed by the time the lettuce plants were harvested.

Building on the results from the Boxall et al. [57] study, Carter et al. [5] carried out a series experiments to elucidate relationships between the fate of pharmaceuticals in soils and potential uptake by plants. The consistently high carbamazepine uptake into both radish (*Raphanus sativus*) and ryegrass (*Lolium perenne*) ($<52 \mu g$ / g, dry weight) was suggested to result from a combination of persistence in the soil (DT50 > 40 days), a high degree of bioavailability in soil pore water and being a moderately hydrophobic (log K_{ow} 2.25) and unionised compound. Meanwhile, when the pharmaceutical demonstrated fast dissipation in the soil (e.g. sulfamethazine), this results in diminishing concentrations in the soil matrix and thus smaller fractions are available for uptake. Carbamazepine is a neutral compound with a K_{ow} value similar to where maximum uptake of neutral organics is observed according to the Gaussian distribution proposed by Briggs et al. [58]. Similar results were recently published by Li et al. [28] who also observed that out of a suite of 15 pharmaceuticals spiked into a sandy loam soil, carbamazepine accumulated to the greatest extent in radish leaves and roots, which was up to 738 times greater than the accumulation of the least accumulated compound estrone in the roots. Carbamazepine was weakly sorbed to soil, as well as being highly persistent, making it highly favourable for plant uptake.

Comparatively, Carter et al. [5] observed more hydrophobic pharmaceuticals (e.g. fluoxetine and diclofenac) accumulated to a greater extent in the roots with low translocation capacity to aerial plant organs. As these chemicals were extensively ionised at test soil pH, relationships between log D_{ow} and accumulation in the plants revealed a general increase in log D_{ow} corresponded to an increase in plant uptake factors. Meanwhile, [28] demonstrated, with a strong positive correlation (R^2 0.94), that log D_{ow} was a good predictor of plant bioconcentration from pore water (BCF_{pore water}) for non-ionised pharmaceuticals, with similar relationships not evident for ionised pharmaceuticals. Interestingly, the relationship with log D_{ow} for non-ionised pharmaceuticals (BCF_{soil}) implying that pharmaceuticals present in soil pore water represent the major bioavailable fractions for plant uptake. Li et al. [28] concluded that BCFs calculated on the basis of pharmaceutical

concentration in bulk soil are not comparable amongst the studies using different soils because of the varying affinities of pharmaceuticals to soils. For example, the differences in soil-based BCFs between three soils for caffeine, carbamazepine and lamotrigine in tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*) or cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*) were found to be 20, 7.8 and 245 times, respectively [10]. To follow this up, Li et al. [28] applied the quasi-equilibrium partition model, first developed by Chiou et al. [59], with extensive literature data and found that the root concentration factors (RCF) correlated strongly with chemical-root lipophilic coefficients ($f_{lip}K_{ow}$).

3.1 Distribution Amongst Different Plant Organs

Accumulation in different plant organs of the same species can be explained by movement of the chemicals in the xylem from the roots, upwards towards aerial tissues which is driven by the transpiration stream [28]. Research to date underpins that this is largely driven by chemical properties of the pharmaceuticals.

For example, ionisation of functional groups was shown to play a significant role in the distribution of pharmaceuticals in the radish experiment by Li et al. [28]. Both carbamazepine and lamotrigine have similar log D_{ow} values (2.45 and 2.57, respectively) and molecular weights (236.27 and 256.10 g/mol, respectively) and based on their pKa values were known to exist in their neutral form in the pore water. However, the magnitude of pharmaceutical uptake towards the aerial tissues, measured by a translocation factor, was approximately four times larger for carbamazepine (~8.0) than lamotrigine (~2.0). This was explained by the fact that 41% of lamotrigine became positively charged in the vacuoles, meaning that it became trapped in the negatively charged cell walls and thus reduced the translocation of lamotrigine to the leaf material. In comparison, carbamazepine has no ionisable functional groups and would have had no ionic interaction with the cell walls. Ion trapping has been previously shown to enhance the accumulation of organic chemicals in plants due to the alteration of chemical speciation in cell organelles, whereby cationic chemicals become attracted to negatively charged plant root cell membranes [60].

Recently, Li et al. [61] used radioautographic analysis to understand the distribution patterns of ¹⁴C labelled carbamazepine uptake by three edible plant species, celery (*Apium graveolens*), pak choi (*Brassica rapa* subsp. *chinensis*) and carrot. Whilst ¹⁴C-carbamazepine was taken up by all three plants, a lower amount of ¹⁴C was visualised in the stems in comparison to the roots and leaves supporting earlier findings that the movement of carbamazepine towards fruits and leaves is driven by transpiration processes with stems serving as a pathway for transport of carbamazepine by mass flow [5]. Movement of carbamazepine via mass flow towards the aerial parts of the plant has also been suggested to be responsible for the accumulation of this pharmaceutical in the nectar and pollen of flowering plants [62]. In this study, residues of carbamazepine up to 371 ng/mL and 30 µg/g were detected in nectar and pollen sampled from zucchini flowers (*Cucurbita pepo*) grown in

carbamazepine spiked soil $(0.5-20 \ \mu g/g)$. Under realistic exposure conditions from the use of recycled wastewater, carbamazepine concentrations were estimated to be 0.37 ng/L and 30 ng/kg in nectar and pollen, respectively. These findings were then used to simulate pharmaceutical exposure to honeybees via contaminated nectar and pollen at a landscape scale. This work illustrates a fundamental first step in assessing the risk of pharmaceuticals to bees, although more work is needed to assess the accumulation of a wider range of pharmaceuticals in nectar and pollen in fruiting plants. Given the biological potency of pharmaceuticals, accumulation of these chemicals in nectar and pollen suggests potential implications for honeybee health, with unknown ecosystem consequences.

Plant uptake of the antidiabetic compound metformin, the antibiotic agent ciprofloxacin and the anti-coccidial narasin was investigated in a spiked soil exposure with barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) (root, leaf, seed) and carrot Napoli (root, leaf) [63]. Whilst metformin was the only pharmaceutical to be detected in all plant compartments, all pharmaceuticals were measured at higher concentrations in plant roots compared to their aboveground compartments in barley and carrot. Higher concentrations in roots than aboveground compartments were similarly observed for all pharmaceuticals tested where chemicals were spiked into a growth medium by means of exposure [64, 65]. Interestingly, within the carrot root itself, [57] observed that a majority of the veterinary medicines that were taken up were associated with the outer layer of the carrot, with the exception of trimethoprim. Similar results were found by Eggen et al. [63] where metformin BCFs for carrot and potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) were higher in the peels than for the cores. These results demonstrate that even within the root itself, there is variation in pharmaceutical accumulation between the various plant organs.

However, other studies have observed that pharmaceutical distribution between different plant organs is dependent on the plant species in question and the pharmaceutical itself. In spiked soil studies, differences in accumulation of pharmaceuticals between radish leaf and radish root were also observed by [5], with higher concentrations in the roots reported for fluoxetine, triclosan and propranolol which translated into larger uptake factors (based on soil concentrations) for these chemicals in the roots. Comparatively, higher total concentrations and larger uptake factors (based on soil concentrations) for carbamazepine and diclofenac were observed in the radish leaf in comparison to the root. Studies showing higher concentrations of pharmaceuticals in aboveground parts compared to roots have been reported previously, when pharmaceuticals were added to soil-plant systems either via the addition of biosolids or reclaimed wastewater [8, 13, 23]. The difference in accumulation amongst pharmaceuticals clearly demonstrates the significant role of chemical properties play in the distribution of pharmaceuticals within a single plant species.

Karnjanapiboonwong et al. [66] evaluated the accumulation of triclosan and 17 α -ethynylestradiol (EE2) in the pinto bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) in both sand and soil exposures. Plants accumulated EE2 at higher concentrations than triclosan which was thought to be related to the sorption of these compounds in soil, with less triclosan chemical available for plant uptake in comparison to the more bioavailable EE2. In the soil exposure, both EE2 and triclosan accumulated to a greater extent in

the roots than the leaves of the pinto bean, up to 31 µg/g and 6.4 µg/g, respectively. Unlike most published research where plant samples are taken on the final day of harvest for chemical analysis, samples in this experiment were taken every 7 days for a period of 28 days which enabled the kinetics of plant uptake to be evaluated. In the soil exposure, maximum accumulation in the roots was reached after 14 days for both chemicals, after which there was little to no further increase. In fact, the distribution of EE2 to roots decreased over time from 1.5% in the first week to 0.8% in the fourth week. Conversely, for the sand exposure, accumulation was much larger on the whole and continued to increase in a linear fashion in the roots for both EE2 and triclosan. Comparatively, the distribution of EE2 in leaves from the sand exposure was very low (0–0.7%) during the first 3 weeks, although it did increase over time, whereas it was very low in leaves (0.1–0.7%) over the entire study period.

3.2 Differences in Accumulation Amongst Different Plant Species

Studies previously discussed highlight differences in the uptake and accumulation of pharmaceuticals not only within various plant organs but also across a wide range of plant species. Differences may be explained by factors such as degree of root growth, transpiration rates and the size and shape of the leaf material. Differences in plant lipid contents may also be important as this can affect the sorption of hydrophobic chemicals [67]. For example, the lipid content of perennial ryegrass is higher than for radish bulbs, which only contain trace amounts of lipid. Carter et al. [5] suggested this may, in part, explain the lower uptake of carbamazepine, diclofenac and propranolol in radish. Differences in plant uptake behaviour, however, could not be solely attributable to differences in lipid content between plants, which was supported by findings in a study by Wu et al. [68].

The role of species traits in plant uptake has been comprehensively addressed in a greenhouse study by Eggen et al. [63] who investigated the accumulation of the antidiabetic medication, metformin, in nine edible plant species encompassing fruits, cereals, leaves and roots. The species included barley (*Hordeum vulgare* cv. Edel), wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Bjarne), oat (*Avena sativa* cv. Berlinda), carrot (*Daucus carota* cvs. Napoli and Amagar), potato (*Solanum tuberosum* cv. Astrix), tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* cv. Suzanne), zucchini (*Cucurbita pepo* cv. Black Beauty), bean (*Vicia faba* cv. Red Epicure) and rape (*Brassica rapa* cv. Valo, *Brassica napus* cv. Sheik and *Brassica napus* cv. Sola). High uptake and translocation of metformin in oily seeds of rape *B. napus* and *B. rapa* were measured with BCFs up to 21.72. Comparatively, the BCFs for the cereals were 15–70 times lower, 0.29, 0.91 and 1.35 for wheat, barley and oat, respectively, and accumulation factors of metformin in tomato and squash fruits were even less. The authors suggested this might be a result of metformin being able to mimic natural nitrogen compounds which are easily carried across membranes via transporters in high allocation

nitrogen crops such as *B. napus*. Meanwhile, translocation rates of metformin to fruits were observed to be influenced by distance from the root, with BCFs for the first truss of mature tomato fruits (0.024) significantly lower than the fourth truss (0.058). A corresponding, but not significant, trend for BCF for the first (0.122) and fourth (0.182) fruits of squash was found.

3.3 Metabolism

A study by Carter et al. [36] on uptake of benzodiazepines, which also highlighted the importance of the relationship between soil partitioning, ionisation of benzodiazepines and plant uptake, included an analysis of known benzodiazepine metabolites. Results revealed active in-plant metabolism of benzodiazepines, potentially analogous to the known metabolic transformation pathway of benzodiazepines in humans. Interestingly, the metabolites detected in the diazepam, temazepam and chlordiazepoxide treatments were benzodiazepine parent compounds in their own right. Significant concentrations of nordiazepam were detected in the diazepam- and chlordiazepoxide-exposed plants, in both soil types, which were in excess of the concentration reported for the parent compound [36].

Eggen et al. [63] also analysed plant samples for guanylurea, a known metabolite of metformin. It was only detected in barley grains, bean pods, potato peel and small potatoes in the range of 2.6–5.7 mg/kg with no relationship between high plant metformin concentration and the detection of guanylurea. As with the benzodiazepine study, as guanylurea was not detected in the soil, this supports active in-plant metabolism processes rather than root uptake of guanylurea from the soil. With a predominant focus of assessing plant uptake and accumulation of pharmaceutical parent compounds, these studies highlight the need for further research to elucidate the metabolic pathways pharmaceuticals in plants and to determine whether the resulting metabolite products retain their bioactive nature and thus pose a risk to human and ecosystem health.

The last 15 years have generated a wealth of research from both greenhouse and growth chamber studies where soils have been spiked with a range of pharmaceuticals. Such studies have shown clear differences in accumulation between plant species and amongst various plant organs. However, where soils have been spiked to replicate exposure in the environment, the concentrations used in these studies are often in excess of measured environmental concentrations which have been reported in the μ g – low mg/kg range. For example, Boxall et al. [57], Li et al. [28], Karnjanapiboonwong et al. [66] and Carter et al. [5, 36] all spiked soils at concentrations of approximately 1 mg/kg, whilst Eggen et al. [63], Eggen and Lillo [69] and Ahmed et al. [70] reported nominal concentrations for their studies to range between 5 and 20 mg/kg. However, it is important to consider these studies are generally designed to understand kinetic uptake mechanisms and explore potential fate processes such as metabolism, and therefore spiking at higher concentrations is essential to ensure uptake into the plant to observe these changes.

4 Plant Uptake from Wastewater Irrigation

Increasingly, wastewater, treated and untreated, has become an alternative for diminishing freshwater reserves in water-stressed regions throughout the world [62]. As wastewater is a known reservoir for human-use and veterinary pharmaceuticals, the reuse of wastewater represents an important pathway for these biologically active compounds to enter the environment. As such, literature has increasingly investigated how routine irrigation with wastewater may impact the levels of pharmaceuticals and their metabolites in plants, with a particular focus on the edible portions included in the human diet.

4.1 Fortified Wastewater Exposure

Wastewater represents a complex matrix that is theoretically composed of a mixture of the residues of potentially hundreds of pharmaceuticals that are consumed by the population serviced by a particular wastewater treatment plant or WWTP [71]. This complexity makes the study of the fate and uptake of pharmaceuticals in soil-plant systems challenging. Therefore, studies have been undertaken using water fortified with known concentrations of specific pharmaceuticals as a means to simplify experiments. There have even been some efforts to develop synthetic wastewater which provides consistent exposure of study compounds whilst increasing environmental relevance as it approaches wastewater and wastewater effluent [72, 73].

4.1.1 Impacts of Plant Species

As has been shown in soil-spiked systems, different plant species accumulate pharmaceuticals at different rates and in various tissue compartments (e.g. root, shoot and fruit). Studies utilising pharmaceutical-fortified irrigation water have also demonstrated these trends. One such study fortified water to irrigate arugula (Eruca sativa) and corn (Zea mays) with eight pharmaceutical compounds at concentrations measured in Italian wastewater ranging from 4.6 ng/L (salbutamol) to 249 ng/L (lincomycin) as well as mixtures 10x and 100x these measured concentrations [74]. Lincomycin and ofloxacin were the only compounds detected above the limits of detection in corn grain at the environmentally relevant exposures, whereas all eight compounds were detected in the arugula leaves. Arugula uptake of three pharmaceuticals (atenolol, sulfamethoxazole and carbamazepine) was investigated by Kodesova et al. [29] in addition to three other vegetables (lettuce, spinach and radish). Through their analysis of carbamazepine and its metabolism, they showed that the two Brassicaceae species (radish and arugula) were far less efficient in metabolising the parent compound than lettuce and spinach. Sallach et al. [75] showed a sub-species level difference in the uptake of two antibiotic compounds (lincomycin, sulfamethoxazole) by two different lettuce cultivars. By sampling at three points throughout the growth stage, they also demonstrated how the rate of plant growth during the maturation process can exceed the rate of uptake, resulting in decreasing concentrations in lettuce leaves. Azanu et al. [76] showed similar relative concentrations of amoxicillin and tetracycline uptake in the edible portions of lettuce and carrot with average concentrations of amoxicillin 27.1 ng/g and tetracycline 20.2 ng/g.

Such results have contributed to prioritisation efforts, like that of Christou et al. [77], who ranked different crop species based on potential risk resulting from the accumulation of pharmaceuticals. They show that leafy green vegetables and root edible vegetables pose the most significant human exposure risk due to the consumption of pharmaceuticals in fresh produce.

4.1.2 Impacts of Soil Type

Unlike hydroponic systems, the soil-plant system introduces both the relevance and complexities of chemical-soil-plant interactions. А few studies using pharmaceutical-fortified irrigation water have been conducted using soils of differing properties in an effort to determine how soil-pharmaceutical interactions impact uptake. In addition to four plant species, Kodesova et al. [29] also investigated three soil types (loess, paragneiss and sand). Interestingly, they showed that differences in transformation processes of the compounds in the different soils had a more significant impact on uptake than the sorption affinity of the compounds to the different soils. Sallach et al. [78] utilised a manipulated soil system, whereby sand and Sharpsburg silt clay were mixed at varying proportions to provide a low organic sand, sandy loam and loam soil. Uptake into lettuce of three antibiotic compounds (lincomycin, oxytetracycline and sulfamethoxazole) was compared with their sorption coefficient (K_d) values in each of the three soils. Results showed that only the uptake of sulfamethoxazole in lettuce shoots followed the expected trend of increasing uptake resulting from decreasing soil sorption (K_d) , whereas oxytetracycline, with a K_d value three orders of magnitude greater than sulfamethoxazole, was not detected in lettuce shoots.

4.1.3 Impacts of Environmental Conditions

Whereas the hydroponic system has been used to show the significance of transpiration rate on pharmaceutical uptake [45, 46], the fortified irrigation system has been used to evaluate how environmental processes, namely, soil moisture conditions, impact the uptake of pharmaceuticals. Santiago et al. [79] used varied volumetric soil moisture depletion thresholds of 14% (-4.26 kPa), 10% (-8.66 kPa) and 7% (-18.37 kPa) to investigate the uptake of atenolol, diclofenac and ofloxacin in cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*), Swiss chard (*Beta vulgaris* var. *cicla*), turnip (*Brassica rapa* var. *rapa*), whole collards, basil (*Ocimum basilicum*), lettuce and cilantro

(*Coriandrum sativum*). They found that, consistently, uptake potential followed ofloxacin > atenolol > diclofenac and that there was a minor influence on uptake resulting from soil moisture depletion, whereby higher concentrations of the compounds were highest in plants grown under the higher soil moisture condition of 14% (-4.26 kPa).

Similarly, the effect of soil moisture, as evaluated by drought stress in lettuce plants, on the uptake of antibiotics and antibiotic-resistant *Salmonella* by lettuce was investigated by Zhang et al. [80]. Using an experimental design where lettuce was grown to maturity using clean freshwater then allowed to reach one of the three wilting conditions (no wilting, mild wilting and severe wilting) prior to irrigation with freshwater fortified with *Salmonella* and sulfamethoxazole, lincomycin and oxytetracycline. Upon irrigation after wilting, all lettuce plants were able to recover, confirming no permanent wilting damage. However, drought conditions did affect concentrations with increasing concentration of lincomycin and oxytetracycline corresponding to increased drought and the inverse results for sulfamethoxazole.

4.1.4 Impact of Irrigation System

Whilst the majority of pharmaceutical irrigation studies utilise or simulate drip irrigation systems, only a few studies have looked at the impact that different irrigation systems have on the accumulation of pharmaceuticals in plants irrigated with reclaimed water. Bhalsod et al. [81] investigated how root and shoot concentrations of 11 pharmaceutical compounds differed between exposure via an overhead irrigation and a drip irrigation system. Their study showed that overhead irrigation significantly increased pharmaceutical concentrations in lettuce shoots even after washing for tylosin, monensin and trimethoprim and highlights foliar sorption as a potentially important mechanism for pharmaceutical incorporation. Concentrations on a fresh weight basis ranging from 0.05 ± 0.04 µg/kg for sulfadiazine to 345 ± 139 µg/kg for carbamazepine, like other studies which have included carbamazepine, showed high levels of uptake and translocation into plant shoots.

Within subsurface drip irrigation systems, the potential to inject air has emerged as a technique to increase crop yields and overcome root zone wetting issues. D'Alessio et al. [82] investigated the potential impact of subsurface air injection on pharmaceutical uptake by lettuce when drip irrigation of water fortified with caffeine, carbamazepine and gemfibrozil. The added aeration increased lettuce plant mass and root length and altered soil microbial communities. It also affected the uptake of pharmaceuticals with increased uptake of carbamazepine and decreased gemfibrozil observed with air injection.

4.2 Wastewater Exposure

Hydroponic, spiked soil and fortified water irrigation studies have provided significant insights into the processes that underlie the uptake and translocation of pharmaceuticals in plants. However, these systems only simulate the agricultural practices by which pharmaceuticals enter the agroecosystem. These studies simplify the issue by removing the complexity of finished wastewater that is also composed of levels of organics, salts and nutrients as well as microbiological activity. Whilst some studies have made efforts to artificially include these complexities with abiotic synthetic wastewater [75], work over the past 10 years has sought to approach and even evaluate pharmaceutical uptake from actual reclaimed wastewater in greenhouse, semi-field and field studies.

One of the challenges of using treated wastewater is that the levels of particular pharmaceuticals fluctuate day-to-day and even intra-day depending on usage practices [83]. Therefore, gaining insights into the mechanisms of uptake is challenging. However, fortifying wastewater with a known concentration of one or more pharmaceuticals ensures a minimum exposure concentration, in addition to the background levels in the wastewater, and allows for the study of uptake with all the additional complexity of the wastewater matrix. Although not field-based studies, studies using actual wastewater described below are limited in number of studies, region of the world studied and compounds investigated (Table 1).

4.2.1 Greenhouse Studies: Israel

Shenker et al. [23] were one of the first to apply this approach of fortifying wastewater to study the uptake and accumulation of carbamazepine in cucumber plants. Greenhouse studies with wastewater fortified with carbamazepine at $1 \mu g/L$ showed that BCFs in plant leaves ranged from 17 to 20, whilst root BCFs were far less at 0.8–1. This approach has been used to show the distribution of both neutral compounds (carbamazepine, lamotrigine and caffeine) and ionic compounds (metoprolol, bezafibrate, clofibric acid, diclofenac, gemfibrozil, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, naproxen, sulfamethoxazole and sildenafil) in plant portions of two root vegetables, carrots and sweet potatoes (*Ipomoea batatas*) [20]. Using treated wastewater from a conventional activated sludge system in Israel fortified with the select pharmaceuticals at environmentally measured concentrations, it was shown that neutral compounds lamotrigine, carbamazepine and the carbamazepine metabolite 10,11epoxycarbamazepine were accumulated at the highest concentrations, as high as 25 ng/g fresh weight. Using a threshold of toxicological concern (TTC) approach, lamotrigine in carrots consumed by children could exceed the TTC threshold and thus be characterised as an emerging concern. Building on this work, Paz et al. [84] showed that sorption of lamotrigine and carbamazepine and its major metabolites in wastewater to soils was governed by soil organic matter content. When the soils produced by the experiments in Malchi et al. [20] were then used for wheat production with rain-fed water, the uptake of carbamazepine and its metabolite in wheat tissues confirmed that the sorption was reversible and compounds sorbed to soil remained available for plant uptake.

This approach was expanded by Goldstein et al. [10] using cucumber and tomato as model crop species. By comparing freshwater and treated wastewater from an Israeli wastewater treatment facility fortified with a cocktail of pharmaceuticals representing a range of physicochemical properties, they showed that the wastewater matrix helped reduce the bioavailability of pharmaceuticals acting as acids and weak acids in solution.

4.2.2 Greenhouse Studies: Mediterranean Region

Whilst the situation in Israel has received much of the attention, due in part to the country's widespread utilisation of recycled wastewater in agricultural production for nearly 40 years, other regional scenarios have also been studied. The uptake of atenolol, carbamazepine and triclosan in three model crops (lettuce, maize and radish) has been studied in the Mediterranean region [16]. Treatments that included freshwater, treated wastewater and wastewater fortified with the three compounds at two different levels ($10 \times$ and $100 \times$) were investigated in outdoor conditions. The study revealed that uptake and translocation occurred and were dependent not only on the pharmaceutical physicochemical properties but also on soil properties as well as plant-specific physiological properties of the model crops. Calderon-Preciado et al. [22] investigated the uptake of microcontaminants from secondary wastewater effluent from a wastewater treatment facility in Spain which included six pharmaceuticals (clofibric acid, ibuprofen, carbamazepine, flunixin, naproxen and diclofenac). Using lettuce and carrots as the model crop species, they tested how different tertiary treatment options (chlorination and UV disinfection) impacted uptake. Their results, as demonstrated by principal component analysis, showed that tertiary treatments were effective in reducing the uptake of non-ionisable compounds into lettuce. Exposure and uptake from Spanish wastewater-derived pharmaceuticals was also investigated by Martinez-Piernas et al. [15] who applied their analytical method of 74 micro-pollutants in numerous plant tissue matrices to investigate the potential accumulation of these analytes in radish and lettuce following routine irrigation with an urban wastewater from a treatment facility operating secondary treatment with a conventional activated sludge system. This study revealed the uptake of nine pharmaceuticals and one metabolite in plant tissues resulting from irrigation at concentrations as high as 57.6 ng/g with the treated wastewater.

All previous studies have utilised simplified and controlled systems to evaluate the uptake and potential food chain transfer of pharmaceuticals in soil-plant systems. These studies have revealed valuable insights to determine the factors that contribute to plant uptake as well as to help prioritise compounds that represent the most significant risk to human exposure. However, comparatively few studies have evaluated the uptake of pharmaceuticals from agricultural field production systems. The work described below is summarised in Table 1.

4.2.3 Field Studies: USA

The Southwest of the USA is composed of arid and semi-arid climates and large population centres putting massive pressure on scarce freshwater resources. Increasingly, the reuse of wastewater has been adopted as an alternative for irrigation. One of the earliest field trials in the USA was conducted by Jones-Lepp et al. [17] where a range of crops that included bell peppers (Capsicum annuum), cantaloupe (Cucumis melo var. cantalupensis), watermelons (Citrullus lanatus), carrots and spinach (Spinacia oleracea) were irrigated under field conditions with treated municipal wastewater from the city of Tucson, Arizona. Root and shoot portions of plant tissues were analysed for the detection of eight emerging contaminants that included four antibiotics (azithromycin, roxithromycin, clarithromycin and clindamycin) as well as methamphetamine, MDMA, pseudoephedrine and the industrial flavouring agent dimethylphenethylamine (DMPEA). Only DMPEA was detected in any of the edible plant tissues, with the highest accumulation at 180 ng/g in watermelon. Additional study in the USA was carried out by Franklin et al. [21] using the "Living Filter" water reuse site in University Park, Pennsylvania. In this study, wheat was grown under a treated wastewater spray irrigation system on approximately 516 acres of mixed-use land. Four pharmaceutical compounds including sulfamethoxazole, trimethoprim, ofloxacin and carbamazepine were studied both on the uptake and surface deposition of wheat grain and straw. Low-level residues of these pharmaceuticals were both detected on the surface and concentrated within the plant tissues with ofloxacin concentration as high as 10.2 ng/g in straw and 2.28 ng/g in the grain.

4.2.4 Field Studies: Mediterranean Region

The Mediterranean region of Europe is characterised by its limited freshwater resources and intense summer light intensity making wastewater reuse an appealing option. Tertiary treated wastewater from two wastewater treatment facilities in Cyprus provided irrigation water for 3 years of study investigating the uptake of diclofenac, sulfamethoxazole and trimethoprim in tomatoes grown under field conditions [24]. The results of this study demonstrate a key research gap that is not accounted for in typical short-term laboratory exposure experiments. Accumulation of all three pharmaceuticals increased in tomato fruits over the course of the three growing seasons, with highest concentrations of all three found in tomatoes harvested in the final year at 11.6, 5.3 and 3.4 ng/g for diclofenac, sulfamethoxazole and trimethoprim, respectively. This is noteworthy because in real wastewater reuse applications, the infrastructure investments and lack of alternative irrigation sources

will necessarily result in continued wastewater applications on the scale of multiple growing seasons.

Whereas the studies described above utilised greenhouse laboratory experimental designs, Martinez-Piernas et al. [18] investigated the uptake of 60 compounds in tomatoes grown in industrial greenhouse production systems with a 10-year history of wastewater irrigation using effluent from a municipal wastewater treatment plant in Spain. Soil in these systems had not been replaced over the course of the 10-year history. Results showed the highest concentrations of most pharmaceuticals in tomato leaves as compared to tomato fruits. Concentrations detected did not pose a human health concern following the toxicological threshold concern approach. Whilst most studies have considered the intentional use of treated wastewater for irrigation, Santiago-Martin and colleagues identified an unintentional exposure route with surface water highly impacted by wastewater treatment effluent upstream is used for crop irrigation [14]. Though their results showed insignificant risk to human health, acetaminophen, ibuprofen, carbamazepine and nicotine were all detected in maize grown from this impacted water source.

4.2.5 Field Studies: North Africa and the Middle East (MENA)

It is not surprising that the MENA region has become an early adopter of wastewater due in large part to the lack of freshwater resources and its arid climate. As previously discussed, Israel has made use of treated wastewater on a large scale now with over 50% of irrigation water coming from treated wastewater. Other countries in the region are utilising this alternative to precious freshwater resources. Pico et al. [11] investigated the accumulation of pharmaceuticals and pesticides in seven vegetable types (cabbage (Brassica oleracea), barley, green beans, eggplants (Solanum melongena), chilli (Capsicum annuum), tomato and zucchini) from fields irrigated with treated wastewater in Saudi Arabia. Their analysis revealed the presence of six pharmaceutical compounds (atenolol, caffeine, carbamazepine, 10,11-epoxycarbamazepine, gemfibrozil and naproxen) in samples taken from fields. Importantly, they also detected a number of pesticide residues in plant tissues demonstrating that chemical exposome is an increasingly complex mixture of compounds from multiple sources. In Jordan, the uptake of 28 micro-pollutants, including many pharmaceuticals as well as the metabolites of carbamazepine, was studied in ten different field-grown vegetable species [19]. The vegetables sampled included carrot, lettuce, potato, zucchini, tomato, pepper, cabbage, parsley, rucola and eggplant all grown in a drip irrigation system. Pharmaceuticals including caffeine, lamotrigine, gabapentin, ciprofloxacin and gemfibrozil, along with carbamazepine and six carbamazepine metabolites, were all detected in plant tissues. Based on this analysis, it was shown that accumulation in edible plants tissues followed leafy shoot > root > fruit edible vegetables. In terms of human health implications, the antibiotic ciprofloxacin and the carbamazepine metabolite, 10,11epoxycarbamazepine, posed the most potential risk to human health.

5 Plant Uptake from Biosolid Amendment

A significant pathway for pharmaceutical exposure to terrestrial organisms is through application of sludge derived from wastewater to terrestrial environments. During wastewater treatment, especially biological treatment processes, large quantities of waste sludge are produced from biomass and inorganic matter. Wastewater sludges are typically high in organic carbon that can enhance their association through sorption with pharmaceuticals, especially pharmaceuticals with physicochemical properties that can promote this interaction. Physicochemical properties that can lead to enhanced sorption include a high (e.g. $>10^3$) octanol-water partition coefficient (K_{ow}) and ionisation of functional groups, especially where cationic or zwitterionic species are formed [85]. A broad range of pharmaceuticals have been detected in wastewater sludges, with antibiotics being particularly prominent, as well as NSAIDs, β -blockers and carbamazepine, with concentrations typically in the $\mu g/\lambda$ kg to low mg/kg concentrations [86-89]. In the case of some classes of antibiotics that contain cationic functional groups at ambient pH, such as fluoroquinolones and tetracyclines, association with wastewater sludge can be substantial. This is despite relatively low K_{ow} (or D_{ow} , which represents the ionised K_{ow} value) values, which can occur for the fluoroquinolones [85]. In contrast, pharmaceuticals such as NSAIDs with primarily anionic functional groups at ambient pH are much less likely to associate with negatively charged surfaces of biosolids [88]. In the case of the antimicrobial triclosan, it is also likely to be at least partially negatively charged at ambient pH (pK_a \sim 8), but the presence of unionised triclosan, which has a high K_{ow} value, leads to its common detection in wastewater sludges [87, 88, 90].

Following wastewater treatment, sludges are then further stabilised to produce biosolids that can be beneficially reused in terrestrial environments for improving soil condition in agriculture and landscape rehabilitation. The amount of biosolid production and reuse varies globally. For example, in China, there are more than 3,500 WWTPs producing more than 6 million tonnes (dry weight) of sludge, of which the majority is appropriately landfilled, incinerated or reused in construction, whilst ~40% is applied to land [91-93]. Land application is likely to include agricultural use, although the amount diverted for this purpose varies considerably between regions. Although the overall land application of sludge as fertiliser in China is <40%, this can vary from none to all depending on the city or region where the sludge is produced [91]. Similarly, in the USA, reuse of biosolids can vary greatly depending on the state where the biosolids are produced, with an overall production of \sim 7 million tonnes/year with \sim 50% reuse in agriculture [94]. In the EU, around 10 million tonnes/year are produced, with the UK producing ~3.5 million tonnes/year of this for 78% agricultural use [95, 96]. Reuse of biosolids is reasonably consistent across regions in other countries such as Australia, which produces around 370,000 tonnes/year, of which 70% is reused for agriculture [97]. In contrast, New Zealand produces relatively low amount of biosolids (~70, 000 tonnes/year) but only uses $\sim 6\%$ for agriculture [97].

Biosolids are generally required to meet certain guidelines with respect to nutrient and contaminant content, although pharmaceutical limits are not applicable [98]. This may in part be related to the relatively low concentrations of pharmaceuticals in biosolids and the subsequent low risk for exposure. Whilst concentrations are generally low, the amount of biosolids applied to land in some jurisdictions can equate to large quantities of pharmaceuticals being transferred each year to agricultural land and being exposed to crops and soil organisms that can be essential for soil health. It is therefore important to assess the potential exposure and risk of pharmaceuticals in these systems to ensure the ongoing beneficial reuse of biosolids can be demonstrated to have little impact.

Comparatively few studies, however, have been undertaken to assess the potential for exposure and uptake of terrestrial organisms in agricultural systems where biosolids have been applied. Of these studies, there have been relatively few pharmaceuticals assessed for uptake into crops (Table 2 summarising pharmaceutical uptake in biosolid amended soils). A notable exception to this was a study by Sabourin et al. [25] who assessed the uptake of ~50 pharmaceuticals in tomato (Solanum lycopersicon), potatoes (Solanum tuberosum), carrots (Daucus carota) and sweet corn (Zea mays) grown in soils amended with biosolids at a rate of 8 t/ha, collected from nine Canadian WWTPs. Of the pharmaceuticals detected in the biosolids only ten (atenolol, caffeine, ciprofloxacin, cocaine, epianhydrotetracycline, glibenclamide, minocycline, naproxen, triamterene, trimethoprim) were detected in any of the plants following biosolid addition. Furthermore, uptake into plants was inconsistent amongst replicates, with very low (maximum 6.25 µg/kg, dry weight) concentrations detected in respective plants, suggesting a very low potential for uptake from recommended biosolid applications [25]. A similar trend is also apparent from a number of other studies, where relatively low uptake of pharmaceuticals occurs through application of biosolids in uptake studies or predicted through modelling [13, 27, 30–33, 61, 99–101]. Furthermore, the presence of biosolids was found to reduce the uptake factors of pharmaceuticals (including carbamazepine, 17α -ethinylestradiol and salbutamol) following their addition to fortified soils, despite their natural loads of pharmaceuticals [30, 33]. This is also consistent with studies where biosolids were fortified with pharmaceuticals. For example, the addition of radiolabelled carbamazepine to biosolids (equivalent to 7.6 mg/kg) and applied to soils at 10% w/w addition rates reduced its BCF in celery (Apium graveolens) roots, stems and leaves [61]. Specifically, the bioavailability of 14 C-carbamazepine was reduced at the end of the celery growing period which resulted in a reduction of $38.6 \pm 18.5\%$, $36.5 \pm 15.9\%$ and $63.3 \pm 6.3\%$ of 14 C in the roots, stems and leaves, respectively, in the 10% biosolid-amended soil. Another study used similarly high concentrations (relative to concentrations measured in unfortified biosolids) of carbamazepine, diphenhydramine and fluoxetine (~10 mg/kg) in spiked biosolids to assess the uptake in soybean (Glycine max) following a relatively high application rate (30% w/w) of biosolids to soils [13]. In this study, the total amount of pharmaceuticals taken up was greater in the biosolid-amended soils, although the BCF was lower for carbamazepine and diphenhydramine. These studies highlight the ability of biosolids to decrease the bioavailability of pharmaceuticals to plants despite the presence of pharmaceuticals in biosolids, due to the enhanced irreversible sorption of pharmaceuticals to biosolids and subsequent decrease in bioavailability to terrestrial organisms.

6 Uptake into Soil Invertebrates

As well as considering the uptake of pharmaceuticals into plants following land application of pharmaceuticals, work has also evaluated the uptake of pharmaceuticals in soil invertebrates, albeit to a lesser extent. A majority of this work has focussed on assessing uptake and accumulation in earthworms from spiked soil under laboratory exposure conditions, although a small number of studies have sampled earthworms from natural soils and have identified the presence of pharmaceuticals following land application of organic wastes. Earthworms represent an ideal sentinel organism for assessing soil contamination, as they are in contact with soil and soil solution, tend to migrate over only short distances and are widely distributed in soils around the globe.

Pharmaceuticals were amongst a suite of 77 anthropogenic waste indicators evaluated by Kinney et al. [102] across three agricultural fields in the Midwest USA. The antibiotic trimethoprim was detected in earthworms sampled from the biosolid- and manure-amended fields, at concentrations of 127 and 61 μ g/kg, respectively. Trimethoprim was notably not detected in the soils from which the earthworms were sampled, thereby prohibiting the calculation of a bioaccumulation factor (BAF). The largest BAF for all anthropogenic waste indicators evaluated in this study was calculated at 27 for the personal care product, triclosan. Nevertheless, this study documents that when pharmaceuticals are present in biosolids and swine manures that are applied to agricultural land, these chemicals can be transferred to, and accumulate in, earthworms, under realistic exposure scenarios.

More recently, Bergé and Vulliet [103] determined levels of pharmaceuticals in earthworm samples collected from various soils around Lyon, France, to test their recently developed simple, rapid and effective multi-residue method (QuEChERS approach) for the determination of veterinary antibiotics and human contaminants in earthworm tissue. Concentrations ranging between a few ng/g and 73.5 ng/g (florfenicol) were observed for veterinary antibiotics, whilst concentrations for the human pharmaceuticals paracetamol and fluvoxamine ranged from below the limit of quantitation to 8.8 and 46.8 ng/g, respectively. Earthworms are in contact with the soil surface and are therefore exposed to a variety of organic pollutants from human activities, as evidenced by the results from the field sampling campaigns detailed above. These results demonstrate exposure to a large number of organic micropollutants, including pharmaceuticals, in the wider environment following commonly adopted sustainable agricultural practices such as amendment with manure and compost. For example, the earthworms analysed in the Bergé and Vulliet [103] study were sampled from kitchen garden soils in receipt of widely available compost.

Earthworms can therefore be considered as a terrestrial organism of choice in risk assessment for identifying sources of pollution or to better understanding the input of contaminants in food chains. Concerning the environmental fate and behaviour of chemicals, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) proposed guidelines to assess the bioaccumulation of chemicals in soil oligochaetes *Test No. 317* [104]. Recommended test species in this guideline include *Eisenia fetida* and *Eisenia andrei* (Lumbricidae), or white worms *Enchytraeus albidus*, *Enchytraeus crypticus* or *Enchytraeus luxuriosus* (Enchytraeidae). The test consists of two phases: an uptake phase, where test organisms are exposed to the test substance incorporated directly into the soil, and an elimination (post-exposure) phase. Following analysis, parameters which characterise the bioaccumulation of a chemical substance can be determined including the bioaccumulation factor (BAF), the uptake rate constant and the elimination rate constant.

Based on the recommendations outlined in the OECD guideline, the kinetics of pharmaceutical uptake in earthworms were evaluated by Carter et al. [105] in a series of radiolabelled laboratory experiments. Variability in pharmaceutical accumulation between chemicals was observed, with calculated pore water-based bioconcentration factors (BCFs) increasing in the order of carbamazepine < diclofenac < fluoxetine < orlistat. The relatively large BCF of 51.5 for orlistat was suggested to be attributable to the minimal elimination of this chemical in the depuration phase, whereas for carbamazepine, the fast elimination rate of 0.14 d^{-1} could account for the smaller BCF of 2.21. Differences in key physiochemical properties known to control the fate of chemicals, such as hydrophobicity, were also suggested to be responsible for the observed differences in accumulation between chemicals. For example, BCFs increased in a similar order to the increase in octanol-water partition coefficients (log K_{ow}) for the respective compounds, supporting previous research that has suggested that the degree of hydrophobicity has a key role to play in the uptake of pharmaceuticals into organisms. However, unlike neutral organic compounds, the uptake of ionisable pharmaceuticals was found to not be driven solely by the hydrophobicity of the chemical.

It has been widely published in scientific literature that pharmaceuticals can behave very differently in different soil types [106]. For example, distribution coefficients (K_d) between soil particles and soil pore waters are known to vary by several orders of magnitude for a range of pharmaceuticals in soils with varying properties [107]. Such differences in pharmaceutical fate would strongly influence the bioavailable fraction of pharmaceuticals available for uptake by soil dwelling species, and indeed, differences in uptake between soil types were observed by Carter et al. [108] in a later study assessing uptake of four chemically distinct pharmaceuticals in five soil types. BCFs of the individual compounds were found to differ across soil types, with greatest variability observed for diclofenac (7.02–69.57) and orlistat (30.50–115.88), whereas smaller variability of the BCFs was noted for fluoxetine (14.09–20.42) and carbamazepine (1.05–1.61). However, further analysis by Carter et al. [108] to understand the relationship between soil and pore water properties and earthworm uptake failed to highlight any key parameters which may be responsible for pharmaceutical uptake into earthworms. Ultimately, this suggests that earthworm uptake is a complex interaction of a variety of factors and processes and does not exclusively rely on a single soil parameter.

Research to date has primarily been carried out using the model species in soil ecotoxicology, *Eisenia fetida*, which is a suggested test species in TGD guidelines. Whilst this is not a native soil-dwelling species, preferring to instead occupy high organic content manures, it is easy to maintain in laboratory cultures. However, biological attributes such as species size, feeding habits and reproduction have been widely reported to play a key role in the uptake and bioconcentration of a range of chemicals including metals and DDE [109-111]. Differences in the uptake of pharmaceuticals between E. fetida and the larger deep-burrowing earthworm, Lumbricus terrestris, have also been observed [112]. In a single soil type, BCFs for carbamazepine and diclofenac were similar between species, whereas for fluoxetine and orlistat, BCFs in *E. fetida* were more than double those seen in *L. terrestris*. Differences in rates of accumulation between species were also observed, with uptake rates faster in E. fetida, with the exception of carbamazepine. Observed differences between species such as this raise concerns around the use of a single test organism in risk assessments and bring into question if the current selected species, E. fetida, is representative of the diverse array of earthworm species that co-exist in the soil environment.

Given that earthworms occupy a low trophic level in terrestrial food webs, uptake and accumulation of pharmaceuticals by earthworms might serve as the entry point for these chemicals into terrestrial food webs and a route of exposure for higher trophic organisms. To date, wildlife exposure to pharmaceuticals remains poorly characterised with only a handful of published studies on this topic. Whitlock et al. [113] detected residues of the antidepressant fluoxetine in wild-grown Eurasian starlings (*Sturnus vulgaris*) feathers at concentrations up to 27.0 ng/g, providing some first evidence of pharmaceutical exposure in the wild. Nevertheless, accumulation of pharmaceuticals in the food chain has the potential to result in secondary toxicity. For example, [114] observed effects in *S. vulgaris* movement after ingestion of wax worms contaminated with fluoxetine and exposure to xenobiotic estrogenic compounds at concentrations similar to that observed in earthworms collected from trickling filter beds resulted in significant enlargement of the high vocal centre (portion of the brain controlling song production), increased song production and complexity and a decrease in immune function in *S. vulgaris* [115, 116].

Nevertheless, the BCFs calculated in laboratory exposures as well as calculated from earthworms sampled from the field are all relatively small (<100) and would suggest the potential for food chain transfer and secondary toxicity is minimal. However, more research is clearly needed to investigate a wider suite of pharmaceuticals, in a broader range of soil types to fully assess the environmental risk of earthworm exposure to these bioactive chemicals. In addition, whilst we know very little about the uptake of pharmaceuticals by earthworms, we know even less about the accumulation of pharmaceuticals by other soil organisms (e.g. springtails and enchytraeids), which also occupy the soil environment and present a risk via food chain transfer.

7 Effects of Pharmaceuticals in Terrestrial Organisms

7.1 Pharmaceutical-Induced Effects in Plants

Once in the environment, pharmaceuticals can maintain their biological potency which has the potential to elicit effects in plants following their uptake and accumulation. Some of the earliest research documenting effects on plants observed phytotoxicity in response to antibiotic exposure, with studies dating back to as early as the 1980s [117].

For example, the antibiotic sulphadimethoxine was found to suppress normal post-germinative development and growth of barley (*Hordeum distichum* L.) roots and leaves growing both on synthetic medium and on soils with different organic content (0–10%) [118]. At harvest, on day 45 of the soil test, barley wet weight in sulphadimethoxine exposures was reduced (pooled treated: 571.10 mg) in comparison to the controls (pooled control: 772.43 mg). Effects were observed at exposure concentration of 300 mg/L and were dependent on the bioaccumulation rate. Sulphadimethoxine dissolved in a nutrient solution was also found to induce a 45% decrease in root growth of barley seedlings (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) at a concentration of 40 μ M [119]. These results were in agreement with previous experimental data on millet (*Panicum miliaceum*), pea (*Pisum sativum*) and maize (*Zea mays*) demonstrating a reduction in root, stalk and leaf growth in response to sulphadimethoxine exposure [65].

In a later study, Migliore et al. [120] evaluated the phytotoxicity of enrofloxacin (50, 100 and 5,000 ug/L) on crop plants *Cucumis sativus*, *Lactuca sativa*, *Phaseolus vulgaris* and *Raphanus sativus*. Concentrations between 50 and 5,000 µg/L induced both toxic effects and hormesis in plants, by significantly modifying both length of primary root, hypocotyl and cotyledons and the number/length of leaves. Enrofloxacin altered all the examined plant organs; however, interestingly, this did not occur in a linear dose-dependent manner: $50 \mu g/L$ exposure increased the length/ number of *Cucumis sativus* leaves, 5,000 µg/L exposure decreased in comparison to control, whilst at 100 µg/L, an intermediate response was seen. A similar biphasic dose response was also observed in *Raphanus sativus* and *Lactuca sativa*, whereby a slight increase in leaf length was measured at lower concentrations.

Both shoot and root biomass of alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) decreased sharply with increasing concentrations of another antibiotic, oxytetracycline, in a growth solution [37]. Whilst oxytetracycline had no effect on alfalfa shoot biomass at 0.002 mM concentrations, the root biomass decreased significantly (p < 0.05) when the OTC concentration was above 0.002 mM. In addition, oxytetracycline decreased shoot and root fresh weight by a maximum of 61% and 85%, respectively, with the shoot/root ratio increasing significantly at lower exposure concentrations, which suggested that the roots are more sensitive to oxytetracycline than shoots.

Similar results were also found by Hillis et al. [121] who observed that roots (carrots) were more sensitive to a suite of ten antibiotics, often by an order of magnitude or more, in comparison to shoots such as lettuce and alfalfa. The response

of the three plant species to antibiotics was highly variable; however, compared with shoot and total length measurements, root elongation was consistently the most sensitive end point. The range of phytotoxicity of the antibiotics was large, with effect concentrations (EC₂₅) ranging from 3.9 to 10,000 µg/L. Chlortetracycline, levofloxacin and sulfamethoxazole were the most phytotoxic antibiotics, with significant effects of chlortetracycline observed as low as 1,000 µg/L and EC₂₅s ranging from 33 to 193 µg/L which the authors noted are lower than reported environmental concentrations of chlortetracycline in swine manure [122]. Interestingly, whilst plant growth was affected, plant germination was insensitive to the antibiotics, with no significant decreases up to the highest treatment concentration (10,000 µg/L).

Phytotoxicity studies have also been carried out using classes of pharmaceuticals other than antibiotics. For example, significant effects ($P \le 0.01$) on plant dry weight across a suite of maize hybrids have been observed in response to exposure to paracetamol, ibuprofen and diclofenac by Hammad et al. [123]. Exposure to paracetamol in particular resulted in significant effects, with plant dry weight decreasing in a linear fashion with increasing paracetamol concentrations. Interestingly, effects were observed to vary amongst the different maize hybrids with plant dry weight decreasing from 204.5 to 172.0 g plant⁻¹ in hybrid ICI 339, whereas a smaller decrease in dry weight was observed in the Syngenta 7720 hybrid from 169.0 to 166.3 g plant⁻¹. The application of paracetamol was also observed to significantly (p < 0.05) decrease grains' yield by up to 50% (75.8 vs. 37.5) in the sensitive maize hybrid (Syngenta 7720), with the smallest decrease in grain weight 34% (81.0 vs. 53.3) found in the resistant maize hybrids.

Detectable carbamazepine concentrations were found in edible zucchini (*Cucurbita pepo*) fruit from 1 to 20 µg/kg by Knight et al. [124], but this study also revealed novel insights into the effect of carbamazepine accumulation on *C. pepo* fruiting. Female *C. pepo* flowers were also unable to set fruit when translocation of carbamazepine resulted in leaf concentrations ≥ 14 mg/kg. These findings may have implications for future agricultural productivity in areas where reclaimed wastewater containing pharmaceuticals is a source of irrigation.

In the plant uptake studies by Boxall et al. [57], a decline in plant growth was observed for the veterinary medicine exposures, phenylbutazone, oxytetracycline and enrofloxacin. However, from a review of published literature, the extent to which a pharmaceutical impact on plant growth appears to be dependent on both the plant and physiochemical properties of the pharmaceutical compound. As such, Boxall et al. [57] observed that, whilst effects were seen in three exposures, there is was no effect of florfenicol, levamisole, trimethoprim and diazinon on plant weight data at the time of harvest.

In fact, positive effects on plant growth parameters in response to pharmaceutical exposure have been reported in recent scientific literature. Effects upon germination, development, growth and physiology of radish and lettuce, after exposure to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) at environmentally relevant concentrations, were evaluated by Schmidt and Redshaw [125]. An increase in *R. sativus* root length was observed upon exposure to tolfenamic acid, and although not statistically significant, meclofenamic acid sodium-exposed *R. sativus* had longer median root lengths than observed under mefenamic acid and the solvent

control treatments. In addition, ibuprofen treatment resulted in statistically significant enhancement of lettuce primary root development in comparison to control. These results support earlier findings that impacts upon higher plants not only are compound specific but also differ between plant species.

It is important to highlight that the majority of studies which have elucidated the effect of antibiotics on plants have used much higher exposure concentrations into a growth medium, which do not resemble in vivo situations occurring in the natural soil environment (e.g. Liu et al. [126] (100–500,000 µg/L), Michelini et al. [127] (11,500 µg/L), Migliore et al. [128] (5–50,000 µgL), Michelini et al. [129] (10000–200,000 µg/kg)). More recently, research has started to explore the potential for sublethal effects, or changes in key plant parameters at lower, environmentally relevant concentrations [130, 131].

7.2 Soil Invertebrate Toxicity

There is a general paucity of published scientific literature concerning the ecotoxicity of pharmaceuticals in soil invertebrates, with a majority of the data that is available focussed on earthworm species. Research has primarily centred on evaluating the effects of veterinary pharmaceuticals (antibiotics) with the most common end points considering survival, reproduction and alterations in behaviour such as avoidance and surfacing in response to pharmaceutical exposure. As with uptake in terrestrial invertebrates, studies have also tended to focus on earthworm species. Research published by Litskas et al. [132] revealed amoxicillin had no significant effects on reproduction or weight gain of earthworms (E. fetida) across the concentration range of 0.64–78.89 mg/kg soil. The effects of another antibiotic, doxycycline, on earthworm reproduction were later published by Litskas et al. [133]. Whilst no effects on earthworm weight were observed following 28 days of exposure to doxycycline, negative effects on the total number of juvenile earthworms were observed at the concentration level of 30 mg/kg soil. Comparatively, doxycycline did not induce effects on earthworm reproduction or mortality following the application of doxycycline spiked pig slurry (75 and 7,500 µg/mL) to a series of soil columns [134]. Low toxicity of antibiotics (sulphamethoxazole, trimethoprim and tetracycline) was also observed by Pino et al. [135] as none of the selected antibiotics were toxic to E. fetida below 2000 mg/kg. Similarly no mortality of earthworms (E. fetida) was observed in a multispecies-soil system at the highest oxytetracycline concentration used (100 mg/kg) [136] However, other tetracycline antibiotics have been shown to significantly impact on earthworms. For example, Lin et al. [137] showed that the total number of juveniles was reduced after exposure to chlortetracycline, with effect concentrations (EC₅₀ values) for juveniles reported at 96.1 mg/kg. Chlortetracycline also reduced cocoon counts (EC₅₀ 120.3 mg/kg) and induced physiological responses and genotoxicity in earthworms.

The effects of antibiotics on earthworms reported by Pino et al. [135] were part of a wider study which evaluated the ecotoxicity of 18 pharmaceuticals which included

non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), lipid regulators, β-blockers as well as antibiotics. Whilst 14 days of exposure to some of the blood lipid regulators, the β-blockers and antibiotics did not result in observed acute toxicity, the NSAIDs and some blood lipid-regulating pharmaceuticals were acutely toxic (lethality) to earthworms (E. fetida) [135]. The greatest toxicity was reported for ibuprofen (lethal concentration, $LC_{50} = 64.80 \text{ mg/kg}$) followed by diclofenac ($LC_{50} = 90.49 \text{ mg/kg}$) and simvastatin (LC₅₀ = 92.70 mg/kg). The lethal concentrations reported for the pharmaceuticals in this study far exceed environmentally relevant concentrations reported for soils irrigated with reclaimed wastewater or amended with biosolids. Similar conclusions were reached in a study of the ecotoxicity of biosolids-borne triclocarban (disinfectant) in earthworms (*E. fetida*, [138]). The LC₅₀ for triclocarban was greater than 40 mg/kg for biosolid-amended soils, which far exceeds the concentration of triclocarban previously reported in soils amended with biosolids. In the same study, the researchers determined that triclocarban in biosolids, even at concentrations exceeding the native concentration, did not affect common measures of microbial activity in soil, soil respiration and ammonification.

Based on published research to date, exposure to individual pharmaceuticals at environmentally relevant concentrations is unlikely to result in earthworm toxicity. However, reclaimed wastewater and biosolids contain a complex mixture of pharmaceuticals together with other organic and inorganic contaminants [2, 3]. A recent study of the ecotoxicity of land-applied biosolids found biosolids to be acutely toxic to earthworms (*E. fetida*) even at environmental relevant application rates to agricultural soils [139]. End points measured in the study included earthworm survival and measures of earthworm reproduction. Biosolids at application rates as low as 1% by mass in soil resulted in a significant reduction in adult earthworm survival and complete lethality at 3 and 4% biosolids in soil. Similar results have been reported in by others [140]. The production of juvenile earthworms and cocoons (measures of reproductive success) was also reduced with increasing exposure to biosolids from 1% up to 4% in soil [139]. More work is needed to elucidate if the toxic effects observed in these studies were the result of synergistic interactions of pharmaceuticals and other contaminants.

A small number of field studies have evaluated the effects of pharmaceuticals on soil invertebrates, with research largely focussed on laboratory tests. In one such study, the abundance of earthworms and springtails in soil beneath the dung from cattle treated with ivermectin was evaluated over 12 months [141]. Whilst ivermectin was detected in the soil beneath the dung pats (<0.006 mg/kg in months 5–7), earthworms (Lumbricidae) and springtails (Collembola) were found to be abundant and generally species rich across the evaluated sites, leading the authors to conclude that ivermectin had little effect on the soil invertebrate populations. Like earthworms, springtails are common small arthropod widely distributed in soils around the globe. However, information concerning the toxicity of pharmaceuticals to springtails is even more limited than for earthworms. One of the most comprehensive multispecies studies reported effects of ivermectin (survival and reproduction) across three species, the earthworm *Eisenia fetida*, the springtail *Folsomia candida* and the predatory mite *Hypoaspis aculeifer* [142]. Survival and reproduction of

collembolans were clearly affected with an LC_{50} of 8.4 mg/kg soil. Predatory mites and earthworms were less sensitive to ivermectin with LC_{50} s calculated to be greater than or equal to 31.6 and 10 mg/kg soil, respectively. Meanwhile, climbazole, an antifungal agent used in some antidandruff shampoos, was found to have no effect on reproduction in springtails (*Folsomia candida*) at concentrations as high as 1,000 mg/kg soil dry mass [143]. However, climbazole did disrupt dehydrogenase enzyme activity in the soil bacterium *Arthrobacter globiformis* with an EC₅₀ of 456 mg/kg soil dry mass.

8 Implications of Pharmaceutical Uptake in Terrestrial Systems and Future Research Needs

Exposure to pharmaceuticals from both an ecosystem perspective (i.e. food chain transfer) and an agricultural (i.e. human exposure) perspective has the potential to result in a suite of unintended consequences. We are starting to drive more towards increased water reuse and biosolid amendment practices. When coupled with the observed effects of pharmaceuticals in terrestrial plants and invertebrates, at environmentally relevant concentrations, this suggests terrestrial systems are at risk from pharmaceutical exposure. This is primarily a result of the bioactive nature of these chemicals, where the chemical potency of pharmaceuticals is retained upon release into the environment. However, as detailed above, contrasting findings exist between the small number of phytotoxicity studies which have been currently published. Differences between toxicological responses exist between test species and experimental conditions for the same pharmaceutical. It is also important to note that observed effects on a whole plant organ that consider a single end point (e.g. germination) do not necessarily reflect effects on other important plant processes that ultimately regulate plant growth and development. More research, characterising this risk using a wider variety of pharmaceuticals under environmentally relevant exposure scenarios, is urgently needed.

To date, pharmaceutical exposure in agricultural systems has been largely ignored when it comes to developing wastewater reuse policy frameworks to support the increasing adoption of sustainable agricultural practices, with a focus typically on more traditional pollutants such as nutrients and metals. As highlighted by [144], more research is needed to quantify the current risk of pharmaceuticals in wastewater reuse systems, in particular where multiple receptors are considered, such as exposure to wildlife and the soil microbial community. This new knowledge will enable the development of thresholds for safe reuse of wastewater treatment by-products.

The above discussion has drawn on research undertaken in countries that are defined as high income (e.g. USA, Canada, Sweden, UK, Israel, Chile) or upper middle income (e.g. China). However, the number of people living in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC), excluding China, was 5 billion in 2018 [145]. There is a considerable difference in how wastewater is collected and treated

in various countries, depending on income status. For example, whilst 70% of wastewater produced from municipal and industrial sources is treated in highincome countries (HIC), this value falls to between 28 and 38% in middle-income countries (MIC), whilst less than 10% of wastewater is treated in low-income countries (LIC) [146]. Furthermore, even where sewerage networks or on-site wastewater systems are available, a high proportion of wastewater that is collected for treatment is not adequately treated, if at all. Treatment of wastewater is a mean of significantly reducing not only the burden of pathogens and excess nutrients but also contaminants such as pharmaceuticals. Whilst deliberate (or direct) reuse of highly treated wastewater for agricultural applications is increasingly seen as a valuable commodity in HICs, wastewater treated to a considerably lower degree can also be reused directly or through contamination of surface and groundwater with wastewater (indirectly) in LMICs [146].

Of the 2.75 million km^2 of agricultural land that requires irrigation, up to 7% (or 200,000 km²) of this total has been estimated to be irrigated with wastewater, at varying degrees of treatment, with around 1 billion people estimated to be consuming agricultural products irrigated in such a manner [147]. Aside from the potential risks this entails for exposure to pathogens and nutrient pollution, this also represents a scenario where minimal mitigation of pharmaceuticals present in wastewater occurs. For example, biodegradation and sorption of pharmaceuticals, without the conditions to support enhanced biological removal of pharmaceuticals found in a WWTP, will be substantially reduced for many pharmaceuticals commonly found in wastewater [148]. As discussed previously, biosolids, generated during effective biological wastewater treatment, can accumulate many pharmaceuticals through hydrophobic and ionic interactions but can also play a protective role in uptake of pharmaceuticals in plants and terrestrial organisms. Additional treatments, including filtration, reverse osmosis and disinfection, are also effective in removing pharmaceuticals from wastewater, but these are more commonly used in HICs because of the initial and ongoing maintenance and cost requirements for their use.

It should be noted, however, that concentrations of pharmaceuticals measured in wastewater produced in HICs are not necessarily representative of wastewater in LMICs. For example, the use of pharmaceuticals in HICs is more prevalent due to the ability to access healthcare and also the higher proportion of chronic diseases that require long-term pharmaceutical therapy [149]. Conversely, the use of pharmaceuticals in human health and agricultural applications (e.g. aquaculture and livestock) is typically poorly regulated or used contrary to regulations in LMICs and pharmaceuticals [149, 150]. The direct and indirect use of wastewater from these agricultural applications can also therefore contribute to pharmaceutical loads in irrigation water for crops [146]. In addition to this, manufacturing of pharmaceuticals is increasing significantly in LMICs (e.g. China and India), especially for generic pharmaceuticals. This has led to additional burdens of pharmaceuticals in wastewater being released by these manufacturing facilities, which in some instances can be substantial [151, 152]. These sources of wastewater are likely to contribute to indirect wastewater irrigation of crops, albeit at potential high concentrations [153]. Furthermore, as shown in Fig. 1, few studies have investigated uptake from




actual wastewater or biosolid amendments. Those that have been conducted are largely from HICs even though the use of these wastewater products is used extensively in LMICs.

Significant knowledge gaps relating to the exposure and risks of pharmaceuticals to crops, terrestrial organisms and humans and livestock consuming these crops in LMICs clearly exist. These knowledge gaps include the classes and concentrations of pharmaceuticals in wastewater (either directly or indirectly) that are used to irrigate crops, the sources of wastewater used for irrigation (to inform mitigation strategies), the crops irrigated by pharmaceutical-contaminated wastewater (to determine exposure pathways and risks to crops and consumers of crops) and the stability of pharmaceuticals or uptake of pharmaceuticals in crops under different agricultural scenarios and climatic conditions that occur in LMICs. Figure 1 highlights this disparity showing the widespread geographical usage of wastewater for irrigation and the relatively few studies that have been conducted and their focus in HICs. This is not trivial, in that the majority of the global population lives in LMICs and relies on agriculture that abstracts the majority of the world's water, increasingly through wastewater reuse, for production.

References

- Dalkmann P, Broszat M, Siebe C, Willaschek E, Sakinc T, Huebner J, Amelung W, Grohmann E, Siemens J (2012) Accumulation of pharmaceuticals, Enterococcus, and resistance genes in soils irrigated with wastewater for zero to 100 years in Central Mexico. PLoS One 7(9):e45397
- Kinney C, Furlong E, Werner S, Cahill J (2006) Presence and distribution of wastewaterderived pharmaceuticals in soil irrigated with reclaimed water. Environ Toxicol Chem 25:317–326
- Kinney C, Furlong ET, Zaugg SD, Burkhardt MR, Werner S, Cahill J, Jorgensen GR (2006) Survey of organic wastewater contaminants in biosolids destined for land application. Environ Sci Technol 40(23):7207–7215
- Prosser RS, Sibley PK (2015) Human health risk assessment of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in plant tissue due to biosolids and manure amendments, and wastewater irrigation. Environ Int 75:223–233
- Carter LJ, Harris E, Williams M, Ryan JJ, Kookana RS, Boxall A (2014) Fate and uptake of pharmaceuticals in soil-plant systems. J Agric Food Chem 62:816–825
- 6. Dordio A, Belo M, Martins Teixeira D, Palace Carvalho A, Dias C, Pico Y, Pinto A (2011) Evaluation of carbamazepine uptake and metabolism by Typha spp., a plant with potential use in phytotreatment. Bioresour Technol 102:7827–7834
- 7. Tejeda A, Torres-Bojorges AX, Zurita F (2017) Carbamazepine removal in three pilot-scale hybrid wetlands planted with ornamental species. Ecol Eng 98:410–417
- Winker M, Clemens J, Reich M, Gulyas H, Otterpohl R (2010) Ryegrass uptake of carbamazepine and ibuprofen applied by urine fertilization. Sci Total Environ 408:1902–1908
- Zhang DQ, Hua T, Gersberg RM, Zhu J, Ng WJ, Tan SK (2013) Carbamazepine and naproxen: fate in wetland mesocosms planted with Scirpus validus. Chemosphere 91(1):14–21
- Goldstein M, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2014) Insights into the uptake processes of wastewaterborne pharmaceuticals by vegetables. Environ Sci Technol 48:5593–5600

- 11. Pico Y, Alvarez-Ruiz R, Alfarhan AH, El-Sheikh MA, Alobaid SM, Barcelo D (2019) Uptake and accumulation of emerging contaminants in soil and plant treated with wastewater under real-world environmental conditions in the Al Hayer area (Saudi Arabia). Sci Total Environ 652:562–572
- Dolliver H, Kumar K, Gupta S (2007) Sulfamethazine uptake by plants from manure-amended soil. J Environ Qual 36:1224–1230
- 13. Wu C, Spongberg AL, Witter JD, Fang M, Czajkowski KP (2010) Uptake of pharmaceutical and personal care products by soybean plants from soils applied with biosolids and irrigated with contaminated water. Environ Sci Technol 44:6157–6161
- 14. de Santiago-Martín A, Meffe R, Teijón G, Martínez Hernández V, López-Heras I, Alonso Alonso C, Arenas Romasanta M, de Bustamante I (2020) Pharmaceuticals and trace metals in the surface water used for crop irrigation: risk to health or natural attenuation? Sci Total Environ 705:135825
- 15. Martínez-Piernas AB, Polo-López MI, Fernández-Ibáñez P, Agüera A (2018) Validation and application of a multiresidue method based on liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for evaluating the plant uptake of 74 microcontaminants in crops irrigated with treated municipal wastewater. J Chromatogr A 1534:10–21
- Beltrán EM, Pablos MV, Fernández Torija C, Porcel MÁ, González-Doncel M (2020) Uptake of atenolol, carbamazepine and triclosan by crops irrigated with reclaimed water in a Mediterranean scenario. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 191:110171
- Jones-Lepp TL, Sanchez CA, Moy T, Kazemi R (2010) Method development and application to determine potential plant uptake of antibiotics and other drugs in irrigated crop production systems. J Agric Food Chem 58(22):11568–11573
- Martínez-Piernas AB, Plaza-Bolaños P, Fernández-Ibáñez P, Agüera A (2019) Organic microcontaminants in tomato crops irrigated with reclaimed water grown under field conditions: occurrence, uptake, and health risk assessment. J Agric Food Chem 67(25):6930–6939
- Riemenschneider C, Al-Raggad M, Moeder M, Seiwert B, Salameh E, Reemtsma T (2016) Pharmaceuticals, their metabolites, and other polar pollutants in field-grown vegetables irrigated with treated municipal wastewater. J Agric Food Chem 64(29):5784–5792
- Malchi T, Maor Y, Tadmor G, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2014) Irrigation of root vegetables with treated wastewater: evaluating uptake of pharmaceuticals and the associated human health risks. Environ Sci Technol 48(16):9325–9333
- Franklin AM, Williams CF, Andrews DM, Woodward EE, Watson JE (2016) Uptake of three antibiotics and an antiepileptic drug by wheat crops spray irrigated with wastewater treatment plant effluent. J Environ Qual 45(2):546–554
- 22. Calderón-Preciado D, Matamoros V, Savé R, Muñoz P, Biel C, Bayona JM (2013) Uptake of microcontaminants by crops irrigated with reclaimed water and groundwater under real field greenhouse conditions. Environ Sci Pollut Res 20(6):3629–3638
- 23. Shenker M, Harush D, Ben-Ari J, Chefetz B (2011) Uptake of carbamazepine by cucumber plants – a case study related to irrigation with reclaimed wastewater. Chemosphere 82:905–910
- 24. Christou A, Karaolia P, Hapeshi E, Michael C, Fatta-Kassinos D (2017) Long-term wastewater irrigation of vegetables in real agricultural systems: concentration of pharmaceuticals in soil, uptake and bioaccumulation in tomato fruits and human health risk assessment. Water Res 109:24–34
- Sabourin L, Duenk P, Bonte-Gelok S, Payne M, Lapen DR, Topp E (2012) Uptake of pharmaceuticals, hormones and parabens into vegetables grown in soil fertilized with municipal biosolids. Sci Total Environ 431:233–236
- 26. Cantarero R, Richter P, Brown S, Ascar L, Ahumada I (2017) Effects of applying biosolids to soils on the adsorption and bioavailability of 17α-ethinylestradiol and triclosan in wheat plants. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24:12847–12859

- Chen Z-F, Ying G-G, Ma Y-B, Lai H-J, Chen F, Pan C-G (2013) Typical azole biocides in biosolid-amended soils and plants following biosolid applications. J Agric Food Chem 61:6198–6206
- Li Y, Sallach B, Zhang W, Boyd SA, Li H (2019) Insight into the distribution of pharmaceuticals in soil-water-plant systems. Water Res 152:38–46
- 29. Kodešová R, Klement A, Golovko O, Fér M, Nikodem A, Kočárek M, Grabic R (2019) Root uptake of atenolol, sulfamethoxazole and carbamazepine, and their transformation in three soils and four plants. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26(10):9876–9891
- 30. Ben Mordechay E, Tarchitzky J, Chen Y, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2018) Composted biosolids and treated wastewater as sources of pharmaceuticals and personal care products for plant uptake: a case study with carbamazepine. Environ Pollut 232:164–172
- Cortés JM, Larsson E, Jönsson JÅ (2013) Study of the uptake of non-steroid anti-inflammatory drugs in wheat and soybean after application of sewage sludge as a fertilizer. Sci Total Environ 449:385–389
- 32. Fussell RJ, Garcia Lopez M, Mortimer DN, Wright S, Sehnalova M, Sinclair CJ, Fernandes A, Sharman M (2014) Investigation into the occurrence in food of veterinary medicines, pharmaceuticals, and chemicals used in personal care products. J Agric Food Chem 62:3651–3659
- Holling CS, Bailey JL, Heuvel BV, Kinney CA (2012) Uptake of human pharmaceuticals and personal care products by cabbage (*Brassica campestris*) from fortified and biosolids-amended soils. J Environ Monit 14:3029–3036
- 34. Chuang Y-H, Liu C-H, Sallach JB, Hammerschmidt R, Zhang W, Boyd SA, Li H (2019) Mechanistic study on uptake and transport of pharmaceuticals in lettuce from water. Environ Int 131:104976
- Wu X, Fu Q, Gan J (2016) Metabolism of pharmaceutical and personal care products by carrot cell cultures. Environ Pollut 211:141–147
- 36. Carter LJ, Williams M, Martin S, Kamaludeen SPB, Kookana RS (2018) Sorption, plant uptake and metabolism of benzodiazepines. Sci Total Environ 628-629:18–25
- 37. Kong W, Liang Y, Zhang J, Smith F, Yang A (2007) Uptake of oxytetracycline and its phytotoxicity to alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.). Environ Pollut 147:187–193
- Kurwadkar S, Struckhoff G, Pugh K, Singh O (2017) Uptake and translocation of sulfamethazine by alfalfa grown under hydroponic conditions. J Environ Sci 53:217–223
- Mathews S, Henderson S, Reinhold D (2014) Uptake and accumulation of antimicrobials, triclocarban and triclosan, by food crops in a hydroponic system. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 21 (9):6025–6033
- 40. Zhang C, Xue J, Cheng D, Feng Y, Liu Y, Aly HM, Li Z (2019) Uptake, translocation and distribution of three veterinary antibiotics in *Zea mays* L. Environ Pollut 250:47–57
- 41. Aga DS, Lenczewski M, Snow D, Muurinen J, Sallach JB, Wallace JS (2016) Challenges in the measurement of antibiotics and in evaluating their impacts in agroecosystems: a critical review. J Environ Qual 45(2):407–419
- Dodgen LK, Li J, Parker D, Gan JJ (2013) Uptake and accumulation of four PPCP/EDCs in two leafy vegetables. Environ Pollut 182:150–156
- 43. Wu X, Ernst F, Conkle JL, Gan J (2013) Comparative uptake and translocation of pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) by common vegetables. Environ Int 60:15–22
- 44. Tanoue R, Sato Y, Motoyama M, Nakagawa S, Shinohara R, Nomiyama K (2012) Plant uptake of pharmaceutical chemicals detected in recycled organic manure and reclaimed wastewater. J Agric Food Chem 60:10203–10211
- 45. Nason SL, Miller EL, Karthikeyan KG, Pedersen JA (2019) Effects of binary mixtures and transpiration on accumulation of pharmaceuticals by spinach. Environ Sci Technol 53 (9):4850–4859
- 46. Dodgen LK, Ueda A, Wu X, Parker DR, Gan J (2015) Effect of transpiration on plant accumulation and translocation of PPCP/EDCs. Environ Pollut 198:144–153
- 47. Emhofer L, Himmelsbach M, Buchberger W, Klampfl CW (2017) High-performance liquid chromatography mass spectrometry analysis of the parent drugs and their metabolites in

extracts from cress (*Lepidium sativum*) grown hydroponically in water containing four non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. J Chromatogr A 1491:137–144

- 48. Emhofer L, Himmelsbach M, Buchberger W, Klampfl CW (2019) High-performance liquid chromatography drift-tube ion-mobility quadrupole time-of-flight/mass spectrometry for the identity confirmation and characterization of metabolites from three statins (lipid-lowering drugs) in the model plant cress (*Lepidium sativum*) after uptake from water. J Chromatogr A 1592:122–132
- Huber C, Bartha B, Schröder P (2012) Metabolism of diclofenac in plants--hydroxylation is followed by glucose conjugation. J Hazard Mater 243:250–256
- Carvalho PN, Basto MCP, Almeida CMR (2012) Potential of *phragmites australis* for the removal of veterinary pharmaceuticals from aquatic media. Bioresour Technol 116:497–501
- 51. Liu L, Liu Y, Liu C, Wang Z, Dong J, Zhu G, Huang X (2013) Potential effect and accumulation of veterinary antibiotics in *phragmites australis* under hydroponic conditions. Ecol Eng 53:138–143
- 52. He Y, Nie E, Li C, Ye Q, Wang H (2017) Uptake and subcellular distribution of triclosan in typical hydrophytes under hydroponic conditions. Environ Pollut 220(Pt A):400–406
- 53. Cui H, Schröder P (2016) Uptake, translocation and possible biodegradation of the antidiabetic agent metformin by hydroponically grown *typha latifolia*. J Hazard Mater 308:355–361
- 54. Li Y, Zhang J, Zhu G, Liu Y, Wu B, Ng WJ, Appan A, Tan SK (2016) Phytoextraction, phytotransformation and rhizodegradation of ibuprofen associated with *typha angustifolia* in a horizontal subsurface flow constructed wetland. Water Res 102:294–304
- 55. Bartha B, Huber C, Schröder P (2014) Uptake and metabolism of diclofenac in *Typha latifolia* -- how plants cope with human pharmaceutical pollution. Plant Sci 227:12–20
- 56. Verlicchi P, Zambello E (2014) How efficient are constructed wetlands in removing pharmaceuticals from untreated and treated urban wastewaters? A review. Sci Total Environ 470–471:1281–1306
- Boxall A, Johnson P, Smith E, Sinclair C, Stutt E, Levy L (2006) Uptake of veterinary medicines from soils into plants. J Agric Food Chem 54:2288–2297
- Briggs G, Bromilow R, Evans A (1982) Relationships between lipophilicity and root uptake and translocation of non-ionized chemicals by barley. Pestic Sci 13:495–504
- 59. Chiou CT, Sheng G, Manes M (2001) A partition-limited model for the plant uptake of organic contaminants from soil and water. Environ Sci Technol 35(7):1437–1444
- 60. Trapp S (2004) Plant uptake and transport models for neutral and ionic chemicals. Environ Sci Pollut Res 11:33
- Li M, Ding T, Wang H, Wang W, Li J, Ye Q (2018) Uptake and translocation of ¹⁴C-carbamazepine in soil-plant systems. Environ Pollut 243(B):1352–1359
- Carter LJ, Agatz A, Kumar A, Williams M (2020) Translocation of pharmaceuticals from wastewater into beehives. Environ Int 134:105248
- Eggen T, Asp TN, Grave K, Hormazabal V (2011) Uptake and translocation of metformin, ciprofloxacin and narasin in forage- and crop plants. Chemosphere 85:26–33
- Herklotz P, Gurung P, Heuvel B, Kinney C (2010) Uptake of human pharmaceuticals by plants grown under hydroponic conditions. Chemosphere 78:1416–1421
- Migliore L, Brambilla G, Cozzolino S, Gaudio L (1995) Effect on plants of sulphadimethoxine used in intensive farming (*Panicum miliaceum*, Pisum sativum and *Zea mays*). Agric Ecosyst Environ 52(2–3):103–110
- 66. Karnjanapiboonwong A, Chase DA, Cañas JE, Jackson WA, Maul JD, Morse AN, Anderson TA (2011) Uptake of 17α-ethynylestradiol and triclosan in pinto bean, *Phaseolus vulgaris*. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 74(5):1336–13342
- Bromilow R, Chamberlain K (1995) Trapp S, Mc Farlane JC (eds) Principles governing uptake and transport of chemicals in plant contamination. Lewis/CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 37–68
- Wu C, Spongberg A, Witter J, Sridhar B (2012) Transfer of wastewater associated pharmaceuticals and personal care products to crop plants from biosolids treated soil. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 85:104–109

- 69. Eggen T, Lillo C (2012) Antidiabetic II drug metformin in plants: uptake and translocation to edible parts of cereals, oily seeds, beans, tomato, squash, carrots, and potatoes. J Agric Food Chem 60(28):6929–6935
- Ahmed MDM, Rajapaksha AU, Lim JE, Vu NT, Kim S, Kang HM, Sang SL, Ok YS (2015) Distribution and accumulative pattern of tetracyclines and sulfonamides in edible vegetables of cucumber, tomato, lettuce. J Agric Food Chem 63(2):398–405
- Burns EE, Carter LJ, Snape J, Thomas-Oates J, Boxall ABA (2018) Application of prioritization approaches to optimize environmental monitoring and testing of pharmaceuticals. J Toxicol Environ Health B 21(3):115–141
- 72. Montemurro N, Postigo C, Lonigro A, Perez S, Barceló D (2017) Development and validation of an analytical method based on liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry detection for the simultaneous determination of 13 relevant wastewater-derived contaminants in lettuce. Anal Bioanal Chem 409(23):5375–5387
- Sallach JB, Snow D, Hodges L, Li X, Bartelt-Hunt S (2016) Development and comparison of four methods for the extraction of antibiotics from a vegetative matrix. Environ Toxicol Chem 35(4):889–897
- 74. Marsoni M, De Mattia F, Labra M, Bruno A, Bracale M, Vannini C (2014) Uptake and effects of a mixture of widely used therapeutic drugs in *Eruca sativa* L. and *Zea mays* L. plants. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 108:52–57
- Sallach JB, Zhang Y, Hodges L, Snow D, Li X, Bartelt-Hunt S (2015) Concomitant uptake of antimicrobials and salmonella in soil and into lettuce following wastewater irrigation. Environ Pollut 197:269–277
- 76. Azanu D, Mortey C, Darko G, Weisser JJ, Styrishave B, Abaidoo RC (2016) Uptake of antibiotics from irrigation water by plants. Chemosphere 157:107–114
- 77. Christou A, Papadavid G, Dalias P, Fotopoulos V, Michael C, Bayona JM, Piña B, Fatta-Kassinos D (2019) Ranking of crop plants according to their potential to uptake and accumulate contaminants of emerging concern. Environ Res 170:422–432
- Sallach JB, Bartelt-Hunt SL, Snow DD, Li X, Hodges L (2018) Uptake of antibiotics and their toxicity to lettuce following routine irrigation with contaminated water in different soil types. Environ Eng Sci 35(8):887–896
- Santiago S, Roll DM, Ray C, Williams C, Moravcik P, Knopf A (2016) Effects of soil moisture depletion on vegetable crop uptake of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs). Environ Sci Pollut Res 23(20):20257–20268
- 80. Zhang Y, Sallach JB, Hodges L, Snow DD, Bartelt-Hunt SL, Eskridge KM, Li X (2016) Effects of soil texture and drought stress on the uptake of antibiotics and the internalization of salmonella in lettuce following wastewater irrigation. Environ Pollut 208(Pt B):523–531
- Bhalsod GD, Chuang Y-H, Jeon S, Gui W, Li H, Ryser ET, Guber AK, Zhang W (2018) Uptake and accumulation of pharmaceuticals in overhead- and surface-irrigated greenhouse lettuce. J Agric Food Chem 66(4):822–830
- 82. D'Alessio M, Durso LM, Williams C, Olson CA, Ray C, Paparozzi ET (2020) Applied injected air into subsurface drip irrigation: plant uptake of pharmaceuticals and soil microbial communities. J Environ Eng 146(2):06019008
- Ort C, Lawrence MG, Reungoat J, Mueller JF (2010) Sampling for PPCPs in wastewater systems: comparison of different sampling modes and optimization strategies. Environ Sci Technol 44(16):6289–6296
- 84. Paz A, Tadmor G, Malchi T, Blotevogel J, Borch T, Polubesova T, Chefetz B (2016) Fate of carbamazepine, its metabolites, and lamotrigine in soils irrigated with reclaimed wastewater: sorption, leaching and plant uptake. Chemosphere 160:22–29
- Tran NH, Chen H, Reinhard M, Mao F, Gin KY-H (2016) Occurrence and removal of multiple classes of antibiotics and antimicrobial agents in biological wastewater treatment processes. Water Res 104:461–472

- 86. Clarke BO, Smith SR (2011) Review of 'emerging' organic contaminants in biosolids and assessment of international research priorities for the agricultural use of biosolids. Environ Int 37:226–247
- 87. Gottschall N, Topp E, Metcalfe C, Edwards M, Payne M, Kleywegt S, Russell P, Lapen DR (2012) Pharmaceutical and personal care products in groundwater, subsurface drainage, soil, and wheat grain, following a high single application of municipal biosolids to a field. Chemosphere 87:194–203
- Tran NH, Reinhard M, Gin KY-H (2018) Occurrence and fate of emerging contaminants in municipal wastewater treatment plants from different geographical regions-a review. Water Res 133:182–207
- 89. Verlicchi P, Zambello E (2015) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in untreated and treated sewage sludge: occurrence and environmental risk in the case of application on soil – a critical review. Sci Total Environ 538:750–767
- Fu Q, Wu X, Ye Q, Ernst F, Gan J (2016) Biosolids inhibit bioavailability and plant uptake of triclosan and triclocarban. Water Res 102:117–124
- Zhang QH, Yang WN, Ngo HH, Guo WS, Jin PK, Dzakpasu M, Yang SJ, Wang Q, Wang XC, Ao D (2016) Current status of urban wastewater treatment plants in China. Environ Int 92– 93:11–22
- 92. Lu J-Y, Wang X-M, Liu H-Q, Yu H-Q, Li W-W (2019) Optimizing operation of municipal wastewater treatment plants in China: the remaining barriers and future implications. Environ Int 129:273–278
- Yang G, Zhang G, Wang H (2015) Current state of sludge production, management, treatment and disposal in China. Water Res 78:60–73
- 94. Lu Q, He ZL, Stoffella PJ (2012) Land application of biosolids in the USA: a review. Appl Environ Soil Sci. 2012. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/201462
- 95. Assured Biosolids (2018). https://assuredbiosolids.co.uk/. Accessed 4 Sept 2020
- 96. Eurostat (2020) Sewage sludge production and disposal dataset. https://appsso.eurostat.ec. europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=env_ww_spd&lang=en. Accessed 4 Sept 2020
- 97. ANZBP (2020) Biosolids production in Australia 2019. Australian Biosolids Statistics. https://www.biosolids.com.au/guidelines/australian-biosolids-statistics/
- 98. LeBlanc RJ, Matthews P, Richard RP (2009) Global atlas of excreta, wastewater sludge, and biosolids management: moving forward the sustainable and welcome uses of a global resource. UN-HABITAT, Nairobi
- 99. Fu Q, Sanganyado E, Ye Q, Gan J (2016) Meta-analysis of biosolid effects on persistence of triclosan and triclocarban in soil. Environ Pollut 210:137–144
- 100. Polesel F, Plósz BG, Trapp S (2015) From consumption to harvest: environmental fate prediction of excreted ionizable trace organic chemicals. Water Res 84:85–98
- 101. Wassenaar T, Bravin MN, Dumoulin F, Doelsch E (2015) Ex-ante fate assessment of trace organic contaminants for decision making: a post-normal estimation for sludge recycling in Reunion. J Environ Manag 147:140–151
- 102. Kinney CA, Furlong ET, Kolpin DW, Burkhardt MR, Zaugg SD, Werner SL, Bossio JP, Benotti MJ (2008) Bioaccumulation of pharmaceuticals and other anthropogenic waste indicators in earthworms from agricultural soil amended with biosolid or swine manure. Environ Sci Technol 42(6):1863–1870
- 103. Berge A, Vulliet E (2015) Development of a method for the analysis of hormones and pharmaceuticals in earthworms by quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged and safe (QuEChERS) extraction followed by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS). Anal Bioanal Chem 407:7995–8008
- 104. OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals (2010) Test No 317: Bioaccumulation in Terrestrial Oligochaetes. http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/environment/test-no-317bioaccumulation-in-terrestrial-oligochaetes_9789264090934-en

- 105. Carter LJ, Garman CD, Ryan J, Dowle A, Bergstrom E, Thomas-Oates J, Boxall ABA (2014) Fate and uptake of pharmaceuticals in soil-earthworm systems. Environ Sci Technol 48:5955–5963
- Monteiro S, Boxall A (2009) Factors affecting the degradation of pharmaceuticals in agricultural soils. Environ Toxicol Chem 28:2546–2554
- 107. Kodešová R, Grabic R, Kočárek M, Klement A, Golovko O, Fér M, Nikodem A, Jakšík O (2015) Pharmaceuticals' sorptions relative to properties of thirteen different soils. Sci Total Environ 511:435–443
- Carter LJ, Ryan JJ, Boxall ABA (2016) Effects of soil properties on the uptake of pharmaceuticals into earthworms. Environ Pollut 213:922–931
- 109. Kelsey JW, Colino A, White JC (2005) Effect of species differences, pollutant concentration, and residence time in soil on the bioaccumulation of 2,2-bis(p-chlorophenyl)-1,1dichloroethylene by three earthworm species. Environ Toxicol Chem 24:703–708
- 110. Langdon CJ, Hodson ME, Arnold RE, Black S (2005) Survival Pb-uptake and behaviour of three species of earthworm in Pb treated soils determined using an OECD-style toxicity test and a soil avoidance test. Environ Pollut 138:368–375
- 111. Spurgeon DJ, Hopkin SP (1996) Risk assessment of the threat of secondary poisoning by metals to predators of earthworms in the vicinity of a primary smelting works. Sci Total Environ 187(3):167–183
- 112. Carter LJ, Ryan JJ, Boxall ABA (2016) Does uptake of pharmaceuticals vary across earthworm species. Bull Environ Chem Toxicol 97(3):316–322
- 113. Whitlock SE, Pereira MG, Lane J, Sleep D, Shore RF, Arnold KE (2019) Detecting fluoxetine and norfluoxetine in wild bird tissues and feathers. Environ Int 126:193–201
- 114. Bean TG, Boxall ABA, Lane J, Herborn KA, Pietravalle S, Arnold KE (2014) Behavioural and physiological responses of birds to environmentally relevant concentrations of an antidepressant. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 369:20130575
- 115. Markman S, Guschina I, Barnsley S, Buchanan K, Pascoe D et al (2007) Endocrine disrupting chemicals accumulate in earthworms exposed to sewage effluent. Chemosphere 70:119–125
- 116. Markman S, Leitner S, Catchpole C, Barnsley S, Muller CT, Pascoe D, Buchanan K (2008) Pollutants increase song complexity and the volume of the brain area HVC in a songbird. PLoS One 3(2):e1674
- 117. Batchelder AR (1982) Chlortetracycline and oxytetracycline effects on plant-growth and development in soil systems. J Environ Qual 11(4):675–678
- 118. Migliore L, Brambilla G, Casoria P, Civitareale C, Cozzolino S, Gaudio L (1996) Effect of sulphadimethoxine contamination on barley (*Hordeum distichum* L, Poaceae, Liliopsida). Agric Ecosyst Environ 60(2–3):121–128
- 119. Ferro S, Trentin AR, Caffieri S, Ghisi R (2010) Antibacterial sulfonamides: accumulation and effects in barley plants. Fresenius Environ Bull 19(9B):2094–2099
- Migliore L, Cozzolino S, Fiori M (2003) Phytotoxicity to and uptake of enrofloxacin in crop plants. Chemosphere 52(7):1233–1244
- 121. Hillis DG, Fletcher J, Solomon KR, Sibley PK (2011) Effects of ten antibiotics on seed germination and root elongation in three plant species. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 60 (2):220–232
- 122. Kumar K, Gupta SC, Chander Y, Singh AK (2005) Antibiotic use in agriculture and its impact on the terrestrial environment. Adv Agron 87:1–54
- 123. Hammad HM, Zia F, Bakhat HF, Fahad S, Ashraf MR, Wilkerson CJ, Shah GM, Nasim W, Khosa I, Shahid M (2018) Uptake and toxicological effects of pharmaceutical active compounds on maize. Agric Ecosyst Environ 258:143–148
- 124. Knight ER, Carter LJ, McLaughlin MJ (2018) Bioaccumulation, uptake, and toxicity of carbamazepine in soil-plant systems. Environ Toxicol Chem 37:1122–1130
- 125. Schmidt W, Redshaw CH (2015) Evaluation of biological endpoints in crop plants after exposure to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs): implications for phytotoxicological assessment of novel contaminants. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 112:212–222

- 126. Liu F, Ying GG, Tao R, Zhao JL, Yang JF, Zhao LF (2009) Effects of six selected antibiotics on plant growth and soil microbial and enzymatic activities. Environ Pollut 157(5):1636–1642
- 127. Michelini L, La Rocca N, Rascio N, Ghisi R (2013) Structural and functional alterations induced by two sulfonamide antibiotics on barley plants. Plant Physiol Biochem 67:55–62
- 128. Migliore L, Rotini A, Cerioli NL, Cozzolino S, Fiori M (2010) Phytotoxic antibiotic sulfadimethoxine elicits a complex hormetic response in the weed *Lythrum salicaria* L. Dose-Response 8:414–427
- 129. Michelini L, Reichel R, Werner W, Ghisi R, Thiele-Bruhn S (2012) Sulfadiazine uptake and effects on *Salix fragilis* L. and *Zea mays* L. plants. Water Air Soil Pollut 223:5243–5257
- 130. Carter LJ, Williams M, Bottcher C, Kookana RS (2015) Uptake of pharmaceuticals influences plant development and affects nutrient and hormone homeostasis. Environ Sci Technol 49:12509–12518
- 131. Minden V, Deloy A, Volkert AM, Leonhardt SD, Pufal G (2017) Antibiotics impact plant traits, even at small concentrations. AoB Plants 9(2):plx010
- 132. Litskas VD, Karamanlis XN, Prousali SP, Koveos DS (2018) Effects of the antibiotic amoxicillin on key species of the terrestrial environment. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 100:509–515
- 133. Litskas VD, Karamanlis XN, Prousali SP, Koveos DS (2019) The xenobiotic doxycycline affects nitrogen transformations in soil and impacts earthworms and cultivated plants. J Environ Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng 54(14):1441–1447
- 134. Fernández C, Alonso C, Babín MM, Pro J, Carbonell G, Tarazona JV (2004) Ecotoxicological assessment of doxycycline in aged pig manure using multispecies soil systems. Sci Total Environ 323:63–69
- 135. Pino MR, Val J, Mainar AM, Zuriaga E, Espanol C, Langa E (2015) Acute toxicological effects on the earthworm Eisenia fetida of 18 common pharmaceuticals in artificial soil. Sci Total Environ 518-519:225–237
- 136. Boleas S, Alonso C, Pro J, Fernandez C, Carbonell G, Tarazona JV (2005) Toxicity of the antimicrobial oxytetracycline to soil organisms in a multi-species-soil system (MS.3) and influence of manure co-addition. J Hazard Mater 122(3):233–241
- 137. Lin D, Zhou Q, Xu Y, Chen C, Li Y (2012) Physiological and molecular responses of the earthworm (Eisenia fetida) to soil chlortetracycline contamination. Environ Pollut 171:46–51
- 138. Snyder, E. H. O'Connor, G. A. McAvoy, D. C. Toxicity and bioaccumulation of biosolidsborne triclocarban (TCC) in terrestrial organisms. Chemosphere 2011, 82 (3), 460–467
- 139. Kinney CA, Campbell BR, Thompson R, Furlong ET, Kolpin DW, Burkhardt MR, Zaugg SD, Werner SL, Hay AG (2012) Earthworm bioassays and seedling emergence for monitoring toxicity, aging and bioaccumulation of anthropogenic waste indicator compounds in biosolidsamended soil. Sci Total Environ 433:507–515
- 140. Artuso N, Kennedy TF, Connery J, Grant J, Schmidt O (2011) Effects of biosolids at varying rates on earthworms (Eisenia fetida) and springtails (*Folsomia candida*). Appl Environ Soil Sci 2011:1–10
- 141. Scheffczyk A, Floate KD, Blanckenhorn WU, Düring RA, Klockner A, Lahr J, Lumaret JP, Salamon JA, Tixier T, Wohde M, Römbke J (2016) Nontarget effects of ivermectin residues on earthworms and springtails dwelling beneath dung of treated cattle in four countries. Environ Toxicol Chem 35(8):1959–1969
- 142. Rombke J, Krogh KA, Moser T, Scheffczyk A, Liebig M (2010) Effects of the veterinary pharmaceutical ivermectin on soil invertebrates in laboratory tests. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 58(2):332–340
- 143. Richter E, Wick A, Ternes TA, Coors A (2013) Ecotoxicity of climbazole, a fungicide contained in antidandruff shampoo. Environ Toxicol Chem 32(12):2816–2825
- 144. Carter LJ, Chefetz B, Abdeen Z, Boxall ABA (2019) Emerging investigator series: towards a framework for establishing the impacts of pharmaceuticals in wastewater irrigation systems on agro-ecosystems and human health. Environ Sci: Processes Impacts 21(4):605–622

- 145. World Bank (2020) World Bank open data; global development data. https://data.worldbank. org/indicator. Accessed 4 Sept 2020
- 146. WWAP (2017) The United Nations world water development report, 2017: wastewater: the untapped resource. United Nations World Water Assessment Programme UNESCO, Paris
- 147. Drechsel P, Evans AEV (2010) Wastewater use in irrigated agriculture. Irrig Drain Syst 24:1-3
- 148. Rojas MR, Leung C, Bonk F, Zhu Y, Edwards L, Arnold RG, Sáez AE, Klečka G (2013) Assessment of the effectiveness of secondary wastewater treatment technologies to remove trace chemicals of emerging concern. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 43:1281–1314
- 149. Kookana RS, Williams M, Boxall ABA, Larsson DGJ, Gaw S, Choi K, Yamamoto H, Thatikonda S, Zhu Y-G, Carriquiriborde P (2014) Potential ecological footprints of active pharmaceutical ingredients: an examination of risk factors in low-, middle- and high-income countries. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 369:20130586
- 150. Farooqui HH, Selvaraj S, Mehta A, Heymann DL (2018) Community level antibiotic utilization in India and its comparison vis-à-vis European countries: evidence from pharmaceutical sales data. PLoS One 13:e0204805
- 151. Fick J, Söderström H, Lindberg RH, Phan C, Tysklind M, Larsson DGJ (2009) Contamination of surface, ground, and drinking water from pharmaceutical production. Environ Toxicol Chem 28:2522–2527
- 152. Larsson DGJ (2014) Pollution from drug manufacturing: review and perspectives. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 369:20130571
- 153. Yakubu OH (2015) Pharmaceutical wastewater effluent-source of contaminants of emerging concern: phytotoxicity of metronidazole to soybean (Glycine max). Toxics 5:10
- 154. AQUASTAT (2020) FAO's Information system on Water and Agriculture: Municipal wastewater database. http://www.fao.org/aquastat/en/overview/methodology/wastewater. Accessed 27 Mar 2020

Metabolism of Pharmaceuticals in Plants and Their Associated Microbiota



Andrés Sauvêtre, Peter Eichhorn, and Sandra Pérez

Contents

1	Intro	duction	223
2	Hum	an Drug-Metabolizing Enzymes	224
	2.1	Phase I Reactions	225
	2.2	Phase II Reactions	229
3	Drug	Metabolism in Plants	232
	3.1	Phase I Metabolism	233
	3.2	Phase II Metabolism	239
	3.3	Phase III Plant Metabolism	242
4	Plant	Models for the Study of Pharmaceutical Metabolism	243
	4.1	Whole Plants	244
	4.2	In Vitro Models	245
	4.3	Examples of Method Applications	245
	4.4	Hairy Roots as Model for the Study of Root Metabolism	246
5	Role	of Microbiome in Pharmaceutical Metabolism and Plant-Microbe Interactions	249
	5.1	The Rhizosphere Is a Hot Spot for Pharmaceutical Metabolism and Metabolite	
		Exchange Between Plant and Microorganisms	250
	5.2	Endophytic Bacteria Can Enhance Degradation of Pharmaceuticals in Plants	253
6	Conc	lusion and Perspectives	254
Re	ferenc	es	257

Abstract With the increasing use of wastewater for irrigation of farmland, and thus the potential uptake and translocation of pharmaceuticals and their metabolites in crops, concerns about food safety are growing. After their uptake, plants are able to metabolize drugs to phase I, phase II, and phase III metabolites. Phase I reactions closely resemble those encountered in human drug metabolism, including

A. Sauvêtre (🖂)

P. Eichhorn and S. Pérez

Sandra Pérez Solsona, Nicola Montemurro, Serge Chiron, and Damià Barceló (eds.), Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems: The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater, Hdb Env Chem (2021) 103: 221–264, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_607, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 8 September 2020

UMR HydroSciences Montpellier, Montpellier University, Montpellier, France e-mail: andre.sauvetre@umontpellier.fr

ENFOCHEM, Department of Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research, Barcelona, Spain

oxidations, reductions, and hydrolysis. Phase II reactions, in turn, encompass conjugations with glutathione, carbohydrates, malonic acid, and amino acids. In phase III, these conjugates are transported and stored in the vacuole or bound to the cell wall. Pharmaceutical metabolism in plants has been investigated by using different approaches, namely, the use of whole plants grown in soil or hydroponic cultures, the use of plant tissues, and the incubation of specific plant cell suspensions. While studies relying on whole plants require long growth periods and more complex analytical procedures to isolate and detect metabolites, they constitute more realistic scenarios with the ability to determine site-specific metabolism and the translocation within the plant. The advantage of in vitro studies lies in their rapid setup. Recent advances in plant-microbiota investigations have shown that the plant microbiome modulates the response of the plant towards pharmaceuticals. Rhizospheric and endophytic bacteria can directly contribute to pharmaceutical metabolism and influence plant uptake and translocation of pharmaceuticals and their metabolites. Additionally, they can have beneficial properties for the host, contributing to plant health and fitness. This chapter gives an overview of human and plant drug metabolism followed by a comparison of different models used to identify pharmaceutical metabolites and their metabolic pathways in plants. A description of the mechanisms and reactions originating these metabolites is concisely presented. Finally, the role of the microbiome is critically discussed with examples of synergies between plants and their associated microbiota for pharmaceutical degradation.

Keywords Hairy roots, Human drug metabolism, Pharmaceuticals, Plant metabolism, Plant microbiome

Abbreviations

AAP	Acetaminophen
ABC	ATP-binding cassette
ACC	1-Aminocylcopropane-1-carboxylic acid
ALD	Alcohol dehydrogenase
ALDH	Aldehyde dehydrogenase
AO	Aldehyde oxidase
BChE	Butyrylcholinesterase
CBZ	Carbamazepine
CES	Carboxylesterase
CIP	Ciprofloxacin
CMP	Clomipramine
CW	Constructed wetland
CYP	Cytochrome P450
Cys	Cysteine
DCF	Diclofenac
DME	Drug-metabolizing enzyme
DZP	Diazepam

FMO	Flavin-containing monooxygenase
Gln	Glutamine
Glu	Glutamic acid
Gluc	Glucose
GSH	Glutathione
GST	Glutathione S-transferase
Hex	Hexose
HR	Hairy root
IBU	Ibuprofen
IOP	Iopromide
KPF	Ketoprofen
MACC	N-malonyl-ACC
MFA	Mefenamic acid
MFM	Metformin
MS	Mass spectrometry
NAPQI	N-acetyl-p-benzoquinoneimine
NAT	N-acetyltransferase
NBS	Nature-based solutions
NPX	Naproxen
OBZ	Oxybenzone
OFL	Ofloxacin
PAHs	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PON	Paraoxonase
SRT	Sertraline
SULT	Sulfotransferase
TCS	Triclosan
T-DNA	Transfer DNA
TMP	Trimethoprim
TZD	Trazodone
UGT	Uridine 5'-diphosphoglucuronosyltransferase
UV	Ultraviolet

1 Introduction

Although legislation on wastewater reuse is based on water physicochemical parameters and indicator pathogen microorganisms, part of the scientific community agrees with the need to monitor and set evaluation procedures for some substances including some widely used drugs for the improvement of guidelines on the reuse of treated wastewater [1]. Pharmaceuticals are biologically active molecules that have been designed to interact with physiological processes and pathways in humans and animals or to be toxic for infectious bacteria, fungi, or parasites. But organisms others than humans and animals can be affected when they are exposed to these molecules. Plants, algae, and other lower animals from our agroecosystems have similar receptor and metabolic enzymatic systems and can be affected by the release of pharmaceuticals in reclaimed wastewater.

Plants have evolved very sophisticated detoxification systems including a battery of xenobiotic-metabolizing enzymes to form metabolites of different nature. Some of them are similar to those in humans and animals, but there are several plant-specific ones. Therefore, it is necessary to address the metabolism in crop plants and soil because the parent compounds along their metabolites can enter the food chain. In some cases, these may have higher toxicity than the original molecule, thereby threatening ecosystems [2]. Identification of harmful metabolites in edible vegetables (formed or not in plants) should be addressed to prevent exposure of humans to hazardous compounds derived from drugs. In this context, information obtained by mass spectrometry (MS) is of special relevance. New available equipment and techniques have increased the sensitivity of non-target analyses, resulting in a relevant number of new molecules and metabolites identified in our agroecosystems. This information is necessary if we want to provide safe and healthy food whose production involves the use of reclaimed wastewater. Phytoremediation is another field where the identification of metabolites is important. Nature-based solutions (NBS) are commonly implemented to treat secondary wastewater effluents as a polishing step [3]. Even small communities may have only one wastewater treatment plant based on lagoon systems before finally disposing of the effluent into the environment. In these cases, monitoring of pharmaceuticals and their transformation products from the raw wastewater entering the treatment plant to the effluent discharged back into nature is necessary. Therefore, knowing what happens between these two points, i.e., in the rhizosphere and in the plant, can help determine whether a treatment is efficient or not and to implement corrective actions. Here, the aim is to check that plants can absorb, accumulate, and immobilize drugs and their transformation products, eliminating the risk to the environment and the trophic chain.

This chapter attempts to give a description of the mechanisms of pharmaceutical metabolism in plants which depend strongly on their physicochemical properties and the interactions with plant-associated bacteria. Similarities between human and plant metabolism are discussed, following some examples of metabolites recently identified in plant tissues. The use of models to study metabolism of pharmaceuticals in plants is also discussed. As the plant microbiome plays an important role in xenobiotic metabolism, degradation of pharmaceuticals can be modulated using techniques based on holobiontic approaches. Hence, the impact of several pharmaceuticals on plant microbial communities and the cooperative metabolism of pharmaceuticals by plants and their microbiome are presented.

2 Human Drug-Metabolizing Enzymes

As an innate defense mechanism against potentially harmful agents that may have entered the organism through ingestion, inhalation, or dermal exposure, enzymatic detoxification pathways are in place to aid in removing undesired substances from the human body. The physicochemical properties of a large number of small molecule drugs are in a range where such enzymes are able to bind them as substrates at their active site and to convert them into metabolites with generally enhanced susceptibility to excretion and thus irreversible removal from the organism. As described in more detail in chapter "General Introduction on Pharmaceuticals", the chemical structures of most orally dosed pharmaceuticals are optimized for high metabolic stability with the objective of reducing dose size and dosing frequency. Nonetheless, enzyme-mediated biotransformations eventually constitute the principal clearance mechanism. In view of the exceptional role of drug-metabolizing enzymes (DME) in the compound optimization strategies applied in rational drug design, the catalyzed reactions, their tissue-specific expression and subcellular localization, their substrate selectivity, and their inducibility and polymorphism have been characterized in a very comprehensive fashion.

Although all organs and tissues in the human body exhibit DME activity to some degree, the most important site of drug metabolism is the liver followed by notable contributions from enzymes expressed in the intestine, the kidneys, and plasma. The fundamental importance of hepatic DMEs arises from the anatomical position of the liver acting as the port of entry into systemic circulation of organic compounds previously absorbed in the intestinal tract and delivered through the portal vein to the liver (see chapter "General Introduction on Pharmaceuticals").

At the highest level, human DMEs are classified into one of two categories: phase I enzymes catalyze oxidative, reductive, and hydrolytic reactions, whereas phase II enzymes mediate the transfer of larger moieties from a cofactor to the substrate thereby generating conjugates. In most instances, the increase in polarity induced by phase I reactions is modest and may produce metabolites being sufficiently permeable to passively diffuse from the liver back into the blood stream. Phase II metabolites, in contrast, are usually of substantially lower lipophilic nature than their parent compound. Despite the detrimental effect of reduced lipophilicity on passive membrane permeability, transmembrane proteins located on the apical side of the hepatocyte help transport conjugates against a concentration gradient into bile and thereby facilitate excretion. It is not uncommon to observe metabolites in human wastes, originating from biliary or renal excretion, that have been formed by a sequence or combination of phase I and phase II reactions.

2.1 Phase I Reactions

Among the phase I enzymes, the superfamily of the highly versatile monooxygenase cytochrome P450 (CYP) is the single most prominent one [4, 5]. CYP enzymes are divided into families based on their amino acid homology; members of the same family (indicated by a letter) share 40% homology, while those of the subfamily (indicated by a number) overlap by at least 55% of their amino acid sequence. Of the CYPs recognizing and transforming synthetic drug molecules, the human isoforms CYP1A2, CYP2C9, CYP2C19, CYP2D6, and CYP3A4 are the most important



Fig. 1 CYP-mediated carbon oxidations: aliphatic hydroxylation of ibuprofen, aromatic hydroxylation of diclofenac, heteroatom dealkylations of metoprolol, and epoxidation of carbamazepine

members with some minor contributions from CYP1A1, CYP2B6, and CYP2C8. At a quantitative level, the affinity towards the substrate, and hence the rate of the reaction, is positively correlated with its lipophilicity. In other words, very polar drugs (logP <0) are rarely recognized by CYPs and therefore frequently escape oxidative metabolism in the human body. Of the aforementioned isoforms, CYP3A4 is the most promiscuous one exhibiting broad substrate selectivity. Despite some overlap in the selectivity between the isoforms, structural features of the substrate, such as size, planarity, and presence of charge center, result in preference for a specific enzyme [6].

As far as type of CYP-mediated reactions are concerned, the most prominent transformations include hydroxylation of aliphatic and aromatic carbon atoms, e.g., hydroxylation of in the isobutyl group of ibuprofen (IBU) (vielding a mixture of primary, secondary, and tertiary alcohols) or the hydroxylation of the dichlorophenyl ring in diclofenac (DCF) (Fig. 1). A subtype of the former reaction is the carbon hydroxylation at the benzylic position being favored due to stabilization of an intermediate in the catalytic cycle. When the oxygenation of the carbon atom occurs on the α -carbon of the alkyl group attached to a heteroatom, the chemically unstable intermediate (a hemiacetal in case of O-alkyl; a hemiaminal in case of N-alkyl) decomposes to yield the dealkylated metabolite (metoprolol in Fig. 1). In the former case, this unmasks an alcohol resulting a considerably more polar compound. A further CYP-mediated reaction at a carbon center is the epoxidation of double bonds. Although in most instances the epoxides are chemically reactive and undergo subsequent reactions, the formation of the symmetrical epoxide of carbamazepine (CBZ) is an example of a metabolite being sufficiently stable to be excreted into human urine (Fig. 1).

Apart from oxidizing carbon in various structural environments, CYPs are also capable of oxygenating heteroatoms such as nitrogen and sulfur. As such, aromatic



Fig. 2 CYP-mediated heteroatom oxidations: N-hydroxylation of dapsone, N-oxidation of amitriptyline, and S-oxidation of albendazole



Fig. 3 FMO-mediated nitrogen and sulfur oxidation of ranitidine

amines can be converted into the corresponding hydroxyl amines, whereas tertiary amines may produce N-oxides. Oxidation of sulfur, on the other hand, converts thioethers into sulfoxides and sulfoxides into sulfones (Fig. 2). These few examples highlight the remarkable versatility of the isozymes belonging to the CYP superfamily.

Nonetheless, a number of DMEs with a narrower substrate selectivity exist typically recognizing specific functional groups such as alcohol dehydrogenase (ALD) and aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) that transform primary or secondary alcohols into aldehyde and ketone and aldehydes into the corresponding carboxylic acids, respectively [7, 8]. A further relevant phase I enzyme is the heteroatom-targeting flavin-containing monooxygenase (FMO) with its capability of oxidizing soft nucleophiles containing nitrogen or sulfur atoms (Fig. 3) [9]. Aldehyde oxidase (AO), as its name indicates, oxidizes aldehydes to their corresponding carboxylic acid but also electron-deficient N-heterocycles at a carbon atom adjacent to the nitrogen atom (Fig. 4) [10].

Taken together, the above enzymes offer a plethora of mechanisms for attacking potential sites within a drug molecule. Although it is possible to propose plausible sites of oxidation by simply examining its chemical structure, the predominant pathways under in vivo conditions are difficult to predict. For any biotransformation to occur to a measurable extent, the substrate has to bind tightly to the active site of the enzyme through molecular interactions with amino acids, i.e., exhibit a high association constant, but the proper orientation within the catalytic cavity is also crucial for an efficient conversion of the substrate.

Unlike oxidation reactions, the site of hydrolytic cleavages is much easier to pinpoint with a limited number of functional groups being liable to hydrolysis,



Fig. 4 AO-mediated oxidation of aldophosphamide, acyclovir, and zaleplon



Fig. 5 Esterase-mediated reactions: bambuterol (carbamate), methylphenidate (methyl ester), rufinamide (amide), and simvastatin (lactone). With the exception of rufinamide, the shown compounds are pharmacologically inactive prodrugs releasing upon hydrolysis the active metabolite

mainly (carbonyl) esters, amides, and carbamates. The spectrum of relevant enzymes in this category comprises paraoxonase (PON), butyrylcholinesterase (BChE), and carboxylesterases (CES) [11, 12]. While the human serum esterase PON affords quite selective recognition of drugs bearing lactones and carbonyl esters, the structure-affinity relationships of BChE and CES are less well understood (Fig. 5). When it comes to designing metabolically stable molecules, avoiding the above groups as building blocks is a straightforward strategy.

As mentioned above, the third class of phase I reactions is reductive reactions. However, owing to the high positive redox potential of an aerobic organism like the human being, such processes are far less common than oxidative biotransformations. Known examples comprise reductive dehalogenation, stepwise conversion of nitro into amino group, and carbonyl reduction to the corresponding alcohol [13]. In contrast to truly human DMEs, bacterial enzymes originating from the intestinal microflora possess a higher inherent ability to catalyzing reductive reactions of drugs. The outcome of this drug-gut bacteria interaction can manifest in various ways and can have significant effects on pharmacokinetic and safety profiles: metabolism of the active may reduce its oral bioavailability (e.g., nizatidine), enzymatic breakdown may release a pharmacologically active metabolite from the inactive parent compound (e.g., sulfasalazine), ester hydrolysis of acyl glucuronides may recycle the acidic drug and facilitate enterohepatic recirculation (e.g., DCF) thereby extending its elimination half-life, and formation of reactive metabolites may cause toxicity (e.g., metronidazole) [14].

2.2 Phase II Reactions

As for conjugative phase II reactions, they rely on the presence of specific functional groups to accommodate the moiety transferred from the cofactor to the substrate. By far the most prominent DME in this class is uridine 5'-diphosphoglucuronosyltransferase (UGT) which in a nucleophilic substitution attaches glucuronic acid to carboxyl, aliphatic and aromatic hydroxyl, and amino groups or to N-heterocycles to yield the glucuronide conjugate [15]. Given the critical function of glucuronidation in human drug metabolism, the UGT family has been characterized to an extent comparable to that of CYPs with respect to identification of the human isoforms (belonging to the families UGTA1 and UGT2B), tissue expression, substrate selectivity, and polymorphic variants. It is worth stressing that certain UGTs involved in the conjugation of drugs are exclusively expressed in extrahepatic tissues [16]. Consequently, a liver-centered approach in assessing the extent of glucuronidation is likely to fail in accurately predicting the overall contribution of this phase II reaction to the overall metabolic clearance [17]. One aspect of particular interest to the environmental scientist dealing with the fate of glucuronide conjugates of acidic drugs carrying a carboxyl group (e.g., DCF and IBU) resides in the susceptibility of the resulting ester towards enzymatic hydrolysis (Fig. 6). This reaction, which can already be catalyzed prior to excretion by intestinal bacteria exposed to bile secretions, may regenerate the parent drug if no preceding phase I reaction took place.

Second to glucuronidation is the sulfotransferase-mediated (SULT) conjugation of a sulfo group (SO₃) to an alcohol, phenol, or amine [18]. In this sulfation reaction, the resulting metabolite is a sulfate and a sulfamate, respectively. Although human cytosolic SULTs are high-affinity enzymes, their quantitative relevance is limited owing to their low capacity. Accordingly, sulfation is usually a minor pathway in the metabolic scheme of synthetic drugs. Sulfate and glucuronide conjugations share the pharmacokinetically relevant characteristic of greatly lowering the lipophilicity of drug molecules and thus are usually the final metabolic step before efficient metabolite secretion into bile or excretion into urine takes place.



Fig. 6 UGT-mediated reactions: acyl glucuronide formation of ibuprofen, O-glucuronidation of aromatic and aliphatic (allylic) hydroxyl group in morphine, N-glucuronidation of amino group and N-heterocycle in lamotrigine, glucuronidation of sulfonamide in valdecoxib

Apart from the UGT-mediated conjugation of drugs containing carboxyl groups, an alternative pathway, though of negligible significance in the human body, is the formation of amino acid conjugates in the mitochondria via a multi-stage reaction in which the substrate is first activated by conversion into a high-energy CoA thioester [19]. In the subsequent nucleophilic reaction, it then establishes an amide bond with the amino group of the amino acid. The very few reported cases in humans involve glycine as the reaction partner. whereas animal species have been shown to form carnitine conjugates as well as conjugates with taurine. A further, quite specific phase II reaction is the N-acetylation of arylamines, arylhydroxylamines, and arylhydrazines (Fig. 7). It is catalyzed by the cytosolic conjugating enzyme N-acetyltransferase (NAT) which transfers an acetyl group from acetyl-CoA to the drug acceptor substrate.



Fig. 7 N-acetylation of the arylamine sulfamethoxazole and the arylhydrazine hydralazine



Fig. 8 CYP-mediated bioactivation of acetaminophen to NAPQI, scavenging of the reactive metabolites by GSH, sequential hydrolytic cleavage of glutamic acid and glycine from GSH, and N-acetylation of the resulting cysteine conjugate to yield the mercapturic acid conjugate

Viewing the metabolism of drugs as a detoxification mechanism of the human body, the glutathione S-transferases (GST) truly play a pivotal role in the protection against chemically reactive species [20]. This cytosolic enzyme class catalyzes the transfer of the nucleophilic tripeptide glutathione (GSH), composed of γ -glutamic acid-cysteine-glycine, to an electrophilic substrate by taking advantage of the nucleophilic character of the thiol group in the central amino acid. GSH conjugation is most frequently observed following phase I-induced bioactivation that has led to the formation of a strongly electron-deficient intermediate. In the absence of GSH as scavenger, such activated drug metabolite may otherwise react with functional groups of macromolecules, potentially compromising their cellular functions. In fact, depletion of the cofactor GSH at the cellular level due to generation of high amounts of reactive metabolite can result in acute liver failure. The classical example of bioactivation is the CYP-mediated conversion of acetaminophen into N-acetyl-pbenzoquinone imine (NAPQI; Fig. 8). Hepatic formation of GSH conjugates is usually followed by sequential cleavage of first glutamate by γ -glutamyltranspeptidase and then glycine through cysteinyl glycinase. N-acetylation of the cysteine amino group can then complete the reaction sequence to produce mercapturic acids. Detecting cysteine conjugates and mercapturic acids in bile or urine provides evidence for previous GSH conjugation.

3 Drug Metabolism in Plants

Depending on their physicochemical properties and their interaction with soil, pharmaceuticals present in irrigation water can enter plants and undergo metabolic transformations as observed for other organic xenobiotics such as pesticides. Plants can detect, transport, and detoxify these molecules by setting a wide array of molecular mechanisms constituting the xenome [21]. Shimabukuro first described the detoxification cascade of organic xenobiotics in plants and divided it into three phases, in analogy to human hepatic drug metabolism [22]. Based on these observations, Sandermann established the green liver concept [23]. As far as we know, plants metabolize pharmaceuticals through a sequence of intermediates. Nowadays, the complete biotransformation pathway for the majority of pharmaceuticals in plants is not understood; however, the metabolic reactions described in other studies indicate similarity to those that pesticides undergo. Since plants are sedentary, they rely significantly on biochemical mechanisms of defense [24]. Plants further resemble the liver of higher vertebrates insofar as they are able to metabolize xenobiotics with great specificity [25].

In phase I reactions, the parent compound is chemically modified by introducing a functional group to the molecule typically in one or more enzymatic reactions. This phase is called the activation phase and in most instances renders more hydrophilic metabolites. Increased solubility avoids the partition of the compound in biological membranes and shortens their half-life. The primary metabolites formed in phase I reactions are often identical to those in animals. Although most of the time metabolites display reduced affinity towards the target organism than the parent compound, in some cases the phytotoxicity can increase after activation. The generated metabolites are chemically more reactive as they contain functional groups suitable for phase II metabolism, where the metabolite is deactivated by covalent binding to endogenous molecules to form water-soluble conjugates. Conjugates formed in plants differ from those found in humans and animal species by relying on glycosyl and malonyl transferase-mediated metabolism to produce glycosyl and malonyl conjugates. These metabolic pathways are unknown in humans although glycosylation is mechanistically analogous to glucuronidation with the only difference residing in the structure of the saccharide moiety. The formation of GSH conjugates in plants, involving GSTs, may be more prominent than in humans where their detection in in vitro test systems such as hepatocytes is generally regarded a warning sign because it indicates the formation of reactive electrophilic metabolites. In fact, detection of GSH adducts during compound screening in pharmaceutical research settings usually leads to the rejection of GSH conjugate-forming entities. Further conjugates reported to be generated in plants are the products of amino acid conjugation, sulfation, and O-methylation. These inactive conjugates are considered as non-toxic or less toxic than the parent compound. In phase III reactions (compartmentation), conjugates are extracted from the site of formation and transferred into different compartments. For example, glycosyl, malonyl, and GSH conjugates are sequestered in the vacuole with the aid of specific ATP-binding cassette transporters. In other cases, conjugates are transported to the apoplast where they can bind or not to the cell wall.

Here we describe the basic reactions governing the formation of pharmaceutical metabolites in plants. This will help researchers when attempting to identify novel metabolites by suspect screening techniques.

3.1 Phase I Metabolism

In this phase, a variety of chemical reactions are involved in the xenobiotic metabolism in plants such as oxidation (CYP, peroxidases, dehydrogenases, and laccases), reduction (aldo-keto reductases), and hydrolysis (esterases, carboxylesterases, amidases, and epoxide hydrolases). Like in humans, the CYP family is the single most important enzyme class which commonly catalyze monooxygenation of substrates (including hydroxylations, epoxidations, dealkylations, decarboxylations, and isomerizations), but they are also able to act as peroxidases or reductases.

3.1.1 Oxidation

Oxidation is an important reaction for the detoxification of xenobiotics in plants and comprises carbon hydroxylation, N-dealkylation, O-dealkylation, epoxidation, sulfoxidation, and nitrogen oxidation. The most common desulfuration, CYP-mediated carbon oxidation reactions are, like in humans, hydroxylation of aromatic rings and alkyl side chains of the substrates (see Fig. 1). For instance, the metabolism of the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug IBU in plants is initiated by hydroxylation of the isobutyl group (see Table 1) yielding hydroxy-IBU (the exact position of the hydroxyl group remains to be identified) which is further oxidized to the dihydroxy metabolite and carboxy-IBU as reported for *Phragmites australis*, Arabidopsis thaliana (cells), Typha angustifolia, and Lemna gibba. These two metabolic pathways have also been documented to occur in mammals and microorganisms [41–47]. In plants the anticonvulsant CBZ is transformed to trans-10,11dihydroxy-CBZ catalyzed sequentially by CYP and epoxide hydrolases [28-31]. As secondary pathways, monohydroxylation (2- and 3-hydroxy-CBZ and, to much lower extent, 4-hydroxy-CBZ) and dihydroxylation were found to take place in tomato plants. A single phase I metabolite of DCF (4'-hydroxy diclofenac) was reported to be formed in *Hordeum vulgare* and hairy root (HR) cell cultures of Armoracia rusticana [37–40].

An example of O-demethylation in plants is the O-desmethyl-metabolite of naproxen (NPX) [41]. Therefore, NPX follows the same metabolic pattern in plants and humans, the only phase I metabolite being O-desmethyl-NPX which is extensively metabolized to phase II conjugates [41]. Caffeine in radish also undergoes demethylations and suffers stepwise N-demethylation yielding paraxanthine, theobromine, and theophylline. Successive demethylations then generate 7- and

Table 1 Comparis	son of the metabolism of drugs in humans a	ind plants		
Compound	Human metabolites	Plant metabolites	Plant species	Ref.
Acetaminophen (AAP)	Phase I: N-acetyl-p-benzoquinone imine (NAPQI) Phase II: AAP-Gluc, AAP-Sulf, AAP- Cys	Phase II: AAP-Hex, AAP-Cys ; AAP-GSH	Armoracia rusticana (cells)	[26]
Caffeine	Phase I: Paraxanthine, theobromine, theophylline, 3-methylxanthine, 7-methylxanthine, 1,3,7-trimethyluric acid, 1-methyluric acid phase II: 5-acetylamino-6-formylamino- 3-methyluracil	Phase I: Paraxanthine, theobromine, theophylline, 3-methylxanthine, 7-methylxanthine, 1,3,7-trimethylu-3,7,8,9- acid, 8-OH-1,3,7-trimethyl-3,7,8,9- tetrahydro-1H-purine-2,6-dione, 7-OH-1,3-dimethyl-3,7-dihydro-1H- purine-2,6-dione, xanthine	Lactuca sativa, radish	[27]
Carbamazepine (CBZ)	Phase I: 2-OH-CBZ, 3-OH-CBZ, 2,3- diOH-CBZ, 10,11-dihydro-10-OH- CBZ, 10,11-epoxy-CBZ, 10,11-diOH- CBZ, 2,3-dihydro-OH-CBZ, 0- quinone, 2, 3-epoxide-CBZ, acridine, acridine-carboxaldehyde, acridine, acridine-carboxaldehyde, acridine, acridone Phase II 10,11-dihydro-10-OH-CBZ-Gluc	Phase I: 2-OH-CBZ, 3-OH-CBZ, 2,3- diOH-CBZ, 10,11-epoxy-CBZ, trans- 10,11-dihydro-10-CBZ, cis-diOH-CBZ, 10,11-dihydro-CBZ, 2,3- dihydro-OH-CBZ, 10,11-dihydro- CBZ, 2,3-dihydro-2,3-OH-CBZ, CBZ, 2,3-quinone, 10,11-dihydro-10,11- epoxy-CBZ, acridine, acridine- epoxy-CBZ, acridine, acridine- carboxaldehyde, acridine-carboxylic acid, 9-OH-acridine, acridine- Phase II: 10,11-dihydro-10-OH-11- GSH-CBZ, CBZ-Hex, CBZ-Cys, 10,11- dihydro-10-OH-CBZ-Cys, CBZ-Cys- Gly	Phragmites australis (culture), Sola- num lycopersicum, Cucumis Sativus, Carrot culture	[24, 28– 32]
Ciprofloxacin (CIP)	Formyl-CIP, oxo-CIP, desethylene-CIP, Sulfo-CIP	Phase I: OH-CIP, N-desalkyl-CIP, desethylene-CIP	Brassica parachinensis	[33]

234

[34]	[35, 36]	[37-40]	[41-47]	[48]	continued)
Lepidium sativum	Raphanus sativus, Beta vulgaris, Cucumis sativus	Hordeum vulgare, haity root cell cul- ture of Armoracia rusticana, Cucumber and radish (horse radish), Typha latifolia	Phragmites australis, Vigna unguiculata L. Walp, Arabidopsis thaliana (cells), Typha angustifolia, Lemna gibba	Typha latifolia	
Phase I: OH-CLP (unidentified position of OH), N-desmethyl-CMP , OH-N- desmethyl-CLP (unidentified position of OH)	Phase I: N-desmethyl-DZP (nordazepam), OH-DZP (temazepam), N-desmethyl-OH-DZP (oxazepam)	Phase I: 4-OH-DCF Phase II: 4-OH-DCF-Hex, DCF-Hex- Mal, OH-DCF-Hex-Mal, DCF-Gln, DCF-Glu, 4-OH-DCF-GSH	Phase I: OH-IBU (unidentified position of OH), 1-OH-IBU, 2-OH-IBU, diOH- IBU, carboxy-IBU Phase II: IBU-Glu, OH-IBU-Gluc, IBU-Hex, IBU-Hex, OH-IBU-Hex, OH-IBU-Glu, IBU-Glu, OH-IBU-Glu, OH-IBU-Glu, IBU-Hex, IBU-Hex, OH-IBU-Ser, acety1-IBU-Hex, IBU-DeOHex-Hex, acety1-IBU- DeOHex-Hex	Phase I: Dehydro-IOP, di-dehydro-IOP, IOP-carboxylic acid, dehydro-IOP-car- boxylic acid, IOP-dicarboxylic acid, dehydro-IOP-dicarboxylic acid, de-carboxy-didehydro-IOP-carboxylic acid, di-iodo-IOP	
Phase I: N-desmethyl-CMP, N, N-didesmethyl-CMP, CMP-N-oxide, 2-OH-CMP, 8-OH-CMP, 10-OH-CMP, 8-OH-N-desmethyl-CMP Phase II: 2-OH-CMP-Gluc, 8-OH-CMP-Gluc, 2-OH-N-desmethyl- CMP-Gluc	Phase I: N-desmethyl-DZP (nordazepam), OH-DZP (temazepam), N-desmethyl-OH-DZP (oxazepam)	Phase I: 4-OH-DCF , 3'-OH-DCF, 4',5- diOH-DCF Phase II: DCF-AGluc, 3- '-OH-4'methoxy-DCF, 3- '-OH-DCF-Sulf, 4-OH-DCF-Sulf, 3'-OH-DCF-Gluc, 4-OH-DCF-Gluc	Phase I: 1-OH-IBU, 2-OH-IBU, 3-OH-IBU, carboxy-IBU Phase II: IBU-AGluc	Not metabolized	
Clomipramine (CMP)	Diazepam (DZP)	Diclofenac (DCF)	Ibuprofen (IBU)	Iopromide (IOP)	

Table 1 (continué	(p;			
Compound	Human metabolites	Plant metabolites	Plant species	Ref.
Ketoprofen (KPF)	Phase II: KPF-AGluc	Phase II: KPF-Hex, KPF-Hex-Mal, KPF-Gin, KPF-Glu	Lepidium sativum	[39, 40]
Mefenamic acid (MFA)	Phase I: 3-methylhydroxy MFA, 3-carboxy-MFA Phase II: FA-AGluc, MFA-Gly	Phase II: MFA-Hex-Mal, OH-MFA-Hex, OH-MFA-Hex-Mal	Lepidium sativum	[39, 40]
Metformin (MFM)	Not metabolized	Phase I: N-desmethyl-MFM	Typha latifolia	[49]
Naproxen (NPX)	Phase I: O-desmethyl-NPX Phase II: NPX-O-Gluc, O-desmethyl- NPX-Sulf, O-desmethyl-NPX-AGluc, O-desmethyl-NPX-O-Gluc	Phase I: O-desmethyl-NPX Phase II: NPX-Hex, NPX-Hex-Mal, NPX-Ala-Glu, NPX-Gln, NPX-Glu, NPX-Gln-Glu, NPX-Ile-Glu, NPX-Leu- Glu, NPX-Phe-Glu, , NPX-Thr-Ala, NPX-Tyr-Gly-Gln, NPX-Val-Glu, OH-NPX-Tyr-Gly-Gln	Lepidium sativum, Arabidopsis thaliana (cells)	[39-41]
Offoxacin (OFL)	Desmethyl-OFL, OFL-N-oxide	Phase I: OH-OFL, O-ethyl-OFL, O-methyl-OFL, decarboxy-OFL, N-desmethyl-OFL, OH-N-desmethyl- OFL Phase II: OFL-Hex, OFL-Hex-Mal	Tomato and lettuce	[50, 51]
Sertraline (SRT)	Phase I: N-desmethyl-SRT, SRT ketone Phase II: SER N-carbamoyl-Gluc, α-OH-SER ketone-Gluc	Phase I: two OH-SRT (unidentified position of OH) Phase II: N-desmethyl-SRT-Phe, N-desmethyl-SRT-Tyr, OH-N- desmethyl-SRT-Phe (unidentified posi- tion of OH)	Lepidium sativum	[34]
Trazodone (TZD)	Phase I: 4-OH-TZD, m-chlorophenylpiperazine , triazolopyridinone dihydrodiol, triazolopyridinone epoxide	Phase I: OH-TZD (unidentified position of OH), m-chlorophenylpiperazine	Lepidium sativum	[34]

Table 1 (continued)

Triclosan (TCS)	Phase I: OH-TCS	Phase II: TCS-Sulf, TCS-Hex,	Radish in vitro	[52]
	Phase II: TCS-Gluc, TCS-Sulf	TCS-Hex-Sulf, TCS-Hex-Hex,		
		TCS-Hex-Mal, TCS-DeOHex-Mal-Hex-		
		Sulf, TCS-DeOHex-Hex-Sulf,		
		TSC-Hex-Mal-diSulf, TCS-DeOHex-		
		Hex-Sulf, TCS-Hex-Mal-Sulf,		
		TCS-DeOHex-Hex, TCS-acetyl-Hex;		
		OH-TCS-Hex-Mal, OH-TCS-Hex-Mal-		
		Sulf, and more		
Trimethoprim	Phase I: 3-NO-TMP, 1-NO-TMP,	Phase I: (2,4-diaminopyrimidin-5- yl)-	Tomato and lettuce	[50]
(TMP)	3-Desmethyl-TMP, 4-Desmethyl-TMP,	(3,4,5-trimethoxyphenyl)methanone		
	Cα-OH-TMP,	(oxo-TMP)		
	Phase II: Cα-NAC-TMP			
Gluc glucuronide	conjugate, AGluc acyl glucuronide conjugat	te, <i>Sulf</i> sulfate conjugate, <i>GSH</i> glutathione c	conjugate	

Glucoside conjugates, Hex hexose; DeOHex desoxyhexose. Amino acid conjugates: Ala alanine; Cys cysteine; Gln glutamine; Glu glutamic acid; Gly glycine; *Ile* isoleucine; *Leu* leucine; *Phe* phenylalanine; *Ser* serine; *Thr* threonine; *Tyr* tyrosine; *Val* valine; *Mal* malonyl. Bold font indicate metabolites detected in both human and plants 3-methylxanthine and ultimately the end product xanthine [27]. In humans, in turn, caffeine is primarily metabolized in the liver where it undergoes also C8 oxidation apart from demethylation. The initial N-demethylation reactions are common in humans [53], but not up to the stage of xanthine. While paraxanthine represents the large fraction of the primary metabolites (up to 80%) during the first step of demethylation, it seems that theobromine is the most abundant intermediate in radish. A further example of N-demethylation is the antidiabetic agent metformin (MFM), a reaction that was shown to occur in *Typha latifolia* as well as in humans [49]. Hydroxylation of the methylene group attached to the piperazine ring in trazodone in *Lepidium sativum* (garden cress) results in the formation of m-chlorophenylpiperazine [34].

Other compounds undergo sequential demethylation and hydroxylation. For instance, diazepam is metabolized in plants (*Raphanus sativus*, *Beta vulgaris*, *Cucumis sativus*) to two primary metabolites, nordazepam as the N-demethylation product and temazepam as the result of hydroxylation of the methylene group adjacent to the carbonyl group in the seven-membered ring. Both metabolites can then converge into oxazepam, thus constituting the same metabolic pathway as identified in humans. The antidepressant sertraline (SRT), in turn, is extensively metabolized to N-desmethyl-SRT in humans, which is followed by oxidative deamination to the ketone. When *Lepidium sativum* (garden cress) was exposed to SRT, only two hydroxylated metabolites were detected [34], while no evidence for N-demethylation was presented. In the same study, a second antidepressant, clomipramine (CMP), formed an N-demethylated biotransformation product, previously reported to be formed in humans [34], which are also able to hydroxylate both CMP and its N-desmethyl-CMP.

A special type of carbon oxidation is epoxidation. This CYP-mediated reaction at aromatic rings or double bonds releases typically highly reactive species due to the ring tension and the polarized carbon-oxygen bond. One of the few stable examples is 10,11-epoxide of CBZ, which is a major transformation product in plants. In humans, the formation of this symmetrical epoxide is a rare example of a metabolite being sufficiently stable to be excreted into human urine (see Fig. 1).

While carbon oxidation of drugs is well documented in various plants species, there are no cases yet that have demonstrated the oxidation of heteroatoms. Such reactions, though, can be expected based on the observation of such pathways for pesticides. For instance, the herbicide prometryn, a methyl-aryl thioether, is subject to S-oxidation, while the pyridazine ring in the herbicide credazine undergoes N-oxidation in this heterocycle [54].

3.1.2 Hydrolysis

As of today, there are no studies that provide evidence for drug hydrolysis in plants. Nonetheless, the presence and function activity of hydrolytic enzymes in plants have been demonstrated for several pesticides; for instance, propanil undergoes cleavage of the amide bond, whereas the nitrile group of bromoxynil is hydrolyzed to the carboxylic acid [54].

3.1.3 Reduction

In contrast to oxidation, enzymatic reduction of organic contaminants occurs less frequently in both plants and humans [55]. A plant-specific metabolite not occurring in humans is 10,11-dihydro-CBZ, whose formation can be explained by hydrogenation of the 10,11 double bond in the central ring of CBZ [28–30, 56]. Furthermore, CBZ was shown to yield two reductive metabolites in tomato plants originating from internal cyclization of the carbamoyl group with the carbon in position 6, followed by the conversion of two aromatic double bonds into saturated moieties [28].

3.2 Phase II Metabolism

The metabolic transformations of drugs identified in phase II reactions are very similar to those documented for humans. One of the major differences between human and plant metabolism with respect to phase II reactions is that the former catalyzes the transfer of glucuronic acid to substrates bearing carboxyl, hydroxyl, or amine group, whereas the latter makes use of glucose for the analogous reaction with the drug molecule. As mentioned above, in phase II metabolism, plants are able to transfer D-glucose to suitable nucleophilic substrates under the catalytic effect of glycosyltransferase, whereas the analogous reaction in the human body involves glucuronic acid (Fig. 9). Direct conjugation of drugs without previous functionalization by phase I reactions can occur in plants provided the substrate contains appropriate functional groups for conjugation. Apart from the important role of glycosyltransferases, further phase II enzymes are GST, malonyltransferases, SULT, and methyltransferases [57].

3.2.1 GSH Conjugates

An important role of GST in humans is the inactivation of reactive metabolites of electrophilic nature. As illustrated in Fig. 9, acetaminophen (AAP) is bioactivated in a CYP-mediated N-oxidation/dehydration to yield a species known as NAPQI. The detection of the GSH conjugate in AAP-treated *Armoracia rusticana* hairy roots (HR) strongly suggests that the bioactivation in this plant species is identical to hepatic bioactivation in mammals [26]. In general terms, GST enzymes are important in detoxifying xenobiotics across a broad variety of organisms, including mammals, bacteria, fungi, plants, and insects. GSH conjugates of xenobiotic compounds result in highly polar metabolites that can be more easily translocated [56]. The residual reactivity of the epoxide 10,11-epoxy-CBZ (see above) becomes



Fig. 9 Proposed metabolic pathways in humans and plants of acetaminophen. Adapted from [26]



Fig. 10 Formation of 10,11-dihydro-10-hydroxy-11-GSH-CBZ in roots inoculated with *R. radiobacter* [29]

evident in the identification of 10,11-dihydro-10-hydroxy-11-GSH-CBZ in roots inoculated with *R. radiobacter* [29]. The formation of this metabolite can be rationalized by the ring opening of the epoxide through addition of GSH as depicted in Fig. 10. The detoxification capabilities of GST were also proven for *Typha latifolia* (bulrush) upon exposure to DCF. In root tissues, the cytosolic GST-CDNB (1-chloro-2,4-dinitrobenzene) activity was significantly increased forming 4-OH-DCF-GSH through reaction of GSH with the active metabolite 4-OH-DCF [38].

3.2.2 Carbohydrate Conjugates and Derivatives

The most frequently detected phase II metabolic transformation of xenobiotics in plants is the conjugation with sugars. This glycosylation facilitates the conjugation of chlorinated phenols, anilines, and thiophenols as well as of carboxylic acids [21]. When these functional groups (OH, NH, SH, COOH) are already present in the structure of the parent compound, it can be directly conjugated; otherwise it requires a preceding phase I reaction to unmask or introduce the respective functionality. For instance, AAP is transformed to AAP-Hex (Fig. 9) which is the dominant plant metabolite (64%) in analogy to the prominent glucuronidation in humans (40–67%) [26]. Plant glycosyltransferases also transform triclosan (TCS) into TCS hexoside (TCS-Hex) and subsequently to disaccharide conjugates such as TCS hexosyl hexoside (TCS-Hex-Hex) and TCS desoxyhexosyl hexoside (TCS-DeOHex-Hex) [58] by linking a second sugar unit (hexose and desoxyhexose, respectively) to the TCS-bound hexose [58].

Carbohydrate conjugates of xenobiotics can undergo further transformation with malonic acid which is an important transformation step in plant detoxification. The function of malonyltransferases resides in the transfer of malonyl from malonyl-CoA to the substrate which in case of glucosides is attached to the 6-hydroxyl group in the glucose ring. In addition, the amino groups of anilines and *S*-cysteinylated conjugates are also amenable to malonylation [21]. Malonylation has been hypothesized to protect the saccharide conjugates against enzyme cleavage and to render the products ready for storage in vacuole or cell walls in phase III [59]. In horseradish cultures, the UV filter oxybenzone (OBZ) undergoes initial conjugation with glucose to form OBZ-Hex followed by malonylation to yield OBZ-Hex-Mal (Fig. 11) [61]. Excretion of OBZ-Hex into the growth medium was observed, while the corresponding OBZ-Hex-Mal remained stored in root cells, a fact supporting the hypothesis of vacuolar compartmentation of glucoside-malonyl conjugates.

In horseradish culture TCS was transformed to a monohydroxylated metabolite, which alongside the intact parent compound underwent malonyl conjugation to yield the corresponding hexosyl malonyl conjugates (TCS-Hex-Mal and OH-TCS-Hex-Mal) [52]. Analogous reaction sequences were observed for the phenylacetic acids



Fig. 11 Proposed metabolic pathway of oxybenzone in A. rusticana. Adapted from [60]

DCF and IBU in radish [27, 37]. Mefenamic acid (MFA) with its benzoic acid core was oxidatively metabolized in 3-methylhydroxy MFA [40] at the methylphenyl ring to the benzylic alcohol. Both compounds can then serve as substrates for glycosylation to generate MFA-Hex-Mal and OH-MFA-Hex-Mal [40]. By contrast, treatment of *Lepidium sativum* with ketoprofen allowed only to detect the hexosyl malonyl conjugate, while no evidence for any oxidative pathways could be provided [40].

An analogous reaction of the hydroxyl group with a carboxylic acid of the glycosylated phase II conjugates is performed by acetylation [52]. The acetylation of TCS and IBU hexosides in one OH-group of the glycone part gave rise to the acetylhexoside in radish [27, 46, 52]. Sulfation of glucosides in plants was also reported [57]. So far, TCS is the only glycosylated compound that was shown to generate sulfo- and disulfosaccharide conjugates in plants [52].

3.2.3 Amino Acid Conjugates

The reaction of drugs to form amino acid conjugates is an infrequent reaction in human drug metabolism observed mostly for carboxylic acids to yield taurine or glycine conjugates. By contrast, plants appear to be more susceptible to form amino acid conjugates. For instance, drugs, bearing a carboxyl group such as DCF [37], IBU [41], and NPX [41], form conjugates with glycine, glutamine, leucine, and phenylalanine. For example, IBU was conjugated directly with glutamine and glutamic acid to form IBU-Gln and IBU-Glu [41]. Hydroxy-IBU likewise formed their respective conjugates as well as the one with serine (Table 1). These results, together with findings for NPX, clearly show that conjugation with amino acids, especially Glu and Gln, was a major route of biotransformation of profens in Arabidopsis [41]. Amino acid conjugation though is not limited to substrates with carboxyl group to yield the amide, but it was also observed for the secondary amine in N-desmethyl SRT in garden grass treated with SRT whose carboxylic acid functionality reacted with the aromatic amino acids tyrosine and phenylalanine [34]. The formation of AAP-Cys did not originate from a direct reaction with cysteine but was formed by two consecutive hydrolytic steps of the two amide bonds which yielded glutamic acid from the phase II metabolite, AAP-Glu, already formed in Armoracia rusticana [26].

3.3 Phase III Plant Metabolism

To get rid of phase II products, plants transport them into the vacuole where they are stored or incorporate them to the cell wall. This phase III of compartmentation is unique to plants because plants cannot excrete xenobiotics as animals do. Phase III products are no longer toxic for plants but can be reconverted in the original phase II or even phase I metabolites after ingestion by herbivores or after reincorporation of decaying biomass to the environment. Transport into the vacuole is driven by ATP-binding cassette (ABC) protein-mediated transporters. ABC transporters use MgATP to drive the transport of ligands, a process unaffected by transmembrane H+ electrochemical potential but strongly inhibited by vanadate ions [62]. The importance of these transporters in xenobiotic detoxification has been clearly demonstrated by showing that transgenic *Arabidopsis* overexpressing an ABC protein showed an enhanced tolerance to multiple herbicides [63].

Vacuolar storage of xenobiotic-malonyl conjugates has been observed in plants using the herbicide 2,4-D and the pesticide pentachlorophenol [59, 64]. Malonylation is characterized by enhanced chemical stability and improved solubility and deposition of target compounds in vacuoles [60, 65–67]. Transporters for pharmaceutical-malonyl conjugates have so far not been identified, but transporters for malonyl conjugates of physiological importance are described since long. The central molecule for ethylene biosynthesis, 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic (ACC), is present in plant cells in free and conjugated forms. One of these conjugates is N-malonyl-ACC (MACC) and can be translocated between the cytosol and the vacuole by ATP-dependent tonoplast carriers [68, 69] suggesting that MACC formation and storage in the vacuoles might be important to control the pool of available ACC.

GSH conjugates are by far much well studied being glutathionylated pesticides the best studied routes of xenobiotic conjugate metabolism [67, 70]. The ABC subfamily C is responsible for the transport of glutathionylated xenobiotics into vacuoles [62]. Beyond their contribution to vacuolar sequestration of model GSH conjugated xenobiotics, they have evolved to fulfil other physiological transport roles [71]. Pharmaceutical metabolism in plants through conjugation to GSH was observed for several compounds like AAP, CBZ and DCF (Table 2). Their transporters have not yet been identified. More research is needed in this area specially to investigate possible recycling and further processing of GSH conjugates, a fact that has been observed previously in vacuoles and cytoplasm [75].

Another compartmentation route for xenobiotic detoxification is the incorporation of degradation intermediates into bound residues, typically polysaccharide or polyphenolic biomolecules located in the cell wall or more occasionally proteins or lipids [76]. A study using ¹⁴C-labelled IBU and NPX allowed the quantification of non-extractable phase III metabolites integrated in cell walls [41]. Bound residues are insoluble and are not detectable using conventional solvent extraction techniques. However, studies have shown that between 1 and 70% of the herbicide metabolite can be incorporated into structural components of the plant [76, 77].

4 Plant Models for the Study of Pharmaceutical Metabolism

Pharmaceutical metabolism in plants has been studied by using different approaches. Uptake, translocation, metabolism, and compartmentation of transformation products are a complex process depending on many variables from soil structure,

			Plant	
Compound	Concentration	Identified metabolites	species	Reference
Acetaminophen	151 ppm	Phase II: AAP-Hex,	Armoracia	[26]
(AAP)		AAP-GSH, AAP-Cys	rusticana	
Diclofenac (DCF)	2.96 ppm	Phase I: 4-OH-DCF,	Armoracia	[37]
	29.6 ppm	Phase II: 4-OH-DCF-	rusticana	
		glycopyranoside		
Diclofenac (DCF)	59.4 ppm	Phase I: DCF-2,5-	Armoracia	[72]
		iminoquinone	rusticana	
Oxybenzone	22.8 ppm	Phase II: OBZ-Hex,	Armoracia	[61]
(OBZ)		OBZ-Hex-Mal	rusticana	
Carbamazepine	59 ppm	Phase I: 10,11-epoxy-CBZ,	Armoracia	[29]
(CBZ)		10,11-diOH-CBZ, 10-OH-	rusticana	
		CBZ, 2,3-dihydro-2,3-diOH-		
		CBZ, 2,3-diOH-CBZ,		
		CBZ-2,3-quinone, acridine,		
		acridine-carboxaldehyde,		
		9-OH-acridine, acridone		
		Phase II: CBZ-GSH,		
		CBZ-Cys, CBZ-Cys-Gly		
Phenol,	100 ppm	Not identified	Brassica	[73]
2,4-dichlorophenol			napus	
Tetracycline,	1 to 10 ppm	Phase I: oxidation at the BCD	Helianthus	[74]
oxytetracycline		chromophore	annuus	

 Table 2
 Studies involving hairy roots for the identification of pharmaceutical transformation products in plants

composition, moisture, and pH to the physiology of each plant species or the associated plant microbiota. This complexity can be simplified by using models allowing to answer basic mechanistic questions.

4.1 Whole Plants

Metabolism of xenobiotics can be studied by using whole plants. This approach involves long growth periods and complex matrices to analyze, being necessary the development of specific extraction and cleanup methods adapted to each situation in particular [78]. Moreover, the formation and distribution of metabolites in different parts of the plant are the result of complex interactions between the physicochemical properties of the molecule, the soil characteristics, the rhizosphere microbiome, the plant species, the plant physiological and health status, and the endophytic microbiota. Hydroponically grown plants are a good compromise between field conditions and the use of a real model. Hydroponics have the advantage of working in controlled conditions, limiting the interferences with the pharmaceutical applied and the soil matrix and its microbiota and the possibility to clean the roots prior to extraction. Additionally, the remaining growth solution used to provide water and nutrients for the plants can be easily screened for root exudates and metabolites produced in the rhizoplane. A wide array of studies identifying uptake of pharmaceuticals in plants using both approaches can be found in the literature [79]. These approaches can be used to study the transfer of pharmaceuticals and their metabolites to edible plants and transformed products when using reclaimed wastewater in agriculture. Additionally, they may provide useful information about translocation and distribution of metabolites in plant tissues [38, 43, 48].

4.2 In Vitro Models

Researchers have made use of models to avoid the complexity of soil-grown plant systems and to simplify their studies. Even though mechanisms like transpirationdriven uptake and translocation or interactions with the soil and plant microbiota are absent or disturbed in these model systems, they are a viable approach when it comes to identifying new metabolites and describe metabolic pathways exclusive of plant cells. Most known models involve the use of cell suspensions of different plant species [41, 58, 80–83].

In vitro studies can be rapidly set up in order to identify metabolites in plant tissues by incubating cut stems devoid of their root system or excised leaves or roots in a solution containing pharmaceuticals and/or metabolites. Pioneering studies who served to establish the general model of xenobiotic detoxification in plants were conducted using excised leaves and roots exposed to different herbicides [84, 85]. Furthermore, by using cut stems or detached leaves, it is possible to quantify phytotoxicity and plant short-term response towards pharmaceuticals [86].

Pharmaceutical metabolism can be studied also in enzymatic extracts obtained from plant tissues. Some in vitro studies using enzyme extracts incubated with pharmaceuticals have found similar metabolic patterns both in radish tissue enzyme extracts and in the intact plants [27]. Plant enzyme extracts have been used to investigate metabolism of MFM in specific plant compartments [49] and synthetic estrogens at specific plant development stages [87].

4.3 Examples of Method Applications

The particularities and complementarities of these different approaches can be illustrated using CBZ as an example of a recalcitrant pharmaceutical that can be taken up and metabolized in plants. Wu and coworkers studied CBZ metabolism using carrot cell suspensions [80]. They could determine that only about 5% of the initial CBZ amount was metabolized in plant cells and transformed into CBZ-epoxide and CBZ-10,11-diol (Fig. 12). Both metabolites were also identified as main metabolites of CBZ in leaves of tomato, cucumber, sweet potato, and carrot and fruits of cucumber and tomato [31].



Fig. 12 Metabolism of carbamazepine in carrot cell suspension. Adapted from [80]

In a field experiment with vegetables grown with reclaimed wastewater, the distribution of CBZ and nine related metabolites, also found in wastewater, was studied in different crops and plant tissues [88]. Using this approach, researchers could establish an accumulation pattern leaves>roots>shoots>fruits for these compounds and could identify tissues where specific metabolites accumulated (e.g., acridone in carrot leaves). In another study, a total of 11 metabolites (mainly phase-I) were quantified in tomato plant tissues grown hydroponically [28]. This approach concluded that an intensive transformation of CBZ occurred in tomato fruits in addition to metabolism in roots and leaves and completed the metabolic pathway for CBZ in plants (Fig. 13).

These findings show that major metabolic pathways of CBZ in plant cell cultures and in whole plants are similar proving that plant cell cultures can serve as a simple, rapid tool to study the metabolism of pharmaceuticals in plants. However, studies with whole plants and soil are needed to identify accumulation and compartmentation of specific metabolites in different plant tissues.

4.4 Hairy Roots as Model for the Study of Root Metabolism

In 1930 a disease called "hairy root" (HR) disease was identified in apple trees. The causative agent identified by Riker and coworkers was *Phytomonas rhizogenes* (later on reclassified as *Agrobacterium rhizogenes*), a bacterium inducing abnormal growth of adventitious hairy roots in affected plants [89]. The molecular




mechanisms that *A. rhizogenes* uses to induce HR formation are similar to those used by *A. tumefaciens* to induce gall formation and consist in the transfer of a DNA segment (T-DNA) to plant cells. The T-DNA of the Ri (root inducing) plasmid contains several virulent genes causing rhizogenic growth to the transformed cells [90, 91]. Both bacteria transform plant tissues introducing genes through their T-DNA to produce opines, which serve as specific nutrients for the bacteria [92]. However, the physiologic basis of the tumorigenesis disease is different. Alteration of auxin metabolism has been proposed to contribute significantly to the expression of the HR phenotype [93, 94]. These findings have established the foundations for the development of HR cultures with different valuable biotechnological applications such as secondary metabolites production, biotransformation processes, or phytoremediation studies [73, 95].

In the last two decades, the use of HRs has been consolidated as study model for the degradation and metabolism of organic pollutants, heavy metals, radionuclides, and more recently of pharmaceuticals [96]. Additionally, HRs can be used to study plant detoxification mechanisms and activity of detoxifying enzymes such as peroxidases and laccases [97, 98]. Considering (as mentioned previously) that metabolic pathways are conserved in plant cell cultures, HRs have emerged as a model for the description of pharmaceutical metabolism in plants. HRs have some advantages over whole plants or other models like cell suspensions. They have a stable genotype and phenotype, a fast in vitro growth with no requirement of additional phytohormones, and a high production of secondary metabolites, a reason for which they are often called "phytochemical factories" [99]. Additionally, they are easy to maintain, by subculturing in sterile media, avoiding interactions with rhizosphere microbial populations present in whole plants. For this reason, they can be used also to study interactions with single microorganisms, especially rhizospheric and endophytic bacteria or fungi [29, 73, 100, 101]. To date, HR cultures have been obtained from a large number of plant species, predominantly dicotyledonous. Monocotyledonous species (like many macrophytes used for phytoremediation) have remained recalcitrant to the transformation by A. rhizogenes. Nonetheless, in the last years, advances in transformation techniques have allowed to obtain HR cultures from several monocotyledonous species [102].

HRs have been used for their enzyme activity in pharmaceutical research. *Brugmansia candida* HRs were shown to possess a glycosyl transferase very effective in biotransforming the toxic depigmenting agent hydroquinone into a less toxic alternative as arbutin [103]. For a long time, this model has been used for the biotransformation of natural compounds (e.g., thymol, geraniol, coumarin, or flavone derivatives) into molecules of improved pharmaceutical properties [104]. These biotransformations rely on HRs inherent enzymes and are governed by hydroxylation, glycosylation, oxidoreduction, and hydrolysis reactions. As these enzymes are normally present in roots of the selected plant species, this system is now used for the identification of xenobiotic metabolites, using plant species known for their production of enzymes involved in phase I metabolism such as peroxidases and laccases [97, 98].

Several metabolites have been identified in HRs exposed to pharmaceuticals (Table 2). With the development of new analytical methods, HRs are helping researchers to identify novel metabolites and describe metabolic pathways in plants. The first study of uptake and metabolism of pharmaceuticals was done using sunflower HRs to biotransform tetracycline and oxytetracycline [74]. Even if the transformation products were not fully identified, authors could evidence oxidation reactions affecting the UV absorption spectra of the parent compounds. Interestingly, it was observed that these modifications originated also in the liquid media, suggesting an active role of root exudates. It is known that roots can exudate organic acids, sugars, or amino acids but also enzymes such laccases or peroxidases. Mechanisms of DCF oxidation by peroxidases were recently studied using crude enzyme extracts from HRs [72]. Using stopped flow spectroscopy in combination with liquid chromatography-mass spectrometric analysis, authors could identify the formation of the highly reactive diclofenac-2,5-iminoquinone, which may be the precursor of several biological conjugates and breakdown products in plants.

Dismissed of the aerial part, HRs are deprived of transpiration, the main driving force of water uptake in whole plants. As a consequence, pharmaceutical uptake is the result of passive diffusion through the membrane, direct entrance into wounds, or active transport in case of molecules requiring transporters (e.g., MFM). For the same reason, phase I metabolites that are normally free in the cytosol can cross membranes by diffusion, being therefore detectable in the culture media [29]. Phase II metabolites are normally immobilized in the vacuole or in the cell wall and require a tissue extraction for their identification. Following this procedure, glucoside and GSH conjugates were identified in Armoracia rusticana HRs after exposure to acetaminophen [26], DCF [37], and CBZ [29]. In some cases, glucoside conjugates are exudated into the medium where the parent compound can be released after cleavage of the glucose. Malonylation has been hypothesized to protect the saccharide conjugates against enzyme cleavage and to render the products ready for storage in vacuole or cell walls [86]. A mass balance can be calculated by combining the analysis of both intra- and extracellular matrices. Using this approach, it was observed that A. rusticana could metabolize up to 82% of the initial acetaminophen amount after 6 hours of incubation with a distribution in the cells of 18% acetaminophen, 64% acetaminophen-glucoside, 17% acetaminophen GSH conjugate, and 1% of the corresponding cysteine conjugate [26].

5 Role of Microbiome in Pharmaceutical Metabolism and Plant-Microbe Interactions

With the recent developments on the omics technologies, the study of the microbiome has gained attention. Plants are no longer considered as standalone organisms but as holobionts in which many different microbiomes interact in a specific ecological context, contributing to major functions such as plant nutrition

and plant resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses [105]. Researchers are addressing the impact of pharmaceuticals on plant microbiome in wetlands [106, 107] and crops [108], contributing to elucidate the role of the plant microbiome in xenobiotic metabolism as well as its contribution to plant fitness in polluted environments.

5.1 The Rhizosphere Is a Hot Spot for Pharmaceutical Metabolism and Metabolite Exchange Between Plant and Microorganisms

The contaminant concentration in soil is a major factor determining rhizosphere and root endosphere microbiome structure and function [109]. Bacteria abundance and diversity are high in the rhizosphere and decrease from the outer region to the inner compartments. Bacterial abundance has been estimated to be $10^7 - 10^9$ cfu per g of fresh soil in the rhizosphere, $10^5 - 10^7$ in the rhizoplane, and $10^3 - 10^4$ cfu/gfw in the aerial endosphere [110]. The rhizosphere is a zone of exchange between the plant and the soil, where soil nutrients and root exudates allow the growth of a complex microbial community. Rhizospheric bacteria are key players in the metabolism of xenobiotics present in the soil, being the first to enter in contact with foreign molecules. It has been observed that degradative genes are enriched [111] and expressed [112] in the rhizosphere microbiome of plants growing in contaminated sites, revealing a selective control of the plant over rhizospheric microbial communities, favoring microbes with effective degradative traits. Plant selection of microbes can be exploited for cultivation and isolation of plant-associated bacteria with degradation and beneficial properties. Several studies have addressed microbiome composition and role in plants exposed to pharmaceuticals, some of them using culture-dependent methods (Table 3). Isolated microorganisms with in vitro degradation capabilities can be used for bioaugmentation in nature-based solutions for wastewater treatment.

Several studies have revealed how plant-associated microbial communities respond to the presence of pharmaceuticals in constructed wetlands (CW) for wastewater treatment highlighting the importance of plant-bacteria interplay for the remediation of pharmaceuticals [119]. In general, the concentration of pharmaceuticals affects bacterial community richness and diversity. It was observed that TCS affects the development of certain bacteria and, eventually, the bacterial community structures in CWs [117]. Moreover, the plant species selected for the CWs affected the selection of microbial strains involved in TCS degradation. Whereas in *Typha angustifolia* and *Hydrilla verticillata* CWs, beta-Proteobacteria were enriched after exposure to TCS, in *Salvinia natans* CWs, delta- and gamma-Proteobacteria and Sphingobacteria populations were significantly increased, and could relate to TCS biodegradation [117]. Similar results were obtained by Liu and coworkers in CWs planted with emergent cattail, submerged hornwort, and floating duckweed [118]. Accumulation of TCS in sediment and plants was high in hornwort and

Table 3 Studies involv	ing plants and their associated be	acteria for the ren	noval and metabolism of pharmaceutic	icals	
Plant species	Compound	Type of bacteria	Bacteria	Comments	Reference
Coffea Arabica, Coffea robusta	Caffeine	Endophytic	Bacillus lentimorbus, Bacillus megaterium, Bacillus subtilis, Bacillus cereus, Pseudomonas putida, Pseudomonas chlororaphis, Pantoea ananatis, Pantoea agglomérons, Stenotrophomonas maltophilia, Kluyvera cryocrescens, Kocuria kristinae	Isolation In vitro degradation	[113]
Phalaris arundinacea	Diclofenac, sulfamethoxazole	Endophytic	Variovorax boronicumulans, Bacillus wiedmannii, Microbacterium flavescens , Agrobacterium tumefaciens	Isolation	[114]
Juncus acutus	Bisphenol-A, sulfamethoxa- zole, ciprofloxacine	Endophytic, roots and leaves	Sphingomonas sp. U33 (leaf), Bacillus sp. R12 (root), Ochrobactrum sp. R24 (root)	Bioaugmentation study using Juncus acutus	[115]
Phragmites australis	Carbamazepine	Endophytic	Chryseobacterium taeanense, Pseudomonas moorei, Diaphorobacter nitroreducens, Achromobacter mucicolens, Rhi- zobium radiobacter, Rhizobium daejeonense	Isolation, removal in liquid cultures	[116]
Phragmites australis	Carbamazepine	Endophytic	Diaphorobacter nitroreducens, Rhizobium radiobacter	Inoculation of Armoracia rusticana hairy roots and deg- radation in vitro metabolites identified	[29]

Metabolism of Pharmaceuticals in Plants and Their Associated Microbiota

(continued)

	, E			
Compound	1 ype or bacteria	Bacteria	Comments	Reference
Diclofenac, sulfamethoxazole	Endophytic	Streptomyces curacoi, Streptomy- ces neopeptinius, Streptomyces griseorubiginosus, Streptomyces curacoi, Microbacterium natoriense, Glycomyces lechevalierae, Gycomyces panaciterrae Gsoil, Staphylococ- cus succinus subsp. casei, Strepto- myces griseorubiginosus, Streptomyces lincolnensis, Microbacterium saccharophilum, Neorhizobium alkalisoli	Isolation and sequencing	[106]
Triclosan	Sediment bacteria in CWs	Betaproteobacteria, Deltaproteobacteria, and Gammaproteobacteria, Sphingobacteria	Sequencing, removal in CWs	[117]
Triclosan	Sediment bacteria in CWs	Betaproteobacteria, Gammaproteobacteria, and Bacteroidetes	Sequencing, removal in CWs	[118]
Ibuprofen	Rhizospheric bacteria	Dechloromonas sp., Clostridium sp., Clostridium saccharobutylicum, Sphingobacteriales, Cytophaga sp.	Sequencing, removal in CWs	[42]
Sulfonamides (sulfadiazine, sulfamerazine, sulfamethazine, sulfamethox- azole, sulfapyridine)	Rhizospheric bacteria	Methylosinus, Methylotenera, Methylocaldum, and Methylomonas	Sequencing, removal in CWs	[107]
-	•			

Bold font indicates bacteria with confirmed degradation properties

Table 3 (continued)

duckweed, while in cattail, biodegradation likely played an important role. *Betaproteobacteria, Gammaproteobacteria*, and *Bacteroidetes* were detected and might have significant correlations with TCS degradation [118]. Even if these studies did not document TCS metabolites, they identified bacterial genera with the potential to contribute to TCS metabolism in CWs. Rhizospheric bacteria *Dechloromonas* sp., *Clostridium sp.*, the order *Sphingobacteriales*, and the *Cytophaga* sp. identified in roots from *Typha angustifolia* were most probably responsible for the rhizodegradation of IBU [42]. IBU accumulated in leaves and was partially transformed to IBU carboxylic acid, 2-hydroxy IBU, and 1-hydroxy IBU. Bacteria participating in the degradation of antibiotics were also identified. Man and coworkers observed how sulfonamides inhibited some functional micro-organisms related to the sulfur and nitrogen cycles in the rhizosphere of wetland plants [107]. On the other hand, sulfonamides significantly enriched methylotrophs with potential to degrade the antibiotics such as *Methylosinus, Methylotenera, Methylocaldum*, and *Methylomonas* [107].

5.2 Endophytic Bacteria Can Enhance Degradation of Pharmaceuticals in Plants

Endophytic bacteria have been found in intercellular space in root tissues but also in the xylem and in the cytosol of some cells. Since much of pharmaceutical metabolism in plants takes place in the cytosol and xenobiotic's ultimate fate is often conjugation and storage of the conjugates in the vacuole, endophytic bacteria can influence metabolic pathways with their enzymes involved in phase I reactions, introducing new metabolites in the plant xenome. Although the endosphere is a habitat with lower bacterial diversity than the rhizosphere, the presence and concentration of pharmaceuticals have shown effects also on the endophytic bacterial diversity in legume species irrigated with reclaimed wastewater [108] and in CW species exposed to pharmaceuticals [115, 117].

Specific endophytic bacterial groups are enriched after plant treatment with pharmaceuticals. In *Miscanthus x giganteus*, 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing of the endophytic bacterial community showed an enrichment of *Actinobacteria* after treatment with sulfamethoxazole and DCF [106]. Cultivation-dependent techniques revealed similar results, and some isolated strains (e.g., *Microbacterium aoyamense* and *Streptomyces curacoi* with additional plant-growth promoting traits) were able to degrade DCF and sulfamethoxazole in vitro [106]. *Alphaproteobacteria* (*Novosphingobium* and *Oligotropha*) and *Betaproteobacteria* (*Herminiimonas*, *Methylophilus*, *Cupriavidus*) were enriched in roots of *Juncus acutus* exposed to a high concentration of bisphenol-A, metals (Zn, Ni, Cd), and pharmaceuticals (sulfamethoxazole and ciprofloxacin) pollution [115]. The work of Syranidou et al. is one of the few studies using previously isolated endophytic strains for bioaugmentation of CWs and shows how bacterial strains may improve the

phytoextraction potential of a wetland plant like Juncus acutus [115]. Another study focused on the isolation and identification of endophytic bacteria from Phragmites *australis* exposed to the antiepileptic CBZ [116]. The authors could identify several strains with abilities to degrade CBZ and with potential plant-growth properties. CBZ metabolism has been studied in rats, humans, fungi, bacteria, and plants, being probably one of the most studied pharmaceuticals in plants. Following uptake, transformation products have been identified in a wide array of plant species including macrophytes like Typha spp. [30], vegetables like tomato [28], carrot [80, 88], lettuce [88, 120], potato, and zucchini [88]. Most of these metabolites are found also in human urine, rat liver, fungi, or bacterial [121-123]. Only a few metabolites seem to be exclusive to one organism. This specialization depends on the detoxifying enzymes that have evolved in different organisms. While plants do not rely on organic xenobiotics to obtain energy for growth and development, endophytic bacteria may find in these compounds an available source of carbon. Equipped with enzymes for the complete degradation of organic compounds, they contribute to the metabolism of pharmaceuticals in the plant endosphere.

Attempts to identify the contribution of endophytic bacteria to the metabolism of pharmaceuticals in the plant holobiont are scarce. Root cultures have been used to study the interaction between plants and endophytic bacteria during CBZ metabolism [29]. Two strains isolated from Phragmites australis plants exposed to CBZ were shown to use specific metabolic pathways in synergy with the plant (Fig. 14). Metabolites accumulated in Armoracia rusticana roots belonged to phase I transformations and to a GSH conjugation (phase II) both occurring after 10,11epoxidation (Fig. 14). Enzymes involved in these steps were likely CYP or peroxidases (epoxidation), epoxide hydrolase (cleavage and hydroxylation), and GST (GSH conjugation). When HRs were inoculated with endophytic bacteria, two other pathways were favored. Application of Diaphorobacter nitroreducens resulted in the formation of a group of metabolites with an acridine-related structure. This pathway involves the cleavage of the carbamoyl group and rearrangement of the central ring of CBZ and had been previously described in fungal cultures growing in anoxic conditions [122] or as result of photo-oxidation [124]. The enzymatic machinery behind such transformations is still unclear. Rhizobium radiobacter activated a pathway involving successive oxidation reactions at the carbons of the side aromatic benzene and leading to the formation of 2,3 dihydrodiols and subsequent 2,3 diol compounds. This is a conserved mechanism in bacterial degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) such as phenanthrene, naphthalene, fluoranthene, pyrene, and benzopyrene and is generally catalyzed by dehydrogenases.

6 Conclusion and Perspectives

Wastewater reuse for agricultural irrigation has been increasing over the years. In the last 20 years, there has been an explosion of studies concerning the occurrence and fate of pharmaceuticals and other emerging contaminants in crops and their possible



Fig. 14 Metabolic pathways of carbamazepine in Armoracia rusticana hairy roots inoculated with the endophytic bacteria Diaphorobacter nitroreducens and Rhizobium radiobacter isolated from Phragmites australis plants exposed to carbamazepine. Adapted from [29]

impact on the food chain and human health. New regulations will have to include many of these compounds to produce water of sufficient quality to satisfy the public opinion towards the use of reclaimed wastewater for agriculture.

With the recent advances on analytical methods, scientists are able to quantify more and more compounds and follow their metabolites using non-target or suspect screenings. Pharmaceuticals are subjected to a wide array of chemical modifications during their passage through our wastewater treatment facilities. And beyond this, their fate is subjected to plant metabolism once applied to the field. As some studies show, the concentration of metabolites can exceed largely that of the parent compound, emphasizing the importance of metabolite analysis in monitoring studies [50].

The analysis of metabolites and understanding of plant metabolism is crucial to set good agricultural practices. Plant metabolism of xenobiotics has been historically studied on the basis of herbicides and agrochemicals application [70]. In the last years, these studies have been extended to contaminants of emerging concern. Even if common mechanisms have been unraveled, a huge number of pharmaceuticals and their metabolites remain to be studied. Further studies are needed in order to answer questions related to plant species and agricultural specificities and metabolite distribution in different organs of the plant (edible or not).

Furthermore, this information provides the scientific community with applications for the improvement of remediation techniques based on phytomanagement. Constructed wetlands and algal pond treatment systems sit at the forefront of innovations in contemporary wastewater treatment aimed at the food-water-energy nexus, and biotechnological advances in this field will still be necessary in the coming years [125]. Moreover, studies using plants as monitoring devices for assessing the fate and environmental presence of pharmaceuticals will be helpful to protect our agroecosystems [126].

With recent advances in the field of plant microbiome, it has been shown that plant microbiota can be used to enhance degradation of pharmaceuticals in CWs. Some beneficial strains with potential degradative abilities have been identified. However, recent studies use integrative approaches to prioritize improvement of microbial networking rather than inoculation with single strains [127, 128]. A deeper understanding on plant-microbial functions for pharmaceutical degradation will lead to the development of minimal rhizosphere or plant microbiome for phytoremediation [129].

Thus, monitoring plants for pharmaceutical exposure and identifying their metabolites and their spatiotemporal distribution will be crucial for the innovation in treatment techniques and for the safety of reutilization of reclaimed wastewater for agricultural irrigation.

References

- Fatta-Kassinos D, Kreuzinger N, Rizzo L (2020) Editorial "Urban wastewater reuse and chemical contaminants of emerging concern". Chemosphere 248:126052. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126052
- Bedner M, MacCrehan WA (2006) Transformation of acetaminophen by chlorination produces the toxicants 1,4-benzoquinone and N-acetyl-p-benzoquinone imine. Environ Sci Technol 40:516–522. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0509073
- Gorito AM, Ribeiro AR, Almeida CMR, Silva AMT (2017) A review on the application of constructed wetlands for the removal of priority substances and contaminants of emerging concern listed in recently launched EU legislation. Environ Pollut 227:428–443. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.04.060
- Brown CM, Reisfeld B, Mayeno AN (2008) Cytochromes P450: a structure-based summary of biotransformations using representative substrates. Drug Metab Rev 40:1–100. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/03602530802309742
- Ortiz de Montellano PR, De Voss JJ (2015) Substrate oxidation by cytochrome P450 enzymes. In: Ortiz de Montellano PR (ed) Cytochrome P450: structure, mechanism and biochemistry. Springer, Boston, pp 183–245
- Lewis DFV, Dickins M (2002) Substrate SARs in human P450s. Drug Discov Today 7:918– 925
- Bhatt DK, Gaedigk A, Pearce RE et al (2017) Age-dependent protein abundance of cytosolic alcohol and aldehyde dehydrogenases in human liver. Drug Metab Dispos 45:1044–1048. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.117.076463
- Oppermann UCT, Maser E (2000) Molecular and structural aspects of xenobiotic carbonyl metabolizing enzymes. Role of reductases and dehydrogenases in xenobiotic phase I reactions. Toxicology 144:71–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0300-483X(99)00192-4
- Krueger SK, Williams DE (2005) Mammalian flavin-containing monooxygenases: structure/ function, genetic polymorphisms and role in drug metabolism. Pharmacol Ther 106:357–387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2005.01.001
- Kitamura S, Sugihara K, Ohta S (2006) Drug-metabolizing ability of molybdenum hydroxylases. Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 21:83–98. https://doi.org/10.2133/dmpk.21.83
- Berry L, Wollenberg L, Zhao Z (2009) Esterase activities in the blood, liver and intestine of several preclinical species and humans. Drug Metab Lett 3:70–77. https://doi.org/10.2174/ 187231209788654081
- 12. Fukami T, Yokoi T (2012) The emerging role of human esterases. Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 27:466–477. https://doi.org/10.2133/dmpk.DMPK-12-RV-042
- Malátková P, Wsól V (2014) Carbonyl reduction pathways in drug metabolism. Drug Metab Rev 46:96–123. https://doi.org/10.3109/03602532.2013.853078
- Enright EF, Gahan CGM, Joyce SA, Griffin BT (2016) The impact of the gut microbiota on drug metabolism and clinical outcome. Yale J Biol Med 89:375–382
- Rowland A, Miners JO, Mackenzie PI (2013) The UDP-glucuronosyltransferases: their role in drug metabolism and detoxification. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 45:1121–1132. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biocel.2013.02.019
- Fisher MB, Paine MF, Strelevitz TJ, Wrighton SA (2001) The role of hepatic and extrahepatic UDP-glucuronosyltransferases in human drug metabolism. Drug Metab Rev 33:273–297. https://doi.org/10.1081/DMR-120000653
- Soars MG, Burchell B, Riley RJ (2002) In vitro analysis of human drug glucuronidation and prediction of in vivo metabolic clearance. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 301:382–390. https://doi.org/ 10.1124/jpet.301.1.382
- 18. Gamage N, Barnett A, Hempel N et al (2006) Human sulfotransferases and their role in chemical metabolism. Toxicol Sci 90:5–22. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfj061

- Badenhorst CPS, Van Der Sluis R, Erasmus E, Van Dijk AA (2013) Glycine conjugation: importance in metabolism, the role of glycine N-acyltransferase, and factors that influence interindividual variation. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 9:1139–1153. https://doi.org/10. 1517/17425255.2013.796929
- Hayes JD, Flanagan JU, Jowsey IR (2005) Glutathione transferases. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 45:51–88
- 21. Edwards R, Dixon DP, Cummins I et al (2011) New perspectives on the metabolism and detoxification of synthetic compounds in plants. In: Schröder P, Collins C (eds) Organic xenobiotics and plants. Plant ecophysiology, vol 8. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 125–148
- 22. Shimabukuro RH, Walsh WC, Hoerauf RA (1979) Metabolism and selectivity of diclofopmethyl in wild oat and wheat. J Agric Food Chem 27:615–623. https://doi.org/10.1021/ jf60223a008
- Sandermann Jr H (1994) Higher plant metabolism of xenobiotics: the "green liver" concept. Pharmacogenetics 4:225–241. https://doi.org/10.1097/00008571-199410000-00001
- Cole DJ (1994) Detoxification and activation of agrochemicals in plants. Pestic Sci 42:209– 222
- 25. Menn JJ (1978) Comparative aspects of pesticide metabolism in plants and animals. Environ Health Perspect 27:113–124. https://doi.org/10.2307/3428870
- 26. Huber C, Bartha B, Harpaintner R, Schröder P (2009) Metabolism of acetaminophen (paracetamol) in plants-two independent pathways result in the formation of a glutathione and a glucose conjugate. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 16:206. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-008-0095-z
- Li Y, Chuang YH, Sallach JB et al (2018) Potential metabolism of pharmaceuticals in radish: comparison of in vivo and in vitro exposure. Environ Pollut 242:962–969. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.envpol.2018.07.060
- Riemenschneider C, Seiwert B, Moeder M et al (2017) Extensive transformation of the pharmaceutical carbamazepine following uptake into intact tomato plants. Environ Sci Technol 51:6100–6109. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b06485
- Sauvêtre A, May R, Harpaintner R et al (2018) Metabolism of carbamazepine in plant roots and endophytic rhizobacteria isolated from Phragmites australis. J Hazard Mater 342:85–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2017.08.006
- 30. Dordio AV, Belo M, Martins Teixeira D et al (2011) Evaluation of carbamazepine uptake and metabolization by Typha spp., a plant with potential use in phytotreatment. Bioresour Technol 102:7827–7834. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.06.050
- Goldstein M, Malchi T, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2018) Pharmacokinetics in plants : carbamazepine and its interactions with lamotrigine. Environ Sci Technol 52:6957–6964. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01682
- 32. Wu C, Spongberg AL, Witter JD et al (2010) Uptake of pharmaceutical and personal care products by soybean plants from soils applied with biosolids and irrigated with contaminated water. Environ Sci Technol 44:6157–6161. https://doi.org/10.1021/es1011115
- 33. Zhao HM, Huang HB, Du H, Lin J, Xiang L, Li YW, Cai QY, Li H, Mo CH, Liu JS, Wong MH (2018) Intraspecific variability of ciprofloxacin accumulation, tolerance, and metabolism in Chinese flowering cabbage (*Brassica parachinensis*). J Hazard Mater 349:252–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2018.01.015
- 34. Reichl B, Himmelsbach M, Emhofer L et al (2018) Uptake and metabolism of the antidepressants sertraline, clomipramine and trazodone in a garden cress (Lepidium sativum) model. Electrophoresis 39:1301–1308. https://doi.org/10.1002/elps.201700482
- Carter LJ, Williams M, Martin S, Kamaludeen SPB, Kookana RS (2018) Sorption, plant uptake and metabolism of benzodiazepines. Sci Total Env 628–629:18–25. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2018.01.337
- Dudley S, Sun C, McGinnis M, Trumble J, Gan J (2019) Formation of biologically active benzodiazepine metabolites in Arabidopsis thaliana cell cultures and vegetable plants under hydroponic conditions. Sci Total Environ 662:622–630. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2019.01.259

- Huber C, Bartha B, Schröder P (2012) Metabolism of diclofenac in plants-hydroxylation is followed by glucose conjugation. J Hazard Mater 243:250–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhazmat.2012.10.023
- Bartha B, Huber C, Schröder P (2014) Uptake and metabolism of diclofenac in Typha latifolia

 how plants cope with human pharmaceutical pollution. Plant Sci 227:12–20. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.plantsci.2014.06.001
- 39. Emhofer L, Himmelsbach M, Buchberger W, Klampfl CW (2017) High-performance liquid chromatography – mass spectrometry analysis of the parent drugs and their metabolites in extracts from cress (Lepidium sativum) grown hydroponically in water containing four nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. J Chromatogr A 1491:137–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chroma.2017.02.057
- 40. Emhofer L, Himmelsbach M, Buchberger W, Klampfl CW (2018) Insights into the uptake, metabolization and translocation of four non-steroidal anti- inflammatory drugs in cress (Lepidium sativum) by HPLC-MS2. Electrophoresis 39:1294–1300. https://doi.org/10.1002/ elps.201700438
- 41. Fu Q, Zhang J, Borchardt D et al (2017) Direct conjugation of emerging contaminants in Arabidopsis : indication for an overlooked risk in plants? Environ Sci Technol 51:6071–6081. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b06266
- 42. Li Y, Zhang J, Zhu G et al (2016) Phytoextraction, phytotransformation and rhizodegradation of ibuprofen associated with Typha angustifolia in a horizontal subsurface flow constructed wetland. Water Res 102:294–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.06.049
- He Y, Langenhoff AAM, Sutton NB et al (2017) Metabolism of ibuprofen by Phragmites australis: uptake and phytodegradation. Environ Sci Technol 51:4576–4584. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acs.est.7b00458
- 44. Di Baccio D, Pietrini F, Bertolotto P et al (2017) Response of Lemna gibba L. to high and environmentally relevant concentrations of ibuprofen : removal, metabolism and morphophysiological traits for biomonitoring of emerging contaminants. Sci Total Environ 584-585:363–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.12.191
- 45. Pietrini F, Di Baccio D et al (2015) Ibuprofen exposure in Lemna gibba L.: evaluation of growth and phytotoxic indicators, detection of ibuprofen and identification of its metabolites in plant and in the medium. J Hazard Mater 300:189–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat. 2015.06.068
- 46. Marsik P, Sisa M, Lacina O et al (2017) Metabolism of ibuprofen in higher plants: a model Arabidopsis thaliana cell suspension culture system. Environ Pollut 220:383–392. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.09.074
- 47. Picó Y, Alvarez-Ruiz R, Wijaya L et al (2018) Analysis of ibuprofen and its main metabolites in roots, shoots, and seeds of cowpea (Vigna unguiculata L. Walp) using liquid chromatography-quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry: uptake, metabolism, and translocation. Anal Bioanal Chem 410:1163–1176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-017-0796-6
- 48. Cui H, De Angelis MH, Schröder P (2017) Iopromide exposure in Typha latifolia L.: evaluation of uptake, translocation and different transformation mechanisms in planta. Water Res 122:290–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.06.004
- 49. Cui H, Schröder P (2016) Uptake, translocation and possible biodegradation of the antidiabetic agent metformin by hydroponically grown Typha latifolia. J Hazard Mater 308:355–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.01.054
- Tadić D, Matamoros V, Bayona JM (2019) Simultaneous determination of multiclass antibiotics and their metabolites in four types of field-grown vegetables. Anal Bioanal Chem 411:5209–5222. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-019-01895-y
- Tadić D, Gramblicka M, Mistrik R et al (2020) Elucidating biotransformation pathways of ofloxacin in lettuce (Lactuca sativa L). Environ Pollut 260:114002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2020.114002

- 52. Macherius A, Seiwert B, Schröder P, Huber C, Lorenz WRT (2014) Identification of plant metabolites of environmental contaminants by UPLC-QToF-MS: the in vitro metabolism of triclosan in horseradish. J Agric Food Chem 62:1001–1009
- Nehlig A (2018) Interindividual differences in caffeine metabolism and factors driving caffeine consumption. Pharmacol Rev 70:384–411. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.117.014407
- 54. Van Eerd LL, Hoagland RE, Zablotowicz RM, Hall JC (2003) Pesticide metabolism in plants and microorganisms. Weed Sci 51:472–495. https://doi.org/10.1614/0043-1745(2003)051[0472:pmipam]2.0.co;2
- 55. Levsen K, Schiebel HM, Behnke B et al (2005) Structure elucidation of phase II metabolites by tandem mass spectrometry: an overview. J Chromatogr A 1067:55–72. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chroma.2004.08.165
- 56. Pérez S, Farkas M, Barceló D, Aga DS (2007) Characterization of glutathione conjugates of chloroacetanilide pesticides using ultra-performance liquid chromatography/quadrupole timeof-flight mass spectrometry and liquid chromatography/ion trap mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 21:4017–4022. https://doi.org/10.1002/rcm
- 57. Bártíková H, Skálová L, Stuchĺková L et al (2015) Xenobiotic-metabolizing enzymes in plants and their role in uptake and biotransformation of veterinary drugs in the environment. Drug Metab Rev 47:374–387. https://doi.org/10.3109/03602532.2015.1076437
- Macherius A, Eggen T, Lorenz W et al (2012) Metabolization of the bacteriostatic agent triclosan in edible plants and its consequences for plant uptake assessment. Environ Sci Technol 46:10797–10804. https://doi.org/10.1021/es3028378
- 59. Schmitt R, Kaul J, Trenck TVD et al (1985) β-d-Glucosyl and O-malonyl-β-d-glucosyl conjugates of pentachlorophenol in soybean and wheat: identification and enzymatic synthesis. Pestic Biochem Physiol 24:77–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/0048-3575(85)90116-6
- 60. Chen F, Huber C, Schröder P (2017) Fate of the sunscreen compound oxybenzone in Cyperus alternifolius based hydroponic culture: uptake, biotransformation and phytotoxicity. Chemosphere 182:638–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.05.072
- Chen F, Huber C, May R, Schröder P (2016) Metabolism of oxybenzone in a hairy root culture: perspectives for phytoremediation of a widely used sunscreen agent. J Hazard Mater 306:230–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2015.12.022
- 62. Rea PA (2007) Plant ATP-binding cassette transporters. Annu Rev Plant Biol 58:347–375. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.arplant.57.032905.105406
- Windsor B, Roux S, Lloy A (2003) Multiherbicide tolerance conferred by AtPgp1 and apyrase overexpression in Arabidopsis thaliana. Nat Biotechnol 21:428–433
- 64. Sandermann Jr H (1987) Pestizid-Rückstände in Nahrungspflanzen. Die Rolle des pflanzlichen Metabolismus. Naturwissenschaften 74:573–578
- Matern U, Heller W, Himmelspach K (1983) Conformational changes of apigenin 7-O-(6-Omalonylglucoside), a vacuolar pigment from parsley, with solvent composition and proton concentration. Eur J Biochem 133:439–448
- 66. Lao S, Loutre C, Brazier M et al (2003) 3, 4-Dichloroaniline is detoxified and exported via different pathways in Arabidopsis and soybean. Phytochemistry 63:653–661
- 67. Brazier-Hicks M, Evans KM, Cunningham OD et al (2008) Catabolism of glutathione conjugates in Arabidopsis thaliana role in metabolic reactivation of the herbicide safener fenclorim. J Biol Chem 283:21102–21112
- Bouzayen M, Latché A, Pech JCMG (1989) Carrier-mediated uptakeof 1-(malonylamino) cyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid in vacuoles isolated from Catharanthus roseus cells. Plant Phys 91:1317–1322
- 69. Tophof S, Martinoia E, Kaiser G, Hartung W, Amrhein N (1989) Compartmentation and transport of 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acidand N-malonyl-1-aminocyclopropane-1carboxylic acid in barley andwheat mesophyll cells and protoplasts. Phys Plant 75:333–339
- Coleman JOD, Blake-Kalff MMA, Davies TGE (1997) Detoxification of xenobiotics by plants: chemical modification and vacuolar compartmentation. Trends Plant Sci 2:144–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1360-1385(97)01019-4

- 71. Martinoia E, Grill E, Tomasinni R et al (1993) ATP-dependent glutathione S-conjugate export pump in the vacuolar membrane of plants. Nature 364:247–249
- 72. Huber C, Preis M, Harvey PJ et al (2015) Emerging pollutants and plants metabolic activation of diclofenac by peroxidases. Chemosphere 146:435–441. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.chemosphere.2015.12.059
- González PS, Ontañon OM, Armendariz AL et al (2013) Brassica napus hairy roots and rhizobacteria for phenolic compounds removal. Environ Sci Pollut Res 20:1310–1317. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11356-012-1173-9
- 74. Gujarathi NP, Haney BJ, Park HJ et al (2005) Hairy roots of Helianthus annuus: a model system to study phytoremediation of tetracycline and oxytetracycline. Biotechnol Prog 21:775–780. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp0496225
- 75. Lamoureux GL, Rusness DG (1993) Glutathione in the metabolism and detoxification of the xenobiotics in plants. In: De Kok LJ, Stulen I, Rennenberg H, Brunold C, Rauser W (eds) Sulfur nutrition and assimilation in higher plants. SPB Academic Press, The Hague, pp 221– 239
- 76. Ertunç T, Schmidt B, Kühn H et al (2004) Investigation on the chemical structure of nonextractable residues of the fungicide cyprodinil in spring wheat using 13C-C 1-phenylcyprodinil on 13C-depleted plants: an alternative approach to investigate nonextractable residues. J Environ Sci Health B 39:689–707
- 77. Brazier-Hicks M, Offen WA, Gershater MC et al (2007) Characterization and engineering of the bifunctional N- and O-glucosyltransferase involved in xenobiotic metabolism in plants. Proc Ntl Acad Sci USA 104:20238–20243
- Klampfl CW (2019) Metabolization of pharmaceuticals by plants after uptake from water and soil: a review. Trends Anal Chem 111:13–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.11.042
- 79. Madikizela LM, Ncube S, Chimuka L (2018) Uptake of pharmaceuticals by plants grown under hydroponic conditions and natural occurring plant species: a review. Sci Total Environ 636:477–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.297
- Wu X, Fu Q, Gan J (2016) Metabolism of pharmaceutical and personal care products by carrot cell cultures. Environ Pollut 211:141–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2015.12.050
- Stuchlíková L, Jirásko R, Skálová L et al (2016) Chemosphere metabolic pathways of benzimidazole anthelmintics in harebell (Campanula rotundifolia). Chemosphere 157:10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.05.015
- Raisová L, Skálová L, Szotáková B, Vok I (2018) Ecotoxicology and environmental safety biotransformation of flubendazole and fenbendazole and their effects in the ribwort plantain (Plantago lanceolata). Ecotoxicol Environ Safe 147:681–687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecoenv.2017.09.020
- 83. Stuchlíková Raisová L, Podlipná R, Szotáková B et al (2017) Evaluation of drug uptake and deactivation in plant: fate of albendazole in ribwort plantain (Plantago laceolata) cells and regenerants. Ecotox Environ Safe 141:37–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.03.014
- 84. Frear D, Swanson H (1975) Metabolism of cisanilide by excised leaves and cell suspension cultures of carrot and cotton. Pestic Biochem Physiol 5:73–80
- 85. Lamoureux G, Shimabukuro R, Swanson H, Frear D (1970) Metabolism of 2-Chloro-4-Ethylamino-6-Isopropylamino-s-Triazine (atrazine) in excised shorgum leaf sections. J Agric Food Chem 18:81–86
- 86. Chen F, Schnick S, Schröder P (2018) Concentration effects of the UV filter oxybenzone in Cyperus alternifolius: assessment of tolerance by stress-related response. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 25:16080–16090. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-1839-z
- Card ML, Schnoor JL, Chin Y (2013) Transformation of natural and synthetic estrogens by maize seedlings. Environ Sci Technol 47:5101–5108. https://doi.org/10.1021/es3040335
- Riemenschneider C, Al-Raggad M, Moeder M et al (2016) Pharmaceuticals, their metabolites, and other polar pollutants in field-grown vegetables irrigated with treated municipal wastewater. J Agric Food Chem 64:5784–5792. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jafc.6b01696

- 89. Riker AJ, Banfield WM, Wright WH et al (1930) Studies on infectious hairy root of nursery Apple trees. J Agric Res 41:507–540
- Păcurar DI, Thordal-Christensen H, Păcurar ML et al (2011) Agrobacterium tumefaciens: from crown gall tumors to genetic transformation. Physiol Mol Plant Pathol 76:76–81. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.pmpp.2011.06.004
- Chandra S (2012) Natural plant genetic engineer agrobacterium rhizogenes: role of T-DNA in plant secondary metabolism. Biotechnol Lett 34:407–415. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-011-0785-3
- 92. Chilton MD, Tepfer DA, Petit A et al (1982) Agrobacterium rhizogenes inserts T-DNA into the genomes of the host plant root cells. Nature 295:432–434
- 93. Zambryski P, Tempe J, Schell J (1989) Transfer and function of T-DNA genes from agrobacterium Ti and Ri plasmids in plants. Cell 56:193–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(89)90892-1
- 94. Gelvin SB (1990) Crown gall disease and hairy root disease : a sledgehammer and a tack hammer. Plant Physiol 92:281–285. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.92.2.281
- Sevón N, Oksman-Caldentey KM (2002) Agrobacterium rhizogenes-mediated transformation: root cultures as a source of alkaloids. Planta Med 68:859–868. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2002-34924
- 96. Agostini E, Talano MA, González PS et al (2013) Application of hairy roots for phytoremediation: what makes them an interesting tool for this purpose? Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97:1017–1030. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-012-4658-z
- 97. González PS, Agostini E, Milrad SR (2008) Comparison of the removal of 2,4-dichlorophenol and phenol from polluted water, by peroxidases from tomato hairy roots, and protective effect of polyethylene glycol. Chemosphere 70:982–989. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2007.08.025
- 98. Telke AA, Kagalkar AN, Jagtap UB et al (2011) Biochemical characterization of laccase from hairy root culture of Brassica juncea L. and role of redox mediators to enhance its potential for the decolorization of textile dyes. Planta 234:1137–1149. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00425-011-1469-x
- 99. Georgiev MI, Pavlov AI, Bley T (2007) Hairy root type plant in vitro systems as sources of bioactive substances. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 74:1175–1185. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00253-007-0856-5
- 100. Ibáñez SG, Medina MI, Agostini E (2011) Phenol tolerance, changes of antioxidative enzymes and cellular damage in transgenic tobacco hairy roots colonized by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Chemosphere 83:700–705
- 101. Janoušková M, Vosátka M (2005) Response to cadmium of Daucus carota hairy roots dual cultures with Glomus intraradices or Gigaspora margarita. Mycorrhiza 15:217–224
- 102. Georgiev MI, Ludwig-Müller J, Alipieva K, Lippert A (2011) Sonication-assisted agrobacterium rhizogenes-mediated transformation of Verbascum xanthophoeniceum Griseb. for bioactive metabolite accumulation. Plant Cell Rep 30:859–866. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00299-010-0981-y
- 103. Casas DA, Pitta-Alvarez SI, Giulietti AM (1998) Biotransformation of hydroquinone by hairy roots of Brugmansia candida and effect of sugars and free-radical scavengers. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 69:127–136
- 104. Srivastava V, Mehrotra S, Mishra S (2016) Biotransformation through hairy roots: perspectives, outcomes, and major challenges. In: Jha S (ed) Transgenesis and secondary metabolism. Reference series in phytochemistry. Springer, pp 1–24
- 105. Vandenkoornhuyse P, Quaiser A, Duhamel M et al (2015) The importance of the microbiome of the plant holobiont. New Phytol 206:1196–1206. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13312
- 106. Sauvêtre A, Węgrzyn A, Yang L et al (2020) Enrichment of endophytic Actinobacteria in roots and rhizomes of Miscanthus × giganteus plants exposed to diclofenac and sulfamethoxazole. Environ Sci Pollut Res 27:11892–11904. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-07609-7

- 107. Man Y, Wang J, Tam NF, Wan X (2019) Responses of rhizosphere and bulk substrate microbiome to wastewater-borne sulfonamides in constructed wetlands with different plant species. Sci Total Environ:135955. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135955
- 108. Cerqueira F, Matamoros V, Bayona J et al (2019) Distribution of antibiotic resistance genes in soils and crops. A field study in legume plants (Vicia faba L.) grown under different watering regimes. Environ Res 170:16–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.12.007
- 109. Siciliano SD, Fortin N, Mihoc A et al (2001) Selection of specific endophytic bacterial genotypes by plants in response to soil contamination. Appl Environ Microbiol 67:2469– 2475. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.67.6.2469
- 110. Afzal I, Shinwari ZK, Sikandar S, Shahzad S (2019) Plant beneficial endophytic bacteria: mechanisms, diversity, host range and genetic determinants. Microbiol Res 221:36–49. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2019.02.001
- 111. Sipila T, Keskinen A, Akerman M et al (2008) High aromatic ring-cleavage diversity in birch rhizosphere: PAH treatment-specific changes of I.E.3 group extradiol dioxygenases and 16S rRNA bacterial communities in soil. ISME J 2:968–981
- 112. Yergeau E, Bell TH, Champagne J et al (2015) Transplanting soil microbiomes leads to lasting effects on willow growth, but not on the rhizosphere microbiome. Front Microbiol 6:1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01436
- 113. Nunes FV, De Melo IS (2016) Isolation and characterization of endophytic bacteria of coffee plants and their potential in caffeine degradation. WIT Trans Biomed Health 10. https://doi. org/10.2495/ETOX060291
- 114. Węgrzyn A, Felis E (2018) Isolation of bacterial endophytes from phalaris arundinacea and their potential in diclofenac and sulfamethoxazole degradation. Polish J Microbiol 67:321– 331. https://doi.org/10.21307/pjm-2018-039
- 115. Syranidou E, Thijs S, Avramidou M et al (2018) Responses of the endophytic bacterial communities of Juncus acutus to pollution with metals, emerging organic pollutants and to bioaugmentation with indigenous strains. Front Plant Sci 871:1–14. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2018.01526
- 116. Sauvêtre A, Schröder P (2015) Uptake of carbamazepine by rhizomes and endophytic bacteria of Phragmites australis. Front Plant Sci 6:83. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00083
- 117. Zhao C, Xie HJ, Xu J et al (2015) Bacterial community variation and microbial mechanism of triclosan (TCS) removal by constructed wetlands with different types of plants. Sci Total Environ 505:633–639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.10.053
- 118. Liu J, Wang J, Zhao C et al (2015) Triclosan removal in wetlands constructed with different aquatic plants. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 100:1459–1467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-7063-6
- 119. Nguyen PM, Afzal M, Ullah I et al (2019) Removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products using constructed wetlands: effective plant-bacteria synergism may enhance degradation efficiency. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26:21109–21126. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-05320-w
- 120. Martínez-Piernas AB, Nahim-Granados S, Polo-López MI et al (2019) Identification of transformation products of carbamazepine in lettuce crops irrigated with ultraviolet-C treated water. Environ Pollut 247:1009–1019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.02.001
- 121. Tybring G, von Bahr C, Bertilsson L et al (1981) Metabolism of carbamazepine and its epoxide metabolite in human and rat liver in vitro. Drug Metab Dispos 9:561–564
- 122. Golan-Rozen N, Seiwert B, Riemenschneider C et al (2015) Transformation pathways of the recalcitrant pharmaceutical compound carbamazepine by the white-rot fungus Pleurotus ostreatus: effects of growth conditions. Environ Sci Technol 49:12351–12362. https://doi. org/10.1021/acs.est.5b02222
- 123. Bessa VS, Moreira IS, Murgolo S et al (2019) Carbamazepine is degraded by the bacterial strain Labrys portucalensis F11. Sci Total Environ 690:739–747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2019.06.461

- 124. Chiron S, Minero C, Vione D (2006) Photodegradation processes of the antiepileptic drug carbamazepine, relevant to estuarine waters. Environ Sci Technol 40:5977–5983
- 125. Milledge J, Thompson EP, Sauvêtre A et al (2018) Novel developments in biological technologies for wastewater processing. In: Galanakis CM, Agrafioti E (eds) Sustainable water and wastewater processing. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 239–278
- 126. Bartrons M, Peñuelas J (2017) Pharmaceuticals and personal-care products in plants. Trends Plant Sci 22:194–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2016.12.010
- 127. Thijs S, Sillen W, Weyens N, Vangronsveld J (2017) Phytoremediation: state-of-the-art and a key role for the plant microbiome in future trends and research prospects. Int J Phytoremediation 19:23–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/15226514.2016.1216076
- 128. Schröder P, Sauvêtre A, Gnädinger F et al (2019) Discussion paper: sustainable increase of crop production through improved technical strategies, breeding and adapted management – a European perspective. Sci Total Environ 678:146–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2019.04.212
- 129. Thijs S, Sillen W, Rineau F et al (2016) Towards an enhanced understanding of plantmicrobiome interactions to improve phytoremediation: engineering the metaorganism. Front Microbiol 7:1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00341

Part III Remediation and Impacts

Impact of PhACs on Soil Microorganisms



267

Sara Gallego and Fabrice Martin-Laurent

Contents

1	Ways	s of Entrance of PhACs in Arable Soils	268
2	Proce	esses Involved in the Fate of PhACs in Arable Soils	269
3	Impa	ct of PhACs on in Soil Living Microorganisms	270
	3.1	Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs (NSAID): Naproxen, Ibuprofen,	
		and Diclofenac	271
	3.2	Other Analgesics and Antipyretics: Paracetamol or Acetaminophen	274
	3.3	Antidepressants: Fluoxetine (Prozac) and Citalopram Hydrobromide (Celexa)	275
	3.4	Antiepileptics: Carbamazepine	276
	3.5	Antibiotics	277
	3.6	Antiseptics and Disinfectants	278
	3.7	Antifungals	279
4	Persp	pectives	281
Re	References		

Abstract The use of reclaimed water in crop irrigation helps to mitigate water shortage. The fertilization of arable soils with sewage sludge, biosolids, or livestock manure reduces extensive application of synthetic fertilizers. However, both practices lead to the introduction of pharmaceutical active compounds (PhACs) in arable soil, known to host a wide range of living organisms, including microorganisms which are supporting numerous ecosystem services. In soils, the fate of PhACs is governed by different abiotic and biotic processes. Among them, soil sorption and microbial transformation are the most important ones and determine the fate, occurrence, and dispersion of PhACs in soils can compromise the abundance, diversity, and activity of the soil microbial community which is one of the key players in a range of soil ecosystem services. This chapter reviews the current knowledge of the effects

S. Gallego and F. Martin-Laurent (🖂)

AgroSup Dijon, INRAE, Univ Bourgogne, Univ Bourgogne Franche-Comté, Agroécologie, Dijon, France

e-mail: fabrice.martin@inrae.fr

Sandra Pérez Solsona, Nicola Montemurro, Serge Chiron, and Damià Barceló (eds.), Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems: The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater, Hdb Env Chem (2021) 103: 267–310, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_616, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 5 August 2020 of PhACs, commonly found in wastewater effluents and derived organic fertilizers, on the soil microbial community.

Keywords Ecosystem services, Microbial activities, Microbial ecotoxicology, Microbial function, Pharmaceuticals

1 Ways of Entrance of PhACs in Arable Soils

Every year, million tons of pharmaceutical active compounds (PhACs) are consumed worldwide for prophylaxis and curative treatments in human and veterinary medicines [1, 2]. Following their ingestion, formulated PhACs enter the body where they are partially assimilated by the organism and, thereafter, largely excreted through feces and urine [3, 4]. On the one hand, excreted residues of PhACs used in human medicine are collected in domestic and hospital sewage disposal systems to reach wastewater treatment plants [5, 6]. Direct dumping of unused or expired medication [7, 8] and illegal drugs [9] can also contribute to wastewater contamination. Since PhACs are relatively stable, conventional wastewater treatment plans have proven to be moderately effective at removing them [10]. As a result, complex mixtures of PhACs and their main metabolites are frequently found in treated wastewater effluents discharged directly in the river and/or in sewage sludge applied to arable soil as organic fertilizers [11, 12]. On the other hand, excreted veterinary PhACs accumulate in livestock manure [13–16] in concentrations that can be severalfold greater than in sewage sludge [17].

In arid or semiarid regions, such as the Mediterranean rim, where rainfalls are uneven and water resources limited, the use of treated wastewater in crop irrigation and groundwater recharge constitutes a promising alternative to release green water pressure on water cycle. Irrigation of crop with wastewater provides not only water but also nutrients to plant [18–20]. This agricultural practice may thereby reduce the application of agrochemical fertilizers, improve plant growth, and limit the wastewater discharged in rivers, thereby decreasing the PhACs pressure on surface water resources especially during the low-water period. Similarly, organic amendment of arable soils with livestock manure and/or sewage sludge/biosolid is also known to be beneficial for mineral fertilization of soil (especially nitrogen) and plant nutrition: it contributes to the maximization of crop yields [21, 22]. However, both practices lead to the release of numerous micro-pollutants including PhACs into arable soils with unknown consequences on both their abiotic and biotic components [23-28]. Although introduced PhACs concentrations are quite low, their repeated input in soil may lead to their accumulation, cause toxic effects to in soil living organisms, and transfer to surrounding aquatic compartments [29, 30].

In addition to diffuse contamination sources in arable soils, improper disposal of drugs or pharmaceutical waste products and accidental spills from pharmaceutical manufacturing plants and hospitals constitute important point sources of contamination. PhACs residues from these polluted sites [31–34] can contaminate water resources (runoff, surface water; leaching, groundwater), which can be used for crop irrigation, and indirectly contribute to both soil pollution and crop contamination.

2 Processes Involved in the Fate of PhACs in Arable Soils

As described above PhACs reach the environment via different entry routes. They reach soil via organic amendment (sewage sludge and farmyard manure) and crop irrigation (wastewater) and water resources via discharge of treated wastewater from wastewater plants in rivers and runoff and leaching from amended arable field. Once they enter the environment, the principal processes governing their fate are found at different degrees in both terrestrial and aquatic compartments. PhACs present in solid and liquid phases interact with both abiotic and biotic compartments of the environment.

In soils, PhACs are subject to several abiotic (sorption, photolysis, chemical transformation) and biotic (bioaccumulation and biotransformation) processes, which determine their ultimate distribution into the different environmental compartments [30, 35]. The rate and degree of each of those processes are determined by PhACs physicochemical characteristics as well as pedoclimatic conditions including temperature, humidity, and soil physiochemical characteristics [36–38].

Among the different mechanisms involved in the environmental fate of PhACs, sorption to soil components is by far one of the most important. It implies their close interactions with organic matter and mineral constituents of soils, involving ion exchange, surface adsorption to mineral constituents, hydrogen bonding, and formation of complexes with ions such as Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , Fe^{+3} , or Al^{3+} [30]. Examples of PhACs with a strong tendency to bind to soil particles are found among those that are poorly soluble such as the analgesic paracetamol, [39], the biocides triclosan and triclocarban, and some antibiotics such as tetracyclines, macrolides, sulfamethazine [40, 41], and quinolones, which form stable complexes through cation bridging to clay minerals. As a result, PhACs remain adsorbed in soils for a long period of time although lowly bioavailable to in soil living organisms [41–51].

On the contrary, the analgesics and anti-inflammatory compounds diclofenac, ibuprofen, and naproxen, the β -blocker propranolol, and some antibiotics such as sulfamethoxazole are less adsorbed to soils [38, 52–54] from where they can runoff to surface waters or leach to groundwater after a heavy rainfall event [25, 54–58]. This was also observed for carbamazepine, meprobamate, trimethoprim, and primidone applied to soil via crop irrigation with spiked wastewater, thereby confirming their low sorption to soil components and their relatively high mobility in soil [56, 59–64]. In addition, PhACs present in the soluble fraction are not only ready to leach to groundwater but also available for plant uptake [24, 65–70], macro-and mesofauna bioaccumulation [71–73], and/or microbiota uptake and further transformation [74].

Additionally, PhACs in soil can be transformed by biotic or abiotic reactions, leading to transformation products that can be more stable, more toxic, and persistent than their parent compounds [75, 76]. Among abiotic processes, photodegradation [77] and hydrolysis [78] are known to transform PhACs in aquatic media. The anti-inflammatory drugs diclofenac, naproxen, ibuprofen, and the diuretic agent amiloride were found to be transformed to hydroxyl metabolites, presenting higher toxicity, after a photocatalytic treatment [79–84]. Additionally, studies from Yama-moto et al. [85] reported a slow rate in sunlight photodegradation of acetaminophen, mefenamic acid, as well as ibuprofen and carbamazepine. In soils, photodegradation was observed for sulfonamides and tetracycline antibiotics which spread on the soil surface and pig slurry following first and biphasic kinetics, respectively [86].

Biotic transformation of PhACs is mainly achieved by microorganisms, which have developed during their long-lasting evolution an impressive enzymatic array able not only to detoxify their environment but also to get access to nutrients for their growth. PhACs biodegradation is achieved by two types of microbial guilds catalyzing two types of transformation: one the one hand, co-metabolic transformation is catalyzed by non-specific enzymes (such as P450 monooxygenase also involved in the biodegradation of other xenobiotics such as pesticides) [74, 87–96]. On the other hand, metabolic transformation is catalyzed by specific enzymes leading to partial or full mineralization of PhACs that are used as nutrients and energy sources for the growth of the degrading microbial guild [87, 90, 97–112]. From this point of view, transformation of PhACs by fungi and bacteria is a key process for their dissipation in the environment [113-116]. Since PhACs are designed to remain active after ingestion, most of them are relatively recalcitrant to biodegradation. However, it was shown that chronic or punctual exposure of soil microbial communities to PhACs can enhance their degrading capacities toward them [109, 117]. Biodegradation of PhACs in soils has been reported for naproxen [38, 74, 118]; ibuprofen [38, 114, 119, 120]; diclofenac [74, 114, 121–123]; paracetamol [39]; carbamazepine [62]; antibiotics such as sulfamethazine [109] and sulfadiazine [124]; triclosan [51, 125-133]; antifungals such as fluconazole, clotrimazole, and miconazole [25, 131, 134– 136]; and caffeine [113].

3 Impact of PhACs on in Soil Living Microorganisms

Residues of human and veterinary PhACs enter terrestrial environments as complex liquid or solid biomixtures applied to crop as organic fertilizer or for watering. Like other active ingredients used for plant protection (pesticides), PhACs are relatively recalcitrant to biodegradation, active at rather low concentrations, and target key enzymes involved in essential biological functions that are widespread in the tree of life. During the last decades, the presence of pharmaceutical residues in the aquatic environment has raised special attention, and numerous studies have reported their effects on the aquatic living organisms and supported ecosystem services [137–140]. However, little is known regarding the effect of antibiotics and other PhACs on

soil ecosystem services supported by microbial guilds. Soil microorganisms play a pivotal role in multiple ecosystem services. They contribute to soil health, mediate in biogeochemical cycles, and regulate climate change among other processes. Thus, the exposure of soil microorganisms to PhACs can influence their functioning with direct consequences on soil ecosystems. On the one hand, PhACs such as antibiotics and antifungals can inhibit specific microbial guilds and supported functions and thereby compromise the survival and growth of certain microbial guilds. On the other hand, some microorganisms can either develop mechanisms of defense against toxic PhACs (development of antimicrobial resistance, for instance) or use them as nutrient source (biodegradation) for their growth leading to the emergence of specific bacteria. It is noteworthy that some of the PhACs, such as the antibiotics, are particularly of concern because, when they are released in the environment, they exert a selection pressure favorable to the development and dissemination of antimicrobial resistance that can impair human and animal health [141].

Here we report some studies regarding the characterization of the ecotoxicological effects of some PhACs on soil microbial communities. The compounds were selected based on their ubiquitous detection in different environmental matrices and relevance.

3.1 Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs (NSAID): Naproxen, Ibuprofen, and Diclofenac

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID) are medicines used to relieve pain, decrease fever, and reduce inflammation. These compounds inhibit the cyclooxy-genase (COX) enzyme, required to convert arachidonic acid into thromboxanes, prostaglandins, and prostacyclins, preventing the platelet adhesion, vasodilation, and increasing body temperature [142]. Among the different types, naproxen, ibuprofen, and diclofenac are the most frequently detected NSAIDs in wastewater effluents [143–148].

3.1.1 Naproxen

Naproxen is an acidic compound frequently found in wastewater effluents and receiving waters [143, 147, 149, 150]. It was found to be rapidly biodegraded in liquid microcosms containing either natural microbial communities from river water [151, 152] or bacteria, fungi, and algae [90, 91, 153–157]. To date, only three studies have addressed the dissipation of naproxen on agricultural soils, and little information is available regarding its ecotoxicological effects on microorganisms [158]. On soil microcosms carried out with three different agricultural soils (sandy loam, loam and silt) never exposed to this NSAID, Topp et al. showed a rapid mineralization of naproxen after application of liquid municipal biosolids [118]. Naproxen was also

shown to be degraded in two soils collected from arid regions under aerobic conditions while it was more persistent under anaerobic conditions, suggesting that in terrestrial ecosystems its biodegradation is catalyzed by microorganisms under aerobic conditions. The differences in naproxen half-lives were attributed to specific soil types and microbial characteristics [38]. Studies from Grossberger et al. [74] on agricultural soils irrigated with reclaimed water showed a rapid dissipation of naproxen. Kinetics of dissipation were not enhanced in soils previously exposed to this NSAID, suggesting that in this experiment the naproxen was co-metabolically degraded.

Based on these studies, naproxen seems to be rapidly dissipated in soils where under aerobic conditions it does not remain for long period of time. However, as recurrent contaminant of reclaimed water that is repetitively applied in large volumes to irrigate various crops, it may persist long enough to impact in soil living microorganisms. Indeed, naproxen was found to irreversibly inhibit nitrite production in the ammonia oxidizing bacterium *Nitrosomonas europeae* following the loss of its membrane integrity, which can potentially compromise nitrogen removal in wastewater treatment plants [159]. Naproxen was also shown to change the abundance and the enzymatic activities of soil microorganisms inducing disturbances in soil functions [160].

3.1.2 Ibuprofen

Ibuprofen is a nonprescription drug widely used for the treatment of pain, fever, and rheumatic disorders. Ibuprofen is a chiral compound that contains two enantiomers, the S-enantiomer (pharmacologically active) and the R-enantiomer (inactive) [161–163]. During human metabolisms, R-ibuprofen undergoes chiral inversion, resulting in S-ibuprofen, which is excreted in urine [164, 165]. This pharmacokinetics transformation to S-enantiomer is consistent with the observation of a selective enrichment of S-ibuprofen not only in wastewater influents [166, 167] and effluents [168] but also in surface water [166, 169]. R-enantiomer biodegradation was reported in aquatic systems [169, 170]. However, the depletion of S-enantiomer was shown in wastewater effluents [167] and lake water microcosm spiked with ibuprofen [166] suggesting that ibuprofen enantiomerization may also happen after its release in in the environment.

The ability of both microbial communities [90] and pure microbial strain to degrade ibuprofen has been widely reported [171]. The bacterium *Nocardia*. sp. transforms ibuprofen to ibuprofenol and subsequently to the corresponding acetate derivative [172]. *Sphingomonas* sp. uses ibuprofen as a sole carbon and energy source via deoxygenation of the ring followed by meta-cleavage and catechol formation catalyzed by enzymes encoded by *ipfABDEF* genes [107, 108, 171]. *Bacillus thuringiensis* and *Serratia marcescens* degrade ibuprofen more efficiently in the presence of other carbons sources suggesting co-metabolic transformation [91, 92, 95]. Ibuprofen was also found to be degraded by white-rot fungi [153, 173] that yielded a number of transformation products more toxic than the parent compound.

Ibuprofen degradation was negligible in anaerobic and sterile soil [174] and watersaturated soil [119], further indicating that it is degraded by microorganisms and principally under aerobic conditions.

Ibuprofen has been found in different terrestrial ecosystems [175, 176] at different concentrations ranging between 0.2 and 610 μ g/kg. In soils ibuprofen is rapidly degraded under aerobic conditions with half-lives values between 30 to 34.3 days, 10 to 15 days, and 1 to 6 days, respectively [38, 114, 119]. Similar maximum mineralizable amounts of ibuprofen were shown in both aqueous and soil microcosms but with about 3.5 times lower mineralization rate in soil systems [120].

To our best knowledge, the effect of ibuprofen on microorganisms has only been studied in liquid cultures and aquatic populations, and not yet on soil microorganisms. Ibuprofen has antifungal activity against dermatophytes [177] and inhibits the growth of some Gram-positive species [178, 179]. Ibuprofen caused the decrease in the biomass of riverine biofilms and inhibited the growth of *Cvanobacteria* and of alpha, beta-proteobacteria, cytophaga-flavobacteria, and SRB385 populations [180]. Additionally, ibuprofen was also shown to significantly modify the growth of the microbial community of a river sediment incubated at different temperatures and light exposure [181]. Pollution-induced community tolerance (PICT) analysis performed on fluvial biofilms exposed to wastewater effluents showed that at the highest concentrations of ibuprofen and diclofenac, they acquired a tolerance to these components accompanied by an alteration of the algal composition and metabolic profile of microbial organisms [182]. Recently, a mixture of ibuprofen, naproxen, and diclofenac was shown to change the composition of the microbial community (increase in Actinobacteria and Bacteroidetes and a decrease of Micropruina and Nakamurella) but not the total nitrogen removal in batch reactors [183]. Although the environmental risk assessment concluded that ibuprofen represents a risk for the aquatic environment [184], it was not included in the list of priority substances under the Water Frame Directive due to a lack of sufficient evidence for its environmental toxicity [185].

3.1.3 Diclofenac

Diclofenac, the most used NSAID in the world, is poorly removed in conventional sewage treatment plants [186–188]. Hence, diclofenac residues are frequently detected in the environment [53, 175, 189–192]. As a consequence, it is considered as a contaminant of emerging concern, and it was added to environmental quality standards (EQS) with a threshold value of 0.1 μ g/L (European Community document (COM(2011)876)). More recently, diclofenac was included in the list of priority substances (PSs) of the Directive 2013/39/EU and Watch List of Decision 2015/495/EU [193–195].

Diclofenac is a polar pharmaceutical compound poorly adsorbed to soil components and therefore easily transferable to surrounding environmental compartments via leachates and runoff [38]. In agricultural soils, under aerobic conditions, diclofenac is readily biodegradable [74, 114, 121–123] within 10 days, whereas it

persists in sterile soils, indicating that soil microorganisms are responsible for its rapid dissipation. This was confirmed by the isolation and characterization of several fungal [156, 196–200] and bacterial strains able to degrade diclofenac as sole carbon source [87, 97, 201] or through cometabolism [87, 93, 94, 196, 202–205].

Ecotoxicity of diclofenac on Gram-positive [206, 207] and Gram-negative bacteria [208, 209] was reported because of the inhibition of DNA synthesis [210] or of the impairment of membrane activity [211, 212]. To date, only two studies have assessed the effects of diclofenac on soil microorganisms [123, 160]. Experiments performed by Cycon et al. [160] with different endpoints including substrateinduced respiration, soil enzyme activities, and enumeration of culturable bacteria and fungi showed that diclofenac exposure led to an increase in the number of culturable bacteria and fungi. At the highest dose (10 mg/kg), diclofenac increased soil respiration as well as the activity of some soil enzymes (acid and alkaline phosphatase, urease). On the contrary, it inhibited the activity of soil dehydrogenases, while it does not affect enzymatic activities (nitrification and ammonification) of N cycle. Experiments performed by Thelusmond et al. [213] by means of Illumina sequencing, STAMP and PiCRUST in agricultural soils observed an increase in Proteobacteria, Gemmatimonadetes, and Actinobacteria and identified four metabolic pathways positively impacted (propanoate, lysine, fatty acid, and benzoate metabolism) during diclofenac biodegradation.

3.2 Other Analgesics and Antipyretics: Paracetamol or Acetaminophen

Paracetamol or acetaminophen is one of the most widely used over-the-counter analgesic and antipyretic drug. The mechanism of action is complex and includes the inhibition of the cyclooxygenase isozyme COX-3 involved in the synthesis of prostaglandins and the activation of metabolites influencing cannabinoid receptors [214, 215]. As result of its popular use, paracetamol has been frequently found in wastewater treatment plants and in various environmental matrices all over the world [147, 175, 216–227].

Paracetamol is transformed by both fungal [228, 229] and bacterial cultures [96, 98, 99, 111, 230, 231]. In bacteria, two different biodegradation pathways via hydroquinone [101, 111] or pyrocatechol [232] have been characterized [233]. To date, only one study has addressed the fate of paracetamol in soil [39] showing that 17% of initial dose applied was mineralized in 120 days, while 73.4–93.3% was recovered as non-extractable residues. Additionally, eight different transformation products were identified, and new biodegradation pathways for paracetamol degradation in soil were proposed. In this study, paracetamol dissipation was mainly explained by the rapid formation of bound residues preventing the dispersion of paracetamol by leaching and/or runoff but accumulating in soil where it may represent a risk for in soil living organisms.

Although numerous studies have shown toxic effects of paracetamol on aquatic organisms [234–236], little information is available regarding its ecotoxicity toward microorganisms. Paracetamol has antibacterial properties on isolated Gram-positive strains [179]. In combination with doxycycline, it was found to inhibit the activity of nitrifying, denitrifying, and anaerobic ammonium oxidation (anammox) bacteria involved in N cycle from different batch reactors [237]. The microbial toxicity of paracetamol was assessed using the MARA (microbial assay for risk assessment), the Microtox, and the Ames microplate assay [96]. Gram-negative bacilli and Serratia were the most sensitive bacteria, while the most resistant were *Enterococcus* and yeast *Pichia anomala*. According to MARA performed with 11 different strains, the mean value of microbial toxic concentration (MTC equivalent of EC50) was 3,435.00 \pm 129.90 mg/L, and the EC50 estimated values using Microtox with *Aliivibrio fischeri* were 7,923 mg/L and 9,487 mg/L after 5 and 15 min of paracetamol exposure, respectively. Ames assay concluded that paracetamol was non-mutagenic, according to the EPA standards [96].

3.3 Antidepressants: Fluoxetine (Prozac) and Citalopram Hydrobromide (Celexa)

Antidepressants are medications that can help ease symptoms of depression, anxiety, and affective disorders. Among them, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) are the most commonly prescribed. They increase the levels of serotonin in the brain and block the reabsorption of serotonin into neurons. Examples of SSRI antidepressants are citalopram and fluoxetine, commonly marketed with diverse trade names such as Prozac and Celexa, respectively.

Citalopram is a chiral compound sold as a racemic mixture, but only the S-enantiomer (sold as Escitalopram) has the desired antidepressant effect. Similarly, fluoxetine is commercialized as a racemic mixture, with the S-enantiomer approximately 1.5 more potent than the R-enantiomer. In the human body, fluoxetine is metabolized to norfluoxetine. Several studies have found citalopram, fluoxetine, and its major metabolite norfluoxetine in different environmental matrices [222, 238– 242]. Under laboratory conditions, citalopram and fluoxetine are relatively recalcitrant to hydrolysis, photolysis, and microbial degradation [243, 244]. Nonetheless, the biodegradation of fluoxetine by a single bacterium (preferably the R-enantiomer) [105] or microbial consortium has been reported [245, 246]. Fluoxetine biodegradation applied at 1 µg/L was reported in estuarine and coastal seawaters with halflives ranging from 6 to 10 days [247]. Similarly, in activated sludge the biodegradation of citalopram was reported with 60% and 40% elimination rates under aerobic and anoxic conditions, respectively [248, 249]. In activated sludge [250], similar elimination rates (70%) of citalopram were observed under aerobic conditions, and this biotic transformation led to the formation of 14 different transformation products.

The ecotoxicity of fluoxetine and citalopram on aquatic organisms has been widely documented [251–253]. They affect the behavior, reproduction, development, and survival of aquatic invertebrates and vertebrates [254, 255]. On microbes, psychotropic drugs such as fluoxetine have been found to inhibit microbial activity [256]. In this regard, fluoxetine has significant antibacterial effect and potential antibiotic modulating activity against multiresistant bacteria [257]. Fluoxetine reduced the richness and increased the beta diversity of gut microbiota [258].

3.4 Antiepileptics: Carbamazepine

Carbamazepine is a relatively lipophilic antiepileptic drug used to control and prevent seizures [259, 260]. Due to its scarce removal in wastewater treatment plants [186, 188, 261–263], carbamazepine is frequently found in municipal effluents [63, 188, 260]. For this reason, it has been proposed as an anthropogenic marker of sewage contamination in aquatic environments [264–266]. Carbamazepine is also frequently detected in arable soils irrigated with wastewater, amended with biosolids or in soils where reclaimed water is used to recharge groundwater [239, 240, 267].

In soils carbamazepine was barely degraded (1.2% of mineralization after 120 days of incubation) and transformed to a range of transformation products not adsorbed to soil components (4.2% recoveries as non-extractable residues of initially applied carbamazepine) [62]. The persistence and accumulation of carbamazepine in soils have been reported by many authors [123, 268]. However, some fungi [153, 269–273], bacteria [102, 274, 275], or the combination of both [276] is able to degrade carbamazepine [277]. In this context, a recent study performed in four agricultural soils identified by means of shotgun sequencing the most abundant phytolypes (*Rhodococcus, Streptomyces*, and *Pseudomonas*) and associated functional genes [130]. The uptake and metabolism of carbamazepine by endophytic bacteria were studied by Sauvêtre et al. who reported a number of degrading endophytic isolates and identified several degradation products [278, 279].

The ecotoxicological effect of carbamazepine was studied on riverine biofilm communities where it was found to reduce the bacterial biomass and the abundance of gamma-proteobacteria, suppress the *Cyanobacteria*, and increase in algal biomass and abundance of beta-proteobacteria [180]. In soils, the ecotoxicological effects of carbamazepine on soil microorganism have been recently reported indicating an enrichment of *Sphingomonadaceae*, *Xanthomonadaceae*, and *Rhodobacteraceae* [213] and an increase in *Proteobacteria* and *Verrucomicrobia* possibly due to the emergence of carbamazepine degraders [123, 213]. In addition, the abundance of *Flavobacterium*, three genus incertae sedis and *Bacteroidetes* decreased [213] revealing the toxicity of carbamazepine toward these microorganisms.

It is noteworthy that carbamazepine applied at environmental concentrations can induce horizontal transfer of plasmids carrying antibiotic resistance among the bacteria community [280]. Given the co-occurrence of PhACs in environments,

these findings pointed out the potential threat of carbamazepine in the environmental spread of antimicrobial resistance.

3.5 Antibiotics

Antibiotics are natural or synthetic substances that kill (bactericidal) or inhibit the growth (bacteriostatic) of bacteria [281]. They are commonly used in human and veterinary medicines [282] as well as in agriculture [283–285] and aquaculture [286, 287] to prevent or treat infections, as growth promoters [288, 289] and sometimes as food preservatives [290]. There are about 250 different antibiotics which can be classified on the basis of their mechanisms in four different groups [281] such as those that inhibit the:

- Synthesis of the cell wall (beta-lactam and glycopeptides)
- Biosynthesis of proteins (aminoglycosides, tetracyclines, chloramphenicol, macrolides, oxazolidinones)
- DNA replication (quinolones)
- Metabolism of folic acid (sulfonamides and trimethoprim)

As a result of their extensive use and their recalcitrance to degradation, antibiotics are frequently found in various matrices such as wastewater [291–297], biosolids [240, 298–301], sewage sludge [302–308], and farmyard manure [309–320]. Applications of these matrices to arable soils to water crop or as organic amendment can lead to the dispersion of antibiotic residues in both terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems [321, 322]. Indeed, antibiotics can runoff or leach from the soil polluting surface water and groundwater, respectively [25, 323, 324]. The ubiquitous detection of antibiotic residues in environmental matrices is cause for a great concern since even at rather low concentration they exert a selection pressure favorable to the emergence and further dispersion of antimicrobial resistances among environmental microbial communities [325–330].

In addition, antibiotic residues may also inhibit specific microbial guilds or functions and therefore disrupt critical processes for ecosystem functioning. Indeed, they have been shown to affect degrading microorganisms, thereby impairing the removal of organic matter and chemicals in sewage treatment plants [331–334]. In addition, antibiotic residues contaminating wastewater or biosolids/manure that are applied on arable soils can inhibit microbial populations involved in carbon and nitrogen geochemical cycling [335, 336], climate regulation [337], and degradation of xenobiotics and therefore may alter soil fertility and ecosystem health [338–343].

In soils, antibiotics are subjected to microbial transformation with variable degrading rates depending on their molecular structure and physicochemical properties [48, 344]. Amoxicillin (beta-lactam) and chlortetracycline are easily degradable [345, 346], while ciprofloxacine, norfloxacine (fluoroquinolones), azithromycin (macrolides), and doxycycline (tetracyclines) are more recalcitrant to biodegradation remaining for a long period of time in soils [131]. Interestingly, in several studies

performed on a long-term field experiment where various antibiotics were repeatedly applied, evidenced for enhanced dissipation of an impressive range of antibiotics (sulfamethazine, tylosin, chlortetracyclin, erythromycin, clarithromycin, and azithromycin) in exposed field plots as compared to control field plots [109, 117]. The number of studies reporting the degradation of different antibiotics in soils is important [124, 340]. Differences observed between studies for a given antibiotic are most likely due to variations in soil type, antibiotic concentrations, and environmental conditions.

Numerous bacterial strains able to degrade antibiotics have been isolated from various matrices including patient, animal, sediment, sludge, manure, and soil. For soils it includes strains belonging to the genera *Microbacterium* sp. (sulfamethazine, sulfadiazine, and sulfamethoxazole) [109, 347, 348], Bacillus sp. (penicillin) [110], *Escherichia* sp. (sulfonamides including sulfamethazine and sulfamethoxazole) [349]. Stenotrophomonas (tetracycline) Ochrobactrum sp., [350]. sp. (sulfamethoxazole and erythromycin) [351, 352], Labrys sp. (fluoroquinolones and sulfamethoxazole) [88, 351], and Gordonia sp. (sulfamethoxazole) [351]; the orders Burkholderiales, Caulobacterales, Xanthomonadales, Pseudomonadales, Enterobacteriales, and Rhizobiales; and the phyla Bacteroidetes (penicillin and neomycin) [112]. In this regard, bioaugmentation of sulfonamide-spiked soil microcosms with Microbacterium sp.C448 [109] was shown to reduce the persistence of antibiotic residues in soils and all associated side effects [353, 354].

3.6 Antiseptics and Disinfectants

Antiseptics and disinfectants, sometimes called biocides, are chemicals commonly used in a variety of medical and domestic settings to prevent or kill the growth of microorganisms. In general, biocides are less specific than antibiotics as their action mode has a broad spectrum of activity, generally not fully understood [355]. Among widely used biocides, triclosan has raised special concern due to its weak demonstrated benefit [356] and potential toxic effects on human health [357, 358]. At low concentrations, triclosan is a bacteriostatic, while at high concentrations, it is bactericidal agent effective against many types of Gram-positive and negative non-sporulating bacteria, some fungi, and certain parasites [359-363]. Although the use of triclosan was restricted in certain types of products [364-366], it is still found in many care products such as toothpaste, mouthwash, hand sanitizer, and surgical soaps. Due to its widespread use and incomplete removal from wastewater treatment plants [367–369], triclosan is frequently detected in several environmental matrices such as soil and surface waters [222, 370-373]. Triclosan was found to bioaccumulate in aquatic species, algae, snails, and earthworms [71, 373-375] in which it caused toxic effects [376-383]. Similarly, plants such as pumpkin, zucchini, onion, and tomato have been shown to bioaccumulate triclosan in the edible parts, thereby leading to the contamination of the food chain [384–386].

Although triclosan is an antimicrobial agent, some fungi [387, 388] and bacteria are able to degrade it co-metabolically or metabolically using it as sole carbon source for their growth [89, 100, 104, 106, 389–393]. In addition, repeated exposure to sublethal concentrations of triclosan may result in the development of resistant colonies [394, 395]. The mechanisms of triclosan microbial resistance share some similarities with those involved in antibiotic resistance [396, 397]. Several studies have demonstrated the development of cross-resistance between triclosan and antibiotics [398–400]. Therefore, triclosan like other biocides is suspected to take part to the selection pressure favorable to the emergence, spread, and maintenance of antibiotic resistances among environmental microbial communities [395, 401–404].

In soils, triclosan was reported to degrade to variable extent, with various halflives depending on soil properties and conditions of incubation [51, 115, 125– 132]. Regarding its ecotoxicological impact on soil microorganisms, triclosan was found to transiently inhibit microbial respiration, reduce microbial biomass [126], and sulfatase activity [405]. These effects were positively related to the dose of triclosan applied to the soil and inversely correlated with soil organic matter and clay content, suggesting that soil characteristics control its bioavailability and induced toxicity. Triclosan was also found to reduce the relative abundance of both Grampositive and negative bacteria and fungi [406]. Recently, studies performed in four agricultural soils using shotgun sequencing observed an increase in *Pseudomonas*, *Sphingomonas*, *Methylobacillus*, and *Stenotrophomonas* and identified the most abundant functional genes associated with triclosan biodegradation [130].

3.7 Antifungals

Antifungals comprise a large and diverse group of drugs used to treat fungal diseases in humans, animals and plants. Based on their action mode, antifungals can be divided in three different classes: azoles, which inhibit the synthesis of ergosterol; polyenes, which physicochemically interact with fungal membrane sterols; and 5-fluorocytosine, which inhibits macromolecular synthesis [407]. Among the different azoles, of particular interest is the case of the triazoles, which constitute a synthetic group of heterocyclic compounds containing a five-membered ring of two carbon atoms and three nitrogen atoms commonly used for the control of fungal diseases in humans, animals, and plants. They include drugs such as fluconazole, clotrimazole, and miconazole and plant protection products such as tebuconazole and epoxiconazole. By inhibiting the activity of lanosterol 14 α -demethylase (DMI), a member of the cytochrome P450 catalytic activity, triazoles alter the bioconversion of lanosterol to ergosterol, a fundamental component of the fungal cytoplasmic membrane, preventing fungal growth [407, 408]. Therefore, triazoles are fungistatic and not fungicidal, but although misleading, the term fungicide is commonly used in agriculture for this type of pesticide.

Due to their efficacy and broad spectrum of activity, triazoles are among the most common systemic fungicides used in the control of plant diseases [409]. Contrary to

other available antimycotics, they are applied not only to prevent but also to treat plant fungal diseases. Triazoles have also been shown to promote the growth of plant leading to increase in the crop yield [410, 411].

In the medical field, synthetic antifungal agents are widely used for the treatment and prophylaxis of many mycoses [412]. As a consequence of their common use, substantial amounts of azoles reach the wastewater treatment plants [413– 416]. There, as observed for many other PhACs, due to their intrinsic stability, triazoles can remain stable and active with only slight changes in their chemical structure. Studies investigating the occurrence of azole fungicides in wastewater are limited [413, 414, 417–419]. However, a number of studies have identified wastewater effluents as triazole pollution point source of surface waters and agricultural soil [134, 420–425].

The dissipation of triazole plant protection fungicides in soils has been widely documented. Pesticides such as tebuconazole [426–433], epoxiconazole [434, 435], propiconazole [436–438] and cyproconazole [439] have been shown to be relatively persistent in soil. In soil tebuconazole was shown to be transformed in 34 different transformation products [440]. To date *Burkholderia* sp. and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* are the only two soil bacterial isolates known to degrade the fungicide propiconazole [441, 442].

Similarly, antifungal medicines are highly resistant to microbial degradation. Experiments performed in soil microcosms showed that fluconazole and clotrimazole were scarcely degraded, with half-lives in the range of 73 to 85 days for fluconazole and of 29 to 126 days or of 36.2 to 130.8 days for clotrimazole [135, 136]. In field conditions, a higher persistence was found in biosolid amended soils for the azole biocides climbazole, clotrimazole, and miconazole [25, 131, 134], with differences in dissipation half-lives attributed to soil types and biosolid application rates. To date, only one study has reported the ability of one edible fungal specie to degrade bifonazole and clotrimazole [443].

As observed with antibiotics, the intensive and repeated use of triazoles has led to the emergence of fungal resistances. Among the different mechanisms of resistance involved, the overexpression of the CYP51 gene that codes for the lanosterol 14α -demethylase, due to mutations (insertions or duplications) in the promoter region, and the increase in molecular efflux by ABC (ATP-binding cassette) transporters caused by the overexpression of genes coding for membrane transport have been mainly observed [407, 444–446]. Clinical isolates with observed resistance to triazoles include the species of Aspergillus, Candida, Fusarium, Zygomycetes, Trichosporon, Penicillium, Bipolaris, and Scedosporium, among others [447-452]. The majority of cases of azole-resistant diseases are due to resistant Aspergillus fumigatus which causes a variety of diseases in humans and animals ranging from allergic, chronic, and acute invasive diseases, the latter posing a significant threat to immunocompromised patients [453]. The surge of resistant fungi of human pathogens in the medical field has been related to the exposure to fungicides used in agroecosystems [454–456]. The important use of triazoles in agriculture may indeed exert a selective pressure favoring the survival of certain human pathogenic fungi, increasing the risks and chances for humans to encounter such resisting microbes.

Pathogenic fungi that have their natural habitat in the environment are the fungi *Coccidioides*, *Histoplasma*, *Aspergillus*, *Colletotrichum*, and *Cryptococcus* [457–461].

While a number of studies have evaluated the ecotoxicological impact of triazole fungicides [462] (propiconazole [463, 464], tetraconazole [465], tebuconazole [429, 466–473]) on soil microorganisms, the effects of antifungal medicines on soil microorganisms have been scarcely documented [474]. Climbazole, an antidandruff and antimycotic agent, was shown to be toxic to algae, aquatic lentils (Lemna), and terrestrial plants and exhibited low toxicity toward the soil bacterium *Arthrobacter globiformis* with an EC₅₀ of 456 mg/kg soil for inhibition of dehydrogenase activity [474].

4 Perspectives

Although PhACs are found as contaminants in almost all environmental matrices, including soils, their environmental fate and ecotoxicological impact on in soil living organisms and supported ecosystem services remain poorly described and scarcely understood. This evident lack of information is most likely due to the absence of regulatory requirements to monitor soil quality in the absence of a soil protection directive that was proposed almost 20 years ago to the European Commission, but that is still not adopted [475]. In addition, the current regulation to release on the market PhACs does not consider enough their possible effect on the environmental compartment, in particular on soil.

Most of the studies are laboratory experiments that consider contaminant one by one spiked at high concentration in microcosms. Only a few of them are done at field or environmental scale with complex mixture of contaminants but with the problem of the reference (normal operating range) to interpret the variations observed. Although it is the rule at the environmental scale, no studies consider the effect of complex mixtures of PhACs to soil [476]. Until now, there are no consensus to assess the fate and the ecotoxicological effects of PhACs on soil microorganisms and supported ecosystem services.

Given the fact that human and animal health are unambiguously link to environmental health under the concept of "One health," it could be concluded that there is an urgent need to unify current regulations on the release on the market of PhACs, biocides, and plant protection products in close connection with the regulations to protect the environment such as the water framework directive, air quality framework directive, and national directives on soil protection (pending the publication of the soil protection directive). This unification has to be done under a holistic policy embracing both a priori and a posteriori environmental risk evaluation assessment by targeting specific protection goals, including microbial communities that support soil ecosystem services. Acknowledgments We would like to thank Damia Barcelo, Sandra Prez, and Serge Chiron for having and inviting us to participate to the project AWARE within the ERA-NET WATERWORKS 2015–2016 (contract no. ANR-16-WTW5-0011-05). Sara Gallego-Blanco was supported by this European Project. Fabrice Martin-Laurent was also supported by the ANTIBIOTOX project (contract no. ANR-17-CE34-0003).

References

- 1. Hoebert J, Richard L, Peter S (2011) The world medicines situation 2011 pharmaceutical consumption. WHO, Geneva, pp 1–17
- Ruhoy IS, Daughton CG (2008) Beyond the medicine cabinet: an analysis of where and why medications accumulate. Environ Int 34:1157–1169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2008.05. 002
- Daughton CG, Ruhoy IS (2009) Environmental footprint of pharmaceuticals: the significance of factors beyond direct excretion to sewers. Environ Toxicol Chem 28:2495–2521. https:// doi.org/10.1897/08-382.1
- Winker M, Faika D, Gulyas H, Otterpohl R (2008) A comparison of human pharmaceutical concentrations in raw municipal wastewater and yellow water. Sci Total Environ 399:96–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.03.027
- Kümmerer K (2008) Pharmaceuticals in the environment a brief summary. In: Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Springer, Berlin, pp 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-74664-5_1
- Kümmerer K (2001) Drugs in the environment: emission of drugs, diagnostic aids and disinfectants into wastewater by hospitals in relation to other sources – a review. Chemosphere 45:957–969. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(01)00144-8
- Paut Kusturica M, Tomas A, Sabo A (2017) Disposal of unused drugs: knowledge and behavior among people around the world. In: Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology. Springer, New York, pp 71–104. https://doi.org/10.1007/398_2016_3
- 8. Tong AYC, Peake BM, Braund R (2011) Disposal practices for unused medications around the world. Environ Int 37:292–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2010.10.002
- Yadav MK, Short MD, Aryal R, Gerber C, van den Akker B, Saint CP (2017) Occurrence of illicit drugs in water and wastewater and their removal during wastewater treatment. Water Res 124:713–727. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.07.068
- Verlicchi P, Zambello E, Al Aukidy M (2013) Removal of pharmaceuticals by conventional wastewater treatment plants. In: Comprehensive analytical chemistry. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 231–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-62657-8.00008-2
- 11. Castiglioni S, Bagnati R, Calamari D, Fanelli R, Zuccato E (2005) A multiresidue analytical method using solid-phase extraction and high-pressure liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry to measure pharmaceuticals of different therapeutic classes in urban wastewaters. J Chromatogr A 1092:206–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2005.07.012
- Heberer T (2002) Occurrence, fate, and removal of pharmaceutical residues in the aquatic environment: a review of recent research data. Toxicol Lett 131:5–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0378-4274(02)00041-3
- 13. Gros M, Mas-Pla J, Boy-Roura M, Geli I, Domingo F, Petrović M (2019) Veterinary pharmaceuticals and antibiotics in manure and slurry and their fate in amended agricultural soils: findings from an experimental field site (Baix Empordà, NE Catalonia). Sci Total Environ 654:1337–1349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.061
- 14. Nõlvak H, Truu M, Kanger K, Tampere M, Espenberg M, Loit E, Raave H, Truu J (2016) Inorganic and organic fertilizers impact the abundance and proportion of antibiotic resistance

and integron-integrase genes in agricultural grassland soil. Sci Total Environ 562:678–689. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.04.035

- 15. Song W, Guo M (2014) Residual veterinary pharmaceuticals in animal manures and their environmental behaviors in soils. In: Applied manure and nutrient chemistry for sustainable agriculture and environment. Springer, Amsterdam, pp 23–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-8807-6_2
- Wohde M, Berkner S, Junker T, Konradi S, Schwarz L, Düring RA (2016) Occurrence and transformation of veterinary pharmaceuticals and biocides in manure: a literature review. Environ Sci Eur 28:23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-016-0091-8
- Maron DF, Smith TJS, Nachman KE (2013) Restrictions on antimicrobial use in food animal production: an international regulatory and economic survey. Global Health 9:48. https://doi. org/10.1186/1744-8603-9-48
- Libutti A, Gatta G, Gagliardi A, Vergine P, Pollice A, Beneduce L, Disciglio G, Tarantino E (2018) Agro-industrial wastewater reuse for irrigation of a vegetable crop succession under Mediterranean conditions. Agric Water Manag 196:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat. 2017.10.015
- Meli S, Porto M, Belligno A, Bufo SA, Mazzatura A, Scopa A (2002) Influence of irrigation with lagooned urban wastewater on chemical and microbiological soil parameters in a citrus orchard under Mediterranean condition. Sci Total Environ 285:69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0048-9697(01)00896-8
- Mohammad Rusan MJ, Hinnawi S, Rousan L (2007) Long term effect of wastewater irrigation of forage crops on soil and plant quality parameters. Desalination 215:143–152. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.desal.2006.10.032
- Annicchiarico G, Caternolo G, Rossi E, Martiniello P (2011) Effect of manure vs. fertilizer inputs on productivity of forage crop models. Int J Environ Res Public Health 8:1893–1913. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph8061893
- Hernández T, Moreno JI, Costa F (1991) Influence of sewage sludge application on crop yields and heavy metal availability. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 37:201–210. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00380768.1991.10415030
- Durán-Alvarez JC, Becerril-Bravo E, Castro VS, Jiménez B, Gibson R (2009) The analysis of a group of acidic pharmaceuticals, carbamazepine, and potential endocrine disrupting compounds in wastewater irrigated soils by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Talanta 78:1159–1166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2009.01.035
- Fatta-Kassinos D, Kalavrouziotis IK, Koukoulakis PH, Vasquez MI (2011) The risks associated with wastewater reuse and xenobiotics in the agroecological environment. Sci Total Environ 409:3555–3563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.03.036
- 25. Gottschall N, Topp E, Metcalfe C, Edwards M, Payne M, Kleywegt S, Russell P, Lapen DR (2012) Pharmaceutical and personal care products in groundwater, subsurface drainage, soil, and wheat grain, following a high single application of municipal biosolids to a field. Chemosphere 87:194–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.12.018
- 26. Montemurro N, Postigo C, Chirón S, Barcelò D, Pérez S (2019) Analysis and fate of 14 relevant wastewater-derived organic pollutants in long-term exposed soil. Anal Bioanal Chem 411:2687–2696. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-019-01715-3
- Petrie B, Barden R, Kasprzyk-Hordern B (2015) A review on emerging contaminants in wastewaters and the environment: current knowledge, understudied areas and recommendations for future monitoring. Water Res 72:3–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.08.053
- Vodyanitskii YN, Yakovlev AS (2016) Contamination of soils and groundwater with new organic micropollutants: a review. Eurasian Soil Sci 49:560–569. https://doi.org/10.1134/ S1064229316050148
- Barra Caracciolo A, Topp E, Grenni P (2015) Pharmaceuticals in the environment: biodegradation and effects on natural microbial communities. A review. J Pharm Biomed Anal 106:25–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2014.11.040
- Díaz-Cruz MS, López De Alda MJ, Barceló D (2003) Environmental behavior and analysis of veterinary and human drugs in soils, sediments and sludge. Trends Anal Chem 22:340–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-9936(03)00603-4
- Ahel M, Jeličić I (2001) Phenazone analgesics in soil and groundwater below a municipal solid waste landfill. ACS Symp Ser 791:100–115. https://doi.org/10.1021/bk-2001-0791.ch006
- 32. Eckel WP, Ross B, Isensee RK (1993) Pentobarbital found in ground water. Groundwater 31:801–804. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6584.1993.tb00853.x
- Holm JV, Rugge K, Bjerg PL, Christensen TH (1995) Occurrence and distribution of pharmaceutical organic compounds in the groundwater downgradient of a landfill (Grindsted, Denmark). Environ Sci Technol 29:1415–1420. https://doi.org/10.1021/es00005a039
- 34. Metzger JW (2004) Drugs in municipal landfills and landfill leachates. In: Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Springer, Berlin, pp 133–137. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-09259-0_ 10
- Beausse J (2004) Selected drugs in solid matrices: a review of environmental determination, occurrence and properties of principal substances. Trends Anal Chem 23:753–761. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.trac.2004.08.005
- Hiller E, Šebesta M (2017) Effect of temperature and soil pH on the sorption of ibuprofen in agricultural soil. Soil Water Res 12:78–85. https://doi.org/10.17221/6/2016-SWR
- Li WC (2014) Occurrence, sources, and fate of pharmaceuticals in aquatic environment and soil. Environ Pollut 187:193–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2014.01.015
- Lin K, Gan J (2011) Sorption and degradation of wastewater-associated non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs and antibiotics in soils. Chemosphere 83:240–246. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chemosphere.2010.12.083
- 39. Li J, Ye Q, Gan J (2014) Degradation and transformation products of acetaminophen in soil. Water Res 49:44–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.11.008
- 40. Awad YM, Ok YS, Igalavithana AD, Lee YH, Sonn YK, Usman ARA, Al-Wabel MI, Lee SS (2016) Sulphamethazine in poultry manure changes carbon and nitrogen mineralisation in soils. Chem Ecol 32:899–918. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757540.2016.1216104
- 41. Hamscher G, Pawelzick HT, Höper H, Nau H (2005) Different behavior of tetracyclines and sulfonamides in sandy soils after repeated fertilization with liquid manure. Environ Toxicol Chem 24:861–868. https://doi.org/10.1897/04-182r.1
- 42. Boxall ABA, Blackwell P, Cavallo R, Kay P, Tolls J (2002) The sorption and transport of a sulphonamide antibiotic in soil systems. Toxicol Lett 131:19–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0378-4274(02)00063-2
- Leal RMP, Alleoni LRF, Tornisielo VL, Regitano JB (2013) Sorption of fluoroquinolones and sulfonamides in 13 Brazilian soils. Chemosphere 92:979–985. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2013.03.018
- 44. Marengo JR, Kok RA, O'Brien K, Velagaleti RR, Stamm JM (1997) Aerobic biodegradation of (14C)-sarafloxacin hydrochloride in soil. Environ Toxicol Chem 16:462–471. https://doi. org/10.1002/etc.5620160311
- Nowara A, Burhenne J, Spiteller M (1997) Binding of fluoroquinolone carboxylic acid derivatives to clay minerals. J Agric Food Chem 45:1459–1463. https://doi.org/10.1021/ jf9602151
- 46. Rabølle M, Spliid NH (2000) Sorption and mobility of metronidazole, olaquindox, oxytetracycline and tylosin in soil. Chemosphere 40:715–722. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535 (99)00442-7
- 47. Ter Laak TL, Gebbink WA, Tolls J (2006) The effect of pH and ionic strength on the sorption of sulfachloropyridazine, tylosin, and oxytetracycline to soil. Environ Toxicol Chem 25:904–911. https://doi.org/10.1897/05-232R.1
- Thiele-Bruhn S (2003) Pharmaceutical antibiotic compounds in soils a review. J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 166:145–167. https://doi.org/10.1002/jpln.200390023
- Tolls J (2001) Sorption of veterinary pharmaceuticals in soils: a review. Environ Sci Technol 35:3397–3406. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0003021

- Vaz S, Lopes WT, Martin-Neto L (2015) Study of molecular interactions between humic acid from Brazilian soil and the antibiotic oxytetracycline. Environ Technol Innov 4:260–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2015.09.004
- Wu C, Spongberg AL, Witter JD (2009) Adsorption and degradation of triclosan and triclocarban in soils and biosolids-amended soils. J Agric Food Chem 57:4900–4905. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf900376c
- Drillia P, Stamatelatou K, Lyberatos G (2005) Fate and mobility of pharmaceuticals in solid matrices. Chemosphere 60:1034–1044. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.01.032
- Monteiro CS, Boxall A (2010) Occurrence and fate of human pharmaceuticals in the environment. In: Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology. Springer, New York, pp 53–154. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1157-5
- 54. Sabourin L, Beck A, Duenk PW, Kleywegt S, Lapen DR, Li H, Metcalfe CD, Payne M, Topp E (2009) Runoff of pharmaceuticals and personal care products following application of dewatered municipal biosolids to an agricultural field. Sci Total Environ 407:4596–4604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.04.027
- 55. Arye G, Dror I, Berkowitz B (2011) Fate and transport of carbamazepine in soil aquifer treatment (SAT) infiltration basin soils. Chemosphere 82:244–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2010.09.062
- 56. Bondarenko S, Gan J, Ernst F, Green R, Baird J, McCullough M (2012) Leaching of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in turfgrass soils during recycled water irrigation. J Environ Qual 41:1268–1274. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2011.0355
- Chefetz B, Mualem T, Ben-Ari J (2008) Sorption and mobility of pharmaceutical compounds in soil irrigated with reclaimed wastewater. Chemosphere 73:1335–1343. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chemosphere.2008.06.070
- Gibson R, Durán-Álvarez JC, Estrada KL, Chávez A, Jiménez Cisneros B (2010) Accumulation and leaching potential of some pharmaceuticals and potential endocrine disruptors in soils irrigated with wastewater in the Tula Valley, Mexico. Chemosphere 81:1437–1445. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.09.006
- Avisar D, Lester Y, Ronen D (2009) Sulfamethoxazole contamination of a deep phreatic aquifer. Sci Total Environ 407:4278–4282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.03.032
- González-Naranjo V, Boltes K, Biel M (2013) Mobility of ibuprofen, a persistent active drug, in soils irrigated with reclaimed water. Plant, Soil Environ 59:68–73. https://doi.org/10.17221/ 590/2012-pse
- 61. Karnjanapiboonwong A, Suski JG, Shah AA, Cai Q, Morse AN, Anderson TA (2011) Occurrence of PPCPs at a wastewater treatment plant and in soil and groundwater at a land application site. Water Air Soil Pollut 216:257–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-010-0532-8
- 62. Li J, Dodgen L, Ye Q, Gan J (2013) Degradation kinetics and metabolites of carbamazepine in soil. Environ Sci Technol 47:3678–3684. https://doi.org/10.1021/es304944c
- Pedersen JA, Soliman M, Suffet IH (2005) Human pharmaceuticals, hormones, and personal care product ingredients in runoff from agricultural fields irrigated with treated wastewater. J Agric Food Chem 53:1625–1632. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf049228m
- 64. Snyder SA, Leising J, Westerhoff P, Yoon Y, Mash HE, Vanderford BJ (2004) Biological and physical attenuation of endocrine disruptors and pharmaceuticals: implications for water reuse. Groundw Monit Remediat 24:108–118
- 65. Al-Farsi RS, Ahmed M, Al-Busaidi A, Choudri BS (2017) Translocation of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) into plant tissues: a review. Emerg Contam 3:132–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emcon.2018.02.001
- 66. Boxall ABA, Johnson P, Smith EJ, Sinclair CJ, Stutt E, Levy LS (2006) Uptake of veterinary medicines from soils into plants. J Agric Food Chem 54:2288–2297. https://doi.org/10.1021/ jf053041t

- 67. Carter LJ, Garman CD, Ryan J, Dowle A, Bergström E, Thomas-Oates J, Boxall ABA (2014) Fate and uptake of pharmaceuticals in soil-earthworm systems. Environ Sci Technol 48:5955–5963. https://doi.org/10.1021/es500567w
- Carvalho PN, Basto MCP, Almeida CMR, Brix H (2014) A review of plant–pharmaceutical interactions: from uptake and effects in crop plants to phytoremediation in constructed wetlands. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21:11729–11763. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-2550-3
- 69. Kalaji HM, Rastogi A (2017) Pharmaceutical compounds: an emerging pollutant (a review on plant-pharmaceuticals interaction). Chiang Mai J Sci 44:287–297
- Wu X, Dodgen LK, Conkle JL, Gan J (2015) Plant uptake of pharmaceutical and personal care products from recycled water and biosolids: a review. Sci Total Environ 536:655–666. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.07.129
- 71. Kinney CA, Furlong ET, Kolpin DW, Burkhardt MR, Zaugg SD, Werner SL, Bossio JP, Benotti MJ (2008) Bioaccumulation of pharmaceuticals and other anthropogenic waste indicators in earthworms from agricultural soil amended with biosolid or swine manure. Environ Sci Technol 42:1863–1870. https://doi.org/10.1021/es702304c
- 72. Macherius A, Lapen DR, Reemtsma T, Römbke J, Topp E, Coors A (2014) Triclocarban, triclosan and its transformation product methyl triclosan in native earthworm species four years after a commercial-scale biosolids application. Sci Total Environ 472:235–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.10.113
- 73. Zhao JL, Furlong ET, Schoenfuss HL, Kolpin DW, Bird KL, Feifarek DJ, Schwab EA, Ying GG (2017) Uptake and disposition of select pharmaceuticals by bluegill exposed at constant concentrations in a flow-through aquatic exposure system. Environ Sci Technol 51:4434–4444. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b00604
- 74. Grossberger A, Hadar Y, Borch T, Chefetz B (2014) Biodegradability of pharmaceutical compounds in agricultural soils irrigated with treated wastewater. Environ Pollut 185:168–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.10.038
- Achermann S, Bianco V, Mansfeldt CB, Vogler B, Kolvenbach BA, Corvini PFX, Fenner K (2018) Biotransformation of sulfonamide antibiotics in activated sludge: the formation of pterin-conjugates leads to sustained risk. Environ Sci Technol 52:6265–6274. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/acs.est.7b06716
- Achermann S, Falås P, Joss A, Mansfeldt CB, Men Y, Vogler B, Fenner K (2018) Trends in micropollutant biotransformation along a solids retention time gradient. Environ Sci Technol 52:11601–11611. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b02763
- 77. Kawabata K, Sugihara K, Sanoh S, Kitamura S, Ohta S (2013) Photodegradation of pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment by sunlight and UV-A, -B and -C irradiation. J Toxicol Sci 38:215–223. https://doi.org/10.2131/jts.38.215
- 78. Mitchell SM, Ullman JL, Teel AL, Watts RJ (2014) PH and temperature effects on the hydrolysis of three β-lactam antibiotics: ampicillin, cefalotin and cefoxitin. Sci Total Environ 466–467:547–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.06.027
- Calza P, Massolino C, Monaco G, Medana C, Baiocchi C (2008) Study of the photolytic and photocatalytic transformation of amiloride in water. J Pharm Biomed Anal 48:315–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2008.01.014
- Isidori M, Lavorgna M, Nardelli A, Parrella A, Previtera L, Rubino M (2005) Ecotoxicity of naproxen and its phototransformation products. Sci Total Environ 348:93–101. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2004.12.068
- Marotta R, Spasiano D, Di Somma I, Andreozzi R (2013) Photodegradation of naproxen and its photoproducts in aqueous solution at 254 nm: a kinetic investigation. Water Res 47:373–383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.10.016
- Méndez-Arriaga F, Esplugas S, Giménez J (2008) Photocatalytic degradation of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs with TiO2 and simulated solar irradiation. Water Res 42:585–594. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2007.08.002

- Packer JL, Werner JJ, Latch DE, McNeill K, Arnold WA (2003) Photochemical fate of pharmaceuticals in the environment: naproxen, diclofenac, clofibric acid, and ibuprofen. Aquat Sci 65:342–351. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-003-0671-8
- Vulava VM, Cory WC, Murphey VL, Ulmer CZ (2016) Sorption, photodegradation, and chemical transformation of naproxen and ibuprofen in soils and water. Sci Total Environ 565:1063–1070. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.132
- 85. Yamamoto H, Nakamura Y, Moriguchi S, Nakamura Y, Honda Y, Tamura I, Hirata Y, Hayashi A, Sekizawa J (2009) Persistence and partitioning of eight selected pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment: laboratory photolysis, biodegradation, and sorption experiments. Water Res 43:351–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2008.10.039
- Thiele-Bruhn S, Peters D (2007) Photodegradation of pharmaceutical antibiotics on slurry and soil surfaces. Landbauforsch Volkenrode 57:13–23
- Aissaoui S, Ouled-Haddar H, Sifour M, Harrouche K, Sghaier H (2017) Metabolic and co-metabolic transformation of diclofenac by Enterobacter hormaechei D15 isolated from activated sludge. Curr Microbiol 74:381–388. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-016-1190-x
- Amorim CL, Moreira IS, Maia AS, Tiritan ME, Castro PML (2014) Biodegradation of ofloxacin, norfloxacin, and ciprofloxacin as single and mixed substrates by Labrys portucalensis F11. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98:3181–3190. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00253-013-5333-8
- Kim YM, Murugesan K, Schmidt S, Bokare V, Jeon JR, Kim EJ, Chang YS (2011) Triclosan susceptibility and co-metabolism – a comparison for three aerobic pollutant-degrading bacteria. Bioresour Technol 102:2206–2212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.10.009
- 90. Li Y, Wu B, Zhu G, Liu Y, Ng WJ, Appan A, Tan SK (2016) High-throughput pyrosequencing analysis of bacteria relevant to cometabolic and metabolic degradation of ibuprofen in horizontal subsurface flow constructed wetlands. Sci Total Environ 562:604–613. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.04.020
- Marchlewicz A, Domaradzka D, Guzik U, Wojcieszyńska D (2016) Bacillus thuringiensis B1 (2015b) is a gram-positive bacteria able to degrade naproxen and ibuprofen. Water Air Soil Pollut 227:197–197. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-016-2893-0
- Marchlewicz A, Guzik U, Smułek W, Wojcieszyńska D (2017) Exploring the degradation of ibuprofen by Bacillus thuringiensis B1(2015b): the new pathway and factors affecting degradation. Molecules 22:1676. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules22101676
- Moreira IS, Bessa VS, Murgolo S, Piccirillo C, Mascolo G, Castro PML (2018) Biodegradation of diclofenac by the bacterial strain Labrys portucalensis F11. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 152:104–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.01.040
- Palyzová A, Zahradník J, Marešová H, Řezanka T (2019) Characterization of the catabolic pathway of diclofenac in Raoultella sp. KDF8. Int Biodeter Biodegr 137:88–94. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2018.11.013
- 95. Xu B, Xue G, Yang X (2018) Isolation and application of an ibuprofen-degrading bacterium to a biological aerated filter for the treatment of micro-polluted water. Front Environ Sci Eng 12:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11783-018-1080-5
- 96. Żur J, Wojcieszyńska D, Hupert-Kocurek K, Marchlewicz A, Guzik U (2018) Paracetamol toxicity and microbial utilization. Pseudomonas moorei KB4 as a case study for exploring degradation pathway. Chemosphere 206:192–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2018.04.179
- Bessa VS, Moreira IS, Tiritan ME, Castro PML (2017) Enrichment of bacterial strains for the biodegradation of diclofenac and carbamazepine from activated sludge. Int Biodeter Biodegr 120:135–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2017.02.008
- De Gusseme B, Vanhaecke L, Verstraete W, Boon N (2011) Degradation of acetaminophen by Delftia tsuruhatensis and Pseudomonas aeruginosa in a membrane bioreactor. Water Res 45:1829–1837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.11.040

- 99. Dionisi D, Etteh CC (2019) Effect of process conditions on the aerobic biodegradation of phenol and paracetamol by open mixed microbial cultures. J Environ Chem Eng 7:103282. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2019.103282
- 100. Hay AG, Dees PM, Sayler GS (2001) Growth of a bacterial consortium on triclosan. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 36:105–112. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2001.tb00830.x
- 101. Hu J, Zhang LL, Chen JM, Liu Y (2013) Degradation of paracetamol by Pseudomonas aeruginosa strain HJ1012. J Environ Sci Heal A Toxic/Hazardous Subst Environ Eng 48:791–799. https://doi.org/10.1080/10934529.2013.744650
- 102. Li A, Cai R, Cui D, Qiu T, Pang C, Yang J, Ma F, Ren N (2013) Characterization and biodegradation kinetics of a new cold-adapted carbamazepine-degrading bacterium, Pseudomonas sp. CBZ-4. J Environ Sci (China) 25:2281–2290. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1001-0742 (12)60293-9
- 103. Martin-Laurent F, Topp E, Billet L, Batisson I, Malandain C, Besse-Hoggan P, Morin S, Artigas J, Bonnineau C, Kergoat L, Devers-Lamrani M, Pesce S (2019) Environmental risk assessment of antibiotics in agroecosystems: ecotoxicological effects on aquatic microbial communities and dissemination of antimicrobial resistances and antibiotic biodegradation potential along the soil-water continuum. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26:18930–18937. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-05122-0
- 104. Meade MJ, Waddell RL, Callahan TM (2001) Soil bacteria Pseudomonas putida and Alcaligenes xylosoxidans subsp. denitrificans inactivate triclosan in liquid and solid substrates. FEMS Microbiol Lett 204:45–48. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2001. tb10860.x
- 105. Moreira IS, Bessa VS, Murgolo S, Piccirillo C, Mascolo G, Castro PML (2014) Enantioselective biodegradation of fluoxetine by the bacterial strain. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 152:104–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.01.040
- 106. Mulla SI, Wang H, Sun Q, Hu A, Yu CP (2016) Characterization of triclosan metabolism in Sphingomonas sp. strain YL-JM2C. Sci Rep 6:21965. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep21965
- 107. Murdoch RW, Hay AG (2013) Genetic and chemical characterization of ibuprofen degradation by Sphingomonas Ibu-2. Microbiol (United Kingdom) 159:621–632. https://doi.org/10. 1099/mic.0.062273-0
- Murdoch RW, Hay AG (2005) Formation of catechols via removal of acid side chains from ibuprofen and related aromatic acids. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:6121–6125. https://doi.org/ 10.1128/AEM.71.10.6121-6125.2005
- 109. Topp E, Chapman R, Devers-Lamrani M, Hartmann A, Marti R, Martin-Laurent F, Sabourin L, Scott A, Sumarah M (2013) Accelerated biodegradation of veterinary antibiotics in agricultural soil following long-term exposure, and isolation of a sulfamethazine-degrading Microbacterium sp. J Environ Qual 42:173–178. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2012.0162
- 110. Yang X, Li M, Guo P, Li H, Hu Z, Liu X, Zhang Q (2019) Isolation, screening, and characterization of antibiotic-degrading bacteria for penicillin V potassium (PVK) from soil on a pig farm. Int J Environ Res Public Health 16. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16122166
- 111. Zhang L, Hu J, Zhu R, Zhou Q, Chen J (2013) Degradation of paracetamol by pure bacterial cultures and their microbial consortium. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97:3687–3698. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00253-012-4170-5
- 112. Zhang Q, Dick WA (2014) Growth of soil bacteria, on penicillin and neomycin, not previously exposed to these antibiotics. Sci Total Environ 493:445–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2014.05.114
- 113. Topp E, Hendel JG, Lu Z, Chapman R (2006) Biodegradation of caffeine in agricultural soils. Can J Soil Sci 86:533–544. https://doi.org/10.4141/s05-064
- 114. Xu J, Wu L, Chang AC (2009) Degradation and adsorption of selected pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in agricultural soils. Chemosphere 77:1299–1305. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.09.063

- 115. Ying GG, Yu XY, Kookana RS (2007) Biological degradation of triclocarban and triclosan in a soil under aerobic and anaerobic conditions and comparison with environmental fate modelling. Environ Pollut 150:300–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2007.02.013
- 116. Yu Y, Liu Y, Wu L (2013) Sorption and degradation of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in soils. Environ Sci Pollut Res 20:4261–4267. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11356-012-1442-7
- 117. Topp E, Renaud J, Sumarah M, Sabourin L (2016) Reduced persistence of the macrolide antibiotics erythromycin, clarithromycin and azithromycin in agricultural soil following several years of exposure in the field. Sci Total Environ 562:136–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2016.03.210
- 118. Topp E, Hendel JG, Lapen DR, Chapman R (2008) Fate of the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug naproxen in agricultural soil receiving liquid municipal biosolids. Environ Toxicol Chem 27:2005–2010. https://doi.org/10.1897/07-644.1
- 119. Carr DL, Morse AN, Zak JC, Anderson TA (2011) Biological degradation of common pharmaceuticals and personal care products in soils with high water content. Water Air Soil Pollut 217:127–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-010-0573-z
- 120. Girardi C, Nowak KM, Carranza-Diaz O, Lewkow B, Miltner A, Gehre M, Schäffer A, Kästner M (2013) Microbial degradation of the pharmaceutical ibuprofen and the herbicide 2,4-D in water and soil use and limits of data obtained from aqueous systems for predicting their fate in soil. Sci Total Environ 444:32–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.11.051
- 121. Al-Rajab AJ, Sabourin L, Lapen DR, Topp E (2010) The non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug diclofenac is readily biodegradable in agricultural soils. Sci Total Environ 409:78–82. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.09.020
- 122. Facey SJ, Nebel BA, Kontny L, Allgaier M, Hauer B (2018) Rapid and complete degradation of diclofenac by native soil microorganisms. Environ Technol Innov 10:55–61. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.eti.2017.12.009
- 123. Thelusmond JR, Kawka E, Strathmann TJ, Cupples AM (2018) Diclofenac, carbamazepine and triclocarban biodegradation in agricultural soils and the microorganisms and metabolic pathways affected. Sci Total Environ 640–641:1393–1410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2018.05.403
- 124. Chen J, Jiang X, Tong T, Miao S, Huang J, Xie S (2019) Sulfadiazine degradation in soils: dynamics, functional gene, antibiotic resistance genes and microbial community. Sci Total Environ 691:1072–1081. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.07.230
- 125. Al-Rajab AJ, Sabourin L, Lapen DR, Topp E (2015) Dissipation of triclosan, triclocarban, carbamazepine and naproxen in agricultural soil following surface or sub-surface application of dewatered municipal biosolids. Sci Total Environ 512–513:480–488. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2015.01.075
- Butler E, Whelan MJ, Ritz K, Sakrabani R, van Egmond R (2011) Effects of triclosan on soil microbial respiration. Environ Toxicol Chem 30:360–366. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.405
- 127. Cha J, Cupples AM (2010) Triclocarban and triclosan biodegradation at field concentrations and the resulting leaching potentials in three agricultural soils. Chemosphere 81:494–499. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.07.040
- 128. Lozano N, Rice CP, Ramirez M, Torrents A (2013) Fate of triclocarban, triclosan and methyltriclosan during wastewater and biosolids treatment processes. Water Res 47:4519–4527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.05.015
- 129. Lozano N, Rice CP, Ramirez M, Torrents A (2010) Fate of triclosan in agricultural soils after biosolid applications. Chemosphere 78:760–766. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2009.10.043
- 130. Thelusmond JR, Strathmann TJ, Cupples AM (2019) Carbamazepine, triclocarban and triclosan biodegradation and the phylotypes and functional genes associated with xenobiotic degradation in four agricultural soils. Sci Total Environ 657:1138–1149. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2018.12.145

- 131. Walters E, McClellan K, Halden RU (2010) Occurrence and loss over three years of 72 pharmaceuticals and personal care products from biosolids-soil mixtures in outdoor mesocosms. Water Res 44:6011–6020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.07.051
- Waria M, O'Connor GA, Toor GS (2011) Biodegradation of triclosan in biosolids-amended soils. Environ Toxicol Chem 30:2488–2496. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.666
- 133. Ying GG, Yu XY, Kookana RS (2007) Biological degradation of triclocarban and triclosan in a soil under aerobic and anaerobic conditions and comparison with environmental fate modelling. Environ Pollut 150:300–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2007.02.013
- 134. Chen ZF, Ying GG, Ma YB, Lai HJ, Chen F, Pan CG (2013) Occurrence and dissipation of three azole biocides climbazole, clotrimazole and miconazole in biosolid-amended soils. Sci Total Environ 452–453:377–383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.03.004
- 135. García-Valcárcel AI, Tadeo JL (2012) Influence of moisture on the availability and persistence of clotrimazole and fluconazole in sludge-amended soil. Environ Toxicol Chem 31:501–507. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.1711
- 136. Sabourin L, Al-Rajab AJ, Chapman R, Lapen DR, Topp E (2011) Fate of the antifungal drug clotrimazole in agricultural soil. Environ Toxicol Chem 30:582–587. https://doi.org/10.1002/ etc.432
- 137. Brodin T, Piovano S, Fick J, Klaminder J, Heynen M, Jonsson M (2014) Ecological effects of pharmaceuticals in aquatic systems – impacts through behavioural alterations. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 369. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0580
- Fent K (2008) Effects of pharmaceuticals on aquatic organisms. In: Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Springer, Berlin, pp 175–203. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-74664-5_12
- 139. Gaw S, Thomas KV, Hutchinson TH (2014) Sources, impacts and trends of pharmaceuticals in the marine and coastal environment. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 369. https://doi.org/10. 1098/rstb.2013.0572
- 140. Patel M, Kumar R, Kishor K, Mlsna T, Pittman CU, Mohan D (2019) Pharmaceuticals of emerging concern in aquatic systems: chemistry, occurrence, effects, and removal methods. Chem Rev 119:3510–3673. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00299
- 141. Heuer H, Schmitt H, Smalla K (2011) Antibiotic resistance gene spread due to manure application on agricultural fields. Curr Opin Microbiol 14:236–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.mib.2011.04.009
- 142. Ghlichloo I, Gerriets V (2020) Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). In: Treatment of chronic pain conditions: a comprehensive handbook. Springer, New York, pp 77–79. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-6976-0_21
- 143. Farré M, Ferrer I, Ginebreda A, Figueras M, Olivella L, Tirapu L, Vilanova M, Barceló D (2001) Determination of drugs in surface water and wastewater samples by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry: methods and preliminary results including toxicity studies with Vibrio fischeri. J Chromatogr A:187–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(01) 01154-2
- 144. Kermia AEB, Fouial-Djebbar D, Trari M (2016) Occurrence, fate and removal efficiencies of pharmaceuticals in wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) discharging in the coastal environment of Algiers. C R Chim 19:963–970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crci.2016.05.005
- 145. Madikizela LM, Chimuka L (2017) Occurrence of naproxen, ibuprofen, and diclofenac residues in wastewater and river water of KwaZulu-Natal Province in South Africa. Environ Monit Assess 189:348. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-017-6069-1
- 146. Santos JL, Aparicio I, Alonso E (2007) Occurrence and risk assessment of pharmaceutically active compounds in wastewater treatment plants. A case study: Seville city (Spain). Environ Int 33:596–601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2006.09.014
- 147. Ternes TA (1998) Occurrence of drugs in German sewage treatment plants and rivers. Water Res 32:3245–3260. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(98)00099-2
- 148. Tewari S, Jindal R, Kho YL, Eo S, Choi K (2013) Major pharmaceutical residues in wastewater treatment plants and receiving waters in Bangkok, Thailand, and associated

ecological risks. Chemosphere 91:697–704. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.12. 042

- 149. Ghoshdastidar AJ, Fox S, Tong AZ (2015) The presence of the top prescribed pharmaceuticals in treated sewage effluents and receiving waters in southwest Nova Scotia, Canada. Environ Sci Pollut Res 22:689–700. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3400-z
- 150. Öllers S, Singer HP, Fässler P, Müller SR (2001) Simultaneous quantification of neutral and acidic pharmaceuticals and pesticides at the low-ng/l level in surface and waste water. J Chromatogr A 911:225–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(01)00514-3
- 151. Grenni P, Patrolecco L, Ademollo N, Di Lenola M, Barra Caracciolo A (2014) Capability of the natural microbial community in a river water ecosystem to degrade the drug naproxen. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21:13470–13479. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3276-y
- 152. Grenni P, Patrolecco L, Ademollo N, Tolomei A, Barra Caracciolo A (2013) Degradation of gemfibrozil and naproxen in a river water ecosystem. Microchem J 107:158–164. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.microc.2012.06.008
- 153. Cruz-Morató C, Ferrando-Climent L, Rodriguez-Mozaz S, Barceló D, Marco-Urrea E, Vicent T, Sarrà M (2013) Degradation of pharmaceuticals in non-sterile urban wastewater by Trametes versicolor in a fluidized bed bioreactor. Water Res 47:5200–5210. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.watres.2013.06.007
- 154. Ding T, Lin K, Yang B, Yang M, Li J, Li W, Gan J (2017) Biodegradation of naproxen by freshwater algae Cymbella sp. and Scenedesmus quadricauda and the comparative toxicity. Bioresour Technol 238:164–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.04.018
- 155. Marco-Urrea E, Pérez-Trujillo M, Blánquez P, Vicent T, Caminal G (2010) Biodegradation of the analgesic naproxen by Trametes versicolor and identification of intermediates using HPLC-DAD-MS and NMR. Bioresour Technol 101:2159–2166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2009.11.019
- 156. Rodarte-Morales AI, Feijoo G, Moreira MT, Lema JM (2012) Biotransformation of three pharmaceutical active compounds by the fungus Phanerochaete chrysosporium in a fed batch stirred reactor under air and oxygen supply. Biodegradation 23:145–156. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10532-011-9494-9
- 157. Wojcieszyńska D, Domaradzka D, Hupert-Kocurek K, Guzik U (2014) Bacterial degradation of naproxen – undisclosed pollutant in the environment. J Environ Manage 145:157–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.06.023
- Wojcieszyńska D, Guzik U (2020) Naproxen in the environment: its occurrence, toxicity to nontarget organisms and biodegradation. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 104:1849–1857. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00253-019-10343-x
- Wang S, Gunsch CK (2011) Effects of selected pharmaceutically active compounds on the ammonia oxidizing bacterium Nitrosomonas europaea. Chemosphere 82:565–572. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.10.007
- 160. Cycon M, Borymski S, Zolnierczyk B, Piotrowska-Seget Z (2016) Variable effects of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) on selected biochemical processes mediated by soil microorganisms. Front Microbiol 7:1969. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01969
- 161. Sanganyado E, Lu Z, Fu Q, Schlenk D, Gan J (2017) Chiral pharmaceuticals: a review on their environmental occurrence and fate processes. Water Res 124:527–542. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.watres.2017.08.003
- 162. Wong CS (2006) Environmental fate processes and biochemical transformations of chiral emerging organic pollutants. Anal Bioanal Chem 386:544–558. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00216-006-0424-3
- 163. Zhou Y, Wu S, Zhou H, Huang H, Zhao J, Deng Y, Wang H, Yang Y, Yang J, Luo L (2018) Chiral pharmaceuticals: environment sources, potential human health impacts, remediation technologies and future perspective. Environ Int 121:523–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envint.2018.09.041

- 164. Baillie TA, Adams WJ, Kaiser DG, Olanoff LS, Halstead GW, Harpootlian H, Van Giessen GJ (1989) Mechanistic studies of the metabolic chiral inversion of (R)-ibuprofen in humans. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 249:517–523
- 165. Hao H, Wang G, Sun J (2005) Enantioselective pharmacokinetics of ibuprofen and involved mechanisms. Drug Metab Rev 37:215–234. https://doi.org/10.1081/dmr-200047999
- 166. Buser HR, Poiger T, Muller MD (1999) Occurrence and environmental behavior of the chiral pharmaceutical drug ibuprofen in surface waters and in wastewater. Environ Sci Technol 33:2529–2535. https://doi.org/10.1021/es981014w
- 167. Khan SJ, Wang L, Hashim NH, Mcdonald JA (2014) Distinct enantiomeric signals of ibuprofen and naproxen in treated wastewater and sewer overflow. Chirality 26:739–746. https://doi.org/10.1002/chir.22258
- 168. Camacho-Muñoz D, Kasprzyk-Hordern B (2015) Multi-residue enantiomeric analysis of human and veterinary pharmaceuticals and their metabolites in environmental samples by chiral liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry detection. Anal Bioanal Chem 407:9085–9104. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-015-9075-6
- 169. Moeder M, Schrader S, Winkler M, Popp P (2000) Solid-phase microextraction-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry of biologically active substances in water samples. J Chromatogr A 873:95–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(99)01256-X
- 170. Winkler M, Lawrence JR, Neu TR (2001) Selective degradation of ibuprofen and clofibric acid in two model river biofilm systems. Water Res 35:3197–3205. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(01)00026-4
- 171. Żur J, Piński A, Marchlewicz A, Hupert-Kocurek K, Wojcieszyńska D, Guzik U (2018) Organic micropollutants paracetamol and ibuprofen – toxicity, biodegradation, and genetic background of their utilization by bacteria. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25:21498–21524. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-2517-x
- 172. Chen Y, Rosazza JPN (1994) Microbial transformation of ibuprofen by a Nocardia species. Appl Environ Microbiol 60:1292–1296. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.60.4.1292-1296.1994
- 173. Marco-Urrea E, Pérez-Trujillo M, Vicent T, Caminal G (2009) Ability of white-rot fungi to remove selected pharmaceuticals and identification of degradation products of ibuprofen by Trametes versicolor. Chemosphere 74:765–772. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008. 10.040
- 174. Lin AY-C, Plumlee MH, Reinhard M (2006) Natural attenuation of pharmaceuticals and alkylphenol polyethoxylate metabolites during river transport: photochemical and biological transformation. Environ Toxicol Chem 25:1458. https://doi.org/10.1897/05-412R.1
- 175. Ashfaq M, Nawaz Khan K, Saif Ur Rehman M, Mustafa G, Faizan Nazar M, Sun Q, Iqbal J, Mulla SI, Yu CP (2017) Ecological risk assessment of pharmaceuticals in the receiving environment of pharmaceutical wastewater in Pakistan. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 136:31–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2016.10.029
- 176. Calderón-Preciado D, Matamoros V, Bayona JM (2011) Occurrence and potential crop uptake of emerging contaminants and related compounds in an agricultural irrigation network. Sci Total Environ 412–413:14–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.09.057
- 177. Sanyal AK, Roy D, Chowdhury B, Banerjee AB (1993) Ibuprofen, a unique anti-inflammatory compound with antifungal activity against dermatophytes. Lett Appl Microbiol 17:109–111. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.1993.tb01436.x
- 178. Elvers KT, Wright SJL (1995) Antibacterial activity of the anti-inflammatory compound ibuprofen. Lett Appl Microbiol 20:82–84. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-765X.1995. tb01291.x
- 179. Hussein A, AL-Janabi S (2010) In Vitro antibacterial activity of ibuprofen and acetaminophen. J Glob Infect Dis 2:105. https://doi.org/10.4103/0974-777x.62880
- Lawrence JR, Swerhone GDW, Wassenaar LI, Neu TR (2005) Effects of selected pharmaceuticals on riverine biofilm communities. Can J Microbiol 51:655–669. https://doi.org/10. 1139/w05-047

- Veach A, Bernot MJ, Mitchell JK (2012) The influence of six pharmaceuticals on freshwater sediment microbial growth incubated at different temperatures and UV exposures. Biodegradation 23:497–507. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10532-011-9528-3
- 182. Corcoll N, Acuña V, Barceló D, Casellas M, Guasch H, Huerta B, Petrovic M, Ponsatí L, Rodríguez-Mozaz S, Sabater S (2014) Pollution-induced community tolerance to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) in fluvial biofilm communities affected by WWTP effluents. Chemosphere 112:185–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014. 03.128
- 183. Jiang C, Geng J, Hu H, Ma H, Gao X, Ren H (2017) Impact of selected non-steroidal antiinflammatory pharmaceuticals on microbial community assembly and activity in sequencing batch reactors. PLoS One 12:e0179236. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0179236
- 184. Stuer-Lauridsen F, Birkved M, Hansen LP, Holten Lützhøft HC, Halling-Sørensen B (2000) Environmental risk assessment of human pharmaceuticals in Denmark after normal therapeutic use. Chemosphere 40:783–793. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(99)00453-1
- 185. European Commision (EC) (2012) Report from the Commission to the European parliament and the Council on the outcome of the review of Annex X to Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on priority substances in the field of water policy [WWW Document]. Resources. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11837-012-0378-1
- 186. Joss A, Keller E, Alder AC, Göbel A, McArdell CS, Ternes T, Siegrist H (2005) Removal of pharmaceuticals and fragrances in biological wastewater treatment. Water Res 39:3139–3152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.05.031
- 187. Paxéus N (2004) Removal of selected non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), gemfibrozil, carbamazepine, β-blockers, trimethoprim and triclosan in conventional wastewater treatment plants in five EU countries and their discharge to the aquatic environment. Water Sci Technol 50:253–260. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2004.0335
- Zhang Y, Geißen SU, Gal C (2008) Carbamazepine and diclofenac: removal in wastewater treatment plants and occurrence in water bodies. Chemosphere 73:1151–1161. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.07.086
- 189. Azzouz A, Ballesteros E (2012) Combined microwave-assisted extraction and continuous solid-phase extraction prior to gas chromatography-mass spectrometry determination of pharmaceuticals, personal care products and hormones in soils, sediments and sludge. Sci Total Environ 419:208–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.12.058
- 190. Christou A, Karaolia P, Hapeshi E, Michael C, Fatta-Kassinos D (2017) Long-term wastewater irrigation of vegetables in real agricultural systems: concentration of pharmaceuticals in soil, uptake and bioaccumulation in tomato fruits and human health risk assessment. Water Res 109:24–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.11.033
- 191. Gavrilescu M, Demnerová K, Aamand J, Agathos S, Fava F (2015) Emerging pollutants in the environment: present and future challenges in biomonitoring, ecological risks and bioremediation. N Biotechnol 32:147–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2014.01.001
- 192. Sathishkumar P, Meena RAA, Palanisami T, Ashokkumar V, Palvannan T, Gu FL (2020) Occurrence, interactive effects and ecological risk of diclofenac in environmental compartments and biota – a review. Sci Total Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019. 134057
- 193. Johnson AC, Dumont E, Williams RJ, Oldenkamp R, Cisowska I, Sumpter JP (2013) Do concentrations of ethinylestradiol, estradiol, and diclofenac in European rivers exceed proposed EU environmental quality standards? Environ Sci Technol 47:12297–12304. https://doi. org/10.1021/es4030035
- 194. Lonappan L, Brar SK, Das RK, Verma M, Surampalli RY (2016) Diclofenac and its transformation products: environmental occurrence and toxicity – a review. Environ Int 96:127–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.09.014
- 195. Sousa JCG, Ribeiro AR, Barbosa MO, Pereira MFR, Silva AMT (2018) A review on environmental monitoring of water organic pollutants identified by EU guidelines. J Hazard Mater. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2017.09.058

- 196. Domaradzka D, Guzik U, Wojcieszyńska D (2015) Biodegradation and biotransformation of polycyclic non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 14:229–239. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-015-9364-8
- 197. Hata T, Kawai S, Okamura H, Nishida T (2010) Removal of diclofenac and mefenamic acid by the white rot fungus Phanerochaete sordida YK-624 and identification of their metabolites after fungal transformation. Biodegradation 21:681–689. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10532-010-9334-3
- 198. Marco-Urrea E, Pérez-Trujillo M, Cruz-Morató C, Caminal G, Vicent T (2010) Degradation of the drug sodium diclofenac by Trametes versicolor pellets and identification of some intermediates by NMR. J Hazard Mater 176:836–842. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.11. 112
- 199. Rodarte-Morales AI, Feijoo G, Moreira MT, Lema JM (2011) Degradation of selected pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) by white-rot fungi. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 27:1839–1846. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-010-0642-x
- 200. Webster R, Pacey M, Winchester T, Johnson P, Jezequel S (1998) Microbial oxidative metabolism of diclofenac: production of 4'-hydroxydiclofenac using Epicoccum nigrum IMI354292. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 49:371–376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002530051184
- 201. Stylianou K, Hapeshi E, Vasquez MI, Fatta-Kassinos D, Vyrides I (2018) Diclofenac biodegradation by newly isolated Klebsiella sp. KSC: microbial intermediates and ecotoxicological assessment. J Environ Chem Eng 6:3242–3248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2018.04.052
- 202. Domaradzka D, Guzik U, Hupert-Kocurek K, Wojcieszyńska D (2016) Toxicity of diclofenac and its biotransformation by Raoultella sp. DD4. Pol J Environ Stud 25:2211–2216. https:// doi.org/10.15244/pjoes/62681
- 203. Ivshina IB, Tyumina EA, Kuzmina MV, Vikhareva EV (2019) Features of diclofenac biodegradation by Rhodococcus ruber IEGM 346. Sci Rep 9:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-45732-9
- 204. Osorio-Lozada A, Surapaneni S, Skiles GL, Subramanian R (2008) Biosynthesis of drug metabolites using microbes in hollow fiber cartridge reactors: case study of diclofenac metabolism by actinoplanes species. Drug Metab Dispos 36:234–240. https://doi.org/10. 1124/dmd.107.019323
- 205. Palyzová A, Zahradník J, Marešová H, Sokolová L, Kyslíková E, Grulich M, Štěpánek V, Řezanka T, Kyslík P (2018) Potential of the strain Raoultella sp. KDF8 for removal of analgesics. Folia Microbiol (Praha) 63:273–282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12223-017-0563-2
- 206. Dutta NK, Kumar KA, Mazumdar K, Dastidar SG, Ray R, Chakrabarty AN (2004) In vitro and in vivo antimycobacterial activity of antiinflammatory drug, diclofenac sodium. Indian J Exp Biol 42:922–927
- 207. Salem-Milani A, Balaei-Gajan E, Rahimi S, Moosavi Z, Abdollahi A, Zakeri-Milani P, Bolourian M (2013) Antibacterial effect of diclofenac sodium on Enterococcus faecalis. J Dent (Tehran) 10:16–22
- Bhattacharya S, Akula Y, Mitongo GM, Khorram Q (2017) Comparison between effects of antibiotics, NSAIDs and their mixture on the growth of microorganisms. Porto Biomed J 2:176–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbj.2017.07.006
- 209. Mazumdar K, Dutta NK, Dastidar SG, Motohashi N, Shirataki Y (2006) Diclofenac in the management of E. coli urinary tract infections. In Vivo (Brooklyn) 20:613–620
- 210. Dastidar SG, Ganguly K, Chaudhuri K, Chakrabarty AN (2000) The anti-bacterial action of diclofenac shown by inhibition of DNA synthesis. Int J Antimicrob Agents 14:249–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-8579(99)00159-4
- 211. Dutta NK, Annadurai S, Mazumdar K, Dastidar SG, Kristiansen JE, Molnar J, Martins M, Amaral L (2007) Potential management of resistant microbial infections with a novel non-antibiotic: the anti-inflammatory drug diclofenac sodium. Int J Antimicrob Agents 30:242–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2007.04.018

- 212. Dutta NK, Mazumdar K, Dastidar SG, Park JH (2007) Activity of diclofenac used alone and in combination with streptomycin against Mycobacterium tuberculosis in mice. Int J Antimicrob Agents 30:336–340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2007.04.016
- 213. Thelusmond JR, Strathmann TJ, Cupples AM (2016) The identification of carbamazepine biodegrading phylotypes and phylotypes sensitive to carbamazepine exposure in two soil microbial communities. Sci Total Environ 571:1241–1252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2016.07.154
- 214. Anderson BJ (2008) Paracetamol (Acetaminophen): mechanisms of action. Pediatr Anesth 18:915–921. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9592.2008.02764.x
- Jozwiak-Bebenista M, Nowak JZ (2014) Paracetamol: mechanism of action, applications and safety concern. Acta Pol Pharm Drug Res 71:11–23
- 216. Bound JP, Voulvoulis N (2006) Predicted and measured concentrations for selected pharmaceuticals in UK rivers: implications for risk assessment. Water Res 40:2885–2892. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.watres.2006.05.036
- 217. Chinnaiyan P, Thampi SG, Kumar M, Mini KM (2018) Pharmaceutical products as emerging contaminant in water: relevance for developing nations and identification of critical compounds for Indian environment. Environ Monit Assess 190:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10661-018-6672-9
- 218. Gómez MJ, Martínez Bueno MJ, Lacorte S, Fernández-Alba AR, Agüera A (2007) Pilot survey monitoring pharmaceuticals and related compounds in a sewage treatment plant located on the Mediterranean coast. Chemosphere 66:993–1002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2006.07.051
- 219. Gros M, Petrović M, Barceló D (2006) Development of a multi-residue analytical methodology based on liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) for screening and trace level determination of pharmaceuticals in surface and wastewaters. Talanta 70:678–690. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2006.05.024
- 220. Grujić S, Vasiljević T, Laušević M (2009) Determination of multiple pharmaceutical classes in surface and ground waters by liquid chromatography-ion trap-tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1216:4989–5000. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2009.04.059
- 221. Khetan SK, Collins TJ (2007) Human pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment: a challenge to green chemistry. Chem Rev 107:2319–2364. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr020441w
- 222. Kolpin DW, Furlong ET, Meyer MT, Thurman EM, Zaugg SD, Barber LB, Buxton HT (2002) Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in U.S. streams, 1999-2000: a national reconnaissance. Environ Sci Technol 36:1202–1211. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/es011055j
- 223. Kosma CI, Lambropoulou DA, Albanis TA (2010) Occurrence and removal of PPCPs in municipal and hospital wastewaters in Greece. J Hazard Mater 179:804–817. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.03.075
- 224. Luo Y, Guo W, Ngo HH, Nghiem LD, Hai FI, Zhang J, Liang S, Wang XC (2014) A review on the occurrence of micropollutants in the aquatic environment and their fate and removal during wastewater treatment. Sci Total Environ 473–474:619–641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2013.12.065
- 225. Mutiyar PK, Gupta SK, Mittal AK (2018) Fate of pharmaceutical active compounds (PhACs) from River Yamuna, India: an ecotoxicological risk assessment approach. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 150:297–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.12.041
- 226. Roberts PH, Thomas KV (2006) The occurrence of selected pharmaceuticals in wastewater effluent and surface waters of the lower Tyne catchment. Sci Total Environ 356:143–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.04.031
- 227. Wiegel S, Aulinger A, Brockmeyer R, Harms H, Löffler J, Reincke H, Schmidt R, Stachel B, Von Tümpling W, Wanke A (2004) Pharmaceuticals in the river Elbe and its tributaries. Chemosphere 57:107–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2004.05.017
- 228. Esterhuizen-Londt M, Schwartz K, Pflugmacher S (2016) Using aquatic fungi for pharmaceutical bioremediation: uptake of acetaminophen by Mucor hiemalis does not result in an

enzymatic oxidative stress response. Fungal Biol 120:1249–1257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. funbio.2016.07.009

- 229. Hart A, Orr DL (1975) The degradation of paracetamol (4-hydroxyacetanilide) and other substituted acetanilides by a Penicillium species. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 41:239–247. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02565059
- 230. Chopra S, Kumar D (2020) Characterization, optimization and kinetics study of acetaminophen degradation by Bacillus drentensis strain S1 and waste water degradation analysis. Bioresour Bioprocess 7:9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40643-020-0297-x
- 231. Hu J, Zhou L, Zhou Q, Wei F, Zhang L, Chen J (2012) Biodegradation of paracetamol by aerobic granules in a sequencing batch reactor (SBR). Adv Mat Res 441:531–535
- 232. Wei F, Zhou Q, Leng S, Zhang L, Chen J (2011) Isolation, identification and biodegradation characteristics of a new bacterial strain degrading paracetamol. Environ Sci 32:1813–1819
- 233. Wu S, Zhang L, Chen J (2012) Paracetamol in the environment and its degradation by microorganisms. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 96:875–884. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-012-4414-4
- 234. De Oliveira LLD, Antunes SC, Gonçalves F, Rocha O, Nunes B (2016) Acute and chronic ecotoxicological effects of four pharmaceuticals drugs on cladoceran Daphnia magna. Drug Chem Toxicol 39:13–21. https://doi.org/10.3109/01480545.2015.1029048
- 235. Kim Y, Choi K, Jung J, Park S, Kim PG, Park J (2007) Aquatic toxicity of acetaminophen, carbamazepine, cimetidine, diltiazem and six major sulfonamides, and their potential ecological risks in Korea. Environ Int 33:370–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2006.11.017
- 236. Nunes B, Antunes SC, Santos J, Martins L, Castro BB (2014) Toxic potential of paracetamol to freshwater organisms: a headache to environmental regulators? Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 107:178–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.05.027
- 237. Alvarino T, Katsou E, Malamis S, Suarez S, Omil F, Fatone F (2014) Inhibition of biomass activity in the via nitrite nitrogen removal processes by veterinary pharmaceuticals. Bioresour Technol 152:477–483. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.10.107
- Calisto V, Esteves VI (2009) Psychiatric pharmaceuticals in the environment. Chemosphere 77:1257–1274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.09.021
- 239. Kinney CA, Furlong ET, Werner SL, Cahill JD (2006) Presence and distribution of wastewater-derived pharmaceuticals in soil irrigated with reclaimed water. Environ Toxicol Chem 25:317. https://doi.org/10.1897/05-187R.1
- 240. Kinney CA, Furlong ET, Zaugg SD, Burkhardt MR, Werner SL, Cahill JD, Jorgensen GR (2006) Survey of organic wastewater contaminants in biosolids destined for land application. Environ Sci Technol 40:7207–7215. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0603406
- 241. Schultz MM, Furlong ET (2008) Trace analysis of antidepressant pharmaceuticals and their select degradates in aquatic matrixes by LC/ESI/MS/MS. Anal Chem 80:1756–1762. https:// doi.org/10.1021/ac702154e
- 242. Silva LJG, Lino CM, Meisel LM, Pena A (2012) Selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors (SSRIs) in the aquatic environment: an ecopharmacovigilance approach. Sci Total Environ 437:185–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.08.021
- 243. Kwon J-W, Armbrust KL (2006) Laboratory persistence and fate of fluoxetine in aquatic environments. Environ Toxicol Chem 25:2561. https://doi.org/10.1897/05-613R.1
- 244. Styrishave B, Halling-Sørensen B, Ingerslev F (2011) Environmental risk assessment of three selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors in the aquatic environment: a case study including a cocktail scenario. Environ Toxicol Chem 30:254–261. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.372
- 245. Ribeiro AR, Afonso CM, Castro PML, Tiritan ME (2013) Enantioselective HPLC analysis and biodegradation of atenolol, metoprolol and fluoxetine. Environ Chem Lett 11:83–90. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10311-012-0383-1
- 246. Velázquez YF, Nacheva PM (2017) Biodegradability of fluoxetine, mefenamic acid, and metoprolol using different microbial consortiums. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24:6779–6793. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-8413-y

- Benotti MJ, Brownawell BJ (2009) Microbial degradation of pharmaceuticals in estuarine and coastal seawater. Environ Pollut 157:994–1002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2008.10.009
- 248. Suarez S, Lema JM, Omil F (2010) Removal of pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) under nitrifying and denitrifying conditions. Water Res 44:3214–3224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.02.040
- 249. Suárez S, Reif R, Lema JM, Omil F (2012) Mass balance of pharmaceutical and personal care products in a pilot-scale single-sludge system: influence of T, SRT and recirculation ratio. Chemosphere 89:164–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.05.094
- 250. Beretsou VG, Psoma AK, Gago-Ferrero P, Aalizadeh R, Fenner K, Thomaidis NS (2016) Identification of biotransformation products of citalopram formed in activated sludge. Water Res 103:205–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.07.029
- 251. Brooks BW, Foran CM, Richards SM, Weston J, Turner PK, Stanley JK, Solomon KR, Slattery M, La Point TW (2003) Aquatic ecotoxicology of fluoxetine. Toxicol Lett 142:169–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4274(03)00066-3
- 252. Sehonova P, Svobodova Z, Dolezelova P, Vosmerova P, Faggio C (2018) Effects of waterborne antidepressants on non-target animals living in the aquatic environment: a review. Sci Total Environ 631–632:789–794. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.076
- 253. Silva LJG, Pereira AMPT, Meisel LM, Lino CM, Pena A (2015) Reviewing the serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) footprint in the aquatic biota: uptake, bioaccumulation and ecotoxicology. Environ Pollut 197:127–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2014.12.002
- 254. Fong PP, Ford AT (2014) The biological effects of antidepressants on the molluscs and crustaceans: a review. Aquat Toxicol 151:4–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2013.12. 003
- 255. Schultz MM, Painter MM, Bartell SE, Logue A, Furlong ET, Werner SL, Schoenfuss HL (2011) Selective uptake and biological consequences of environmentally relevant antidepressant pharmaceutical exposures on male fathead minnows. Aquat Toxicol 104:38–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2011.03.011
- 256. Munoz-Bellido JL, Munoz-Criado S, García-Rodríguez JA (2000) Antimicrobial activity of psychotropic drugs. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. Int J Antimicrob Agents 14:177–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-8579(99)00154-5
- 257. Karine de Sousa A, Rocha JE, Gonçalves de Souza T, Sampaio de Freitas T, Ribeiro-Filho J, Melo Coutinho HD (2018) New roles of fluoxetine in pharmacology: antibacterial effect and modulation of antibiotic activity. Microb Pathog 123:368–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. micpath.2018.07.040
- 258. Lukić I, Getselter D, Ziv O, Oron O, Reuveni E, Koren O, Elliott E (2019) Antidepressants affect gut microbiota and Ruminococcus flavefaciens is able to abolish their effects on depressive-like behavior. Transl Psychiatry 9:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-019-0466-x
- Macdonald RL, McLean MJ (1986) Anticonvulsant drugs: mechanisms of action. Adv Neurol 44:713–736
- 260. Scheytt T, Mersmann P, Lindstädt R, Heberer T (2005) 1-Octanol/water partition coefficients of 5 pharmaceuticals from human medical care: carbamazepine, clofibric acid, diclofenac, ibuprofen, and propyphenazone. Water Air Soil Pollut 165:3–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11270-005-3539-9
- 261. Clara M, Strenn B, Gans O, Martinez E, Kreuzinger N, Kroiss H (2005) Removal of selected pharmaceuticals, fragrances and endocrine disrupting compounds in a membrane bioreactor and conventional wastewater treatment plants. Water Res 39:4797–4807. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.watres.2005.09.015
- 262. Matsuo H, Sakamoto H, Arizono K, Shinohara R (2011) Behavior of pharmaceuticals in waste water treatment plant in Japan. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 87:31–35. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00128-011-0299-7

- 263. Miao XS, Yang JJ, Metcalfe CD (2005) Carbamazepine and its metabolites in wastewater and in biosolids in a municipal wastewater treatment plant. Environ Sci Technol 39:7469–7475. https://doi.org/10.1021/es050261e
- 264. Clara M, Strenn B, Kreuzinger N (2004) Carbamazepine as a possible anthropogenic marker in the aquatic environment: investigations on the behaviour of Carbamazepine in wastewater treatment and during groundwater infiltration. Water Res 38:947–954. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.watres.2003.10.058
- 265. Nakada N, Kiri K, Shinohara H, Harada A, Kuroda K, Takizawa S, Takada H (2008) Evaluation of pharmaceuticals and personal care products as water-soluble molecular markers of sewage. Environ Sci Technol 42:6347–6353. https://doi.org/10.1021/es7030856
- 266. Tran NH, Li J, Hu J, Ong SL (2014) Occurrence and suitability of pharmaceuticals and personal care products as molecular markers for raw wastewater contamination in surface water and groundwater. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21:4727–4740. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11356-013-2428-9
- 267. Williams CF, McLain JET (2012) Soil persistence and fate of carbamazepine, lincomycin, caffeine, and ibuprofen from wastewater reuse. J Environ Qual 41:1473–1480. https://doi.org/ 10.2134/jeq2011.0353
- 268. Maeng SK, Sharma SK, Abel CDT, Magic-Knezev A, Amy GL (2011) Role of biodegradation in the removal of pharmaceutically active compounds with different bulk organic matter characteristics through managed aquifer recharge: batch and column studies. Water Res 45:4722–4736. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.05.043
- 269. Buchicchio A, Bianco G, Sofo A, Masi S, Caniani D (2016) Biodegradation of carbamazepine and clarithromycin by Trichoderma harzianum and Pleurotus ostreatus investigated by liquid chromatography – high-resolution tandem mass spectrometry (FTICR MS-IRMPD). Sci Total Environ 557–558:733–739. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.119
- 270. Golan-Rozen N, Seiwert B, Riemenschneider C, Reemtsma T, Chefetz B, Hadar Y (2015) Transformation pathways of the recalcitrant pharmaceutical compound carbamazepine by the white-rot fungus Pleurotus ostreatus: effects of growth conditions. Environ Sci Technol 49:12351–12362. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b02222
- 271. Jelic A, Cruz-Morató C, Marco-Urrea E, Sarrà M, Perez S, Vicent T, Petrović M, Barcelo D (2012) Degradation of carbamazepine by Trametes versicolor in an air pulsed fluidized bed bioreactor and identification of intermediates. Water Res 46:955–964. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.watres.2011.11.063
- 272. Kang SI, Kang SY, Hur HG (2008) Identification of fungal metabolites of anticonvulsant drug carbamazepine. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 79:663–669. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-008-1459-5
- 273. Rodríguez-Rodríguez CE, Marco-Urrea E, Caminal G (2010) Degradation of naproxen and carbamazepine in spiked sludge by slurry and solid-phase Trametes versicolor systems. Bioresour Technol 101:2259–2266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.11.089
- 274. Ha H, Mahanty B, Yoon S, Kim CG (2016) Degradation of the long-resistant pharmaceutical compounds carbamazepine and diatrizoate using mixed microbial culture. J Environ Sci Heal A Toxic/Hazardous Subst Environ Eng 51:467–471. https://doi.org/10.1080/10934529.2015. 1128712
- 275. Kittelmann M, Lattmann R, Ghisalba O (1993) Preparation of 10,11-epoxy-carbamazepine and 10,11-dihydro-10-hydroxy-carbamazepine by microbial epoxidation and hydroxylation. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 57:1589–1590. https://doi.org/10.1271/bbb.57.1589
- 276. Gauthier H, Cooper DG, Yargeau V (2008) Biodegradation of pharmaceuticals by common microorganisms. In: WIT transactions on ecology and the environment. WIT Press, Southampton, pp 263–271. https://doi.org/10.2495/WP080261
- 277. Nasir NM, Talib SA, Hashim SN, Tay CC (2018) Biodegradation of carbamazepine using fungi and bacteria. J Fundam Appl Sci 9:124. https://doi.org/10.4314/jfas.v9i6s.12

- 278. Sauvêtre A, May R, Harpaintner R, Poschenrieder C, Schröder P (2018) Metabolism of carbamazepine in plant roots and endophytic rhizobacteria isolated from Phragmites australis. J Hazard Mater 342:85–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2017.08.006
- Sauvêtre A, Schröder P (2015) Uptake of carbamazepine by rhizomes and endophytic bacteria of Phragmites australis. Front Plant Sci 6:83. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2015.00083
- 280. Wang Y, Lu J, Mao L, Li J, Yuan Z, Bond PL, Guo J (2019) Antiepileptic drug carbamazepine promotes horizontal transfer of plasmid-borne multi-antibiotic resistance genes within and across bacterial genera. ISME J 13:509–522. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-018-0275-x
- Kapoor G, Saigal S, Elongavan A (2017) Action and resistance mechanisms of antibiotics: a guide for clinicians. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol 33:300–305. https://doi.org/10.4103/ joacp.JOACP_349_15
- 282. Moulin G, Cavalié P, Pellanne I, Chevance A, Laval A, Millemann Y, Colin P, Chauvin C, Antimicrobial Resistance ad hoc Group of the French Food Safety Agency (2008) A comparison of antimicrobial usage in human and veterinary medicine in France from 1999 to 2005. J Antimicrob Chemother 62:617–625. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkn213
- 283. Chang Q, Wang W, Regev-Yochay G, Lipsitch M, Hanage WP (2015) Antibiotics in agriculture and the risk to human health: how worried should we be? Evol Appl 8:240–247. https:// doi.org/10.1111/eva.12185
- Manyi-Loh C, Mamphweli S, Meyer E, Okoh A (2018) Antibiotic use in agriculture and its consequential resistance in environmental sources: potential public health implications. Molecules 23. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23040795
- 285. Stockwell VO, Duffy B (2012) Use of antibiotics in plant agriculture. OIE Rev Sci Tech 31:199–210. https://doi.org/10.20506/rst.31.1.2104
- 286. Lulijwa R, Rupia EJ, Alfaro AC (2019) Antibiotic use in aquaculture, policies and regulation, health and environmental risks: a review of the top 15 major producers. Rev Aquac 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12344
- 287. Vincent AT, Gauthier J, Derome N, Charette SJ (2019) The rise and fall of antibiotics in aquaculture. In: Microbial communities in aquaculture ecosystems. Springer, Cham, pp 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-16190-3_1
- Dibner JJ, Richards JD (2005) Antibiotic growth promoters in agriculture: history and mode of action. Poult Sci 84:634–643. https://doi.org/10.1093/ps/84.4.634
- Hao H, Cheng G, Iqbal Z, Ai X, Hussain HI, Huang L, Dai M, Wang Y, Liu Z, Yuan Z (2014) Benefits and risks of antimicrobial use in food-producing animals. Front Microbiol 5. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00288
- 290. Jay JM (1995) Antimicrobial food preservatives. In: Handbook of biocide and preservative use. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 334–348. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-1354-0_12
- 291. Al-Jassim N, Hong P-Y (2017) Potential dissemination of ARB and ARGs into soil through the use of treated wastewater for agricultural irrigation: is it a true cause for concern? In: Hashmi M, Strezov V, V.A. (eds) Antibiotics and antibiotics resistance genes in soils. Soil biology, vol 51. Springer, Cham, pp 105–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-66260-2_7
- 292. Amador PP, Fernandes RM, Prudêncio MC, Barreto MP, Duarte IM (2015) Antibiotic resistance in wastewater: occurrence and fate of Enterobacteriaceae producers of class A and class C β-lactamases. J Environ Sci Heal A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng 50:26–39. https:// doi.org/10.1080/10934529.2015.964602
- 293. Bouki C, Venieri D, Diamadopoulos E (2013) Detection and fate of antibiotic resistant bacteria in wastewater treatment plants: a review. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 91:1–9. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ecoenv.2013.01.016
- 294. Pan M, Chu LM (2017) Transfer of antibiotics from wastewater or animal manure to soil and edible crops. Environ Pollut 231:829–836. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.08.051
- 295. Pazda M, Kumirska J, Stepnowski P, Mulkiewicz E (2019) Antibiotic resistance genes identified in wastewater treatment plant systems – a review. Sci Total Environ 697:134023. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134023

- 296. Schwartz T, Kohnen W, Jansen B, Obst U (2003) Detection of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and their resistance genes in wastewater, surface water, and drinking water biofilms. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 43:325–335. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2003.tb01073.x
- 297. Wang W, Zhang W, Liang H, Gao D (2019) Occurrence and fate of typical antibiotics in wastewater treatment plants in Harbin, North-east China. Front Environ Sci Eng 13:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11783-019-1118-3
- 298. Ding Y, Zhang W, Gu C, Xagoraraki I, Li H (2011) Determination of pharmaceuticals in biosolids using accelerated solvent extraction and liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1218:10–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2010.10.112
- 299. Jones-Lepp TL, Stevens R (2007) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in biosolids/ sewage sludge: the interface between analytical chemistry and regulation. In: Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry. Springer, New York, pp 1173–1183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-006-0942-z
- 300. Munir M, Wong K, Xagoraraki I (2011) Release of antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes in the effluent and biosolids of five wastewater utilities in Michigan. Water Res 45:681–693. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.08.033
- 301. Yang L, Liu W, Zhu D, Hou J, Ma T, Wu L, Zhu Y, Christie P (2018) Application of biosolids drives the diversity of antibiotic resistance genes in soil and lettuce at harvest. Soil Biol Biochem 122:131–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2018.04.017
- 302. Cheng M, Wu L, Huang Y, Luo Y, Christie P (2014) Total concentrations of heavy metals and occurrence of antibiotics in sewage sludges from cities throughout China. J Soil Sediment 14:1123–1135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-014-0850-3
- 303. Göbel A, Thomsen A, McArdell CS, Alder AC, Giger W, Theiß N, Löffler D, Ternes TA (2005) Extraction and determination of sulfonamides, macrolides, and trimethoprim in sewage sludge. J Chromatogr A 1085:179–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2005.05.051
- 304. Hölzel CS, Schwaiger K, Harms K, Küchenhoff H, Kunz A, Meyer K, Müller C, Bauer J (2010) Sewage sludge and liquid pig manure as possible sources of antibiotic resistant bacteria. Environ Res 110:318–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2010.02.009
- 305. Li W, Shi Y, Gao L, Liu J, Cai Y (2013) Occurrence, distribution and potential affecting factors of antibiotics in sewage sludge of wastewater treatment plants in China. Sci Total Environ 445–446:306–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.12.050
- 306. Lillenberg M, Yurchenko S, Kipper K, Herodes K, Pihl V, Lõhmus R, Ivask M, Kuu A, Kutti S, Litvin SV, Nei L (2010) Presence of fluoroquinolones and sulfonamides in urban sewage sludge and their degradation as a result of composting. Int J Environ Sci Technol 7:307–312. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03326140
- 307. Núñez-Delgado A, Pousada-Ferradás Y, Álvarez-Rodríguez E, Fernández-Sanjurjo MJ, Conde-Cid M, Nóvoa-Muñoz JC, Arias-Estévez M (2019) Effects of microbiological and non-microbiological treatments of sewage sludge on antibiotics as emerging pollutants present in wastewater: a review. In: Microbial wastewater treatment. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816809-7.00001-4
- 308. Reinthaler FF, Posch J, Feierl G, Wüst G, Haas D, Ruckenbauer G, Mascher F, Marth E (2003) Antibiotic resistance of E. coli in sewage and sludge. Water Res 37:1685–1690. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0043-1354(02)00569-9
- 309. Berendsen BJA, Wegh RS, Memelink J, Zuidema T, Stolker LAM (2015) The analysis of animal faeces as a tool to monitor antibiotic usage. Talanta 132:258–268. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.talanta.2014.09.022
- 310. Chen YS, Zhang HB, Luo YM, Song J (2012) Occurrence and assessment of veterinary antibiotics in swine manures: a case study in East China. Chin Sci Bull 57:606–614. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11434-011-4830-3
- Dolliver H, Gupta S, Noll S (2008) Antibiotic degradation during manure composting. J Environ Qual 37:1245–1253. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2007.0399

- 312. Martínez-Carballo E, González-Barreiro C, Scharf S, Gans O (2007) Environmental monitoring study of selected veterinary antibiotics in animal manure and soils in Austria. Environ Pollut 148:570–579. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2006.11.035
- 313. Massé DI, Saady NMC, Gilbert Y (2014) Potential of biological processes to eliminate antibiotics in livestock manure: an overview. Animals 4:146–163. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ani4020146
- 314. Olonitola OS, Fahrenfeld N, Pruden A (2015) Antibiotic resistance profiles among mesophilic aerobic bacteria in Nigerian chicken litter and associated antibiotic resistance genes. Poult Sci 94:867–874. https://doi.org/10.3382/ps/pev069
- 315. Pan X, Qiang Z, Ben W, Chen M (2011) Residual veterinary antibiotics in swine manure from concentrated animal feeding operations in Shandong Province, China. Chemosphere 84:695–700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.03.022
- 316. Quaik S, Embrandiri A, Ravindran B, Hossain K, Al-Dhabi NA, Arasu MV, Ignacimuthu S, Ismail N (2020) Veterinary antibiotics in animal manure and manure laden soil: scenario and challenges in Asian countries. J King Saud Univ – Sci 32:1300–1305. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jksus.2019.11.015
- 317. Ray P, Chen C, Knowlton KF, Pruden A, Xia K (2017) Fate and effect of antibiotics in beef and dairy manure during static and turned composting. J Environ Qual 46:45–54. https://doi. org/10.2134/jeq2016.07.0269
- 318. Van Epps A, Blaney L (2016) Antibiotic residues in animal waste: occurrence and degradation in conventional agricultural waste management practices. Curr Pollut Reports 2:135–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40726-016-0037-1
- 319. Xie W-Y, Shen Q, Zhao FJ (2018) Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance from animal manures to soil: a review. Eur J Soil Sci 69:181–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejss.12494
- 320. Zhao L, Dong YH, Wang H (2010) Residues of veterinary antibiotics in manures from feedlot livestock in eight provinces of China. Sci Total Environ 408:1069–1075. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2009.11.014
- 321. Kovalakova P, Cizmas L, McDonald TJ, Marsalek B, Feng M, Sharma VK (2020) Occurrence and toxicity of antibiotics in the aquatic environment: a review. Chemosphere 251:126351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126351
- 322. Kraemer SA, Ramachandran A, Perron GG (2019) Antibiotic pollution in the environment: from microbial ecology to public policy. Microorganisms 7. https://doi.org/10.3390/ microorganisms7060180
- 323. Dolliver H, Gupta S (2008) Antibiotic losses in leaching and surface runoff from manureamended agricultural land. J Environ Qual 37:1227–1237. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2007. 0392
- 324. Gottschall N, Topp E, Edwards M, Payne M, Kleywegt S, Russell P, Lapen DR (2013) Hormones, sterols, and fecal indicator bacteria in groundwater, soil, and subsurface drainage following a high single application of municipal biosolids to a field. Chemosphere 91:275–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.10.108
- 325. Fahrenfeld N, Knowlton K, Krometis LA, Hession WC, Xia K, Lipscomb E, Libuit K, Green BL, Pruden A (2014) Effect of manure application on abundance of antibiotic resistance genes and their attenuation rates in soil: field-scale mass balance approach. Environ Sci Technol 48:2643–2650. https://doi.org/10.1021/es404988k
- 326. Finley RL, Collignon P, Larsson DGJ, McEwen SA, Li X-Z, Gaze WH, Reid-Smith R, Timinouni M, Graham DW, Topp E (2013) The scourge of antibiotic resistance: the important role of the environment. Clin Infect Dis 57:704–710. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cit355
- 327. Gullberg E, Cao S, Berg OG, Ilbäck C, Sandegren L, Hughes D, Andersson DI (2011) Selection of resistant bacteria at very low antibiotic concentrations. PLoS Pathog 7: e1002158. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002158
- 328. Singer AC, Shaw H, Rhodes V, Hart A (2016) Review of antimicrobial resistance in the environment and its relevance to environmental regulators. Front Microbiol 7:1728. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01728

- 329. Urra J, Alkorta I, Mijangos I, Epelde L, Garbisu C (2019) Application of sewage sludge to agricultural soil increases the abundance of antibiotic resistance genes without altering the composition of prokaryotic communities. Sci Total Environ 647:1410–1420. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2018.08.092
- 330. Wolters B, Fornefeld E, Jechalke S, Su J-Q, Zhu Y-G, Sørensen SJ, Smalla K, Jacquiod S (2018) Soil amendment with sewage sludge affects soil prokaryotic community composition, mobilome and resistome. FEMS Microbiol Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiy193
- 331. Al-Ahmad A, Daschner FD, Kümmerer K (1999) Biodegradability of cefotiam, ciprofloxacin, meropenem, penicillin G, and sulfamethoxazole and inhibition of waste water bacteria. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 37:158–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002449900501
- 332. Kümmerer K, Al-Ahmad A, Mersch-Sundermann V (2000) Biodegradability of some antibiotics, elimination of the genotoxicity and affection of wastewater bacteria in a simple test. Chemosphere 40:701–710. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(99)00439-7
- 333. Tomlinson TG, Boon AG, Trotman CNA (1966) Inhibition of nitrification in the activated sludge process of sewage disposal. J Appl Bacteriol 29:266–291. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1365-2672.1966.tb03477.x
- 334. Watkinson AJ, Murby EJ, Costanzo SD (2007) Removal of antibiotics in conventional and advanced wastewater treatment: implications for environmental discharge and wastewater recycling. Water Res 41:4164–4176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2007.04.005
- 335. Rosendahl I, Siemens J, Kindler R, Groeneweg J, Zimmermann J, Czerwinski S, Lamshöft M, Laabs V, Wilke B-M, Vereecken H, Amelung W (2012) Persistence of the fluoroquinolone antibiotic difloxacin in soil and lacking effects on nitrogen turnover. J Environ Qual 41:1275–1283. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2011.0459
- 336. Thiele-Bruhn S (2005) Microbial inhibition by pharmaceutical antibiotics in different soils-dose-response relations determined with the iron(III) reduction test. Environ Toxicol Chem 24:869–876. https://doi.org/10.1897/04-166r.1
- 337. Semedo M, Song B, Sparrer T, Phillips RL (2018) Antibiotic effects on microbial communities responsible for denitrification and N2O production in grassland soils. Front Microbiol 9:2121. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02121
- 338. Boxall ABA, Fogg LA, Blackwell PA, Blackwell P, Kay P, Pemberton EJ, Croxford A (2004) Veterinary medicines in the environment BT – reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology. In: Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology. Springer, New York, pp 1–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-21729-0_1
- 339. Brandt KK, Sjøholm OR, Krogh KA, Halling-Sørensen B, Nybroe O (2009) Increased pollution-induced bacterial community tolerance to sulfadiazine in soil hotspots amended with artificial root exudates. Environ Sci Technol 43:2963–2968. https://doi.org/10.1021/ es803546y
- 340. Cycoń M, Mrozik A, Piotrowska-Seget Z (2019) Antibiotics in the soil environment degradation and their impact on microbial activity and diversity. Front Microbiol 10:338. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.00338
- 341. Grenni P, Ancona V, Barra Caracciolo A (2018) Ecological effects of antibiotics on natural ecosystems: a review. Microchem J 136:25–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.microc.2017.02.006
- 342. Martinez JL (2009) Environmental pollution by antibiotics and by antibiotic resistance determinants. Environ Pollut 157:2893–2902. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2009.05.051
- 343. Piotrowska-Długosz A (2017) The effects of antibiotics on the structure, diversity, and function of a soil microbial community. Springer, Cham, pp 283–312. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-319-66260-2_15
- 344. Pan M, Chu LM (2016) Adsorption and degradation of five selected antibiotics in agricultural soil. Sci Total Environ 545–546:48–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.12.040
- 345. Braschi I, Blasioli S, Fellet C, Lorenzini R, Garelli A, Pori M, Giacomini D (2013) Persistence and degradation of new β-lactam antibiotics in the soil and water environment. Chemosphere 93:152–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.05.016

- 346. Liu B, Li Y, Zhang X, Wang J, Gao M (2014) Combined effects of chlortetracycline and dissolved organic matter extracted from pig manure on the functional diversity of soil microbial community. Soil Biol Biochem 74:148–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio. 2014.03.005
- 347. Ricken B, Fellmann O, Kohler HPE, Schäffer A, Corvini PFX, Kolvenbach BA (2015) Degradation of sulfonamide antibiotics by Microbacterium sp. strain BR1 – elucidating the downstream pathway. N Biotechnol 32:710–715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2015.03.005
- 348. Tappe W, Herbst M, Hofmann D, Koeppchen S, Kummer S, Thiele B, Groeneweg J (2013) Degradation of sulfadiazine by Microbacterium lacus strain SDZm4, isolated from lysimeters previously manured with slurry from sulfadiazine-medicated pigs. Appl Environ Microbiol 79:2572–2577. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03636-12
- 349. Zhang WW, Wen YY, Niu ZL, Yin K, Xu DX, Chen LX (2012) Isolation and characterization of sulfonamide-degrading bacteria Escherichia sp. HS21 and Acinetobacter sp. HS51. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 28:447–452. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-011-0834-z
- 350. Leng Y, Bao J, Chang G, Zheng H, Li X, Du J, Snow D, Li X (2016) Biotransformation of tetracycline by a novel bacterial strain Stenotrophomonas maltophilia DT1. J Hazard Mater 318:125–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.06.053
- 351. Mulla SI, Hu A, Sun Q, Li J, Suanon F, Ashfaq M, Yu CP (2018) Biodegradation of sulfamethoxazole in bacteria from three different origins. J Environ Manage 206:93–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.10.029
- 352. Zhang W, Qiu L, Gong A, Yuan X (2017) Isolation and characterization of a high-efficiency erythromycin A-degrading Ochrobactrum sp. strain. Mar Pollut Bull 114:896–902. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.10.076
- 353. Deng Y, Li B, Zhang T (2018) Bacteria that make a meal of sulfonamide antibiotics: blind spots and emerging opportunities. Environ Sci Technol 52:3854–3868. https://doi.org/10. 1021/acs.est.7b06026
- 354. Hirth N, Topp E, Dörfler U, Stupperich E, Munch JC, Schroll R (2016) An effective bioremediation approach for enhanced microbial degradation of the veterinary antibiotic sulfamethazine in an agricultural soil. Chem Biol Technol Agric 3:29. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s40538-016-0080-6
- 355. Maillard J-Y (2002) Bacterial target sites for biocide action. J Appl Microbiol 92(Suppl):16S– 27S
- 356. Kim SA, Moon H, Lee K, Rhee MS (2015) Bactericidal effects of triclosan in soap both in vitro and in vivo. J Antimicrob Chemother 70:3345–3352. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/ dkv275
- 357. Halden RU, Lindeman AE, Aiello AE, Andrews D, Arnold WA, Fair P, Fuoco RE, Geer LA, Johnson PI, Lohmann R, McNeill K, Sacks VP, Schettler T, Weber R, Zoeller RT, Blum A (2017) The Florence statement on triclosan and triclocarban. Environ Health Perspect 125. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP1788
- 358. Weatherly LM, Gosse JA (2017) Triclosan exposure, transformation, and human health effects. J Toxicol Environ Heal B Crit Rev 20:447–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10937404. 2017.1399306
- Dann AB, Hontela A (2011) Triclosan: environmental exposure, toxicity and mechanisms of action. J Appl Toxicol 31:285–311. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.1660
- 360. Heath RJ, Rubin JR, Holland DR, Zhang E, Snow ME, Rock CO (1999) Mechanism of triclosan inhibition of bacterial fatty acid synthesis. J Biol Chem 274:11110–11114. https:// doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.16.11110
- 361. Jones RD, Jampani HB, Newman JL, Lee AS (2000) Triclosan: a review of effectiveness and safety in health care settings. Am J Infect Control 28:184–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0196-6553(00)90027-0
- 362. McLeod R, Muench SP, Rafferty JB, Kyle DE, Mui EJ, Kirisits MJ, Mack DG, Roberts CW, Samuel BU, Lyons RE, Dorris M, Milhous WK, Rice DW (2001) Triclosan inhibits the growth

of Plasmodium falciparum and Toxoplasma gondii by inhibition of apicomplexan Fab I. Int J Parasitol 31:109–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0020-7519(01)00111-4

- 363. Russell AD (2004) Whither triclosan? J Antimicrob Chemother 53:693–695. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/jac/dkh171
- 364. ECHA (European Chemicals Agency) (2015) Biocidal Products Committee (BPC) opinion on the application for approval of the active substance: triclosan product-type: 1 3:1–11
- 365. European Commission (2016) COMMISSION IMPLEMENTING DECISION (EU) 2016/110 of 27 January 2016 not approving triclosan as an existing active substance for use in biocidal products for product- type 1. Euratom 2001:20–30. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/pri/en/oj/dat/2003/ 1_285/l_28520031101en00330037.pdf
- 366. FDA (U.S. Food and Drug Administration) (2016) Safety and effectiveness of health care antiseptics; topical antimicrobial drug products for over-the-counter human use. Final rule, Federal register
- 367. Davis EF, Klosterhaus SL, Stapleton HM (2012) Measurement of flame retardants and triclosan in municipal sewage sludge and biosolids. Environ Int 40:1–7. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.envint.2011.11.008
- 368. Heidler J, Halden RU (2007) Mass balance assessment of triclosan removal during conventional sewage treatment. Chemosphere 66:362–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere. 2006.04.066
- 369. Ogunyoku TA, Young TM (2014) Removal of triclocarban and triclosan during municipal biosolid production. Water Environ Res 86:197–203. https://doi.org/10.2175/ 106143013x13807328849378
- 370. Chalew TEA, Halden RU (2009) Environmental exposure of aquatic and terrestrial biota to triclosan and triclocarban. J Am Water Resour Assoc 45:4–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2008.00284.x
- 371. Halden RU, Paull DH (2005) Co-occurrence of triclocarban and triclosan in U.S. water resources. Environ Sci Technol 39:1420–1426. https://doi.org/10.1021/es049071e
- 372. Higgins CP, Paesani ZJ, Abbott Chalew TE, Halden RU, Hundal LS (2011) Persistence of triclocarban and triclosan in soils after land application of biosolids and bioaccumulation in Eisenia foetida. Environ Toxicol Chem 30:556–563. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.416
- 373. Olaniyan LWB, Mkwetshana N, Okoh AI (2016) Triclosan in water, implications for human and environmental health. Springerplus 5:1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-3287-x
- 374. Coogan MA, La Point TW (2008) Snail bioaccumulation of triclocarban, triclosan, and methyltriclosan in a North Texas, USA, stream affected by wastewater treatment plant runoff. Environ Toxicol Chem 27:1788–1793. https://doi.org/10.1897/07-374.1
- 375. Prosser RS, Lissemore L, Topp E, Sibley PK (2014) Bioaccumulation of triclosan and triclocarban in plants grown in soils amended with municipal dewatered biosolids. Environ Toxicol Chem 33:975–984. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.2505
- 376. Dhillon GS, Kaur S, Pulicharla R, Brar SK, Cledón M, Verma M, Surampalli RY (2015) Triclosan: current status, occurrence, environmental risks and bioaccumulation potential. Int J Environ Res Public Health 12:5657–5684. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120505657
- 377. Gillis JD, Price GW, Prasher S (2017) Lethal and sub-lethal effects of triclosan toxicity to the earthworm Eisenia fetida assessed through GC–MS metabolomics. J Hazard Mater 323:203–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.07.022
- 378. Orvos DR, Versteeg DJ, Inauen J, Capdevielle M, Rothenstein A, Cunningham V (2002) Aquatic toxicity of triclosan. Environ Toxicol Chem 21:1338–1349
- 379. Tatarazako N, Ishibashi H, Teshima K, Kishi K, Arizono K (2004) Effects of triclosan on various aquatic organisms. Environ Sci 11:133–140
- 380. Wang F, Xu R, Zheng F, Liu H (2018) Effects of triclosan on acute toxicity, genetic toxicity and oxidative stress in goldfish (Carassius auratus). Exp Anim 67:219–227. https://doi.org/10. 1538/expanim.17-0101

- 381. Wang X, Liu Z, Wang W, Yan Z, Zhang C, Wang W, Chen L (2014) Assessment of toxic effects of triclosan on the terrestrial snail (Achatina fulica). Chemosphere 108:225–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.01.044
- 382. Yueh M-F, Tukey RH (2016) Triclosan: a widespread environmental toxicant with many biological effects. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 56:251–272. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev-pharmtox-010715-103417
- 383. Zaltauskaite J, Miskelyte D (2018) Biochemical and life cycle effects of triclosan chronic toxicity to earthworm Eisenia fetida. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25:18938–18946. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11356-018-2065-4
- 384. Aryal N, Reinhold DM (2011) Phytoaccumulation of antimicrobials from biosolids: impacts on environmental fate and relevance to human exposure. Water Res 45:5545–5552. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.08.027
- 385. Mendez MO, Valdez EM, Martinez EM, Saucedo M, Wilson BA (2016) Fate of triclosan in irrigated soil: degradation in soil and translocation into onion and tomato. J Environ Qual 45:1029–1035. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2015.07.0386
- Pannu MW, Toor GS, O'Connor GA, Wilson PC (2012) Toxicity and bioaccumulation of biosolids-borne triclosan in food crops. Environ Toxicol Chem 31:2130–2137. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/etc.1930
- 387. Cajthaml T, Křesinová Z, Svobodová K, Möder M (2009) Biodegradation of endocrinedisrupting compounds and suppression of estrogenic activity by ligninolytic fungi. Chemosphere 75:745–750. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.01.034
- Hundt K, Martin D, Hammer E, Jonas U, Kindermann MK, Schauer F (2000) Transformation of triclosan by Trametes versicolor and Pycnoporus cinnabarinus. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:4157–4160. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.66.9.4157-4160.2000
- 389. Chen X, Zhuang J, Bester K (2018) Degradation of triclosan by environmental microbial consortia and by axenic cultures of microorganisms with concerns to wastewater treatment. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 102:5403–5417. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-9029-y
- 390. Lee DG, Chu KH (2013) Effects of growth substrate on triclosan biodegradation potential of oxygenase-expressing bacteria. Chemosphere 93:1904–1911. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2013.06.069
- 391. Lee DG, Zhao F, Rezenom YH, Russell DH, Chu KH (2012) Biodegradation of triclosan by a wastewater microorganism. Water Res 46:4226–4234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012. 05.025
- 392. Lolas IB, Chen X, Bester K, Nielsen JL (2012) Identification of triclosan-degrading bacteria using stable isotope probing, fluorescence in situ hybridization and microautoradiography. Microbiol (United Kingdom) 158:2796–2804. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.061077-0
- 393. Roh H, Subramanya N, Zhao F, Yu CP, Sandt J, Chu KH (2009) Biodegradation potential of wastewater micropollutants by ammonia-oxidizing bacteria. Chemosphere 77:1084–1089. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.08.049
- 394. Forbes S, Dobson CB, Humphreys GJ, McBain AJ (2014) Transient and sustained bacterial adaptation following repeated sublethal exposure to microbicides and a novel human antimicrobial peptide. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 58:5809–5817. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC. 03364-14
- 395. Russell AD (2003) Biocide use and antibiotic resistance: the relevance of laboratory findings to clinical and environmental situations. Lancet Infect Dis 3:794–803. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1473-3099(03)00833-8
- 396. Mcmurry LM, Oethinger M, Levy SB (1998) Overexpression of marA, soxS, or acrAB produces resistance to triclosan in laboratory and clinical strains of *Escherichia coli*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 166:305–309. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1998.tb13905.x
- 397. Russell AD (2000) Do biocides select for antibiotic resistance? J Pharm Pharmacol 52:227–233. https://doi.org/10.1211/0022357001773742

- 398. Braoudaki M, Hilton AC (2004) Low level of cross-resistance between triclosan and antibiotics in Escherichia coli K-12 and E. coli O55 compared to E. coli O157. FEMS Microbiol Lett 235:305–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsle.2004.04.049
- 399. Chuanchuen R, Beinlich K, Hoang TT, Becher A, Karkhoff-Schweizer RR, Schweizer HP (2001) Cross-resistance between triclosan and antibiotics in Pseudomonas aeruginosa is mediated by multidrug efflux pumps: exposure of a susceptible mutant strain to triclosan selects nfxB mutants overexpressing MexCD-OprJ. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 45:428–432. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.45.2.428-432.2001
- 400. Karatzas KAG, Webber MA, Jorgensen F, Woodward MJ, Piddock LJV, Humphrey TJ (2007) Prolonged treatment of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium with commercial disinfectants selects for multiple antibiotic resistance, increased efflux and reduced invasiveness. J Antimicrob Chemother 60:947–955. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkm314
- 401. Carey DE, McNamara PJ (2015) The impact of triclosan on the spread of antibiotic resistance in the environment. Front Microbiol 5:1–11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00780
- 402. Russell AD, Tattawasart U, Maillard JY, Furr JR (1998) Possible link between bacterial resistance and use of antibiotics and biocides [2]. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 42:2151. https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.42.8.2151
- 403. Schweizer HP (2001) Triclosan: a widely used biocide and its link to antibiotics. FEMS Microbiol Lett 202:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2001.tb10772.x
- 404. Yazdankhah SP, Scheie AA, Høiby EA, Lunestad BT, Heir E, Fotland TØ, Naterstad K, Kruse H (2006) Triclosan and antimicrobial resistance in bacteria: an overview. Microb Drug Resist 12:83–90. https://doi.org/10.1089/mdr.2006.12.83
- 405. Waller NJ, Kookana RS (2009) Effect of triclosan on microbial activity in Australian soils. Environ Toxicol Chem 28:65. https://doi.org/10.1897/08-224.1
- 406. Park I, Zhang N, Ogunyoku TA, Young TM, Scow KM (2013) Effects of Triclosan and biosolids on microbial community composition in an agricultural soil. Water Environ Res 85:2237–2242. https://doi.org/10.2175/106143012x13560205144335
- 407. Ghannoum MA, Rice LB (1999) Antifungal agents: mode of action, mechanisms of resistance, and correlation of these mechanisms with bacterial resistance. Clin Microbiol Rev 12:501–517. https://doi.org/10.1128/cmr.12.4.501
- 408. Shalini K, Kumar N, Drabu S, Sharma PK (2011) Advances in synthetic approach to and antifungal activity of triazoles. Beilstein J Org Chem 7:668–677. https://doi.org/10.3762/bjoc. 7.79
- 409. Fletcher RA, Gilley A, Sankhla N, Davis TD (2010) Triazoles as plant growth regulators and stress protectants. In: Horticultural reviews. Wiley, Oxford, pp 55–138. https://doi.org/10. 1002/9780470650776.ch3
- 410. Hof H (2001) Critical annotations to the use of azole antifungals for plant protection. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 45:2987–2990. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.45.11.2987-2990.2001
- 411. Kishorekumar A, Jaleel CA, Manivannan P, Sankar B, Sridharan R, Panneerselvam R (2007) Comparative effects of different triazole compounds on growth, photosynthetic pigments and carbohydrate metabolism of Solenostemon rotundifolius. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 60:207–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2007.06.008
- 412. Peyton LR, Gallagher S, Hashemzadeh M (2015) Triazole antifungals: a review. Drugs Today 51:705–718. https://doi.org/10.1358/dot.2015.51.12.2421058
- 413. Huang Q, Yu Y, Tang C, Peng X (2010) Determination of commonly used azole antifungals in various waters and sewage sludge using ultra-high performance liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1217:3481–3488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chroma.2010.03.022
- 414. Kahle M, Buerge IJ, Hauser A, Müller MD, Poiger T (2008) Azole fungicides: occurrence and fate in wastewater and surface waters. Environ Sci Technol 42:7193–7200. https://doi.org/10. 1021/es8009309

- 415. Van De Steene JC, Stove CP, Lambert WE (2010) A field study on 8 pharmaceuticals and 1 pesticide in Belgium: removal rates in waste water treatment plants and occurrence in surface water. Sci Total Environ 408:3448–3453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.04.037
- 416. Wick A, Fink G, Ternes TA (2010) Comparison of electrospray ionization and atmospheric pressure chemical ionization for multi-residue analysis of biocides, UV-filters and benzothiazoles in aqueous matrices and activated sludge by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1217:2088–2103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2010. 01.079
- 417. Assress HA, Nyoni H, Mamba BB, Msagati TAM (2020) Occurrence and risk assessment of azole antifungal drugs in water and wastewater. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 187:109868. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.109868
- 418. Peng X, Huang Q, Zhang K, Yu Y, Wang Z, Wang C (2012) Distribution, behavior and fate of azole antifungals during mechanical, biological, and chemical treatments in sewage treatment plants in China. Sci Total Environ 426:311–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.03. 067
- 419. Stamatis N, Hela D, Konstantinou I (2010) Occurrence and removal of fungicides in municipal sewage treatment plant. J Hazard Mater 175:829–835. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009. 10.084
- 420. Chen ZF, Ying GG (2015) Occurrence, fate and ecological risk of five typical azole fungicides as therapeutic and personal care products in the environment: a review. Environ Int 84:142–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.07.022
- 421. Chen ZF, Ying GG, Jiang YX, Yang B, Lai HJ, Liu YS, Pan CG, Peng FQ (2014) Photodegradation of the azole fungicide fluconazole in aqueous solution under UV-254: kinetics, mechanistic investigations and toxicity evaluation. Water Res 52:83–91. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.12.039
- 422. Chen ZF, Ying GG, Ma YB, Lai HJ, Chen F, Pan CG (2013) Typical azole biocides in biosolid-amended soils and plants following biosolid applications. J Agric Food Chem 61:6198–6206. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf4013949
- 423. Lindberg RH, Fick J, Tysklind M (2010) Screening of antimycotics in Swedish sewage treatment plants – waters and sludge. Water Res 44:649–657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. watres.2009.10.034
- 424. Richmond EK, Rosi EJ, Walters DM, Fick J, Hamilton SK, Brodin T, Sundelin A, Grace MR (2018) A diverse suite of pharmaceuticals contaminates stream and riparian food webs. Nat Commun 9:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-06822-w
- 425. Rossmann J, Schubert S, Gurke R, Oertel R, Kirch W (2014) Simultaneous determination of most prescribed antibiotics in multiple urban wastewater by SPE-LC-MS/MS. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 969:162–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jchromb.2014.08. 008
- 426. Álvarez-Martín A, Sánchez-Martín MJ, Pose-Juan E, Rodríguez-Cruz MS (2016) Effect of different rates of spent mushroom substrate on the dissipation and bioavailability of cymoxanil and tebuconazole in an agricultural soil. Sci Total Environ 550:495–503. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2016.01.151
- 427. Badawi N, Rosenbom AE, Jensen AMD, Sørensen SR (2016) Degradation and sorption of the fungicide tebuconazole in soils from golf greens. Environ Pollut 219:368–378. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envpol.2016.10.045
- 428. Bromilow RH, Evans AA, Nicholls PH (1999) Factors affecting degradation rates of five triazole fungicides in two soil types: 2 field studies. Pestic Sci 55:1135–1142. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/(SICI)1096-9063(199912)55:12<1135::AID-PS73>3.0.CO;2-1
- 429. El Azhari N, Dermou E, Barnard RL, Storck V, Tourna M, Beguet J, Karas PA, Lucini L, Rouard N, Botteri L, Ferrari F, Trevisan M, Karpouzas DG, Martin-Laurent F (2018) The dissipation and microbial ecotoxicity of tebuconazole and its transformation products in soil under standard laboratory and simulated winter conditions. Sci Total Environ 637–638:892–906. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.088

- 430. Herrero-Hernández E, Andrades MS, Marín-Benito JM, Sánchez-Martín MJ, Rodríguez-Cruz MS (2011) Field-scale dissipation of tebuconazole in a vineyard soil amended with spent mushroom substrate and its potential environmental impact. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 74:1480–1488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2011.04.023
- 431. Papadopoulou ES, Karas PA, Nikolaki S, Storck V, Ferrari F, Trevisan M, Tsiamis G, Martin-Laurent F, Karpouzas DG (2016) Dissipation and adsorption of isoproturon, tebuconazole, chlorpyrifos and their main transformation products under laboratory and field conditions. Sci Total Environ 569–570:86–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.06.133
- 432. Potter TL, Strickland TC, Joo H, Culbreath AK (2005) Accelerated soil dissipation of tebuconazole following multiple applications to peanut. J Environ Qual 34:1205–1213. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2004.0473
- 433. Strickland TC, Potter TL, Joo H (2004) Tebuconazole dissipation and metabolism in Tifton loamy sand during laboratory incubation. Pest Manag Sci 60:703–709. https://doi.org/10. 1002/ps.860
- 434. Buerge IJ, Poiger T, Müller MD, Buser HR (2006) Influence of pH on the stereoselective degradation of the fungicides epoxiconazole and cyproconazole in soils. Environ Sci Technol 40:5443–5450. https://doi.org/10.1021/es060817d
- 435. Kaziem AE, Gao B, Li L, Zhang Z, He Z, Wen Y, Wang MH (2020) Enantioselective bioactivity, toxicity, and degradation in different environmental mediums of chiral fungicide epoxiconazole. J Hazard Mater 386:121951. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.121951
- 436. Kim IS, Beaudette LA, Han Shim J, Trevors JT, Tack Suh Y (2002) Environmental fate of the triazole fungicide propiconazole in a rice-paddy-soil lysimeter. Plant and Soil 239:321–331. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015000328350
- 437. Kim IS, Shim JH, Suh YT (2003) Laboratory studies on formation of bound residues and degradation of propiconazole in soils. Pest Manag Sci 59:324–330. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps. 642
- 438. Thorstensen CW, Lode O (2001) Laboratory degradation studies of bentazone, dichlorprop, MCPA, and propiconazole in Norwegian soils. J Environ Qual 30:947–953. https://doi.org/10. 2134/jeq2001.303947x
- 439. White PM, Potter TL, Culbreath AK (2010) Fungicide dissipation and impact on metolachlor aerobic soil degradation and soil microbial dynamics. Sci Total Environ 408:1393–1402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.11.012
- 440. Storck V, Lucini L, Mamy L, Ferrari F, Papadopoulou ES, Nikolaki S, Karas PA, Servien R, Karpouzas DG, Trevisan M, Benoit P, Martin-Laurent F (2016) Identification and characterization of tebuconazole transformation products in soil by combining suspect screening and molecular typology. Environ Pollut 208:537–545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2015.10. 027
- 441. Satapute P, Kaliwal B (2016) Biodegradation of propiconazole by newly isolated Burkholderia sp. strain BBK_9. 3 Biotech 6:110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-016-0429-3
- 442. Satapute P, Kaliwal B (2016) Biodegradation of the fungicide propiconazole by Pseudomonas aeruginosa PS-4 strain isolated from a paddy soil. Ann Microbiol 66:1355–1365. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13213-016-1222-6
- 443. Kryczyk-Poprawa A, Żmudzki P, Maślanka A, Piotrowska J, Opoka W, Muszyńska B (2019) Mycoremediation of azole antifungal agents using in vitro cultures of Lentinula edodes. 3 Biotech 9:207. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-019-1733-5
- 444. Ammar GA, Tryono R, Dol@l K, Karlovsky P, Deising HB, Wirsel SGR (2013) Identification of ABC transporter genes of Fusarium graminearum with roles in azole tolerance and/or virulence. PLoS One 8:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0079042
- 445. Lelièvre L, Groh M, Angebault C, Maherault AC, Didier E, Bougnoux ME (2013) Azole resistant Aspergillus fumigatus: an emerging problem. Med Mal Infect 43:139–145. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.medmal.2013.02.010

- 446. Ma Z, Michailides TJ (2005) Advances in understanding molecular mechanisms of fungicide resistance and molecular detection of resistant genotypes in phytopathogenic fungi. Crop Prot 24:853–863. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2005.01.011
- 447. Alastruey-Izquierdo A, Cuenca-Estrella M, Monzón A, Mellado E, Rodríguez-Tudela JL (2008) Antifungal susceptibility profile of clinical Fusarium spp. isolates identified by molecular methods. J Antimicrob Chemother 61:805–809. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkn022
- 448. Buil JB, Hare RK, Zwaan BJ, Arendrup MC, Melchers WJG, Verweij PE (2019) The fading boundaries between patient and environmental routes of triazole resistance selection in Aspergillus fumigatus. PLoS Pathog 15:e1007858. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat. 1007858
- 449. Chowdhary A, Kathuria S, Agarwal K, Sachdeva N, Singh PK, Jain S, Meis JF (2014) Voriconazole-resistant penicillium oxalicum: an emerging pathogen in immunocompromised hosts. Open Forum Infect Dis 1:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofu029
- 450. Pasqualotto AC, Thiele KO, Goldani LZ (2010) Novel triazole antifungal drugs: focus on isavuconazole, ravuconazole and albaconazole. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 11:164–174
- 451. Pfaller MA, Diekema DJ (2004) Rare and emerging opportunistic fungal pathogens: concern for resistance beyond Candida albicans and Aspergillus fumigatus. J Clin Microbiol 42:4419–4431. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.42.10.4419-4431.2004
- 452. Whaley SG, Berkow EL, Rybak JM, Nishimoto AT, Barker KS, Rogers PD (2017) Azole antifungal resistance in Candida albicans and emerging non-albicans Candida Species. Front Microbiol 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.02173
- 453. Verweij PE, Chowdhary A, Melchers WJG, Meis JF (2016) Azole resistance in aspergillus fumigatus: can we retain the clinical use of mold-active antifungal azoles? Clin Infect Dis 62:362–368. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/civ885
- 454. Ribas e Ribas AD, Spolti P, Del Ponte EM, Donato KZ, Schrekker H, Fuentefria AM (2016) Is the emergence of fungal resistance to medical triazoles related to their use in the agroecosystems? A mini review. Braz J Microbiol 47:793–799. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bjm.2016.06.006
- 455. Snelders E, Camps SMT, Karawajczyk A, Schaftenaar G, Kema GHJ, van der Lee HA, Klaassen CH, Melchers WJG, Verweij PE (2012) Triazole fungicides can induce crossresistance to medical triazoles in aspergillus fumigatus. PLoS One 7:e31801. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0031801
- 456. Verweij PE, Kema GHJ, Zwaan B, Melchers WJ (2013) Triazole fungicides and the selection of resistance to medical triazoles in the opportunistic mould Aspergillus fumigatus. Pest Manag Sci 69:165–170. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.3390
- 457. Araújo GRDS, De Souza W, Frases S (2017) The hidden pathogenic potential of environmental fungi. Future Microbiol 12:1533–1540. https://doi.org/10.2217/fmb-2017-0124
- 458. Denham ST, Wambaugh MA, Brown JCS (2019) How environmental fungi cause a range of clinical outcomes in susceptible hosts. J Mol Biol 431:2982–3009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jmb.2019.05.003
- 459. O'Quinn RP, Hoffmann JL, Boyd AS (2001) Collectorichum species as emerging opportunistic fungal pathogens: a report of 3 cases of phaeohyphomycosis and review. J Am Acad Dermatol 45:56–61. https://doi.org/10.1067/mjd.2000.113691
- 460. Shivaprakash MR, Appannanavar SB, Dhaliwal M, Gupta A, Gupta S, Gupta A, Chakrabarti A (2011) Colletotrichum truncatum: an unusual pathogen causing mycotic keratitis and endophthalmitis. J Clin Microbiol 49:2894–2898. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00151-11
- 461. Tsitsopoulou A, Posso R, Vale L, Bebb S, Johnson E, White PL (2018) Determination of the prevalence of triazole resistance in environmental Aspergillus fumigatus strains isolated in South Wales, UK. Front Microbiol 9:1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01395
- 462. Satapute P, Kamble MV, Adhikari SS, Jogaiah S (2019) Influence of triazole pesticides on tillage soil microbial populations and metabolic changes. Sci Total Environ 651:2334–2344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.099

- 463. Ramudu AC, Mohiddin GJ, Srinivasulu M, Madakka M, Rangaswamy V (2011) Impact of fungicides chlorothalonil and propiconazole on microbial activities in groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) soils. ISRN Microbiol 2011:623404. https://doi.org/10.5402/2011/623404
- 464. Yen JH, Chang JS, Huang PJ, Wang YS (2009) Effects of fungicides triadimefon and propiconazole on soil bacterial communities. J Environ Sci Heal B Pestic Food Contam Agric Wastes 44:681–689. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601230903163715
- 465. Sułowicz S, Cycoń M, Piotrowska-Seget Z (2016) Non-target impact of fungicide tetraconazole on microbial communities in soils with different agricultural management. Ecotoxicology 25:1047–1060. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-016-1661-7
- 466. Anuradha B, Rekhapadmini A, Rangaswamy V (2016) Influence of tebuconazole and copper hydroxide on phosphatase and urease activities in red sandy loam and black clay soils. 3 Biotech 6:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-016-0367-0
- 467. Bending GD, Rodríguez-Cruz MS, Lincoln SD (2007) Fungicide impacts on microbial communities in soils with contrasting management histories. Chemosphere 69:82–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.04.042
- 468. Cycoń M, Piotrowska-Seget Z, Kaczyńska A, Kozdrój J (2006) Microbiological characteristics of a sandy loam soil exposed to tebuconazole and λ-cyhalothrin under laboratory conditions. Ecotoxicology 15:639–646. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-006-0099-8
- 469. Ferreira EPDB, Dusi AN, Costa JR, Xavier GR, Rumjanek NG (2009) Assessing insecticide and fungicide effects on the culturable soil bacterial community by analyses of variance of their DGGE fingerprinting data. Eur J Soil Biol 45:466–472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejsobi. 2009.07.003
- 470. Karas PA, Baguelin C, Pertile G, Papadopoulou ES, Nikolaki S, Storck V, Ferrari F, Trevisan M, Ferrarini A, Fornasier F, Vasileiadis S, Tsiamis G, Martin-Laurent F, Karpouzas DG (2018) Assessment of the impact of three pesticides on microbial dynamics and functions in a lab-to-field experimental approach. Sci Total Environ 637–638:636–646. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.05.073
- 471. Muñoz-Leoz B, Ruiz-Romera E, Antigüedad I, Garbisu C (2011) Tebuconazole application decreases soil microbial biomass and activity. Soil Biol Biochem 43:2176–2183. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.07.001
- 472. Storck V, Nikolaki S, Perruchon C, Chabanis C, Sacchi A, Pertile G, Baguelin C, Karas PA, Spor A, Devers-Lamrani M, Papadopoulou ES, Sibourg O, Malandain C, Trevisan M, Ferrari F, Karpouzas DG, Tsiamis G, Martin-Laurent F (2018) Lab to field assessment of the ecotoxicological impact of chlorpyrifos, isoproturon, or tebuconazole on the diversity and composition of the soil bacterial community. Front Microbiol 9:1412. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.01412
- 473. Wang C, Wang F, Zhang Q, Liang W (2016) Individual and combined effects of tebuconazole and carbendazim on soil microbial activity. Eur J Soil Biol 72:6–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejsobi.2015.12.005
- 474. Richter E, Wick A, Ternes TA, Coors A (2013) Ecotoxicity of climbazole, a fungicide contained in antidandruff shampoo. Environ Toxicol Chem 32:2816–2825. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/etc.2367
- 475. Van-Camp L, Bujarrabal B, Anna Rita G, Jones RJA, Montanarella L, Olazabal C, Selvaradjou S-K (2004) Reports of the technical working groups established under the thematic strategy for soil protection. Office Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg. EUR 21319 EN/4, 872 p
- 476. Kümmerer K (2009) The presence of pharmaceuticals in the environment due to human use present knowledge and future challenges. J Environ Manage 90:2354–2366. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jenvman.2009.01.023

Biomarkers in Earthworms



311

Montserrat Solé

Contents

1	Introduction	312
2	Ecotoxicological Biomarkers: An Overview	314
3	Biomarkers of Pesticide Exposure	323
4	Biomarkers of Metal Exposure	324
5	Biomarkers for Mixed Chemical Exposure	325
6	Biomarkers of Assessing Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Product Exposure	326
7	Biomarkers of Nanomaterial Exposure	327
8	Biomarkers of Plasticis, Plasticisers and E-Waste-Related Exposures	328
9	Earthworm Metabolism and Metabolite Identification	331
10	Conclusions	333
Refe	erences	333

Abstract Soil-dwelling naturally occurring earthworms (e.g. *Lumbricus terrestris*) are valuable sentinels in soil pollution monitoring for their ecological role but also because they have shown to be sensitive to environmental contaminants. However, most laboratory studies have adopted epigeic earthworms as models (*Eisenia* spp.) in acute toxicity testing. In soil chronic toxicity assessment, it is essential to include sublethal responses that can have direct implications on species performance, reproduction and behaviour and thus be of ecological significance. In this sense, some biochemical biomarkers are regarded as early warning signals of further ecological consequences. Amongst those most frequently considered are specific responses to certain chemicals (e.g. metallothionein induction to metal exposure) but also those related to oxidative homeostasis of the organisms because prolonged stress may lead to adverse effects at the individual level (disruption of immune system, altered growth and reproduction). Biomarker measures can be applied in specific tissues, but, for methodological constraints, the consideration of the whole animal simplifies protocols and, once validated, they are informative and integrative. The use of

M. Solé (🖂)

ICM-CSIC, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: msole@icm.csic.es

Sandra Pérez Solsona, Nicola Montemurro, Serge Chiron, and Damià Barceló (eds.), Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems: The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater, Hdb Env Chem (2021) 103: 311–338, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_628, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 2 September 2020 non-destructive tissues (e.g. coelomocytes) that do not require sacrifice, the incorporation of "omic" disciplines and recent technical advances in metabolite identification are all encouraged to be incorporated into toxicity evaluation.

Keywords Biochemical biomarkers, Endogeic earthworms, Soil toxicity assessment

1 Introduction

This chapter focusses on the use of earthworms from different ecological categories, epigeic, endogeic and anecic (see Chap. 11), as sentinels in toxicity monitoring in relation to soil assessment [1]. It will address the works published after some comprehensive reviews [2] on the use of biomarkers in earthworms or particular review issues addressing pesticide pollution [3, 4]. The use of earthworms as sentinels and sublethal biomarkers in soil pollution assessment is well recognised in terrestrial ecotoxicology, mostly in relation to metal and pesticide pollution [5-8]. This chapter will focus on more recent work (from 2015 onwards) dealing with the use of biomarkers for assessing the toxicity associated with legacy chemicals (e.g. heavy metals, pesticides) and will also include emerging contaminants or contaminants of increasing environmental concern such as nanomaterials, pharmaceutical drugs, plastics, plastic additives and e-waste-related products as well as environmentally realistic mixtures of chemicals. Another chapter in this book by Sanchez-Hernandez (Chap. 11) addresses the role of earthworms as vermiremediators of chemical pollution in soils, and thus, this aspect will not be considered here. Only if the vermiremediation study includes earthworm biomarkers will it be mentioned in this chapter. In Fig. 1, a scheme of the topics described throughout the text is presented.

The first ecotoxicology tests adopted by the international Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) directives [9] were based on mortality and aimed at obtaining LC50 values for toxic chemicals. Subsequently, effects on sublethal responses, such as reproductive performance, were included [10]. More recently, the incorporation of enzymatic, molecular (genetic and metabolomics) and even behaviour biomarkers in the ecotoxicity tests has gained relevance as indicators of sublethal toxicity. The importance of using infra-individual responses (e.g. enzymatic activities and molecular alterations) rests mostly on being quick signs of potential toxic events and on the possibility of extrapolating to further individually and ecologically relevant consequences [11]. In relation to the selection of adequate bioindicator species, the epigeic *Eisenia fetida* and *Eisenia andrei* are those adopted in soil toxicity tests following OECD protocols, and therefore a larger body of research is conducted with them. However, this chapter will purposely give support to the studies conducted with the naturally occurring species in agricultural



Fig. 1 Scheme on the chemicals, tissues and biomarkers more frequently used in soil toxicity assessment using earthworms

soils. Amongst these, soil-dwelling and deep-burrowing worms, such as the anecic *Lumbricus terrestris* and endogeic *Aporrectodea caliginosa* and *Allolobophora chlorotica*, are of relevance for their beneficial contribution to improving soil physico-chemical properties in agroecosystems. Nonetheless, when assessing emerging contaminant exposures, most literature available so far is almost exclusively centred on *Eisenia* spp.

In the review by Pelosi et al. [3], in search of the most sensitive earthworm species for pesticide homologation tests in Europe, the authors resolved that *L. terrestris* and *A. caliginosa* were amongst the most sensitive species. Moreover, since they contribute a high percentage to soil organism's biomass and are ecologically important in terrestrial ecosystems of many temperate regions, including cultivated soils, they are more suitable sentinels of soil pollution. In this chapter, considerations extracted from the review by Velki and Ecimovik [11] on the use of earthworms on ecotoxicology testing in terrestrial systems have been embraced, for instance, (1) the importance of using biomarkers that can be derived to higher hierarchy consequences, (2) the need to assess toxicity of naturally occurring chemical mixtures, (3) the use of microcosm models as a proxy of more realistic field conditions and (4) the need to consider additional environmental stressing factors such as those related to forecast climate change. Other considerations such

as implementing equally informative conservative techniques that do not require sacrifice or preliminary screening in vitro tools are encouraged. A detailed description on the most commonly used biomarkers in earthworm studies addressing soil pollution monitoring is given in a former and fairly recent book chapter [12]. However, in this issue, the most recent genomic and metabolomics applications in earthworm studies as promising biomarker molecular tools will be included.

The biomarkers considered here will refer mostly to sub-individual responses adopted in earthworm studies for the last 5 years on chemical toxicity assessment in laboratory exposures either using the filter paper contact tests or using spiked artificial or natural soils or even those conducted under realistic field conditions (mostly at a mesoscale). These studies embrace biomarkers informing on changes on enzyme activities and/or gene expression and endogenous metabolite composition, but also on the occurrence of damage to biomolecules such as DNA, proteins and lipids and alterations in lysosomal membrane stability, in immunology defences and in histological features caused by a range of anthropogenic chemicals acting either alone or in combination. A comprehensive table gathering many of these studies was already presented in the Pelosi et al. [4] review mostly in relation to pesticide exposures. Here a selection of more recent work (>2014) using earthworm biomarkers in relation to metal and pesticide exposures in agricultural soil relevant species will be considered, and emphasis will be placed on the toxicity studies addressing chemicals of more recent environmental concern known as emerging contaminants. As anticipated, studies screening for the toxicity associated with novel contaminants have mostly been based on the model earthworms (Eisenia spp.) adopted in soil ecotoxicology testing. Even though a larger body of literature correspond to this group, it is important to highlight the fact that a few research studies include more ecologically relevant species such as L. terrestris.

2 Ecotoxicological Biomarkers: An Overview

The biomarkers most frequently applied in earthworm studies are either those responsive to a particular type of chemical or those informative of a general stress status. For instance, metallothionein content specifically responds to metal exposures, but it has also been seen to be affected by other chemical stressors and given a protection role in invertebrates. Cholinesterases and in particular acetylcholinesterase (AChE) and carboxylesterase (CE) activities specifically respond to pesticides. While inhibition of AChE activity is considered a sign of neurotoxicity, the inhibition of CEs by pesticides (through stoichiometric binding) is considered a protective mechanism towards preventing neurotoxicity (AChE inhibition) under pesticide exposures. However, CEs also play a key role in endogenous as well as xenobiotic metabolism (phase I hydrolysis); thus, their modulation could compromise physiological and detoxication processes [13]. Other phase I oxidoreduction reactions such as those involving cytochrome P450 and its associated enzymatic activities (e.g. ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase (EROD)) are present but less represented and

considered in earthworm studies. Markers indicative of an oxidative stress condition, potentially enhanced as a consequence of xenobiotic P450 metabolism, include the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), the total antioxidant capacity (TAC) as well as the responses of antioxidant defences such as the activity of the so-called antioxidant enzymes such as catalase (CAT; transform H_2O_2 in H_2O and O_2), superoxide dismutase (SOD) involved in scavenging superoxide (O^{2--}) radicals, glutathione peroxidases (GPX) and guaiacol peroxidase (POD) involved in the reduction of a broad range of organic peroxides to the corresponding alcohols. Other enzymes with a dual role (antioxidant and phase II conjugation reaction) are the activities of glutathione *S*-transferase (GST) mainly involved in detoxification reactions and glutathione (GSH) from its oxidised disulphide form (GSSG) with a relevant antioxidant role. Endogenous molecules such as GSH and other molecular scavengers such as β -carotene and vitamins C and E also have a described antioxidant role.

Constitutive stress proteins, and in particular the heat shock proteins (e.g. HSP70), are also inducible and involved in the protection and repair of these cell biomolecules' integrity under multiple stress conditions, including heat. When the cell's natural defence mechanisms are overwhelmed, oxidation of biological molecules such as lipids occurs. This is known as lipid peroxidation (LPO), and the analytical assay (thiobarbituric acid reactive species or TBARS) to measure LPO quantifies the malondialdehyde (MDA) levels. In the case that oxidised molecules are proteins, its oxidation is measured as protein carbonyl (PC) formation. If the genetic material is that affected, then DNA damage occurs and can be measured in several ways, by the electrophoretic comet assay or single gel electrophoresis (SGE), by the formation of the oxidised nucleoside 8-hydroxy-2-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) using ELISA techniques and by measuring DNA degradation in the late stages of apoptosis by the TUNEL assay, amongst others. In earthworms, this effect biomarker (DNA damage) is especially relevant since it can be easily measured in coelomocytes as a validated non-destructive technique. Another effect marker widely used to measure damage occurrence in biological membranes is the lysosomal membrane stability (LMS) and the neutral red retention (NRR) assay a frequent method of evaluation. Immunology assessment is considered to be a general stress marker and has the advantage of being easily measured in biological fluids such as coelomocytes and can thus also be classed as a conservative technique. Histological alterations are morphometric measures considered signs of unequivocal damage consequences to higher hierarchy levels of biological organisation. Although damage evaluation is the most common measure included in many ecotoxicity studies with earthworms, this chapter places more emphasis on early warning biomarker responses such as those experienced by biochemical and molecular parameters. Some reviews have comprehensively addressed each particular biomarker in earthworms: ecogenotoxicity [14], genotoxicity, immune system, histology and antioxidant protective defences were addressed by Roubalova et al. [15] and esterases by Sanchez-Hernandez [6]. Other novel biomarkers applied to toxicogenomics and toxicotranscriptomics in earthworms will not be discussed here as they have been accurately addressed elsewhere [16].

In addition to traditional biochemical markers, gene expression and metabolomics are new molecular tools gaining importance in biomonitoring although genetic changes and endogenous metabolite alterations should be translated into protein and physiological consequences, respectively, to gain ecological relevance. In fact, to relate sub-individual molecular and biochemical modifications to higher ecological consequences is one of the main objectives on the use of biomarkers for toxicity assessment. Therefore, studies aimed at linking responses at different hierarchy biological levels are of the utmost relevance.

In earthworms, the organs/tissues selected for biomarker determinations mostly refer to whole tissue homogenates due to constraints on the size of those most frequently used as sentinels. Moreover, to consider the whole tissue is relevant as it informs on the integrative response of the entire organism. In the case of larger earthworms, such as L. terrestris, and for research purposes, the use of particular organs/tissues has been encouraged as it discriminates the most sensitive ones to particular exposures [7]. Nonetheless, for monitoring purposes which frequently require sufficient biological tissue to perform a comprehensive set of complementary measures, and in which the speed for processing large quantities of samples is important, the use of earthworm whole tissue homogenates greatly simplifies the protocol. In this sense, some studies have been centred on validating the whole tissue approach in respect of more time-consuming accurate dissection techniques that require more expertise. It is also worth stressing the interest in validating biomarkers measured in whole tissue using traditional destructive tools with these same markers measured using alternative conservative techniques in biological fluids (e.g. coelomocytes). Some studies in earthworms are designed to achieve this goal since, in addition to having an ethical value, they allow follow-up of exposures in the same individuals and thus, reduce biological variability and the number of individuals required for experimentation. In this sense, the use of the coelomic fluid and the well-developed nervous system of larger earthworms is the targeted non-destructive matrix and will be discussed further.

In the next section, earthworm studies conducted using mostly biochemical biomarkers since 2014 will be described in relation to specific types of pollutants as listed in Table 1. Only a few studies have addressed particular exposures to pharmaceuticals; thus, a consideration to other chemicals has been given. However, general biomarker responses in terms of immune responses, oxidative stress and neurotoxicity are expected due to exposure to pharmaceuticals as has been observed in other invertebrate groups. Given the promising evidences with the incorporation of biomarkers in the field of gene expression and metabolomics, some recent studies including this approach will also be considered. An additional section will address the importance of metabolism and metabolite identification in earthworms for two main reasons: (1) it evidences the pathway of xenobiotic metabolism taking place within the organism and (2) it identifies by-products with even greater potential toxicity after their metabolism (metabolites) and therefore of the utmost importance not only for the individual but also in terms of food chain transfer.

	Earthworm					
	species	Type of exposure	Tested biomarkers	Ref.		
Pesticides						
Several agriculture pesticides	Lumbricus terrestris (A)	Field study. Conven- tional vs organic orchard	CEs in 3 tissues of the gastrointestinal tract	[18]		
Carbamate (Pirimor [®]) and OP (Lorsban [®]) insecticides	Aporrectodea caliginosa (En)	Spiked soil for 1, 2, 3, 4 and 7 days	AChE in whole tissue and nerve conduction velocity (NCV) assay in medial giant fibres	[19]		
Ethyl-parathion	Allolobophora chlorotica (En) and A. caliginosa (En)	Up to 7-day soil spiked (0.1, 1 and 10 mg kg^{-1}) under lab exposure	AChE, CE activities, behaviour responses (burrowing, casting, feeding)	[20]		
OP pesticides: dimethoate and pirimiphos-methyl	<i>E. andrei</i> (Ep)	Filter paper contact test	AChE, CE activities in whole tissue vs coelomocyte extracts	[21]		
Commercial formu- lations of glyphosate (GLF), tembotrione (TBT) and nicosulfuron (NCS)	Dendrobaena veneta (Ep)	Three concentrations of each formulation using filter paper contact test. Measures at 7 and 28 days	AChE, CAT and GST activities and LPO (malondialdehyde (MDA)) levels	[22]		
Bifenthrin (pyrethroid)	<i>E. fetida</i> (Ep)	Soil-spiked test. After 3, 7, 14, 21 and 28 days	ROS formation, guaiacol peroxidase (POD), SOD, CAT, GST and EROD activities	[23]		
Roundup [®] Alphée (glyphosate-based herbicide)	Alma millsoni (Ep), Eudrilus eugeniae (Ep) and Libyodrilus violaceus (Ep)	Soil exposure after 1-, 2-, 4-, 6- and 8-week herbicide application	Activities of GST, MT, AChE, LDH, SOD and GPX. Levels of GSH and LPO	[24]		
Tebuconazole (fungicide)	<i>E. fetida</i> (Ep)	Soil spiked at 0.5, 5 and 50 mg kg ⁻¹ for 7 days	Biochemical (SOD, CAT, GSH and LPO), mRNA (SOD, CAT, TCPP and ANN-related genes) and untargeted metabolomics (NMR)	[25]		
Dinotefuran (neonicotinoid insec- ticide) and two metabolites: UF and DN	E. fetida (Ep)	Filter paper contact test for acute toxicity (mortality) and soil exposure (0.1, 0.5, 1 and 2 mg kg ⁻¹) for 2, 7, 14 and 28 days	Enzyme determina- tions (SOD, CAT), LPO 8-OHdG levels, gene expression Hsp70 and annetocin (ANN)	[26]		

 Table 1 Biomarker studies using earthworms as sentinels in the assessment of environmentally relevant soil contaminants

(continued)

	Earthworm					
	species	Type of exposure	Tested biomarkers	Ref.		
Metals						
Mixed metal pollu- tion (Cd, Cr, Pb and Hg) due to chronic industrial and agri- cultural activities	Metaphire posthuma (En)	Field study in 7 pol- luted sites	Immune response (coelomocyte aggre- gation), ROS forma- tion and antioxidant defences (phenoloxidase, SOD, CAT and GST) in coelomocytes	[29]		
Mixed metal expo- sures (As, Cd, Pb, Cr, Hg, Mn, Fe, Co, Ni, Cu, Zn) of soils	A. caliginosa (En)	Field study	GSH content, GST, GPX and GR activities	[30]		
Metal-contaminated soil (Cd, Pb and Zn)	A. caliginosa (En)	21-day microcosm study with natural field soil from 31 sites	Metallothionein gene (<i>MT</i>), CAT and GST activities, and pro- tein, lipid and glyco- gen reserves and the integrated biomarker index (IBR)	[31]		
Cd and Pb nitrates	Aporrectodea rosea (En), A. trapezoids (En) and E. fetida (Ep)	Artificial polluted soil after 7, 14 and 28 days	Genotoxicity (TUNEL assay), LPO (MDA) levels and total antioxidant capacity (TAC)	[32]		
Mixed exposures						
Metals and polyhalogenated compounds	Dichogaster curgensis (Ep)	Lab study consider- ing 6 polluted sites and a ref. Measures at 1, 7 and 14 days	CAT, SOD, GR, GPX, GST activities, LPO levels, histology in whole tissue and in coelomocytes: LMS (NRR) and DNA damage (comet assay)	[33]		
Industrial waste water (IWW)	E. fetida (Ep)	Lab exposure with soil contaminated with IWW	MT content in whole tissue and LMS (NRR) in coelomocytes	[34]		
Treated waste water (TWW)	E. andrei (Ep)	Lab artificial soil exposure after irriga- tion with TWW (10%, 50% and 100%) after 7 and 14 days	Enzymatic activities of CAT, GST and AChE, LPO levels and gene expression of <i>cat-</i> and <i>gst-</i> related genes	[35]		

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

	Earthworm						
	species		Type of exposure		Tested biomarkers		Ref.
Treated waste water <i>E. andrei</i> (Ep) (TWW)		1	Lab exposure, after 7 and 14 days, with field soils contami- nated for 1, 8 and 20 years and 2 clean sites		CAT, GST and AChE activities, LPO levels, genotoxicity (micronuclei test) and gene expression of <i>cat-</i> and <i>gst-</i> related genes		[36]
Fertilisers and agro- chemicals: urea, phosphogypsum, paper mill sludge, monocrotophos, glyphosate	Eudrilus eugeniae (Ep)		24 h lab soil exposure at 3 concentrations each chemical		LPO levels, LDH, AChE, CAT activi- ties, histology		[37]
Textile mill sludge (TMS) with cow dung	E. eugeniae (Ep) and Perionyx excavatus (Ep))	Mixed ratio of TMS and cow dung soil 60-day exposures. Metals (Cd, Cu, Cr, and Zn) in tissue	5	MT content and his tology analysis	tent and his- [. nalysis	
Pharmaceuticals and	personal care pi	rodu	icts				
Valsartan	L. terrestris (A)	7-, 14- and 21-day lab soil exposure at 5 mg kg^{-1} w.w.		AChE, GST and CE activities		[41]	
Triclocarban	E. andrei (Ep)	Paper contact test (0.016, 0.13, 0.16, 0.33 and 0.5 μ g cm ⁻²) at 24, 48 and 72 h		CAT and GST activities		[42]	
Triclosan and methyl-triclosan	<i>E. andrei</i> (Ep)	Soil exposure to $35.0 \pm 2.5 \text{ ng g}^{-1}$) for 28 d		DNA damage (comet assay) in coelomocytes		[43]	
Cosmetic sludge (CS) and foundry sands (FS)	<i>E. fetida</i> (Ep)	CS and FS at different percentage. 1 h (ex situ) and 7 and 14 days (in vivo)		DNA damage (as single cell elec- trophoresis): ex situ and in vivo and coe- lomic cell composition		[44]	
Livestock sludge (metals, veterinary drugs and pesticides)	Amynthas gracilis (Ep-En)	Soil exposure to sludge for 1, 7 and 14 days		AChE, SOD activities whole body tissue and in coelomocytes, LMS (NRR) and DNA damage (comet assay)		[45]	
Nanomaterials							
Multiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs)	E. fetida (Ep)	0.0 d.w 14	3 and 0.3 mg g^{-1} v. for 3, 7 and days	LN mo sis, AC	IS, granulocyte rphometric analy- , MT content and ChE activity	[46	ō]

(continued)
Zinc oxide nanoparticles (ZnO-NP)	E. fetida (Ep)	10, 50, 250 mg kg ⁻¹ after 7, 14, 21 and 28 days (in vivo)	In vivo ROS forma- tion, LPO levels and SOD activity and in vitro ROS forma- tion and LDH in coelomocytes	[47]
ZnO-NP and chlor- pyrifos (pesticide) independently and as co-exposure	E. andrei (Ep)	ZnO-NP (up to 1,000 mg kg ⁻¹), CPF (0-320 mg kg ⁻¹) and ZnO-NP/CPF at 3 dif- ferent ratios for 28 days	CAT, GST and AChE activities and LPO levels	[48]
Several copper oxide (CuO)- engineered nanomaterial variants	E. fetida (Ep)	200 and 1,000 mg kg ⁻¹ d.w. soil spiked with Cu-NP coatings for 14 days	GSH content, SOD and Na+/K+-ATPase activities and histology	[49]
Nickel oxide nanoparticles (NiO-NP)	E. fetida (Ep)	5, 50, 200, 500 and 1,000 mg kg ⁻¹ soil after 28-day exposure	Activity of SOD, POD, CAT and LPO (MDA) levels, DNA damage (as 8-OHdg) and histology examination	[50]
Plastics, plasticisers a	ind e-waste			
Polyester-derived microfibres	L. terrestris (A)	0.1 and 1.0%w/w MF for 35 days in soil	Gene expression related to metal, oxi- dative stress Mt-2/ hsp70/Sod-1. Behav- iour (avoidance test and cast production)	[51]
Di-n-Butyl phthalates (DBP)	<i>E. fetida</i> (Ep)	At 5, 10, 50 and 100 mg kg ^{-1} in soil. Samplings: 7, 14, 21 and 28 days	SOD, CAT, GST and peroxidase (POD) activities, GSH and LPO content	[53, 54]
Di-(2-Ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP)	E. fetida (Ep)	Spiked natural soil at 1, 3, 9 and 27 mg kg ⁻¹ . Sam- plings: 7, 14, 21 and 28 days	SOD, LPO, MT, HSP70, genotoxicity (comet), POD, LMS (NRR), mitochondrial membrane potential differential in coelomocytes	[55]
Polyethylene pellets (size 250 and 1,000 µm)	E. andrei (Ep)	62.5, 125, 250, 500 and 1,000 mg kg ⁻¹ d.w. in artificial soil for 28 days	Histology and immune-related dam- age assessment	[56]
Low-density poly- ethylene microplastics (MP) (size 250 and 1,000 µm)	<i>E. fetida</i> (Ep)	62, 125, 250, 500 and 1,000 mg MPs kg ⁻¹ d.w. in artificial soil. During 28 days	CAT, GST, LDH and LPO	[57]

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Bisphenol A	E. fetida (Ep) and D. veneta (Ep)	Artificial soil $(1-2000 \text{ mg/kg})$ for 56 days Contact test $(0.02, 0.2 \text{ and } 2 \text{ mg ml}^{-1})$ for 48 h	Immune system (coelomocyte survival)	[58]
Bisphenol A	E. fetida (Ep)	Artificial soil (1– 2000 mg/kg) for 56 days Contact test (0.02, 0.2 and 2 mg ml ⁻¹) for 48 h	Gene expression: endocrine related (EcR, MAPR, AdipoR), methyltransferases (DNMTs), stress related (HSC70 4), metallothionein. Epi- genetic mechanisms (Piwi2) and genotoxicity (PARP1)	[59]
Tetrabromobisphen- ol A (TBBPA) and Cd alone and combined	E. fetida (Ep) and Metaphire guillelmi (En)	Cd (1 mg kg^{-1}) and TBBA $(10, 50, 100, \text{ and}$ $500 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ in arti- ficial soil for 14 days	ROS formation, LPO and GSH levels, SOD, GPX and GST activities, histology examination	[61]
TBBPA	M. guillelmi (En)	¹⁴ C-TBBPA radiolabelled at 5 μg mL ⁻¹ chemical concentration mea- sures after 5-, 10-, 15-, 20-, 25- and 30-day incubation	Biomarkers: SOD, CAT, GST and AChE activities, GSH and MDA (LPO) content and metabolite identification	[62]
Decabromodiphenyl ether (BDE209) + Pb alone and combined	E. fetida (Ep)	BDE209 (1, 10 mg kg ⁻¹) and Pb (50, 250, 500 mg kg ⁻¹) in soil (28 days) and contact tests (48 h)	DNA damage (comet assay) and avoidance behaviour	[63]
BDE209 (+ Pb) alone and combined	<i>E. fetida</i> (Ep)	BDE209 (100 mg kg ⁻¹) and Pb (50, 250, 500 mg kg ⁻¹) in soil (up to 28 days) after repeated exposures	SOD and CAT activ- ities, LPO (MDA) contents and tran- scriptional levels of (SOD, CAT and Hsp70) genes	[64]
TBBPA, hexabromocyclodo- decane (HBCD) and BDE 209	E. fetida (Ep)	1, 10, 50, 100, 200, 400 mg kg ⁻¹ for 14 days	SOD, CAT and HSH70 gene transcription	[65]
BDE 47	<i>E. fetida</i> (Ep)	10, 50, 100, 200, 400 mg kg ⁻¹ for 14 days	SOD, CAT, GST and Hsp70 gene transcription	[66]
BDE 47 and BDE 209	<i>E. fetida</i> (Ep)	10, 50, 100, 200 mg kg ⁻¹ for 14 days	Metabolomics	[67]

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

HBCD	<i>E. fetida</i> (Ep)	50, 100, 200, 400, 600 mg kg ⁻¹ for 14 days	SOD and GST gene expression and metabolomics	[68]
N-Ethyl perfluorooctane sulfonamidoethanol (EtFOSE)	E. fetida (Ep)	Quartz sand exposure to 0.960 nmol g^{-1} d.w. for 10 days	Activities of AChE, POD, SOD, CAT, GST and levels of ROS, LPO and 8-OH dG. Metabolite identification	[69]
Triphenyl phos- phate (TPhP)	P. excavatus (Ep)	Acute filter paper contact test (1– 2 days) and chronic soil 28-day test at 10 and 50 mg kg ⁻¹	Metabolomics and metabolite identification	[70]
1-Butyl-3-methyl imidazolium tetrafluoroborate [Bmim]BF4 (ionic liquid)	E. fetida (Ep)	[Bmim]BF4 (5, 10, 20 and 40 mg kg ⁻¹) in artificial and natu- ral soil exposures after 7, 14, 21 and 28 days	ROS formation, guaiacol peroxidase (POD) and GST activities, DNA damage	[72]
1-Octyl-3- methylimidazolium hexafluorophospha- te ([omim]PF6)	<i>E. fetida</i> (Ep)	At 5, 10, 20 and 40 mg kg ^{-1} in artificial soil. Sampled on 7, 14, 21 and 28 days	ROS formation, anti- oxidant enzymes: SOD, CAT, POD and GST, LPO, DNA damage (SCGE) in coelomocytes	[73]
[Omim]BF4- and [Omim]Br- independent exposures	E. fetida (Ep)	Both at 5, 10, 20, and 40 mg kg ⁻¹ . Sampled on days 7, 14, 21 and 28	ROS formation, anti- oxidant enzymes: SOD, CAT, POD and GST, LPO, DNA damage (SCGE) in coelomocytes	[74]
1-Alkyl-3-methyl imidazole bromide ionic [C_n mim]Br ($n = 2, 4, 6, 10, 12$)	E. fetida (Ep)	Each at 5, 10, 20, and 40 mg kg ⁻¹ . Sampled on days 14 and 28	ROS formation, anti- oxidant enzymes: SOD, CAT, POD and GST, LPO, DNA damage (SCGE) in coelomocytes	[75]
1-Octyl-3- methylimidazolium chloride ([C8mim] Cl)	E. fetida (Ep)	At 5, 10, 20 and 40 mg kg ^{-1} in artificial soil. Sampled on 7, 14, 21 and 28 days	ROS formation, anti- oxidant enzymes: SOD, CAT, POD and GST, LPO, DNA damage (SCGE) in coelomocytes	[76]

Table 1 (continued)

In brackets the ecological classification of earthworms as anecic (A), endogeic (En) and epibenthic (Ep) is indicated as reported in [1]. Abbreviation for biomarker acronyms is provided in the text

3 Biomarkers of Pesticide Exposure

The use of biomarkers in earthworms to assess soil contamination by pesticides has received the largest body of attention and has already been accurately reviewed [3, 5, 6, 8, 17]. Studies by Sanchez-Hernandez and co-workers [17] have described the tissue-specific differences in the CE sensitivity to organophosphorus pesticides. Their studies provided evidence on the role of *L. terrestris* in improving soil quality and increasing extracellular enzyme activities, including CEs, as well as soil microbial activity thanks to their casts' contribution. As mentioned before, and for biomonitoring of polluted soils, more recent studies using biomarkers measured in whole tissue homogenates or coelomocytes will be given priority.

A Chilean field study assessing pesticide exposures in sites following conventional versus organic agricultural management practices selected L. terrestris as sentinel. The study took place over the four seasons and in three tissues of the earthworms' gastrointestinal tract and demonstrated that CE measurements in this species were adequate biomarkers of pesticide exposure [18]. Also the soil-dwelling species A. caliginosa was selected in an experiment with soil spiked with two insecticides: a commercial brand of a carbamate (Pirimor[®]) and Lorsban[®] as organophosphate (OP). The aim of the study was to relate the neurotoxicity marker AChE activity in whole tissue homogenate with an electrophysiological technique named nerve conduction velocity (NCV) in medial giant fibres and therefore, to validate the use of a conservative technique (NCV) to assess neurotoxicity [19]. In the attempt to link biochemical (AChE and CE activities) to behaviour responses (burrowing, casting and feeding) of ecological significance, the study of Jouni et al. [20] exposed two endogeic earthworms, A. chlorotica and A. caliginosa, in soil contaminated with the pesticide ethyl-parathion for 7 days. The in vivo and in vitro exposures to this pesticide suggested that A. caliginosa was the most sensitive species [20]. The measurement of activities in non-destructive coelomocytes of E. andrei in response to two OP pesticide exposures (dimethoate and pirimiphos-methyl) was recently validated [21]. In this study, responses of AChE and CE enzymes in whole tissue homogenate were contrasted with those in this bio-fluid using the filter paper contact assay [21]. Dendrobaena veneta, also an epigeic species, was selected for testing the toxicity of three herbicides at three environmental concentrations in Petri dish exposures using the filter paper contact test. Two trials of 7 and 28 days were performed in which the biomarkers AChE, CAT, GST and LPO (measured as MDA) were considered in addition to reproductive endpoints [22]. The associated biomarker and toxicity responses were seen as herbicide- and dose-related. Toxicity due to pyrethroid and bifenthrin was assessed in *E. fetida* for up to 28 days following soil gradient exposures. Biomarkers dealing with oxidative stress and metabolism (ROS formation, POD, SOD, CAT, GST and EROD activities) were measured and their responses seen as concentration- and time-dependent [23]. Indigenous earthworm species from Nigerian soils, namely, Alma millsoni, Eudrilus eugeniae and Libyodrilus violaceus, were the sentinels of a bioremediation study after the application of Roundup[®] Alphée, a glyphosate-based herbicide (GBH) in potted soils,

and several biochemical endpoints suggestive of GBH toxicity were assessed for up to 8 weeks [24]. Their results revealed the usefulness of the targeted enzymatic endpoints and antioxidant defences in earthworms for monitoring GBH-contaminated soil and identified E. eugeniae and L. violaceus as the ones with higher vermiremediation potential. Another recent study that encompasses biochemical, mRNA and metabolomics complementary approaches by Zhang et al. [25] evaluated the effects on E. fetida due to exposure to the fungicide tebuconazole under artificial soil conditions for 7 days. Amongst the biomarkers assessed, a confirmation of an oxidative stress condition seen by SOD activity decreases translationally controlled tumour protein (TCTP) and annetocin (ANN)related genes' downregulation as well as metabolic affectance of the AMP pathway (seen as the alteration of 12 endogenous metabolites) using untargeted nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) techniques, all pointing to consequences on the reproductive outcome of the exposed earthworms. In the same species, neonicotinoid dinotefuran was tested, using the filter paper contact test and soil exposures, for enzymatic and effect oxidative responses including gene expression of Hsp70 and ANN genes [26] but also the toxicity associated with its metabolites as indicated in Sect. 9.

4 Biomarkers of Metal Exposure

The field study [27] considered a comprehensive set of biomarkers, in addition to MT as a specific marker, and pointed out L. terrestris as adequate sentinels of metal pollution. Furthermore, the same authors using the same species related the response of MT in the coelomic fluid to that in the whole tissue homogenate in order to validate the use of an alternative non-destructive marker for metal monitoring [28]. The naturally occurring species *Metaphire posthuma* was the species of choice in a study aimed at assessing toxicity in several metal-contaminated sites from India [29]. In this case, they also used coelomocytes from the local species to associate metal exposures to the response observed in biomarkers dealing with the immune response, ROS formation and antioxidant defences. The naturally occurring soildwelling earthworm A. caliginosa was the sentinel in a field survey conducted in Slovakia also following a metal-polluted gradient. In this case, the biomarkers selected and measured in whole tissue homogenates refer to GSH-dependent enzymes such as GSH content, GST, GPX and GR activities, considered as antioxidant defences [30]. A multidimensional analysis (PCA) of the selected biomarkers revealed site-dependent depletion on GSH content while showing an increase on the antioxidant enzyme activities in the local earthworms due to metal exposures. The same species A. caliginosa was used in a microcosm study with natural soils, and the consequences of the exposures were evaluated after 21 days in terms of mt gene expression, enzymatic activities and energy reserves [31]. The closely related anecic species, Aporrectodea rosea and A. trapezoids, but also the epigeic E. fetida were contrasted in relation to their sensibility to metal-spiked soils (Pb and Cd nitrates) at different times of exposure (7, 14 and 28 days) [32]. In that study, non-conservative measures in whole tissue such as LPO (MDA content) and total antioxidant capacity (TAC), as well as measures in coelomocyte/genotoxicity (TUNEL assay), were related to metal partitioning in several subcellular fractions. Their conclusions confirmed the lower sensibility of *E. fetida* to metal exposures and therefore the need to include more ecologically relevant species in soil pollution assessment, as suggested previously in other earthworm studies.

5 Biomarkers for Mixed Chemical Exposure

Under a realistic field scenario, soil-dwelling earthworms will experience multixenobiotic exposures which are likely to require the consideration of a comprehensive set of biomarkers, including those dealing with general stress. This was the case of a field study in India using the earthworm *Dichogaster curgensis* as bioindicator in which the targeted chemicals were a consequence of fly ash pollution (mostly made of metals and polyhalogenated compounds). Amongst the biomarkers tested, there were antioxidant CAT, SOD, GR, GPX and GST activities and LPO levels, cytotoxicity, genotoxicity and histopathology as effect markers [33].

From a realistic perspective, and within the context of the usage of treated wastewaters (TWWs) in agriculture of arid and semi-arid climate areas, E. fetida was exposed to artificial soils irrigated with wastewater following different purification treatments [34]. The biomarkers of general stress, LMS (NRR assay) in coelomocytes, and the specific one, MT content in whole tissue homogenates, were measured after 28 days, and the authors claimed their approach proved suitable for assessing toxicological safety in reclaimed wastewaters' reuse [34]. Similarly, the species *E. andrei* was selected under laboratory soil exposure conditions for the potential use of TWW in agriculture, and a set of parameters involving enzymatic activities (CAT, GST and AChE) and gene expression (cat and gst) were considered as biomarkers in the exposed organisms [35]. The soil irrigated with an increasing percentage of TWW caused a reduction of CAT and AChE activities, while GST activity and LPO levels increased in the exposed earthworms, and the corresponding gene expression (cat and gst) was significantly downregulated with respect to controls. These researchers conducted the same type of study but considered natural soils that had been irrigated with TWW in a country with water scarcity problems (Tunisia) for an extended period of time: 1, 8 and 20 years [36]. The biomarkers considered in the long-term study were coincident with those considered before, but they also included genotoxicity (using micronuclei test). The longer exposures (20 years) impacted more negatively on the earthworm fauna, seen as enhanced genotoxicity, probably as a consequence of the higher metal and organic pollutant load detected in the longer-term irrigated soil experience. The vermicompost earthworm E. eugeniae was exposed for 24 h to contaminated soil containing three concentrations of several fertilisers and agrochemicals of concern in Indian agricultural soils, and the biomarkers measured comprised histology alterations, LPO occurrence and the activities of LDH, CAT and AChE. Histological and enzymatic alterations were detected as soon as after 24-h exposures [37]. The suitability of the indigenous earthworm, *Perionyx excavates*, and the exotic one, *E. eugeniae*, was contrasted in a vermistabilisation study using combined mixtures of sludge from textile mill sludge (TMS) and cow dung at different ratios, and the biomarker MT content and histology damage were contrasted in the two epigeic species [38]. A higher MT content was revealed in the non-native *E. eugeniae*, and the mixture TMS/cow dung (1:1) resulted in a reduced histological damage in respect to when the exposure consisted exclusively of TMS.

Prior to the application of biomarkers to assess toxicity of cocktail contaminant mixtures, and in the context of wastewater recycling for agricultural practices, an adaptation of the OECD filter paper contact test was conducted with L. terrestris. The selected chemicals (lamotrigine and cocaine) had been previously detected in TWW from the urban catchment of a major NW Mediterranean city or are a cause of concern to wildlife species (fipronil). This approach considered independent exposures to non-realistic concentration of the chemicals in order to unequivocally identify metabolites with the current techniques available and to recommend adequate biomarkers. The biomarkers tested in the earthworm whole tissue homogenate were GST, AChE and CEs (using four different substrates as suggestive of several isozymes); a group of unexposed organism was considered as reference, and another one treated with the OP pesticide bis(4-nitrophenyl) phosphate (BNPP) was used as positive control. Confirmation of the exposures (although not environmentally relevant) and metabolism was complemented with the analysis of the parent compounds and the identification of the metabolites in the same whole tissue homogenates [39].

6 Biomarkers of Assessing Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Product Exposure

Within the frame of water recycling for agricultural practices, the presence of urban pharmaceutical drugs and personal care products (PPCPs) in TWW has alerted for the potential transfer of these drugs to crops and the problem of antibiotic resistance in the exposed population. Concern on the negative impact of PPCPs also implies soil-dwelling organisms, considered valuable engineers for their beneficial role in improving soil biochemistry. The impacts on earthworms due to PPCPs have been studied under controlled laboratory conditions. The antihypertensive drug valsartan was selected due to its notable presence in TWW of a Mediterranean urban region [40], and *L. terrestris* was the sentinel exposed in soil contaminated with this drug. The dynamics of the drug (in the presence or absence of the earthworms) were followed up, and several biomarkers of exposure were determined over a 21-day period in the whole body homogenate of the earthworms. Earthworm enzymatic activities were related to soil biochemistry, microbial diversity and drug presence in

soil and whole tissue [41]. Microbial diversity increased over time with the presence of earthworms in soil as well as the overall enzymatic load in soil. Enzymatic responses (AChE, GST and CEs) in valsartan-exposed L. terrestris were mostly affected after 7 days and stabilised thereafter. Toxicity due to personal care products (PCPs) was evaluated in *E. andrei* after a short term (24, 48 and 72 h) using the filter paper contact test to several concentrations of triclocarban as modifications on CAT and GST activities [42]. Exposure to triclosan (together with its metabolite methyltriclosan) was evaluated in E. andrei under longer (28 days) soil exposures as DNA damage occurrence in coelomocytes [43]. To gain in environmental relevance, the toxicity associated with drug chemical mixtures was evaluated in E. fetida exposed ex situ to cosmetic sludge (CS) and foundry sands (FS) from industrial activities, using DNA damage and coelomic cell composition as endpoints, after 1 h and in vivo after 7- and 14-day exposure trials [44]. The suitability of using a non-invasive method for coelomocyte extrusion and genotoxicity evaluation to variable percentage of water leachates, 1.5, 3, 6, 12.5, 25, 50 and 100%, was demonstrated as ex situ but also in vivo in coelomocytes as soon as after 7-day FS and CS leachate exposures. Toxicity evaluation of soil affected by livestock farming activities (mostly made of trace metals, veterinary pharmaceuticals and pesticide residues) was validated in the epi-endogeic earthworm Amynthas gracilis using sublethal responses in AChE and SOD activities in whole body tissue and lysosomal integrity (LMS) and DNA damage in coelomocytes after 1-, 7- and 14-day exposures [45].

7 Biomarkers of Nanomaterial Exposure

As anticipated, studies screening for the toxicity associated with this class of emerging contaminants has been carried out mostly in the model earthworms adopted in soil ecotoxicology testing (Eisenia spp.). Toxicity associated with multiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) was assessed in E. fetida exposed to contaminated soil for up to 14 days, and, in addition to traditional endpoints (survival and reproduction), a set of biomarkers including morphometric measures, LMS, MT and AChE activity were considered [46]. A large proportion of soil toxicity assessment studies with these nano-contaminants using earthworms refer to engineered nanomaterial such as zinc oxide (ZnO). To select a few, a recent comprehensive study with E. fetida considered an in vivo approach on the effects of several concentrations of ZnO for up to 28 days in the responses on oxidative stressrelated biomarkers (ROS formation, LPO levels and SOD activity). This in vivo approach was complemented by means of in vitro exposures to this nanomaterial in the coelomic fluid as ROS formation and LDH activity measures [47]. Since nanomaterial-induced toxicity is usually ROS-related, the highest ROS content and LPO levels were found on day 28 at the highest dose nano-ZnO concentration (250 mg/kg). Similarly, ZnO nanoparticles alone and combined with the pesticide chlorpyrifos were assessed in E. andrei in a laboratory soil exposure for up to 28 days and included responses of oxidative stress biomarkers (CAT and GST),

AChE activity and LPO as endpoints [48]. The responses observed were variable and dependant on whether they had addressed single or co-exposures, with the authors stressing the importance of assessing the biochemical responses to realistic mixtures.

Several copper oxide (CuO)-engineered nanomaterial (ENM) variants were spiked in artificial soil (freshly prepared and after 1 year of ageing), and the toxicity displayed in *E. fetida* was evaluated after 14 days in terms of GSH content, SOD activity, the osmoregulatory capacity indicator Na^+/K^+ -ATPase activity and histology [49]. Their results revealed a coating-dependent difference in ENM toxicity to earthworms which was also modified after a year of soil ageing, and, in both cases, osmotic disturbance was revealed as the most sensitive endpoint.

Nickel oxide nanoparticles (NiO-NP) toxicity was assessed in the same earthworm model at a range of concentrations, 5, 50, 200, 500 and 1,000 mg kg⁻¹, in soil after 28 days. Biomarkers related to oxidative defences (CAT, POD and SOD), damage (as oxidised DNA and lipids) as well as histological examination of the whole tissue were evaluated [50]. Their results were also seen as dose dependant, and while POD activity, MDA (LPO) and 8-OHdG (DNA damage) levels increased, CAT and SOD defences decreased. Histology analyses also confirmed alterations of the epithelium layer, microvilli and mitochondria as well as potential adverse effects on the gut barrier.

8 Biomarkers of Plastics, Plasticisers and E-Waste-Related Exposures

The presence of plastic in natural soil is an issue of increasing concern especially for earthworm populations from natural and agricultural soils such as *L. terrestris*. Thus, this species was the sentinel selected for assessing microplastic exposures in natural soils polluted with polyester microfibres (MF) derived from textile laundering. During the 35-day trial, some gene expression endpoints related to metal, oxidative stress and general stress markers were considered [51]. The highest percentage of MF in soil (1%) caused a significant reduction in cast production and *hsp70* gene expression and an increase in the expression of *mt-2*, although metal content was not seen as a relevant contributor in the most polluted soil.

Phthalates are important plastic additives that in some cases can represent >50% of the polymer mixture (e.g. PVC) from which they can be easily released and be toxic to organism inhabiting polluted soils [52]. Phthalate exposures have been studied in the model *E. fetida* in standardised 28-day exposures. Di-n-butyl phthalate (DBP) was evaluated over time under a gradient up to 100 mg kg⁻¹ dry soil, and several biomarkers related to antioxidant defences (SOD, CAT GST, POD and GSH content) and the indicator of LPO damage (MDA formed) were considered [53]. In general, the activity of certain enzymes (SOD, CAT, POD) showed a downward trend while LPO increased. The same experiment also included the measure of

damage to DNA macromolecules using the comet assay, and it revealed increasing damage over time and dose [54]. Another particular phthalate, di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), was spiked in natural soil $(1, 3, 9 \text{ and } 27 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$, and several biomarkers were evaluated in E. fetida coelomocytes. Some parameters increased, SOD, LPO, MT, HSP70 and genotoxicity (comet assay), while others decreased: POD, LMS (NRR) and mitochondrial membrane potential difference in relation to concentration and over time [55]. The authors proposed a precautionary level of 3 mg kg⁻¹ for potential risk of phthalates in soils (based on DEHP results). Assessment of toxicity due to polyethylene (PE) pellet (250–1,000 µm) exposure in *E. andrei* was conducted at a wide range of PE concentrations (max 1 mg kg⁻¹) in soil for 28 days [56]. Damage in gut tissue was revealed at all concentrations in a dose-dependent manner as well as toxicity of the immune system. More recently, the same authors evaluated low-density polyethylene microplastics (MP) toxicity in the same model species, following the same standardised protocol but considering additional oxidative stress parameters (GST and LPO) as well as the anaerobic metabolism marker (LDH) as endpoints [57]. The authors concluded that MP exposure caused oxidative stress and changes in energy metabolism more significantly after soil exposures over 250 mg kg⁻¹ d.w.

Other plastic additives, such as the monomer bisphenol A, have also been screened for in vivo toxicity in the epigeic species E. fetida and D. veneta, and life-history traits and the immune system (measured as coelomocyte viability) were the targeted endpoints using chronic artificial soil and acute contact test exposures [58]. Although some species-related differences in sensitivity were seen, the immune system was not affected, while the reproductive outcome was compromised. The same researchers [59] selected E. fetida as bioindicator to search further into molecular gene expression effects due to BPA exposures in biomarkers related to endocrine function (EcR, MAPR, AdipoR), epigenetic mechanisms (DNMTs), genotoxicity (PARP1),stress responses (*HSC70* 4) and metabolism (metallothionein). Although soil exposure tests did not reveal effects at the molecular level in whole tissue homogenates, the particular analysis of the male organs showed effects on the endocrine-related genes, epigenetic mechanisms (DNMT1 and DNMT3b), the genotoxic-related PARP1 and the stress-related Hsc70 4 genes. The contact test for acute exposures also indicated effects on detoxification and stress pathways in whole tissue homogenates such as HSC70 4 and metallothionein, epigenetic mechanisms (Piwi2) and genotoxicity (PARP1) in addition to disruptive effects on male organs.

Flame retardants are also plastic additives of environmental concern in contaminated soils. The flame retardant tetrabromobisphenol A (TBBPA) is frequently present in plastics and electronic equipment and displays endocrine-disrupting properties [60]. TBBPA alone and under co-exposure with a toxic metal (Cd) are present in e-waste-contaminated soils. The consequences of single and combined exposures were evaluated in earthworms using several biomarker endpoints together with histological damage examination. The species were the standard model *E. fetida* and the soil-inhabiting and more ecologically relevant anecic *Metaphire guillelmi*. All biomarkers considered confirmed a higher sensibility in the natural-

dwelling species under co-exposures with respect to E. fetida [61]. Radiolabelled ¹⁴C-TBBPA was used to spike soil and follow up metabolism, biomarker responses and metabolite identification in *M. guillelmi* [62] that will be further addressed in the next section. Exposures to other brominated flame retardants such as the more persistent decabromodiphenyl ether congener (BDE209) and the metal Pb, in single and combined mixtures, as common chemicals found in e-waste recycling sites, were evaluated in *E. fetida* in a soil test. In this case, a behaviour endpoint (avoidance test after 48 h) and the measure of DNA damage in coelomocytes (after 28 days) were the biomarkers selected [63]. A follow-up of these e-waste components was carried out in a soil test that considered three repeated exposures to these two contaminants for 10 days. After this preparation period, biomarker measures were related to antioxidant responses and gene expression at times; 2, 7, 14 and 28 days [64]. Antioxidant responses and gene expression were correlated to the exposures, and SOD activity seemed to be more sensitive than CAT activity measures. Gene expression of genes related to antioxidant defences (SOD and CAT) and HSP70 was studied after exposures at several concentrations $(1-400 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ of the brominated chemicals: TBBPA, hexabromocyclododecane (HBCD) and BDE 209 [65]. Gene upregulation was chemical- and concentration-dependent suggesting the toxicity order TBBPA>HBCD>BDE209 and the HSP70 gene expression being the most sensitive biomarker. A particular BDE 47-associated toxicity in soil-exposed E. fetida was considered after 14-day exposures at a wide range of concentrations (10--400 mg kg $^{-1}$) and gene expression evaluated [66]. Out of the four genes considered, SOD upregulation and Hsp70 downregulation stand out as well as growth rate inhibition as the parameters more consistently affected. In addition to more traditional biomarkers, a metabolomics consideration was incorporated into some of the former studies evaluating exposure in E. fetida to relevant flame retardants under similar experimental dose and time conditions. That is, BDE 47 and BDE 209 altered metabolites involved in energy metabolism, Krebs cycle, amino acid metabolism, nerve activities and osmotic/compatible solute balance [67]. However, HBCD exposure induced oxidative stress (SOD and GST gene expression) and impaired metabolic homeostasis including anaerobic metabolism as indicated by seven metabolite modifications in those exposed [68]. All former metabolomics approaches confirmed the sensitive nature of the NMR techniques in relation to ecotoxicological assessment of flame retardants.

of Other organohalogenated chemicals environmental concern are polyfluoroalkyl substances with perfluorooctane sulfonic acid (PFOS) as the main metabolite detected in environmental matrices and being N-ethyl perfluorooctane sulfonamidoethanol (EtFOSE) its main precursor. A recent study by Zhao et al. [69] evaluated the degradation of EtFOSE (0.9 nmol g^{-1} d.w.) over a 10-day period in a quartz sand experiment and measured the responses in E. fetida in biomarkers encompassing oxidative stress and damage. In addition to metabolite identification, a time trend activation of POD, SOD, CAT and GST enzymatic activities and damage revealed as DNA (8-OH dG) and ROS formation was evidenced at the longest exposures. As substitute alternative of more toxic halogenated flame retardant, organophosphorus flame retardants also require investigation. Triphenyl phosphate (TPhP) toxicity was addressed under acute filter paper contact test and chronic soil exposures in the epigeic earthworm *P. excavatus* using a metabolimics and metabolite identification approach [70]. About ten endogenous metabolites and seven phospholipids were modified as seen by GC-MS and LC-QTOF methodologies due to TPhP.

Ionic liquids (ILs) are chemicals largely used in electric battery applications due to their chemical and thermodynamic stability and have been proposed as "green alternatives" to traditional solvents. However, their increasing use in technological, industrial and more recently scientific and medical applications could constitute a threat to biota present in soils contaminated with e-waste residues [71]. So far, all the studies conducted on assessing their toxicity have been based on E. fetida as the model. The potential toxicity of the imidazole-based IL. 1-butvl-3methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate ([Bmim]BF4), was evaluated in earthworms inhabiting artificial and natural contaminated soils in experiments for up to 28 days with greater toxicity observed in the earthworms from fluvo-aquic natural soils [72]. Another similar study but with the imidazole-based IL, 1-octyl-3methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate ([omim]PF6), was conducted in the same species under laboratory soil conditions for the same time period and with coincident endpoints [73]. Maximal ROS production and LPO occurrence were observed at concentrations of 40 mg kg⁻¹ after 28 days. Likewise, DNA damage (using comet assay) was revealed as the most sensitive endpoint which increased over time and dose. The toxicity associated with two ILs, [Omim]BF4 and [Omim]Br, was contrasted under similar soil conditions, and the targeted endpoints revealed a negative impact time- and dose-dependent on DNA damage (measured as olive tail moment) even though antioxidant defences were also enhanced [74]. The influence of the length chain of the IL, 1-alkyl-3-methyl imidazole bromide ionic $[C_n mim]Br$, from n = 2, 4, 6, 10 and 12 was also tested in a sub chronic toxicity text in E. fetida in the conditions described above, but in this case the endpoints were measured only after 14- and 28-day soil exposures [75]. Their conclusions revealed that toxicity increased with length chain but decreased after C_{10} . The same experimental design and endpoints were applied to a chloride-derived IL, 1-octyl-3methylimidazolium chloride ([C8mim]Cl), in E. fetida [76]. In this case, biochemical modifications of antioxidant defences did not prevent occurrence of damage (increased LPO and DNA levels) in a dose- and time-dependent fashion.

9 Earthworm Metabolism and Metabolite Identification

Metabolism may play a significant role in toxicity by two mechanisms: (1) it affects the bioaccumulation of chemicals and (2) it can originate metabolites with enhanced toxicity in respect to the parent compound. A comprehensive review on the earthworm's metabolism was published in 2015 by Katagi and Ose [77], but it was centred mostly on pesticide exposures. Depending on the chemical's nature, metabolism can lead to the formation of more reactive metabolites such is the case of OP

pesticides (oxon forms) and most polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and phenoxy herbicides (phenol formation) by oxidative reactions mostly catalysed by P450 enzymes. The authors from this former review concluded that in earthworms the main metabolic processes are carried out by the cytochrome P450 family, carboxylesterases (phase I oxidation and hydrolysis reactions, respectively) and glutathione S-transferases (conjugation phase II metabolism) although in quantitative terms they are less represented than in fish or higher vertebrates. Moreover, CEand GST-catalysed reactions are mainly detoxification pathways, whereas those by phase I cytochrome P450 enzymes can lead to more toxic metabolites.

The identification of metabolites can also shed light onto the metabolic pathways experienced by the parental chemicals in earthworms and the further assessment of their associated toxicities. The study by Oin et al. [78] on the toxicity of the two racemic forms of the insecticide fipronil identified by means of HPLC-MS/MS analyses several phase I metabolites resulting from oxidation (sulphide), reduction (sulphone) and hydrolysis (amide) and revealing the S-fipronil form was more toxic than the R-fipronil one. Other phase II conjugation mechanisms significant in mammalian systems (conjugation with glucose, glucuronic acid or sulphate) are not regarded as prevalent in earthworms. However, with more recent technological advances in analytical methodologies, metabolite identification has greatly improved. In soil-dwelling organisms, O-methylation seems to be the preferred detoxification strategy, at least for phenolic compounds such as TBBPA [62]. Exposure to the OP flame retardant TPhP in the 28-day soil microcosm experience with the earthworm *P. excavatus* formerly described [70] identified several phase I and phase II metabolites by untargeted LC-OTOF methods, with the glucoside conjugates more abundant than the thiol-derived ones. A suggestion of potential metabolite formation in earthworms could also be provided by the enzymatic responses altered after the exposures and its confirmation by the application of state-of-the-art analytical technologies. This is the case provided by the [69] study formerly described in relation to EtFOSE exposures in which an elevation of GST activities was indicative of this conjugation pathway taking place and its further confirmation with metabolite identification by GC-MS.

The importance of metabolite identification for further toxicity assessment was given by the Liu et al. [26] study on dinotefuran (a neonicotinoid insecticide) and two of their main metabolites 1-methyl-3-(tetrahydro-3-furylmethyl) urea (UF) and 1-methyl-3-(tetrahydro-3-furylmethyl) guanidium dihydrogen (DN) exposures in *E. fetida*. The toxic effects induced by UF and DN metabolites showed a significant dose-effect and time-effect correlation. By increasing the concentrations (0.1–2 mg kg⁻¹) and time (up to 28 days), more UF and DN were accumulated in earthworms, and these identified metabolites were responsible for changes in SOD and CAT activities, damage in lipid and nucleic acid and abnormal expression of Hsp70 and ANN genes confirming their toxic properties. More recently, an environmentally relevant study applied suspect and pharmaceuticals and at least 50 of its transformation products in wastewater, resulting from biotic and abiotic degradation processes, and its further toxicity assessment was applied using the ECOSAR model [79].

10 Conclusions

A larger body of evidence on biomarker responses in earthworms is provided by the use of epigeic *Eisenia* spp. as model species of soil toxicity assessment. However, due to the ecological role of anecic species, their inclusion as sentinels is highly recommended because of their impact on soil physico-chemical and biological properties and abundance in agroecosystems. Moreover, the deep-burrowing species have shown themselves to be more sensitive to chemicals than the epigeic ones. From a monitoring perspective and practicability, the use of whole tissue homogenates rather than particular tissues facilitates the protocols and has already been validated for many parameters. The inclusion of biomarker measures using non-destructive techniques (i.e. coelomocytes) also deserves consideration. Amongst chemicals, traditional monitoring had focussed on pesticides and metalcontaminated soils. However, in recent years, other chemicals of increasing presence in natural soils (e.g. pharmaceuticals, plastics, e-waste and associated chemicals) have been targeted. This is especially relevant in countries enduring water scarcity as they may use contaminated wastewater for crop irrigation. Outstanding from amongst the more frequently selected biomarkers are early warning responses that can lead to consequences at higher levels of biological organisation. Since from an environmental perspective, contaminated soils endure many types of chemicals, including pharmaceuticals to different extents, the use of general stress biomarkers is encouraged, that is, immunological, oxidative stress exposure and effect and neuro- and genotoxic biomarker responses as common effects revealed by those experimental exposures. The development of state-of-the-art analytical protocols will allow (1) the incorporation of metabolomics biomarkers to identify the endogenous metabolic processes likely to be affected by contaminants and (2) metabolite identification, as suggestive of the xenobiotic metabolism pathways affected and to favour further toxicity assessment of the identified by-products, as a more realistic approach.

Acknowledgements To the EU Water JPI-2015 AWARE project (PCIN-2017-067), D. Nos and D. Romano are thanked for their contribution to the project.

References

- 1. Rombke J, Jansch S, Didden W (2005) The use of earthworms in ecological soil classification and assessment concepts. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 62:249–265
- Lionetto MG, Callisi A, Schettino T (2012) Earthworm biomarkers as tools for soil pollution assessment. In: Hernandez-Soriano MC (ed) Soil health and land use management., ISBN 978-953-307-614-0. InTech, Rijeka, pp 305–332
- 3. Pelosi C, Joimel S, Makowski D (2013) Searching for a more sensitive earthworm species to be used in pesticide homologation tests a meta-analysis. Chemosphere 90:895–900
- 4. Pelosi C, Barot S, Capowiez Y, Hedde M, Vandenbulcke F (2014) Pesticides and earthworms. A review. Agron Sustain Dev 34:199–228

- Sanchez-Hernandez JC (2006) Earthworm biomarkers in ecological risk assessment. In: Ware GW, Whitacre DM, Albert LA, de Voogt P, Gerba CP et al (eds) Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology: continuation of residue reviews. Springer, New York, pp 85–126
- Sanchez-Hernandez JC (2010) Environmental applications of earthworm esterases in the agroecosystem. J Pestic Sci 35:290–301
- Sanchez-Hernandez JC (2011) Pesticide biomarkers in terrestrial invertebrates. In: Stoytcheva M (ed) Pesticides in the modern world-pests control and pesticides exposure and toxicity assessment. www.intechopen.com, pp 213–240
- Rodriguez-Castellanos L, Sanchez-Hernandez JC (2007) Earthworm biomarkers of pesticide contamination: current status and perspectives. J Pestic Sci 32:360–371
- 9. OECD (1984) OECD guideline for testing of chemicals: earthworm, acute toxicity test. No 207. OECD, Paris
- OECD (2004) OECD guideline for testing of chemicals: earthworm reproduction test. No 222. OECD, Paris
- Velki M, Ecimovic S (2017) Important issues in ecotoxicological investigations using earthworms. In: DeVoogt P (ed) Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology, vol 239, pp 157–184
- 12. Dawood M, Wahid A, Hashmi MZ, Mukhtar S, Malik Z (2017) Use of earthworms in biomonitoring of soil xenobiotics. In: Hashmi MZ, Kumar V, Varma A (eds) Xenobiotics in the soil environment: monitoring, toxicity and management, pp 73–88
- Di L (2019) The impact of carboxylesterases in drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics. Curr Drug Metab 20:91–102
- 14. Vasseur P, Bonnard M (2014) Ecogenotoxicology in earthworms: a review. Curr Zool 60:255-272
- 15. Roubalova R, Prochazkova P, Dvorak J, Skanta F, Bilej M (2015) The role of earthworm defense mechanisms in ecotoxicity studies. ISJ Invert Surviv J 12:203–213
- Gong P, Perkins EJ (2016) Earthworm toxicogenomics: a renewed genome-wide quest for novel biomarkers and mechanistic insights. Appl Soil Ecol 104:12–24
- Gonzalez Vejares S, Sabat P, Sanchez-Hernandez JC (2010) Tissue-specific inhibition and recovery of esterase activities in Lumbricus terrestris experimentally exposed to chlorpyrifos. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol 151:351–359
- Araneda AD, Undurraga P, Lopez D, Saez K, Barra R (2016) Use of earthworms as a pesticide exposure indicator in soils under conventional and organic management. Chil J Agric Res 76:356–362
- Mazzia C, Munir K, Wellby M, Rault M, Capowiez Y et al (2018) Nerve conduction velocity as a non-destructive biomarker in the earthworm Aporrectodea caliginosa exposed to insecticides. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25:24362–24367
- Jouni F, Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Mazzia C, Jobin M, Capowiez Y et al (2018) Interspecific differences in biochemical and behavioral biomarkers in endogeic earthworms exposed to ethylparathion. Chemosphere 202:85–93
- Ecimovic S, Grgic M, Bosnjakovic R, Velki M (2019) Biomarker responses in earthworm coelomocyte extract – noninvasively collected sample for pesticide effect assessment. Chemosphere 234:837–844
- 22. Hackenberger DK, Stjepanovic N, Loncaric Z, Hackenberger BK (2018) Acute and subchronic effects of three herbicides on biomarkers and reproduction in earthworm Dendrobaena veneta. Chemosphere 208:722–730
- 23. Li L, Yang D, Song Y, Shi Y, Huang B et al (2017) Effects of bifenthrin exposure in soil on whole-organism endpoints and biomarkers of earthworm Eisenia fetida. Chemosphere 168:41–48
- 24. Owagboriaye F, Dedeke G, Bamidele J, Aladesida A, Isibor P et al (2020) Biochemical response and vermiremediation assessment of three earthworm species (Alma millsoni, Eudrilus eugeniae and Libyodrilus violaceus) in soil contaminated with a glyphosate-based herbicide. Ecol Indic 108:105678

- 25. Zhang R, Zhou Z, Zhu W (2020) Evaluating the effects of the tebuconazole on the earthworm, Eisenia fetida by H-1 NMR-based untargeted metabolomics and mRNA assay. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 194:110370–110370
- 26. Liu T, Zhang X, Wang X, Chen D, Li Y et al (2018) Comparative toxicity and bioaccumulation of two dinotefuran metabolites, UF and DN, in earthworms (Eisenia fetida). Environ Pollut 234:988–996
- 27. Calisi A, Zaccarelli N, Lionetto MG, Schettino T (2013) Integrated biomarker analysis in the earthworm Lumbricus terrestris: application to the monitoring of soil heavy metal pollution. Chemosphere 90:2637–2644
- Calisi A, Lionetto MG, De Lorenzis E, Leomanni A, Schettino T (2014) Metallothionein induction in the coelomic fluid of the earthworm lumbricus terrestris following heavy metal exposure: a short report. Biomed Res Int 2014:109386
- 29. Ray S, Gautam A, Ray A, Das S, Ray M (2019) Analysis of oxidative stress and cellular aggregation in the coelomocytes of earthworms collected from metal contaminated sites of industrial and agricultural soils of West Bengal, India. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26:22625–22640
- 30. Maity S, Poracova J, Dey P, Vaskova J, Vasko L et al (2018) Antioxidant responses in the earthworm Aporrectodea caliginosa of eastern Slovakia: application of principal component analysis as a tool to identify metal contaminated areas. Environ Monit Assess 190:21
- Beaumelle L, Hedde M, Vandenbulcke F, Lamy I (2017) Relationships between metal compartmentalization and biomarkers in earthworms exposed to field-contaminated soils. Environ Pollut 224:185–194
- 32. Sinkakarimi MH, Solgi E, Colagar AH (2020) Interspecific differences in toxicological response and subcellular partitioning of cadmium and lead in three earthworm species. Chemosphere 238:124595
- Markad VL, Gaupale TC, Bhargava S, Kodam KM, Ghole VS (2015) Biomarker responses in the earthworm, Dichogaster curgensis exposed to fly ash polluted soils. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 118:62–70
- 34. Lionetto MG, Caricato R, Calisi A, Giordano ME, Erroi E et al (2016) Biomonitoring of water and soil quality: a case study of ecotoxicological methodology application to the assessment of reclaimed agroindustrial wastewaters used for irrigation. Rend Lincei Sci Fis Nat 27:105–112
- 35. Mkhinini M, Boughattas I, Bousserhine N, Banni M (2019) Biochemical and transcriptomic response of earthworms Eisenia andrei exposed to soils irrigated with treated wastewater. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26:2851–2863
- 36. Mkhinini M, Boughattas I, Alphonse V, Livet A, Bousserrhine N et al (2019) Effect of treated wastewater irrigation in East Central region of Tunisia (Monastir governorate) on the biochemical and transcriptomic response of earthworms Eisenia andrei. Sci Total Environ 647:1245–1255
- 37. Samal S, Mishra CSK, Sahoo S (2019) Setal-epidermal, muscular and enzymatic anomalies induced by certain agrochemicals in the earthworm Eudrilus eugeniae (Kinberg). Environ Sci Pollut Res 26:8039–8049
- 38. Yuvaraj A, Karmegam N, Tripathi S, Kannan S, Thangaraj R (2020) Environment-friendly management of textile mill wastewater sludge using epigeic earthworms: bioaccumulation of heavy metals and metallothionein production. J Environ Manag 254:109813
- 39. Solé M, Montemurro N, Pérez S (2020) Biomarker responses in Lumbricus terrestris exposed to drugs of environmental concern, an in vivo and in vitro approach (submitted)
- 40. Montemurro N, Postigo C, Chiron S, Barcelo D, Perez S (2019) Analysis and fate of 14 relevant wastewater-derived organic pollutants in long-term exposed soil. Anal Bioanal Chem 411:2687
- Gallego S, Nos D, Montemurro N, Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Barceló D, Pérez S, Solé M, Martin-Laurent F (2020) Fate and impact of valsartan on earthworms, soil enzymes and microorganisms (submitted)
- 42. Satyro S, Saggioro EM, Verissimo F, Buss DF, Magalhaes DP et al (2017) Triclocarban: UV photolysis, wastewater disinfection, and ecotoxicity assessment using molecular biomarkers. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24:16077–16085

- 43. Chevillot F, Guyot M, Desrosiers M, Cadoret N, Veilleux E et al (2018) Accumulation and sublethal effects of triclosan and its transformation product methyl-triclosan in the earthworm Eisenia andrei exposed to environmental concentrations in an artificial soil. Environ Toxicol Chem 37:1940–1948
- 44. Curieses PS, Saenz EM, Larramendy M, Di Marzio W (2016) Ecotoxicological evaluation of foundry sands and cosmetic sludges using new earthworm biomarkers. Ecotoxicology 25:914–923
- 45. Parelho C, Rodrigues AS, Bernardo F, Barreto MC, Cunha L et al (2018) Biological endpoints in earthworms (Amynthas gracilis) as tools for the ecotoxicity assessment of soils from livestock production systems. Ecol Indic 95:984–990
- 46. Calisi A, Grimaldi A, Leomanni A, Lionetto MG, Dondero F et al (2016) Multibiomarker response in the earthworm Eisenia fetida as tool for assessing multi-walled carbon nanotube ecotoxicity. Ecotoxicology 25:677–687
- 47. Li M, Yang Y, Xie J, Xu G, Yu Y (2019) In-vivo and in-vitro tests to assess toxic mechanisms of nano ZnO to earthworms. Sci Total Environ 687:71–76
- 48. Garcia-Gomez C, Babin M, Garcia S, Almendros P, Ana Perez R et al (2019) Joint effects of zinc oxide nanoparticles and chlorpyrifos on the reproduction and cellular stress responses of the earthworm Eisenia andrei. Sci Total Environ 688:199–207
- 49. Tatsi K, Shaw BJ, Hutchinson TH, Handy RD (2018) Copper accumulation and toxicity in earthworms exposed to CuO nanomaterials: effects of particle coating and soil ageing. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 166:462–473
- 50. Adeel M, Ma C, Ullah S, Rizwan M, Hao Y et al (2019) Exposure to nickel oxide nanoparticles insinuates physiological, ultrastructural and oxidative damage: a life cycle study on Eisenia fetida. Environ Pollut 254:113032
- Prendergast-Miller MT, Katsiamides A, Abbass M, Sturzenbaum SR, Thorpe KL et al (2019) Polyester-derived microfibre impacts on the soil-dwelling earthworm Lumbricus terrestris. Environ Pollut 251:453–459
- 52. Zhang B, Zhang T, Duan YS, Zhao Z, Huang XF et al (2019) Human exposure to phthalate esters associated with e-waste dismantling: exposure levels, sources, and risk assessment. Environ Int 124:1–9
- 53. Du L, Li G, Liu M, Li Y, Yin S et al (2015) Biomarker responses in earthworms (Eisenia fetida) to soils contaminated with di-n-butyl phthalates. Environ Sci Pollut Res 22:4660–4669
- 54. Du L, Li G, Liu M, Li Y, Yin S et al (2015) Evaluation of DNA damage and antioxidant system induced by di-n-butyl phthalates exposure in earthworms (Eisenia fetida). Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 115:75–82
- 55. Ma T, Zhou W, Chen Lk WL, Christie P et al (2017) Toxicity effects of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate to Eisenia fetida at enzyme, cellular and genetic levels. PLoS One 12:e0173957
- 56. Rodriguez-Seijo A, Lourenco J, Rocha-Santos TAP, da Costa J, Duarte AC et al (2017) Histopathological and molecular effects of microplastics in Eisenia andrei bouche. Environ Pollut 220:495–503
- 57. Rodriguez-Seijo A, da Costa JP, Rocha-Santos T, Duarte AC, Pereira R (2018) Oxidative stress, energy metabolism and molecular responses of earthworms (Eisenia fetida) exposed to low-density polyethylene microplastics. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25:33599–33610
- Verdu I, Trigo D, Martinez-Guitarte JL, Novo M (2018) Bisphenol A in artificial soil: effects on growth, reproduction and immunity in earthworms. Chemosphere 190:287–295
- Novo M, Verdu I, Trigo D, Martinez-Guitarte JL (2018) Endocrine disruptors in soil: effects of bisphenol A on gene expression of the earthworm Eisenia fetida. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 150:159–167
- Abdallah MA-E (2016) Environmental occurrence, analysis and human exposure to the flame retardant tetrabromobisphenol-A (TBBP-A)-a review. Environ Int 94:235–250
- 61. Chen X, Gu X, Zhao X, Ma X, Pan Y et al (2018) Species-dependent toxicity, accumulation, and subcellular partitioning of cadmium in combination with tetrabromobisphenol A in earthworms. Chemosphere 210:1042–1050

- 62. Gu J, Chen X, Wang Y, Wang L, Szlavecz K et al (2020) Bioaccumulation, physiological distribution, and biotransformation of tetrabromobisphenol a (TBBPA) in the geophagous earthworm Metaphire guillelmi – hint for detoxification strategy. J Hazard Mater 388:122027–122027
- 63. Li J, Zhang W, Chen L, Liang J, Lin K (2015) Biological effects of decabromodiphenyl ether (BDE209) and Pb on earthworm (Eisenia fetida) in a soil system. Environ Pollut 207:220–225
- 64. Hu S, Zhang W, Li J, Lin K, Ji R (2016) Antioxidant and gene expression responses of Eisenia fetida following repeated exposure to BDE209 and Pb in a soil-earthworm system. Sci Total Environ 556:163–168
- 65. Shi Y-j, Xu X-b, Zheng X-q, Lu Y-I (2015) Responses of growth inhibition and antioxidant gene expression in earthworms (Eisenia fetida) exposed to tetrabromobisphenol A, hexabromocyclododecane and decabromodiphenyl ether. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol 174:32–38
- 66. Xu X-b, Y-j S, Lu Y-l, Zheng X-q, Ritchie RJ (2015) Growth inhibition and altered gene transcript levels in earthworms (Eisenia fetida) exposed to 2,2',4,4'-tetrabromodiphenyl ether. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 69:1–7
- 67. Liang R, Chen J, Shi Y, Lu Y, Sarvajayakesavalu S et al (2018) Toxicological effects on earthworms (Eisenia fetida) exposed to sub-lethal concentrations of BDE-47 and BDE-209 from a metabolic point. Environ Pollut 240:653–660
- 68. Shi Y, Xu X, Chen J, Liang R, Zheng X et al (2018) Antioxidant gene expression and metabolic responses of earthworms (Eisenia fetida) after exposure to various concentrations of hexabromocyclododecane. Environ Pollut 232:245–251
- 69. Zhao S, Liu T, Wang B, Fu J, Liang T et al (2019) Accumulation, biodegradation and toxicological effects of N-ethyl perfluorooctane sulfonamidoethanol on the earthworms Eisenia fetida exposed to quartz sands. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 181:138–145
- Wang L, Huang X, Laserna AKC, Li SFY (2018) Untargeted metabolomics reveals transformation pathways and metabolic response of the earthworm Perionyx excavatus after exposure to triphenyl phosphate. Sci Rep 8:1–12
- Egorova KS, Gordeev EG, Ananikov VP (2017) Biological activity of ionic liquids and their application in pharmaceutics and medicine. Chem Rev 117:7132–7189
- 72. Shao Y, Hou K, Du Z, Li B, Wang J et al (2019) Evaluation of the toxicity of 1-butyl-3-methyl imidazolium tetrafluoroborate using earthworms (Eisenia fetida) in two soils. Sci Total Environ 686:946–958
- 73. Liu X, Zhang S, Wang J, Wang J, Shao Y et al (2016) Biochemical responses and DNA damage in earthworms (Eisenia fetida) induced by ionic liquid omim PF6. Environ Sci Pollut Res 23:6836–6844
- 74. Shao Y, Wang J, Du Z, Li B, Zhu L et al (2018) Toxic effect of Omirn BF4 and Omim Br on antioxidant stress and oxidative damage in earthworms (Eisenia fetida). Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 60:37–44
- 75. Shao Y, Wang J, Wang J, Du Z, Li B et al (2019) Oxidative stress and genotoxic effects in earthworms induced by five imidazolium bromide ionic liquids with different alkyl chains. Chemosphere 227:570–579
- 76. Guo Y, Liu T, Zhang J, Wang J, Wang J et al (2016) Biochemical and genetic toxicity of the ionic liquid 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride on earthworms (Eisenia fetida). Environ Toxicol Chem 35:411–418
- 77. Katagi T, Ose K (2015) Toxicity, bioaccumulation and metabolism of pesticides in the earthworm. J Pestic Sci 40:69–81
- 78. Qin F, Gao Y, Xu P, Guo B, Li J et al (2015) Enantioselective bioaccumulation and toxic effects of fipronil in the earthworm Eisenia foetida following soil exposure. Pest Manag Sci 71:553–561
- Wang X, Yu N, Yang J, Jin L, Guo H et al (2020) Suspect and non-target screening of pesticides and pharmaceuticals transformation products in wastewater using QTOF-MS. Environ Int 137:105599–105599

Vermiremediation of Pharmaceutical-Contaminated Soils and Organic Amendments



Juan C. Sanchez-Hernandez

Contents

1	Introduction	340
2	Impact of Earthworms on Soil Quality	342
3	Impact of Earthworms on Environmental Fate of Pharmaceuticals	346
4	Pharmaceutical Toxicity in Earthworms	348
5	Pharmaceutical-Contaminated Soil Amendments (Ex Situ Vermiremediation)	351
6	Pharmaceutical-Contaminated Soils (In Situ Vermiremediation)	354
7	Biochar-Improved Vermiremediation	359
8	Conclusions	364
Re	ferences	365

Abstract Human and veterinary pharmaceuticals reach agricultural soils via crop irrigation with treated wastewater and via soil fertilising with biosolids or manure. Compelling evidences on the environmental fate of pharmaceuticals suggest that accumulation of these emerging pollutants in soil is currently a serious risk for soil quality and food security. Currently, engineered remediation methodologies to remove pharmaceuticals from soils as well as those (e.g. aerobic composting) to treat biosolids and manure are not sufficiently efficient to full removal of pharmaceuticals. Moreover, these techniques are often economically prohibitive and may cause adverse side-effects in the environment. Microbes, soil fauna (e.g. earthworms) and their interactions exert a strong control in the organic matter decomposition and nutrient cycling of soil. By taking advantage of these naturally occurring processes, we propose the use of earthworms to clean biosolids and manure (ex situ vermiremediation) and to reduce pharmaceutical bioavailability in soil (in situ vermiremediation). The impact of earthworms on soil physicochemical

e-mail: juancarlos.sanchez@uclm.es



339

J. C. Sanchez-Hernandez (🖂)

Laboratory of Ecotoxicology, Institute of Environmental Sciences, University of Castilla-La Mancha, Toledo, Spain

and biological properties together to the tolerance of these organisms to pharmaceuticals makes these bioremediation strategies viable in soils receiving pharmaceuticalcontaminated amendments and water. Additionally, some studies have evidenced that earthworms (*Eisenia* spp.) accumulate pharmaceuticals in their tissues, thus being an advantageous biological process in the vermicomposting of biosolids and manure.

Keywords Biochar, Bioremediation, Earthworms, Toxicity, Vermicomposting

1 Introduction

According to the US Food and Drug Administration [1], the term active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) refers to "any substance or mixture of substances intended to be used in the manufacture of a drug (medicinal) product and that, when used in the production of a drug, becomes an active ingredient of the drug product. Such substances are intended to furnish pharmacological activity or other direct effect in the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease or to affect the structure and function of the body". Many APIs and their metabolites are currently detected in treated (or reclaimed) wastewater, biosolids (sediments obtained from wastewater treatment plants) and animal manure. In this chapter, we will use the term API to refer to both human and veterinary pharmaceuticals.

The incomplete removal of APIs during wastewater treatment and the high use of veterinary pharmaceuticals in concentrated animal feeding operations (CAFOs) are the main reasons for detecting APIs in treated wastewater, biosolids and manure [2, 3]. In addition, pharmaceuticals' consumption is significantly high in densely populated areas, particularly in Asian countries, thus leading to discharge API-contaminated wastewater [4]. Likewise, crop irrigation with treated wastewater and the application of biosolids and manure as soil amendments are common agricultural practices in arid and semiarid areas, where, in addition to water scarcity, soils are characterised by a low organic carbon content [5, 6]. Therefore, these agroecosystems have a high risk of contamination by APIs.

Irrigation of agricultural soils with treated wastewater is, therefore, a significant route of continual input of APIs. Indeed, some of them are named "pseudo-persistent" pollutants because of concentrations in soil keep constant via irrigation [7], despite displaying short half-life times [8]. Fertilisation with biosolids/manure is another important source of API contamination. Although APIs are generally detected in treated water [8–10], some studies have reported the occurrence of these pollutants in biosolids [11, 12] and manure [13]. Moreover, the application of biosolids to soil has been shown that increases the persistence of certain APIs (triclosan and triclocarban) probably because of organic matter of biosolids that decreases the API bioavailability for microbial degradation [14, 15]. Accordingly,



Fig. 1 An agroecosystem diagram illustrating the main routes of active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) input and dissipation in soil, with particular emphasis in the soil-plant system

API concentrations in the range of ng/g dry mass are detected in agricultural soils worldwide receiving this form of fertilisation [8, 9, 16], with high potential to be accumulated in edible crops [10, 13, 17].

Environmental fate of APIs largely depends on soil physicochemical and biological processes. A detailed description on physicochemical and transport processes governing API fate in soil is beyond of the scope of this chapter, but some generalisations are shown in Fig. 1. Environmental fate of APIs depends on intrinsic and extrinsic variables. The former are the physicochemical properties of the substance such as water solubility and dissociation of ionisable compound [18]. Some APIs are neutral (e.g. carbamazepine, diazepam, caffeine) and generally display a high capacity to bind to soil organic matter [7], whereas ionic pharmaceuticals (e.g. diclofenac, naproxen, ibuprofen, atorvastatin) tend to be less persistent in soil and their fate depends on soil pH. Among extrinsic variables, photodegradation, hydrolysis and biodegradation significantly contribute to API transformation and dissipation [11, 19]. Furthermore, soil properties also affect transformation and bioavailability of APIs. For example, the organic matter content of soil has a strong influence in the retention of hydrophobic APIs, therefore reducing their bioavailability and biodegradation [20]. It is now widely recognised that API accumulation in agricultural soils may be a serious threat to non-target organisms and natural resources. For example, ketoprofen, carbamazepine and caffeine were detected in groundwater samples from Europe at concentrations of 2.88, 3.60 and 4.50 μ g/L, respectively [16], suggesting a high mobility of these chemicals in soil. Likewise, many studies have demonstrated that edible plants growing in API-contaminated soils accumulate and translocate APIs to aerial parts [11]. Furthermore, APIs may cause biochemical and physiological adverse effects in plants, negatively affecting their growth and development [7]. As a result, non-target organisms including human beings may be exposed to API through the consumption of contaminated edible plants. For example, bee exposure to pharmaceuticals accumulated in pollen and nectar from zucchini flowers was modelled for carbamazepine, and outcomes revealed that honeybee colonies as well as the bee behaviour could be seriously affected by moderate hydrophobic APIs [21]. Nevertheless, field surveys are still needed to draw solid conclusions about exposure levels of wildlife to API-contaminated plants.

Soil functioning is also altered by APIs. Although biodegradation is the major dissipation route [22, 23], these chemicals are able to alter soil microbial activity and community [19] and soil enzyme activities [24–26]. Because soil enzyme activities catalyse most chemical reactions involved in the transformation and decomposition of organic matter, and nutrient cycling [27], their alteration by APIs could lead to soil degradation. Therefore, affordable mitigating measures and remediation strategies should be taken into account to reduce the potential environmental risks of APIs. In this context, the use of earthworms emerges as a promising strategy for reducing API concentration and toxicity at the source (treatment of biosolids and manure) and in agricultural soils receiving continual input of APIs.

This chapter describes the mechanisms and technical aspects linked to earthworms' capacity to remediate API-contaminated soils and amendments. The first section makes a brief overview of the earthworm effects on soil functioning, therefore providing insights into the importance of these organisms in API degradation (Sect. 2). The third section provides data on toxic effects of APIs in earthworms: a knowledge needed to propose these organisms as biological vectors of API biodegradation. The fourth and fifth sections consider two options for using earthworms in managing API residues: vermicomposting of organic residues such as biosolids and manure (ex situ vermiremediation) and inoculation of soils with earthworms (in situ vermiremediation). The sixth section discuss how to improve API vermiremediation by using biochar. The last section will identify knowledge gaps that require further research to boost the use of earthworms for enhancing the natural attenuation of agricultural soil against APIs and other organic pollutants.

2 Impact of Earthworms on Soil Quality

The term *soil quality* defines the "capacity of a specific kind of soil to function, within natural or managed ecosystem boundaries, to sustain plant and animal productivity, maintain or enhance water and air quality, and support human health

and habitation" [28]. This capacity is achieved by an exquisite interplay between inherent physicochemical and biological properties and processes, which are originally defined during soil formation or pedogenesis [29]. Many exogenous factors such as land use, agrochemical inputs, global warming and introduction of exotic species, among others, alter soil quality with the risk of causing its degradation (i.e. the loss of actual or potential productivity or utility of soil as a result of natural and anthropogenic factors [30]). Current knowledge on soil biology indicates that biodiversity is a pivotal property in soil quality [31–33], and conventional agriculture (defined as the agricultural practices that use synthetic pesticides and fertilisers in short rotation crops [34]) seriously threats it [35]. Therefore, promotion and maintenance of soil biodiversity is determinant to boost sustainable agriculture that ensures reasonably high crop yields and food security.

Earthworms are annelids belonging to soil macrofauna (i.e. organisms of >2 mm in size [36]) and exert a profound impact on soil quality. In general, these organisms alter soil microbial and mesofauna (0.1-2 mm, body size [36]) communities with indirect effects on nutrient cycling and soil biodiversity [37]. The continuous burrowing and feeding activities of earthworms create a complex network of permanent (anecic species) and temporary (endogeic species) galleries [38], which have led these organisms to be considered as "soil engineers" [39]. In fact, earthworms have a significant contribution in soil bioturbation, i.e. "the biological reworking of soils and sediments by all kinds of organisms, including microbes, rooting plants, and burrowing animals" [40], whereby they largely affect microbial population dynamics [41] and facilitate microorganism dispersion in soil [42]. These functional capacities have led earthworms to have a particular interest in agronomy and environmental sciences because of their beneficial effects on plant growth and development [43, 44], control of soil-borne pathogens [45, 46], indirect degradation of organic pollutants [47] and buffering effect in polluted soils [48]. However, the agronomic and ecological benefits depend on feeding habits of earthworms. Soil ecologists classify earthworms into three categories according to preferred soil habitats, feeding habits and morphological traits [36, 49-51]: epigeic, anecic and endogeic (Table 1).

Epigeic earthworms are small-medium sized, inhabit soil surface and feeding on decomposing organic residues accumulated on the soil surface (Fig. 2). Epigeic earthworms rarely burrow into the soil and ingest it, so they are little or no exposed to organic pollutants occurring in the mineral soil. Some species of this ecological group such as *Eisenia fetida*, *E. andrei* or *Lumbricus rubellus* are used in the composting of municipal and industrial organic wastes (vermicomposting) [52]. Anecic earthworms are large sized and create long, permanent vertical burrows and feeding on decomposing litter that collect from the soil surface and drag into the burrow or accumulate at the entrance of the burrow, forming a deposit of litter mixed with cast named "midden" [53]. They also ingest mineral soil to obtain particulate organic matter [49]. The middens are considered hotspots of organic matter decomposition and faunal diversity [54, 55].

Endogeic species are medium sized soil-dwellers and ingest large amounts of soil to obtain nutrients. Earthworms of this ecological group intensively built temporary

TADIE I ECON	ogical realures of earlyworms					
Functional		Pigmentation and				
classification	Feeding regime	body size	Longevity	Burrowing capacity	Mobility and predation	Examples
Epigeic	Feed on decomposing organic residues (litter),	Heavily pigmented (red-	Short lived with short genera-	No burrowing activity or limited to topsoil	Rapid movements in response to disturbance	Eisenia fetida Eisenia andrei
	and associated micro-	dish), usually	tion times	(A horizon)	Predated by arthropods,	Lumbricus
	flora, accumulated on soil	ventral and dor-	They survive		birds and mammals	rubellus
	surface (decomposers)	sally	drought in the			Lumbricus
		Small-medium	cocoon stage			castaneus
		size				Dendrodrillus
						rubidus
						Dendrobaena
						octaedra
Anecic	Feed on litter from the	Darkly dorsally	Long-lives with	They construct and live in	Rapid withdrawal into	Lumbricus
	soil surface that they col-	pigmented	long generation	permanent, long, vertical	burrow when disturbed,	terrestris
	lect on night, although	Large size	times	burrows. Some species	although they are slow	Lumbricus
	they also ingest soil to		They survive	form organic residue	moving on the soil sur-	polyphemus
	obtain nutrients		drought in a	stackings at the burrow's	face	Aporrectodea
			quiescent stage	entrance called middens	They are predated when	longa
					are at the soil surface	Aporrectodea
						nocturna
						Dendrobaena
						platyura
						Octodrilus
						mimus
						Eophila tellinii

Table 1 Ecological features of earthworms^a

Aporrectodea caliginosa Aporrectodea rosea	Aporrectodea icterica	chlorotica Octolasion	lacteum Octolasion	cyaneum Octolasion tvrtaeum	Proctodrilus oculata
Generally sluggish They are predated by ground-dwelling animals (e.e. moles)	Slow-moving earthworms				
They make temporary, sub-horizontal burrows in the mineral horizon of soil (unpermost 10–15 cm soil	deep)				
Intermediate longevity with short genera- tion times	They survive drought by	diapauses			
Unpigmented or lightly pigmented Medium size					
Feed on the organic mat- ter in soil (geophagous)					
Endogeic					

^aRömbke et al. [57], and Briones [36]



Fig. 2 Functional classification of earthworms. Epigeic earthworms are litter-dwelling which feed on organic matter accumulated on the soil surface. Endogeics are geophagous earthworms which construct subhorizontal, non-permanent burrows (they refilled the burrows with casts). Anecic earthworms built long, vertical, permanent burrows and feed on litter that collect from the soil surface and drag into the burrows. These earthworms also form an accumulation of litter mixed with casts around the burrow's entrance which is known as middens

horizontal burrows in the uppermost 10–15 cm of soil. This group is subdivided, in turn, into polyhumic, mesohumic and oligohumic endogeics, depending on the amount and quality of organic matter in soil [36]. Polyhumic endogeics are small filiform earthworms that live in the topsoil (A horizon) feeding on fine, organic matter-rich soil. Mesohumics are medium-sized endogeic earthworms that ingest soil with no selection (A and B horizon dwellers), whereas oligohumics are large-sized earthworms that live at higher depth soil (30–60 cm, B and C horizon dwellers) feeding on soil with a low amount and quality of organic matter [50, 56, 57].

3 Impact of Earthworms on Environmental Fate of Pharmaceuticals

The impact of earthworms on the environmental fate of APIs will depend on their ecological and biological traits. Many APIs are highly hydrophobic with K_{OW} values around 3.0 [58], so exposure of epigeic earthworms to APIs will be maximum as long as these chemicals are present in biosolids and manure applied to soil, or remain adsorbed to the organic matter-rich A horizon of soil where epigeic earthworms live. However, anecic and endogeic earthworms are suitable organisms to investigate the API transport in soil because of their constant burrowing activity. The feeding

behaviour of anecics means a vertical transport of APIs towards deeper soil layers, thus increasing the risk of plant exposure to these compounds via the root system. For example, some studies have reported that anecic (e.g. L. terrestris) and endogeic (e.g. A. caliginosa) earthworms facilitate translocation of water-soluble organic contaminants [59], metals [60], Ag nanoparticles [61] and microplastics [62, 63] from soil surface to deeper soil layers through the bioturbation process. Moreover, anecic earthworms could contribute to environmental fate of APIs via the following three processes: indirect microbial degradation occurring in the burrow walls and middens, vertical transport of APIs from the soil surface towards the deep soil via leaching through the burrows and via burying of API-contaminated litter, and trophic transfer of APIs to earthworm predators (e.g. birds). Past studies with pesticides [59], metals [64] and more recently with microplastics [65] also lead to hypothesise that APIs could be lixiviated by the action of earthworms. Likewise, the high microbial and mesofauna activity and diversity in burrow walls [66, 67] and middens [54, 68] make them hotspots for API biodegradation. In fact, a wide range of soil organisms such as springtails, enchytraeids, mites, nematodes and millipedes are generally found in earthworm casts and in the burrow linings [54, 66, 69].

All three ecological groups of earthworms will contribute to pollutant degradation in different ways, and the magnitude of this effect largely depends on feeding habits (litter feeders versus geophagous) and the impact on soil microorganisms, which are the major drivers of contaminant biodegradation. Furthermore, the burrow system holds a high microbial activity and biomass [67, 70], which is reflected in the higher enzyme activity of burrow walls respect to that in undisturbed soils [71-73]. Dissipation of APIs in earthworms' biostructures (burrow walls, casts and middens) needs to be further explored to know the impact of both anecic and endogeic earthworms in the environmental fate of APIs in agricultural soils. Recently, Briones and Álvarez-Otero [74] reported marked differences in the cuticle and epidermis thickness of the three ecological groups of earthworms. Anecic species have thickest cuticle $(4.03 \pm 1.6-5.72 \pm 1.7 \mu m$, range of mean \pm SD) and epidermis $(42.7 \pm 16.7 - 46.3 \pm 9.7 \ \mu\text{m})$ than epigeic (cuticle = $1.51 \pm 0.4 - 3.21 \pm 1.5 \ \mu\text{m}$, $5.2-39.4 \pm 14.5 \mu m$) and endogeic species epidermis = $24.7 \pm$ (cuticle = $0.46 \pm 0.15 - 1.22 \pm 0.52 \,\mu$ m, epidermis = $31.1 \pm 7.5 - 38.9 \pm 10.5 \,\mu$ m). Beside the taxonomical and ecological meaning, these species-specific differences in the tegument thickness may be relevant in ecotoxicology. Past studies using E. andrei as model already demonstrated that the uptake of organochlorine pollutants takes place across the skin and the gastrointestinal epithelium [75]. Using a three-compartment model (soil-earthworm tissue-gut content), the researchers found that the uptake of organochlorine compounds via gastrointestinal tract was a significant bioaccumulation route for highly hydrophobic chemicals (log $K_{OW} > 6$) [75]. In addition, the transfer across the skin decreased as the K_{OW} value of the organochlorine compounds increased. Probably, the mucous secretion of skin and the cuticle layer contributed to reduce the uptake of highly hydrophobic pollutants through the skin. The role of the cuticle thickness in API bioaccumulation may be supported by the data in the study by Carter et al. [76]. These researchers compared the bioconcentration factors and uptake rates of four APIs (carbamazepine,

diclofenac, fluoxetine and orlistat), and found that *L. terrestris* had lower uptake rate constants through the skin $(0.12-1.35 \text{ mL g}^{-1} \text{ day}^{-1})$ than *E. fetida* $(1.48-4.46 \text{ mL g}^{-1} \text{ day}^{-1})$. The variation in the cuticle thickness between both species could explain this marked difference in the API uptake rates [74], although contribution of other potential variables linked to experimental procedures (temperature of incubation, soil pH, feeding habit of earthworms) should not be excluded. Indeed, bioconcentration factors and uptake rate constants of APIs largely vary with the type of soil [77].

4 Pharmaceutical Toxicity in Earthworms

There is a huge body of literature dealing with the impact of APIs on soil microorganisms [19, 78]. Alterations in microbial community structure and microbial activity as well as emergence of antibiotic-resistant microorganisms are frequently detected in soil receiving APIs [79, 80]. However, toxicity of these substances on soil macrofauna is still scarce. Most data are obtained from laboratory incubation studies (standardised toxicity testing), which being important in a regulatory context for API marketing authorization [81], the outcomes provide limited information about the real impact on soil macrofauna in an ecological context. For example, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) guidelines recommend that assessment of API adverse effects on terrestrial ecosystems should follow the standardised acute toxicity tests issued by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), such as OECD 207 [82] and OECD 222 [83], or the International Organization for Standardization (ISO), such as ISO 11268-1 [84], ISO 11268-2 [85] and ISO 17512-1 [86]. The recommended earthworm species in all these tests are Eisenia fetida and E. andrei. These two species display a set of advantages for running standardised toxicity testing such as the high reproduction rate, the ease of measuring the toxicity endpoints (e.g. mortality, body mass change, reproduction rate, behaviour), the low cost of maintenance in laboratory conditions and the availability of individuals from local suppliers (e.g. fishing stores, vermiculture centres).

Toxicity testing has revealed that *Eisenia* species tolerate API-contaminated soils compared to other soil organisms. For example, *E. fetida* was used in a standardised multi-test study to identify the ecological risk assessment of the antiparasitic ivermectin [87]. The earthworm was less sensitive to ivermectin with no mortality recorded after 28 days of exposure to soil spiked with 0.47–5.71 mg/kg dry soil respect to collembolan and predatory mites. Similarly, the acute toxicity of fluazuron (an insect growth regulator used to control ticks) was evaluated using *E. andrei* and *Folsomia candida*. The acaricide was lethal to earthworms at high concentrations (14d-LC₅₀ = 111.3 mg/kg dry soil), reduced its reproduction rate (50% decrease respect to controls) at concentrations \geq 20 mg/kg, and the animals avoided soils contaminated with \geq 3.0 mg/kg fluazuron [88]. Likewise, the earthworms were also less sensitive to fluazuron than collembolans. *Eisenia andrei* and *F. candida* were also used for testing the acute toxicity of the veterinary pharmaceuticals nicarbazin

and monensin [89]. Nicarbazin was not toxic to both species at concentrations between 10 and 1,000 mg/kg dry soil, although monensin was lethal to earthworms (14d-LC₅₀ = 31.6 ± 1.13 mg/kg, mean ± SD) and significantly decreased the reproduction rate of collembolans (28d-EC₅₀ = 95.5 ± 28 mg/kg). The median lethal concentration of monensin for earthworms was similar to that reported in a previous study with *E. andrei* (28d-LC₅₀ = 49.3 mg/kg dry soil) [90], although the incubation time was double than that of the study by Menezes-Oliveira et al. [89].

However, cautions must be taken when extrapolating outcomes from lab-scale toxicity testing to the field. First, the earthworm ecology and distribution should be considered in the environmental risk assessment of APIs. Eisenia fetida and E. andrei are epigeic earthworms, which mean that they live above the mineral soil surface and feed on plant litter [36]. These species rarely burrow into the soil as anecic and endogeic earthworms do, so exposure of epigeics to API-contaminated mineral soils should be lower than that for geophagous earthworm species [91]. Additionally, because agricultural soils are continually altered by tilling in successive crop seasons, *Eisenia* spp. are not abundant in these soils. Conversely, anecic and endogeic species are well represented in agroecosystems [92-94]. Second, the toxicity tests recommend the use of artificial soils (e.g. OECD soil or LUFA 2.2 soil), which obviously cannot be considered agricultural soils. A myriad of fluctuating variables of field soils may influence API degradation, bioavailability and mobility that are not considered in artificial soils, such as quantity and quality of organic matter content, microbial communities, aggregate distribution, etc. Third, the risk of species confusion in toxicity testing is another potential disturbing variable. In the case of *E. fetida* and *E. andrei*, both species can be easily confused with the risk of obtaining non accurate results. They are different species [95], with probably different responses (ecotoxicological biomarkers) to environmental pollutants [96]. Therefore, caution should be taken when using *Eisenia* spp. in the assessment of API toxicity. Finally, species-specific differences in earthworm sensitivity to environmental contaminants should be also considered when assessing API toxicity. For example, a meta-analysis study revealed that L. terrestris and A. caliginosa are more sensitive to pesticide toxicity than E. fetida, which questions the role of the latter for establishing environmental protection limits [97]. Indeed, earthworm species other than Eisenia spp. are now suggested as model organisms for standardised soil toxicity testing [91, 98, 99]. Therefore, despite the improvements made by EMA on the original guideline document for the environmental risk assessment of APIs [81] – discussed in Whomsley et al. [100] – the inclusion of other earthworm species highly representative of agroecosystems is not considered yet.

Earthworm biomarkers have been also included in toxicity testing as indicators of API bioavailability and to assess the potential adverse effects of APIs. For example, signs of oxidative stress (antioxidant enzyme activities and lipid peroxidation) and genotoxicity (DNA breaks) induced by chlortetracycline were observed in *E. fetida* incubated in antibiotic-spiked soils for 28 days, although such responses were not dose-dependent [101]. The researchers also found neither dead worms nor significant decrease in reproduction rate (number of juveniles and cocoons) at the highest antibiotic concentrations (100 and 300 mg/kg). Using the contact filter paper test

(OECD 1984), McKelvie et al. [102] investigated the nuclear magnetic resonancebased metabolomic profile of *E. fetida* exposed for 48 days to caffeine $(19.3 \,\mu\text{g/cm}^2)$, carbamazepine $(1,000 \ \mu\text{g/cm}^2)$ and estrone $(1,000 \ \mu\text{g/cm}^2)$. These researchers found that carbamazepine and estrone caused a decrease in the concentration of certain metabolites in the whole earthworm body, although at a level of statistical significance of $\alpha = 0.1$. Despite the promising potential of metabolomics to elucidate the mode of action of APIs, several questions related to tissue-specific metabolic alterations or whether the natural environment (e.g. soil or organic matter-rich substrates) can modulate the earthworm metabolite profile remain unanswered at present. Genotoxic and oxidative stress have also been evaluated in E. fetida exposed to API-spiked soils by Dong et al. [103]. DNA damage assessed by the comet assay was the only biomarker that provided a consistent dose-dependent relationship with tetracycline, chlortetracycline, and the combination of both antibiotics. The antioxidant enzymes catalase and superoxide dismutase had erratic responses to the antibiotic exposure. The low number of replicates (n = 3 earthworm/treatment) in that study could be a limiting factor in concluding whether tetracycline, and chlortetracycline are oxidative stress inducers in earthworms.

Although the primary scope of ecotoxicological biomarkers is to predict adverse effects at individual and population levels, no study reports consistent data linking sub-individual level responses (e.g. DNA damage, antioxidant enzyme responses) with adverse effects at higher levels of biological organisation. Therefore, the impact of environmentally realistic concentrations of APIs on earthworms remains to be elucidated. Moreover, the functional association between biomarker responses and API toxicity is a challenge when the mechanism of toxic action in non-target organisms as earthworms is unknown. The reader can find a detailed analysis of earthworm biomarker applications in the Chap. 10 in this book.

The range of API concentrations in ecotoxicity testing normally are unrealistic, although they could represent a worst-case scenario defined by a continue input of APIs via biosolids application or irrigation with treated wastewater, low environmental degradation rate of APIs and soils with a high organic matter content. Nevertheless, the effective API concentrations estimated from laboratory toxicity testing are generally higher than those regularly detected in agricultural soils. For example, an acute toxicity testing with 18 pharmaceuticals using E. fetida and the standard OECD artificial soil revealed that only 8 drugs were lethal to earthworms after 14 days of exposure. The 14d-LC₅₀ values were higher than API concentrations frequently found in soil, varying between 64.8 mg/kg (ibuprofen) and 3,298 mg/kg (propranolol) [104]. Therefore, data collected from standardised toxicity tests suggest that environmentally relevant pharmaceutical concentrations in soil, defined in the context of background concentrations reported in the literature, do not represent a serious risk to Eisenia species, at least at short term. However, because these epigeic earthworms are typically used in the aerobic decomposition of solid organic waste (particularly E. andrei [105, 106]), the question arises as: are API concentrations measured in cattle manure or biosolids high enough as to be toxic to composting earthworms, so compromising the vermicomposting process?

Soil-dwelling earthworms have also been used to test API toxicity and, like with epigeic earthworms, the results point out to a certain degree of tolerance. For example, toxic effects from the antibiotics tylosin and oxytetracycline were assessed using the endogeic earthworm *A. caliginosa* incubated in an agricultural sandy loam soil [107]. The researchers did not find significant effects after 21 days of exposure to the antibiotic-spiked soils (500–5,000 mg/kg dry soil). Therefore, assuming a certain degree of tolerance of soil-dwelling earthworm species to APIs, we propose that inoculation of agricultural soils with earthworms could be an eco-friendly strategy to alleviate potential toxic effects of these chemicals on soil microbial activity, and to reduce the uptake of APIs by plants. The next two sections provide an overview on how earthworms may function as "bioreactors" of API degradation in the feedstocks to be used as soil amendments as well as in agricultural soils.

5 Pharmaceutical-Contaminated Soil Amendments (Ex Situ Vermiremediation)

Fertilisation of agricultural soils with biosolids and treated (or untreated) manure is one of the main routes of soil contamination with APIs. Biosolids are stabilised organic materials resulting from treatment of municipal or industrial sewage that meet regulatory guidelines for its application as a soil amendment [108]. It is now recognised that biosolids application to agricultural lands increase the concentration of APIs in soil, the risk of surface water and groundwater contamination and the uptake of API (and metabolites) by plants [109]. Furthermore, biosolids application is between 5 and 50 times greater in forest and degraded sites than in agricultural soils [109], which represent a high ecological risk for soil biodiversity and soil biological processes.

One of the environmental risks of CAFOs is the occurrence of veterinary pharmaceuticals (e.g. antibiotics) in manure [110]. The high consumption of antibiotics in CAFOs together to the fact that antibiotics are not completely metabolised by animals [111], lead to their presence in urine and manure. The most frequently antibiotics found in animal manure belong to fluoroquinolones, sulfonamides and tetracyclines [110, 111]. Concentrations of these pharmaceuticals may be so high that direct application of untreated manure to soil is discouraged or forbidden. Accordingly, manure is aerobically or anaerobically treated to reduce the risk of soil contamination by APIs and other environmental contaminants and to obtain thereby value-added organic fertilisers. The most frequent treatments are composting, anaerobic digestion and accumulation in aerobic/anaerobic open-air ponds. Among them, composting provides the most technically easy and low-cost option, but there are still uncertainties about the extent of API biodegradation during composting. Although composting generally removes >90% of APIs [111], some studies show that this technique is not efficient for the full elimination of some types of APIS. For example, 17-31% of the initial concentration of ciprofloxacin (fluoroquinolone) in swine manure was found in the resulting compost [112]. Similarly, composting of turkey litter spiked with some antibiotics led to the full removal of chlortetracycline, whereas reduction of monensin and tylosin varied between 54 and 76% of initial concentration and sulfamethazine was not removed at all [113]. It is postulated that sorption processes seem to be the most feasible elimination pathway for many APIs during composting [110, 111], thus hampering the mineralisation of these chemicals. However, most studies on composting-induced degradation of APIs do not consider the mass evolution of feedstock (e.g. formation of humic substances) during composting and the mechanisms underpinning the API degradation, so leading to inaccurate conclusions on the composting efficiency in the removal of APIs [114]. In addition, the impact of composting on API degradation has been a research topic mainly investigated at lab scale using API-spiked manures, so the aging effect has not been considered. Aging of hydrophobic organic pollutants in soil is a well-known phenomenon whereby pollutant availability and biodegradation decrease as the time that pollutants remain in soil increases [115]. A similar assumption has not been considered in composting studies of API-contaminated feedstocks where organic matter content is higher than that in agricultural soils. Likewise, complementary strategies such as vermicomposting (use of earthworms in composting of solid organic residues) have not been deeply investigated. Indeed, some benefits could be obtained with vermicomposting technology compared to aerobic composting. For example, the quality of compost, in terms of physicochemical properties, produced from green waste (trimmings and litter) was higher with vermicomposting than with composting [116]. Additionally, enzymes such as phosphatase and β -glucosidase showed a higher activity in the vermicompost than in compost, both produced from cattle manure [117]. The impact of vermicompost on soil physicochemical and biological properties was reviewed by Lim et al. [118], who concluded that vermicompost has a higher beneficial impact on plant growth and soil fertility than compost, because the former contains a larger amount of available nutrients and plant growth-stimulating substances (phytohormones), which probably degrade during the thermophilic phase of aerobic composting.

Vermicomposting is an oxidative process mainly driven by earthworms and microorganisms, whereby organic wastes are broken down and transformed into a fine and porous peat-like material named vermicompost [119]. This bio-oxidative process occurs in a mesophilic environment (<30°C) created by the continue activity of epigeic earthworms (e.g. *Eisenia* spp.), which aerate and facilitate heat dissipation during organic matter decomposition. Vermicomposting of organic waste has been described by Domínguez [106] in two actions: the earthworm gut-associated processes (GAPs) and the cast-associated processes (CAPs) (Fig. 3). The GAPs involve the physical break down (e.g. grinding in gizzard) and biochemical transformations of organic matter ingested by earthworms. Secretion of enzymes from the earthworm gut epithelium and exoenzymes secreted by gut symbionts provide a biochemical cocktail to decompose the organic matter [120, 121]. Nutrients are absorbed at the gut epithelium, and secretion of the egested material (casts). It is interesting to highlight that during GAPs, the initial microbial composition and activity of the



Fig. 3 Hypothesised model on vermicomposting of active pharmaceutical ingredient (API)contaminated feedstocks (e.g. biosolids and manure). Fate of APIs during vermicomposting may follow multiple pathways (biodegradation or immobilisation) depending on the physicochemical properties of APIs and the biological cast-associated processes (CAPs) and gut-associated processes (GAPs) occurring during vermicomposting. In CAPs, pharmaceuticals may be bound to the cuticle, cross the earthworm tegument or bound to the organic matter of fresh feedstock, casts and mucus. Likewise, microorganisms of the feedstock and casts may degrade APIs. In GAPs, ingested pharmaceuticals may be breakdown by enzymes released from both symbionts and the earthworm gut epithelium. Additionally, APIs may be co-metabolised by symbionts or cross the gut epithelium. Adapted from Sanchez-Hernandez et al. [167] with permission from Elsevier

ingested material change during the gastrointestinal transit [121, 122]. Some studies have reported that pathogens generally occurring in cattle manure are significantly reduced in the earthworm cast probably as a consequence of the digestive processes occurring in the gastrointestinal tract of earthworms [123, 124]. The CAPs occur in the earthworm casts, and microorganisms and other decomposer fauna (e.g. collembolan) actively participate in the further decomposition of more recalcitrant organic wastes such as lignin, cellulose and hemicellulose (maturation stage). Therefore, CAPs prolong the decomposition of the feedstock although earthworms are no longer present. Indeed, changes in the enzymatic profile, microbial composition and nutrient concentration still happen in the maturation phase (earthworm free) of vermicomposting [125, 126].

In summary, it can be postulated that vermicomposting provides a source of microorganisms and extracellular enzymes with potential capacity for breaking down organic pollutants present in the feedstock (intrinsic remediation potential) and to remediate polluted soils when vermicompost is used as a soil amendment (extrinsic remediation potential).

Vermicomposting of biosolids and manure requires the assessment of three critical issues: (1) earthworm tolerance to APIs, (2) biodegradation of APIs and metabolites and (3) development of resistant microbial strains. For example,

vermicomposting of biosolids experimentally contaminated with tetracycline revealed that the concentration of 100 mg/kg had a stimulating effect on earthworm growth and organic matter decomposition, whereas that higher concentrations (500 and 1,000 mg/kg) led to a significant decrease of the decomposition process and to the emergence of antibiotic-resistant genes, thus compromising the quality and environmental safety of the final vermicompost [127]. Similarly, degradation of oxytetracycline and its main metabolites in chicken manure mixed with shredded paper waste was monitored in a co-composting system, which consisted in a first thermophilic composting phase followed by vermicomposting. Results from that study revealed that the additional phase of vermicomposting increased the degradation of oxytetracycline and its metabolite 4-epi-oxytetracycline in the feedstock containing a C:N ratio of 40 [128]. Despite these studies, there are still many unknowns on the efficiency of vermicomposting in reducing the concentration and toxicity of APIs and their metabolites. Furthermore there is no data available on the microorganisms and enzyme activities implied in API biodegradation, so that the vermicomposting process can be externally modified to facilitate removal of APIs.

Earthworms can accumulate biosolids-bound APIs. For example, *E. fetida* accumulated around 20% of ciprofloxacin and 40% of azithromycin present in soils amended with anaerobically digested biosolids which were contaminated with these antibiotics [26]. Although the study suggests ecological implications of the moderate bioaccumulation of APIs by earthworms, as these organisms may introduce APIs in food webs, their bioaccumulation capacity can be also regarded as an opportunity for removing APIs during biosolids vermicomposting.

6 Pharmaceutical-Contaminated Soils (In Situ Vermiremediation)

Soil bioturbation by earthworms has been exploited as a bioremediation strategy [129]. Earthworms are able to facilitate biodegradation of organic contaminants via three processes: (1) stimulating soil microorganisms, which may co-metabolise pollutants; (2) mobilising contaminants entrapped in soil organomineral complexes, thus rendering them bioaccessible to microbial biodegradation; and (3) altering the soil physicochemical properties (e.g. pH), which may contribute to contaminant degradation. Besides these external degrading processes, the gastrointestinal tract of earthworms contributes to contaminant degradation by the action of the gut symbionts and digestive enzyme secretion [47, 130]. Many studies have shown that earthworm activity in soils contaminated by environmental pollutants such as pesticides, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) or polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) reduces the initial concentration of these organic pollutants [47]. However, most of these studies have been performed under controlled conditions of laboratory (microcosm), and the real impact of earthworms in soil persistence of contaminants requires field validation [131]. Nevertheless, earthworm activity may also have no

effect on contaminant degradation rate. The most reliable explanation for this effect is the change in soil organic matter content and quality (humification) by earthworm activity. However, earthworms exert a positive effect on soil microbial activity and exoenzyme production even in the presence of environmental contaminants [48]. Taken together these studies suggest that inoculation of agricultural soils with earthworms could be a suitable strategy to remove or immobilise APIs, thus reducing the risk of being available to plants.

To date, remediation technology aimed to remove APIs is focused on the treatment of wastewater [2]. In soil remediation, only physical and chemical engineering systems have been tested in API-contaminated soils. For example, the electrokinetic technique, which consists of applying an electric field using two or more electrodes introduced in soil, has been used to remediate soils spiked with a mixture of sulfamethoxazole, ibuprofen, triclosan and caffeine [132]. The soil physicochemical alterations induced by the electric field, mainly on soil pH, caused a significant API degradation (13-85% of initial concentration) within 7 days of continual electrokinetic treatment (10 mA of current intensity). Among the chemical remediation methods, the use of the oxidant chemical persulfate alone or in combination with activating agents (iron), heat, alkaline chemicals or electrokinetic is widely used in the degradation of a variety of environmental contaminants such as PCBs, PAHs, pesticides, phthalates and APIs [133]. For example, ibuprofen (46-48 µM/kg soil) was fully removed from soils after a 60-min treatment with persulfate (20 mM/kg soil) activated by thermal treatment of soil (60° C) [134]. In a similar laboratory study, the antibiotic sulfamethoxazole was almost fully degraded (87.6% of initial concentration) in agricultural soils incubated for 4 h at 30°C with persulfate activated with nanoscale zero-valent iron (nZVI) nanoparticles [135]. However, persulfate-assisted remediation technologies have three main drawbacks: (1) alterations in the soil physicochemical and biological properties with potential adverse consequences to soil quality, (2) the need of external energy supply (e.g. electrokinetic technique and heating-activated persulfate treatment) and (3) the high costs associated with the application of these remediation techniques in realfield scenarios [132]. For example, remediation of ibuprofen-contaminated soils using both Fenton oxidation and nZVI nanoparticle methodologies led to toxic soils showing phytotoxicity [136].

Bioremediation of API-contaminated soils has not been extensively investigated. As with other organic pollutants, API dissipation is mainly due to microorganisms [23]. Additionally, aerobic conditions largely facilitate their degradation [137, 138]. Because anecic and endogeic earthworms continually aerate soil via the creation of burrows, they should be excellent "bioreactors" of API degradation. Table 2 summarises the main advantages and limitations of using soil-dwelling earthworms in the bioremediation of API-contaminated soils as well as some uncertainties that demand further research. The effect of earthworms on API degradation must be seen not only as a biodegradation process but also as a strategy of chemical immobilisation leading to reduce bioavailability and toxicity of these pollutants. Many studies have documented that the earthworm feeding activity and cast deposition on the soil surface and the burrow walls contribute to decrease the degradation

Table 2 Potential advantages and drawbacks of using earthworms in the bioremediation of pharmaceutical-contaminated soils and feedstock (biosolids and manure)^a

Increase of soil aeration via burrowing activity, so aerobic biodegradation of APIs may be facilitated (e.g. laccase activity)

Stimulation of microbial activity and exoenzyme production in burrow walls, casts and middens, these biostructures being hotspots for potential API biodegradation

Low or null API toxicity upon earthworms (epigeic and endogeic species), which means that vermicomposting and in situ vermiremediation could be viable strategies for removal APIs

Earthworms contribute to disperse soil microorganisms in soil and composting feedstock, so their use in these media should increase API biodegradation

Earthworm activity (feeding and burrowing) facilitates bioaccessibility of soil microorganisms (and earthworm gut symbionts) to APIs

Earthworm burrowing activity and dragging of organic residues into the burrows (anecic species) facilitate plant root development, thus being a complementary strategy for phytoremediation (non-food crops) of API-contaminated soils

Drawbacks

Viability of soil inoculation with earthworms largely depends on soil characteristics, climate conditions and crop management. Indeed, the system is only affordable in crops continually irrigated (e.g. drip irrigation) such as horticulture and fruit crops. Food supply is also required preferentially in the form of an organic mulching

Biodegradation of APIs could fail because of binding of the chemicals to organic matter (and humific organic matter), which is increased by earthworm activity. But such an effect can also be seen as an opportunity to reduce plant accumulation of APIs via root uptake

Introduction of exotic earthworm species in agroecosystem should be avoided or their introduction monitored to avoid dispersion and colonisation of non-agricultural soils

Uncertainties

Treated wastewater, biosolids and manure generally contain a mixture of different APIs, which occasionally coexist with other environmental contaminants (e.g. metals). Therefore, it is needed to know the potential mixture toxicity to earthworms and how earthworm-assisted biodegradation of APIs could be affected in the presence of other environmental pollutants

Metabolites of certain APIs are more toxic than the parent compounds, thus affecting the biodegradation process and increasing the toxicological risk for soil organisms and plants

Earthworms' interaction with plants (rhizosphere) and biochar could be a functional strategy for bioremediating API-contaminated soils while increases soil quality. However, further knowledge is still needed to recommend this combined system of bioremediation in the agroecosystem

It is well known that APIs alter soil microbial communities and may induce the emergence of antibiotic resistant microorganisms. Therefore, these chemicals could also induce earthworm gut dysbiosis (i.e. imbalance of gut microbial diversity). Knowledge on the impact of APIs (and metabolites) on earthworm gut microbial diversity is necessary to elucidate potential adverse effects on digestive processes, which could lead to vermicomposting failure (ex situ vermiremediation) or to a limited gastrointestinal decomposition of organic matter ingested with soil (in situ vermiremediation)

Pharmaceuticals are accumulated in earthworms, but detoxification (mainly performed in the chloragogen tissue) has not been investigated in detail. This topic requires further knowledge to propose vermicomposting earthworm species (*Eisenia* spp.) to clean biosolids and manure from APIs

^aElaborated from Sanchez-Hernandez et al. [162, 167], Morillo and Villaverde [131], Rodriguez-Campos et al. [47]


Fig. 4 Conceptual model of in situ vermiremediation of agricultural soils contaminated by active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs). The system exploits the feeding behaviour of anecic and endogeic earthworms to improve soil quality and reduce API uptake by plants. In addition, biochar can be co-applied with earthworms to increase immobilisation of APIs. Fate of APIs is driven by the interplay between biological processes occurring in the earthworm biostructures (sphere 1: burrow walls, casts and middens), and those occurring in the gastrointestinal tract (sphere 2: cross-sectional view of the earthworm). Arrows denote the multiple pathways of API dissipation, which include microbial biodegradation, adsorption to organic matter and biochar, breakdown by exoenzymes, bioaccumulation and metabolism (e.g. in the chloragogen tissue)

rate of certain organic pollutants in these biostructures [71, 154]. However, because of the high organic carbon content and quality (humification) in casts and burrow linings, pollutants may result immobilised. The conceptual model in Fig. 4 explains how earthworms could participate in the bioremediation of API-contaminated soils. Such a bioremediation would consist in two complementary processes [130]: (1) external earthworm-depending inactivating processes and (2) earthworm gut-associated inactivating processes. Here, inactivating processes refer to biodegradation and immobilisation of APIs in soil, both actions rendering them unavailable to edible crops, thus reducing the risk of API exposure to consumers.

External earthworm-depending inactivating processes are mainly driven by microorganisms and mesofauna (e.g. nematodes, springtails, enchytraeids, mites and millipedes) associated with the structures created by earthworms (biostructures)

such as middens, casts and the burrow system (Fig. 4). The high nutrient content of these structures boosts microbial proliferation. Moreover, the presence of cutaneous mucus (burrow linings and middens) and gastrointestinal mucus (casts and middens) also provide a C-labile source for microfauna and mesofauna foraging. Many studies have examined the organic carbon dynamic and microbial community structure of earthworm casts [139, 140], burrow linings [72, 139] and middens [54, 55, 68]. All them conclude that these biostructures are hotspots of organic matter decomposition, displaying higher microbial and enzymatic activities respect to undisturbed soil [70, 71, 141]. Therefore, it can be assumed that earthworm biostructures are also microenvironments for API biodegradation. However, because of the organic matter content of biostructures, API may also be immobilised by binding to organic ligands, thus reducing their bioavailability and transport in soil [47, 142, 143]. Extracellular enzymes or exoenzymes represent also a pivotal mechanism of API inactivation. Enzymes such as phenol oxidases (laccases) and peroxidases (manganese peroxidase and lignin peroxidase) are actively involved in the oxidative metabolism of organic contaminants including APIs [144, 145]. For example, laccase from the white-rot fungi (lignin degraders) Trametes versicolor removed 100%, 95% and 85% of diclofenac, trimethoprim and carbamazepine, respectively, from aqueous enzymatic preparations [146]. Similarly, peroxidases from multiple biological sources are also able to degrade (>80%) many APIs such as triclosan, carbamazepine, naproxen and antibiotics [145]. Many other white-rot fungi species degrade anticancer drugs via oxidative reactions catalysed by laccases and peroxidases [147]. These enzymes are produced and excreted to the environment by soil microorganisms [148], and the presence of lignocellulosic-rich organic matter induces their production [149]. Furthermore, laccase activity requires molecular oxygen, so earthworm burrowing activity should facilitate laccase-mediated degradation of organic pollutants [150] because of soil aeration increase. Therefore, API dissipation by these exoenzymes should be a potential biodegradation process, particularly in earthworm biostructures.

Earthworm gut-associated inactivating processes involve gut microbiota and the enzymes secreted by the earthworm gut epithelium (Fig. 4). Many digestive enzymes have been measured in the gastrointestinal content of earthworms such as lipases, esterases, chitinases and cellulases [151–153]. Furthermore, laccase activity has also been found in the gastrointestinal content of epigeic and endogeic earthworms, although its activity level is low respect to other digestive enzymes [154], an expected finding if one considers that the earthworm alimentary canal is anoxic [155] and laccases require molecular oxygen. However, laccase activity has been measured in the casts of some earthworm species [141], suggesting that microbialmediated oxidative metabolism occurs in these biostructures. Carboxylesterases are other group of enzymes with potential to metabolise pharmaceuticals and illicit drugs containing the ester bond such as capecitabine, cilazapril, clopidogrel, cocaine, dabigatran etexilate, enalapril, heroin, imidapril, irinotecan, meperidine, methylphenidate, olmesartan, orlistat, oseltamivir, quinapril, ramipril, temocapril and trandolapril [156]. Some of these compounds are detected in reclaimed wastewater, surface water and groundwater [157, 158]. Interestingly, carboxylesterase activity

has been found in the gastrointestinal tract of several earthworm species [153, 159] and in soil disturbed by earthworms [160]. However, it has not been demonstrated if the earthworm-induced carboxylesterase activity hydrolyses ester-containing APIs as mammalian carboxylesterases do [156, 161].

The persistence of exoenzymes largely depend on the organomineral complexes of soil [162]. Binding of exoenzymes to clays and organic matter protect them from physic stress (soil desiccation or high temperature) and microbial foraging [163]. With this premise, biochar technology has been proposed as an environmentally compatible approach to stabilise exoenzymes and concentrate their activity in soil for agronomic and remediating purposes [164]. The next section discusses how biochar may synergistically improve the earthworm-assisted bioremediation of contaminated soils.

7 Biochar-Improved Vermiremediation

In the last decade, biochar technology has emerged as a remediating strategy to eliminate a wide range of both organic and inorganic pollutants from water and soil [165–168]. Biochar is simply charcoal, but it is used as a soil conditioner instead of being used for energy generation [169]. This carbonaceous material is produced by pyrolysing solid organic feedstocks (e.g. manure, wood chips, pine needles, spent coffee grounds, municipal biosolids, nut shells, corncob, rice straw, switchgrass, and many others) under anoxic environment and temperatures between 250 and 700°C [169, 170]. Biochar has been used in the remediation of API-contaminated wastewater [171, 172]. Some studies even suggest that biochar may be an ideal material in filtering drinking water because of its excellent capacity to adsorb many inorganic and organic pollutants, including APIs [173]. However, the remediation capacity of biochar depends on the type of feedstock and the pyrolysis temperature which, in turn, have a strong influence on the physicochemical and structural properties of biochar [174]. Pyrolysis temperatures above 450° C generally produce biochar suitable to be used in bioremediation of contaminated soils because of its higher specific surface area, open porosity, alkalinity, hydrophobicity, density of aromatic groups and lower oxygenated functional groups on the surface compared to biochar produced at temperatures below 450°C [175]. For example, wheat straw-derived biochar produced at 700°C had a higher adsorption capacity for ketoprofen, atenolol and carbamazepine than biochar produced at 300°C [176]; a marked difference in the specific surface area between both biochars explained the biochar-specific adsorption of these APIs (605 m²/g for 700°C-biochar versus 6.47 m²/g for 300°Cbiochar). Moreover, physicochemical properties of biochar other than the specific surface area seem to be involved in API adsorption. For instance, a laboratory study that compared the sorption behaviour of sulfamethoxazole in eight types of biochar (bamboo, Brazilian pepper wood, sugarcane bagasse and hickory wood, produced at both 450 and 600°C) evidenced that only the biochars derived from sugarcane bagasse and bamboo at 450°C had the highest capacity for retaining

sulfamethoxazole [177]. This high sorption ability was corroborated in soil column tests (2% w/w biochar), which led to propose those biochars as soil amendments to reduce API leaching potential. Researchers of that study also postulated that the occurrence of functional groups on the biochar surface would explain the high sorption capacity of the biochars produced at 450° C.

The pH is another environmental variable that facilitates API sorption onto biochar surface. Sorption of triclosan and ibuprofen significantly increased in solution of pH between 4.0 and 7.0 [178]. Furthermore, the occurrence of humic substances in the aqueous phase reduced the sorption of APIs to biochar because of two reasons: the binding of APIs to the dissolved humic substances and/or blockage of the open pores of biochar by humic substances, thus hampering the interaction between biochar and APIs [178]. These observations suggest that in alkaline soils or soil with a high organic matter content, biochar may fail in its capacity of binding APIs. Despite these interfering factors, what it seems clear is that pH <7.0 favours adsorption of APIs to biochar surface, irrespectively of the soil type [179].

Biochars produced at low pyrolysis temperatures ($<450^{\circ}$ C) are more appropriated for soil fertilisation. They generally contain non-pyrolysed organic matter susceptible to be foraged by soil microorganisms; therefore its application causes an increase of soil microbial activity and biomass [175]. This type of biochars has a low specific surface area and porosity, which reduces its capacity to retain agrochemicals such as herbicides [180], therefore not compromising the agronomic purpose of pesticide treatment [181].

The scope of adding biochar to API-contaminated soils is decreasing API bioavailability and toxicity to plants. Indeed, bioaccumulation of APIs by plants is substantially reduced in biochar-amended soils. For example, the application of biochar produced at 700°C to soil (5% w/w) reduced a 86% and 63% the uptake of 5 and 50 mg/kg sulfamethazine, respectively, by lettuce (*Lactuca sativa*) [182]. Similarly, carbamazepine and propranolol concentrations were markedly lower in *Lolium perenne* grown in API-spiked soils amended with biochar produced at 450–520°C than plants grown in biochar-free, API-spiked soils [183]. However, the adsorption of APIs on the biochar surface could have two side-effects: (1) an enhanced toxicity on soil microorganisms because of progressive accumulation of APIs on the biochar surface [177] and (2) the failure of API biodegradation because of limited bioaccessibility for microbial degradation [80]. One strategy that could partially solve these biochar-linked side-effects could be the co-application of earthworms and biochar.

Past studies have reported no clear synergistic effects from co-application of earthworms and biochar on soil microbial communities [184] or soil enzyme activities and plant growth [185]. However, a recent investigation evidenced beneficial effects of the co-application of *A. caliginosa* and willow chip-derived biochar on the abundance of springtails and soil fungal biomass after 6 months of incubation (1% w/w biochar in 2.65 L of soil holding 4 adult earthworms), although such positive interactions depended on the soil type [186]. Moreover, some studies have shown that incubation of earthworms (*L. terrestris* and *A. caliginosa*) in the presence of pine needle- or spent coffee ground-derived biochar caused a significant increase of soil

extracellular enzymes linked to C-, P-, and S-cycling, which were bound onto biochar surface [187]. The earthworm mucus produced by the skin mucous cells and the gastrointestinal epithelium was postulated as the main mechanism of enzymatic activation of biochar [73]. The functional system created by the co-application of earthworms and biochar was proposed as a strategy for removing organic pollutants from contaminated soils and feedstocks [164]. We propose an identical model for the in situ degradation or immobilisation of APIs in agricultural soils (Fig. 4). Whether or not this bioremediation strategy is viable will depend mainly on the following variables, which require further investigation:

- 1. Earthworm species and exotic species. Figure 2 illustrates the feeding strategies of epigeic, anecic and endogeic earthworms. Both anecic and endogeic species are soil engineering organisms because of their intensive burrowing activity [39]. Moreover, some laboratory experiments have shown that anecic and endogeic species can co-exist in a limited volume of soil. For example, the burrowing activity of L. terrestris was not affected by the presence of A. caliginosa, although the depth of the burrow system created by the anecic species was shorter than the burrow structure created when the species was incubated alone [188]. Moreover, the burrowing activity of A. caliginosa was favoured by the presence of the anecic earthworm Aporrectodea giardi; the organic matter-rich walls of the burrows created by A. giardi served as a food source to A. caliginosa [188]. These examples suggest that co-application of earthworms of different ecological strategies to soils contaminated with APIs could be the best option for obtaining the maximal benefit from earthworm activity on API dissipation. Environmental fate of APIs should be, therefore, investigated in soils holding a wide representation of the most common earthworms found in agricultural soils [92–94], ideally covering the three ecological groups of earthworms (Fig. 2). In our model of in situ vermiremediation, particular concern should be put on the introduction of earthworm exotic species (the term refers to not naturally occurring species, so-called alien species, in the location in which it is found [189]). Indeed, one of the objectives of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goal no. 15 (Life on land, www.undp.org) is "to prevent the introduction and significantly reduce the impact of invasive alien species on land and water ecosystems ... ". Therefore, care must be taken when we chose in situ vermiremediation. Endogenous and exogenous features of earthworms such as feeding behaviour (epigeic, endogeic and anecic), tolerance to environmental changes (phenotypic plasticity), reproductive characteristics, morphological characteristics and locomotion as well as environmental variables (edaphic and climatic conditions, presence of predators, and substantial and continue surface litter layers, among others) are important invasiveness traits to be considered before adding earthworms to agricultural soils [70].
- 2. Earthworm tolerance to biochar. Many studies have investigated the potential toxicity of biochar upon earthworms. Doses of biochar $\leq 2.0\%$ (w/w) generally are tolerated by different earthworm species as indicated by the absence of significant avoidance response to biochar-amended soils [190]. However, signs

of oxidative stress are frequently found at those biochar doses in *E. fetida* [191] and L. terrestris [192], although some studies have reported no oxidative damage in E. fetida exposed at doses of biochar >2% [193]. Despite these contrasting results, further research is still needed to know long-term effects of earthworm inhabiting biochar-amended soils. For example, a 6-month mesocosm study with A. caliginosa incubated in two different soils evidenced that the synergistic effects of earthworms and biochar (1% w/w) increased the abundance of other soil organisms such as springtails and fungi, beside to improve soil fertility and plant growth [186]. Similarly, a 2-year field experiment examined the impact of biochar applied on topsoil (10 cm depth) at application rates of 10, 25 and 50 t/ha (corresponding to 0.6, 1.5 and 3% w/w, respectively) on both soil macrofauna and mesofauna [194]. The study revealed that, although the abundance of earthworms decreased as the concentration of biochar increased, biochar did not cause a significant impact on earthworm community structure, and the dose of 0.6% did not alter earthworm species richness compared to that of control (biochar-free) soils. Conversely, it was found a significant increase in the abundance of enchytraeids, mites and collembolans at the highest doses of biochar. In other field study, researchers observed that biochar applied at 5 and 10 t/ha was no toxic to macrofauna and also caused an attraction effect to earthworms after 2 years of application [195], thus recording a twofold density of earthworms in the soils that received 10 t/ha biochar respect to control (biochar-free) soils. Factors such as type of biochar and application rate, type of soil, climatic conditions, time of exposure and microbial community generally modulate the earthworm response to biochar-amended soils. Taken together these studies encourage biochar application rates of around 1% (w/w) on topsoil to be compatible with fauna diversity and abundance, and to exploit the potential synergistic effects of earthworms and biochar to immobilise or degrade APIs.

- 3. Pharmaceutical toxicity and accumulation in earthworms. To date, most of toxicity tests with APIs have been performed using E. fetida and E. andrei as model organisms (discussed in Sect. 4 of the chapter), and data show that these earthworm species tolerate high API concentrations compared with other soil organisms (e.g. [87]). Therefore, the use of epigeic earthworms in the vermicomposting of API-contaminated feedstocks could be a workable strategy. However, the sensitivity of anecic and endogeic earthworms (Fig. 2) to APIs should be explored in order to apply them in the in situ vermiremediation strategy (Fig. 4). In addition, API toxicity has been generally evaluated using a single chemical, and API mixture or even API molecules mixed with other environmental contaminants commonly detected in agricultural soils have not been investigated. As discussed in previous sections, a wide variety of APIs is generally found in reclaimed wastewater and biosolids, so exposure of soil fauna to an API mixture is probably the most real scenario. Similarly, API biodegradation should be also studied in the context of multiple environmental contaminants co-existing in agricultural soil.
- 4. *Toxicity of API metabolites*. Biodegradation of APIs in soil not necessarily lead to full mineralization. For example, a laboratory study reported that mineralisation

of triclosan (1, 10 and 100 mg/kg) in soils varied between 5.8 and 6.5% (cumulative recovery of ¹⁴CO₂) over a period of 42 days [80]. The finding suggests that metabolites may persist in soil with potential toxicity on soil organisms and soil function. For example, triclosan is photochemically decomposed into the toxic metabolites 2,8-dichlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (2,8-DCDD) and 2,4-dichlorophenol (2,4-DCP), which are very unstable in aqueous solutions [196], but their organic carbon-adsorption coefficients (K_{OC}) suggest a high affinity for the soil organic matter (log $K_{OC} = 3.2$ for 2,8-DCDD and log $K_{OC} = 2.8$ for 2,4-DCP; estimated values generated using the EPISuiteTM software, USEPA, www.chemspider.com).

- 5. Synergistic effects of APIs and other environmental contaminants. A vast variety of organic and inorganic pollutants may occur in agricultural soils. For example, PAHs, PCBs, polybrominated diphenyl ethers and phthalates are frequently detected in agricultural soils irrigated with reclaimed wastewater or fertilised with biosolids or municipal composts [197–200]. Additionally, chemical control of agricultural pests may lead to accumulation of pesticides in soil. Therefore, toxic effects and degradation of APIs should be investigated in a context of pollutant mixture, which is the most realistic scenario in the agroecosystem. Furthermore, the high capacity of biochar to retain environmental pollutants, including APIs [176, 201], may result in toxic biochar at long term because of high concentrations of pollutants onto its surface. Therefore, this concern must be clarified in detail to know whether biochar could behave as a secondary source of soil pollution under specific soil conditions (e.g. changes in pH, moisture or biodiversity).
- 6. Life cycle assessment for earthworm-biochar bioremediation technology. Life cycle assessment (LCA) consists of a set of standardised and robust tools for appraising the efficiencies of methodologies and processes aimed to attend the decision-making related to environment protection and efficiency of the process (ISO14040:2006, ISO 2006). In the case of bioremediation of contaminated sites, LCA has been used to identify adverse impacts from the application of remediation strategies and consequently to take alternative remediation actions [202]. LCA can be used before initiating the remediation action (predictive) to select the best option according to technical, economic and environmental variables or when the remediation action is completed (prospective LCA). In the latter case, the scope of LCA is to know the environmental impacts derived from the applied remediation technology. For example, an LCA study of systems for biochar production revealed that some issues such as costs related to the pyrolysis process as well as feedstock selection, management and transportation hampered the economic viability of biochar technology, therefore compromising its affordability as a strategy for climate change mitigation [203]. The systematic review by Matustík et al. [204] on LCA of biochar technology evidenced that although the application of biochar to agricultural soils provides important environmental and economic benefits, there are still some issues that require further understanding and improvements such as the mechanisms underpinning the biochar effects on soil quality and crop yield and the use of low-tech pyrolysis systems

(e.g. Kon-tiki flame curtain kilns [205, 206]) accessible to small-scale rural farming. A detailed step-by-step description of LCA is beyond the scope of this chapter but can be found in the handbook by Hauschild et al. [207], and several reviews [202, 208] in which cases study are discussed.

8 Conclusions

Crops need healthy soils, but their fertility is under permanent threat of degradation by multiple environmental stressors (e.g. high agrochemical input, nutrient imbalance, loss of soil biodiversity, salinisation and decrease of organic matter). Additionally, water consumption for crop irrigation is a serious challenge in the coming years because of the global climate change, particularly in areas of arid and semiarid climates. The use of by-products derived from wastewater treatment plants such as biosolids and treated wastewater seems an affordable solution to alleviate the water and organic matter demands in the agriculture. However, both biosolids and treated wastewater contain significant amounts of APIs that pose a serious threat to soil functioning and human health.

One of the strategies for removal APIs at the source or in agricultural soils is the vermiremediation (i.e. use of earthworms to remove environmental pollutants). Earthworms provide multiple ecosystem benefits, from improve soil quality and fertility up to be used in the recycling of solid organic waste (vermicomposting). All these ecosystem services require the intervention of microorganisms. Indeed, microbes, earthworms and their interactions are proposed as a vermiremediation strategy to remove APIs. Many ecotoxicological studies with earthworms indicate that these organisms may contribute to contaminant degradation by stimulating microbial degraders, or may reduce contaminant mobility and bioavailability by facilitating sorption of contaminants to soil organic-mineral complexes. Likewise, certain earthworm species (epigeic earthworms) are commonly used in the aerobic composting of solid organic residues to produce organic fertilisers (vermicompost). Data in the literature reveal that vermicomposting may be also a viable strategy for removing organic contaminants occurring in raw materials such as biosolids and manure. Based on this knowledge, we propose two bioremediation strategies to reduce the risk of API uptake by plants and the potential adverse effects on soil microorganisms. The first system consists of vermicomposting of API-contaminated biosolids and manure (ex situ vermiremediation), whereas the second one involves the inoculation of agricultural soils with earthworms (in situ vermiremediation). In the last decade, biochar has emerged as an eco-friendly strategy for fighting against soil pollution. Because recent studies indicate that the co-application of earthworms and biochar improve soil quality in terms of microbial proliferation and soil detoxification, the in situ vermiremediation system considers also the synergistic effects of soil-dwelling earthworms and biochar in the removal or immobilisation of APIs. Main advantages, drawbacks and uncertainties in the use of earthworms in API

inactivation are summarised in Table 2 in an attempt to encourage future research in this field of bioremediation.

Acknowledgements We thank the Spanish Ministerio de Ciencia y Tecnología (Grant no. PGC2018-098851-B-I00) for the financial support of this research.

References

- ICH (2016) Good manufacturing practice guide for active pharmaceutical ingredients: guidance for industry. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration. Revision 1, 52 p
- Luo Y, Guo W, Ngo HH, Nghiem LD, Hai FI, Zhang J, Liang S, Wang XC (2014) A review on the occurrence of micropollutants in the aquatic environment and their fate and removal during wastewater treatment. Sci Total Environ 473-474:619–641
- Bartelt-Hunt S, Snow DD, Damon-Powell T, Miesbach D (2011) Occurrence of steroid hormones and antibiotics in shallow groundwater impacted by livestock waste control facilities. J Contam Hydrol 123:94–103
- Jameel Y, Valle D, Kay P (2020) Spatial variation in the detection rates of frequently studied pharmaceuticals in Asian, European and north American rivers. Sci Total Environ 724:137947
- Aguilera E, Díaz-Gaona C, García-Laureano R, Reyes-Palomo C, Guzmán GI, Ortolani L, Sánchez-Rodríguez M, Rodríguez-Estévez V (2020) Agroecology for adaptation to climate change and resource depletion in the Mediterranean region. A review. Agr Syst 181:102809
- Jiménez-de-Santiago DE, Lidón A, Bosch-Serra ÀD (2019) Soil water dynamics in a rainfed mediterranean agricultural system. Water 11:799
- Fu Q, Malchi T, Carter LJ, Li H, Gan J, Chefetz B (2019) Pharmaceutical and personal care products: from wastewater treatment into agro-food systems. Environ Sci Technol 53:14083–14090
- Qin Q, Chen X, Zhuang J (2015) The fate and impact of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in agricultural soils irrigated with reclaimed water. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 45:1379–1408
- Kinney CA, Furlong ET, Werner SL, Cahill JD (2006) Presence and distribution of wastewater-derived pharmaceuticals in soil irrigated with reclaimed water. Environ Toxicol Chem 25:317–326
- Calderón-Preciado D, Jiménez-Cartagena C, Matamoros V, Bayona JM (2011) Screening of 47 organic microcontaminants in agricultural irrigation waters and their soil loading. Water Res 45:221–231
- Wu X, Dodgen LK, Conkle JL, Gan J (2015) Plant uptake of pharmaceutical and personal care products from recycled water and biosolids: a review. Sci Total Environ 536:655–666
- Kinney CA, Furlong ET, Zaugg SD, Burkhard MR, Werner SL, Cahill JD, Jorgensen GR (2006) Survey of organic wastewater contaminants in biosolids destined for land application. Environ Sci Technol 40:7207–7215
- Hu X, Zhou Q, Luo Y (2010) Occurrence and source analysis of typical veterinary antibiotics in manure, soil, vegetables and groundwater from organic vegetable bases, northern China. Environ Pollut 158:2992–2998
- 14. Fu Q, Sanganyado E, Ye Q, Gan J (2016) Meta-analysis of biosolid effects on persistence of triclosan and triclocarban in soil. Environ Pollut 210:137–144
- Walters E, McClellan K, Halden RU (2010) Occurrence and loss over three years of 72 pharmaceuticals and personal care products from biosolids-soil mixtures in outdoor mesocosms. Water Res 44:6011–6020

- Li WC (2014) Occurrence, sources, and fate of pharmaceuticals in aquatic environment and soil. Environ Pollut 187:193–201
- Carter LJ, Harris E, Williams M, Ryan JJ, Kookana RS, Boxall AB (2014) Fate and uptake of pharmaceuticals in soil-plant systems. J Agric Food Chem 62:816–825
- Thiele-Bruhn S (2003) Pharmaceutical antibiotic compounds in soils a review. J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 166:145–167
- Barra Caracciolo A, Topp E, Grenni P (2015) Pharmaceuticals in the environment: biodegradation and effects on natural microbial communities. A review. J Pharm Biomed Anal 106:25–36
- Pullagurala VLR, Rawat S, Adisa IO, Hernandez-Viezcas JA, Peralta-Videa JR, Gardea-Torresdey JL (2018) Plant uptake and translocation of contaminants of emerging concern in soil. Sci Total Environ 636:1585–1596
- Carter LJ, Agatz A, Kumar A, Williams M (2020) Translocation of pharmaceuticals from wastewater into beehives. Environ Int 134:105248
- Grossberger A, Hadar Y, Borch T, Chefetz B (2014) Biodegradability of pharmaceutical compounds in agricultural soils irrigated with treated wastewater. Environ Pollut 185:168–177
- 23. Thelusmond JR, Kawka E, Strathmann TJ, Cupples AM (2018) Diclofenac, carbamazepine and triclocarban biodegradation in agricultural soils and the microorganisms and metabolic pathways affected. Sci Total Environ 640-641:1393–1410
- 24. Cycoń M, Borymski S, Żołnierczyk B, Piotrowska-Seget Z (2016) Variable effects of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) on selected biochemical processes mediated by soil microorganisms. Front Microbiol 7:1969
- Molaei A, Lakzian A, Datta R, Haghnia G, Astaraei A, Rasouli-Sadaghiani M, Ceccherini MT (2017) Impact of chlortetracycline and sulfapyridine antibiotics on soil enzyme activities. Int Agrophys 31:499–505
- 26. Sidhu H, O'Connor G, Ogram A, Kumar K (2019) Bioavailability of biosolids-borne ciprofloxacin and azithromycin to terrestrial organisms: microbial toxicity and earthworm responses. Sci Total Environ 650:18–26
- Burns RG, DeForest JL, Marxsen J, Sinsabaugh RL, Stromberger ME, Wallenstein MD, Weintraub MN, Zoppini A (2013) Soil enzymes in a changing environment: current knowledge and future directions. Soil Biol Biochem 58:216–234
- 28. Karlen DL, Ditzler CA, Andrews SS (2003) Soil quality: why and how. Geoderma 114:145–156
- 29. Karlen DL, Andrews SS, Doran JW (2001) Soil quality: current concepts and applications. Adv Agron 74
- 30. Lal R (1997) Degradation and resilience of soils. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 352:997–1010
- Bender SF, Wagg C, van der Heijden MGA (2016) An underground revolution: biodiversity and soil ecological engineering for agricultural sustainability. Trends Ecol Evol 31:440–452
- 32. Nielsen UN, Wall DH, Six J (2015) Soil biodiversity and the environment. Ann Rev Environ Resour 40:63–90
- Wagg C, Bender SF, Widmer F, van der Heijden MG (2014) Soil biodiversity and soil community composition determine ecosystem multifunctionality. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:5266–5270
- 34. Shennan C, Krupnik TJ, Baird G, Cohen H, Forbush K, Lovell RJ, Olimpi E (2017) Organic and conventional agriculture: a useful framing? Ann Rev Environ Res 42:317–346
- 35. Tsiafouli MA, Thébault E, Sgardelis SP, de Ruiter PC, van der Putten WH, Birkhofer K, Hemerik L, de Vries FT, Bardgett RD, Brady MV, Bjornlund L, Jørgensen HB, Christensen S, Hertefeldt TD, Hotes S, Gera Hol WH, Frouz J, Liiri M, Mortimer SR, Setälä H, Tzanopoulos J, Uteseny K, Pižl V, Stary J, Wolters V, Hedlund K (2015) Intensive agriculture reduces soil biodiversity across Europe. Glob Chang Biol 21:973–985
- Briones MJI (2014) Soil fauna and soil functions: a jigsaw puzzle. Front Environ Sci 2. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2014.00007

- 37. Liu T, Chen X, Gong X, Lubbers IM, Jiang Y, Feng W, Li X, Whalen JK, Bonkowski M, Griffiths BS, Hu F, Liu M (2019) Earthworms coordinate soil biota to improve multiple ecosystem functions. Curr Biol 29:3420–3429.e5
- Capowiez Y, Sammartino S, Michel E (2014) Burrow systems of endogeic earthworms: effects of earthworm abundance and consequences for soil water infiltration. Pedobiologia 57:303–309
- 39. Jouquet P, Dauber J, Lagerlöf J, Lavelle P, Lepage M (2006) Soil invertebrates as ecosystem engineers: intended and accidental effects on soil and feedback loops. Appl Soil Ecol 32:153–164
- Meysman FJR, Middelburg JJ, Heip CHR (2006) Bioturbation: a fresh look at Darwin's last idea. Trends Ecol Evol 21:688–695
- 41. Medina-Sauza RM, Álvarez-Jiménez M, Delhal A, Reverchon F, Blouin M, Guerrero-Analco JA, Cerdán CR, Guevara R, Villain L, Barois I (2019) Earthworms building up soil microbiota, a review. Front Environ Sci 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2019.00081
- 42. Yang P, van Elsas JD (2018) Mechanisms and ecological implications of the movement of bacteria in soil. App Soil Ecol 129:112–120
- 43. Scheu S (2003) Effects of earthworms on plant growth: patterns and perspectives. Pedobiologia 47:846–856
- 44. van Groenigen JW, Lubbers IM, Vos HM, Brown GG, De Deyn GB, van Groenigen KJ (2014) Earthworms increase plant production: a meta-analysis. Sci Rep 4:6365
- 45. Oldenburg E, Kramer S, Schrader S, Weinert J (2008) Impact of the earthworm *Lumbricus terrestris* on the degradation of Fusarium-infected and deoxynivalenol-contaminated wheat straw. Soil Biol Biochem 40:3049–3053
- 46. Wolfarth F, Schrader S, Oldenburg E, Weinert J (2011) Contribution of the endogeic earthworm species *Aporrectodea caliginosa* to the degradation of deoxynivalenol and Fusarium biomass in wheat straw. Mycotoxin Res 27:215–220
- Rodriguez-Campos J, Dendooven L, Alvarez-Bernal D, Contreras-Ramos SM (2014) Potential of earthworms to accelerate removal of organic contaminants from soil: a review. Appl Soil Ecol 79:10–25
- 48. Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Notario Del Pino J, Capowiez Y, Mazzia C, Rault M (2018) Soil enzyme dynamics in chlorpyrifos-treated soils under the influence of earthworms. Sci Total Environ 612:1407–1416
- 49. Brown GG, Barois I, Lavelle P (2000) Regulation of soil organic matter dynamics and microbial activity in the drilosphere and the role of interactions with other edaphic functional domains. Eur J Soil Biol 36:177–198
- 50. Orgiazzi A, Bardgett RD, Barrios E, Behan-Pelletier V, Briones MJI, Chotte J-L, De Deyn GB, Eggleton P, Fierer N, Fraser T, Hedlund K, Jeffery S, Johnson NC, Jones A, Kandeler E, Kaneko N, Lavelle P, Lemanceau P, Miko L, Montanarella L, Moreira FMS, Ramirez KS, Scheu S, Singh BK, Six J, van der Putten WH, Wall DH (2016) Global soil biodiversity atlas. European Commission, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg
- 51. Fierer N (2019) Earthworms' place on earth. Science 366:425-426
- 52. Edwards CA, Arancon NQ, Sherman RL (2011) Vermiculture technology: earthworms, organic wastes, and environmental management. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- 53. Brown GG (1995) How do earthworms affect microfloral and faunal community diversity. Plant and Soil 170:209–231
- 54. Stroud JL, Irons DE, Carter JE, Watts CW, Murray PJ, Norris SL, Whitmore AP (2016) *Lumbricus terrestris* middens are biological and chemical hotspots in a minimum tillage arable ecosystem. Appl Soil Ecol 105:31–35
- 55. Nuutinen V, Butt KR, Hyväluoma J, Ketoja E, Mikola J (2017) Soil faunal and structural responses to the settlement of a semi-sedentary earthworm *Lumbricus terrestris* in an arable clay field. Soil Biol Biochem 115:285–296

- 56. Lavelle P, Barois I, Blanchart E, Brown G, Brussaard L, Decaëns T, Fragoso C, Jimenez JJ, Kajondo K, Martínez MA, Moreno A, Pashanasi B, Senapati B, Villenave C (1998) Earthworms as a resource in tropical agroecosystems. Nat Res 34:26–41
- Römbke J, Jänsch S, Didden W (2005) The use of earthworms in ecological soil classification and assessment concepts. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 62:249–265
- 58. Kinney CA, Furlong ET, Kolpin DW, Burkhardt MR, Zaugg SD, Werner SL, Bossio JP, Benotti MJ (2008) Bioaccumulation of pharmaceuticals and other anthropogenic waste indicators in earthworms from agricultural soil amended with biosolid or swine manure. Environ Sci Technol 42:1863–1870
- 59. Sigua GC, Isensee AR, Sadeghi AM, Im GJ (1995) Distribution and transport of atrazine as influenced by surface cultivation, earthworm population and rainfall pattern. Chemosphere 31:4237–4242
- 60. Covey AK, Furbish DJ, Savage KS (2010) Earthworms as agents for arsenic transport and transformation in roxarsone-impacted soil mesocosms: a μXANES and modelling study. Geoderma 156:99–111
- Baccaro M, Harrison S, van den Berg H, Sloot L, Hermans D, Cornelis G, van Gestel CAM, van den Brink NW (2019) Bioturbation of Ag₂S-NPs in soil columns by earthworms. Environ Pollut 252:155–162
- Rillig MC, Ziersch L, Hempel S (2017) Microplastic transport in soil by earthworms. Sci Rep 7:1362
- 63. Zhang L, Sintim HY, Bary AI, Hayes DG, Wadsworth LC, Anunciado MB, Flury M (2018) Interaction of *Lumbricus terrestris* with macroscopic polyethylene and biodegradable plastic mulch. Sci Total Environ 635:1600–1608
- 64. Zorn MI, Van Gestel CAM, Eijsackers H (2005) The effect of *Lumbricus rubellus* and *Lumbricus terrestris* on zinc distribution and availability in artificial soil columns. Biol Fertil Soils 41:212–215
- 65. Yu M, van der Ploeg M, Lwanga EH, Yang X, Zhang S, Ma X, Ritsema CJ, Geissen V (2019) Leaching of microplastics by preferential flow in earthworm (*Lumbricus terrestris*) burrows. Environ Chem 16:31
- 66. Andriuzzi WS, Ngo P-T, Geisen S, Keith AM, Dumack K, Bolger T, Bonkowski M, Brussaard L, Faber JH, Chabbi A (2016) Organic matter composition and the protist and nematode communities around anecic earthworm burrows. Biol Fertil Soils 52:91–100
- Hoang DTT, Pausch J, Razavi BS, Kuzyakova I, Banfield CC, Kuzyakov Y (2016) Hotspots of microbial activity induced by earthworm burrows, old root channels, and their combination in subsoil. Biol Fertil Soils 52:1105–1119
- 68. Aira M, McNamara NP, Piearce TG, Domínguez J (2009) Microbial communities of *Lumbricus terrestris* L. middens: structure, activity, and changes through time in relation to earthworm presence. J Soil Sediment 9:54–61
- 69. Tiunov AV, Bonkowski M, Tiunov JA, Scheu S (2001) Microflora, Protozoa and Nematoda in Lumbricus terrestris burrow walls: a laboratory experiment. Pedobiologia 45:46–60
- Stromberger ME, Keith AM, Schmidt O (2012) Distinct microbial and faunal communities and translocated carbon in *Lumbricus terrestris* drilospheres. Soil Biol Biochem 46:155–162
- Hoang DTT, Razavi BS, Kuzyakov Y, Blagodatskaya E (2016) Earthworm burrows: kinetics and spatial distribution of enzymes of C-, N- and P-cycles. Soil Biol Biochem 99:94–103
- 72. Athmann M, Kautz T, Banfield C, Bauke S, Hoang DTT, Lüsebrink M, Pausch J, Amelung W, Kuzyakov Y, Köpke U (2017) Six months of *L. terrestris* L. activity in root-formed biopores increases nutrient availability, microbial biomass and enzyme activity. Appl Soil Ecol 120:135–142
- Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Cares XA, Pérez MA, del Pino JN (2019) Biochar increases pesticidedetoxifying carboxylesterases along earthworm burrows. Sci Total Environ 667:761–768
- 74. Briones MJI, Álvarez-Otero R (2018) Body wall thickness as a potential functional trait for assigning earthworm species to ecological categories. Pedobiologia 67:26–34

- Jager T, Fleuren RHLJ, Hogendoorn EA, de Korte G (2003) Elucidating the routes of exposure for organic chemicals in the earthworm, *Eisenia andrei* (Oligochaeta). Environ Sci Technol 37:3399–3404
- Carter LJ, Ryan JJ, Boxall AB (2016) Does uptake of pharmaceuticals vary across earthworm species. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 97:316–322
- Carter LJ, Ryan JJ, Boxall ABA (2016) Effects of soil properties on the uptake of pharmaceuticals into earthworms. Environ Pollut 213:922–931
- Cizmas L, Sharma VK, Gray CM, McDonald TJ (2015) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in waters: occurrence, toxicity, and risk. Environ Chem Lett 13:381–394
- 79. Thelusmond JR, Strathmann TJ, Cupples AM (2019) Carbamazepine, triclocarban and triclosan biodegradation and the phylotypes and functional genes associated with xenobiotic degradation in four agricultural soils. Sci Total Environ 657:1138–1149
- Phandanouvong-Lozano V, Sun W, Sanders JM, Hay AG (2018) Biochar does not attenuate triclosan's impact on soil bacterial communities. Chemosphere 213:215–225
- EMA EU (2006) Guideline on the environmental risk assessment of medicinal products for human use. EMEA/CHMP/SWP/4447/00 Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP), London, UK
- OECD (1984) OECD guideline for testing of chemicals: earthworm, acute toxicity test. Guideline for testing chemicals no. 207. Paris, France
- 83. OECD (2016) OECD guideline for the testing of chemicals: earthworm reproduction test (*Eisenia fetida*/*Eisenia andrei*). Guideline for testing chemicals no. 222. Paris, France
- 84. ISO (2012) Soil quality effects of pollutants on earthworms part 1: determination of acute toxicity to *Eisenia fetidalEisenia andrei*. ISO 11268-1. Geneva, Switzerland
- ISO (2012) Soil quality effects of pollutants on earthworms part 2: determination of effects on reproduction of *Eisenia fetida/Eisenia andrei*. ISO 11268-2. Geneva, Switzerland
- 86. ISO (2008) Soil quality avoidance test for determining the quality of soils and effects of chemicals on behaviour part 1: test with earthworms (*Eisenia fetida* and *Eisenia andrei*). ISO 17512–1.Geneva, Switzerland
- Römbke J, Krogh KA, Moser T, Scheffczyk A, Liebig M (2010) Effects of the veterinary pharmaceutical ivermectin on soil invertebrates in laboratory tests. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 58:332–340
- Alves PRL, Bandeira FO, Giraldi M, Presotto R, Segat JC, Cardoso EJBN, Baretta D (2019) Ecotoxicological assessment of Fluazuron: effects on *Folsomia candida* and *Eisenia andrei*. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 26:5842–5850
- Menezes-Oliveira V, Loureiro S, Amorim MJB, Wrona F, Soares AMVM (2018) Hazard assessment of the veterinary pharmaceuticals monensin and nicarbazin using a soil test battery. Environ Toxicol Chem 37:3145–3153
- 90. Zižek S, Hrženjak R, Kalcher GT, Srimpf K, Semrov N, Zidar P (2011) Does monensin in chicken manure from poultry farms pose a threat to soil invertebrates. Chemosphere 83:517–523
- Lopes Alves PR, Niemeyer JC, Nogueira Cardoso JB (2017) The use of non-standardized invertebrates in soil ecotoxicology. In: Larramendy ML (ed) Ecotoxicology and genotoxicology: non-traditional terrestrial models, vol 32. The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, pp 3–30
- 92. Whalen JK, Fox CA (2006) Diversity of lumbricid earthworms in temperate agroecosystems. In: Benckiser G, Schnell S (eds) Biodiversity in agricultural production systems. Taylor & Francis, CRC Press, Boca Raton
- 93. Dinter A, Oberwalder C, Kabouw P, Coulson M, Ernst G, Leicher T, Miles M, Weyman G, Klein O (2013) Occurrence and distribution of earthworms in agricultural landscapes across Europe with regard to testing for responses to plant protection products. J Soil Sediment 13:278–293

- 94. Baldivieso-Freitas P, Blanco-Moreno JM, Gutiérrez-López M, Peigné J, Pérez-Ferrer A, Trigo-Aza D, Sans FX (2018) Earthworm abundance response to conservation agriculture practices in organic arable farming under Mediterranean climate. Pedobiologia 66:58–64
- Domínguez J, Velando A, Ferreiro A (2005) Are Eisenia fetida (Savigny, 1826) and Eisenia andrei (Oligochaeta, Lumbricidae) different biological species. Pedobiologia 49:81–87
- 96. Römbke J, Aira M, Backeljau T, Breugelmans K, Domínguez J, Funke E, Graf N, Hajibabaei M, Pérez-Losada M, Porto PG, Schmelz RM, Vierna J, Vizcaíno A, Pfenninger M (2016) DNA barcoding of earthworms (*Eisenia fetida/andrei* complex) from 28 ecotoxicological test laboratories. App Soil Ecol 104:3–11
- 97. Pelosi C, Joimel S, Makowski D (2013) Searching for a more sensitive earthworm species to be used in pesticide homologation tests a meta-analysis. Chemosphere 90:895–900
- Brami C, Glover AR, Butt KR, Lowe CN (2017) Avoidance, biomass and survival response of soil dwelling (endogeic) earthworms to OECD artificial soil: potential implications for earthworm ecotoxicology. Ecotoxicology 26:576–579
- 99. Bart S, Amossé J, Lowe CN, Mougin C, Péry ARR, Pelosi C (2018) Aporrectodea caliginosa, a relevant earthworm species for a posteriori pesticide risk assessment: current knowledge and recommendations for culture and experimental design. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 25:33867–33881
- 100. Whomsley R, Brendler-Schwaab S, Griffin E, Jensen J, Moermond C, Scholz B, Nilssen LS, Stemplewski H, Roennefahrt I (2019) Commentary on the draft revised guideline on the environmental risk assessment of medicinal products for human use. Environ Sci Eur 31:17
- 101. Lin D, Zhou Q, Xu Y, Chen C, Li Y (2012) Physiological and molecular responses of the earthworm (*Eisenia fetida*) to soil chlortetracycline contamination. Environ Pollut 171:46–51
- 102. McKelvie JR, Wolfe DM, Celejewski MA, Alaee M, Simpson AJ, Simpson MJ (2011) Metabolic responses of *Eisenia fetida* after sub-lethal exposure to organic contaminants with different toxic modes of action. Environ Pollut 159:3620–3626
- 103. Dong L, Gao J, Xie X, Zhou Q (2012) DNA damage and biochemical toxicity of antibiotics in soil on the earthworm *Eisenia fetida*. Chemosphere 89:44–51
- 104. Pino MR, Val J, Mainar AM, Zuriaga E, Español C, Langa E (2015) Acute toxicological effects on the earthworm *Eisenia fetida* of 18 common pharmaceuticals in artificial soil. Sci Total Environ 518-519:225–237
- 105. Chatelain M, Mathieu J (2017) How good are epigeic earthworms at dispersing? An investigation to compare epigeic to endogeic and anecic groups. Soil Biol Biochem 111:115–123
- 106. Dominguez J (2011) The microbiology of vermicomposting. In: Edwards CA, Arancon NQ, Sherman R (eds) Vermiculture technology: earthworms, organic wastes, and environmental management. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton, FL, pp 53–66
- 107. Baguer AJ, Jensen J, Krogh PH (2000) Effects of the antibiotics oxytetracycline and tylosin on soil fauna. Chemosphere 40:751–757
- 108. Liu Z, Mayer BK, Venkiteshwaran K, Seyedi S, Raju ASK, Zitomer D, McNamara PJ (2020) The state of technologies and research for energy recovery from municipal wastewater sludge and biosolids. Curr Opin Environ Sci Health 14:31–36
- 109. Kinney CA, Heuvel BV (2020) Translocation of pharmaceuticals and personal care products after land application of biosolids. Curr Opin Environ Sci Health 14:23–30
- 110. Spielmeyer A (2018) Occurrence and fate of antibiotics in manure during manure treatments: a short review. Sustain Chem Pharm 9:76–86
- 111. Van Epps A, Blaney L (2016) Antibiotic residues in animal waste: occurrence and degradation in conventional agricultural waste management practices. Curr Pollut Reports 2:135–155
- 112. Selvam A, Zhao Z, Wong JWC (2012) Composting of swine manure spiked with sulfadiazine, chlortetracycline and ciprofloxacin. Bioresour Technol 126:412–417
- Dolliver H, Gupta S, Noll S (2008) Antibiotic degradation during manure composting. J Environ Qual 37:1245–1253

- 114. Ezzariai A, Hafidi M, Khadra A, Aemig Q, El Fels L, Barret M, Merlina G, Patureau D, Pinelli E (2018) Human and veterinary antibiotics during composting of sludge or manure: global perspectives on persistence, degradation, and resistance genes. J Hazard Mater 359:465–481
- Hatzinger PB, Alexander M (1995) Effect of aging of chemicals in soil on their biodegradability and extractability. Environ Sci Technol 29:537–545
- 116. Cai L, Gong X, Sun X, Li S, Yu X (2018) Comparison of chemical and microbiological changes during the aerobic composting and vermicomposting of green waste. PLoS One 13: e0207494
- 117. Lazcano C, Gómez-Brandón M, Domínguez J (2008) Comparison of the effectiveness of composting and vermicomposting for the biological stabilization of cattle manure. Chemosphere 72:1013–1019
- 118. Lim SL, Wu TY, Lim PN, Shak KPY (2015) The use of vermicompost in organic farming: overview, effects on soil and economics. J Sci Food Agric 95:1143–1156
- 119. Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Domínguez J (2019) Dual role of vermicomposting in relation to environmental pollution. In: Sanchez-Hernandez JC (ed) Bioremediation of agricultural soils. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton, pp 217–236
- 120. Aira M, Bybee S, Pérez-Losada M, Domínguez J (2015) Feeding on microbiomes: effects of detritivory on the taxonomic and phylogenetic bacterial composition of animal manures. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 91:fiv117
- 121. Gómez-Brandón M, Aira M, Lores M, Domínguez J (2011) Changes in microbial community structure and function during vermicomposting of pig slurry. Bioresour Technol 102:4171–4178
- 122. Aira M, Monroy F, Domínguez J (2007) Earthworms strongly modify microbial biomass and activity triggering enzymatic activities during vermicomposting independently of the application rates of pig slurry. Sci Total Environ 385:252–261
- 123. Hait S, Tare V (2011) Vermistabilization of primary sewage sludge. Bioresour Technol 102:2812–2820
- 124. Lv B, Xing M, Yang J (2018) Exploring the effects of earthworms on bacterial profiles during vermicomposting process of sewage sludge and cattle dung with high-throughput sequencing. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 25:12528–12537
- 125. Castillo JM, Romero E, Nogales R (2013) Dynamics of microbial communities related to biochemical parameters during vermicomposting and maturation of agroindustrial lignocellulose wastes. Bioresour Technol 146:345–354
- 126. Ghosh S, Goswami AJ, Ghosh GK, Pramanik P (2018) Quantifying the relative role of phytase and phosphatase enzymes in phosphorus mineralization during vermicomposting of fibrous tea factory waste. Ecol Eng 116:97–103
- 127. Xia H, Chen J, Chen X, Huang K, Wu Y (2019) Effects of tetracycline residuals on humification, microbial profile and antibiotic resistance genes during vermicomposting of dewatered sludge. Environ Pollut 252:1068–1077
- 128. Ravindran B, Mnkeni PNS (2017) Identification and fate of antibiotic residue degradation during composting and vermicomposting of chicken manure. Int J Environ Sci Technol 14:263–270
- Hickman ZA, Reid BJ (2008) Earthworm assisted bioremediation of organic contaminants. Environ Int 34:1072–1081
- 130. Sanchez-Hernandez JC (2019) Bioremediation of pesticide-contaminated soils by using earthworms. In: Sanchez-Hernandez JC (ed) Bioremediation of agricultural soils. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton, pp 165–192
- 131. Morillo E, Villaverde J (2017) Advanced technologies for the remediation of pesticidecontaminated soils. Sci Total Environ 586:576–597
- 132. Guedes P, Lopes V, Couto N, Mateus EP, Pereira CS, Ribeiro AB (2019) Electrokinetic remediation of contaminants of emergent concern in clay soil: effect of operating parameters. Environ Pollut 253:625–635

- 133. Zhou Z, Liu X, Sun K, Lin C, Ma J, He M, Ouyang W (2019) Persulfate-based advanced oxidation processes (AOPs) for organic-contaminated soil remediation: a review. Chem Eng J 372:836–851
- 134. Liu Y, Wang S, Wu Y, Chen H, Shi Y, Liu M, Dong W (2019) Degradation of ibuprofen by thermally activated persulfate in soil systems. Chem Eng J 356:799–810
- 135. Zhou Z, Ma J, Liu X, Lin C, Sun K, Zhang H, Li X, Fan G (2019) Activation of peroxydisulfate by nanoscale zero-valent iron for sulfamethoxazole removal in agricultural soil: effect, mechanism and ecotoxicity. Chemosphere 223:196–203
- 136. Rede D, Santos LHMLM, Ramos S, Oliva-Teles F, Antão C, Sousa SR, Delerue-Matos C (2016) Ecotoxicological impact of two soil remediation treatments in *Lactuca sativa* seeds. Chemosphere 159:193–198
- 137. Koba O, Golovko O, Kodešová R, Klement A, Grabic R (2016) Transformation of atenolol, metoprolol, and carbamazepine in soils: the identification, quantification, and stability of the transformation products and further implications for the environment. Environ Pollut 218:574–585
- Biel-Maeso M, González-González C, Lara-Martín PA, Corada-Fernández C (2019) Sorption and degradation of contaminants of emerging concern in soils under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Sci Total Environ 666:662–671
- Lipiec J, Frąc M, Brzezińska M, Turski M, Oszust K (2016) Linking microbial enzymatic activities and functional diversity of soil around earthworm burrows and casts. Front Microbiol 7:1361
- 140. Aira M, Lazcano C, Gómez-Brandón M, Domínguez J (2010) Ageing effects of casts of *Aporrectodea caliginosa* on soil microbial community structure and activity. App Soil Ecol 46:143–146
- 141. Mora P, Miambi E, Jiménez JJ, Decaëns T, Rouland C (2005) Functional complement of biogenic structures produced by earthworms, termites and ants in the neotropical savannas. Soil Biol Biochem 37:1043–1048
- 142. Alekseeva T, Besse P, Binet F, Delort AM, Forano C, Josselin N, Sancelme M, Tixier C (2006) Effect of earthworm activity (*Aporrectodea giardi*) on atrazine adsorption and biodegradation. Eur J Soil Sci 57:295–307
- 143. Worrall F, Parker A, Rae JE, Johnson AC (1997) The role of earthworm burrows in pesticide transport from ploughlands. Toxicol Environ Chem 61:211–222
- 144. Bilal M, Rasheed T, Nabeel F, Iqbal HMN, Zhao Y (2019) Hazardous contaminants in the environment and their laccase-assisted degradation - a review. J Environ Manage 234:253–264
- 145. Morsi R, Bilal M, Iqbal HMN, Ashraf SS (2020) Laccases and peroxidases: the smart, greener and futuristic biocatalytic tools to mitigate recalcitrant emerging pollutants. Sci Total Environ 714:136572
- 146. Alharbi SK, Nghiem LD, van de Merwe JP, Leusch FDL, Asif MB, Hai FI, Price WE (2019) Degradation of diclofenac, trimethoprim, carbamazepine, and sulfamethoxazole by laccase from *Trametes versicolor*: transformation products and toxicity of treated effluent. Biocatal Biotransformation 37:399–408
- 147. Pereira CS, Kelbert M, Daronch NA, Michels C, de Oliveira D, Soares HM (2020) Potential of enzymatic process as an innovative technology to remove anticancer drugs in wastewater. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 104:23–31
- 148. Rao MA, Scelza R, Acevedo F, Diez MC, Gianfreda L (2014) Enzymes as useful tools for environmental purposes. Chemosphere 107:145–162
- 149. Kües U (2015) Fungal enzymes for environmental management. Curr Opin Biotechnol 33:268–278
- 150. Ba S, Vinoth Kumar V (2017) Recent developments in the use of tyrosinase and laccase in environmental applications. Crit Rev Biotechnol 37:819–832
- 151. Drake HL, Horn MA (2007) As the worm turns: the earthworm gut as a transient habitat for soil microbial biomes. Annu Rev Microbiol 61:169–189

- 152. Nozaki M, Ito K, Miura C, Miura T (2013) Examination of digestive enzyme distribution in gut tract and functions of intestinal caecum, in megascolecid earthworms (Oligochaeta: Megascolecidae) in Japan. Zoolog Sci 30:710–715
- 153. Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Mazzia C, Capowiez Y, Rault M (2009) Carboxylesterase activity in earthworm gut contents: potential (eco)toxicological implications. Comp Biochem Physiol 150C:503–511
- 154. Fujii K, Ikeda K, Yoshida S (2012) Isolation and characterization of aerobic microorganisms with cellulolytic activity in the gut of endogeic earthworms. Int Microbiol 15:121–130
- 155. Horn MA, Schramm A, Drake HL (2003) The earthworm gut: an ideal habitat for ingested N2O-producing microorganisms. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:1662–1669
- 156. Di L (2019) The impact of Carboxylesterases in drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics. Curr Drug Metab 20:91–102
- 157. Lesser LE, Mora A, Moreau C, Mahlknecht J, Hernández-Antonio A, Ramírez AI, Barrios-Piña H (2018) Survey of 218 organic contaminants in groundwater derived from the world's largest untreated wastewater irrigation system: Mezquital Valley, Mexico. Chemosphere 198:510–521
- 158. Pal R, Megharaj M, Kirkbride KP, Naidu R (2013) Illicit drugs and the environment a review. Sci Total Environ 463–464:1079–1092
- 159. Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Aira M, Domínguez J (2014) Extracellular pesticide detoxification in the gastrointestinal tract of the earthworm *Aporrectodea caliginosa*. Soil Biol Biochem 79:1–4
- 160. Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Notario del Pino J, Domínguez J (2015) Earthworm-induced carboxylesterase activity in soil: assessing the potential for detoxification and monitoring organophosphorus pesticides. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 122:303–312
- 161. Hatfield MJ, Umans RA, Hyatt JL, Edwards CC, Wierdl M, Tsurkan L, Taylor MR, Potter PM (2016) Carboxylesterases: general detoxifying enzymes. Chem Biol Interact 259:327–331
- 162. Nannipieri P, Trasar-Cepeda C, Dick RP (2018) Soil enzyme activity: a brief history and biochemistry as a basis for appropriate interpretations and meta-analysis. Biol Fertil Soils 54:11–19
- 163. Nannipieri P, Sequi P, Fusi P (1996) Humus and enzyme activity. In: Piccolo A (ed) Humic substances in terrestrial ecosystems. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 293–328
- 164. Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Ro KS, Díaz FJ (2019) Biochar and earthworms working in tandem: research opportunities for soil bioremediation. Sci Total Environ 688:574–583
- 165. Shaaban M, Van Zwieten L, Bashir S, Younas A, Núñez-Delgado A, Chhajro MA, Kubar KA, Ali U, Rana MS, Mehmood MA, Hu R (2018) A concise review of biochar application to agricultural soils to improve soil conditions and fight pollution. J Environ Manage 228:429–440
- 166. Beesley L, Moreno-Jiménez E, Gomez-Eyles JL, Harris E, Robinson B, Sizmur T (2011) A review of biochars' potential role in the remediation, revegetation and restoration of contaminated soils. Environ Pollut 159:3269–3282
- 167. Tang J, Zhu W, Kookana R, Katayama A (2013) Characteristics of biochar and its application in remediation of contaminated soil. J Biosci Bioeng 116:653–659
- 168. Liu Y, Lonappan L, Brar SK, Yang S (2018) Impact of biochar amendment in agricultural soils on the sorption, desorption, and degradation of pesticides: a review. Sci Total Environ 645:60–70
- 169. Lehmann J (2015) Biochar for environmental management: an introduction. In: Lehmann J, Joseph S (eds) Biochar for environmental management: science, technology and implementation. Routledge, Oxon
- 170. Han L, Ro KS, Wang Y, Sun K, Sun H, Libra JA, Xing B (2018) Oxidation resistance of biochars as a function of feedstock and pyrolysis condition. Sci Total Environ 616:335–344
- 171. Inyang M, Dickenson E (2015) The potential role of biochar in the removal of organic and microbial contaminants from potable and reuse water: a review. Chemosphere 134:232–240

- 172. Rocha LS, Pereira D, Sousa É, Otero M, Esteves VI, Calisto V (2020) Recent advances on the development and application of magnetic activated carbon and char for the removal of pharmaceutical compounds from waters: a review. Sci Total Environ 718:137272
- Palansooriya KN, Yang Y, Tsang YF, Sarkar B, Hou D, Cao X, Meers E, Rinklebe J, Kim K-H, Ok YS (2020) Occurrence of contaminants in drinking water sources and the potential of biochar for water quality improvement: a review. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 50:549–611
- 174. Weber K, Quicker P (2018) Properties of biochar. Fuel 217:240-261
- 175. Sizmur T, Fresno T, Akgül G, Frost H, Moreno-Jiménez E (2017) Biochar modification to enhance sorption of inorganics from water. Bioresour Technol 246:34–47
- 176. Wu L, Bi E (2019) Sorption of ionic and neutral species of pharmaceuticals to loessial soil amended with biochars. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26:35871–35881
- 177. Yao Y, Gao B, Chen H, Jiang L, Inyang M, Zimmerman AR, Cao X, Yang L, Xue Y, Li H (2012) Adsorption of sulfamethoxazole on biochar and its impact on reclaimed water irrigation. J Hazard Mater 209-210:408–413
- 178. Oh S-Y, Seo Y-D (2016) Sorption of halogenated phenols and pharmaceuticals to biochar: affecting factors and mechanisms. Environ Sci Pollut Res 23:951–961
- 179. Vithanage M, Rajapaksha AU, Zhang M, Thiele-Bruhn S, Lee SS, Ok YS (2015) Acidactivated biochar increased sulfamethazine retention in soils. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 22:2175–2186
- Graber ER, Tsechansky L, Gerstl Z, Lew B (2012) High surface area biochar negatively impacts herbicide efficacy. Plant Soil 353:95–106
- 181. Graber ER, Kookana RS (2015) Biochar and retention/efficacy of pesticides. In: Lehmann J, Joseph S (eds) Biochar for environmental management: science, technology and implementation, 2nd edn. Earthscan, London
- 182. Rajapaksha AU, Vithanage M, Lim JE, Ahmed MB, Zhang M, Lee SS, Ok YS (2014) Invasive plant-derived biochar inhibits sulfamethazine uptake by lettuce in soil. Chemosphere 111:500–504
- 183. Williams M, Martin S, Kookana RS (2015) Sorption and plant uptake of pharmaceuticals from an artificially contaminated soil amended with biochars. Plant and Soil 395:75–86
- 184. Paz-Ferreiro J, Liang C, Fu S, Mendez A, Gasco G (2015) The effect of biochar and its interaction with the earthworm *Pontoscolex corethrurus* on soil microbial community structure in tropical soils. PLoS One 10:e0124891
- 185. Paz-Ferreiro J, Fu S, Méndez A, Gascó G (2014) Interactive effects of biochar and the earthworm *Pontoscolex corethrurus* on plant productivity and soil enzyme activities. J Soil Sediment 14:483–494
- 186. Garbuz S, Camps-Arbestain M, Mackay A, DeVantier B, Minor M (2020) The interactions between biochar and earthworms, and their influence on soil properties and clover growth: a 6-month mesocosm experiment. App Soil Ecol 147:103402
- 187. Sanchez-Hernandez JC (2018) Biochar activation with exoenzymes induced by earthworms: a novel functional strategy for soil quality promotion. J Hazard Mater 350:136–143
- 188. Jégou D, Capowiez Y, Cluzeau D (2001) Interactions between earthworm species in artificial soil cores assessed through the 3D reconstruction of the burrow systems. Geoderma 102:123–137
- 189. Hendrix PF, Callaham MA, Drake JM, Huang C-Y, James SW, Snyder BA, Zhang W (2008) Pandora's box contained bait: the global problem of introduced earthworms. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 39:593–613
- 190. Prodana M, Silva C, Gravato C, Verheijen FGA, Keizer JJ, Soares AMVM, Loureiro S, Bastos AC (2019) Influence of biochar particle size on biota responses. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 174:120–128
- 191. Huang C, Wang W, Yue S, Adeel M, Qiao Y (2020) Role of biochar and *Eisenia fetida* on metal bioavailability and biochar effects on earthworm fitness. Environ Pollut 263:114586

- 192. Sanchez-Hernandez JC, Ríos JM, Attademo AM, Malcevschi A, Andrade Cares X (2019) Assessing biochar impact on earthworms: implications for soil quality promotion. J Hazard Mater 366:582–591
- 193. Li D, Hockaday WC, Masiello CA, Alvarez PJJ (2011) Earthworm avoidance of biochar can be mitigated by wetting. Soil Biol Biochem 43:1732–1737
- 194. Briones MJI, Panzacchi P, Davies CA, Ineson P (2020) Contrasting responses of macro- and meso-fauna to biochar additions in a bioenergy cropping system. Soil Biol Biochem 145:107803
- 195. Kamau S, Karanja NK, Ayuke FO, Lehmann J (2019) Short-term influence of biochar and fertilizer-biochar blends on soil nutrients, fauna and maize growth. Biol Fertil Soils 55:661–673
- 196. Latch DE, Packer JL, Stender BL, VanOverbeke J, Arnold WA, McNeill K (2005) Aqueous photochemistry of triclosan: formation of 2, 4-dichlorophenol, 2, 8-dichlorodibenzo-p-dioxin, and oligomerization products. Environ Toxicol Chem 24:517–525
- 197. Gaylor MO, Mears GL, Harvey E, La Guardia MJ, Hale RC (2014) Polybrominated diphenyl ether accumulation in an agricultural soil ecosystem receiving wastewater sludge amendments. Environ Sci Technol 48:7034–7043
- 198. Andrade NA, McConnell LL, Torrents A, Ramirez M (2010) Persistence of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in agricultural soils after biosolids applications. J Agric Food Chem 58:3077–3084
- 199. Lü H, Mo CH, Zhao HM, Xiang L, Katsoyiannis A, Li YW, Cai QY, Wong MH (2018) Soil contamination and sources of phthalates and its health risk in China: a review. Environ Res 164:417–429
- 200. Sun J, Pan L, Tsang DCW, Zhan Y, Zhu L, Li X (2018) Organic contamination and remediation in the agricultural soils of China: a critical review. Sci Total Environ 615:724–740
- 201. Caban M, Folentarska A, Lis H, Kobylis P, Bielicka-Giełdoń A, Kumirska J, Ciesielski W, Stepnowski P (2020) Critical study of crop-derived biochars for soil amendment and pharmaceutical ecotoxicity reduction. Chemosphere 248:125976
- 202. Suèr P, Nilsson-Påledal S, Norrman J (2004) LCA for site remediation: a literature review. Soil Sediment Contam Int J 13:415–425
- 203. Roberts KG, Gloy BA, Joseph S, Scott NR, Lehmann J (2010) Life cycle assessment of biochar systems: estimating the energetic, economic, and climate change potential. Environ Sci Technol 44:827–833
- 204. Matuštík J, Hnátková T, Kočí V (2020) Life cycle assessment of biochar-to-soil systems: a review. J Clean Prod 259:120998
- 205. Schmidt HP, Taylor P, Eglise A, Arbaz C (2014) Kon-Tiki flame curtain pyrolysis for the democratization of biochar production. Biochar J:14–24
- 206. Pandit NR, Mulder J, Hale SE, Schmidt HP, Cornelissen G (2017) Biochar from "Kon Tiki" flame curtain and other kilns: effects of nutrient enrichment and kiln type on crop yield and soil chemistry. PLoS One 12:e0176378
- 207. Hauschild MZ, Rosenbaum RK, Olsen SI (2018) Life cycle assessment: theory and practice. Springer, Cham
- 208. Lemming G, Hauschild MZ, Bjerg PL (2010) Life cycle assessment of soil and groundwater remediation technologies: literature review. Int J Life Cycle Assess 15:115–127

Constructed Wetlands and Phytoremediation as a Tool for Pharmaceutical Removal



377

Pedro N. Carvalho

Contents

1	Intro	duction	378
2	Cons	structed Wetlands for Pharmaceuticals Removal	380
	2.1	The Basics of the Ecotechnology	380
	2.2	Historical Developments	382
	2.3	Performance	391
3	Rem	oval Mechanisms and Processes	395
	3.1	Mechanisms and Processes Overview	395
	3.2	Photodegradation	398
	3.3	Sorption and Sedimentation	399
	3.4	Plant Uptake, Translocation, Phytodegradation and Microbial Degradation Within	
		the Plant	401
	3.5	Microbial Degradation (or Rhizosphere Remediation)	403
4	Cons	tructed Wetlands a Nature-Based Solution and Important Ecotechnology for a Green	
	Tran	sition	406
5	Conc	lusions	407
Re	ferenc	es	408

Abstract Constructed wetlands are one of the most often applied nature-based solutions for water management. This ecotechnology is widely accepted due to its robustness to treat wastewater. The assessment of organic carbon and nutrients removal for conventional wastewater treatment has been documented for nearly 70 years. In the recent decade, interest has increased in regard to their performance to treat water contaminated with pharmaceuticals. In 2020 we have passed 200 publications on the latter. Therefore, there is a fair amount of knowledge available to

P. N. Carvalho (🖂)

Department of Environmental Science, Aarhus University, Roskilde, Denmark

WATEC – Centre for Water Technology, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark e-mail: pedro.carvalho@envs.au.dk

Sandra Pérez Solsona, Nicola Montemurro, Serge Chiron, and Damià Barceló (eds.), Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems: The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater, Hdb Env Chem (2021) 103: 377–414, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_624, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 5 August 2020

discuss the applicability of constructed wetlands to control the emission of pharmaceuticals. The current chapter aims to (1) provide an insight to the performance of constructed wetlands under a variety of configurations and design options for the removal of pharmaceuticals; (2) discuss removal processes, namely, plant and biological-driven biodegradation, the challenges in its application and reproducibility, the knowledge gaps and the future trends; and (3) link constructed wetland usage and developments with the recent trends of nature-based solution and phytoremediation implementation towards a green transition.

Keywords Biofilters, Combined sewage overflow, Contaminants of emerging concern, Nature-based solutions, Organic micropollutants, Wastewater, Water reuse and reclamation

1 Introduction

Pharmaceutical release into the environment is one of the largest researched topics of the past decades within the environmental field [1, 2]. More than 15,000 publications are available on the topic, among which, 2,773 are review papers (accessed March 2020 on Scopus). Naturally, several subtopics emerged [3], e.g. from effect directed analysis of these compounds to answer questions on their toxic effects; non-target screening analytical analysis to understand what other compounds, human metabolites and transformation products are occurring; and development of suitable treatment technology or the potential impact to crops and consequently to humans and animals due to consumption of potentially contaminated crops.

Compounds like diclofenac (an anti-inflammatory drug) and erythromycin (an antibiotic) are already listed as candidate contaminants by the European Union (EU) and the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). However, only a small number of compounds are currently covered by legal regulations, namely, with reference to water contamination. Current policy approaches to manage pharmaceutical residues are considered inadequate for the protection of water quality and freshwater ecosystems [4]. In EU, the creation of the NORMAN Network was a stepping stone to support the monitoring of emerging environmental substances [5], and the ongoing implementation of the Water Framework Directive has increased the debate around the list of priority substances and substances of concern. The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) has called for a global discussion on moving towards proactive policy action to curb pharmaceutical pollution [4].

Earlier on, two waste streams have been considered the major source of pharmaceuticals to the environment: wastewater [6-8] and biosolids [9, 10]. A major research effort has been placed on wastewater [11], not only in the occurrence but also in the treatment technology – *how can these compounds be effectively removed?* However, while more efficient treatment technology is still being developed [12], there is also increasing interest on water reuse and water reclamation for crop irrigation [13], as well as biosolids (either as sludge [14] or manure [15]) application on land for resources recovery. Therefore, there is a raising concern with the overall fate of pharmaceuticals, and the topic of manure application raises added concern due to the contamination with antibiotics and the issues with antibiotic resistance [16].

Water treatment technology is in itself a very broad topic. The present chapter will focus on constructed wetlands (CWs). Constructed wetlands are a widely accepted and robust wastewater treatment technology, which enables many different kinds of wastewater to be treated in a cost-efficient way [17]. CWs are one of the most often applied nature-based solutions for water management [18], namely, for the treatment of domestic and agricultural wastewaters, coal mine drainage and stormwater run-off: mainly because of a set of beneficial features, including environmental quality preservation, landscape conservation and economic convenience [19]. In addition, CWs have been successfully implemented for diverse agriculture and industrial sectors [20], such as seafood-processing industry, olive mill industry, dairy, alcohol fermentation industry and abattoir industry. High-pollutant loading rates and toxic substances can be effectively treated with CWs; thus, they have great potential for implementation in low-income countries and rural areas [21]. More recently, CWs have been also proposed for the treatment of greywater in urban areas, including by coupling CW with disinfection units such as ultraviolet radiation disinfection and chlorination to reliably meet the standards for reuse [22]. However, further concerns arise when it comes to the potential contamination by pharmaceuticals and other emerging contaminants.

In recent years, CWs application as an advanced treatment unit to address contamination by emerging organic micropollutants, including pharmaceuticals has been attracting increasing attention [23]. An unsupervised search on Scopus in March 2020 for "constructed wetland" *AND pharmaceuticals* retrieved 210 publications, 26 of each review papers. The earliest publication dates from 2004 – indicating quite an active topic of the research in CWs for the past 16 years. From the review papers covering the topic, some contain just brief mentions to CWs within broader topics [24, 25], while others provide extensive overview on the potential phytotoxic effect of pharmaceutical to plants [26] or are totally dedicated to mitigation of pharmaceutical contamination by CWs [27, 28]. There is, therefore, an interesting amount of information available providing a good overview of the overall performance of these systems, the removal processes and their limitations. The current chapter aims to:

- 1. Provide an insight to the application of constructed wetland technology under a variety of configurations and design options in regard to pharmaceutical removal
- 2. Discuss removal processes, namely, sorption, photodegradation, plant and biological-driven biodegradation, the challenges in its application and reproducibility, the knowledge gaps and the future trends

3. Link CWs usage and developments with the recent trends of nature-based solution and phytoremediation implementation towards a green transition

2 Constructed Wetlands for Pharmaceuticals Removal

2.1 The Basics of the Ecotechnology

First of all, it is important to clarify that "constructed wetland" is currently a broad ecotechnology name that encompasses a range of different technical solutions. A review of CW technology is outside the present scope, thus a good starting point for learning the basics of these systems would be the most cited text book on the topic by Kadlec and Wallace [29]. For the present chapter, one needs to take into consideration the three classical designs (based on hydrological characteristics – the water position and flow direction):

- Surface flow (SF; usually 0.3 m shallow beds with only a small layer of substrate at the bottom (few cm) for plants to root; water flows horizontally above substrate; fed continuously; Fig. 1a)
- Horizontal subsurface flow (HSSF; usually 0.5 m depth bed filled with substrate, sand and/or gravel; water flows horizontally below the surface; fed continuously; Fig. 1b),
- Vertical flow (VF; usually 1 m depth bed, filled with substrate, sand and/or gravel; water flows vertically top to bottom; fed by pulses; Fig. 1c).

For a broader overview of the different CWs designs and subdivisions in the classification, one can refer to Fonder and Headley [30]. For a question of systematization, the present chapter follows the most common grouping used in the published reviews within the field, the three classical designs: SF, HSSF and VF.

In the recent years, among other alternatives and intensified wetland designs, aeration at the bottom of the beds has been one of the most well accepted approaches to increase performance and decrease area requirements [31, 32]. Aeration has been introduced mostly in HSSF and VF designs and studies exist regarding its performance with respect to pharmaceuticals, further detailed. Other types of intensification (e.g. fill and drain, or usage of specific sorbing media) are not covered in this chapter.

The three classical designs, SF, HSSF and VF are the ones most exhaustively used for water treatment, while aerated CWs have been gaining popularity for the past decade [23, 33]. It is very important as well to mention the hybrid systems, which combine more than one type of CW to make use of different processes (e.g. VF + HSSF, for aerobic followed by anaerobic processes [34]). In addition, it is important to consider that any given design can be employed for different types of water (e.g. stormwater, wastewater, surface water). Specific designs are preferred for certain types of water and pollutant loadings (e.g. VF or aerated systems when nitrification is demanded); more details can be found in traditional CW literature and design guidelines [29, 35, 36]. The key point is that depending on pollutants loading



Fig. 1 The three classical types of constructed wetlands (a) surface flow (SF), (b) horizontal subsurface flow (HSSF) and (c) vertical subsurface flow (VF). Reprinted from Ecological Engineering (51), Fonder and Headley, The taxonomy of treatment wetlands: A proposed classification and nomenclature system, 203–211, Copyright (2013), with permission from Elsevier [30]

and operation strategy, the different designs SF, HSSF, VF, aerated or hybrid designs can behave very differently not only hydraulically but also in terms of pollutant removal, due to different removal/transformation processes.

The research on CWs for pharmaceuticals phytoremediation has been mostly focused in wastewater, the major source of pharmaceuticals to the environment. Combined sewer overflows (CSOs) can also be a relevant source of pharmaceuticals and CWs can be an effective technology to treat CSOs, including to control pharmaceuticals emission [37], but literature is scarce for this specific application. Agricultural run-off is also of importance when manure or sludge is applied to land, and pharmaceutical compounds might leach from the soil. However, the use of CWs to control agricultural run-off has been mostly studied for pesticides [38–40] and not for pharmaceuticals. Therefore, lessons learned from wastewater treatment systems are the most valid when considering CWs to treat CSO and agricultural run-off for pharmaceutical compounds.

When treating wastewater, CWs can be used alone as a decentralized solution, either as single-house application or for small housing agglomerates, or as centralized solution employed in rural areas or urban areas up to around 1,000 persons equivalent (PE). Typically, a sedimentation tank is used for primary treatment, while the CW ensures the secondary treatment. When hybrid systems are used, sometimes tertiary treatment is also achieved [29]. In basic wastewater treatment terms, primary treatment ensures removal of solid material; secondary treatment deals with the removal of dissolved and suspended organic material, as well as potentially the nutrients (nitrogen and phosphorus); and tertiary treatment are the polishing methods used following a traditional wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) [41]. The exception to the common CWs configuration is the so-called French system that consists of a hybrid design containing multiple beds and operated to perform both primary and secondary treatment using planted beds [42]. However, CWs can also be used as part of larger classical WWTPs (conventional activated sludge), in this case usually as a polishing step (tertiary treatment). It is therefore important to study CWs performance for pharmaceuticals treatment, not only by CW type but also wastewater strength (e.g. secondary vs tertiary treatment). As for classical pollutants, design and operational factors (area, depth, hydraulic loading rate, organic loading rate and hydraulic retention time) and physicochemical parameters (dissolved oxygen, temperature and pH) are critical for the performance of the systems. The geographical and environmental inherent variability, for instance plants used (that should be native) or temperature (that is linked with microbial activity and evapotranspiration) makes systematization and comparison of systems a complex task.

2.2 Historical Developments

A good starting point to understand the potential of CWs to control pharmaceutical contamination from wastewater is to study the relevant review papers on the topic (Table 1). The first mini-review work by White, Belmont [43] provided an earlier

Table 1 Overview of the relu	evant review pap	ers covering the topic pharmace	puticals and con-	structed wet	lands (CWs	<u> </u>		
Main focus	Type of CW ^{a,}	Compounds reported ^b	Number of publications revised	Removal	Kinetics	Removal mechanisms	Design and/or operation considerations	Reference
Pharmaceuticals in waste- water and treatment wetlands	SF, HSSF	Carbamazepine, cotinine, cyclophosphamide, fenoprofen, gemfibrozil, ibu- profen, others ns	ς,	Yes	No	Yes	No	[43]
Phytoremediation and wastewater treatment	VF, others ns	Ns	S	No	No	No	No	[44]
Emerging pollutants	SF, HSSF, VF	Carbamazepine, clofibric acid, diclofenac, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, naproxen, others ns	2	Yes	No	No	No	[25]
Emerging pollutants and treatment	HSSF, others ns	Caffeine, diclofenac, fluoxe- tine, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, naproxen, salicylic acid, others ns	×	Yes	No	Yes	No	[45]
Organic and metallic pol- lutants and wetlands	SF, others ns	Carbamazepine, clofibric acid, fluoroquinolones anti- biotics, ibuprofen, others ns	6	Yes	No	No	No	[48]
Emerging pollutants and treatment	SF, HSSF, others ns	Caffeine, carbamazepine, ceftiofur, ciprofloxacin, clofibric acid, diclofenac, enrofloxacin, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, naproxen, norfloxacin, salicylic acid, tetracycline, others ns	17	Yes	No	Yes	No	[46]
								(continued)

			Number of				Design and/or	
Type of CW^{**} Compounds	Compounds	reported ^b	publications revised	Removal	Kinetics	Removal mechanisms	operation considerations	Reference
SF, others ns Caffeine, cart clofibric acid, ibuprofen, ke monensin, na narasin, salin salicylic acid,	Caffeine, cart clofibric acid, ibuprofen, ke monensin, na narasin, salin salicylic acid,	amazepine, diclofenac, toprofen, proxen, omycin, others ns	4	Yes	Ŷ	Yes	No	[47]
SF, HSSF, I15 compound VF and More common hybrid phen, atenolol bamazepine, c diclofenac, ge profen, ketopr lol, naproxen, sulfamethoxaz trimethoprim	115 compound More common phen, atenolol bamazepine, c diclofenac, ge profen, ketopr lol, naproxen, sulfamethoxaz trimethoprim	ts in total. :: acetamino- , caffeine, car- lofibric acid, mfibrozil, ibu- ofen, metopro- salicylic acid, cole,	38	Yes	No	Yes	Yes (brief mention)	[49]
SF, HSSF, 137 compound VF and including perso hybrid products. More pharmaceutical caffeine, carbai clofibric acid, c ibuprofen, ketc naproxen, salic	137 compound including perso products. More pharmaceutical caffeine, carbai clofibric acid, c ibuprofen, ketc naproxen, salic	s in total, mal care e common s: atenolol, mazepine, ficlofenac, pprofen, ylic acid	37	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	[50]
SF, HSSF, VF, hydro-137 compounds personVF, hydro- ponic gravelincluding personponic gravel bed andproducts. More pharmaceuticalsotherscaffeine, carban	137 compounds including person products. More pharmaceuticals caffeine, carban	in total, nal care common : atenolol, nazepine,	47	Yes	Yes (brief mention)	Yes	Yes	[27]

384

Table 1 (continued)

		clofibric acid, diclofenac, fluoxetine, gemfibrozil, ibu- profen, ketoprofen, naproxen, salicylic acid, sul- famethoxazole, trimethoprim						
l wastewater	HSSF, VF, hybrid and others ns	Caffeine, carbamazepine, ibuprofen, sulfamethazine, tetracycline, others ns	12	Yes	No	Yes (brief mention)	Yes (brief mention)	[51]
c contaminants treatment	ž	17β-estradiol, bisphenol A, caffeine, carbamazepine, diclofenac, estriol, estrone, ethinylestradiol, galaxolide, gemfibrozil, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, metoprolol, naproxen, nonylphenol, pro- pranolol, sulfamethoxazole, tonalide, triclosan, trimethoprim	s Z	Yes	°Z	Ŷ	°Z	[36]
Ilutants and	HSSF and others ns	Ns	4	Yes (brief mention)	No	Yes (brief mention)	Yes (brief mention)	[52]
stances + con- c emerging CWs	SF, HSSF, VF, hybrid and others	17β-estradiol (E2), 17- α-ethinylestradiol (EE2), azithromycin, clarithromycin, diclofenac, erythromycin, estrone (E1), imidacloprid	46	Yes	No	Yes (brief mention)	Ŷ	[35]
larmaceuticals	SF, HSSF, VF and others	17β-estradiol, acetamino- phen, carbamazepine, diclofenac, naproxen, estrone	15	Yes	No	Yes	Yes (brief mention)	[57]
								(continued)

Table 1 (continued)								
Main focus	Type of $CW^{a,}$	Compounds reported ^b	Number of publications revised	Removal	Kinetics	Removal mechanisms	Design and/or operation considerations	Reference
Chiral pharmaceuticals	Ns	Ns	16	No	No	Yes (brief mention)	No	[58]
Lemna minor and phytoremediation	S	Caffeine, cefadroxil, cis- platin, diclofenac, fluoxetine, ibuprofen, metronidazole, naproxen, sulfamethoxazole, trimethoprim, others ns	10	Yes	No	No	No	[54]
Adsorbents and non-steroidal anti-inflam- matory drugs	Ns	Diclofenac, ibuprofen, naproxen	<i>S</i>	Yes	No	No	No	[53]
Phytoremediation % plant- microbe interaction	SF, HSSF, VF and others ns	Most common: caffeine, car- bamazepine, diclofenac, ibu- profen, ketoprofen, naproxen, others ns	80 (not only about CWs)	Yes	No	Yes (mostly focused on microbial degradation)	Yes	[60]
CWs + algae and pharmaceuticals	SF, HSSF, VF and others ns	39 compounds. Most com- mon: caffeine, carbamaze- pine, diclofenac, ibuprofen, ketoprofen and naproxen	21	Yes	No	Yes (brief mention)	No	[59]
Antibiotics + antibiotic- resistant genes and CWs	SF, HSSF, VF, hybrid and others	Sulfonamide antibiotics, quinolone antibiotics, tetra- cycline antibiotics, macrolactone antibiotics, chloramphenicol antibiotics, polyether antibiotics and beta-lactam antibiotics	39	Yes	No	Yes	No	[61]

386

CWs and pharmaceuticals, Performance comparison Ventataxtue CWs and pharmaceuticals, performance comparison SF, HSSF, VF, hybrid 29 compounds selected (and 19 transformation products): and acrated Kes Yes Y	CWs and pharmaceuticals, design and operational factors	SF, HSSF, VF and hybrid	26 compounds selected: acetaminophen, atenolol, caffeine, carbamazepine, clarithromycin, codeine, diclofenac, erythromycin, furosemide, gemfibrozil, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, linco- mycin, metoprolol, monensin, naproxen, offoxacin, oxytetracycline, salicylic acid, sulfadiazine, sulfamethazine, sulfameth- oxazole, sulfapyridine, tramadol, trimethoprim,	65	Yes	oz	Yes	Yes (major focus)	[6]
	CWs and pharmaceuticals, performance comparison	SF, HSSF, VF, hybrid and aerated	 ventataxture ventataxture 29 compounds selected (and 19 transformation products): acetaminophen, atenolol, bezafibrate, caffeine, carba- mazepine (10,11-dihydro- 10,11- dihydroxycarbamazepine; 10,11-dihydro-10- hydroxycarbamazepine; 2-hydroxycarbamazepine; 3-hydroxycarbamazepine; 2-hydroxycarbamazepine; (4-hydroxydiclofenac), dilti- azen doxycorline 	63	Yes (major focus)	°N N	Yes	Yes (brief mention)	[28]

			Number of				Design and/or	
	Type of CW ^{a,}		publications			Removal	operation	
Main focus	P 4	Compounds reported ^b	revised	Removal	Kinetics	mechanisms	considerations	Reference
		fexofenadine, gemfibrozil,						
		ibuprofen						
		(1-hydroxyibuprofen;						
		2-hydroxyibuprofen;						
		carboxyibuprofen),						
		ketoprofen						
		(3-Ethylbenzophenone;						
		Dihydro Ketoprofen), meto-						
		prolol, mirtazapin, naproxen						
		(O-desmethylnaproxen),						
		ofloxacin, ranitidine,						
		salicylic acid, sotalol, sulfa-						
		diazine, sulfamethazine, sul-						
		famethoxazole						
		(N-acetylsulfamethoxazole),						
		sulfapyridine, tramadol						
		(O-desmethyltramadol;						
		N-desmethyltramadol; N,						
		O-didesmethyltramadol), tri-						
		methoprim, venlafaxine						
		(O-desmethylvenlafaxine;						
		N-desmethylvenlafaxine; N,						
		O-didesmethylvenlafaxine)						
^a Surface flow (SF). horizontal	l subsurface flow	(HSSF). vertical flow (VF). hvh	orid configuratic	ons of any ty	pe (e.g. VF	7 + SF)		

D. 2 ^bNs stands for non-specified, is used associated with the type of wetland and compounds list

Table 1 (continued)

overview of the first laboratorial and pilot tests accounting in total for less than five published works. Already by that time, both White, Belmont [43] and Schröder, Navarro-Aviñó [44] considered wetlands (both natural and CWs) promising to remove pharmaceutical compounds from wastewater.

Early in 2010s, a couple of review papers started to include some mentions to natural and water treatment wetlands for the removal of emerging pollutants, including pharmaceuticals [25, 45–47]. However, the second overview of the topic on a review paper dedicated to CWs was performed by Haarstad and Bavor [48] within a vast revision of organic and metallic pollutants. By then, not more than nine publications were available. As publication rate kept increasing, the three first larger review works specifically focused on pharmaceuticals, and CWs were published in 2014 [27, 49, 50]. By then, around 40 publications were available and a careful systematization of the data was produced. These works, for the first time, compared CWs design as well as different levels of treatment (primary to tertiary) being still a reference in the field.

Li et al. [49] focused on the application of CWs for secondary wastewater treatment and as a wastewater polishing treatment. Removal efficiencies published started to point to the inherent variability associated with (1) compound: some compounds are easily removed, typically because they are easily biodegraded, while others tend to be recalcitrant (poor biodegradability); and (2) CW design: different removal mechanisms can be promoted/inhibited due to specific configurations (e.g. aerobic, anaerobic, photodegradation). However, the studies were few, and the majority limited to lab-scale studies. Therefore, the authors carefully phrased a "consensus towards the potential of CWs for pharmaceuticals removal" [49]. This review paper also provided a simple overview of design parameters and description of substrate, plants and microbes role on removal, as well as of the research gaps at the time. Complementarily, Zhang et al. [50], from the same research group, provided a smaller overview on removal efficiency and placed more emphasis on removal mechanisms (photodegradation, sorption, plant uptake and phytodegradation and microbial degradation), design and operational parameters (bed depth, vegetation, hydraulic retention time), as well as attempted to establish correlations with compound physicochemical properties, namely, the octanol water partition coefficient [50]. More details in Sect. 3.

Verlicchi and Zambello [27] had a broader scope, so besides the secondary and tertiary treatment, also covered CWs used for primary treatment. In addition, they limited their review to pilot and full-scale systems (operated outdoors in "real environmental conditions") treating urban wastewater. The paper also includes a large discussion section on removal mechanisms, modelling and design parameters. The potential of CWs to remove a wide spectrum of pharmaceuticals was described and linked to the coexistence of anoxic-aerobic-anaerobic microenvironments within surface flow, as well as subsurface flow systems that favour the different mechanisms involved in their removal. More specifically, SF and HSSF CWs used as primary treatment revealed removals above 40% for 14 compounds (acetaminophen, atenolol, caffeine, diclofenac, diphenhydramine, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, metoprolol, naproxen, salicylic acid, sulfamethoxazole, sulfapyridine, triclocarban and

triclosan), two compounds (nadolol and sotalol) below 20%, and three compounds (carbamazepine, gemfibrozil and trimethoprim) showed both positive and negative removals depending on the original study. The amount of results was limited to allow a proper comparison of CW designs. None of the systems reported was a French system nor, to the best of my knowledge, a French system has been studied for the removal of pharmaceuticals. Overall, Verlicchi and Zambello [27] concluded that CWs provide comparable efficiencies at the secondary treatment level to conventional WWTPs for the removal of many common pharmaceuticals, including caffeine, ibuprofen, naproxen and salicylic acid. One of the knowledge gaps identified was the need to optimize the removal of the most critical compounds, mainly antibiotics and some analgesics and anti-inflammatories [27].

Other brief mentions to pharmaceuticals and CWS can also be found in a couple of later reviews [51–55]. Melvin and Leusch [56] provide an interesting comparison of CWs with other wastewater treatment technology, where "ponds and CWs" continued to be considered at least as efficient as classical activated sludge systems. However, results were not statistically better than other alternative technologies, oxidation ditch and membrane bioreactor, probably due to generalization of the datasets (grouping of efficiency for different compounds and independently of specific technology designs). Vo et al. [57] aimed at going beyond removal efficiency and focused on the removal mechanisms of pharmaceutical and personal care products in CWs. Zhou et al. [58] have reviewed chiral pharmaceuticals in the environment and remediation technologies applied for their treatment, including a small section dedicated to CWs. In spite of the interesting title, the work does not provide details about chiral processes. Rabello et al. [59] reviewed the combination of CWs and algae systems. The latter were considered more efficient than CWs in removing the most commonly studied compounds, i.e. caffeine, carbamazepine, diclofenac, ibuprofen, ketoprofen and naproxen, than the CWs. Nevertheless, the combination of both systems was proposed as an effective alternative for removing pharmaceuticals from domestic wastewater [59]. Nguyen et al. [60] surveyed literature investigating plant-based remediation practices, especially CWs, to remove pharmaceuticals and personal care products. They have expanded their overview towards the plant-bacteria synergism: the microbes (both rhizo- and endophytes) in CWs not only degrade the compounds directly but also accelerate plant growth by producing growth-promoting enzymes and hence increasing the remediation potential [60]. More details in Sect. 3.

Liu et al. [61] are the only review specifically dedicated to antibiotics and antibiotic-resistant bacteria, covering a good amount of literature. The removal efficiency of CWs for antibiotics showed good performance (average value above 50%), especially VF (average value of 80%). The removal efficiencies of sulfon-amide and macrolide antibiotics were lower than those of tetracycline and quinolone antibiotics, stressing again compound-dependency of the performance. Regarding the antibiotic resistance genes, HSSF had better performance (above 50%) than VF, especially for sulfonamide resistance genes [61].

Most recently, two review works have been published [28, 62] making use of the, so far, most complete data collection on the topic (more than 60 papers). Their earlier

work [62] focused on the role of CW design (SF, HSSF, VF and hybrid systems) and respective operational factors, making use of correlation analysis to establish links with pharmaceuticals removal efficiency. It should be mentioned that these latest review papers [28, 62] pre-filtered the 25–30 compounds for which the number of data points was sufficient to provide statistically significant results. Therefore, one cannot find updated information for the more than 100 different pharmaceuticals that have been reported at least once in a paper about CWs [27, 50]. To find metadata on specific compounds, the review papers from 2014 are a better reference.

Ilyas and van Hullebusch [28] compared the performance of the different CWs, SF, HSSF, VF and hybrid systems (Table 2). In addition, besides looking into the removal of the 29 more common pharmaceuticals, the authors included as well information about 19 transformation products (for the specific name of the compounds see Table 2). This provided the first overview on the dynamics of transformation products, including formation and removal, in CWs. Hybrid designs were considered to perform better, followed by VF, HSSF and SF by Ilyas and van Hullebusch [28]. Results provide an interesting overview of the differences among designs. However, one should bear in mind the large standard deviation (Table 2) due to the compromise of including for each CW design, results from lab to full-scale systems and from primary to tertiary treatment.

2.3 Performance

A careful look at Table 2 shows that for 17 of the 29 common compounds, differences among designs were not significant. VF seems to perform better for caffeine, ibuprofen and naproxen, while hybrid designs have shown better removal for diclofenac and trimethoprim. Overall, the differences pinpoint that removal can be compound-specific and that part of the efficiency can be explained by the removal mechanisms associated with each design. A very good example is the different usage of VF (for oxidation of pollutants) and HSSF (explored as anaerobic of facultative systems) that can result in different removal efficiencies for the same compound (e.g. ibuprofen and diclofenac). Thus, compounds removed more efficiently by VF tend to be mainly driven by aerobic degradation, while anaerobic degradation prevails for HSSF. Hybrid systems, and the coexistence of aerobic and anaerobic conditions, seem to favour other compounds, such as diclofenac [63, 64]. However, other factors such as the retention time can play a role. More on processes is detailed in the next section.

Regarding specifically CWs for secondary wastewater treatment and tertiary treatment, a wide range of variability for several compounds is consistently seen in all 2014 revisions. Further reading [27, 49] is recommended to ascertain detailed comparisons between compounds, designs and treatment stages. Here the best performances from Table 2 and major conclusions from the last-mentioned reviews are listed per removal range:

Table 2 Comparison sludge (CAS)	on of removal effic	ciency (mean %	and standard dev	iation) of selecte	d 29 pharmaceu	ticals in different types of CWs and classical activated
Pharmaceutical	CAS (n)	$SF(n)^{a}$	HSSF (n) ^a	$VF\left(n\right)^{a}$	Hybrid (n) ^a	Statistical results ^a
Acetaminophen	$96 \pm 6 (5)^{\rm b}$	99 (1)	70 ± 24 (12)	97 ± 1 (2)	$83 \pm 25 \ (11)$	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Atenolol	$54 \pm 25 \ (9)^{b}$	57 ± 24 (5)	82 ± 19 (7)	79 ± 20 (4)	73 ± 37 (2)	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Bezafibrate	$64 \pm 32 \ (13)^{b}$	48 ± 28 (3)	45 ± 13 (4)	56 ± 11 (2)	NA	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Caffeine	83 ± 21 (23) ^c	$62 \pm 29 (17)$	$84 \pm 16 (63)$	97 ± 2 (4)	77 ± 25 (26)	The removal efficiency with VF was significantly higher compared with SF, HSSF and hybrid; the removal efficiency with SF was significantly lower compared with HSSF
Carbamazepine	$18 \pm 28 \ (48)^{c}$	31 ± 22 (23)	30 ± 24 (38)	$40 \pm 20 (11)$	$27 \pm 20 (18)$	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Clarithromycin	$49 \pm 29 (5)^{b}$	41 ± 21 (6)	$45 \pm 20 \ (10)$	49 ± 57 (2)	$46\pm9~(2)$	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Clofibric acid	$40 \pm 22 \ (11)^{b}$	30 ± 9 (4)	$49 \pm 24 (14)$	NA	NA	The removal efficiency with SF was significantly lower compared with HSSF
Codeine	$68 \pm 26 \ (5)^{\rm b}$	64 ± 26 (5)	59 ± 18 (4)	95 ± 1 (2)	NA	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Diclofenac	$35 \pm 32 \ (28)^{\circ}$	$42 \pm 24 (22)$	$39 \pm 24 (45)$	50 ± 17 (13)	$56 \pm 32 \ (25)$	The removal efficiency with hybrid was significantly higher compared with HSSF
Diltiazem	$73 \pm 23 \ (4)^{\rm b}$	66 ± 25 (4)	68 ± 12 (3)	NA	NA	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Doxycycline	$71 \pm 49 (3)^{b}$	73 ± 18 (4)	73 ± 2 (2)	NA	61 ± 15 (3)	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Fexofenadine	18 (1) ^d	$18 \pm 10 \ (3)$	$39 \pm 26 (3)$	NA	NA	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Gemfibrozil	$57 \pm 34 \ (17)^{\circ}$	$12 \pm 2 (4)$	58 ± 23 (8)	$45 \pm 9 (4)$	95 (1)	The removal efficiency with SF was significantly lower compared with HSSF and VF
Ibuprofen	$86 \pm 22 \ (39)^{\circ}$	57 ± 28 (27)	53 ± 27 (61)	79 ± 24 (10)	$62 \pm 29 \ (32)$	The removal efficiency with VF was significantly higher compared with SF, HSSF and hybrid
Ketoprofen	$57 \pm 21 \ (25)^{c}$	$48 \pm 30 (22)$	47 ± 35 (27)	50 ± 3 (6)	$45 \pm 28 (17)$	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Metoprolol	$18 \pm 16 \ (13)^{c}$	33 ± 23 (5)	$60 \pm 32 \ (15)$	74 ± 9 (2)	99 (1)	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Mirtazapine	٥	55 ± 23 (3)	$8.3 \pm 5.0 (3)$	NA	NA	The removal efficiency with SF was significantly higher compared with HSSF

392

Naproxen	72 ± 23 (34) ^c	50 ± 22 (28)	$63 \pm 26 (42)$	75 ± 17 (8)	$64 \pm 24 \ (24)$	The removal efficiency with VF was significantly higher compared with SF, HSSF and hybrid
Ofloxacin	$60 \pm 27 \ (13)^{\rm b}$	NA	$98 \pm 4 (13)$	$87 \pm 10 (3)$	NA	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Ranitidine	$62 \pm 37 (4)^{b}$	$79 \pm 20 (3)$	$36 \pm 8 (4)$	NA	NA	The removal efficiency with SF was significantly higher compared with HSSF
Salicylic acid	98 (2) ^f	$76 \pm 19 (15)$	79 ± 21 (20)	98 (1)	$86 \pm 17 (15)$	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Sotalol	$35 \pm 34 \ (7)^{\rm b}$	$15\pm8~(3)$	18 ± 12 (3)	NA	82 (1)	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Sulfadiazine	$92 \pm 10 \ (5)^{\rm b}$	$61 \pm 35 \ (10)$	$46 \pm 30 \ (6)$	52 ± 22 (12)	NA	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Sulfamethazine	$72 \pm 48 \ (3)^{b}$	$48 \pm 48 \ (9)$	$45 \pm 27 (21)$	$35 \pm 30 \ (12)$	74 (1)	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Sulfamethoxazole	$52 \pm 29 \ (24)^{c}$	$54 \pm 29 (13)$	$43 \pm 24 \ (10)$	$54 \pm 29 (14)$	61 ± 31 (7)	Non-significant differences in removal efficiency
Sulfapyridine	$52 \pm 44 \ (4)^{b}$	$79 \pm 4 (6)$	$84\pm3~(6)$	$84 \pm 5 (12)$	99 (1)	The removal efficiency with SF was significantly lower compared with HSSF and VF
Tramadol	$23 \pm 27 (2)^{b}$	23 ± 22 (5)	$58 \pm 42 (11)$	$46 \pm 42 (2)$	NA	The removal efficiency with SF was significantly lower compared with HSSF
Trimethoprim	32 ± 31 (26) ^c	70 ± 21 (15)	$65 \pm 31 (12)$	$69 \pm 27 (12)$	$96\pm5(3)$	The removal efficiency with hybrid was significantly higher compared with HSSF
Venlafaxine	$20 \pm 11 \ (1)^{g}$	43 ± 26 (5)	5.1 ± 3.6 (3)	40 ± 21 (2)	$63\pm4~(2)$	The removal efficiency with SF was significantly higher compared with HSSF

n number of observations; NA not available

^aValues and statistical results reprinted from Environmental Science and Pollution Research, Ilyas and van Hullebusch 2020, Performance comparison of different types of constructed wetlands for the removal of pharmaceuticals and their transformation products: a review, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-08165-w, Copyright (2020), with permission from Springer Nature [28]

^bCalculated from metadata from [82]

^cCalculated from metadata from [56] ^{dFrom [114]}

^dFrom [114] ^eNegative removal reported by [113] ^eFrom [115]

From [116]
- Highly removed compounds (>70%): acetaminophen, alfuzosin, alprazolam, atenolol, atorvastatin, azithromycin, caffeine, codeine, dipyridamole, famotidine, fenofibrate, furosemide, ibuprofen, levomepromazine, metronidazole, metoprolol, mianserin, nadolol, naproxen, nifuroxazide, ofloxacin, paroxetine, ranitidine, salbutamol, salicylic acid, sulfadimethoxine, sulfapyridine and verapamil
- Moderately removed (40–70%): bezafibrate, clarithromycin, clofibric acid, diltiazem, diclofenac, doxycycline, gemfibrozil, ketoprofen, sulfadiazine, sulfamethazine, sulfamethoxazole, tramadol, trimethoprim and venlafaxine
- Poorly removed (<40%): carbamazepine, cimetidine, clenbuterol, clindamycin, fexofenadine, glibenclamide, glimepiride, irbesartan, lorazepam, maprotiline, mefenamic acid, memantine, mirtazapine, oxazepam, perphenazine, phenobarbital and sotalol

CWs are promising to effectively remove (>70%) the pharmaceutical compounds included in the EU watch list by the Commission Decision 2015/495/EU, diclofenac and the macrolide antibiotics (erythromycin, clarithromycin and azithromycin), 17-beta-estradiol and oestrone (respectively E2 and E1) and the synthetic hormone 17-alpha-ethinylestradiol (EE2) [55]. However, except for diclofenac that has been extensively studied, all other compounds were only reported in less than ten or even five publications [55].

Additionally, making use of the data compiled from Ilyas and van Hullebusch [28] and adding results from classical activated sludge (CAS) systems (Table 2), it is possible to establish gross comparisons of removal efficiency between CWs and conventional WWTPs. As it has been reported in the first studies, CWs can provide similar (acetaminophen, caffeine, clarithromycin, clofibric acid, diltiazem, doxycy-cline, fexofenadine, gemfibrozil, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, naproxen, ranitidine, salicylic acid, sotalol, sulfamethoxazole) or even better removal (atenolol, carba-mazepine, codeine, diclofenac, metoprolol, sulfapyridine, tramadol, trimethoprim and venlafaxine) than conventional technology for domestic and urban wastewater treatment. Only bezafibrate, sulfadiazine and sulfamethazine are better removed by CAS than CW, probably the cases were sorption plays a major role as removal mechanisms.

Regarding transformation products, it is known from other technologies, including other biological processes, that pharmaceuticals removal are rarely mineralized, but rather a high variety of transformation products are formed [65]. In CWs, studies reporting transformation products are scarce when compared with the overall data on parent compounds. Not more than three papers report on the same transformation product, while several of the transformation products in CWs are only reported once [28]. Overall, results point the formation of some (e.g. 4-hydroxydiclofenac), while others (e.g. 1-hydroxyibuprofen or carboxyibuprofen) are removed. There is a clear knowledge gap on dynamics (formation/removed) of pharmaceutical transformation products in CWs.

Moreover, Ilyas and van Hullebusch [28] compared for the first time the performance of different aerated systems. Aeration, as an operational option to increase the efficiency of aerobic processes in CWs (higher BOD removal or nitrification) can also be of relevance to overcome oxygen transfer limitation and enhance the removal of pharmaceuticals. Results from a total of six publications, covering aerated variations of SF, HSSF and hybrid systems, showed that the removal of the compounds diclofenac, ibuprofen, naproxen, caffeine, atenolol and metoprolol was favoured by the higher availability of dissolved oxygen in aerated systems, thus pointing towards the upregulation of aerobic biodegradation pathways [64, 66–70]. Acetaminophen is normally easily biodegraded and no differences to non-aerated controls were observed [70].

By now it is clear that removal efficiency depends on design, pointing towards the need to better understand removal mechanisms and operational factors that condition the removal.

3 Removal Mechanisms and Processes

3.1 Mechanisms and Processes Overview

Constructed wetlands are known for their complex ecosystem allowing for a multitude of biological and physicochemical processes. By selecting the most adequate design (or combination of designs in case of hybrid systems) and operational conditions, one has the possibility to shape the water treatment as a function of the quality/strength of the incoming water to the CW. Therefore, the removal processes in CWs are pollutant and design dependent.

The main removal processes in CWs are photodegradation, sedimentation, volatilization, sorption and biological degradation [29]. Nitrogen processes comprise volatilization, ammonification, nitrification, nitrate-ammonification, denitrification, fixation, plant/microbial uptake (assimilation), ammonia adsorption, organic nitrogen burial, anaerobic ammonia oxidation (anammox). Nevertheless, the major processes just change nitrogen speciation, only few processes ultimately remove total nitrogen from the wastewater [71]. Degradable carbon compounds are rapidly utilized in wetland carbon processes. At the same time, a variety of wetland decomposition processes produce carbon [29]. The assessment of organic carbon removal, usually documented as COD and BOD, for conventional wastewater treatment has been documented for 70 years [72]. When it comes to organic chemicals (e.g. PCBs, PAHs, pesticides) studies only started in the early 2000s. A comprehensive analysis of the removal processes of organic micropollutants was prepared by Imfeld and Braeckevelt [73]. More recently, pharmaceuticals removal processes have been discussed by several of the available review papers mentioned in the previous section [27, 28, 50, 57, 60, 62]. Phosphorus transformations include peat/soil accretion, adsorption/desorption, precipitation/dissolution, plant/microbial uptake, fragmentation and leaching and mineralization and burial [71]. However, removal of phosphorus in all types of CWs can be limited, sometimes requiring additional measures, e.g. usage of special substrates or inclusion of a chemical precipitation step. Regarding particles, normally assessed as total suspended solids (TSS), CWs when effectively designed can provide reliable removal without any clogging problems for more than 20 years [74].

Plants stabilize the surface of the beds, provide good conditions for physical filtration, prevent vertical flow systems from clogging, insulate the surface against frost during winter, and provide a huge surface area for attached microbial growth [75]. Plants metabolism affects the treatment processes to different extents depending on the CW design. The most active reaction zone of constructed wetlands is the rhizosphere (the root zone). This is where physicochemical and biological processes take place that are induced by the interaction of plants, microorganisms, the substrate and pollutants [76], including pharmaceuticals degradation [60]. Plant uptake of nutrients is only of quantitative importance in low-loaded systems – surface flow system (SF) [75]. However, for organic contaminants, plant uptake and phytovolatilization, as well as contaminant accumulation and metabolic transformation, can be relevant for different plants and compounds [77], as well as different CW designs.

The relative importance of a particular removal process can vary significantly, depending on the organic contaminant being treated, the wetland type (e.g. SF, SSF, VF) and operational design (e.g. retention time), the environmental conditions, the type of vegetation within the system, as well as the substrate [29]. Anaerobic processes predominate in HSSF (apart from in the proximity of the macrophyte roots), facultative or aerobic processes usually prevail in SF, while VF and aerated systems are dominated by aerobic processes. Hybrid systems are an effective way to sequence these processes by including different designs/beds in a single treatment system. CWs support a large spectrum of biogeochemical reactions and various environmental conditions within a single bed. In fact, CWs are complex bioreactors characterized by considerable fluxes of material and energy governing chemical reactions over spatial and temporal gradients [73]. From an engineering perspective, they are also attractive biofilm reactors in which the biofilm can be manipulated, depending on the CW design and operation. Thus, pollutant removal depends on two processes simultaneously occurring at different scales: (1) the various and coexisting redox processes within a bed, and (2) the processes driven by the plant, namely, those occurring at the rhizosphere scale. Two parameters can be helpful to understand the status of a given reactor/CW, the dissolved oxygen and the oxidation reduction potential (ORP), including for pharmaceuticals removal [27, 28, 50]. Moreover, one should bear in mind that CWs are not a homogenous reactor, but in fact zonation occurs in terms of pollutant concentration (inflow area > outflow area) and with bed depth. The hydraulic retention time (HRT), including the length of time the water is in contact with the substrate, biofilm and the plant roots, affects the extent to which the removal or biotransformation of pollutants can occur. Typical HRT is in the order 7-10 days in SF, 2-5 days in HSSF and minutes to hours in VF. There is the general idea that longer retention times result in better performance, which is in general true for SF and HSSF [29]. However, such comparison should only be performed for the same design type, thus, CWs sharing the same removal processes. A clear example is the higher nitrification capacity of VF versus HSSF, including a minor area requirement for the same pollutant load, but indeed with a much lower retention time [32]. Whereas plants significantly affect the removal of pollutants in HSSF with long hydraulic retention times, their role is minor in pollutant removal in periodically loaded VF [76].

Photodegradation is only a relevant process in SF, but not for subsurface systems (HSSF and VF), where water is kept below the surface of the substrate. Moreover, photodegradation in SF will be dependent on the depth of the bed and type/density of vegetation used. It should be noted that SF can have plants rooted in the bottom that can be emergent, submerged, or floating plants, as well as free-floating plants. In addition, the biofilm system responsible for the transformation of the pollutants is distinct between SF and subsurface systems. In SF, the substrate layer is reduced, and water flows on top of it, thus the majority of the biodegradation processes occur in the water column by action of the biofilm and periphyton [78] attached to the plant surfaces (e.g. leaves, stems, roots in case of free-floating plants) [79]. For the subsurface systems (HSSF and VF), biofilm is attached to the substrate, usually sand or gravel as in classical sand filters and other type of biofilters, but in CWs the plant have a critical role shaping the microbial community of the biofilm [80].

Removal processes are also dependent on physicochemical properties of the pollutants, most notably evaporation, sorption and consequently sedimentation (when compounds are sorbed to particles/solids that are trapped by sedimentation). Different organic chemicals can show specific characteristic for a wide range of physicochemical properties such as water solubility, vapour pressure, octanol-water partition coefficient (Log K_{ow}), organic carbon partition coefficient (K_{oc}), Henry's law constant [73], acid dissociation constant (pKa) and the partition coefficient (Log K_d) [27]. The relationship between these physicochemical characteristics and the fate of pharmaceuticals in CWs is integrated in the next mechanisms description.

From the main CWs mechanisms, volatilization and phytovolatilization of pharmaceuticals can be excluded due to their low Henry's law constant values; pharmaceuticals are not volatile at the normal environmental temperatures. Therefore, pharmaceuticals are removed in CWs by the combination of (1) sorption and sedimentation; (2) plant uptake combined with translocation and further phytodegradation and microbial degradation within the plant; and (3) microbial degradation in the water-substrate interface (biofilm and/or periphyton) (Fig. 2). In the following paragraphs, each of the relevant processes are detailed. It should be denoted that sorption and sedimentation, as well as plant uptake and phytoaccumulation are non-destructive processes. They contribute for reducing the concentration of the contaminants simply by relocating them, which might imply that the contaminant can become available in the future (e.g. plants die off) or pose as hazardous (e.g. disposable of substrate by the end-life of the treatment system) [73]. The other processes imply the degradation of the compounds, also the photodegradation in the SF systems. Pharmaceuticals degradation rarely occurs by mineralization, thus a high variety of transformation products are formed, not only by photodegradation [27] but also in biological systems [65].



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of the processes by which pharmaceuticals are removed and/or degraded in surface flow CWs (SF, left side), in horizontal subsurface flow (HSSF) and vertical flow (VF) CWs (right side). Green elements are plants, grey elements represent microorganisms and brown elements represent substrate. Transformation comprises both phytodegradation and microbial degradation within the plant

3.2 Photodegradation

The removal efficiency of this degradation mechanism is decided by season and SF CW design. The seasonal variation relates with the light intensity and cycle, while the design controls the level of light penetration, reflection, and refraction through the wetland cell [50, 57]. Direct photolysis and indirect photodegradation can be important processes for most pharmaceuticals, as they generally contain aromatic rings, heteroatoms and/or other functional groups [27] that can either directly absorb solar radiation or react with photoinduced reactive intermediates (¹O₂, HO•, •OOR, ³DOM*). The number of studies focused on the photolytic degradation in wetlands is moderate compared to those in the surface water (i.e. lake and river) [57].

Photodegradation has been considered key in removing diclofenac, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, naproxen, propranolol and triclosan in SF. In addition, the elimination of some recalcitrant compounds in SF, including clofibric acid and carbamazepine was considered to be correlated with high HRT and exposure to sunlight. Other pharmaceuticals are recalcitrant to photolytic degradation, namely, sulfamethoxazole, sulfathiazole, sulfamethazine, and trimethoprim [27, 50, 57]. It should be remembered that high plant coverage can block the light radiation and consequently reduce photodegradation. On the other hand, plant activity can increase the amount of organic matter available to produce intermediate reactive species. Thus far, there is no reliable rule of thumb for predicting the photodegradation behaviour of pharmaceuticals [27].

3.3 Sorption and Sedimentation

Sorption of a chemical to soil or sediment results from physical and/or chemical adhesion of molecules to the surfaces of solids, or from dissolved molecules partitioning between the aqueous phase and soil organic matter [73]. Since suspended particles from wastewater are retained in a CW bed, sorption of dissolved organic contaminants on soil, organic carbon, mineral surfaces and biofilms coating the substrates can be a significant mechanism for their removal [50].

Modelling sorption of organic compounds in sediments, soils and biosolids typically relies on the sorption coefficient (K_d) . According to [81], a pharmaceutical with $K_d < 500 \text{ L kg}^{-1}$ or Log $K_d < 2.7$ implies poor capacity for sorption onto solids. Moreover, the organic carbon partition coefficient (K_{oc}) , i.e. the ratio of contaminant mass adsorbed per unit weight of organic carbon in the soil to the concentration in solution, is also a commonly used proxy to estimate sorption of pharmaceuticals [50]. Nevertheless, pharmaceuticals can also sorb to the inorganic component of the substrate, convoluting predictions of the total sorption in CWs. The octanol-water partition coefficient (Log K_{ow}) has been adopted as the standard measure of hydrophobicity of a chemical compound [50]. Sorption may occur due to hydrophobic interactions of the aliphatic and aromatic groups of an organic compound with the lipophilic cell membrane of the microorganisms, or the lipid fractions of the suspended solids [82]. Hydrophobic compounds can be easily adsorbed onto the organic matter coming with the wastewater and built up within the CW substrate due to filtration and sedimentation. However, pharmaceuticals can also sorb due to electrostatic interactions with the organic matter located on the surface of soil and/or sediment that exhibit a negative charge because of the functional groups present (i.e. carboxylic and phenolic groups). Thus, the electrostatic interaction with positively charged pharmaceuticals provides a suitable removal mechanism for the latest [62]. While neutral molecules partition to solid phases via relatively weak van der Waals and electron donor-acceptor interactions, charged species can interact with charged sorbents (e.g. organic matter, clays, metal oxides and oxyhydroxides) through stronger electrostatic mechanisms, such as cation-exchange, cation-bridging and complexation [50]. The most common example are antibiotics, moderately water soluble and ionizable, that exist as either neutral or charged species depending on pH conditions, for which ionic interactions are possible sorption mechanisms. This stresses that not only hydrophobicity but other compound's properties (e.g. chemical structure, water solubility, acid/base properties, etc.) and substrate characteristics (e.g. composition of organic matter, redox potential, temperature, pH, ionic strength, cations, anions, etc.) govern pharmaceuticals removal by sorption. It should be stressed that many of the methodologies and relationships suggested for determining sorption capacity have been derived from studies with neutral or hydrophobic compounds, namely, classical organic pollutants such as PAHs or PCBs. The fact that pharmaceuticals are often ionized at typical wastewater pH adds to the complexity of predicting their behaviour.

Recalcitrant pharmaceuticals such as carbamazepine are known to be removed by sorption from the water phase in CWs [50]. Higher retention in gravel beds was observed for carbamazepine (97 ng g⁻¹; 77%) in relation to clofibric acid (14 ng g⁻¹; 11%) and ibuprofen (15 ng g⁻¹; 12%), which was explained by carbamazepine higher hydrophobicity and electrostatic interactions between the acidic compounds charged negatively and negatively charged biofilm covering the gravel bed. In contrast, sorption of polar compounds such as caffeine was considered of minor importance in CW systems, because of their high water solubility and low hydrophobicity [83]. For ionizable pharmaceuticals, pH-dependent octanol/water partition coefficient (Log D_{ow}) has been considered more useful than Log K_{ow} [27]. However, it has also been observed that pharmaceuticals that are moderately hydrophilic (with Log D_{ow} ranging from -2.3 to 3) tend not to bind significantly to organic matter [63].

The majority of the HSSF and VF systems in the different studies revised by Verlicchi and Zambello [27] have been filled with gravel (generally with a particle size of 8–15 mm and porosity 30–40%) and in some cases LECA (light expanded clay aggregate). Gravel and sand are naturally more inert; thus, sorption will be very much dependent on the organic matter that builds up in time within the systems. However, optimization may be attempted by selecting materials with high sorption capacity. Dordio and Carvalho [84] provide an in-depth analysis of the role of the CW substrate on the removal of xenobiotics, including pharmaceuticals. Less common media such as LECA or activated carbons and more recent innovations like kaolinite, diatomite, cork, perlite and zeolites have been tested. However, the majority of those experiments were carried in the lab with synthetic wastewater (tap water spiked with a few compounds, not always at realistic conditions), thus raising concerns with the sustainability and applicability of these new approaches in the long term [27]. It should be stressed that LECA has been consistently shown in different studies to provide extensive sorption of carbamazepine and atenolol [62].

One should bear in mind that sorption can be seen not only as an end mechanism in the form of sedimentation but also a factor affecting the bioavailability of compounds for plant uptake and for biodegradation processes. Sorption provides different reaction times for the plants, biofilm and respective communities to interact with the pollutants. Hijosa-Valsero et al. [85] observed very limited adsorption of the musk fragrances galaxolide and tonalide (present in personal care products) despite their high hydrophobicity and strong affinity to media adsorption (Log K_{ow} 6.26 and 6.35, respectively). In fact, it was due to the easy uptake by plant rhizosphere, rather than being adsorbed by media. Moreover, the substrate itself not only conditions sorption but also affects the biofilm microbial community. Vesuvianite (or idocrase, a silicate mineral) had better removal efficiency than gravel and zeolite for treating, sulfonamides in spite of the limited sorption of these compounds. Yet, vesuvianite conditioned the growth of the microbial consortium and lengthened HRT via its larger porosity, thus contributing for an overall better removal efficiency [86]. A similar behaviour was observed for a study with six commonly used materials in CWs (sand, zeolite, blast iron slag, petroleum coke, polonite (natural calcium silicate) and crushed autoclaved aerated concrete). Laboratorial batch tests with ibuprofen and iohexol revealed that the adsorption capacity of these materials was low (at the level of $\mu g g^{-1}$) compared to well-known sorbents such activated carbon (at the level of mg g⁻¹). Columns packed with the six materials showed an increase of 2–58% in pharmaceutical removal over 66 days and attributed to microbial degradation. Furthermore, community-level physiological profiling analysis indicated that materials shaped the microbial community metabolic function not only in the interstitial water but also in the biofilm. Although the adsorption capacity of the common materials was low, they may be a driver to improve the removal of OMPs by altering microbial community function in CWs [87].

Overall, the role of adsorption in the removal of pharmaceuticals has been considered fairly moderate [57].

3.4 Plant Uptake, Translocation, Phytodegradation and Microbial Degradation Within the Plant

Phytoremediation is a technology relying on plants, and their associated rhizosphere microorganisms to remove, transform or contain toxic chemicals located in soils, sediments, groundwater, surface water and even the atmosphere [77]. The main mechanisms that constitute phytoremediation include phytostabilization, phytoextraction, phytoaccumulation, phytovolatilization, phytotranspiration, phytodegradation/transformation, endophytic degradation and rhizosphere remediation [60, 88]; these can occur simultaneously and to varying degrees.

Phytostabilization is used to minimize migration of contaminants in soils, mainly associated with the precipitation and immobilization of heavy metals. Phytoextraction and phytoaccumulation exploit the ability of plants to remove contaminants from soil or water into harvestable plant biomass. Plants uptake pollutants through their roots (phytoextraction), which can be translocated to the aboveground parts, such as stems, leaves or even fruits where it can be accumulated (phytoaccumulation) or further transformed/degraded (phytodegradation/transformation, endophytic degradation). Phytotranspiration and phytovolatilization aim to exploit plants' capacity of "pumping" high volumes of water and converting a contaminant into a volatile form, thereby removing the latter from the soil or water into the atmosphere [77].

Interestingly, studies on the uptake of pharmaceuticals by plants used in phytoremediation started much later than on crop plants and where driven by the interest to understand the potential phytotoxic effects [26]. Thus, considering the concentration levels that pharmaceuticals normally present in the environment, either in wastewaters or reclaimed water, it is not expected that phytotoxic effects will occur in phytoremediation systems, including CWs.

Since then, research on plant uptake and processes, in spite of its developments, is still not so well understood, as for example sorption. Part of the reason has been the need to perform hydroponic studies to better understand plant-driven processes. Four wetland plant species commonly used in CWs (Typha latifolia, Phragmites australis, Iris pseudacorus and Juncus effusus) were capable of removing ibuprofen and johexol from spiked culture solutions. The pharmaceuticals were taken up by the roots and translocated to the aerial tissues. However, at the end of the experiment, plant accumulation constituted only up to 1.1 and 5.7% of the amount ibuprofen and iohexol spiked initially [89]. In addition, these observations have been confirmed at mesocosm scale: Hijosa-Valsero et al. [85] observed that plants removed pharmaceuticals not only by uptake but also by the adsorption to plants roots. Pharmaceuticals, such as ibuprofen, salicylic acid and caffeine, could be attached on the root of P. australis and Typha angustifolia. These compounds were also present in plant biomass. Therefore, there has been the interest in predicting the uptake of pharmaceuticals. In this regard, the role of $Log K_{ow}$ has also been explored to predict both uptake and phytodegradation efficiency [57]. However, contrary to classical organic contaminants like PAHs or PCBs, for which, $Log K_{ow}$ is a good proxy, it does not work as predictor for pharmaceuticals [50]. Compounds with Log K_{ow} in the range (1.8-3.1) are expected to be uptake by plants. For ionizable pharmaceuticals, pH-dependent Log $D_{\rm ow}$ can be calculated, but still fails to support predictions [26]. Pharmaceuticals Log K_{ow} can vary widely, e.g. -3.05 for iohexol (x-ray contrast media), 3.5 for ibuprofen or 4.5 for diclofenac. However, the corresponding Log D_{ow} at pH 8 is -3.11, 0.5, and 0.7, respectively [73, 89], falling outside the optimal uptake range. For ionizable organic compounds, ionization is expected to reduce their uptake to the shoots owing to a decrease in their membrane permeability. Nevertheless, these compounds have been documented to be uptake by different plants. The best modelling efforts are being used to understand the underlying processes of uptake and transport in plant, as well as for the analyses of the most relevant parameters and processes, but cannot be expected to predict exact concentrations for ionisable compounds [90].

Micropollutants are thought to be simply driven by diffusion since no specific transporters for synthetic organic micropollutants exist in the cell membranes of plants [76]. Therefore, phytotranspiration is of relevance for pharmaceuticals removal. Some studies have investigated the amount of water loss during their campaigns, finding that evaporation and evapotranspiration may greatly influence the results. In planted beds this water loss is greatly increased by plant transpiration, and evapotranspiration rates depend heavily on the plant type and their vegetative stage. Naturally, loss of water due to evapotranspiration can cause artefacts in determining the removal efficiency due to the "up concentration" of compounds in the effluent, while on a mass flow calculation such error will be avoided. In addition, evapotranspiration will also affect the water balance and can result in increased HRT instead of the expected theoretical HRT [27]. Moreover, ibuprofen removal for different CW mesocosms was positively correlated with the rate of evapotranspiration indicating that plant uptake may be an important process for the ibuprofen removal [91]. Even though the majority of evidence for uptake and translocation has been found in laboratorial conditions, these were recently confirmed for full-scale systems. Analysis of plant tissues, from P. australis from HSSF systems, evidenced uptake, metabolism and accumulation of recalcitrant micropollutants such as ketamine and carbamazepine [92].

There are, therefore, also evidences of pharmaceutical's metabolization within the plant tissue. That biotransformation can occur either through phytodegradation phytotransformation) endophytic degradation. Phytodegradation (or or (or phytotransformation) is defined in this context as the metabolic degradation or breakdown of organic contaminants by plant enzymes [77]. In this process, micropollutants may be mineralized but are most often partially transformed into stable intermediates and stored in the plants [50]. He et al. [93] found that P. australis hydroxyibuprofen, metabolize ibuprofen to 1,2-dihydroxyibuprofen, can carboxyibuprofen and glucopyranosyloxy-hydroxyibuprofen. In addition, cytochrome P450 monooxygenase was found to be involved in the production of the two hydroxy intermediates. A few more examples of phytodegradation of pharmaceuticals by CWs plants are provided by Vo et al. [57]. Endophytic degradation of pharmaceuticals has also been reported in the literature. Endophytic bacteria isolated from P. australis were shown to promote growth of their host and to contribute to carbendazim metabolism. Sauvêtre et al. [94] presented strong evidence that xenobiotic metabolism and degradation pathways in plants can be modulated by interactions with their endophytic community. A few more examples of this plantbacteria synergism can be found in Nguyen et al. [60].

In spite of the recent advances, studies on the metabolic transformation of pharmaceuticals in plant tissues and their intermediate transformation products are rather limited. Apart from a very recent and interesting study that used mass spectrometry imaging to identify xenobiotics, including pharmaceuticals and respective transformation products in plant leaves from a CW [95], the usage of advanced mass spectrometry in studies with CWs is scarce. Moreover, there is little quantitative evaluation of the contribution of uptake, translocation, accumulation and metabolization for the overall removal efficiency of pharmaceuticals in CWs [50, 57].

3.5 Microbial Degradation (or Rhizosphere Remediation)

Removal efficiency for pharmaceuticals, as for other pollutants, is higher in planted than unplanted CWs [62]. Hijosa-Valsero et al. [96] found that root-related biofilms, plant exudates and microenvironment modifications near plant tissues could play a role in the removal of tetracycline. Moreover, the presence of plants improved the degradation of naproxen, ibuprofen, diclofenac and caffeine, while *P. australis* displayed better performance than *T. angustifolia* [97]. Tai et al. [98] reported that root sorption and rhizobacterial activities made the most important contribution in macrolide removal. However, some exceptions are also known, for instance, clarithromycin and trimethoprim exhibit higher removal in non-planted systems [96]. Overall, it is well established that rhizosphere remediation, through microbial degradation, is of major importance for pharmaceutical removal in CWs. However,

the ability of specific plants species and plant-microbes interactions in improving the removal efficiency of pharmaceuticals in CWs is considered unclear [27, 60].

In previous studies, indirect approaches like mass balance estimations without detailed process identification have been applied to assess microbial degradation [50]. Thus, little information is currently available on integrating microbial community structure with pharmaceutical pathways of metabolism in CWs [60]. One of the key questions posed by the scientific community was whether pharmaceuticals. namely, antibiotics, could induce toxic effects to the microbial community. Weber et al. [99] findings indicated that the presence of ciprofloxacin had an adverse effect on the bacterial communities in CW systems, initially reducing their ability to assimilate anthropogenic carbon-based compounds, but the bacterial communities returned to normal functioning after a 2–5 week acclimation period. Fernandes et al. [100] saw that microbial communities in CWs treating livestock wastewaters with veterinary antibiotics (enrofloxacin and tetracycline) were able to adapt without significant changes. Overall, it seems that CWs microbial community may be affected by short pulses of higher levels of antibiotics but should be able to recover easily. For other pharmaceuticals, e.g. ibuprofen and iohexol, no effects to the microbial community have been noted [101].

Regarding the microbial degradation itself, there is overall (not only for CWs) a lack of studies on the specific organisms and genes involved in the biodegradation of pharmaceuticals. For instance, it is reported that polar-acidic pharmaceutically active compounds such as ibuprofen can be degraded by indigenous microbial communities in the wetland ecosystem, as well as Serratia quinivorans, Corynebacterium segmentosum, and Escherichia coli (species commonly found in municipal wastewater) [60]. Despite the wide consortium of microorganisms present in inflowing wastewaters and in biofilm communities, only a few microorganisms are expected to transform organic micropollutants. Studies in other types of biofilm reactors have suggested that only around 0.1% of the biomass was actually contributing to the degradation of this type of compounds [102]. First, the relatively low concentration of pharmaceuticals compared to other pollutants in wastewater may be insufficient to induce enzymes that are capable of degrading the pharmaceuticals. Thus, it is unlikely that pharmaceuticals will be favourable energy or carbon sources for microorganisms [50]. So, co-metabolism has been suggested as a possible mechanism for the biotransformation of pharmaceuticals and other organic micropollutants. It is known that autotrophic ammonia oxidizing bacteria and/or heterotrophic microbes plays a role in pharmaceuticals degradation activity [57, 60]. Balcom et al. [103] found that the relative abundance of sequences associated with ammonia monooxygenase, which was able to hydroxylate ibuprofen, was highest in biofilm samples from planted tanks. A study focused on removal of ibuprofen by CWs found that both the interstitial water and biofilm microbial community metabolic function were influenced by CW design, plant presence and species, but design had a greater influence than plants. Moreover, canonical correlation analysis indicated that biofilm microbial communities in three designs (mimicking HSSF, VF and aerated HSSF) played a key role in ibuprofen degradation. The enzymes associated with co-metabolism of L-arginine, L-phenylalanine and putrescine were found to be potentially linked to ibuprofen transformations [104].

Overall, there are clear evidences of the importance of microbial biodegradation for pharmaceuticals removal in CWs. However, there is a big knowledge gap in relation to the microbial communities in CWs biofilms and their role and genetic information for the removal/biotransformation. Mostly, there is a need to disassemble all the experimental systems [50] after testing removal and further sequence the microbial communities. Furthermore, increased sequencing effort is also needed for full-scale systems.

From what is known, microbial degradation is in general favoured by warmer conditions. Higher removal in the summer of different pharmaceuticals, e.g. salicylic acid and caffeine, has been consistently associated with higher activity of the microbial communities (also when using biodegradation constants corrected for biomass) [57]. Moreover, we can cycle back to CW design and concepts of potentially favouring specific reactions types. For example, anaerobic environments favour the biodegradation of naproxen and diclofenac, while aerobic environments favour the removal of ibuprofen or carbamazepine [28, 57]. In addition, it should be stressed that the nature and extent of microbial degradation of organic chemicals within a CW is also expected to strongly depend on the physicochemical properties of the contaminant. Indeed, the biological degradability or recalcitrance of organic compounds may often be explained by its chemical structure, for instance, the presence of secondary, tertiary or quaternary carbon atoms as well as functional groups [73]. Nevertheless, pharmaceuticals cannot be treated as groups with respect to chemical behaviour. Small changes in chemical structure can have significant impact on solubility and polarity [50]. Matamoros and Bayona [105] reported that in HSSF, the removal of diclofenac was below 45%, while ibuprofen (80%) and ketoprofen (69%) showed greater removal. These compounds are all in the therapeutic class of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory, are aryl derivatives of propionic acid and are deprotonated and negatively charged (pH 5.3); only differing in the aryl group. However, biodegradation involves enzymatic reactions specific to chemical structures, which may result in varying rates of biodegradation [50]. Thus, the efforts placed in trying to use $Log K_{ow}$ also for the prediction of biodegradation have failed [27]. During biodegradation, pharmaceuticals may undergo (1) mineralization; (2) transformation to more hydrophobic compounds, which partition onto the solid phase; and (3) transformation to more hydrophilic compounds, which remain in the liquid phase. To date, few published studies on microbiological degradation of pharmaceuticals in CWs are available, and these studies only use indirect methods to identify possible biodegradation pathways for pharmaceutical removal [50]. Since only a few compounds and studies have reported on transformation products [28], information on transformation pathways is severely lacking.

One last point to be mentioned is enantiomeric processes. Several pharmaceutical compounds are chiral [58]. Thus, enantiomeric fractionation of chiral compounds can be used as an indicator of enzyme-compound interactions and, together with mass balance approaches, an indicator of biodegradation [106], including for phytoremediation mechanisms [107]. Very little literature data was (and still is)

available regarding the dynamics of enantiomers of pharmaceuticals in CWs. Only a limited number of chiral drugs have been investigated to date [27]: atenolol, citalopram, fluoxetine, ibuprofen, metoprolol, nadolol, pindolol, propranolol, salbutamol and sotalol. Different removal efficiencies were observed for the S-and R-enantiomers of most of these compounds, but little else is known.

In general, even though microbial degradation is a key process driving the removal of pharmaceuticals in CWs, detailed process understanding is lacking. Answers to questions such as: which species (degraders) degrade which compounds; which transformation products are being formed and what are the biotransformation pathways; and are the processes driven by co-metabolism and/or catabolism are expected in the future.

4 Constructed Wetlands a Nature-Based Solution and Important Ecotechnology for a Green Transition

CWs have been used for decades as a valid alternative to treat wastewater for small (rural or urban) communities. Their historical application and development has followed different trends in different parts of the world [29]. Currently, we are observing a potential new phase. As climate change and environmental degradation are an existential threat to Europe and the world, a European Green Deal has recently been proposed [108]. This deal provides a road map with actions to (1) boost the efficient use of resources by moving to a clean, circular economy; and (2) restore biodiversity and cut pollution. For that, investment in environmentally friendly technology is expected, namely, in nature-based solutions. CWs are one of the identified nature-based solutions that can contribute to water purification and waste treatment, as well as for resources recovery [18, 109]. Naturally, as OECD calls for better policy approaches to manage pharmaceutical residues [4], we can expect an increased pressure on the usage of CWs to address not only classical pollutants but also pharmaceuticals and other contaminants of emerging concern [55].

Even though CWs require a higher footprint than conventional systems (roughly CWs are designed with 1–20 m² per person equivalent), these nonetheless represent a suitable toolbox to address pharmaceuticals contamination. But it is also perceived from different works, namely, performed in the laboratory, that there is potential to optimize the ecotechnology to achieve better performances for pharmaceuticals treatment. Potentially for its application as polishing step to conventional systems, or even as the final step in treatment tailored to specific users, such as healthcare or hospital facilities [27]. In spite of the potential, CWs application for such purpose is rather limited. This implies that the knowledge gathered in these review papers assess how CWs built to treat different types of wastewater perform in regard to pharmaceuticals. We are missing more studies on designs dedicated to improve pharmaceutical removal. Nevertheless, there is potential to apply optimized CWs

designed specifically to remove pharmaceuticals and other organic micropollutants. Even though data on removal efficiency is widely available, the small sample size on kinetic parameters, namely, areal removal rates [64, 91, 110], might be hindering the design of dedicated CWs for pharmaceuticals removal. In addition, we cannot forget the role that CWs play on the challenges and opportunities in wastewater reuse [111]. Ultimately further research is needed to optimize the removal of the most "critical" compounds. The scientists are working on the "critical" compounds, those that current knowledge indicates that are less effectively removed by CWs, like antibiotics and some analgesics and anti-inflammatories. Practitioners and water utilities are waiting for legislation that will dictate which "critical" compounds they need to meet on their emission targets.

As for other technologies, research on CWs needs to be coupled with the risk assessment of residual pharmaceuticals and transformation products to the aquatic environment. There is a clear knowledge gap with respect to the dynamics of pharmaceutical transformation products in CWs, also in the application of suspect-screening and non-target screening methodologies based on high-resolution mass spectrometry [112] to support the characterization of pharmaceuticals removal in CWs.

5 Conclusions

Constructed wetlands, by its main designs SF, HSSF and VF, but also hybrid systems and most recently aerated systems have demonstrated a good capacity to remove different pharmaceuticals from wastewater and treated wastewater. Various processes are involved in pharmaceuticals removal: photodegradation in SF and sorption, plant uptake and several transformation processes within the plant and microbial degradation in all different CW designs. Biodegradation is pointed as proposed the major removal process, but the true extent of plant-driven processes has not yet been properly quantified.

Processes are not only controlled by CW design, but also limited by pharmaceuticals' chemical properties. Photodegradation can be explored by using SF wetlands. Though, removal is limited to sensitive compounds and its implementation may encounter regulatory limitations (e.g. prohibition of open wastewater). Sorption occurs in all systems, depending on compound, type of substrate and build-up of particles and organic matter in the system. Plants can uptake and translocate pharmaceuticals; against earlier expectations of phytoaccumulation, it is now clear that both the plant and the endophytic bacteria can biotransform pharmaceuticals. Biodegradation, namely, by the concerted synergy of plants and microorganisms, has proven a key process. There is, though, limited process understanding at the microbial community level, as well as the biochemical degradation pathways. More efforts are needed in the application of multi-omics (metagenomics, metatranscriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics) as well as in the characterization of transformation products to CW studies. Aerobic biodegradation tends to be more efficient than the anaerobic; therefore, VF and aerated systems have shown the best performances. However, hybrid designs that allow for multiple processes and extended treatment time have shown benefits for increasing the removal of certain compounds. Operational parameters have been widely studied, but their role cannot be disconnected from the specific designs tested and the environmental conditions of geographical area where the systems are tested/built. Several of these parameters are important to understand the observed processes but are also independent variables that may prove hard to control. In addition, pharmaceutical removal has been assessed in CWs designed and built to removal carbon, nitrogen and phosphorous. It is yet to be proposed which key mechanism can and should be optimized for improving the removal of pharmaceuticals in CWs.

The political agenda is currently favourable for increasing the efforts on controlling pharmaceuticals pollution by implementation of CWs as nature-based solutions. Thus, further developments of the technology are expected for the future.

References

- 1. Vasquez MI et al (2014) Environmental side effects of pharmaceutical cocktails: what we know and what we should know. J Hazard Mater 279:169–189
- Voulvoulis N, Barceló D, Verlicchi P (2016) Pharmaceutical residues in sewage treatment works and their fate in the receiving environment. In: Pharmaceuticals in the environment. The Royal Society of Chemistry, London, pp 120–179
- 3. Boxall AB et al (2012) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: what are the big questions? Environ Health Perspect 120(9):1221–1229
- 4. OECD (2019) Pharmaceutical residues in freshwater: hazards and policy responses. In: OECD studies on water. OECD, Paris
- 5. Dulio V et al (2018) Emerging pollutants in the EU: 10 years of NORMAN in support of environmental policies and regulations. Environ Sci Eur 30(1):5
- Kummerer K (2009) The presence of pharmaceuticals in the environment due to human use present knowledge and future challenges. J Environ Manag 90(8):2354–2366
- 7. Rogowska J et al (2020) Micropollutants in treated wastewater. Ambio 49(2):487-503
- Petrović M, Gonzalez S, Barceló D (2003) Analysis and removal of emerging contaminants in wastewater and drinking water. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 22(10):685–696
- 9. Kinney CA, Heuvel BV (2020) Translocation of pharmaceuticals and personal care products after land application of biosolids. Curr Opin Environ Sci Health 14:23–30
- Sarmah AK, Meyer MT, Boxall ABA (2006) A global perspective on the use, sales, exposure pathways, occurrence, fate and effects of veterinary antibiotics (VAs) in the environment. Chemosphere 65(5):725–759
- Fatta-Kassinos D, Meric S, Nikolaou A (2011) Pharmaceutical residues in environmental waters and wastewater: current state of knowledge and future research. Anal Bioanal Chem 399(1):251–275
- 12. Liu B, Zhang S-g, Chang C-C (2019) Emerging pollutants—part II: treatment. Water Environ Res 91(10):1390–1401
- 13. Sun H et al (2019) Water reclamation and reuse. Water Environ Res 91(10):1080–1090
- Seleiman MF, Santanen A, Mäkelä PSA (2020) Recycling sludge on cropland as fertilizer advantages and risks. Resour Conserv Recycl 155:104647

- 15. Ghirardini A, Grillini V, Verlicchi P (2020) A review of the occurrence of selected micropollutants and microorganisms in different raw and treated manure environmental risk due to antibiotics after application to soil. Sci Total Environ 707:136118
- Kümmerer K (2011) Antibiotics in the aquatic environment. In: Antimicrobial resistance in the environment, pp 325–335
- Brix H (1994) Use of constructed wetlands in water pollution control: historical development, present status, and future perspectives. Water Sci Technol 30(8 pt 8):209–223
- 18. Oral HV et al (2020) A review of nature-based solutions for urban water management in European circular cities: a critical assessment based on case studies and literature. Blue-Green Syst 2(1):112–136
- Ingrao C, Failla S, Arcidiacono C (2020) A comprehensive review of environmental and operational issues of constructed wetland systems. Curr Opin Environ Sci Health 13:35–45
- 20. Wang M et al (2018) Application of constructed wetlands for treating agricultural runoff and agro-industrial wastewater: a review. Hydrobiologia 805(1):1–31
- 21. Sehar S, Nasser HAA (2019) Wastewater treatment of food industries through constructed wetland: a review. Int J Environ Sci Technol 16(10):6453–6472
- Arden S, Ma X (2018) Constructed wetlands for greywater recycle and reuse: a review. Sci Total Environ 630:587–599
- Carvalho PN, Arias CA, Brix H (2017) Constructed wetlands for water treatment: new developments. Water 9(6):397
- 24. Ghimire U et al (2019) Wetlands for wastewater treatment. Water Environ Res 91 (10):1378–1389
- 25. Wells MJM et al (2010) Emerging pollutants. Water Environ Res 82(10):2095-2170
- 26. Carvalho PN et al (2014) A review of plant-pharmaceutical interactions: from uptake and effects in crop plants to phytoremediation in constructed wetlands. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21 (20):11729–11763
- Verlicchi P, Zambello E (2014) How efficient are constructed wetlands in removing pharmaceuticals from untreated and treated urban wastewaters? A review. Sci Total Environ 470–471 (0):1281–1306
- 28. Ilyas H, van Hullebusch ED (2020) Performance comparison of different types of constructed wetlands for the removal of pharmaceuticals and their transformation products: a review. Environ Sci Pollut Res 27(13):14342–14364
- Kadlec RH, Wallace SD (2009) Treatment wetlands.2nd edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton. 1016 s., 4 s. farvelagte tav
- Fonder N, Headley T (2013) The taxonomy of treatment wetlands: a proposed classification and nomenclature system. Ecol Eng 51:203–211
- 31. Wallace S, Nivala J, Meyers T (2008) Vymazal J (ed) Statistical analysis of treatment performance in aerated and nonaerated subsurface flow constructed wetlands, in wastewater treatment, plant dynamics and management in constructed and natural wetlands. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 171–180
- 32. Nivala J et al (2019) Side-by-side comparison of 15 pilot-scale conventional and intensified subsurface flow wetlands for treatment of domestic wastewater. Sci Total Environ 658:1500–1513
- Rous V, Vymazal J, Hnátková T (2019) Treatment wetlands aeration efficiency: a review. Ecol Eng 136:62–67
- Molle P, Prost-Boucle S, Lienard A (2008) Potential for total nitrogen removal by combining vertical flow and horizontal flow constructed wetlands: a full-scale experiment study. Ecol Eng 34(1):23–29
- 35. Dotro G et al (2017) Treatment wetlands. IWA Publishing, London
- 36. Wallace S (2006) Feasibility, design criteria, and O&M requirements for small scale constructed wetland wastewater treatment systems. IWA Publishing, London

- 37. Ruppelt JP, Pinnekamp J, Tondera K (2020) Elimination of micropollutants in four test-scale constructed wetlands treating combined sewer overflow: influence of filtration layer height and feeding regime. Water Res 169:115214
- 38. Gene SM et al (2019) The role of vegetated buffers in agriculture and their regulation across Canada and the United States. J Environ Manag 243:12–21
- 39. Mander Ü et al (2017) Planning and establishment principles for constructed wetlands and riparian buffer zones in agricultural catchments. Ecol Eng 103:296–300
- Maillard E, Imfeld G (2014) Pesticide mass budget in a stormwater wetland. Environ Sci Technol 48(15):8603–8611
- 41. Tchobanoglous G et al (2003) Wastewater engineering : treatment and reuse. In: The McCraw-Hill series in civil and environmental engineering, vol 28. 4th edn. McGraw-Hill Science, London. 1819 s., illustreret
- 42. Molle P et al (2005) How to treat raw sewage with constructed wetlands: an overview of the French systems. Water Sci Technol 51(9):11–21
- 43. White JR, Belmont MA, Metcalfe CD (2006) Pharmaceutical compounds in wastewater: wetland treatment as a potential solution. Sci World J 6:1731–1736
- 44. Schröder P et al (2007) Using phytoremediation technologies to upgrade waste water treatment in Europe. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 14(7):490–497
- 45. Bell KY et al (2012) Emerging pollutants part II: treatment. Water Environ Res 84 (10):1909–1940
- 46. Bell KY et al (2013) Emerging pollutants part II: treatment. Water Environ Res 85 (10):2022–2071
- Gude VG, Truax DD, Magbanua BS (2013) Natural treatment and onsite processes. Water Environ Res 85(10):1232–1261
- Haarstad K, Bavor HJ, Mæhlum T (2012) Organic and metallic pollutants in water treatment and natural wetlands: a review. Water Sci Technol 65(1):76–99
- 49. Li Y et al (2014) A review on removing pharmaceutical contaminants from wastewater by constructed wetlands: design, performance and mechanism. Sci Total Environ 468–469:908–932
- 50. Zhang D et al (2014) Removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in aquatic plantbased systems: a review. Environ Pollut 184:620–639
- 51. Martinez-Guerra E et al (2015) Wetlands for wastewater treatment. Water Environ Res 87 (10):1095–1126
- 52. Talib A, Randhir TO (2017) Managing emerging contaminants in watersheds: need for comprehensive, systems-based strategies. Sustain Water Qual Ecol 9-10:1–8
- 53. Mlunguza NY et al (2019) Adsorbents and removal strategies of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs from contaminated water bodies. J Environ Chem Eng 7(3):103142
- 54. Ekperusi AO, Sikoki FD, Nwachukwu EO (2019) Application of common duckweed (*Lemna minor*) in phytoremediation of chemicals in the environment: state and future perspective. Chemosphere 223:285–309
- 55. Gorito AM et al (2017) A review on the application of constructed wetlands for the removal of priority substances and contaminants of emerging concern listed in recently launched EU legislation. Environ Pollut 227:428–443
- 56. Melvin SD, Leusch FDL (2016) Removal of trace organic contaminants from domestic wastewater: a meta-analysis comparison of sewage treatment technologies. Environ Int 92-93:183–188
- 57. Vo H-N-P et al (2018) Insights of the removal mechanisms of pharmaceutical and personal care products in constructed wetlands. Curr Pollut Rep 4(2):93–103
- 58. Zhou Y et al (2018) Chiral pharmaceuticals: environment sources, potential human health impacts, remediation technologies and future perspective. Environ Int 121:523–537
- 59. Rabello VM et al (2019) The efficiency of constructed wetlands and algae tanks for the removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs): a systematic review. Water Air Soil Pollut 230(10):236

- 60. Nguyen PM et al (2019) Removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products using constructed wetlands: effective plant-bacteria synergism may enhance degradation efficiency. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26(21):21109–21126
- 61. Liu X et al (2019) A review on removing antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes from wastewater by constructed wetlands: performance and microbial response. Environ Pollut 254: p:112996
- 62. Ilyas H, van Hullebusch ED (2019) Role of design and operational factors in the removal of pharmaceuticals by constructed wetlands. Water 11(11):2356
- 63. Hijosa-Valsero M et al (2010) Assessment of full-scale natural systems for the removal of PPCPs from wastewater in small communities. Water Res 44(5):1429–1439
- 64. Nivala J et al (2019) Dynamics of emerging organic contaminant removal in conventional and intensified subsurface flow treatment wetlands. Sci Total Environ 649:1144–1156
- 65. Weizel A et al (2020) Analysis of the aerobic biodegradation of glucocorticoids: elucidation of the kinetics and transformation reactions. Water Res 174:115561
- 66. Ávila C et al (2014) Emerging organic contaminants in vertical subsurface flow constructed wetlands: influence of media size, loading frequency and use of active aeration. Sci Total Environ 494-495:211–217
- 67. Auvinen H et al (2017) Laboratory- and full-scale studies on the removal of pharmaceuticals in an aerated constructed wetland: effects of aeration and hydraulic retention time on the removal efficiency and assessment of the aquatic risk. Water Sci Technol 76(6):1457–1465
- 68. Auvinen H et al (2017) Removal of pharmaceuticals by a pilot aerated sub-surface flow constructed wetland treating municipal and hospital wastewater. Ecol Eng 100:157–164
- 69. Kahl S et al (2017) Effect of design and operational conditions on the performance of subsurface flow treatment wetlands: emerging organic contaminants as indicators. Water Res 125:490–500
- 70. Li J, Zhou Q, Campos LC (2017) Removal of selected emerging PPCP compounds using greater duckweed (*Spirodela polyrhiza*) based lab-scale free water constructed wetland. Water Res 126:252–261
- Vymazal J (2007) Removal of nutrients in various types of constructed wetlands. Sci Total Environ 380(1):48–65
- Vymazal J (2005) Horizontal sub-surface flow and hybrid constructed wetlands systems for wastewater treatment. Ecol Eng 25(5):478–490
- 73. Imfeld G et al (2009) Monitoring and assessing processes of organic chemicals removal in constructed wetlands. Chemosphere 74(3):349–362
- 74. Vymazal J (2019) Is removal of organics and suspended solids in horizontal sub-surface flow constructed wetlands sustainable for twenty and more years? Chem Eng J 378:122117
- 75. Brix H (1994) Functions of macrophytes in constructed wetlands. Water Sci Technol 29 (4):71–78
- Stottmeister U et al (2003) Effects of plants and microorganisms in constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment. Biotechnol Adv 22(1):93–117
- 77. Susarla S, Medina VF, McCutcheon SC (2002) Phytoremediation: an ecological solution to organic chemical contamination. Ecol Eng 18(5):647–658
- 78. Toet S et al (2003) Denitrification in the periphyton associated with plant shoots and in the sediment of a wetland system supplied with sewage treatment plant effluent. Hydrobiologia 501(1):29–44
- Vymazal J (2013) Emergent plants used in free water surface constructed wetlands: a review. Ecol Eng 61:582–592
- Weber KP, Legge RL (2011) Dynamics in the bacterial community-level physiological profiles and hydrological characteristics of constructed wetland mesocosms during start-up. Ecol Eng 37(5):666–677
- 81. Ternes TA et al (2004) A rapid method to measure the solid-water distribution coefficient (Kd) for pharmaceuticals and musk fragrances in sewage sludge. Water Res 38 (19):4075–4084

- Verlicchi P, Al Aukidy M, Zambello E (2012) Occurrence of pharmaceutical compounds in urban wastewater: removal, mass load and environmental risk after a secondary treatment—a review. Sci Total Environ 429:123–155
- Matamoros V, García J, Bayona JM (2005) Behavior of selected pharmaceuticals in subsurface flow constructed wetlands: a pilot-scale study. Environ Sci Technol 39(14):5449–5454
- Dordio AV, Carvalho AJP (2013) Organic xenobiotics removal in constructed wetlands, with emphasis on the importance of the support matrix. J Hazard Mater 252–253:272–292
- 85. Hijosa-Valsero M et al (2016) Behaviour of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in constructed wetland compartments: influent, effluent, pore water, substrate and plant roots. Chemosphere 145:508–517
- 86. Dan A et al (2013) Removal and factors influencing removal of sulfonamides and trimethoprim from domestic sewage in constructed wetlands. Bioresour Technol 146:363–370
- 87. Zhang L et al (2018) New insights into the effects of support matrix on the removal of organic micro-pollutants and the microbial community in constructed wetlands. Environ Pollut 240:699–708
- 88. Chaudhry Q et al (2005) Utilising the synergy between plants and rhizosphere microorganisms to enhance breakdown of organic pollutants in the environment (15 pp). Environ Sci Pollut Res 12(1):34–48
- 89. Zhang Y et al (2016) Removal of the pharmaceuticals ibuprofen and iohexol by four wetland plant species in hydroponic culture: plant uptake and microbial degradation. Environ Sci Pollut Res 23(3):2890–2898
- 90. González García M et al (2019) Predicting the uptake of emerging organic contaminants in vegetables irrigated with treated wastewater – implications for food safety assessment. Environ Res 172:175–181
- 91. Zhang L et al (2017) Effects of constructed wetland design on ibuprofen removal a mesocosm scale study. Sci Total Environ 609:38–45
- 92. Petrie B et al (2018) Biotic phase micropollutant distribution in horizontal sub-surface flow constructed wetlands. Sci Total Environ 630:648–657
- 93. He Y et al (2017) Metabolism of ibuprofen by *Phragmites australis*: uptake and phytodegradation. Environ Sci Technol 51(8):4576–4584
- 94. Sauvêtre A et al (2018) Metabolism of carbamazepine in plant roots and endophytic rhizobacteria isolated from *Phragmites australis*. J Hazard Mater 342:85–95
- 95. Villette C et al (2019) Xenobiotics metabolization in *Salix alba* leaves uncovered by mass spectrometry imaging. Metabolomics 15(9):122
- 96. Hijosa-Valsero M et al (2011) Removal of antibiotics from urban wastewater by constructed wetland optimization. Chemosphere 83(5):713–719
- 97. Hijosa-Valsero M et al (2011) Evaluation of primary treatment and loading regimes in the removal of pharmaceuticals and personal care products from urban wastewaters by subsurfaceflow constructed wetlands. Int J Environ Anal Chem 91(7-8):632–653
- Tai Y et al (2017) Assessment of rhizosphere processes for removing water-borne macrolide antibiotics in constructed wetlands. Plant Soil 419(1):489–502
- Weber KP et al (2011) Effect of ciprofloxacin on microbiological development in wetland mesocosms. Water Res 45(10):3185–3196
- 100. Fernandes JP et al (2015) Microbial community dynamics associated with veterinary antibiotics removal in constructed wetlands microcosms. Bioresour Technol 182:26–33
- 101. Zhang Y et al (2019) Microbial community metabolic profiles in saturated constructed wetlands treating iohexol and ibuprofen. Sci Total Environ 651:1926–1934
- 102. Falås P et al (2018) Transformation, CO2 formation and uptake of four organic micropollutants by carrier-attached microorganisms. Water Res 141:405–416
- 103. Balcom IN et al (2016) Metagenomic analysis of an ecological wastewater treatment plant's microbial communities and their potential to metabolize pharmaceuticals [version 1; peer review: 1 approved, 1 approved with reservations]. F1000Res 5:1881

- 104. Zhang L et al (2018) Impacts of design configuration and plants on the functionality of the microbial community of mesocosm-scale constructed wetlands treating ibuprofen. Water Res 131:228–238
- 105. Matamoros V, Bayona JM (2006) Elimination of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in subsurface flow constructed wetlands. Environ Sci Technol 40(18):5811–5816
- 106. Harner T, Wiberg K, Norstrom R (2000) Enantiomer fractions are preferred to enantiomer ratios for describing chiral signatures in environmental analysis. Environ Sci Technol 34 (1):218–220
- 107. Lv T et al (2017) Enantioselective uptake, translocation and degradation of the chiral pesticides tebuconazole and imazalil by *Phragmites australis*. Environ Pollut 229:362–370
- 108. EC (2019) Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions The European Green Deal COM/2019/640 final
- 109. Krull W et al (2015) Towards an EU research and innovation policy agenda for nature-based solutions and re-naturing cities. Final report of the Horizon 2020 expert group on 'Nature-based solutions and re-naturing cities'
- 110. Zhang Y et al (2017) Ibuprofen and iohexol removal in saturated constructed wetland mesocosms. Ecol Eng 98:394–402
- 111. Fatta-Kassinos D et al (2015) COST action ES1403: new and emerging challenges and opportunities in wastewater REUSe (NEREUS). Environ Sci Pollut Res 22(9):7183–7186
- 112. Hollender J et al (2019) High resolution mass spectrometry-based non-target screening can support regulatory environmental monitoring and chemicals management. Environ Sci Eur 31 (1):42
- 113. Sörengård M et al (2019) Mass loads, source apportionment, and risk estimation of organic micropollutants from hospital and municipal wastewater in recipient catchments. Chemosphere 234:931–941
- 114. Kosonen J, Kronberg L (2009) The occurrence of antihistamines in sewage waters and in recipient rivers. Environ Sci Pollut Res 16(5):555–564
- 115. Schaider LA, Rodgers KM, Rudel RA (2017) Review of organic wastewater compound concentrations and removal in onsite wastewater treatment systems. Environ Sci Technol 51 (13):7304–7317
- 116. Lajeunesse A et al (2012) Distribution of antidepressant residues in wastewater and biosolids following different treatment processes by municipal wastewater treatment plants in Canada. Water Res 46(17):5600–5612

Part IV Current Status of Analytical Methods

Development of Methods for the Determination of PhACs in Soil/ Earthworm/Crop System Irrigated with Reclaimed Water



Rayana Manasfi, Francesc Labad, and Nicola Montemurro

Contents

1	Intro	duction	418
2	Most	t Common Extraction Techniques	421
	2.1	Assisted Solvent Extraction (ASE)	421
	2.2	Ultrasound Solvent Extraction (USE)	421
	2.3	Microwave-Assisted Extraction (MAE)	422
	2.4	QuEChERS (Quick, Easy, Cheap, Effective, Rugged, Safe)	423
	2.5	Other Extraction Methods (Soxhlet and Solid-Liquid Extraction)	424
3	Sam	ple Preparation	425
4	Extra	action Procedures for Pharmaceuticals from Soil	444
	4.1	Assisted Solvent Extraction (ASE)	444
	4.2	Ultrasound Solvent Extraction (USE)	447
	4.3	Microwave-Assisted Extraction (MAE)	447
	4.4	QuEChERS (Quick, Easy, Cheap, Effective, Rugged, Safe)	448
5	Extra	action Procedures for Pharmaceuticals from Plant Tissues	449
	5.1	Assisted Solvent Extraction (ASE)	450
	5.2	Ultrasound Solvent Extraction (USE)	463
	5.3	QuEChERS (Quick, Easy, Cheap, Effective, Rugged, Safe)	464
	5.4	Other Extraction Methods (MAE, Soxhlet, Solid-Liquid Extraction)	465
6	Clear	n-Up Procedures	466
	6.1	Commonly Used Sorbents	467
	6.2	New Sorbents	469

R. Manasfi

UMR HydroSciences 5569, HSM, Montpellier University, Montpellier, Cedex 5, France

F. Labad and N. Montemurro (🖂)

Sandra Pérez Solsona, Nicola Montemurro, Serge Chiron, and Damià Barceló (eds.), Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems: The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater, Hdb Env Chem (2021) 103: 417–492, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_650, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 29 August 2020

ENFOCHEM, Department of Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research IDAEA-CSIC, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: nmoqam@cid.csic.es

7	Analysis of Pharmaceuticals in Earthworms	470
	7.1 Sampling, Sample Preparation, and Extraction	471
8	Separation and Detection	476
9	Conclusions and Future Perspectives	479
Re	ferences	479

Abstract Pharmaceuticals have been becoming a major concern of environmental pollution since the beginning of the century. The ways in which these contaminants are introduced into the environment are very different, but almost always associated with wastewater. In fact, current wastewater treatment plants are not designed for the removal of pharmaceutical products. Indeed, the problem of water scarcity has played an important role in the introduction of pharmaceutical products into the environment, particularly in the agricultural sector. Because of the drought, more and more countries are resorting to the use of treated wastewater to irrigate vegetables for human consumption. Consequently, the reuse of wastewater in agriculture constitutes a continuous introduction of these molecules into the soil.

The effects of this practice are not entirely clear. However, the probability that these compounds can enter the food chain directly is high. In fact, through radical absorption, plants could uptake pharmaceuticals from soil and water, leading to the accumulation of drugs in the tissues.

The development of analytical methods of solid matrices such as soil or plant tissues requires substantial work due to the great complexity of the matrices and the differences between the physico-chemical properties of analytes of interest. Several multi-class methods have recently been developed to determine a large number of pharmaceutical products in soil or plants using different extraction techniques.

This chapter addresses to list all the analytical procedures published so far used for the extraction and analysis of pharmaceutical products from plant tissues and from the soil irrigated with treated wastewater.

Keywords ASE, Crop uptake, Pharmaceuticals, QuEChERS, Soil contamination, USE

1 Introduction

Treated wastewater is an incredible resource to cope with the increasing demand of water to meet the agricultural sector, undermined by the continued lack of water and frequent water shortages. In fact, the use of wastewater in irrigation as well as stabilizing the nutrient content in the soil can lead to an increase in the production of crops in arid areas due to the constant input of organic and mineral components into the soil through the wastewater. Despite the high content of nutrients, especially nitrogen immediately available for plant growth [1], irrigation of crops with recycled water can lead to the spread of pharmaceutical active compounds (PhACs) in agricultural land and waters. These substances are part of the products of daily use

and are not completely removed from the activated sludge treatment plants. Hence, they are a source of concern due to the harmful effects that these substances can cause in a variety of aquatic and terrestrial organisms due to their continuous entry into the environment.

The main drawback arising from the application of wastewater effluents is that vegetables could uptake PhACs from soil and water, leading to their accumulation at trace level in fresh products for human consumption [2]. In fact, the main disadvantage of wastewater reuse in agriculture is the potential contamination of soil, crops, and water sources and the inherent risk of harmful effects that contamination poses to exposed organisms. However, the PhAC concentrations in crops and vegetables should be much lower than the dosage for an effective therapy.

Every day, due to the constant development of the pharmaceutical industry, new compounds are approved and marketed. However, there is a general lack of knowledge of the effects that these substances cause on the environment. This is explained in part due to the reduced number of studies or the intrinsic difficulty of extracting and isolating and quantifying organic compounds at trace levels in soil and plants. Moreover, the analytical techniques used for this type of pollutants are relatively expensive.

Although several analytical methods have been developed to extract PhACs from water and soil samples, one of the greatest efforts of recent years is to try to develop robust analytical methods for the analysis of PhACs in plant tissues. Given the small number of these publications, it is evident how this issue represents a difficult challenge to overcome. Furthermore, the use of an inappropriate or low sensitive method with relatively high limits of quantification could contribute to give unreliable results as a consequence of the low concentrations with which these compounds are present in water or in the soil.

Due to the complexity of the sample matrix, the analysis of environmental samples involves several difficulties. The analyses of solid or semi-solid matrices such as soil, sludge, or sediment or of biological samples (animal, vegetable, or plasma tissues) are more complex than liquid samples, which usually require fewer pretreatment phases, due to their liquid form. In the case of wastewater, for example, an initial filtration is sufficient to remove the particulates followed by a solid-phase extraction using cartridges with different absorbent resins. The latest technological advances also allow for the analysis of surface or wastewater by direct injection avoiding all the problems related to the handling of the sample [3, 4].

Sample preparation has simply the purpose of transferring the analytes in a measurable form [5]. The first step for the success of an analytical method is sampling. In fact, the determination of pollutants in soil or plants initially requires specific sampling techniques that take into account the heterogeneity of the soil or plant matrix [6].

Furthermore, the sample preparation for the analysis of pharmaceutical residues is a very critical aspect since the analytes of interest are intimately bonded to the components of the matrix to be studied. Indeed, prior to the analysis, specialized extraction techniques are needed that can effectively isolate the analytes without any component of the matrix potentially interfering with the detection of the analyte. The goal is to develop the most selective extraction method, optimizing the extraction conditions to exploit the chemical differences between analytes and matrix components. In the event that part of the matrix is co-extracted with the analytes, it is often advisable to carry out a further step consisting of techniques for cleaning the matrix from interfering co-extractives with the compounds of interest.

In fact, to obtain a selective method, it is necessary to consider in particular the removal of the matrix components such as organic matter, lipids, waxes, sugars, or pigments. The removal of these co-extracts must be controlled to minimize any adverse effects that could affect the detection of the compounds of interest. Therefore, several post-extraction cleaning procedures have been developed for the removal of the co-extracted matrix components.

Another often overlooked difficulty is the optimization of the extraction conditions of a new analytical method; it is necessary to use a relevant matrix containing the analytes of interest. For persistent organic contaminants or for pesticides, certified reference materials (CRM) are commercially available. However, as far as PhACs are concerned, these materials are not available, and the development must be based on internally produced materials. In most cases, producing internally contaminant-free material means growing vegetables until fully harvested (60–90 days in the case of a lettuce). This may lead to a delay in the development of the analytical method which is not always feasible. Very often then, we resort to the use of vegetables from organic farming [7].

This reference material thus obtained is then doped with known concentrations of the compounds of interest in order to study the recovery tests and thus guarantee the ability to perform a quantitative analysis of the compounds with the developed method.

In an attempt to obtain a rapid and efficient extraction of the analytes from solid matrices, different extraction techniques such as microwave-assisted extraction (MAE), ultrasound solvent extraction (USE), pressurized liquid extraction (PLE), or the most recent QuEChERS method have recently been the subject of in-depth study, due to good efficiency and reliability. In fact, these are the extraction techniques currently most used for the determination of PhACs in soil or plants. They are preferred to traditional extraction methods such as Soxhlet, as they guarantee greater contact between the solvent and the soil particles, with consequent greater coverage of the analytes and a lower consumption of organic solvents. In fact, the Soxhlet method involves very long extraction times with the consumption of large quantities of organic solvents.

The analysis of PhACs is commonly performed using liquid or gas chromatography techniques, although liquid chromatography is preferred as it is more suitable for the analysis of polar compounds.

The purpose of the chapter is to discuss all the analytical procedures used for the extraction and analysis of pharmaceutical products and their related compounds from plant tissues and from the soil irrigated with treated wastewater. This chapter will describe all that is known about the analytical procedures published so far. In the coming section, we will discuss the most popular previously reported methods for pharmaceuticals extractions (USE, PLE, MAE, QuEChERS) from soil and plant

tissues. The different cleanup techniques of the extracts will also be addressed, while the last section will be dedicated to separation and detection techniques. Given the lack of analytical methods in the literature, the determination of drugs in earthworms will be only partially treated at the end of the chapter.

2 Most Common Extraction Techniques

2.1 Assisted Solvent Extraction (ASE)

Assisted solvent extraction (ASE) is also known as pressurized liquid extraction, (PLE), pressurized fluid extraction (PFE), enhanced solvent extraction (ESE), or high-pressure solvent extraction (HPSE). ASE and PLE are the most popular names.

It is considered as an advanced, reasonably uncomplicated extraction technique, time saver, and easy to learn. Briefly, the samples are mixed with a proper cell matrix and filled in the cell. Then the cell is placed in a carousel; the latter rotates automatically in a way to put the cell in the oven chamber. After preheating the oven chamber, the cell is filled with the extraction solvent and kept for an optimized static time, under the desired temperature and pressure. Finally, a solvent containing the extracted analytes is obtained and collected in a vial, while the cell is then washed and purged with a nitrogen flow [8]. All of those steps constitute one cycle and can be repeated several times. The number of cycles is also optimized during method development.

It is usually employed at temperature above the boiling point of the used extraction solvent, along with high pressure to keep the solvent in liquid state during the extraction process. Further, solvent's viscosity decreases as the temperature increases, which enhances its ability to wet the matrix and solubilize the target analytes [9]. Therefore, besides its rapid extraction process, ASE has the advantage of less solvent consumption, less toxicity, more environmentally friendly, and possibility automation. All of these criteria have made ASE popular in pharmaceutical extraction field. It has been successfully applied to a wide range of analytes and pharmaceuticals since polar and non-polar solvents, or a mixture of solvents, may be used [10], though many parameters need to be optimized in order to obtain the highest analyte recoveries, such as solvent selection, temperature, pressure, extraction time, and other parameters such as extraction mode, extraction time, number of cycles, cell matrix, and flush volume.

2.2 Ultrasound Solvent Extraction (USE)

Ultrasound solvent extraction is based on cavitation effect generated by ultrasound radiations in a water bath. Usually solid samples and the extractant are mixed in a centrifuge tube and placed into tube rack in the ultrasonic water bath. The ultrasound

radiations generate a great number of tiny bubbles in liquid media (the extraction solvent added to the sample in the centrifuge tube) and mechanical erosion of solids (soil and crops samples); thus, particles rupture [11]. However, USE does not always reach high efficiency as efficiencies reached by other methods. Additionally, ultrasonic irradiation enhances the release of matrix components simultaneously with the analytes, hence an important matrix effect.

For a maximum pharmaceuticals' recovery, several parameters should be optimized such as type of solvent, irradiation conditions (temperature and amplitude of sonication), sonication time, number of cycles, and sample amount. Generally, to obtain the highest extraction efficiency with the lowest matrix interferences, several extraction cycles are employed, each with a fresh and small solvent volume [12]. Thus, solvents from the different extraction cycles are combined and processed to the following step, usually clean-up step, unless it is skipped to analysis.

Several ultrasound devices are available, such as the water bath, probes, sonireactors, or microplate horn [13]. Yet, an ultrasonic water bath was always employed for soil and crop analysis, which is also known to be the cheapest and the most available [14–16]. An important aspect is that these types of devices are almost always available in every laboratory. Finally, USE is an environment-friendly technique, less solvent consumer, and energy and time saving.

2.3 Microwave-Assisted Extraction (MAE)

MAE is also called microwave-assisted solvent extraction (MASE). In this technique, microwave energy is used to directly heat the solvent in contact with the sample, thus achieving the partition of target analytes from the sample to the solvent and accelerating the speed of extraction. The microwave energy released is nonionizing radiation that causes molecular motion by migration of ions and rotation of dipoles [12]. The efficiency of MAE depends strongly on the nature of the solvent and the matrix [17]. Solvents used for MAE should be able to absorb microwaves. In other words, solvent should have dipole leading (polar). However, a combination of polar and non-polar solvents has extended MAE usage [10].

It is an automated green extraction technique offering many advantages such as less solvent consumption and short extraction times, even less than USE technique [17, 18]. Additionally, several samples can be extracted simultaneously, hence increasing the number of samples analyzed daily. It also offers protection for thermolabile compounds. Further, the equipment for MAE is relatively expensive, which probably is the main reason why a small number of studies are dealing with MAE. Finally, several factors should be optimized in order to obtain the best efficiency, such as solvent selection, temperature, and extraction time.

2.4 QuEChERS (Quick, Easy, Cheap, Effective, Rugged, Safe)

QuEChERS (acronym of quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged, safe) extraction technique, as its name tells, is known to be fast, easy, and cheap. It consists of two consecutive steps, the extraction/partitioning step usually using acetonitrile as extractant and salts for partitioning and a clean-up step using dispersive solid-phase extraction (d-SPE). Additionally, QuEChERS is one of the widely known green extraction methods. It requires small amount of low toxic, non-halogenated solvents and reagents, as well as laboratory equipment and no external energy supply. Furthermore, this method has also introduced the concept of d-SPE for clean-up purposes. Also, the low cost and short time allow the extraction of a reasonable number of samples. It was first introduced for the determination of pesticides in vegetables [19]; later it was successfully employed for other compounds (e.g., pharmaceuticals, hormones, chlorinated compounds, etc.) in different matrices (eggs, blood, earthworms, and environmental matrices) [20–24].

Nowadays, three main QuEChERS methods are officially known and widely used. Briefly, the original method (OR) [19] is the first method developed by Anastassiades and coworkers in 2003, who are known as the fathers of QuEChERS. They employed acetonitrile as extractant and $MgSO_4$ + NaCl as partitioning salts. Later in 2007, Lehotay and coworkers [25] introduced a modified QuEChERS, in which they employed acidified acetonitrile with 1% acetic acid as extractant and the acetate-buffered salts (MgSO₄ + CH₃COONa) for partitioning; it is adopted as an American official method (AOAC). Finally, Anastassiades and coworkers modified their method in 2007 [26] emplov the citrate-buffered salts to $(MgSO_4 + C_6H_5Na_3O_7 \cdot 2H_2O + Na_2C_6H_6O_7 \cdot 1.5H_2O)$ for partitioning, and it is adopted as a standard method of the European Committee for Standardization (CEN). Lastly, MgSO₄ + PSA (primary secondary amine) were used as d-SPE salts in all three previously mentioned methods.

However, many authors have introduced own modifications according to their needs, including the extractant and d-SPE salts. Details concerning extraction and clean-up steps developed in the last couple decades are reported in Sects. 4 and 5 for soil and crops, respectively. At last, several QuEChERS commercial kit versions are now available and sold by many vendors, which played an important role in the usage expansion and wide application of this method, since salts are already precisely weighed and mixed, avoiding the extra effort and time loss for this step.

Thereupon, QuEChERS and modified QuEChERS methods have reached extraction yields for multiresidue analysis in the same order or even better than the three previously reported techniques, without the need of the sophisticated expensive equipment. However, to date and according to our literature survey, only 6 studies have reported multiresidual extraction methods from soil using QuEChERS technique, whereas more than 30 studies are reported for crop extraction.

2.5 Other Extraction Methods (Soxhlet and Solid-Liquid Extraction)

Soxhlet extraction is known for being a traditional extraction procedure. The sample is placed in a thimble-holder, and fresh extraction solvent from a distillation flask fills the sample. When solvent completely fills the thimble-holder, a siphon takes the solvent, with the extracted compounds, returning it back to the distillation flask [27]. This operation is repeated several times as extraction is completed according to the criteria of the study. The complexity, the high amounts of solvent needed and the great time of run required, has caused Soxhlet to be relegated to the background (at least in the pharmaceutical area), giving way to the latest techniques. Moreover, extraction methods such as USE have the ability to penetrate deep into the solid matrix, usually by means of the creation of cavities, which allows to obtain a good extraction performance that Soxhlet is not available to achieve [27].

For liquid matrices such as the analysis of surface water or wastewater, solidliquid extraction (SLE) is the most effective and easiest to use technique. It does not need major pretreatments. Normally, prior filtration helps remove particulate matter from the samples. It is very effective and used to clean the matrix in combination with other extraction techniques. In order to extract the target compounds of the matrix, an organic solvent or water is mixed with the sample until equilibrium, and the liquid is removed from the mixture (extract). Commonly, heat is applied in order to enhance the extraction efficiency, as well as buffer compounds to have control of the pH. SLE has advantages such as simplicity and few amounts of solvent; however, this extraction procedure is little selective, and that is the main reason that modern extraction techniques have broader paths than SLE.

Only one report showed the capability of SLE to extract acetaminophen from *Brassica juncea* using 1 mL of HCl 0.1 M and nitrogen [28]. A comparative analysis of the most current techniques in terms of costs/speed of execution is reported in Table 1.

	Time	Specific	Solvent volume	
Extraction method	(minutes)	instrumentation	(mL)	Cost
ASE	10–30	Yes	15-100	\$\$\$
USE	30-60	Yes	8-30	\$\$
MAE	5-20	Yes	5-10	\$\$\$
QuEChERS	20	No	10	\$
Traditional methods	360	Yes	220	\$\$\$
(Soxhlet)				\$

 Table 1
 Comparison between the extraction methods used in terms of time, instrumentation required, solvent volume (green chemistry), and total cost per sample

3 Sample Preparation

Sample preparation concept is to convert a field matrix to a sample suitable for analysis. It is a crucial and important step especially for food and environmental matrices such as crops and soil, which are characterized by their complexity, besides the presence of pharmaceuticals in these matrices in trace amounts [29]. This step also allows to weaken the interactions established between pharmaceuticals and matrices, which is highly dependent on the physical and chemical properties of both pharmaceuticals and matrices. Further these interactions affect the applicability of different extraction methods, their factor conditions, as well as their efficiency and reproducibility.

Additionally, sample pretreatment is needed to assure its homogeneity and a good contact with the solvent during the extraction process. On the other hand, most of the analytical devices are unable to handle those matrices directly, which requires a pretreatment step before extraction for any matrix. In general, soil preparation includes three steps [12]: the first step is drying of sample, either by the use of the oven, by air-drying, or by lyophilization. However, sample exposure to elevated temperature may risk analyte degradation and alteration. Whenever lyophilization is employed, analytes are neither degraded nor evaporated, and the drying time is shorter. Generally, lyophilization is the most advantageous drying technique [30]. The second step consists in the homogenization and finely grounding of the soil samples generally using a mortar. The third and last step is soil sieving at 2 mm to remove coarse particles to increase sample homogeneity. Thereafter, soil samples are stored at -20° C or $+4^{\circ}$ C in the dark until analysis.

To perform ASE, from 0.5 to 20 g (Table 2) of soil are placed in a stainless-steel extraction cell (33 mL extraction cell volume is the most commonly used) and capped with filters at both ends. Soil sample is usually mixed with a cell matrix (dispersant) before loading in the cell, to enhance the extraction efficiency. Finally, the extraction cell is placed in the oven, and the system automatically starts setting the desired temperature and pressure. For MAE, 0.2–3 g (Table 4) were used, and no common step was found between the reported studies; they differ largely according to the MAE procedure employed. Finally, USE and QuEChERS are the easiest, where soil samples in both methods were introduced in centrifuge tubes. For USE 0.5–5 g (Table 3) of soil were used, the extraction solvent is therefore added, and the tube is placed in the sonication bath. While from 1 to 10 g (Table 5) of soil were used for QuEChERS, the extraction solvent and salts were added and the tube was immediately vortexed and hand shacked.

Plants are normally harvested when they have reached commercial size. When treating branched root plants, care should be taken, while their extraction from soil is done in order to preserve the root part completely. Once samples are recollected, they are handwashed and rinsed with tap water in order to remove residues such as the remaining soil and other interferences [7]. When plant samples are composed of a root part and a vegetative part or fruits, normally each part is treated differently due to its great difference between them [31]. Plant sample pretreatments also consist of

		References	[64]	[58]	[68]	[53]
_	1	Instrument	TC-WSWS	LC-MS/MS	LC-FLD	LC-MS/MS
		TOD	0.1-<2.5 ng/g	0.6–5.6 g/kg	0.05 mg/kg of dry matter	<20 ng/g (for 20 analytes)
	RSD	(%)	1-14%	Not reported	8-11%	Not reported
Analysis	Recovery	(%)	66–114 <i>%</i>	50-100%	75-92%	>60% (for 20 analytes)
	Ę	Clean-up	Tandem MAX-HLB carridges carridges	Tandem SAX-HLB SPE cartridges	MPC disk cartridge	HLB cartridges
	Cell matrix	(dispersant)	Ottawa sand	Ottawa sand	Quartz sand	Sea sand
	Flush volume	(%)	50%	100%	150%	100%
	Static extraction time (min) × number	of cycles	5 min×5 ×	10 min × 1 and 3 min × 1	15 min × 6	5 min \times 2
	T (°C) P(psi or	bar)	80°C 1,300 psi	Room T °C 1,500 psi	100°C 100 bar	60°C 1,500 psi
raction conditions	Colourt Solution	Solvent	Methanol/aque- solution (0.1 mol L^{-1}) (1:1, v: v)	Methanol/0.2 M citric acid buffer (pH 4.7 adjusted with NaOH)(1:1, v:v)	50 mM aqueous phosphoric acid (pH 2.0) and ace- tonitrile mixture (1:1, v/v)	MeOH:H2O (50:50, v/v)
ASE exti	Soil mass	(g)	20 ⁶⁸	10 g	0.5 g	2.7 g
		Pharmaceuticals	Diclofenae, allopurinol, evapamil, carbamazepine, spironolactone, salbutamol, omeprazole, atenolol, omeprazole, atenolol, zern, acertylsalicylic acid, furosemide, prednisolone, transen, argunt, neutopor- cyproterone acetate, erythro- netidine, diazepam, cimetidine, diazepam, cimetidine, diazepam, amoricillin ramipril, terbu- talne, penicillin G, ibupro- fen, morphine, gestodene, fen, morphine, gestodene, isimvastdin	Chlortetracycline, oxytetra- cycline, sulfadiazine, eryth- romycin, and tylosin (degradation products: TYL A, B, C, and D)	Ciprofloxacin and norfloxacin	Parzeetamol, salicylic acid, propranolol hydrochloride, clofibric acid, ketoprofen, diclofenae sodium salt, bezzlibrate, warfarin, hurbiprofen, indomethacin, iburprofen sodium salt, meelofenamic acid sodium salt, gemfibrozil, atenolol, salt gemfibrozil, atenolol, sultamethazine sodium

Table 2ASE extraction and analysis conditions in soil

	[3]	[04]	[12]
	MS UPLC-MS/	HPLC-MS/ MS	HPLC-MS/ MS
	<0.01- 0.83 ng/g	0.2–1.7 µg/kg	0.2–1.1 ug/kg
	reported	<10%	~9%
	50-140%	60.2–97.6%	67.3–97.4%
	HLB carridges	Tandem SAX-HLB SPE cartridges	Tandem SAX-HLB SPE cartridges
	Hydromatrix	Diatomite	Sea sand and diatomite
	60%	60%	60%
	5 min × 3	10 min × 1	10 min × 1
	1.500 psi	70°C 1,500 psi	70°C 1,500 psi
	Milli-Q water at neutral pH	50% phosphate buffer and 50% acetonitrile with pH = 3	50% methanol and 50% 0.2 M citric acid with
	4 20	с б	а С
salt, furosemide, pravastatin sodium salt carbanazepine, nimesulide, (±)-metoprolol, (±)-bartrate salt, clorima- zole, trimethoprim, caffeine, S(±)-2-(6-methoxy-2- mohtyl)-propionic acid (naptoxen), and irgasan (triclosan)	Acetaminophen, diclofenac, fenoprofen, ibuproten, indo- methacin, ketoprofen, indo- methacin, ketoprofen, mefenamic acid, naproxen, phenazone, bezafibrate, cloffbric acid, gemthbrozil, pravastatin, caffeine, carba- mazepine famotidine, ranit- idine, atenolol, metoprolol, nadiolol, pindolol, proprano- lol, timolol, furosemide, hydrochbrotnizzide, glyburide, albuterol, chlor- amphenicol, indamycin, furnequine, lincomycin, metronidazole, novobicin, omidazole, sulfadiazine, sulfaumethizole, sulfanteth- oxazole, sulfamethizole, sulfantiazole, sulfantethoxypyridazine, sulfantethoxypyridazine, sulfantethoxypyridazine, sulfantethoxypyridazine, sulfantethoxypyridazine, sulfantethoxypyridazine, sulfantethoxypyridazine,	Sulfapyridine, sulfamerazine, sulfadimethoxine, tetracy- cline, chlortetracycline, oxy- tetracycline, doxycycline, erythromycin, roxithromycin	Sulfapyridine, sulfamerazine, sulfadimoxine, tetracycline, chlortetracycline,

(continued)

427

Table 2 (continued)												
	ASE ex	traction conditions						Analysis				
	Soil		T (°C)	Static extraction time	Flush		<u> </u>					
Pharmaceuticals	mass (g)	Solvent	P(psi or bar)	(min) × number of cycles	volume (%)	Cell matrix (dispersant)	Clean-up	Recovery (%)	RSD (%)	LOD	Instrument	References
oxytetracycline, doxycy- cline, erythromycin, roxithromycin		pH adjusted to 4.7 by NaOH										
Chlortetracycline and oxy- teracycline, and their TPs: 4-epitetracycline, 4-epitetracycline, 4-epitchlorotetracycline, epioxytetracycline, and p-apo-oxytetracycline, and	so S	Methanol/water (3:1, v/v) containing 25 mM EDTA and 0.6 M and 0.6 M (pH 8.0)	Room T°C 10 MPa	20 min × 2	80%	Hydromatrix VR diatomaceous earth	Tandem SAX-HLB SPE cartridges	41%-110%	0.12-0.34%	0.08-0.3 mg/g	HPLC-MS	[59]
Methylparaben, methyl protocarechurate, protylparaben, 4-hydroxybenzoic acid, 1.3.7-trimethylxanthine (caffeine), 1.7.4dimethylxanthine, car- barnazepine, 1.1.1-dimethylxanthine, car- barnazepine, 10.11-dihydroxyerhannazepine, 10.11-dihydroxyerhannazepine, 10.11-dihydroxyerhannazepine, phydroxyerhannazepine, car- barnazepine-10.11-epoxide, diclofenac, proten, 1-hydroxyibuprofen, 2-bhydroxyibuprofen, actoryyibuprofen, sulfa- methoxazole, and N4-acetylsulfamethoxazole	88 7	MeOH (0.5% v/v, formic acid)	50°C 1,,500 psi	5 min × 2	60%	Diatomaceous earth	In-cell clean-up with C18 and PSA and PSA	60-103%	< 11%	0.0 4-4 .31 ng/g	MS MS	[69]
Sulfisomidine, sulfamerazine, sulfacetamide, sulfadoxine, sulfabenzamide,	5.00	MeOH-water (90:10, v/v)	1,500 psi	5 min \times 3	100%	Hydromatrix	HLB cartridges	60-130%	< 23%	0.01-4.19 ng/g	HPLC-MS/ MS	[61]

Table 2 (continued)

	[54]	[72]	[56]	[73]	6
	GCMS	LC-MS/MS	LC-MS/MS	LC-MS/MS	LC-MS/MS
	0.25–2.5 ng/g	LOQ: 0.5– 2.5 ng/g	<15 g/kg	0.2-1.6 mg/kg	$0.1-6.8 \text{ ng g}^{-1}$
	< 10%	9-15%	< 10%	19– 29%	< 16%
	54–118%	63-80%	62-93%	43-118%	59-119%
	HLB cartridges	HLB cartridges	No clean-up	Diol SPE cartridges	Tandem SAX-HLB
	Diatomaceous earth	Sea sand	Diatomaceous earth	Ottawa sand	Sea sand
	50%	75%		70%;	100%
	5 min × 2	5 min \times 3	5 min \times 1	$10 \min \times 2$	7 min \times 3
	100°C 1,000 psi	40°C 100 bar	200°C 100 bar	80°C 140 bar	90°C 500 psi
	Acetone/hexane/ acetic acid (50:50:2; v/v/v)	Methanol/water (1:1, v/v)	0.1 M Tris (pH 8.8) and ace- tonitrile (85:15)	1% (v/v) aqueous ammonia in methanol	Water
	10 g	20	98 99	30 g	38
succinylsuffathiazole, sulfaquinoxaline, sulfadia- is sulfatimethoxine, sulfamethazine, sulfamethazine, sulfamethoxythazine, oxazole, sulfapyridarie, sulfathiazole, sulfapyridarie, sulfathiazole, sulfapyridine, sulfathiazole, nd the acetylated metabo- lites M-4acetylsulfamethoxazole, N4-acetylsulfathizeth	Clofibric acid, ibuprofen, salisylic acid, ibuprofen, brozil, naprosen, ketoprofen, diclofenae, car- bamazepine, bamazepine, di-bubyl phihalate, buyl benzyl phihalate, bis 2- phihalate, bis 2-	Avermectin, abamectin, doramectin, emamectin ben- zoate, eprinomectin, iver- mectin, moxidectin, and selamectin	Sulfadiazine, sulfadimethoxine, sulfamethazine, sulfameth- oxazole, and sulfathiazole	Oleandomycin, erythromy- cin, tylosin, roxithromycin, tiamulin fumarate, monensin, ivermectin, salinomycin	Acetaminophen, codeine, carbamazepine,

Table 2 (continued)												
	ASE ext	traction conditions						Analysis				
	Soil		T (°C) P(nei or	Static extraction time (min) < number	Flush	Call matrix		Racovaru	Us a			
Pharmaceuticals	(g)	Solvent	bar)	of cycles	v0uuc (%)	(dispersant)	Clean-up	(%)	(%)	TOD	Instrument	References
ciprofloxacin, clofibric acid, diazepam, diclofenac, diazepam, diclofenac, oprolol, northoxacin, met- ofloxacin, oxyterracycline, sulfamethoxazole, terracy- cline, propranolol, trimetho- line, propranolol, trimetho- hydrochoride, 4-epioxyterracycline							SPE cartridges					
Chlortetracycline, doxycy- cline, oxytetracycline, and tetracycline antibiotics	S B	5% (w/v) sodium acetate, 100 mM EDTA, in a 50:50 solution with methanol, methanol, with sodium hydroxide	60°C 104 bar	5 min × 2		Hydromatrix	Strata-X SPE cartridges	22–99%			LC-MS	[20]
17R-Ethinylestradiol, 17- P-estradiol, 17R-estradiol, sulfamethoxine, sulfamethoxine, sulfamethoxine, sulfamethoxine, sulfamethoxine, sulfamethoxine, sulfamethoxine, sulfamethoxine, sulfamethoxine, sulfamethoxine, diazine, sulfamethoxazole, tetracycline, and oxytetracy- tetracycline, and oxytetracy- tetracycline, 17- estrone3-glueuronide, 17R-estradiol-3- sulfate, 17R-estradiol-3- sulfate, 17R-estradiol-3-	το το	Water/methanol/ acctone (50/25/ 25, V/V/) containing containing bydroxide, and hydroxide, and chloride chloride	°C °C 100 bar	10 min × 2	60%	Hydromatrix	HLB SPE cartridges	21-105%	4-24%	0.01–0.1 ng/g	LC-MS/MS	[09]

(continued)
0
le
q
Ę

	kg ⁻¹ LC-MS/MS [52]	rg - 1 UHPLC- [74] MS								
	8-15% <1-3 μg	 								
	71–96%	>70%								
	SAX and Strata-X cartridges	Strata-X SPE cartridges								
	Sea sand	Diatomaceous earth								
	100%	50%								
	10 min × 1	5 min × 2								
	70°C 1,500 psi	50°C 1,500 psi								
	Deionized water (pH 7.0-6.8)	Acetone/citric acid 0.2 M (pH adjusment at 4.5 with sodium hydroxide)								
	5 80	50 V1								
sulfate, and 17β-estradiol-3- glucuronide. Anhydroterracycline hydro- chloride. anhydrochloroterracycline hydrochloride, ard chloret- racycline hydrochloride, and chloret- racycline hydrochloride.	Chlortetracycline, doxycy- cline, oxytetracycline, and tetracycline	Flubendazole, erythromycin, erythromycin (-H2D), erythromycin (-H2D), sulfamethoxazole, oxytetra- cycline, carazolol, dielofenar, neclofenamic acid, catabamzepine, erothorazole, ketoconazole, fluconazole, itraconazole, miconazole, itraconazole, griseofulvin, voriconazole, difenoconazole, perconazole, propiconazole, perconazole, propiconazole, prodhoraz, tebuconazole, propiconazole, propiconazole, fluquinconazole, fluquinconazole, fluquinconazole, fluquinconazole, fluquinconazole, fluquinconazole, fluquinconazole, fluquinconazole, fluquinconazole, fluquinconazole, fluquinconazole, fluquinconazole, flutiafol, metonazole, flutiafol, meton								
	USE extraction c	onditions				Analysis				
--	---	---	------------------------	------------	--	----------	------	-----	-----------------	------------
			Time (min) × number			Recovery	RSD			
Pharmaceuticals	Soil mass (g)	Solvent	of cycles	Temp. (°C)	Clean-up	(%)	(%)	LOD	Instrument	References
Tetracycline, chlortetra- cycline, oxytetracycline, trimethoprim, sulfadimidine, sulfadia- zine, sulfadoxine, sulfathiazole, sulfameth- ostazole, ciprofloxacin, enrofloxacin	3 g (for tetra- cyclines, sul- fonamides, and trimetho- prim) l g (for cipro- fl g (for cipro- fl g tor cipro- fl enrofloxacin)	MeOH:EDT A- McIlvaine buffer pH = 6 (90:10)	20 min × 3		SPE-C18 car- tridge (for tet- racyclines, sulfonamides, and trimetho- prim) n-Hexane (for ciprofloxacin and enrofloxacin)	61–105%			LC-MS/ MS	[76]
4-Epioxytetracycline, 4-epitetracycline, acetylcysteine, allopuri- nol, alprazolam, atorva- statin, azithromycin, bezafibrate, bisphenol A, butylparaben, carbamaz- epine, chloramphenicol, clofibric acid, ciprofloxa- cin, clarithromycin, codeine, diazepam, diclofenac, ethylparaben, etoricoxth, fetofibrate, flufenamic acid, gemfi- burzil, ibuprofen, indo- methacin, metformin, methylparaben, metopro- norfloxacin, ofloxacin, oxytetracycline, paracet- amol, propranolol, propylparaben, salicylic	50 	Mix of methanol, distilled water, and of McIlvaine-EDTA buffer	30 min × 1		Strata-X 33 U polymeric reversed phase SPE cartridges	38-104%	<30%		UHPLC- MS/MS	[2]

Table 3 USE extraction and analysis conditions in soil

	8	2	6	ntinued)
		[2]		(col
	HPLC-L	MS MS	GC-MSI	
	0.04-0.08 µg g ⁻¹	8.9 µg/k.g		
	12%	20%		
	> 82%	56-97%	63.8– 110.7%	
	No clean-up	Tandem SAX-HLB SPE cartridges	C18 cartridge	
	Room temperature			-
	30 min × 1	10 min × 3	15 min × 4	
	Aqueous solution of MgNO3 50% (w/v) containing 4% of ammonia	Mixture of potas- sium phosphate buffer and acetoni- trile (ACN) (1/1, v/v, pH 3.2) and 0.4 g Na2EDTA	Mix of acetone and ethyl acetate	
	50	50	δ0 N	
acid, sulfamethoxazole, telmisartan, terracycline, thiamphenicol, triclocarban, triclosan, trimethoprim, arrfarin, vildagliptim, arrfarin, tetrahydrocannabinol, 11-nor-9-carboxy-9- tetrahydrocannabinol	Quinolones (cinoxacin, oxolinic acid, nalidixic acid and flumequine) and flurorquinolones (norfloxacin, enoxacin, enrofloxacin, and danofloxacin)	Norfloxacin, ciprofloxa- cin, enrofloxacin, tetra- cycline, Chlortetracycline, oxy- tetracycline, oxy- sulfactoropyidazine, sulfachoropyidazine, sulfadimethoxine, sulfadimidine, sulfa- methoxazole, sulfanthizole, sulfanthizole, sulfanthizole, sulfanthizole, sulfanthizole, sulfanthizole, offoxacin sulfanyrdine and sulfisovazole offoxacin	Clofibric acid, ibuprofen, naproxen, ketoprofen, diclofenac, triclosan, 4-tert-octylphenol, 4-n- nonylphenol, bisphenol A, and estrone	

lable 3 (continued)										
	USE extraction c	conditions				Analysis				
			Time (min) × number	¢ E	Ę	Recovery	RSD		1	ç
Pnarmaceuticals	Soil mass (g)	Solvent	or cycles	ו (ר) lemp.	Clean-up	(%)	(0%)	LUD	Instrument	Kelerences
Acetylsalicylic acid, ibu- profen, paracetamol diactaminophen), flurbiprofen, naproxen, diflurnisal, ketoprofen; diclofena sodium salt, valproic acid; primidone, nadolol, propranolol (hydrochloride), diethyl- settradiol, 17- 9-estradiol, 17- oc-ethinylestradiol, estriol, amitripyline, imipramine, and clomip- ramine in the form of hydrochlorides	ς0 	Ethyl acetate/formic acid (50:1, v/v)	15 min × 3		Silica gel columns	> 80%	1.1–	0.3- 1.7 ng g ⁻¹	GC-MS	[80]
4-tert-Octylphenol, benzo[a]pyrene, bisphenol A, carbamaze- pine, indole, p-cresol, phenanthrene, triclosan	2 80	80:20 IPA:H2O	10 min × 2	Room temperature	HLB car- tridges and Florisil cartridges	46.1– 110%	4- 48%	7.6– 60.7 μg/g	GC-MS	[18]
Difloxacin, sarafloxacin, enrofloxacin, ciprofloxa- cin, enoxacin, chortetracy- norfloxacin, chortetracy- cline, oxytetracycline, doxycycline, tetracy- cline, sulfaquinoxaline, sulfaclozine, sulfamethoxydiazine,	50 10	ACN:Na2EDTA- McIlvaine buffer (pH 4.0, 5.5, v/v) and 0.2 M NaOH	10 min × 2		HLB cartridge	> 60%	20%	0.01–2 µg/ kg	LC-MS/ MS	[82]

434

Table 3 (continued)

					inued)
	83	[84]	[85]	8	(cont
	LC-MS/ MS	HPLC-UV	GC-MS	LC-MS/ MS	
	ngg ⁻¹	18–40 µgkg ⁻¹	0.04- 0.24 ng g ⁻¹	0.5–3 µg/kg	
	10%		8– 12%	20%	
	71-122%	27-105%	80-115%	63-121%	
	HLB cartidge	SAX-HLB SPE cartridges	No clean-up	HLB cartridges	
			Room temperature		
	20 min × 3	10 min \times 3	15 min × 2	10 min \times 3	
	ACN:MeOH (1:1, v/v) and 0.5% formic acid in ACN:MeOH (1:1, v/v)	MeOH:0.1 M EDTA:McIlvaine buffer, 50:25:25	ACN containing 2% of NH40H and ACN containing 2% formic acid	MeOH:ACN:0.1 M EDTA:McIlvaine buffer (pH 4), 30:20:25:25	
	ی مو	4 20	50 VA	ວມ	
sulfamonomethoxine, sulfadimidine, sulfa- methoxazole, tylosin, roxithromycin, erythromy- kitasamycin, erythromy- cin, tilmicosin, clindamycin, valnemulin, and tiamulin	Carbamazepine, diclofenac, cis-diltiazem, lamotrigine, methadone, midazolam, oxcarbazepine, sulfa- methoxazole, trimetho- prim, valsartan, cocaine, acridone, 4- '-lydroxydiclofenac, and valsartan acid	Oxytetracycline, sulfachloropyridazine, and tylosin	Clofibric acid, ibuprofen, salicylic acid, allopuri- nol, paracetamol, gemfi- biozil, fenoprofen, mutriptyline, metopro- lol, naproxen, mefenamic acid, ketoprofen, carba- mazepine, diclofenac, fenofibrate	Doxycycline, erythromy- cin, progesterone, tylosin tartrate, amoxicillin, norflox acin, sulfadiazine, trimethoprim, enrofloxacin, flumequine, tilmicosin	

	IISE extraction c	vonditions				Analycic				
						erection				
			Time (min) × number			Recovery	RSD			
Pharmaceuticals	Soil mass (g)	Solvent	of cycles	Temp. (°C)	Clean-up	(%)	$(0_{0}^{\prime\prime})$	LOD	Instrument	References
Acetylsalicylic acid, ibu-	5 g	Ethyl acetate/formic	$15 \min \times 3$		Silica gel	52-	VI	0.3-1.7	GC-MS	[80]
profen, paracetamol	-	acid (50:1, v/v)			columns	112.6%	9.0%	ngg ⁻¹		
(acetaminophen),										
flurbiprofen, naproxen,										
diffunisal, ketoprofen,										
diclofenac sodium salt,										
valproic acid, primidone,										
nadolol, propranolol										
(hydrochloride), diethyl-										
stilbestrol, estrone, 17-										
β-estradiol, 17-										
α -ethinylestradiol,										
estriol, amitriptyline,										
imipramine, and clomip-										
ramine in the form of										
hydrochlorides										

Table 3 (continued)

	MAE e:	xtraction conditions				Analysis				
	Soil	-	Time	E		ŕ				
Pharmaceuticals	(g)	solvent (power in watt)	(min) × number of cycles	(°C)	Clean-up	Kecovery (%)	(%)	LOD	Instrument	References
Acetylsalicylic acid, carba- mazepine, chlorampheni- col, clofibric acid, diclofenac, florfenicol, flunixin, ibuprofen, ketoprofen, mefenamic acid, metoprolol, naproxen, niflumic acid, paracetamol, phenylbutazone, proprano- phenylbutazone, proprano- ph	ວມ	3:2 methanol/ water (500 W)	6 min × 1		HLB cartridges	91-101%	< 6%	0.8–5.1 ng/ kg	GC-MS	[18]
Acetylsalicylic acid, ibu- profen, paracetamol, flurbiprofen, naproxen, diflunisal, ketoprofen, diclofenac sodium salt, diclofenac sodium salt, diclofstiboestrol, estrone, 17β-setradiol, 17- α-ethinylestradiol, and estriol	ω ω	Acetonitrile (400 W)	15 min × 1	115°C	HLB cartridges	> 50%		0.3–5.7 ng/ g	GC-MS	[87]
Oxolinic acid and flumequine		1 M phosphoric acid buffer at pH 2 and dichloromethane	22 min × 1	90°C	1 M aqueous sodium hydroxide	79-94%	3–7%		LC-FLD	[88]
Norfloxacin and ciprofloxacin	0.2 g	Water (120 W)	$5 \min \times 1$		No clean-up	98%	5.21%		HPLC-pho- tometric detector	[89]
										(continued)

Table 4MAE extraction and analysis conditions in soil

	MAE ex	ctraction conditions				Analysis				
Soil Solven	Solven	t (nower	Time (min) × number	Temn	<u> </u>	Recoverv	RSD			
(g) in watt	in watt		of cycles	°C)	Clean-up	(%)	(%)	LOD	Instrument	References
3 g 2:1 (v/v lene chl methan	2:1 (v/v lene chl methano) methy- oride/ JI	15 min × 3	115°C	Pasteur pipettes were filled with pre-extracted sil- ica gel (1.11 \pm 0.01 g) and further anhydrous sodium sulfate (\sim 0.5 cm) and activated (2 N HCI) copper granules (\sim 0.5 cm) in hexane to serve as clean-up columns	89.6%	2.89%		GC-MS	[06]
2 g Triton X. (1.5%, vv. (800 W)	Triton X. (1.5%, v _l (800 W)	-114 v)				69.7– 102.7%	< 7%	0.42–0.68 ngg ⁻¹	IC-UV	[16]
2 g	MeOH (3	50 W)	3 min × 1		PTFE column	92-102%	5.4– 6.9%	0.5– 4.5 ng kg ⁻¹	GC-MS	[92]

Table 4 (continued)

	33]	94]	<u>)5]</u>	90	[10	88	ontinued)
	IPLC-FD	III.C-UV	JHPLC-	IPLC-UV	C-MS/MS		<u>э</u>
	Few nano- grams per gram			5.7 ng g ⁻¹	1.4– 4.8 ng g ^{–1}		
	1–6%	< 11%		9.5%			
	70-130%	70-110%		81.2– 93.7%	82.6– 93.7%		
	No clean-up	No clean-up	SPE cartridge	No clean-up	On line SPE		
	80°C	120°C	120°C			150°C	
	20 min × 1	10 min × 1 (200 W)	15 min × 1			15 min × 1	
	Aqueous 20% (w/v) Mg(NO3) 2.6 H2O and 2% (v/v) NH3 solution	Methanol	ACN/water (90/10)	Triton X-114 (5.0%, v/v)	ACN (320 W)	Acetonitrile/ water 1:4 (v/v)	
	აი —	60 M	- 1 20	ас 7	2 g	10 g	
isobutylparaben, benzylparaben, 2-phenylphenol, 4-phenylphenol, 4-tert- octylphenol, bisphenol A, and triclosan	Norfloxacin and danofloxacin	IH-Benzotriazole, 5-methyl-1H-benzotriazole, benzothiazole, 2-hydroxybenzothiazole, benzenesulfonamide, and toluenesulfonamide	Abamectin, doramectin, and ivermectin	Sulfadiazine, sulfamerazine, sulfamethoxydiazine, sulfamonomethoxine, sulfadimethoxine, sulfa- methoxazole, and sulfaquinoxaline	Sulfadiazine, sulfameter, sulfamonomethoxine, and sulfaquinoxaline	Sulfadiazine and its two major metabolites, N-acetylsulfadiazine and 4-hydroxysulfadiazine	

Development of Methods for the Determination of PhACs in Soil/Earthworm/Crop...

	MAE e:	xtraction conditions				Analysis				
	Soil		Time							
	mass	Solvent (power	$(\min) \times number$	Temp		Recovery	RSD			
Pharmaceuticals	(g)	in watt)	of cycles	(°C)	Clean-up	(%)	$(0_{0}^{\prime \prime})$	LOD	Instrument	References
Sulfaguanidine,	1 8	Methanol	$45 \min imes 1$	110°C				Sub- to low	LC-MS/MS	[66]
sulfacetamide, sulfadiazine,								ng per g		
sulfathiazole, sulfapyridine,										
sulfamethazine,										
sulfamerazine, sulfameth-										
oxazole, and										
sulfadimethoxine										
Tetracycline,	1 8	Methanol	20 min	60°C	μ-SPE device	70.6-	<15.1%	0.1-6.3 ng/	HPLC-UV	[100]
deoxytetracycline, oxytetra-		(400 W)			consisted of cop-	110.5%		00		
cycline, chlortetracycline					per					
					(II) isonicotinate					

 Table 4 (continued)

	QuECh	ERS extraction condit	tions		Analysis				
	Soil			Clean-un			RSD		
harmaceuticals	(g)	Solvent	Extraction salts	salts	Instrument	Recovery (%)	(%)	LOD	References
entazone, atrazine, arbamazepine, phe- ytoin, and its metab- lite -(p-hydroxyphenyl)- phenylhydantoin	S GG	СН3СN:Н2О 70:30, 5% СН3СООН	Original salts: anhydrous MgSO4 and NaCl	d-SPE: C18 and anhy- drous MgSO4	HPLC- UV	88-113%	≤14%	4– 493 μg/ kg	[102]
4 veterinary prod- cts, 11 hormonal ste- bids, 6 human ontaminants (para- stamol, sulfamethox- zole, fluvoxamine, arbamazepine, ibu- rofen, bisphenol A)	20	Milli-Q water and ACN	AOAC salts	SAX and Strata-X SPE cartridge	MS MS	20-90%	≤30%		[106]
uprofen and its tetabolites nydroxyibuprofen ad arboxyibuprofen)	5 88	Acidified purified water (pH 2.5, hydrochloric acid) and for sonication acidified ACN (1% HCOOH)	EN salts: MgSO4, NaCl, 1 g of sodium citrate dehydrate (NaCit), and 0.5 g of sodium citrate sesquihydrate (Na2Cit)	No clean- up	LC-FLD	>80%	<5%		[101]
eftiofur, clopidol, orfenicol, monensin, alinomycin, ulfamethazine,	10 g	Distilled water and CAN acidified with acetic acid	Sodium acetate	C18	LC-MS/ MS	60.25-120.3%	<13% except for		[103]
				-					(continued)

Table 5 QuEChERS extraction and analysis conditions in soil

lable S (continued)									
	QuECh	ERS extraction condi	tions		Analysis				
- []1	Soil mass	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		Clean-up	Tasterioret	D	RSD	401	J C
Pharmaceuticals	(g)	Solvent	EXtraction saits	salts	Instrument	Kecovery (%)	(%)		Kelerences
sulfathiazole, sulfa- methoxazole, tiamulin, and tylosin							clopidol (25.2%)		
Sulfacetamide, sulfasomidine, sulfadi- azine, sulfathiazole, sulfamerazine, sulfameter, sulfameter, sulfadorine, sulfa- methoxazole, sulfamonomethoxine, sulfamonomethoxine, sulfabenzamide, sulfadomide, sulfadomide, sulfadomide, sulfadomovcin, clarithromycin, roxithromycin,	ν. αο	McIIvaine buffer	Na2EDTA and NaCl	d-SPE: PSA, C18, and MgSO4	MS MS	61.4-118.9%	<20%		[103]
73 target compounds (pharmaceuticals and TPs)	1 0	Milli-Q H2O and 1% acetic acid in ACN	Anhydrous MgSO4 and sodium acetate	Anhydrous MgSO4 and C18	LC-MS/ MS	70–120% (this approach achieved to extract a total of 53 over 73 compounds)	≤20%		[104]

Table 5 (continued)

the removal of the water content and also a crushing process in order to obtain fine powder samples [32]. Although not all the studies have decided to eliminate the sample moisture, water content removal could provide more stabilization to the sample when stored [33, 34]. Besides, working with wet matrices makes it necessary to work with a higher amount of sample than working with dry samples. Commonly, freeze-drying process is performed ensuring a complete water removal. On the other hand, the crushing process is performed to ensure homogenization of the sample, but it also improves the subsequent extraction process. Depending on the extraction method performed and the use of dry or wet samples, the quantity of sample required varies. In general, 0.1 to 15 g of samples are used for analysis. Small quantities up to 5 g are used for dry samples [35], while larger amounts are required when wet samples are analyzed [36]. Freeze-drying samples, apart from preserving the stability of compounds of interest, allows to store in a small space originally voluminous samples. Lyophilization is the most common freeze-drying technique used [37] due to its rapidity but also the certainty of not wasting sample during the process [38].

As before-mentioned, sample quantity strongly depends on the extraction method used. Similar sample weights are used for the extraction of pharmaceutical products from plant tissues. From 0.1 to 8 g samples [39, 40] were used to perform ASE as its methodology is mainly focused on parameters such as solvent, temperature, and pressure, while sample amount plays a secondary role. In the case of USE, weights between 0.1 and 10 g sample were used [41-44]. However, compared to ASE, less quantity of sample is needed when USE was employed. Little amount of sample enhances the extraction efficiency due to the need to create cavities inside the matrix that are easily formatted when lower amount of sample is analyzed. On the other hand, ASE is not as sensitive to this factor owing to other parameters such as temperature and pressure which could help in the creation of these cavities inside the sample. Finally, as regards the QuEChERS method, several authors used weight ranges from 0.5 to 15 g [7, 36, 45, 46]. Looking at the original method developed by Anastassiades et al. [19], the established weight was 10 g of wet sample. This quantity was established on the basis of the amount of salts used by the QuEChERS methodology. It has to be noted that, depending on the nature of the analyzed sample (low-fat samples, high-fat samples, low water amount samples, etc.), different weights and hydration volumes should be applied in order to achieve a successful extraction performance. When 10 g of fruits between 25 and 80% of water content are analyzed, the amount of hydration water added varies depending on its water content. For example, for fruit with 60% water content, 4 mL of water should be added. On the other hand, 5 g of cereals and honey requires 10 mL of hydration water, while fruits with a water content above 80% do not need any amount of water hydration [47]. All these considerations are based on pesticide extraction though; extraction variations could be observed when PhACs are the target analytes.

4 Extraction Procedures for Pharmaceuticals from Soil

The fate of pharmaceuticals in soil depends strongly on their physico-chemical properties and soil texture; they might be sorbed on soil particles and its organic matter content, degraded by soil microbial community, volatilized, or leached to groundwater [48]. In order to better understand the fate of pharmaceuticals in soil, accurate and reliable analytical methods are needed as in to identify and quantify these molecules at low environmental concentrations ranging from a few $\mu g/kg$ up to g/kg [48].

Soil is a very complex matrix, and complex interactions between pharmaceuticals and soil particles and organic content are established. Besides, in solid environmental matrices, pharmaceuticals are present at very low concentrations with a large number of potentially interfering compounds. Due to this, analytical method development is a challenging task that requires adequate extraction and clean-up procedures. Extraction techniques should be selective and highly effective. For example, target analytes should be better recovered when co-extracts (matrix impurities) are fewer. Further, they should be fast, easy, and cheap and require minimal organic solvent use. A following clean-up step is essential in these methods since soil is very complex, and a co-extracted matrix contaminant is involuntarily co-extracted (such as humic and fulvic substances), especially for USE, PLE, and MAE, which they employ energy to extract pharmaceuticals [49]. Moreover, this step helps in sustaining analytical devices and to improve limits of detection and quantification as pharmaceuticals are present at low concentrations in soil. Solidphase extraction (SPE) is the most commonly used clean-up technique for the extraction techniques discussed in this section. Notwithstanding the foregoing, few studies have omitted this step since it allows the loss of the analytes along with the removal of matrix interferences. Despite everything, all of those modern analytical techniques include decreased sample amounts, less solvent consumption, time saving, high recoveries, good reproducibility, repeatability, and detection limits.

4.1 Assisted Solvent Extraction (ASE)

The selection of the extractants for trace residues from soil is crucial. One advantage of ASE is the possibility to choose a wide range of solvents. Several extraction solvents and buffer solutions have been employed to extract pharmaceuticals simultaneously from soil, with varying degrees of target compound recoveries [50, 51]. Acetonitrile (ACN), methanol (MeOH), hexane, and water are the most commonly used solvents for the soil and recognized as safe and environmentally friendly. Among these, the use of water as a solvent represents the most ecological extraction method and has already been successfully used with recoveries of over 50% [9, 52, 53]. Generally, a mixture of solvents of different polarity is more successful for the ASE application. This mixture allows to extract the majority of

the analytes covering the entire polarity range of the compounds, reducing the presence of other components of the matrix in the final extracts. An instance for this, Durán-Alvarez and coworkers [54] obtained improved recoveries when the mix of solvents acetone/hexane (1:1, modified with 2% acetic acid) was employed instead of single solvent, with which acetone is the polar solvent and hexane is the non-polar solvent. The addition of some buffers such as ammonia, citric acid, phosphoric acid, formic acid, sodium acetate, and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) has also shown an improvement in recoveries. The commonly used mixtures are generally methanol/water or acetonitrile/water with some of the previously mentioned buffers. In some cases, those mixtures were also used unbuffered [54, 55].

The use of EDTA in the ASE method has not been recommended in most cases for several reasons. An example is the greater co-extraction of the matrix with consequent lower sensitivity and clogging of the ASE apparatus (cells and device tube) [56]. However, in some cases, its addition did not significantly improve analyte recoveries [52]. In contrast, EDTA has been successfully employed in the techniques discussed below (USE, MAE, and QuEChERS).

In addition to the selection of the solvent, several other parameters must be carefully considered in the development of the ASE method, such as temperature, pressure, extraction time and extraction mode, number of cycles, cell matrix, and flush volume. Those parameters are related and should be balanced to obtain acceptable recoveries for all target analytes. By far, temperature has proven to be the most important parameter. Theoretically, the high temperature helps to stop the strong interactions between pharmaceutical products and soil components; therefore, the higher the temperature, the higher the extraction yield [51, 57]. Furthermore, the temperature influences the physico-chemical properties of the solvents, therefore viscosity, density, and polarity. For example, the dielectric constant of pure water drops from 79 to 35 when the conditions are changed from room temperature and pressure to 200°C and 1.5 MPa, obtaining a water solvent similar to methanol at room temperature, with low density and polarity [57]. In other words, under high temperature conditions, the properties of the solvents are modified so as to reduce the viscosity and surface tension and greater diffusivity, which improves the wetting of the matrix and improves the mass transfer from the matrix to the solvent. All in all, the reduced interactions between analytes and matrix and the greater diffusion of the solvent in the high temperature matrix, in addition to the increasing solubility of the analytes, allow a faster mass transfer and a complete extraction process. On the other hand, in addition to all these strengths of the high temperature used in the ASE, some weaknesses are also presented, and it is worth mentioning them: (1) the co-extraction of other unwanted compounds from the matrix due to the bonds which break under high temperature conditions, thus converting the ASE into a less selective method; (2) the degradation of the thermolabile analytes at high temperature; (3) and, finally, the formation of toxic compounds due to chemical reactions that occur at high temperature. However, these weaknesses can be avoided by minimizing the extraction time and the number of cycles. Overall, the extraction temperature should be optimized to extract the analytes of interest with less matrix interference, loss of selectivity, degradation, and toxic components. The temperature range used for ASE soil extraction ranges from 40 to 200°C, with 100°C being the most used temperature. A good temperature choice is 100°C as it exceeds the boiling point of most of the organic solvent and is low enough to avoid the degradation of the analytes, the excess of co-extracts, and the formation of toxic compounds. Since tetracyclines can undergo unwanted transformations at high temperature (they can be converted into their epi or anhydro form), some studies have performed their extraction at room temperature [58–60]. Tetracyclines and fluoroquinolones are extracted with lower temperatures from ambient to 100°C [58], whereas sulfonamides showed the necessity of higher temperature ranging from 50 to 200°C [61]. Many studies [62–64] have demonstrated that the extraction pressure has no influence on the recoveries and extraction efficiency. However, an elevated pressure is important to maintain the solvent in its liquid state. Additionally, it helps to wet the sample, resulting in an improved extraction efficiency [65]. Pressures from 500 to 1,500 psi were usually employed, with 1,500 psi the most common pressure.

The extraction time is the time in which the solvent and the matrix are in contact with the desired temperature and pressure and depends on the matrix and the target analyte characteristics [57]. It should be as short as possible but also adequate for mass transfer. Moreover, extraction time depends on the extraction mode (static or dynamic). Static mode was always chosen for pharmaceutical extraction from soil rather than the dynamic mode. It is worthy to mention that different instruments are designed for each mode. In the static mode, the solvent and the sample are maintained for a specific time at constant temperature and pressure, and the solvent is only replaced partly or completely when another cycle is employed [66]. If this time is longer than necessary, thermal degradation may occur for the extracted analytes resulting in a slower and less efficient extraction procedure. In addition, an equilibrium point of the analytes is established in the matrix and solvent in static mode, and beyond this point, the extraction efficiency will not increase. Hence, static extraction time should be optimized carefully. Most often, a static extraction time of 5 min (2 × 5 min cycles) or 10 min (1 × 10 min cycle) is employed.

The volume of the solvent can be introduced in several cycles or in one cycle. Fractioning the solvent in several cycles can improve extraction efficiency by avoiding the analyte equilibrium point to take place. However, it could also provide lower recoveries due to high co-extraction of matrix interferences [67]. Hence, a moderate number of cycles should be employed. Mainly 1–3 cycles are used.

The soil samples are generally mixed with a cellular matrix (dispersant) to prevent clogging of the cell and improve soil contact with the solvent. Among the different cellular matrices available, Ottawa sand [64], quartz sand [68], sea sand [55], diatomaceous earth [69], and Hydromatrix diatomaceous earth [59] are usually the dispersants commonly used with the soil. Lastly, flush volume is the least mentioned in studies, even though it is important to know the final volume of the extract. It is expressed as the percentage of the cell volume, and it ranges from 50 to 150% in all studies dealing with soil as matrix. This interval is sufficient to extract most of the analytes suitable for quantitative analysis, in a minimum volume of solvent, reducing the solvent consumption and concentrating the analytes as much as possible. Finally,

in a comparison with conventional methods such as Soxhlet, ASE is favored by time and by the reduction of the volume of solvent. However, compared to other more sustainable techniques such as MAE, USE, and QuEChERS, ASE may no longer be considered in terms of time or cost savings, but in some cases, it can provide better efficiency, reproducibility, and robustness. Therefore, ASE is a choice of interest for the development of analytical methods to determine pharmaceutical products from the soil (Table 2).

4.2 Ultrasound Solvent Extraction (USE)

Different extraction solvents were employed for pharmaceutical extraction from soil with ultrasonication, such as acidified aqueous solutions, EDTA solutions, and phosphate and McIlvaine buffers, mixed with organic solvent. Acetonitrile, methanol, and ethyl acetate are the main organic solvents employed with sonication methods (solvent selection depends on its viscosity). Na₂EDTA (disodium ethyl-enediaminetetraacetate) is a chelating agent and is used extensively to prevent pharmaceutical products such as tetracyclines and fluoroquinolones from forming chelated complexes with soil matrix (such as metal ions present in the soil). Sulfonamides are amphoteric and are best extracted in an acid medium, while tetracyclines are better extracted with a McIlvaine buffer. However, a combination of buffer and organic solvent has been used for the simultaneous extraction of multiple pharmaceutical residues. Hu and colleagues used potassium phosphate buffer with ACN (1/1, v/v, pH = 3.2) with 0.4 g of Na₂EDTA in order to obtain the best recoveries for fluoroquinolones, tetracyclines, and sulfonamides [75] (Table 3).

The sonication time and the number of cycles are important parameters and should be optimized so as to obtain the maximum recovery of the target analytes with a minimum matrix that interferes with the compounds (this can be explained by the distribution coefficients of pharmaceutical products rather than by the kinetics of desorption process). The sonication time ranged from 10 to 30 min, and the number of cycles ranged from 1 to 4 cycles at maximum. The temperature of the ultrasonic bath was not controlled in most studies. However, USE extraction was always performed at room temperature.

4.3 Microwave-Assisted Extraction (MAE)

In MAE, extraction parameters such as time, power, solvent (type and volume), pressure, temperature, number of cycles, and sample size are important parameters that require vigorous optimization to obtain the maximum recovery yield. The extraction solvents for MAE should be capable of absorbing microwaves, with permanent dipole leading (polar), although the combination of solvents with and

without dipole has extended the MAE application to a wide variety of analytes (polar and non-polar) (Table 4). Methanol, acetonitrile, and water are the most commonly used as a solvent for green extraction. The presence of water in the extraction solvent has been shown to increase extraction rates. This can be explained by the absorbance of the microwave energy by the water, resulting in efficient heating of the samples.

High pressure and temperature include the risk of degradation of pharmaceutical products and should be carefully optimized. The temperature is generally set between 60 and 120°C, while the extraction time is generally very short when applying MAE, since the solvent is heated directly with microwave energy and can last from 3 to 20 min.

4.4 QuEChERS (Quick, Easy, Cheap, Effective, Rugged, Safe)

The selection of the extraction solvent is a crucial parameter. Acetonitrile (ACN) has been shown to provide the best extraction efficiency of a wide range of compounds, including pharmaceutical ones, with the lowest matrix interference. Furthermore, it was used by the QuEChERS fathers when the method was first introduced [19]. ACN was used as extraction solvent in all the studies dealing with soil extraction by QuEChERS technique, besides water or McIlvaine buffer as hydration solvent of the sample [101-106]. Hydration of the soil with water is important to weaken the interactions of the target analytes with the adsorption sites of the soil humic substance, promoting desorption and allowing the ACN to obtain better access to the soil pores. Likewise, the McIlvaine buffer is able to prevent the complexation of analytes with cations such as Mg²⁺ or Ca²⁺. To the greatest extent, the hydration step allows the reconstitution of the dry samples with a high water percentage, for which the QuEChERS method was originally designed [107]. However, satisfactory results were obtained with water in almost all the abovementioned studies. Only Meng and coworkers employed McIlvaine buffer in their extraction procedure [105]. Besides, the acidification of the hydration solution and/or ACN with hydrochloric acid or acetic acid has shown to improve analyte recoveries [101– 104].

Three QuEChERS salts are known which are used intensively: (1) the original non-buffered method (MgSO₄ + NaCl), (2) the AOAC method with acetate buffer (MgSO₄ + CH₃COONa), and (3) the EN method with citrate buffer (MgSO₄ + C₆H₅Na₃O₇ • 2H₂O + Na₂C₆H₆O7 • 1.5H₂O). The AOAC and EN buffers have the ability to acidify the medium. The extraction pH is a very important parameter, and a small variation can affect extraction efficiency, especially for acidic and basic compounds [19]. In the EN method, the citrate buffer provides a pH of 5–5.5, while in the AOAC method, the acetate buffer provides a more acidic pH of 4.8 [108]. Higher recoveries and bigger number of compounds were extracted using AOAC method [103, 104, 106]. This is referred to the acidic conditions obtained by

citrate buffer, which improves the extraction of some pharmaceuticals such as sulfonamides, macrolides, and β -lactams. However, satisfactory recoveries were obtained using the original unbuffered method [102, 105] and the EN citrate-buffered method [101] as reported in Table 5.

5 Extraction Procedures for Pharmaceuticals from Plant Tissues

The irrigation with reclaimed wastewater represents a source of xenobiotics as PhACs that are not removed by conventional WWTPs [109–111]. Consequently, agricultural soils contain a wide range of pharmaceuticals that could be uptaken by plants through the roots [40, 112]. Vegetables have different types of more or less branched roots (hairy roots in lettuce, napiform roots of radish, or tuberous roots of potatoes). However, the type or shape of the root does not influence the radical absorption which is similar for all the roots [2]. The PhACs dissolved in water arrive in the rhizosphere, come into contact with the root through the epidermis, and could enter the vascular system with the absorption of the roots [2]. Depending on several PhACs, physico-chemical properties such as polarity, ionizable ease, or lipophilicity could affect the pass through the endodermis and then arriving to the vascular tissue which is responsible for transporting nutrients to the rest of the plant [113]. Therefore, the PhACs capable of entering the vascular tissue can be translocated from the root to the aerial tissues such as leaves and fruits. In fact, the main source of PhACs in the leaves is related to their translocation from the roots to the leaves of the most polar compounds that move with water [114]. Contrary, non-polar (high K_{ow}) PhACs are more susceptible to remain in the root compartment commonly in the cell vacuoles and then bioaccumulating in the root [2]. Moreover, when PhACs are inside the tissues, they could be metabolized, creating new molecules, usually with unknown fates and properties [115]. Therefore, in order to be able to detect and quantify the pharmaceutical products absorbed by plants at low environmental concentrations, accurate and reliable analysis methods are required to be applied to the different tissues of which the plants are made [116]. In fact, each fabric presents a separate challenge to overcome. Plants are characterized by containing large quantities of sugars, waxes, fatty acids, and chlorophyll, which complicates the analysis due to the difficulty of eliminating these substances. These components of the matrix, if not carefully removed, can interfere with instrumental analysis by acting as co-eluents of the target compounds [117, 118]. Taking this into account, the different extraction processes (QuEChERS, ASE, USE, MAE, etc.) are followed by a subsequent cleaning phase to obtain clean extracts for accurate detection and quantification. Ideally, a selective extraction technique allows the recovery of the compounds of interest, while the interferents remain without being extracted into the matrix [45, 119, 120]. Extraction methods that require the use of high temperatures such as ASE or MAE and in some cases due to the USE are more likely to obtain extracts containing co-extracted elements of the matrix. Nevertheless, to overcome this problem, modern analytical techniques include strategies such as the reduction of the sample quantities, the lower solvent consumption, or the reduction of the extraction time, to favor the reduction of unwanted components of the matrix. The most used clean-up processes are SPE and d-SPE which allow to obtain fairly clear extracts. However, the skip of this step could improve the recoveries of some compounds that are retained by the SPE adsorbents. LC-MS is usually the instrumental analysis performed, thanks to its ability to achieve low limits of quantification and detection, good repeatability, and reproducibility [7, 121]. Indeed, LC-MS/MS have been the instrumental analysis with great confidence to confirm the analytes and its capability to reach very low limits of detection and quantification [122, 123]. All details for each extraction methodology for pharmaceuticals in plants are reported in Table 6.

5.1 Assisted Solvent Extraction (ASE)

In order to perform a good extraction by means of ASE, the selection of an appropriate organic solvent as well as temperature is crucial. In fact, ASE provides the advantage to choose between several solvents allowing to extract compounds of different families in different matrices [124]. ASE uses temperature and pressure in its procedure, which means that modification on the solvent physico-chemical properties occurs facilitating the release of pharmaceuticals. As an example, solvent density decreases allowing a more extensive wet into the sample, whereas solvent boiling point increases due to the effect of the pressure [124]. However, high temperatures could deteriorate the PhACs, especially the thermolabile ones; then, a compromise between enhance on the extraction efficiency and the temperature is established. First, a dispersing agent (sand, hydromatrix, or Florisil) is mixed with the sample in order to avoid sample agglomerates, obtaining a greater surface and, consequently, facilitating the solvent interaction. Moreover, Florisil is the dispersant agent more used before the extraction starts, in order to improve the extraction efficiency through the adsorption of sugar and waxes with the subsequent retention [125, 126]. Samples are placed in a stainless-steel extraction cell and capped with filters at both ends to retain the sample into the cell but letting out the extraction solvent containing the extracted compounds [127]. Once the solvent is introduced into the system (different volumes could be employed), the extraction cell is placed in the oven, and the system starts setting the desired temperature and pressure. Another important parameter to consider consists of the time and cycles used, as the more time the solvent is in contact with the sample, the more extraction efficiency is performed. However, the co-extractive compounds are also released. Then, a compromise between time and extraction efficiency is created and should be optimized [124]. SPE was usually performed as the clean-up step after the extraction, removing interferences and obtaining cleaner extracts [74, 128]. For this reason, it is easier to adjust the pressure than the temperature of the ASE [128, 129]. Similar to

	Reference	[146]				[147]	2	[148]			[36]		[149]				[143]				(continued)
Analytical	method	HPLC-MS/ MS_GC-ToF				DART-	HRMS	HPLC-MS/	SM		HPLC		HPLC-MS/	MS			UHPLC-	HRMS			
	Clean-up	15 mL solution for d-SPF (900 mg of	anhydrous MgSO ₄ ,	150 mg PSA bonded	silica, 150 mg C18 bonded silica)	150 mo MoSO.	50 mg C18, 50 mg PSA	200 mg PSA	I		100 mg PSA,	600 mg anhydrous MgSO ₄	70 mg PSA				0.22 µm Teflon fil-	ter, d-SPE (100 mg	C18, 300 mg MoSO.)	(40.02	
	Buffer	1 g sodium citrate dehvdrate	500 mg disodium	citrate	sesquihydrate	None		0.5 g sodium	acetate		None		1 g of H ₃ Cit·H ₂ O,	0.5 g of	Na ₃ Cit·2H ₂ O		None				
	Salts	4 g anhydrous MoSO, 1 σ	NaCl			4 a of MaSO.	1 g NaCl	4 g anhydrous	MgSO4		6 g anhydrous	MgSO ₄ , 1.5 g NaCl	4 g of anhy-	drous MgSO ₄	and 1 g of NaCl		4 g anhydrous	MgSO ₄ , 1 g	NaCI		
	Extraction solvent	8 mL H2O, 10 mL ACN 3 mL hexane				10 mL deionized	water, 10 mL MeCN	$10 \text{ mL H}_2\text{O}, 10 \text{ mL}$	acetic acid 0.1%	(v/v) in ACN: MeOH (75:25 v/v)	15 mL ACN		10 mL MeCN/	MeOH (85:15, v/v)			$10 \text{ mL H}_2\text{O}, 10 \text{ mL}$	ACN, ACN (2%	formic acid)		
Weight/ volume of	sample	2 g dry weight	and to the			10 a drv	weight	5 g dry	weight		15 g wet	weight	10 g wet	weight			1 g dry	weight			
Matrix and target	molecules	Honeys, honeybees, and pollens – pesticides veteri-	nary drugs, and a synergist			Milk and chicken feed –	benzimidazoles and coccidiostats	Animal feed –	13 sulfonamides		Tomato fruit - lufenuron		White radish, Chinese cab-	bage, cucumber, string	bean, and green pepper –	26 veterinary antimicrobials	Herbal dietary supple-	ments - 96 pharmaceuti-	cals, plant toxins, and other	metabolites	

Table 6 Extraction methodologies from plants

~							
	Weight/						
Matrix and target	volume of					Analytical	
molecules	sample	Extraction solvent	Salts	Buffer	Clean-up	method	Reference
Celery and lettuce –	500 mg	7 mL ACN/MeOH/	2 g anhydrous	150 mg L^{-1}	d-SPE (12.5 mg	HPLC-MS/	[119]
1 I pnarmaceutical	ary	H ₂ O (/4.1:0:28.6),	Na ₂ SU ₄ , U.S g	Na ₂ EUIA	C18, 12.5 P5A,	SM	
compounds	weight	(60.7:10.7:28.6),	NaCl		225 mg Na ₂ SO ₄)		
		(53.6:17.9:28.6), (35.7:35.7:28.6)					
Lettuce leaves – carbamaz-	10 g wet	10 mL of ACN	6 g of MgSO4	1.5 g of NaOAc	d-SPE (125 mg BSA 150 mg C18	LC-QqLIT-	[122]
epine, numequine, and thisheadszala	weight				750 mg MgCO)	CIVICIVI	
ultabelitazoie					0.45 μm PTFE filter		
Sedative functional foods	2 g wet	5 ml of acetic acid/	15 ml of acetic	None	d-SPE (50 mg PSA,	UPLC-MS/	[150]
(based on Salvia	weight	ACN/MeOH	acid/ACN/		500 mg MgSO ₄)	MS	
<i>miltiorrhiza</i> and		(0.1:3:7, v/v/v)	MeOH (0.1:3:7,				
Schisandra chinensis) –			v/v/v) (second				
11 blockers			round)				
Baby food (some of vegetal	5 g dry	10 mL ultrapure	6 g MgSO ₄	1.5 g NaOAc	150 mg PSA,	UHPLC-HR/	[139]
origin) – sulfonamides	weight	water, 15 mL of 1%			150 mg C18,	MS	
	15 g wet	acetic acid in ACN			900 mg MgSO ₄		
	weight	15 mL of 1% acetic					
		acid in ACN					
Buckwheat and related	5 g dry	$10 \text{ mL H}_2\text{O}, 10 \text{ mL}$	4 g of anhy-	1 g NH ₄ Ac	25 mg of PSA,	UHPLC-MS/	[35]
products – atropine and	weight	ACN containing 1%	drous Na ₂ SO ₄		25 mg of GBC	MS	
scopolamine		(v/v) of formic acid					
Lettuce – 13 wastewater-	0.5 g dry	20 mL	$4 \text{ g MgSO}_4, 1 \text{ g}$	1 g sodium citrate	0.2 µm PTFE filters,	HPLC-MS	[2]
derived contaminants	weight	ACN-MeOH (1:1,	NaCl		liquid-liquid		
		v/v), MTBE-MeOH			extracted with hex-		
		(1:1, v/v), hexane-			ane (hexane		

452

Table 6 (continued)

	5	[0]	[1]	[1]	[7	5	ntinued)
	<u>4</u> 4	1	1	1	[32	<u>4</u>	(co)
	LC-MS/MS	UHPLC-MS/ MS	LC-MS/MS	GC-MS, LC-MS/MS	HPLC-MS/ MS	LC-MS/MS	
washed), d-SPE (PSA, MgSO ₄)	150 mg PSA, 900 mg MgSO4, 0.2 μm syringe RC filter	0.22 µm PTFE filter	d-SPE (30 mg PSA, 30 mg C18)	d-SPE (75 mg, MgSO4:PSA:C18: GCB 3:1:1:1 (w/w/ w/w))	12.5 mg C18, 12.5 mg PSA, 225 mg Na ₂ SO ₄	250 mg Na ₂ SO ₄ d-SPE (25 mg C18, 25 mg PSA) d-SPE (25 mg C18,	
	None	None	1 g SCTD, 500 mg SCDS, 100 mg EDTA- Na ₂	1 mL of pH 10 glycine buffer	150 mg/L Na ₂ EDTA	150 mg/L Na ₂ EDTA	
	4 g anhydrous MgSO ₄ , 1 g NaCl	4 g anhydrous MgSO ₄ , 1 g NaCl	None	400 mg MgSO ₄ , 100 mg NaCl	2 g Na ₂ SO ₄ , 0.5 g NaCl	2 g Na ₂ SO ₄ , 1 g NaCl	_
acetone (1:1, v/v), MTBE-ACN (1:1, v/v), EtAc-MeOH (1:1, v/v), 0.5% formic acid in ACN-MeOH (1:1, v/v)	3 mL H ₂ O, 10 mL ACN	10 or 5 mL H ₂ O (0.1% formic acid), 10 mL ACN	20 mL MeCN with 1% HAc	1 mL H ₂ O (only in low water content samples), 1 mL ACN	2 mL H ₂ O, 5 mL ACN/MeOH (65:35, v/v)	2 mL H ₂ O, 5 mL ACN/MeOH (65:35, v/v)	
	0.5 g dry weight	0.5 g or 5 mL	10 g wet weight	1 g wet weight	0.25 or 0.5 g dry weight	0.5 g dry weight	
	Lettuce, cabbage, and tomato - 28 organic micropollutants	Plant food supplements – 26 pharmaceutical compounds	Radish roots and leaves – chlortetracycline, enrofloxacin, sulphathiazole	Lettuce, grapes, milk, chicken, pork, beef – 17 pesticides, 16 alkaloids, 18 drugs	Lettuce shoots and roots – 11 pharmaceutical compounds	Radish and enzyme extracts – 15 pharmaceuticals	

Table 6 (continued)							
Matrix and target molecules	Weight/ volume of sample	Extraction solvent	Salts	Buffer	Clean-up	Analytical method	Reference
					25 mg PSA, 10 mg GCB)		
Lettuce, radish, and straw- berry –	10 g wet weight	10 mL of 1% acetic acid in MeCN and	6 g of anhy- drous MgSO4	1.5 g of NaOAc 1 g trisodium cit-	d-SPE (750 mg of anhvdrous MgSO ₄	HPLC-MS/ MS	[121]
74 microcontaminants including pharmaceuticals,	0	20 μL of the extrac- tion quality control	4 g of anhy- drous MgSO ₄ ,	rate dehydrate and 0.5 g	and 125 mg of C18) d-SPE (750 mg of		
metabolites, and pesticides		solution, 10 mL of MeCN	1 g of NaCl	disodium hydrogencitrate	anhydrous MgSO ₄ , 125 mg of C18, and		
				sesquihydrate	125 mg of PSA)		
Cabbage, cucumber, cauli- flower. leek. and other	10 g wet weight	10 mL ACN (0.248% H ₃ PO ₄ in	4 g MgSO ₄ , 1 g NaCl	McIlvaine buffer (0.049, or 0.19, or	d-SPE (10 mg PSA, 25 mg C18. 2.5 mg	UHPLC-MS/ MS	[152]
commonly consumed veg-	0	phosphate buffer		0.46 g Na ₂ HPO ₄ ,	GCB)		
etables – 49 antibiotics		and 0.1% of formic		0.5 g citrate)	Other concentra-		
(17 sultonamides, 16 minolones		acid in formic acid huffer)		Phosphate butter (0 5 σ KH ₂ PO.)	tions were tested with less recovery		
6 macrolides, 5 β -lactams,				Formic acid			
5 tetracyclines)				butter			
14 different fruits and veg- etables – penicillins G and V	l g wet weight	2 mL of ACN	0.5 g of NaCl	40 mg of EDTA	0.45 µm membrane filter	HPLC- QToF-MS/ MS	[123]
Lepidium sativum –	1 g wet	3 mL ACN/0.1 M	0.8 g MgSO ₄	None	None	HPLC-MS/	[153]
diclofenac, ketoprofen,	weight	HCI (2/1, v/v)	and 0.2 g NaCl			MS	
naproxen, and mefenamic acid		4 mL ACN/0.1 M HCl (1/1, v/v)	1.2 g MgSO ₄ , 0.3 g NaCl				
Leafy vegetables -	10 g wet	10 mL of	4 g of anhy-	1 g of citric acid	C18 (30, 50, and	UHPLC-MS/	[154]
20 antibiotics	weight	ACN/MeOH	drous MgSO ₄ ,	monohydrate,	70 mg) and GCB	MS	
		(85:15, v/v)	1 g of NaCl	0.5 g of trisodium citrate dihvdrate	(10, 30, and 50 mg)		
				annin annin			

Table 6 (continued)

rops – 24 carba- e transformation	10 g wet weight	10 mL of MeCN at 1% of acetic acid	6 g of MgSO4	1.5 g of NaOAc	d-SPE (125 mg PSA, 125 mg C18, 750 mg anhydrous MgSO4)	LC-QTOF- MS/MS	[155]
<i>a sativum –</i> ator- fluvastatin, tin	l g wet weight	4 mL ACN:H ₂ O (1:1, v/v)	1.2 g MgSO4, 0.3 g NaCl	None	None	HPLC DTIM QTOF-MS, HPLC QQQ/MS/ MS	[156]
beet root – al, metoprolol, sul- kazole, trimetho- ffeine	10 g dry weight	10 mL ACN (1% acetic acid)	4 g anhydrous MgSO ₄ , 1 g NaCl	1 g trisodium cit- rate dehydrate, 0.5 g disodium hydrogen citrate sesquihydrate	150 mg PSA, 900 MgSO ₄ mg, 150 mg C18	LC-MS/MS	[157]
maize, and rad- nolol, carbamaze- l triclosan	1 g dry weight	10 mL ACN	4 g MgSO ₄ + 1 g NaCl	Bond Elut QuEChERS Dis- persive Universal Kit	None	LC-MS/MS QqQ	[158]
- diclofenac	2 g wet weight	4 mL ACN	2 g MgSO ₄ + 0,5 g NaCl	0,5 g sodium cit- rate tribasic dihydrate +0,25 g sodium citrate dibasic sesquihydrate	150 mg MgSO ₄ + 25 mg PSA + 25 mg C18E	UPLC-MS/ MS QToF	[159]
- cydiclofenac, I-benzotriazole, ne, acetamino- ridone, azole, bezafibrate,	1 g dry weight	10 mL CAN +50 µL formic acid	4 g MgSO4 + 1 g NaCl	None	150 mg PSA, 900 MgSO ₄ mg, 150 mg C18	HPLC-MS/ MS QToF	[160]
							(continued)

Table 6 (continued)							
Matrix and target molecules	Weight/ volume of sample	Extraction solvent	Salts	Buffer	Clean-up	Analytical method	Reference
bisphenol A, caffeine, car- bamazepine, carbamaze- pine-10,11-epoxide, chlor- amphenicol, ciprofitoxacin, citalopram, climbazole, clofibric acid, diclofenac, diltiazem, fipronil, fipronil- desulfinyl, fipronil sulfone, fluconazole, furosemide, gemfibrozil, hydrochloro- thiazide, ibuprofen, indo- methacin, irbesartan, ketoprofen, lamotrigine, metoprolol, metronidazole, oxcarbamazepine, propran- olol, sucralose, sulfamethazine, sulfameth- oxazole, triclosan, valsartan, valsartan acid, verapamil							
Cucumber, tomato, and lettuce – tetracycline, oxy- tetracycline, chlortetracy- cline, sulfamethazine, sulfamethoxazole, sulfadimethoxine	500 mg dry weight	8 mL MeOH:HCI (95:5, v/v)	None (sonica- tion method)	None	SPE clean-up (Oasis HLB 60 mg cartridge)	LC-MS/MS (ion trap mass spectrometer)	[112]

456

Table 6 (continued)

is LC-MS/MS [31]	20	g) (Thermo Finnigan TSQ Max) Max)	3 LC-MS/MS [136]	252	UPLC-MS/ [44]	MS QqQ	I C MCMAC [43]	QqQ
SPE clean-up (Oas		SPE clean-up (Oas HLB 6 mL 200 mg	SPE clean-up HLB	carutoges	None			None
None		None	None		None			None
None (sonica-		None (sonica- tion method)	None	(uurasonicauon)	None (sonica-	tion method)	None (conica-	tion method)
Soil: 1 g sand	$+1 \approx 5$ mL actone Plant: 1 g sand $+3 \approx 5$ mL ACN:H ₂ O (70:30, v/v) (15 mL total)	1 g sand +3*5 mL ACN:H ₂ O (70:30, v/v)	30 mL acidified	ACAY account $(1:1)$, v/v , $pH = 3$)	TMP and DCF:	10 mL MeOH + NaHCO ₃ (pH 6–7) SMX: 10 mL MeOH (pH 3–4)	1 mL ACN H-O	(1:1, v/v, 0,1%
1 g soil 1 g wet	ng weight plant	1 g wet weight of plant (leaf and root)	1 g weight	dop	10 g wet	plant	0.1 g drv	weight
Soil and radish leaf –	curronazzyozucz, conazz- pam, diazepam, flurazepam, nordiazepam, oxazepam, temazepam, triazolam	Radish and ryegrass – car- bamazepine, diclofenac, fluoxetine, propranolol, sulfamethazine, triclosan	Chinese white cabbage,	water spinatch, Chinese radish, corn, and rice – tet- racycline, sulfamethazine, norfloxacin, erythromycin, chloramphenicol	Tomato - diclofenac, sul-	tamethoxazole, and trimethoprim	Pisum sativum L. var.	axiphium - carbamazepine,

Matrix and target molecules	Weight/ volume of samnle	Extraction solvent	Salts	Buffer	Clean-un	Analytical method	Reference
Chickness metformin	01 & dray) mI	None (conico	1 0 ml (ammo	CDF (Bond Flut	LC TAF MS	
	u, 1 g ury weight	<i>د</i> اللك dichloromethane	tion method)	1,9 IIIL (allillo- nium acetate	LMS cartridges	LU-10F-WIS	[44]
				450 mmol L ⁻¹ formic acid	1 mL, capacity 25 mg)		
				50 mmol L^{-1})			
Celery, lettuce, cabbage,	0,2 g dry	20 mL tert-butyl	None (USE	None	SPE clean-up (HLB	UPLC-MS/	[137]
spinach, carrot, cucumber,	weight	ether	method)		cartridge 150 mg)	MS	
bell pepper, tomato – 16 PhACs and 3 PCP							
Lettuce, tomato, cauli-	1 g wet	10 mL MeOH	None (USE	None	SPE clean-up	LC-MS/MS	[134]
flower, and broad bean	weight		method)		(Strata-X cartridge,	(Waters TQ	
seeds – sulfathiazole,					100 mg/6 mL)	detector)	
sulfamethizole, sulfadia-							
zine, sulfamethazine,							
sulfadimethoxine, sulfa-							
methoxazole, ofloxacin,							
enrofloxacin, clindamycin,							
and trimethoprim							
Lettuce, spinach, arugula,	0,1 g dry	4 mL ACN:H ₂ O	None (USE	None	None	LC-MS/MS	[41]
and radish – carbamaze-	weight	(1:1, v/v, acidified	method)			QqQ	
pine, atenolol,		0,1% formic acid)					
sulfamethoxazole							
Alfalfa – diclofenac, sulfa-	5 g wet	10 mL MeOH:H ₂ O	None (USE	None	SPE clean-up (Oasis	UPLC-MS/	[161]
methoxazole, trimethoprim	weight	(1:1, v/v)	method)		HLB)	MS TQD	
Cucumber – 17 PPCs	0,2 g dry	20 mL tert-butyl	None (USE	None	SPE clean-up (Oasis	UPLC-MS/	[37]
	weight	ether	method)		HLB 150 mg)	MS QqQ	
Lettuce – 19 PPCs	0,2 g dry	20 mL tert-butyl	None (USE	None	SPE clean-up (Oasis	UPLC-MS/	[120]
	weight	ether +20 mL ACN	method)		HLB	MS	

0 [162]	[135]	[163]	[164]	[126]	(continued)
HPLC-DAI	GC-MS	LC-MS/MS	LC-MS/MS	QqQ	
SPE clean-up (reversed phase Phenomenex Strata- X 200 mg/ 6 mL + normal phase Supelclean LC-Florisil 1 g/ 6 mL)	Glass-column clean- up (1 g MgSO ₄ + 1 g C18)	None	SPE (Oasis HLB)	None	
None	None	None	None	None	-
None (ultra- sonic solvent extraction)	4 g Florisil +2 g MgSO ₄ (ultrasound- assisted)	None (sonica- tion + centrifugation)	None (sonica- tion + centrifugation)	None (ASE extraction)	
10 mL MeOH:ace- tone (95:5, v/v)	8 mL EtAc 3% NH4OH + 2*5 mL ACN 4% formic acid	2 mL ACN	ACN – MeOH 0,5% formic acid	MeOH +1 g Florisil	
0,2 wet weight	1 g wet weight	1 g wet weight	Wet weight	1 g wet plant	
Typha latifolia and Berula erecta – iopamidol, iohexol, iomeprol, iopromide, propranolol, carbamazepine, naproxen, ibuprofen, diclofenac	Typha angustifolia, Arundo donax, and Lemna minor – 31 CECs	Cress – sertraline, clomip- ramine, and trazodone	Pea - trimethoprim, sulfamonomethoxine, sul- famethoxazole, sulfadimethoxine, crotamiton, gliclazide, car- bamazepine, losartan, cyclophosphamide, acet- aminophen, ketoprofen, diclofenac, indomethacin	Cucumber – carbamaze- pine, carbamazepine epox- ide, 10,11- dihydroxycarbamazepine, 2-hydroxycarbamazepine, 3-hydroxycarbamazepine, lamotrigine	

Matrix and target	Weight/ volume of					Analytical	
molecules	sample	Extraction solvent	Salts	Buffer	Clean-up	method	Reference
Cabbage – salbutamol, tri- methoprim, sulfamethoxa- zole, carbamazepine, sertraline, triclosan	8 g wet plant	50 mL ACN:H ₂ O (55:45, v/v)	None (pressur- ized liquid extraction, PLE)	None	None	LC-MS	[40]
Carrot, potato – bezafibrate, carbamaze- pine, diclofenac, gemfibro- zil, ibuprofen, clofibric acid, sulfapyridine, ketoprofen, sulfamethoxa- zole, 10,11- epoxycarbamazepine	1 g dry weight	McOH +1 g Florisil	None (ASE method)	None	None	LC-MS	[125]
Lettuce and carrot – tetra- cycline and amoxicillin	0,1 g dry weight	100% Milli-Q water (final extract 30 mL)	None (PLE method)	None	SPE clean-up (Oasis HLB cartridges hydrophilic- lipophilic balance, 200 mg/6 mL)	LC-MS/MS QTrap Sciex	[39]
Grass – oxytetracycline, sulfamethoxazole, ketoconazole	1 g wet weight	MeOH:citric acid ($0,2$ M, 50:50, v/v, pH = 4,5 with NaOH)	None (PLE method)	Na2EDTA	SPE clean-up (Strata-X 200 mg/ 6 mL, reverse phase)	LC-MS Orbitrap Thermo Fisher	[165]
Soybean and wheat – ketoprofen, naproxen, diclofenac, ibuprofen	0,5 g dry weight	0,01 M NaOH	None (pressur- ized hot water extraction – ASE)	None	Hollow fiber liquid- phase microextraction clean-up	LC-MS	[131]

Table 6 (continued)

460

[129]	[128]	[130]	8/ [145]	[33]
LC-MS/MS	LC-MS	LC-MS/MS ion trap	UHPLC-MS MS QqQ	LC-MS/MS QqQ
SPE clean-up (Oasis HLB)	Turnip and Chard: SPE clean-up (Oasis HLB 3 mL, 540 mg)	TurboVap clean with hexane	SPE clean-up (Oasis HLB)	d-SPE clean-up (250 mg PSA)
None	None	None	None	None
None (ASE method)	None (ASE method)	None (ASE method)	None (microwave- assisted extraction)	None (MAE, USE method)
MeOH 70 mL	70–75 mL methy- lene chloride:MeOH (75:25, v/v)	MTBE:MeOH (90:10, v/v) 5 mL final extract	25 mL MeOH:H ₂ O (25:75, v/v)	MAE: 6 mL ACN: MeOH:phosphoric acid 5% (7:1:2, v/v)
1 g dry weight	 Cow- pea, tur- nip: 3 g dry weight Collards: 1,5 g dry weight Basil, lettuce cilantro: 1 g dry weight 	l g dry weight	0,5 g dry weight	2 g wet weight
Wheat - sulfamethoxazole, trimethoprim, offoxacin,	carbamazepine Cowpea, turnip, chard, collards, basil, lettuce, and cilantro – atenolol, offoxacin, and diclofenac offoxacin, and diclofenac	Lettuce, spinach, carrot – azithromycin, roxithromycin, clarithromycin, clindamycin, methamphet- amine, MDMA, pseudo- ephedrine, DMPEA	Phragmites australis – 81 micropollutants	Cereals (wheat, barley, oat, and rice) – 4 fluoroquinolones, 3 tetra-

Table 6 (continued)							
Matrix and target molecules	Weight/ volume of sample	Extraction solvent	Salts	Buffer	Clean-up	Analytical method	Reference
4 macrolides, and lincomycin		MeOH:phosphoric acid 5% (7:1:2, v/v)					
Lettuce – lincomycin, roxithromycin, doxycy- cline hyclate, demeclocycline, sulfa- methoxazole, oxytetracycline	2 g wet weight	10 mL (80% isopro- pyl alcohol, 20% 0,04 M citric acid solution)	None (freeze- thaw extraction)	None	SPE clean-up (200 mg Oasis HLB)	LC-MS/MS	[166]
Brassica juncea – acetaminophen	0,5 g wet weight (root and leaf)	1 mL HCl 0,1 M	None (solid- liquid extraction)	None	SPE method, Phenomenex Strata- X 300 mg	LC-MS	[28]
Cucumber, eggplant, long bean, and wheat – sulfamonomethoxine, sulfathiazole, acetyl- sulfamethoxazole, sulfachlorpyridazine, sulfamethazine, sulfamethazine, trimetho- prim, chloramphenicol, ibuprofen, sulfamethoxa- zole, and triclosan	5 g wet grain crop 2 g wet fruit and vegetables	220 mL ACN	None (Soxhlet extraction)	None	None	QqQ	[34]

soil, MeOH, ACN, and water are the most used solvents for the extraction procedure. Different mixtures have been reported in order to achieve the optimum polarity conditions to extract the targeted compounds and avoiding interferences from the matrix plant [40, 74, 130]. Additionally, buffer mixtures such as citric acid and NaOH are included providing the properly pH into the mixture and enhancing the extraction efficiency. The most used extraction solvent, MeOH, provided good results in carrot and potato, coming to detect ten PhACs in a single analysis [40] but also in wheat [129] and in cucumber [126]. Using water as extractant solvent helped Azanu et al. to extract tetracycline and amoxicillin from lettuce and carrot [39]. On the other hand, Cortés et al. managed to extract four pharmaceuticals from soybean and wheat using buffered water (0.01 M NaOH) [131]. It is worth to mention that the greenest method consists of using water as a unique extraction solvent.

Up to 15 different plant matrices were studied under ASE methodology in only 9 reports (Table 6), indicating the versatility of ASE. Moreover, lettuce and carrot were the matrices most studied (three reports for each matrix). Reports showed the capability to develop one method for the detection of PhACs in several matrices [39, 130].

5.2 Ultrasound Solvent Extraction (USE)

The USE methodology is certainly the most widely performed extraction method in the environmental field. The base of the USE is centered in the formation of small cavities inside the sample by means of ultrasound, for a subsequent penetration of the solvent causing a greater contact surface between the sample and the extraction solvent, enhancing PhACs extraction [132]. A further comminution of the samples could occur due to the increase in collisions between the particles due to the vibration of ultrasound and to the disturbances created for cavitation [132]. Dispersant agents such as sand are commonly employed to help the formation of cavities into the samples by impact of sand particles into the sample [133]. USE is known to be an easy extraction method but also for the use of low quantities of solvent. However, the heat that is usually generated by particle collisions on the one hand could facilitate the release of some classes of target compounds; in the case of PhACs, it could lead to negative effects due to a possible thermal degradation. The sonication time and the number of cycles are parameters that must be optimized to ensure good extraction performance. Normally, the sonication time varied from 10 to 30 min, and 1 to 4 cycles are performed [112]. The organic solvents most used in the extraction of PhACs from plants are mainly the same as previously seen as MeOH, ACN, and water, used individually or in different mixtures [41, 134]. In particular, the ACN/water mixture has been used successfully for the extraction of pharmaceutical residues in radish, ryegrass, Pisum sativum, lettuce, spinach, and rocket with satisfactory results [31, 41, 43, 133]. Buffered mixtures containing NaHCO₃, formic acid, or NH₄OH were also used providing an adequate pH for a better extraction

performance especially for the acidic compounds which are more sensitive to the pH [44, 112, 135].

Up to 16 studies have been reported to employ USE in order to extract PhACs from plant matrices (Table 6). The versatility and applicability of USE have been widely demonstrated on about 20 different vegetable matrices with good results. Lettuce, radish, and tomato were the most studied matrices [31, 41, 44, 112, 120, 133, 134, 136, 137].

The most interesting compounds studied were antibiotics, benzodiazepines, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), such as carbamazepine, diazepam, sulfamethoxazole, sulfamethazine, trimethoprim, etc.

5.3 QuEChERS (Quick, Easy, Cheap, Effective, Rugged, Safe)

The QuEChERS method is the most used extraction technique for pharmaceutical residues. In fact, more than 25 studies using QuEChERS for drugs in plant tissues are reported in Table 6. The extraction of QuEChERS mainly depends on the selection of three phases: the solvent, the salts required, and the cleaning phase. Many of the reported studies are based on more or less important modifications of the original procedure developed by Anastassiades et al. for the determination of pesticides in food [19]. In the original method, ACN was the solvent selected for its ability to extract non-polar and relatively polar compounds and has the ability to leave lipophilic substances without being extracted [138]. In addition, ACN mixes easily with water allowing the penetration of the organic solvent into the matrix [138]. Reports have shown that ACN is by far the most widely used solvent, sometimes buffered with acidifying compounds to improve extraction efficiency. Different solvents such as H₂O or MeOH have also been used less frequently but also providing good extraction recoveries. The original method requires a sample weight of 10 g of fresh material with a water content greater than 80%. Sometimes, for dry, dehydrated, or fat-rich samples, water is added up to the minimum quantity required for the extraction [35, 139, 140]. Acidification of the organic solution, majorly with acetic acid or formic acid, has shown to improve the recoveries of compounds susceptible to pH [121, 141]. The main difference with the other extraction methods consists in the use of salts which force the analytes to pass from the aqueous phase to the organic phase, known as the salting out process [142]. Taking as a reference the original method, MgSO₄ with NaCl were the salts employed [19]. $MgSO_4$ is used for several reasons. In fact, it helps in the separation between phases (ACN/water) by saturation and is also used for its drying capacity. Finally, the drying process involves an exothermic process with consequent release of heat which leads to a better extraction of the non-polar compounds [138]. On the other hand, the main purpose of NaCl consists of the reduction of polar interferences and co-extractives coming from the plant [138]. Three main types of salts are used in plants, the original non-buffered salts (MgSO₄ + NaCl), the EN-buffered salts consisting of the original salts and the addition of citrate buffers $(MgSO4 + C_6H_5Na_3O_7 \cdot 2H_2O + Na_2C_6H_6O_7 \cdot 1.5H_2O)$, and the AOAC method with acetate buffer (MgSO₄ + CH_3COONa). The pH is extremely important in this extraction procedure. The EN and AOAC extraction salt kits consist of buffered salts which result in a pH between 5 and 5.5 for the EN method and a pH < 5 for the AOAC. In contrast, the final pH of the original method mainly depends on the nature of the initial matrix [142]. However, current studies suggest that the original salt kit is the most used salt mix to extract pharmaceutical residues from plant tissues, with excellent results [45, 140, 143]. On the other hand, AOAC salts and EN salts were widely used providing more stability to the target compounds [7, 121]. Aside from the extraction phase, Anastassiades and colleagues also developed a new clean-up methodology to remove any interferents based on a solid-phase extraction in the dispersive phase (d-SPE) [19]. Further considerations are shown in the clean-up section. The matrices studied so far are mainly vegetables such as lettuce, radish, and cabbage (Table 6). In particular, plants consisting of a branched root are the most studied samples, but fruits such as cucumber, tomato, and strawberry are also being studied. QuEChERS has become the most used extraction method with exponential growth in recent years, and everything seems to indicate that thanks to its versatility and its possible future automation, this growth seems even more pronounced in the near future.

5.4 Other Extraction Methods (MAE, Soxhlet, Solid-Liquid Extraction)

The microwave-assisted extraction method (MAE) is a technique widely used in soils but has not had the same diffusion with plants, at least for now. The MAE consists in the use of a correctly selected organic solvent for the extraction of target drugs which is heated by microwaves, combining sonication and temperature properties [144]. This technique is widely used for the analysis of metals and heavy metals in plant material. However, it is also used in the field of PhACs, although the quantity of solvent is reduced and the obligation to operate at high temperatures could adversely affect the extraction of the target compounds. The organic solvents used are the same as previously described for other methodologies. Basically, ACN, MeOH, and water, including their mixtures, are the solvents selected for vegetables. Only two studies with plants have been reported, one with *Phragmites australis* and the other with cereals [33, 145].

Recent works have demonstrated the ability of the classic Soxhlet extraction method to detect pharmaceutical products in plants and to detect 12 pharmaceutical products in different vegetables [34]. However, Soxhlet extraction is not usually used because, due to the high working temperatures required by Soxhlet and also the long exposure times, this method could alter the properties of the target compounds,



Fig. 1 Comparison of the use of the three main extraction methods (USE, ASE, and QuEChERS) for pharmaceutical residues in plant tissues reported in the last 10 years

in particular thermolabile ones. In addition, a high amount of solvent is required, making the procedure more expensive and polluting than modern methods.

Finally, solid-liquid extraction (SLE) is a simple but effective extraction method used when a liquid matrix contains the target compounds. It is a technique widely used for water analysis. Although the new methodologies (USE, ASE, QuEChERS, etc.) are able to provide more selectivity and also great results, SLE can be used in combination with these techniques as an extract clean-up phase. Despite this, Bartha et al. managed to analyze the paracetamol from the root and leaves of *Brassica juncea* [28].

Figure 1 shows the evolution of the three main extraction techniques for plants over the past 10 years. The use of these techniques between 2010 and 2016 was quite similar, but since 2017 QuEChERS has been the main methodology followed by the authors to extract PhACs from plant tissues, thus demonstrating its versatility in this area.

6 Clean-Up Procedures

Environmental and food samples have very complex matrices, and part of its constituents are involuntarily co-extracted during the usual extraction procedures. Furthermore, although the high temperature used in ASE and MAE and the strong sonication waves used in USE are very effective in the extraction of the compounds of interest, as a counterpart, they facilitate the migration of matrix interference in the final extracts [56]. Consequently, as a main effect, these elements can mask the detection of analytes during chromatography. Therefore, cleaning the extracts is a crucial step. A large diversity of sorbents is today available and successfully

employed for extract clean-up from matrices interfering components. These include, for example, SPEs in the reverse phase (HLB, C8, C18, etc.), normal phase SPEs (alumina, diol, Florisil, silica, etc.), and the ion exchange mode SAX (strong anion exchange) or MCX (mixed-mode cation exchange). The various sorbents mentioned are used in the form of discs, columns, dispersive phase or cartridges. However, the latest format is the most widely used. In this section, we will discuss the commonly used sorbents for soil and crop extract clean-up, as well as the newly introduced sorbents.

6.1 Commonly Used Sorbents

Solid-phase extraction (SPE) in cartridge format is one of the most clean-up techniques used over the last years. The great selectivity of SPE in retaining the targeted compounds and simultaneously eluting the matrix interferences, or vice versa, has made this technique gain wide popularity. Moreover, they allow for a large volume of extract to be purified and concentrated at the same time. As previously mentioned, a large diversity of sorbents is today available; however, for soil and crop extracts, SPEs using hydrophilic and lipophilic balance (HLB) sorbent cartridges solely [72, 82] or in combination with the strong anion exchange sorbent (SAX) [70, 75], which is more expensive, are the purification techniques predominantly employed. HLB cartridges are able to bind non-polar and polar pharmaceuticals at the same time if they are in their neutral form in the extract, whereas, when HLB is employed in tandem with SAX on top of it, SAX cartridges are able to retain matrix interferences such as the negatively charged humic and fulvic acids present in soil extract or the waxes, fatty acids, chlorophyll, and pigments present in plant extracts, while pharmaceuticals are retained on HLB cartridges, resulting in further purified extracts [58].

Those two dominant SPE sorbents are in general used packed in cartridges, and they are mostly employed after a main extraction with ASE, MAE, and USE. However, Malvar and coworkers [69] have recently employed an in-cell clean-up with PLE (or ASE), also known as selective PLE (SPLE), where they added C18 and PSA to the extraction cell with the sample in dispersive form, which allowed to avoid the need of further treatment of sample extract. To our knowledge, this is the only study in which SPLE was employed.

Besides SPE cartridges, dispersive SPE (d-SPE) is nowadays very popular. The concept of d-SPE was first introduced by the fathers of QuEChERS [19], and from that time, it was always employed for cleaning up the extracts of diverse kinds of matrices obtained from QuEChERS extraction. SPE cartridges and d-SPE have similar purpose; the main difference between them remains on the usage mode. For the SPE cartridges, sample extract is loaded into the cartridges, whereas for the d-SPE, sorbents are in powder form (sorbent salts) and are added on the extract, where they absorb matrix interferences resulting in a free analyte extract (Fig. 2). By comparing both SPE techniques, d-SPE is easier to use and saves time.


Since QuEChERS requires no external forces, less matrix components are extracted. However, most of the reported studies employed the easy and rapid clean-up step using d-SPE, in order to reduce matrix effect and improve limits of detection and quantification. C18, primary secondary amine (PSA), and magnesium sulfate (MgSO₄) are the most known and commonly used d-SPE sorbents for extract clean-up. MgSO₄ is used as dehydrating agent to remove water excess in organic solvents; C18 eliminates non-polar matrix interferences such as fats, lipids, and some minerals; and PSA is commonly used to retain polar organic acids such as fatty acids and pigments by strong hydrogen bonds. Since only a few studies (there are exactly six studies) employed QuEChERS for soil extraction, we will discuss them in details from here on. The C18 is nearly always used in all the reported studies, either solely or in combination with MgSO₄ and PSA. Lee and coworkers used C18 sorbent solely for extract clean-up, and satisfactory recoveries were obtained ranging between 60.2 and 120.3% [103]. The addition of magnesium sulfate and primary secondary amines was excluded in their study, because the first liberates energy that might influence on the stability of the tested compounds whereas the second have the ability to chelate/bind with compounds such as sulfonamides. De Carlo and coworkers [102] tested C18 + MgSO₄ and PSA + MgSO₄ separately, and the best results were obtained with C18 + MgSO₄. The clean-up performed adding C18 + MgSO₄ allowed to recover all target analytes, whereas with PSA + MgSO₄, only two out of the five target analytes were recovered. This can be explained by the adsorption of analytes on the PSA by strong hydrogen bonds established between the hydrogen-donor hydroxyl group of the studied analyte and the hydrogen-acceptor nitrogen of PSA, together with other weaker hydrogen-bonding interactions. Same observation was obtained with Martínez-Piernas and coworkers [104], where higher recoveries were obtained using the mixture C18 + MgSO₄ while the presence of PSA reduced the extraction efficiency. This is also referred to the ability of PSA to act as a chelating agent with acidic compounds such as clofibric acid, furosemide,

indomethacin, ketoprofen, ketorolac, mefenamic acid, and methylprednisolone. Finally, similar recovery yields were obtained by those two studies (88–113% [102] and 70–120% [104]). On the contrary, this PSA effect was not observed with Meng and coworkers [105] when it was added in a reasonable amount (25 mg), and better recoveries (61.4-118.9%) and matrix effect (-40 to 54%) were obtained using the combination 25 mg of PSA, 10 mg of C18, and 100 mg of MgSO₄. On the other hand, when the clean-up step was omitted, chromatograms with less quality were obtained, due to the presence of a noisy baseline and interfering peaks derived from co-extracted components [102]. However, no clean-up was employed by Bragança and coworkers (recoveries >80%) [101], and no significant matrix effect was observed in their results. Finally, Salvia and coworkers [106] tested the d-SPE using several sorbents: PSA, PSA + C18, Florisil, silica, aluminum oxide, and SAX. However, great matrix effect was always obtained (>80%), whereas satisfactory results were obtained using SPE cartridges (SAX and Strata-X cartridges) which was adopted in their final method.

Finally, despite the advantages provided from the clean-up, some authors believed that SPE step causes loss of analytes, so they omitted the clean-up step in both soil and crop matrices [140, 153].

6.2 New Sorbents

Several sorbents have been introduced recently for a better clean-up step, among them we list: Z-Sep, Z-Sep+, Z-Sep/C18, ChloroFiltr, CarbonX, Cleanert NANO, Oasis PRiME, and finally EMR-Lipid.

Z-Sep and Z-Sep+ sorbents are based on zirconium dioxide (ZrO_2) and can replace the use of PSA and C18. They were used to clean up extracts with high amounts of fat for the analysis of pesticide residues [167, 168]. Z-Sep is recommended for the clean-up of samples with hydrophobic analytes. Z-Sep+ is used for samples containing greater than 15% fat, and finally Z-Sep/C18 is used for samples containing less than 15% fat [167, 169]. Z-Sep/C18 was used for pharmaceutical analysis from fish samples [170].

ChloroFiltr, CarbonX, and Cleanert NANO are used to remove co-extracted chlorophyll from plant matrices as for GCB (graphitized carbon black) [171–173]. ChloroFiltr is a polymeric-based sorbent; it was used in combination with MgSO₄ and PSA without scarifying the recovery of planar analytes [171, 172]. CarbonX in a non-friable form of GCB, and similar to GCB, it reduces the recoveries of planar analytes. It was effectively used in combination with MgSO₄, PSA, C18, and Z-Sep for the clean-up of pesticides and environmental contaminants in shrimps [37]. However, CarbonX retain pesticides less strongly than GCB, and it is easier to work with since it is available as filter-vial d-SPE [174] or SPE minicartridges [173, 175]. Cleanert NANO is used to remove colorant and fatty acids. It is composed of functionalized MWCNTs (multiwalled carbon nanotubes),

with deactivated surface to ensure the recovery of pesticides with benzene ring [138].

Oasis PRiME HLB (acronym for Process, Robustness, Improvements, Matrix effects, Ease of use) is the next-generation SPE device. It is a simpler, faster, and cleaner SPE cartridge. It is simple because it does not require any conditioning and equilibration steps; also no SPE expertise is required. Equally important, it can be employed by reversed phase "catch-and-release" SPE or "pass-through" SPE. The three-step catch-and-release protocol consists of loading of the pretreated sample, washing the cartridge, and finally eluting the caught analytes with the proper solvent suitable for target analytes, whereas in the two-step pass-through protocol, the sample is loaded and collected at same time, because in this case matrix interferences are retained while analytes are passing through. It is faster because it provides faster flows with less plugging. Finally, it provides cleaner extracts since it removes more than 95% of common matrix interferences, such as salts, proteins, and phospholipids, with the generic three-step protocol (load, wash, elute) and at least 90% more phospholipids than the generic protocol with Oasis HLB. It is effectively used for pesticide analysis in spices and fruits [176, 177].

Finally, EMR-Lipid sorbent is introduced by Agilent Technologies in 2015 for the removal of phospholipids and proteins [178]. Water should be added to the extract before EMR-Lipid clean-up, adding an additional step to the method. However, it does not function as solid d-SPE; conversely, it dissolves to saturation in the extracts; and the extraction mechanism is based on size exclusion and hydrophobic interactions. It was effectively used for the analysis of multiresidue pesticides and environmental contaminants in kale, salmon, avocado, and pork [179].

7 Analysis of Pharmaceuticals in Earthworms

Invertebrates, living in crop fields, play an important role in terms of accumulation of PhACs but also acting as soil purifiers [180]. Specifically, earthworms are recognized for their use as sentinel organisms belonging to the soil microfauna, in order to evaluate soil contamination by organic contaminants. In addition, they are the main soil-dwelling organism that has the ability to absorb pharmaceutical products from soils since earthworms represent the vast majority of the biomass of total soil life [180, 181].

Numerous studies have shown their ability to absorb pharmaceutical products from soil [182, 183] through consumption or direct contact with the soil, as well as other contaminants such as heavy metals [184, 185] and polychlorinated benzene [186]. Furthermore, unlike plants, earthworms move constantly in the soil favoring contact with large quantities of PhAC that remain in the soil [187].

Therefore, the analysis of worms could assess the global contamination of pollutants in a cultivated field, thanks to its bioaccumulation capacity. On the other hand, terrestrial worms are soil invertebrates widely used for the assessment of the ecotoxicological risk of soil contamination by pharmaceutical products [188]

and pesticides [189]. Therefore, they are a key organism in the terrestrial environment, and their presence reflects a healthy soil environment.

Furthermore, earthworms constitute 60–80% of the soil biomass [190], allowing them to be the preferred organisms for identifying the level of contamination in the soil and in the agro-ecosystem, therefore the contamination of the food chain. In addition, they maintain an integral position being the basis of the food chain. Moreover, wide ranges of PhACs are susceptible to be absorbed by earthworms. Lipophilic and hydrophilic compounds could enter into the earthworm system due to absorption on its skin and diffusion by means of the mucous skin membrane, respectively [183, 191, 192].

Furthermore, earthworms are incredible metabolic machines given the presence of numerous enzymatic processes that take place in their tissues. Recently, vermicomposting, a biotechnological composting process, has shown that some terrestrial worms are capable of transforming organic compounds into a less toxic final product [187].

The quantification of the pharmaceutical products taken and accumulated in earthworms is important not only for assessing the direct risk on earthworms themselves, but it is also the first step to estimate the transfer of contamination through the food chain to the best predators such as birds. For example, Spurgeon and colleagues studied the potential risk of secondary poisoning of metals transferred to earthworms' predators, such as birds, through food chain [193].

However, very few studies have been directed toward the extraction, detection, and quantification of pharmaceutical products in earthworms (Table 7), which may represent an important limitation for the assessment of environmental, ecotoxicological, and human health risk. Furthermore, these reported studies were addressed for risk assessment rather than for method development and validation for analytical purposes. Again, this type of complex biological matrix requires selective and clean extraction to be analyzed with precision. According to our literature survey, only two research groups have undertaken a study dedicated to the multiresidual extraction of pharmaceutical products in earthworm tissues [20, 181], although in the next paragraph we will discuss the different steps and conditions for the preparation, extraction, cleaning, and analysis of the samples reported in the literature.

7.1 Sampling, Sample Preparation, and Extraction

For earthworm sampling from soil field, the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) has standardized a protocol for soil invertebrate (earthworms) sampling (ISO, 2006). Briefly, the field should be distributed to several subplots, then two holes (dimension of one hole: 25×50 cm and 20 cm deep) are hand-sorted in each subplot, and earthworms are forced out by pouring in the holes diluted solution (0.5%) of formaldehyde. Collected earthworms are then transferred alive on a moist tissue to the laboratory for analysis. This protocol was followed by [192]. On the other hand, Kinney and coworkers [183] followed another sampling protocol,

	Extraction	Sample			Recoveries	RSD			
Pharmaceuticals	method	mass	Extraction solvent	Clean-up	(%)	(%)	LOD	Instrument	References
Carbamazepine, diclofenac, fluoxetine, orlistat	USE		Methanol, ethyl acetate, acetoni- trile/water (70:30 v/v), and acetonitrile	No clean- up	86.3–100.9%			Liquid scin- tillation counting (LSC)	[133]
Caffeine, carbamazepine, thiabendazole, trimetho- prim, diphenhydramine, d-limonene, galaxolide (HHCB), tonalide (AHTN), acetophenone, indole, isoborneol, cam- phor, isoquinoline, men- thol, 4-tert-octylphenol, para-nonylphenol monoethoxy- total, nonylphenol, dicthoxy- total, nonylphenol, dicthoxy-total, 4-cumylphenol, dicthoxy, phenol, triclosan, 3-beta- coprostanol, naphtha- lene, phenanthrene, anthracene, fluoranthene, pyrene, benzo[a]pyrene, pyrene, benzo[a]pyrene,	ASE	3-5 g	70:30 ACN/water		27–117%			and GC-MS	[183]

Table 7Extraction methodologies in earthworms

[192]	[20]	(continued)
LC-MS/MS and GC-MS	LC-MS/MS	
	<14 ng/g	
	45.2–105%	
	d-SPE (MgSO4, PSA, and C18)	
	Acetonitrile/water	
1 g	250 mg	
USE	QuEChERS	

terone, progesterone, nor-

ethindrone, gestodene,

levonorgestrel, estriol, estrone, 17β- and 17α-ethinylestradiol, sulfa-

 α -estradiol, 17-

nilamide, sulfadiazine,

sulfathiazole,

sulfametoxydiazine, tri-

sulfadimerazine, sulfabenzamide,

methoprim,

Androstenedione, testos-

Triclosan, triclocarban,

isophorone

methyl triclosan

2,6-dimethyl-napthalene,

bisphenol A, tributyl l-methylnapthalene,

phosphate, diethylhexyl

diazinon, metolachlor, skatol, benzophenone, phthalate, para-cresol,

pine, ibuprofen, bisphenol

4

fluvoxamine, carbamaze-

florfenicol, paracetamol,

sulfamethoxazole,

penicillin G, dicyclanil,

sulfadimethoxine, eryth-

romycin, tylosin

roxithromycin,

Pharmaceuticals	Extraction method	Sample mass	Extraction solvent	Clean-up	Recoveries (%)	RSD (%)	LOD	Instrument	References
Fluconazole, climbazole, valsartan, valsartan acid, irbesartan, ciprofloxacin, citalopram, metronida- zole, sulfamethoxazole, H-nitro- sulfamthoxazole, H-nitro- sulfamthoxazole, H-nitro- sulfamilic acid, sulfanil- amide, diclofenac, benzotriazole, 5-methyl- benzotriazole, 5-methyl- benzotriazole, carbamaze- pine, carbamazepine- 11,12-epoxide, oxcarbamazepine- pine, carbamaze- pine, carbame- pine, carbame- pine,	QuEChERS	0,5 g	Acetonitrile	SPE PRiME HLB)	%6 6- 02	1-54%	0.01 ng g ⁻¹	MS MS	[181]

Table 7 (continued)

which consists of removing a soil circle of 40 cm diameter and 25 cm of depth using a cleaned metal-blade spade, and then undamaged earthworms were extracted from the collected soil. It is an older protocol used by Salagovic and coworkers in 1996 [194] in order to assess the genotoxicity of polluted soil on earthworm.

Usually, the very first step before earthworm's tissues extraction is to let them empty their guts. For this depuration step, earthworms are left on wet filter paper for 24 h, and then they are washed with deionized water, dried with a towel, and frozen and/or lyophilized. Only one study reported the use of freeze-drying the earthworms [181]. After lyophilization, earthworms are crushed, homogenized, and stored at -20° C until analysis. Other studies used homogenized fresh earthworm tissue for the analysis [20, 183].

The weights of the samples vary according to the extraction method followed, since for QuEChERS weights of 0.25 and 0.5 g were employed, respectively [20, 181]; when ASE was performed, weights between 3 and 5 g were needed [183].

We have been able to identify at least four different methods applied to the analysis of drugs in earthworms (Table 7). Kinney et al. managed to detect 77 anthropogenic organic waste indicators means of the ASE methodology, although 20 were detected in real samples. Approximately, 50 mL of a 70:30 ACN/water solvent mixture were employed during five static cycles at a temperature of 130°C and 10,300 kPa. Recoveries from 27 to 117% were observed, but overall good recoveries and accuracy results were reported [183].

One of the first studies used a previous extraction method used for the soil but also applicable to earthworms. The method consists of an ultrasonic extraction for the determination of four pharmaceutical drugs (carbamazepine, diclofenac, fluoxetine, and orlistat). Different extraction solvents have been used depending on the compound. For carbamazepine, 20 mL of MeOH was used while for fluoxetine and orlistat 20 mL of ACN/water (7:3, v/v). Finally, 20 mL of ethyl acetate was used for diclofenac. After centrifugation, no cleaning process was performed to avoid reducing recovery results [182].

The use of the most versatile QuEChERS method has been reported by two different studies. In the most recent work by Montemurro et al., an analytical method was developed for the determination of over 50 pollutants present in earthworm wastewater using a rapid extraction method based on QuEChERS with an innovative cleaning step with SPE using Oasis PRiME HLB. The method shows good recovery results from 70 to 99% for most of the studied compounds. By applying this method, the authors managed to detect and quantify 19 PhACs in earthworms grown under controlled conditions, whereas 8 analytes were detected in earthworm samples collected from a cultivated field irrigated with treated wastewater [181].

Bergé and colleagues also used the QuEChERS method as an extraction method to detect 11 steroids, 14 veterinary antibiotics, and 6 human pharmaceutical products. In this case, the AOAC-buffered salt kit was used. For the hydration phase, an emulsion of 9 mL of water/hexane (67:33, v/v) was used, while acetonitrile was the extraction solvent. The cleaning procedure was performed using PSA and C18 (950 mg of MgSO₄, 150 mg of PSA, and 150 mg of C18). Recoveries between 45.2 and 105% have been observed with good results of linearity and precision [20].

Finally, all the reports employed the analysis by means of LC-MS/MS. Concretely, Fourier transform (LC-FTMS), single quadrupole ion trap (QTrap), triple quadrupole (QqQ), and time of flight (LC-QToF-MS) mass spectrometers were employed for the detection of analytes of interest (Table 7).

8 Separation and Detection

It is widely known nowadays that pharmaceuticals are present in solid environmental and food matrices, such as soil and crops, at very low concentrations (few μ g/kg up to g/kg). Advances in chromatography techniques and mass spectrometry instruments have facilitated the separation and the detection of pharmaceuticals extracted from any kind of environmental and food matrices even at trace levels. Despite this, these samples are analytically very difficult to analyze because of their complexity and their numerous components that interfere with the detection of pharmaceutical products.

Liquid chromatography (LC) and gas chromatography (GC) are both used for pharmaceutical analysis, depending on their polarity and/or volatility. Chromatography techniques used for soil and crops are reported in Tables 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6. However, liquid chromatography (LC) is most widely used since most pharmaceutical products have high polarity and low volatility. Furthermore, whenever GC is used, the extracted pharmaceutical products need an additional derivatization procedure and/or the replacement with a GC-compatible organic solvent before their injection. BSTFA (N,O-bis(trimethylsilyl)trifluoroacetamide) + TMS (trimethylsilyl) are the derivatization reagents commonly used [54, 80, 81, 85, 92]. Aside from the fact that most pharmaceutical products are polar and non-volatile, some are also thermolabile, such as tetracycline [31, 195], making the derivatization step an essential phase for their detection. In general, organic reactions, such as methylation, silvlation, and acetylation, undergo the derivatization of the hydroxyl and carboxyl groups of pharmaceutical products. However, in this way, a further step is added to the analytical protocol, which can affect the efficiency of the method due to the loss of analytes, incomplete reactions, or the introduction of unwanted contaminants [195]. Therefore, LC has an advantage over GC since no derivatization step is necessary. However, it should be remembered that GC is convenient, suitable for routine analysis, and less subject to matrix effects [54, 196].

LC and GC are basically coupled to mass spectrometers (MS). In addition, several studies have used LC coupled with ultraviolet (UV), fluorescence (FLD), or diode array (DAD) detectors for the detection of a few numbers of pharmaceutical products [68, 78, 162]. However, lower detection and quantification limits were obtained compared to LC coupled to MS. Furthermore, the high-resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) allows to perform a non-target analysis of pharmaceutical, as well as their environmental transformation products, or even the products of the metabolism without compromising the sensitivity of the analysis [196].

The availability of different columns played an important role in multiresidue separation in one single injection. However, the reversed phase (RP) C18 and C8 columns are dominantly used for pharmaceutical separation for LC [72, 197], while fused silica capillary and DB5 columns are commonly used for GC [80, 92].

For GC-MS, helium is always used as carrier gas, and $1-2 \ \mu L$ of samples are injected in split/splitless mode, while the column temperature is programmed from 50 to 300°C, EI ionization temperature is between 200 and 250°C, and finally the standard ionization energy of 70 eV is always used. The traditional ionization mode, electronic impact (EI), was always used as ionization source coupled with GC.

LC chromatography techniques are available as high-performance LC (HPLC) and ultrahigh-performance LC (UHPLC). The latter has a higher sensitivity with 2–3 orders of magnitude compared to HPLC, since it uses columns with particles of smaller dimensions ($<2 \mu m$), with consequent better chromatographic separation, better resolution, narrow peak shapes, and a reduced chromatographic run. However, UHPLC is used in only a few numbers of studies [53, 77, 95, 154, 159]. The composition of the mobile phase is an equally important factor for obtaining good ionization and separation efficiencies, reproducible retention times, and peak shapes [198]. Generally, the methanol/water or acetonitrile/water mixtures, at different pH values, are commonly used for the separation of pharmaceutical products under gradient elution. For better ionization and separation of pharmaceutical products, some modifiers are added to the mobile phases. Formic acid, acetic acid, ammonium acetate, and ammonium formate are the modifiers commonly used in the positive/ negative ionization modes [58, 74].

When the mass spectrometer is coupled to LC, electrospray ionization (ESI) is always the most used ionization source for PhACs. It is a soft atmospheric ionization technique, easily coupled to LC. The analytes are dissolved in an organic solvent and introduced into the ionization chamber through a fine needle in the form of a spray. A high electrical potential is applied to the needle, resulting in the formation of charged droplets. The droplets are then vaporized by introducing neutral gas (generally nitrogen). Under these conditions, the charged droplets decrease in size as they move inside the source, the droplet of the solvent evaporates, and the charged analytes pass through the ionization chamber toward the analyzer. Therefore, ESI is the atmospheric pressure ionization technique mostly preferred and used since it is excellent with polar and non-polar compounds and for compounds with low thermal stability [199].

Advances and developments in mass spectrometry allow the detection of pharmaceutical by target analysis (using reference standards) with consequent quantification at the trace and ultra-trace levels or by providing the possibility to perform suspect or non-target screening. Additionally, the use of tandem MS/MS offers higher specificity, provided with MS² of compounds, thus reducing co-elution problems of matrix interferences. Therefore, it is preferred in the analysis of solid complex matrices. Mass spectrometers with single (MS) or multiple analyzers (MS/MS tandem) are both highly used. Single quadrupole (Q) [54], Orbitrap [74], and ion trap (IT) [59] are used as single MS, while triple quadrupole (QqQ) [58], quadrupole-time of flight (QTOF) [123, 156], and triple quadrupole-linear ion trap (QTRAP or QLIT) [61] are used as tandem MS/MS for pharmaceutical analysis from soil and crops. However, MS/MS systems offer high sensitivity, selectivity, and precision and lower limits of detection and quantification, particularly in the analysis of complex solid matrices. In other words, hybrid mass spectrometers are built by combining two different analyzers in a single instrument and provide more information on the sample in shorter analysis times, therefore an easy differentiation between target analytes and interfering components of the matrix. Jacobsen and coworker [58] used QqQ for the analysis of chlortetracycline, oxytetracycline, sulfadiazine, erythromycin, and tylosin (TYL) and its degradation products, TYL A, B, C, and D, from soil, obtaining low detection and quantification limits (from 0.6 to 5.6 g/kg and from 25.7 to 73.9 g/kg, respectively). Martínez-Piernas and coworkers [155] used QTOF for the analysis of carbamazepine transformation products from lettuce obtaining detection limits less than 3 ng/g in dry weight samples.

In addition, IT analyzers have the ability to perform multiple compound fragmentation steps (MSⁿ) and to trap fragment ions resulting in full-scan spectra with high sensitivity. Barron and coworkers [55] used LC-ESI-ion trap-MS in single and tandem MS modes, and they obtained detection limits below 20 ng/g for 20 pharmaceuticals out of 27 from soil, reporting poorer sensitivity for paracetamol, salbutamol, caffeine, pravastatin, indomethacin, and clotrimazole. However, they assumed that this poor sensitivity might be due to their low % recovery. The combination of IT with quadrupole analyzers (OTRAP or OLIT) offers the robustness of a QqQ with the full scan and high sensitivity of IT. Low method detection limits were obtained with García-Galán and coworkers [61] using this instrument, ranging from 0.03 to 2.23 ng/g, for sulfonamide extraction from soil. However, for a better selectivity, QTOF and Orbitrap are the chosen instrument. They provide highresolution and accurate masses for parent and fragment ions in full-scan spectra. Accordingly, they remove the interfering signals, making it easier to identify the non-target compounds in complex environmental and food matrices [155, 200]. Orbitrap was used by Chitescu and coworkers [74], for the extraction of oxytetracycline, sulfamethoxazole, and ketoconazole from grass, obtaining detection limits lower than $10 \,\mu g/kg$.

The methodologies managed in full-scan mode or single ion monitoring (SIM) with a single quadrupole showed the need for a highly efficient cleaning phase. On the other hand, the use of multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode with MS/MS systems offers maximum selectivity with a reduced matrix effect. It allows identification by monitoring the target compound and usually the most abundant transitions (product ions, generally two) [197].

Finally, to deal with the evaluation of the matrix effects, which can cause an enhancement or reduction of the analyte response, most of the studies used isotopically labeled compounds. However, not all deuterated compounds associated with each analyte are available for purchase or are sometimes very expensive.

9 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

The reuse of urban wastewater has opened up new possibilities for the use and availability of water. Indeed, in order to reduce the human impact on the environment, wastewater can be used to irrigate agricultural fields in areas of the world affected by drought or where availability is normally limited. Furthermore, the reuse of wastewater certainly has a positive impact on the soil as a mean for the development of plants and on the farmers themselves because of the economic advantage they could obtain by using wastewater as a fertilizer and a source of water for crops.

However, it is known that wastewater treatment plants are unable to remove small organic compounds such as PhACs, which remain in the soil and can subsequently enter the plant system where they are absorbed by the roots. Once inside these plants, these compounds can be consumed by grazing animals or even by humans or remain in the environment. For this reason, the study of these compounds in soil and plants is at the center of interest of many scientists.

Determining the presence and concentration of contaminants in soil and plant tissues requires significant effort. Hence, from the research papers reviewed, it is clear that several successful analytical methods have been developed in the last decade to extract, detect, and quantify most of the pharmaceutical products commonly used in various matrices such as vegetable and soil. However, in most cases, these methods are time-consuming, are expensive, and require the use of specialized reagents and personnel. Various research teams have made significant efforts to overcome the obstacles associated with these methods, but in some cases further development is needed. It is therefore necessary to continue the research developing even simpler and more robust analytical techniques that are at the same time environmentally friendly.

Acknowledgments This study has been financially supported by the EU through the WaterJPI-2015 AWARE project (PCIN-2017-067). This work was supported by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation (Project CEX2018-000794-S). The authors thank the Water Challenges for a Changing World Joint Programming Initiative.

References

- 1. Montemurro N, Cucci G, Mastro MA, Lacolla G, Lonigro A (2017) The nitrogen role in vegetables irrigated with treated municipal wastewater. Agron Res 15(5):2012–2025
- Miller EL, Nason SL, Karthikeyan K, Pedersen JA (2016) Root uptake of pharmaceuticals and personal care product ingredients. Environ Sci Technol 50(2):525–541
- Ferrer I, Thurman EM (2013) Analysis of pharmaceuticals in drinking water, groundwater, surface water, and wastewater. In: Comprehensive analytical chemistry, vol 62. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 91–128
- Boix C, Ibánez M, Sancho JV, Rambla J, Aranda JL, Ballester S, Hernández F (2015) Fast determination of 40 drugs in water using large volume direct injection liquid chromatography– tandem mass spectrometry. Talanta 131:719–727

- 5. Paschke A (2003) Consideration of the physicochemical properties of sample matrices–an important step in sampling and sample preparation. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 22(2):78–89
- Matamoros V, Calderón-Preciado D, Domínguez C, Bayona JM (2012) Analytical procedures for the determination of emerging organic contaminants in plant material: a review. Anal Chim Acta 722:8–20
- Montemurro N, Postigo C, Lonigro A, Perez S, Barceló D (2017) Development and validation of an analytical method based on liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry detection for the simultaneous determination of 13 relevant wastewater-derived contaminants in lettuce. Anal Bioanal Chem 409(23):5375–5387
- Nieto A, Borrull F, Pocurull E, Marcé RM (2010) Pressurized liquid extraction: a useful technique to extract pharmaceuticals and personal-care products from sewage sludge. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 29(7):752–764
- Vazquez-Roig P, Segarra R, Blasco C, Andreu V, Picó Y (2010) Determination of pharmaceuticals in soils and sediments by pressurized liquid extraction and liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1217(16):2471–2483
- Zuloaga O, Navarro P, Bizkarguenaga E, Iparraguirre A, Vallejo A, Olivares M, Prieto A (2012) Overview of extraction, clean-up and detection techniques for the determination of organic pollutants in sewage sludge: a review. Anal Chim Acta 736:7–29
- 11. Capelo J, Mota A (2005) Ultrasonication for analytical chemistry. Curr Anal Chem 1 (2):193–201
- Babić S, Pavlović DM (2013) Analysis of PhACs in solid environmental samples (soil, sediment, and sludge). In: Comprehensive analytical chemistry, vol 62. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 129–167
- Santos H, Capelo J (2007) Trends in ultrasonic-based equipment for analytical sample treatment. Talanta 73(5):795–802
- 14. Lyytikainen M, Kukkonen J, Lydy M (2003) Gas chromatographic determination and the influence of storage time of twenty pesticides in water, soil, sediment and tissue samples. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 44:437–444
- Huertas-Pérez JF, del Olmo IM, García-Campaña AM, González-Casado A, Sánchez-Navarro A (2006) Determination of the herbicide metribuzin and its major conversion products in soil by micellar electrokinetic chromatography. J Chromatogr A 1102(1–2):280–286
- Sánchez-Brunete C, Albero B, Tadeo JL (2004) Multiresidue determination of pesticides in soil by gas chromatography–mass spectrometry detection. J Agric Food Chem 52 (6):1445–1451
- 17. Albero B, Sánchez-Brunete C, Miguel E, Pérez RA, Tadeo JL (2012) Determination of selected organic contaminants in soil by pressurized liquid extraction and gas chromatography tandem mass spectrometry with in situ derivatization. J Chromatogr A 1248:9–17
- Azzouz A, Ballesteros E (2012) Combined microwave-assisted extraction and continuous solid-phase extraction prior to gas chromatography-mass spectrometry determination of pharmaceuticals, personal care products and hormones in soils, sediments and sludge. Sci Total Environ 419:208–215
- Anastassiades M, Lehotay SJ, Štajnbaher D, Schenck FJ (2003) Fast and easy multiresidue method employing acetonitrile extraction/partitioning and "dispersive solid-phase extraction" for the determination of pesticide residues in produce. J AOAC Int 86(2):412–431
- 20. Bergé A, Vulliet E (2015) Development of a method for the analysis of hormones and pharmaceuticals in earthworms by quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged and safe (QuEChERS) extraction followed by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS). Anal Bioanal Chem 407(26):7995–8008
- Frenich AG, del Mar Aguilera-Luiz M, Vidal JLM, Romero-González R (2010) Comparison of several extraction techniques for multiclass analysis of veterinary drugs in eggs using ultrahigh pressure liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chim Acta 661 (2):150–160

- Nannou CI, Boti VI, Albanis TA (2019) A modified QuEChERS approach for the analysis of pharmaceuticals in sediments by LC-Orbitrap HRMS. Anal Bioanal Chem 411(7):1383–1396
- Pinto CG, Laespada MEF, Martín SH, Ferreira AMC, Pavón JLP, Cordero BM (2010) Simplified QuEChERS approach for the extraction of chlorinated compounds from soil samples. Talanta 81(1–2):385–391
- Plössl F, Giera M, Bracher F (2006) Multiresidue analytical method using dispersive solidphase extraction and gas chromatography/ion trap mass spectrometry to determine pharmaceuticals in whole blood. J Chromatogr A 1135(1):19–26
- 25. Lehotay SJ, Tully J, Garca AV, Contreras M, Mol H, Heinke V, Anspach T, Lach G, Fussell R, Mastovska K (2007) Determination of pesticide residues in foods by acetonitrile extraction and partitioning with magnesium sulfate: collaborative study. J AOAC Int 90(2):485–520
- 26. CEN (2008) Foods of plant origin-Determination of pesticide residues using GC-MS and/or LC-MS/MS following acetonitrile extraction/partitioning and clean-up by dispersive SPE. QuEChERS-method EN 15662:2008
- De Castro ML, Priego-Capote F (2010) Soxhlet extraction: past and present panacea. J Chromatogr A 1217(16):2383–2389
- Bartha B, Huber C, Harpaintner R, Schröder P (2010) Effects of acetaminophen in Brassica juncea L. Czern.: investigation of uptake, translocation, detoxification, and the induced defense pathways. Environ Sci Pollut Res 17(9):1553–1562
- Pavlović DM, Babić S, Horvat AJ, Kaštelan-Macan M (2007) Sample preparation in analysis of pharmaceuticals. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 26(11):1062–1075
- 30. Klein C, O'Connor S, Locke J, Aga D (2008) Sample preparation and analysis of solid-bound pharmaceuticals. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Carter LJ, Williams M, Martin S, Kamaludeen SP, Kookana RS (2018) Sorption, plant uptake and metabolism of benzodiazepines. Sci Total Environ 628:18–25
- 32. Bhalsod GD, Chuang Y-H, Jeon S, Gui W, Li H, Ryser ET, Guber AK, Zhang W (2018) Uptake and accumulation of pharmaceuticals in overhead-and surface-irrigated greenhouse lettuce. J Agric Food Chem 66(4):822–830
- 33. Albero B, Tadeo JL, Miguel E, Pérez RA (2019) Rapid determination of antibiotic residues in cereals by liquid chromatography triple mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 411 (23):6129–6139
- 34. Liu X, Liang C, Liu X, Zhao F, Han C (2020) Occurrence and human health risk assessment of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in real agricultural systems with long-term reclaimed wastewater irrigation in Beijing, China. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 190:110022
- 35. Chen H, Marín-Sáez J, Romero-González R, Frenich AG (2017) Simultaneous determination of atropine and scopolamine in buckwheat and related products using modified QuEChERS and liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Food Chem 218:173–180
- Malhat F, Almaz M, Arief M, El-Din K, Fathy M (2012) Residue and dissipation dynamics of lufenuron in tomato fruit using QuEChERS methodology. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 89 (5):1037–1039
- 37. Sun C, Dudley S, Trumble J, Gan J (2018) Pharmaceutical and personal care products-induced stress symptoms and detoxification mechanisms in cucumber plants. Environ Pollut 234:39–47
- Kommawar SS, Bakal RL, Dewani A, Chandewar AV (2020) Expension in the field of freezedrying: an advanced review. Res J Pharm Technol 13(5):2468–2474
- Azanu D, Mortey C, Darko G, Weisser JJ, Styrishave B, Abaidoo RC (2016) Uptake of antibiotics from irrigation water by plants. Chemosphere 157:107–114
- 40. Herklotz PA, Gurung P, Heuvel BV, Kinney CA (2010) Uptake of human pharmaceuticals by plants grown under hydroponic conditions. Chemosphere 78(11):1416–1421
- 41. Kodešová R, Klement A, Golovko O, Fér M, Nikodem A, Kočárek M, Grabic R (2019) Root uptake of atenolol, sulfamethoxazole and carbamazepine, and their transformation in three soils and four plants. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26(10):9876–9891

- Nespor B, Andrianova A, Pollack S, Pfau C, Arifuzzaman M, Islam N, Kubátová A, Hossain K (2020) Metformin uptake and translocation in chickpeas: determination using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. ACS Omega 5(4):1789–1795
- 43. Klement A, Kodešová R, Golovko O, Fér M, Nikodem A, Kočárek M, Grabic R (2020) Uptake, translocation and transformation of three pharmaceuticals in green pea plants. J Hydrol Hydromech 68(1):1–11
- 44. Christou A, Karaolia P, Hapeshi E, Michael C, Fatta-Kassinos D (2017) Long-term wastewater irrigation of vegetables in real agricultural systems: concentration of pharmaceuticals in soil, uptake and bioaccumulation in tomato fruits and human health risk assessment. Water Res 109:24–34
- 45. Riemenschneider C, Seiwert B, Goldstein M, Al-Raggad M, Salameh E, Chefetz B, Reemtsma T (2017) An LC-MS/MS method for the determination of 28 polar environmental contaminants and metabolites in vegetables irrigated with treated municipal wastewater. Anal Methods 9(8):1273–1281
- 46. Li Y, Chuang Y-H, Sallach JB, Zhang W, Boyd SA, Li H (2018) Potential metabolism of pharmaceuticals in radish: comparison of in vivo and in vitro exposure. Environ Pollut 242:962–969
- 47. Anastassiades M (2006) A mini multi-residue method for the analyses of pesticide residues in low fat products. [internet]. Accessed 20 July 2010. CVUA, Stuttgart
- Thiele-Bruhn S (2003) Pharmaceutical antibiotic compounds in soils–a review. J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 166(2):145–167
- 49. Larivière A, Lissalde S, Soubrand M, Casellas-Français M (2017) Overview of multiresidues analytical methods for the quantitation of pharmaceuticals in environmental solid matrixes: comparison of analytical development strategy for sewage sludge, manure, soil, and sediment samples. Anal Chem 89(1):453–465
- O'Connor S, Locke J, Aga DS (2007) Addressing the challenges of tetracycline analysis in soil: extraction, clean-up, and matrix effects in LC-MS. J Environ Monit 9(11):1254–1262
- Andreu V, Picó Y (2019) Pressurized liquid extraction of organic contaminants in environmental and food samples. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 118:709–721
- 52. Andreu V, Vazquez-Roig P, Blasco C, Picó Y (2009) Determination of tetracycline residues in soil by pressurized liquid extraction and liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 394(5):1329–1339
- Biel-Maeso M, Corada-Fernández C, Lara-Martín PA (2017) Determining the distribution of pharmaceutically active compounds (PhACs) in soils and sediments by pressurized hot water extraction (PHWE). Chemosphere 185:1001–1010
- 54. Durán-Alvarez JC, Becerril-Bravo E, Castro VS, Jiménez B, Gibson R (2009) The analysis of a group of acidic pharmaceuticals, carbamazepine, and potential endocrine disrupting compounds in wastewater irrigated soils by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Talanta 78 (3):1159–1166
- 55. Barron L, Tobin J, Paull B (2008) Multi-residue determination of pharmaceuticals in sludge and sludge enriched soils using pressurized liquid extraction, solid phase extraction and liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry. J Environ Monit 10(3):353–361
- 56. Stoob K, Singer HP, Stettler S, Hartmann N, Mueller SR, Stamm CH (2006) Exhaustive extraction of sulfonamide antibiotics from aged agricultural soils using pressurized liquid extraction. J Chromatogr A 1128(1–2):1–9
- Alvarez-Rivera G, Bueno M, Ballesteros-Vivas D, Mendiola JA, Ibañez E (2020) Pressurized liquid extraction. In: Liquid-phase extraction. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 375–398
- 58. Jacobsen AM, Halling-Sørensen B, Ingerslev F, Hansen SH (2004) Simultaneous extraction of tetracycline, macrolide and sulfonamide antibiotics from agricultural soils using pressurised liquid extraction, followed by solid-phase extraction and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1038(1-2):157–170
- Popova IE, Morra MJ, Parikh SJ (2019) Pressurized liquid extraction of six tetracyclines from agricultural soils. J Environ Sci Health B 54(1):35–40

- 60. Tso J, Dutta S, Inamdar S, Aga DS (2011) Simultaneous analysis of free and conjugated estrogens, sulfonamides, and tetracyclines in runoff water and soils using solid-phase extraction and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J Agric Food Chem 59 (6):2213–2222
- 61. García-Galán MJ, Díaz-Cruz S, Barceló D (2013) Multiresidue trace analysis of sulfonamide antibiotics and their metabolites in soils and sewage sludge by pressurized liquid extraction followed by liquid chromatography–electrospray-quadrupole linear ion trap mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1275:32–40
- 62. Hawthorne SB, Yang Y, Miller DJ (1994) Extraction of organic pollutants from environmental solids with sub-and supercritical water. Anal Chem 66(18):2912–2920
- Teo CC, Tan SN, Yong JWH, Hew CS, Ong ES (2010) Pressurized hot water extraction (PHWE). J Chromatogr A 1217(16):2484–2494
- 64. Pérez-Carrera E, Hansen M, León VM, Björklund E, Krogh KA, Halling-Sørensen B, González-Mazo E (2010) Multiresidue method for the determination of 32 human and veterinary pharmaceuticals in soil and sediment by pressurized-liquid extraction and LC-MS/MS. Anal Bioanal Chem 398(3):1173–1184
- 65. Kronholm J, Hartonen K, Riekkola M-L (2007) Analytical extractions with water at elevated temperatures and pressures. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 26(5):396–412
- 66. Hyötyläinen T (2009) Critical evaluation of sample pretreatment techniques. Anal Bioanal Chem 394(3):743–758
- 67. López A, Coscollà C, Yusà V, Armenta S, de la Guardia M, Esteve-Turrillas FA (2017) Comprehensive analysis of airborne pesticides using hard cap espresso extraction-liquid chromatography-high-resolution mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1506:27–36
- 68. Golet EM, Strehler A, Alder AC, Giger W (2002) Determination of fluoroquinolone antibacterial agents in sewage sludge and sludge-treated soil using accelerated solvent extraction followed by solid-phase extraction. Anal Chem 74(21):5455–5462
- Malvar JL, Santos JL, Martín J, Aparicio I, Alonso E (2020) Simultaneous pressurized liquid extraction and clean-up for the determination of metabolites in complex environmental solid matrices. Microchem J 152:104370
- 70. Ci R, Bai S-X, Yang S, Li X-W (2016) Simultaneous determination of sulfonamide, quinolones, tetracycline and macrolide antibiotics in soils using ASE-SPE-HPLC/MS. Proceeding. International conference on informatics, management engineering and industrial application (IMEIA 2016). https://doi.org/10.12783/dtetr/imeia2016/9334
- 71. Sun FC, Li XW, Li LL, Ding YQ, Zhao H (2013) Simultaneous determination of tetracycline, macrolide and sulfonamide antibiotics in soils using accelerated solvent extraction followed by solid-phase extraction and high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. In: Advanced materials research. Trans Tech Publ, Zurich, pp 1071–1076
- 72. Krogh KA, Björklund E, Loeffler D, Fink G, Halling-Sørensen B, Ternes T (2008) Development of an analytical method to determine avermectins in water, sediments and soils using liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1211(1–2):60–69
- Schlüsener MP, Spiteller M, Bester K (2003) Determination of antibiotics from soil by pressurized liquid extraction and liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1003(1–2):21–28
- 74. Chitescu CL, Oosterink E, de Jong J, Stolker AAML (2012) Ultrasonic or accelerated solvent extraction followed by U-HPLC-high mass accuracy MS for screening of pharmaceuticals and fungicides in soil and plant samples. Talanta 88:653–662
- 75. Hu W, Ma L, Guo C, Sha J, Zhu X, Wang Y (2012) Simultaneous extraction and determination of fluoroquinolones, tetracyclines and sulfonamides antibiotics in soils using optimised solid phase extraction chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Int J Environ Anal Chem 92 (6):698–713
- Martínez-Carballo E, González-Barreiro C, Scharf S, Gans O (2007) Environmental monitoring study of selected veterinary antibiotics in animal manure and soils in Austria. Environ Pollut 148(2):570–579

- 77. Carmona E, Andreu V, Picó Y (2017) Multi-residue determination of 47 organic compounds in water, soil, sediment and fish—Turia River as case study. J Pharm Biomed Anal 146:117–125
- Turiel E, Martín-Esteban A, Tadeo JL (2006) Multiresidue analysis of quinolones and fluoroquinolones in soil by ultrasonic-assisted extraction in small columns and HPLC-UV. Anal Chim Acta 562(1):30–35
- 79. Xu J, Wu L, Chen W, Chang AC (2008) Simultaneous determination of pharmaceuticals, endocrine disrupting compounds and hormone in soils by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1202(2):189–195
- Kumirska J, Łukaszewicz P, Caban M, Migowska N, Plenis A, Białk-Bielińska A, Czerwicka M, Qi F, Piotr S (2019) Determination of twenty pharmaceutical contaminants in soil using ultrasound-assisted extraction with gas chromatography-mass spectrometric detection. Chemosphere 232:232–242
- Bossio JP, Harry J, Kinney CA (2008) Application of ultrasonic assisted extraction of chemically diverse organic compounds from soils and sediments. Chemosphere 70 (5):858–864
- Bian K, Liu Y, Wang Z, Zhou T, Song X, Zhang F, He L (2015) Determination of multi-class antimicrobial residues in soil by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. RSC Adv 5(35):27584–27593
- Montemurro N, Postigo C, Chirón S, Barcelò D, Pérez S (2019) Analysis and fate of 14 relevant wastewater-derived organic pollutants in long-term exposed soil. Anal Bioanal Chem 411(12):2687–2696
- 84. Blackwell PA, Holten Lützhøft H-C, Ma H-P, Halling-Sørensen B, Boxall ABA, Kay P (2004) Ultrasonic extraction of veterinary antibiotics from soils and pig slurry with SPE clean-up and LC-UV and fluorescence detection. Talanta 64(4):1058–1064
- 85. Aznar R, Sánchez-Brunete C, Albero B, Rodríguez JA, Tadeo JL (2014) Occurrence and analysis of selected pharmaceutical compounds in soil from Spanish agricultural fields. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21(6):4772–4782
- 86. Ho Y, Zakaria MP, Latif PA, Saari N (2012) Simultaneous determination of veterinary antibiotics and hormone in broiler manure, soil and manure compost by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1262:160–168
- Kumirska J, Migowska N, Caban M, Łukaszewicz P, Stepnowski P (2015) Simultaneous determination of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and oestrogenic hormones in environmental solid samples. Sci Total Environ 508:498–505
- 88. Prat M, Ramil D, Compano R, Hernandez-Arteseros J, Granados M (2006) Determination of flumequine and oxolinic acid in sediments and soils by microwave-assisted extraction and liquid chromatography-fluorescence. Anal Chim Acta 567(2):229–235
- Morales-Muñoz S, Luque-García J, De Castro ML (2004) Continuous microwave-assisted extraction coupled with derivatization and fluorimetric monitoring for the determination of fluoroquinolone antibacterial agents from soil samples. J Chromatogr A 1059(1–2):25–31
- 90. Rice SL, Mitra S (2007) Microwave-assisted solvent extraction of solid matrices and subsequent detection of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Anal Chim Acta 589(1):125–132
- Wang H, Ding J, Ding L, Ren N (2016) Analysis of sulfonamides in soil, sediment, and sludge based on dynamic microwave-assisted micellar extraction. Environ Sci Pollut Res 23 (13):12954–12965
- 92. Azzouz A, Ballesteros E (2016) Determination of 13 endocrine disrupting chemicals in environmental solid samples using microwave-assisted solvent extraction and continuous solid-phase extraction followed by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 408(1):231–241
- Speltini A, Sturini M, Maraschi F, Profumo A, Albini A (2012) Microwave-assisted extraction and determination of enrofloxacin and danofloxacin photo-transformation products in soil. Anal Bioanal Chem 404(5):1565–1569

- 94. Speltini A, Sturini M, Maraschi F, Porta A, Profumo A (2016) Fast low-pressurized microwave-assisted extraction of benzotriazole, benzothiazole and benezenesulfonamide compounds from soil samples. Talanta 147:322–327
- 95. Raich-Montiu J, Prat M, Granados M (2011) Extraction and analysis of avermectines in agricultural soils by microwave assisted extraction and ultra high performance liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chim Acta 697(1–2):32–37
- 96. Chen L, Zhao Q, Xu Y, Sun L, Zeng Q, Xu H, Wang H, Zhang X, Yu A, Zhang H (2010) A green method using micellar system for determination of sulfonamides in soil. Talanta 82 (4):1186–1192
- 97. Chen L, Jin H, Ding L, Zhang H, Wang X, Wang Z, Li J, Qu C, Wang Y, Zhang H (2007) On-line coupling of dynamic microwave-assisted extraction with high-performance liquid chromatography for determination of andrographolide and dehydroandrographolide in *Andrographis paniculata* Nees. J Chromatogr A 1140(1–2):71–77
- 98. Förster M, Laabs V, Lamshöft M, Pütz T, Amelung W (2008) Analysis of aged sulfadiazine residues in soils using microwave extraction and liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 391(3):1029–1038
- 99. Balakrishnan VK, Exall KN, Toito JM (2014) The development of a microwave-assisted extraction method for the determination of sulfonamide antibiotics in sediments and soils. Can J Chem 92(5):369–377
- 100. Jiao Z, Guo Z, Zhang S, Chen H (2015) Microwave-assisted micro-solid-phase extraction for analysis of tetracycline antibiotics in environmental samples. Int J Environ Anal Chem 95 (1):82–91
- 101. Bragança I, Plácido A, Paíga P, Domingues VF, Delerue-Matos C (2012) QuEChERS: a new sample preparation approach for the determination of ibuprofen and its metabolites in soils. Sci Total Environ 433:281–289
- 102. De Carlo RM, Rivoira L, Ciofi L, Ancillotti C, Checchini L, Del Bubba M, Bruzzoniti MC (2015) Evaluation of different QuEChERS procedures for the recovery of selected drugs and herbicides from soil using LC coupled with UV and pulsed amperometry for their detection. Anal Bioanal Chem 407(4):1217–1229
- 103. Lee YJ, Choi JH, Abd El-Aty A, Chung HS, Lee HS, Kim SW, Rahman MM, Park BJ, Kim JE, Shin HC (2017) Development of a single-run analytical method for the detection of ten multiclass emerging contaminants in agricultural soil using an acetate-buffered QuEChERS method coupled with LC–MS/MS. J Sep Sci 40(2):415–423
- 104. Martínez-Piernas A, Plaza-Bolaños P, García-Gómez E, Fernández-Ibáñez P, Agüera A (2018) Determination of organic microcontaminants in agricultural soils irrigated with reclaimed wastewater: target and suspect approaches. Anal Chim Acta 1030:115–124
- 105. Meng M, He Z, Xu Y, Wang L, Peng Y, Liu X (2017) Simultaneous extraction and determination of antibiotics in soils using a method based on quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged, and safe extraction and liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry. J Sep Sci 40(16):3214–3220
- 106. Salvia M-V, Vulliet E, Wiest L, Baudot R, Cren-Olivé C (2012) Development of a multiresidue method using acetonitrile-based extraction followed by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for the analysis of steroids and veterinary and human drugs at trace levels in soil. J Chromatogr A 1245:122–133
- 107. Bruzzoniti MC, Checchini L, De Carlo RM, Orlandini S, Rivoira L, Del Bubba M (2014) QuEChERS sample preparation for the determination of pesticides and other organic residues in environmental matrices: a critical review. Anal Bioanal Chem 406(17):4089–4116
- 108. Lehotay SJ, Son KA, Kwon H, Koesukwiwat U, Fu W, Mastovska K, Hoh E, Leepipatpiboon N (2010) Comparison of QuEChERS sample preparation methods for the analysis of pesticide residues in fruits and vegetables. J Chromatogr A 1217(16):2548–2560
- 109. Fatta-Kassinos D, Kalavrouziotis IK, Koukoulakis PH, Vasquez M (2011) The risks associated with wastewater reuse and xenobiotics in the agroecological environment. Sci Total Environ 409(19):3555–3563

- 110. Daughton CG, Ternes TA (1999) Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: agents of subtle change? Environ Health Perspect 107(suppl 6):907–938
- 111. Benotti MJ, Trenholm RA, Vanderford BJ, Holady JC, Stanford BD, Snyder SA (2009) Pharmaceuticals and endocrine disrupting compounds in US drinking water. Environ Sci Technol 43(3):597–603
- 112. Ahmed MBM, Rajapaksha AU, Lim JE, Vu NT, Kim IS, Kang HM, Lee SS, Ok YS (2015) Distribution and accumulative pattern of tetracyclines and sulfonamides in edible vegetables of cucumber, tomato, and lettuce. J Agric Food Chem 63(2):398–405
- 113. Sterling TM (1994) Mechanisms of herbicide absorption across plant membranes and accumulation in plant cells. Weed Sci 42(2):263–276
- 114. Wu X, Ernst F, Conkle JL, Gan J (2013) Comparative uptake and translocation of pharmaceutical and personal care products (PPCPs) by common vegetables. Environ Int 60:15–22
- 115. Klampfl CW (2019) Metabolization of pharmaceuticals by plants after uptake from water and soil: a review. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 111:13–26
- 116. Kvesitadze G, Khatisashvili G, Sadunishvili T, Ramsden JJ (2006) Biochemical mechanisms of detoxification in higher plants: basis of phytoremediation. Springer, Berlin
- 117. Wills RB, Wong AW, Scriven FM, Greenfield H (1984) Nutrient composition of Chinese vegetables. J Agric Food Chem 32(2):413–416
- 118. Banihani SA (2017) Radish (Raphanus sativus) and diabetes. Nutrients 9(9):1014
- 119. Chuang Y-H, Zhang Y, Zhang W, Boyd SA, Li H (2015) Comparison of accelerated solvent extraction and quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged and safe method for extraction and determination of pharmaceuticals in vegetables. J Chromatogr A 1404:1–9
- Wu X, Conkle JL, Gan J (2012) Multi-residue determination of pharmaceutical and personal care products in vegetables. J Chromatogr A 1254:78–86
- 121. Martínez-Piernas AB, Polo-López M, Fernández-Ibáñez P, Agüera A (2018) Validation and application of a multiresidue method based on liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry for evaluating the plant uptake of 74 microcontaminants in crops irrigated with treated municipal wastewater. J Chromatogr A 1534:10–21
- 122. Ferro G, Polo-Lo'pez MI, Martínez-Piernas AB, Fernandez-Ibanez P, Agüera A, Rizzo L (2015) Cross-contamination of residual emerging contaminants and antibiotic resistant bacteria in lettuce crops and soil irrigated with wastewater treated by sunlight/H2O2. Environ Sci Technol 49(18):11096–11104
- 123. Amelin V, Avdeeva N (2018) Determination of penicillins G and V in vegetables and fruits by exact masses of ions of protonated adducts with methanol by ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography-time-of-flight high resolution mass spectrometry. J Anal Chem 73 (9):922–928
- 124. Runnqvist H, Bak SA, Hansen M, Styrishave B, Halling-Sørensen B, Björklund E (2010) Determination of pharmaceuticals in environmental and biological matrices using pressurised liquid extraction—are we developing sound extraction methods? J Chromatogr A 1217 (16):2447–2470
- 125. Malchi T, Maor Y, Tadmor G, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2014) Irrigation of root vegetables with treated wastewater: evaluating uptake of pharmaceuticals and the associated human health risks. Environ Sci Technol 48(16):9325–9333
- 126. Goldstein M, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2014) Insights into the uptake processes of wastewaterborne pharmaceuticals by vegetables. Environ Sci Technol 48(10):5593–5600
- 127. Raut P, Bhosle D, Janghel A, Deo S, Verma C, Kumar SS, Agrawal M, Amit N, Sharma M, Giri T (2015) Emerging pressurized liquid extraction (PLE) techniques as an innovative green technologies for the effective extraction of the active phytopharmaceuticals. Res J Pharm Technol 8(6):800–810
- 128. Santiago S, Roll DM, Ray C, Williams C, Moravcik P, Knopf A (2016) Effects of soil moisture depletion on vegetable crop uptake of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs). Environ Sci Pollut Res 23(20):20257–20268

- 129. Franklin AM, Williams CF, Andrews DM, Woodward EE, Watson JE (2016) Uptake of three antibiotics and an antiepileptic drug by wheat crops spray irrigated with wastewater treatment plant effluent. J Environ Qual 45(2):546–554
- 130. Jones-Lepp TL, Sanchez CA, Moy T, Kazemi R (2010) Method development and application to determine potential plant uptake of antibiotics and other drugs in irrigated crop production systems. J Agric Food Chem 58(22):11568–11573
- 131. Cortés JM, Larsson E, Jönsson JÅ (2013) Study of the uptake of non-steroid anti-inflammatory drugs in wheat and soybean after application of sewage sludge as a fertilizer. Sci Total Environ 449:385–389
- 132. Chemat F, Rombaut N, Sicaire A-G, Meullemiestre A, Fabiano-Tixier A-S, Abert-Vian M (2017) Ultrasound assisted extraction of food and natural products. Mechanisms, techniques, combinations, protocols and applications. A review. Ultrason Sonochem 34:540–560
- 133. Carter LJ, Harris E, Williams M, Ryan JJ, Kookana RS, Boxall AB (2014) Fate and uptake of pharmaceuticals in soil–plant systems. J Agric Food Chem 62(4):816–825
- 134. Tadić Đ, Matamoros V, Bayona JM (2019) Simultaneous determination of multiclass antibiotics and their metabolites in four types of field-grown vegetables. Anal Bioanal Chem 411 (20):5209–5222
- 135. Aznar R, Albero B, Sánchez-Brunete C, Miguel E, Martín-Girela I, Tadeo JL (2017) Simultaneous determination of multiclass emerging contaminants in aquatic plants by ultrasoundassisted matrix solid-phase dispersion and GC-MS. Environ Sci Pollut Res 24(9):7911–7920
- 136. Pan M, Wong CK, Chu L (2014) Distribution of antibiotics in wastewater-irrigated soils and their accumulation in vegetable crops in the Pearl River Delta, southern China. J Agric Food Chem 62(46):11062–11069
- 137. Wu X, Conkle JL, Ernst F, Gan J (2014) Treated wastewater irrigation: uptake of pharmaceutical and personal care products by common vegetables under field conditions. Environ Sci Technol 48(19):11286–11293
- 138. Varela-Martínez DA, González-Sálamo J, González-Curbelo MÁ, Hernández-Borges J (2020) Quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged, and safe (QuEChERS) extraction. In: Liquid-phase extraction. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 399–437
- 139. Konak Üİ, Certel M, Şık B, Tongur T (2017) Development of an analysis method for determination of sulfonamides and their five acetylated metabolites in baby foods by ultrahigh performance liquid chromatography coupled to high-resolution mass spectrometry (Orbitrap-MS). J Chromatogr B 1057:81–91
- 140. Paíga P, Rodrigues MJ, Correia M, Amaral JS, Oliveira MBP, Delerue-Matos C (2017) Analysis of pharmaceutical adulterants in plant food supplements by UHPLC-MS/MS. Eur J Pharm Sci 99:219–227
- 141. Chung HS, Lee Y-J, Rahman MM, El-Aty AA, Lee HS, Kabir MH, Kim SW, Park B-J, Kim J-E, Hacımüftüoğlu F (2017) Uptake of the veterinary antibiotics chlortetracycline, enrofloxacin, and sulphathiazole from soil by radish. Sci Total Environ 605:322–331
- 142. Santana-Mayor Á, Socas-Rodríguez B, Herrera-Herrera AV, Rodríguez-Delgado MÁ (2019) Current trends in QuEChERS method. A versatile procedure for food, environmental and biological analysis (TrAC-Special Issue "Green Extraction Techniques"). TrAC Trends Anal Chem 116:214–235
- 143. Vaclavik L, Krynitsky AJ, Rader JI (2014) Targeted analysis of multiple pharmaceuticals, plant toxins and other secondary metabolites in herbal dietary supplements by ultra-high performance liquid chromatography–quadrupole-orbital ion trap mass spectrometry. Anal Chim Acta 810:45–60
- 144. Chan C-H, Yusoff R, Ngoh G-C, Kung FW-L (2011) Microwave-assisted extractions of active ingredients from plants. J Chromatogr A 1218(37):6213–6225
- 145. Petrie B, Smith BD, Youdan J, Barden R, Kasprzyk-Hordern B (2017) Multi-residue determination of micropollutants in Phragmites australis from constructed wetlands using microwave assisted extraction and ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chim Acta 959:91–101

- 146. Wiest L, Buleté A, Giroud B, Fratta C, Amic S, Lambert O, Pouliquen H, Arnaudguilhem C (2011) Multiresidue analysis of 80 environmental contaminants in honeys, honey bees and pollens by one extraction procedure followed by liquid and gas chromatography coupled with mass spectrometric detection. J Chromatogr A 1218:5743–5756
- 147. Martínez-Villalba A, Vaclavik L, Moyano E, Galceran MT, Hajslova J (2013) Direct analysis in real time high-resolution mass spectrometry for high-throughput analysis of antiparasitic veterinary drugs in feed and food. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 27(3):467–475
- 148. Lopes R, Passos E, JFA F, Vargas EA, Augusti DV, Augusti R (2012) Food Control 28:192
- 149. Hu F, Bian K, Liu Y, Su Y, Zhou T, Song X, He L (2014) Development of a modified QUick, Easy, CHeap, Effective, Rugged and Safe method for the determination of multi-class antimicrobials in vegetables by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1368:52–63
- 150. Shang J, He X, Xi C, Tang B, Wang G, Chen D, Peng T, Mu Z (2015) Determination of the potential illegal addition of β-blockers to function foods by QuEChERS sample preparation and UPLC-MS/MS analysis. Food Addit Contam Part A 32(7):1040–1048
- 151. Neely S, Martin J, da Cruz NF, Piester G, Robinson M, Okoniewski R, Tran BN (2018) Application of dispersive solid phase extraction for trace analysis of toxic chemicals in foods. J Chromatogr B 1092:65–71
- 152. He Z, Wang Y, Xu Y, Liu X (2018) Determination of antibiotics in vegetables using quechersbased method and liquid chromatography-quadrupole linear ion trap mass spectrometry. Food Anal Methods 11(10):2857–2864
- 153. Emhofer L, Himmelsbach M, Buchberger W, Klampfl CW (2018) Insights into the uptake, metabolization, and translocation of four non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in cress (Lepidium sativum) by HPLC-MS2. Electrophoresis 39(9–10):1294–1300
- 154. Yu X, Liu H, Pu C, Chen J, Sun Y, Hu L (2018) Determination of multiple antibiotics in leafy vegetables using QuEChERS–UHPLC–MS/MS. J Sep Sci 41(3):713–722
- 155. Martínez-Piernas A, Nahim-Granados S, Polo-López M, Fernández-Ibáñez P, Murgolo S, Mascolo G, Agüera A (2019) Identification of transformation products of carbamazepine in lettuce crops irrigated with ultraviolet-C treated water. Environ Pollut 247:1009–1019
- 156. Emhofer L, Himmelsbach M, Buchberger W, Klampfl CW (2019) High-performance liquid chromatography drift-tube ion-mobility quadrupole time-of-flight/mass spectrometry for the identity confirmation and characterization of metabolites from three statins (lipid-lowering drugs) in the model plant cress (Lepidium sativum) after uptake from water. J Chromatogr A 1592:122–132
- 157. Papaioannou D, Koukoulakis P, Lambropoulou D, Papageorgiou M, Kalavrouziotis I (2019) The dynamics of the pharmaceutical and personal care product interactive capacity under the effect of artificial enrichment of soil with heavy metals and of wastewater reuse. Sci Total Environ 662:537–546
- 158. Beltrán EM, Pablos MV, Torija CF, Porcel MÁ, González-Doncel M (2020) Uptake of atenolol, carbamazepine and triclosan by crops irrigated with reclaimed water in a Mediterranean scenario. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 191:110171
- 159. Podio NS, Bertrand L, Wunderlin DA, Santiago AN (2020) Assessment of phytotoxic effects, uptake and translocation of diclofenac in chicory (*Cichorium intybus*). Chemosphere 241:125057
- 160. Montemurro N, Orfanoti A, Manasfi R, Thomaidis N, Pérez S. Comparison of high resolution MRM and sequential window acquisition of all theoretical fragment-ion acquisition modes for the quantitation of 48 wastewater-borne pollutants in lettuce. J Chromatogr A (JCA-20-879, under review)
- 161. Christou A, Antoniou C, Christodoulou C, Hapeshi E, Stavrou I, Michael C, Fatta-Kassinos D, Fotopoulos V (2016) Stress-related phenomena and detoxification mechanisms induced by common pharmaceuticals in alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) plants. Sci Total Environ 557:652–664

- 162. Carvalho PN, Zhang Y, Lyu T, Arias CA, Bester K, Brix H (2018) Methodologies for the analysis of pesticides and pharmaceuticals in sediments and plant tissue. Anal Methods 10 (30):3791–3803
- 163. Reichl B, Himmelsbach M, Emhofer L, Klampfl CW, Buchberger W (2018) Uptake and metabolism of the antidepressants sertraline, clomipramine, and trazodone in a garden cress (Lepidium sativum) model. Electrophoresis 39(9–10):1301–1308
- 164. Tanoue R, Sato Y, Motoyama M, Nakagawa S, Shinohara R, Nomiyama K (2012) Plant uptake of pharmaceutical chemicals detected in recycled organic manure and reclaimed wastewater. J Agric Food Chem 60(41):10203–10211
- 165. Chitescu CL, Nicolau AI, Stolker AAM (2013) Uptake of oxytetracycline, sulfamethoxazole and ketoconazole from fertilised soils by plants. Food Addit Contam Part A 30(6):1138–1146
- 166. Sallach JB, Bartelt-Hunt SL, Snow DD, Li X, Hodges L (2018) Uptake of antibiotics and their toxicity to lettuce following routine irrigation with contaminated water in different soil types. Environ Eng Sci 35(8):887–896
- 167. Rajski Ł, Lozano A, Uclés A, Ferrer C, Fernández-Alba AR (2013) Determination of pesticide residues in high oil vegetal commodities by using various multi-residue methods and clean-ups followed by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1304:109–120
- 168. Sapozhnikova Y, Lehotay SJ (2013) Multi-class, multi-residue analysis of pesticides, polychlorinated biphenyls, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, polybrominated diphenyl ethers and novel flame retardants in fish using fast, low-pressure gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Chim Acta 758:80–92
- 169. Tuzimski T, Szubartowski S (2019) Method development for selected bisphenols analysis in sweetened condensed milk from a can and breast milk samples by HPLC–DAD and HPLC-QqQ-MS: comparison of sorbents (Z-SEP, Z-SEP Plus, PSA, C18, Chitin and EMR-Lipid) for clean-up of QuEChERS extract. Molecules 24(11):2093
- 170. Peña-Herrera J, Montemurro N, Barceló D, Pérez S (2020) Combining quantitative and qualitative approaches using Sequential Window Acquisition of All Theoretical Fragment-Ion methodology for the detection of pharmaceuticals and related compounds in river fish extracted using a sample miniaturized method. J Chromatogr A 1620:461009
- 171. Walorczyk S, Drożdżyński D, Kierzek R (2015) Determination of pesticide residues in samples of green minor crops by gas chromatography and ultra performance liquid chromatography coupled to tandem quadrupole mass spectrometry. Talanta 132:197–204
- 172. Walorczyk S, Drożdżyński D, Kierzek R (2015) Two-step dispersive-solid phase extraction strategy for pesticide multiresidue analysis in a chlorophyll-containing matrix by gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1412:22–32
- 173. Morris BD, Schriner RB (2015) Development of an automated column solid-phase extraction cleanup of QuEChERS extracts, using a zirconia-based sorbent, for pesticide residue analyses by LC-MS/MS. J Agric Food Chem 63(21):5107–5119
- 174. Han L, Sapozhnikova Y, Lehotay SJ (2014) Streamlined sample cleanup using combined dispersive solid-phase extraction and in-vial filtration for analysis of pesticides and environmental pollutants in shrimp. Anal Chim Acta 827:40–46
- 175. Lehotay SJ, Han L, Sapozhnikova Y (2016) Automated mini-column solid-phase extraction cleanup for high-throughput analysis of chemical contaminants in foods by low-pressure gas chromatography—tandem mass spectrometry. Chromatographia 79(17–18):1113–1130
- 176. Hakme E, Lozano A, Ucles S, Gomez-Ramos M, Fernandez-Alba A (2018) High-throughput gas chromatography-mass spectrometry analysis of pesticide residues in spices by using the enhanced matrix removal-lipid and the sample dilution approach. J Chromatogr A 1573:28–41
- 177. Hu M, Qiu J, Zhang H, Fan X, Liu K, Zeng D, Tan H (2018) Method development and validation of indaziflam and its five metabolites in soil, water, and fruits by modified QuEChERS and UHPLC-MS/MS. J Agric Food Chem 66(39):10300–10308
- 178. DeAtley A, Zhao L, Lucas D (2015) Innovative sample prep removes lipids without losing analytes. Am Lab 47(9):32–34

- 179. Han L, Matarrita J, Sapozhnikova Y, Lehotay SJ (2016) Evaluation of a recent product to remove lipids and other matrix co-extractives in the analysis of pesticide residues and environmental contaminants in foods. J Chromatogr A 1449:17–29
- Brown GG, Doube BM, Edwards C (2004) Functional interactions between earthworms, microorganisms, organic matter, and plants. Earthworm Ecol 2:213–239
- 181. Montemurro N, Joedicke J, Pérez S (2020) Development and application of a QuEChERS method with liquid chromatography-quadrupole time of flight-mass spectrometry for the determination of 50 wastewater-borne pollutants in earthworms exposed through treated wastewater. Chemosphere (CHEM74458, under review)
- Carter LJ, Ryan JJ, Boxall AB (2016) Effects of soil properties on the uptake of pharmaceuticals into earthworms. Environ Pollut 213:922–931
- 183. Kinney CA, Furlong ET, Kolpin DW, Burkhardt MR, Zaugg SD, Werner SL, Bossio JP, Benotti MJ (2008) Bioaccumulation of pharmaceuticals and other anthropogenic waste indicators in earthworms from agricultural soil amended with biosolid or swine manure. Environ Sci Technol 42(6):1863–1870
- 184. Suthar S (2008) Metal remediation from partially composted distillery sludge using composting earthworm Eisenia fetida. J Environ Monit 10(9):1099–1106
- 185. Suthar S, Singh S (2009) Bioconcentrations of metals (Fe, Cu, Zn, Pb) in earthworms (Eisenia fetida), inoculated in municipal sewage sludge: do earthworms pose a possible risk of terrestrial food chain contamination? Environ Toxicol 24(1):25–32
- 186. Jager T, Fleuren RH, Hogendoorn EA, De Korte G (2003) Elucidating the routes of exposure for organic chemicals in the earthworm, Eisenia andrei (Oligochaeta). Environ Sci Technol 37 (15):3399–3404
- 187. Saranraj P, Stella D (2012) Vermicomposting and its importance in improvement of soil nutrients and agricultural crops. Novus Nat Sci Res 1(1):14–23
- 188. Pino MR, Val J, Mainar AM, Zuriaga E, Español C, Langa E (2015) Acute toxicological effects on the earthworm Eisenia fetida of 18 common pharmaceuticals in artificial soil. Sci Total Environ 518-519:225–237
- Alves PRL, Cardoso EJBN, Martines AM, Sousa JP, Pasini A (2013) Earthworm ecotoxicological assessments of pesticides used to treat seeds under tropical conditions. Chemosphere 90(11):2674–2682
- 190. Rida AMMA, Bouché MB (1997) Earthworm toxicology: from acute to chronic tests. Soil Biol Biochem 29(3–4):699–703
- 191. Carter LJ, Ryan JJ, Boxall AB (2016) Does uptake of pharmaceuticals vary across earthworm species? Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 97(3):316–322
- 192. Macherius A, Lapen DR, Reemtsma T, Römbke J, Topp E, Coors A (2014) Triclocarban, triclosan and its transformation product methyl triclosan in native earthworm species four years after a commercial-scale biosolids application. Sci Total Environ 472:235–238
- 193. Spurgeon DJ, Hopkin SP (1996) Risk assessment of the threat of secondary poisoning by metals to predators of earthworms in the vicinity of a primary smelting works. Sci Total Environ 187(3):167–183
- 194. Salagovic J, Gilles J, Verschaeve L, Kalina I (1996) The comet assay for the detection of genotoxic damage in the earthworms: a promising tool for assessing the biological hazards of polluted sites. Folia Biol 42(1–2):17
- 195. Díaz-Cruz MS, López de Alda MJ, Barceló D (2003) Environmental behavior and analysis of veterinary and human drugs in soils, sediments and sludge. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 22 (6):340–351
- 196. Hao C, Zhao X, Yang P (2007) GC-MS and HPLC-MS analysis of bioactive pharmaceuticals and personal-care products in environmental matrices. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 26 (6):569–580
- 197. Białk-Bielińska A, Kumirska J, Palavinskas R, Stepnowski P (2009) Optimization of multiple reaction monitoring mode for the trace analysis of veterinary sulfonamides by LC–MS/MS. Talanta 80(2):947–953

- 198. Petrovic M, Barcelo D, Perez S (2007) Analysis, removal, effects and risk of pharmaceuticals in the water cycle: occurrence and transformation in the environment. Elsevier, Oxford
- 199. Díaz-Cruz S, Barcelo D (2005) LC-MS2 trace analysis of antimicrobials in water, sediment and soil. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 24:645–657
- 200. Eichhorn P, Pérez S, Barceló D (2012) Time-of-flight mass spectrometry versus orbitrap-based mass spectrometry for the screening and identification of drugs and metabolites: is there a winner? In: Comprehensive analytical chemistry, vol 58. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 217–272

Analytical Approaches for the Determination and Identification of Drug Metabolites in Plants After Uptake



Franz Mlynek, Markus Himmelsbach, Wolfgang Buchberger, and Christian W. Klampfl

Contents

1	Intro	duction	496
2	Expe	rimental Approaches for Investigating the Uptake of Drugs by Plants	498
	2.1	Strategies for the Growing of Plants and Their Treatment with Drugs	498
	2.2	Harvesting and Extraction	499
3	Аррі	roaches for Metabolite Detection	501
4	More	e Detailed Discussion of Papers Published Within This Field	503
	4.1	Carbamazepine	511
	4.2	Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs	511
	4.3	Antibiotics	512
	4.4	Other Drugs for Use in Humans	514
	4.5	Drugs for Veterinary Use Only	515
	4.6	Personal Care Products	516
5	Conc	clusions and Perspectives	517
Re	ferenc	es	518

Abstract The present chapter gives an overview of analytical methodologies employed for the identification and quantitation of metabolites formed in plants or plant cell cultures from drugs and personal care products after uptake from water or soil. Important aspects like experimental approaches for plant growing, extraction of the investigated analytes from plants, preconcentration strategies, and final analytical techniques allowing the proposal of (at least tentative) structures for drug-related metabolites are discussed. Special emphasis is also set on the elucidation of translocation processes by analyzing different plant parts. In one table, a comprehensive

493

F. Mlynek, M. Himmelsbach, W. Buchberger, and C. W. Klampfl (⊠) Institute of Analytical Chemistry, Johannes-Kepler-University Linz, Linz, Austria e-mail: christian.klampfl@jku.at

Sandra Pérez Solsona, Nicola Montemurro, Serge Chiron, and Damià Barceló (eds.), Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems: The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater, Hdb Env Chem (2021) 103: 493–524, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_629, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 2 September 2020

overview of the current state of knowledge available from the literature is given, with respect to the topics listed above.

Keywords Drug metabolites, Emerging contaminants, Environmental analysis, Environmental metabolomics, Phytouptake

Abbreviations

17α-E2	17α-Estradiol
17β-E2	17β-Estradiol
ALB	Albendazole
ATE	Atenolol
ATR	Atorvastatin
AVO	Avobenzone
BHT	Butylated hydroxytoluene
BMS	Betamethasone dipropionate
BPA	Bisphenol A
BZP	Benzophenone
CAF	Caffeine
CBZ	Carbamazepine
CDP	Chlordiazepoxide
CIP	Ciprofloxacin
CLA	Clarithromycin
CLI	Clindamycin
CLP	Clomipramine
CP	Clonazepam
DCF	Diclofenac
DP	Diazepam
E1	Estrone
EE2	Ethinylestradiol
ENR	Enrofloxacin
ESI	Electrospray ionization
FAD	Furaltadone
FAZ	Furazolidone
FBZ	Fenbendazole
FL	Fluvastatin
FLU	Flubendazole
FP	Flurazepam
GEM	Gemfibrozil
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
HR-MS	High-resolution mass spectrometry

IBU	Ibuprofen
IPR	Iopromide
KPF	Ketoprofen
LTG	Lamotrigine
MeBT	5-Methyl-1H-benzotriazole
MePB	Methylparaben
MET	Metformin
MFA	Mefenamic acid
NDP	Nordiazepam
NFA	Nitrofurantoin
NFZ	Nitrofurazone
NPX	Naproxen
NSAID	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug
OBZ	Oxybenzone
OC	Octocrylene
OFL	Ofloxacin
OP	Oxazepam
OPL	4-Octylphenol
OS	Octisalate
PAR	Paracetamol
PZE	Phenazone
QqQ	Triple quadrupole
QuEChERS	Quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged, and safe
SDM	Sulfadimethoxine
SDZ	Sulfadiazine
SER	Sertraline
SIM	Simvastatin
SMR	Sulfamerazine
SMT	Sulfamethizole
SMX	Sulfamethoxazole
SMZ	Sulfamethazine
SPD	Sulfapyridine
STZ	Sulfathiazole
ТА	Temazepam
ТСР	Tris(2-chloroethyl)phosphate
TCS	Triclosan
TEL	Telmisartan
ТМ	Triazolam
TMP	Trimethoprim
TRZ	Trazodone

1 Introduction

In recent years, the occurrence of residues of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs) in the environment has attracted increased attention in the scientific community. Nowadays it is a well-known fact that effluents from wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) are an important source for the release of these xenobiotics into surface waters. The increasing availability and use of PPCPs worldwide have made the presence of such contaminants a global phenomenon [1]. As a matter of fact, PPCPs are continuously introduced into the environment so that they are also referred to as pseudopersistent pollutants. The tremendous advances in procedures for environmental analytical chemistry [2, 3] have resulted in a significantly increased number of PPCPs that can be monitored routinely in water samples and have provided extended data sets to be used for a better understanding of their fate in the environment. Although effort has been made to improve the removal rates for PPCPs in WWTPs [4–6], the release of such xenobiotics may still be an issue worldwide.

Typical concentrations of PPCPs in effluents of WWTPs may be up to the low μ g L⁻¹ range. This means that concentrations in receiving waters can be expected to be in the ng L⁻¹ range. Even such low concentrations may result in negative effects on the environment. This is well known in case of the continuous presence of residues of antibiotics, which can lead to the development of antibiotic resistance [7]. Unfortunately, for many other classes of PPCPs, ecotoxicological effects are still poorly understood [8]. Even less knowledge is generally available when it comes to the presence and effects of metabolites of PPCPs possibly generated in the environment.

The presence of PPCPs in effluents of WWTPs has also raised some concerns in the context of food safety. In arid regions, reclaimed water is nowadays frequently employed for irrigation in agriculture as a consequence of increased water scarcity. For example, in 2016 Israel used reclaimed wastewater for approximately 50% of the total irrigation water [9]. Also Mediterranean countries of the European Union depend more and more on reclaimed water in agriculture [10]. This means that agricultural plants can be expected to get into contact with pharmaceuticals not fully removed by WWTPs, which subsequently may result in an uptake of these xenobiotics by the plants. Considerable efforts are made to establish regulations regarding the quality of reclaimed water, but so far comprehensive final standards have not yet been set [11]. Another source for pharmaceuticals potentially taken up by agricultural plants is the use of biosolids [12]. Manure used as a natural fertilizer may contain residues of veterinary drugs which can contaminate agricultural plants via the soil [13, 14].

Various papers and reviews dealing with the uptake of intact PPCPs by plants from the environment have been published within the last few years [15–24]. However, PPCPs taken up by plants may also be subjected to bio-transformation/ metabolization processes [25, 26]. A full risk assessment of PPCPs in the environment will require thorough investigations dealing with such transformation pathways because metabolites may show (eco)toxicities even higher than the parent compound or different modes of action regarding their biological activity. Last, but not least, metabolites of PPCPs formed eventually during the passage through WWTPs may get transformed back to the parent substance when taken up by plants.

In general, the metabolization of xenobiotics in plants follows the pathways known from mammalian organisms. During phase I, xenobiotics are transformed into more polar compounds (that also exhibit a higher water solubility) by reactions like hydroxylation, which are catalyzed by enzymes such as cytochrome P450 oxidases. Phase II involves the conjugation of phase I metabolites with small molecules like hexoses (whereas in mammalian organisms glucuronic acid is commonly attached), amino acids, sulfate, or glutathione. Various transferases are involved in this step, such as glutathione S-transferases (GSTs) with structures close to that in mammalian organisms except for a catalytic serine in place of a tyrosine residue [27]. During phase III the metabolites may be further transformed (an example is the reaction of glutathione conjugates to acetylcysteine conjugates). and in case of mammalian organisms, the metabolites are excreted. In case of plants, metabolites undergo compartmentalization and binding to cell walls. This fraction is not readily available for extraction and analysis, but its extent can be estimated by using ¹⁴C-labeled parent drugs and measuring the activity in the plant cells, as recently shown for investigations of the metabolism of naproxen and ibuprofen in the Arabidopsis plant [28].

The investigation of the uptake and metabolization of a certain PPCP by a plant may be done in the form of two different approaches, namely, either by a targeted analysis or by an untargeted analysis. In case of targeted analysis, a limited number of metabolites are defined for quantitation prior to the analysis itself. These potentially present metabolites may be selected according to existing knowledge about metabolization pathways in plants or on the basis of studies done on mammalian or microbial organisms. One can also use in silico prediction approaches and tools available as commercial software packages or freeware for selecting the target metabolites (for a review dealing with such tools, see, e.g., [29]). Such a targeted analysis makes an effective optimization of the sample preparation and analyte preconcentration methods for the selected analytes possible, so that quantitation limits can be achieved that may be low enough for investigating plants irrigated with real reclaimed water.

Contrary to targeted analysis, the untargeted approach aims at a comprehensive detection of known and unknown metabolites formed from PPCPs taken up by the plant. For that purpose techniques are available that are nowadays commonly used in metabolomics of mammalian systems and rely on high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) hyphenated with high-resolution mass spectrometry (HPLC-HR-MS) [30–32]. When unknown metabolites are the focus, the sample pretreatment including preconcentration steps can hardly be fully optimized which may compromise quantitation limits. Therefore, untargeted analysis of metabolites in plants is often done by treating model plants (or plant cell cultures) with relatively high concentrations of PPCPs. In this way, the detection of new metabolites and their subsequent identification may become possible, and in a second step, a targeted approach can be added for real samples.

This review intends to summarize in a comprehensive and critical way the current knowledge about the fate and metabolization of PPCPs in plants and to give an upto-date overview of the development of analytical approaches employed in this field.

2 Experimental Approaches for Investigating the Uptake of Drugs by Plants

2.1 Strategies for the Growing of Plants and Their Treatment with Drugs

Since more than a decade, studies investigating not only the uptake but also the subsequent metabolization of drugs by plants were published [12, 33]. To achieve this goal, different approaches were followed. In the majority of reports, plantlets were grown hydroponically in drug-containing media [17, 34] or in a support medium (like agar or perlite) that was wetted with drug-containing aqueous solutions. A smaller number of studies reported the uptake of drugs by plants grown in soil [18, 19]. Here drugs were mostly added by irrigation using either lab-made drugcontaining aqueous solutions or even actual reclaimed waters. What the majority of these studies (hydroponic and soil-based ones) have in common is that to facilitate the detection of the parent drugs but even more importantly their metabolites, rather high concentrations of drugs were used. Nevertheless there are a few examples where drug concentrations employed were close to those expected in actual reclaimed waters (e.g., a study where garden cress was treated with NSAIDs at a concentration level as low as 0.001 mg L^{-1} [35]), whereas on the other hand Armoracia rusticana cell culture was incubated with paracetamol (PAR) at a concentration level of $>160 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ [36].

Although, as just discussed, treatment with somewhat higher concentrations of a drug (or drug cocktail – if the fate of more than one drug is investigated in a single plant experiment) increases the probability to detect also the less abundant drugrelated metabolites, two aspects have to be considered. First, drug concentrations should be below a level hampering the organic growth of the plant, and second, plant metabolism should not be affected too much by concentration effects to keep the study meaningful also with respect to actual environmental conditions. When considering the treatment of a single plant with a drug cocktail (to reduce the experimental effort when investigating the fate of several drugs), unwanted interactions between the drugs should be thoroughly observed, unless the investigation of synergistic effects (as might be occurring when using real reclaimed waters) is the actual aim of the study. A further factor that should be kept in mind is that the solvent employed for preparing the drug standard solution (in many cases methanol) used for adding the drug to the growing medium or irrigation water may also exhibit negative effects on plant growing. Here the use of ethanol instead of methanol has proven beneficial.

A range of model plants was used for these tests. Thereby due to their relevance in the production of food and feed, particular emphasis was set on edible plants. Examples therefore are vegetables such as tomato [37–40], cucumber [41–43], bean [39], lettuce [37, 39, 40, 44–49], pea [40], cabbage [50], carrot [51], onion [40, 52], garden cress [35, 53–55], and radish [36, 47, 56–59] treated with NSAIDs, antibiotics, antidepressants, PAR, carbamazepine, or personal care products as well as maize [40], wheat [37], barley [58], sorghum [40], and millet [40] grown in diclofenac-containing medium.

Another approach for investigating the interaction of plants with xenobiotics is the use of cell cultures [28, 36, 42, 51, 56–58, 60–63]. Major advantage of this experimental setup is the fact that cultivating and also incubating cell cultures is affected with less effort than growing whole plants (or at least plantlets). On the other hand, cell cultures do not allow to study transformation phenomena such as a (time-dependent) monitoring of parent drug and metabolite concentrations in different plant parts.

2.2 Harvesting and Extraction

Depending on the study layout (but of course also on the plant model used), the period between the start of a growing experiment and the final harvesting of the plants ranged between a few days (for an example, see [35, 53, 54]) and several months (for an example, see [38, 45, 52]). Whereas in the case of plant cell experiments there is no other choice than using the whole cells for analysis, the situation is different when growing full plants. In this case, depending on the size of the harvested plantlet, it could be divided into several distinct plant parts (commonly roots, stem, leaves, bulbs, or fruit) which were subsequently extracted and analyzed separately. This allowed judging the translocation of the parent drug and the metabolites into different plant compartments. In a series of works, the latter was also studied as a function of time, harvesting plants at several time points and studying the time-resolved distribution of parent drug(s) as well as metabolites within the plant parts investigated.

In most cases, parent drugs and/or metabolites were recovered from plant material and cell cultures by simple and straightforward extraction with appropriate solvents. Plant material was either directly homogenized (e.g., using an Ultra-Turrax – for exemplary papers, see [53–55]) or freeze-dried and grinded to form a fine powder with subsequent solvent extraction (e.g., using an ultrasound bath – for exemplary papers, see [38, 41] or accelerated solvent extraction [37, 43]). For a cleanup and a further preconcentration step, extracts were subjected to a solid phase extraction (SPE) procedure. For the parent drugs, SPE provided acceptable preconcentration factors. For some of the more polar substances such as the sugar-containing metabolites formed from diclofenac (DCF), naproxen (NPX), ketoprofen (KPF), and mefenamic acid in cress, only a very limited preconcentration effect could be



Fig. 1 Tissue distribution of quinestrol and iodosulfuron in *Salix alba* leaves. The mass spectrometry imaging analysis of leaf sections from *Salix alba* revealed different distribution patterns of xenobiotics in the leaf tissue. Quinestrol was mostly sequestered in internal tissue, and iodosulfuron was clearly located in the vascular tissues; intensity given as an arbitrary unit shown as color gradient; mc: maximum count. From [67] with permission

achieved due to insufficient interaction with the SPE sorbent [53]. This observation might be extrapolated also to sugar conjugates from other drugs.

As an alternative pretreatment, a modified QuEChERS approach for extracting parent drugs and their metabolites from plants was used, allowing skipping the SPE step and still providing good limits of detection for both parent drugs and metabolites [35, 45, 54, 64]. One way to improve extraction by an increased cell-rupturing effect, setting free also drug and drug-metabolite molecules within the plant cells, is the use of methods involving matrix solid phase dispersion (MSPD) [65] or sea sand disruption [65]. MSPD is based on the blending of a sample with an abrasive solid material [66]. It permits simultaneous disruption of the sample architecture and extraction of complex biological samples, thereby improving extraction efficiency.

The workflow discussed above, although most widely used, involving either extraction of the whole plant or dissection of plant parts with subsequent analysis of the compounds of interest does only allow a rough estimation on the location of parent drugs and their metabolites within the plant. An alternative approach, enabling direct investigations on the spatial distribution of the drug and its metabolites within plant parts, is mass spectrometry imaging. Hereby the sample of interest (plant part) is examined, after appropriate sample preparation, by techniques such as desorption electrospray ionization (DESI) MS or matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI) MS. An example for the use of MALDI MS, for the in situ localization of a series of xenobiotics in *Salix alba* leaves after cryo-sectioning, was published by Vilette et al. [67]. The analysis of cross sections of *Salix alba* leaves by the methodology mentioned above is depicted in Fig. 1.

3 Approaches for Metabolite Detection

In a series of research papers, the main focus was set on the detection and identification of new drug-related metabolites formed within plants after uptake of the parent drug from water or soil. Thereby different strategies have been applied for the structural identification of these metabolites. According to Schymanski et al. [68], there are five levels of structure identification, ranging from level 1 (confirmed structure), where comparison with a reference standard is obligatory, to level 5 where only the accurate mass of the potential metabolite is known. The possibility to characterize drug-related metabolites according to level one is primarily restricted by the commercial availability of appropriate standards or the possibility to synthesize these compounds in-house. An excellent example for a study where a high percentage of the detected metabolites could be assigned to structures according to level 1 following the Schymanski scheme has been published by Riemenschneider et al. [38]. Here out of 17 carbamazepine-derived metabolites found in tomato plants treated with a total of 7.5 mg carbamazepine per plant over a growing period of 89 days, 10 could be identified unambiguously by comparison of their highresolution mass spectra with those from commercially available standards. Nevertheless, it should be taken into account that (with a very few exceptions) the availability of standards is limited to phase I metabolites. In most cases, only tentative or probable structures (according to levels 2 and 3 of the Schymanski scheme) could be presented for drug-related metabolites formed in the plant. These are mainly based on measuring accurate mass, employing either (quadrupole) timeof-flight mass spectrometers ((Q)TOF/MS) or Orbitrap MS (mostly after chromatographic separation), together with the generation of MS/MS spectra allowing the interpretation of molecule fragmentation. Frequently these data are combined with information from the literature such as published pathways for the formation of metabolites in mammals and/or published MS spectra for analogous compounds. A few older papers propose structures on the basis of low-resolution MS, fragmentation spectra, and data from additional chemical experiments such as enzymatic digestion or alkaline hydrolysis [36, 58, 69]. However, it should be stressed that despite the possibility to measure accurate mass, probable structure for drug-related transformation products in plants cannot always be proposed (level 5).

Appropriate standard substances are even more required, when, in addition to the proposal of structures, quantitative information is desired. The large majority of studies discussed in this chapter involve the use of MS detection employing an electrospray source for ionization. Here the response factor for different substances can vary substantially, allowing proper quantification only if standard substances are available for calibration. One approach showing considerable potential to overcome this obstacle is the methodology proposed by the Kruve group [70–72], showing a way toward standard-free quantification. Thereby they studied the efficiency of negative ion formation in the ESI source via deprotonation of substituted phenols and benzoic acids [70]. The observed correlations between the ionization efficiencies achieved and different molecular properties allowed the construction of a linear

model describing the ionization efficiency of both phenols and benzoic acids. In a further paper, this approach was applied to investigating the influence of different mobile phases on the signal intensities in ESI, allowing to compare results obtained under different chromatographic conditions [71].

A promising approach for investigating the fate of drugs after uptake by a plant was the following. First experiments with rather high concentrations of the drug were performed, and extracts from either the whole plant (or the whole cells in the case of plant cell experiments) or the plant parts of interest were examined using HPLC coupled to HR-MS⁽ⁿ⁾. Thereby accurate masses could be determined (under ideal circumstances allowing the proposal of an unambiguous sum formula), and information on the molecular structure could be obtained from MSⁿ experiments. Stable isotope labeling with HR-MS (i.e., spiking the nutrient solution with a mixture of deuterated and non-deuterated drug) can be seen as an interesting approach to further improve the workflow in the detection of drug-derived metabolites within the plant [63]. Combining the findings from HR-MS with knowledge from plant biology or drug metabolism in mammals at best allowed proposing a metabolic pathway for the investigated drug within the plant organism. Subsequently, to improve the applicability of this experimental approach also for actual environmental samples (here the concentrations of both the parent drug and the drugrelated metabolites will be much lower), information from previous MSⁿ experiments was employed for setting up a multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) method on a highly sensitive OqO MS, thereby allowing the investigation of plants treated with environmentally relevant concentrations of the drug. Examples for the successful application of this scheme can be found in the literature [35, 53].

As common for metabolomics research, two different approaches, namely, a targeted and a non-targeted one, can be distinguished. Most of the studies published so far investigating the uptake, translocation, and metabolization of drugs and personal care products (PCPs) in plants clearly use a targeted approach. Based on knowledge about regular plant metabolism, comparison with metabolic studies in mammals and humans, and selective search for potential transformation products, plant extracts are searched for drug-related metabolites. Only a few papers employing a more untargeted approach can be found in the relevant literature (for a good example, see [67]). Vilette et al. analyzed surface water and superficial sludge (at the entrance of a tertiary treatment wetland) with respect to the presence of micropollutants (HR-MS spectra were processed with common metabolomics software; sum formulas were proposed and entered into open-access data bases) and compared these data with those from *Salix alba* growing on the edge of the wetland. A total of 1,027 compounds were tentatively identified (level 3 according to Schymanski) whereby 96 could be found in all 3 matrices (see also Fig. 2) [67].



Fig. 2 Non-targeted metabolome analysis of water, sludge, and plant leaf extracts. Surface water (b), leaves from *Salix alba* (c), and superficial sludge (d) were analyzed by liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry to obtain their metabolic profile. A total of 1,027 compounds were tentatively identified (level 3 of Schymanski classification). Only some of the compounds were common to the three compartments (a), but the same classes of molecules were found with a similar distribution in all three compartments of the environment. Water and sludge were sampled in triplicate, eight leaf samples of each age (young, intermediate, old) were extracted individually, and the results were pooled after acquisition. From [67] with permission

4 More Detailed Discussion of Papers Published Within This Field

A comprehensive overview of the current state of literature within the field discussed in this book chapter is provided in Table 1. Thereby information about drugs and personal care products investigated, plant or plant cell models employed, metabolites detected (phase I + II), as well as strategies used for metabolite detection and identification is given.

TADIE T OVERVIEW OF SI	nuics oil	uic allarys.	IN THE MONTRAN TION IN ST	es and personal care produces in pr	antes attes uptare		
	Metabol	ites					
	Phase	Phase			Extraction/cleanup/	Analysis of	
Parent drug(s)	I	Π	Plant material	Growing conditions	enrichment	extracts	Ref.
ALB	x	x	Ribwort plantain –	Seeds germinated on	Liquid-liquid extraction of	UPLC-	[61]
			plant, cell suspension	Murashige and Skoog basal	homogenized frozen samples	QqQ-MS ²	
				Cell culture was initiated from			
				the leaves of regenerants			
				Incubated with 10 µM ALB			
ALB, FBZ, FLU	x	x	Harebell – cell	Suspensions of harebell cells in	Liquid-liquid extraction of	LC-QTOF-	[86]
			suspension	Murashige and Skoog culture	homogenized cell	MS^2	
				medium	suspensions		
				Incubated with 10 µM ALB,	1		
				FBZ, FLU			
ATE, CBZ, SMX	×	1	Lamb's lettuce, spin-	Greenhouse conditions watered	Liquid extraction of homoge-	LC-QqQ-	[47]
			ach, arugula, radish –	with 1 mg L^{-1} drug solutions	nized frozen samples	MS^2	
			piant .		E		5
ATR, FL, SIM	x	×	Cress – plant	Hydroponic (drug concentra- tions $0.001-1 \text{ mo } 1.^{-1}$)	Ultra-Turrax extraction OnFChFRS cleanin	LC-QqQ- MS ²	54
					Cartoning Strang		
						QTOF-MS	
AV0, OC, OS	×	x	Duckweed, Cyperus	Hydroponic in nutrition solu-	Ultra-Turrax extraction	LC-QTOF-	[06]
			alternifolius – plant	tion (drug concentrations 9.6-		MS	1
				40.6 mg L^{-1})		LC-DTIM-	
						QTOF-MS	
BMS, TEL	x	x	Salix alba – leaves	Growing on the bank close to	Frozen leaves were ground in	LC-QTOF-	[67]
				the water outlet of a two-stage	liquid nitrogen and extracted	MS	
				vertical flow constructed	with liquid extraction	MALDI-	
				wetland	MALDI with HCCA	ISM	
						FT-ICR-MS	

in nlante after untake 0**t**0 4 2 7 ş analysis of metabolites fro on the Table 1 Overview of studies
[44]	[46]	[37]	[65]	[38]	[45]	[57]	[73]	[43]	tinued)
GC-MS ²	LC-QTrap- MS ²	LC-QqQ- MS ²	LC-QqQ- MS ²	LC-QqQ- MS ² UPLC- QTOF-MS	LC-QTOF- MS	LC-QTOF- MS	LC-QqQ- MS ² LC-Q-TOF- MS	LC-QqQ- MS ²	(con
Extraction using sonication SPE with Strata-X Derivatization prior to injection	Liquid extraction of freeze- dried samples SPE with Oasis HLB	Freeze-dried plant material was ground and extracted using an accelerated solvent extractor	Extraction using matrix solid phase dispersion or sea sand disruption method	Ultrasonic extraction of freeze-dried samples	QuEChERS extraction	Frozen samples were ground and extracted with sonication	Ultrasonic extraction	Plant material was ground and extracted using an accel- erated solvent extractor	
In pots under greenhouse conditions watered with $0.05-50~\mu g~L^{-1}$ drug solutions	Hydroponic in nutrition solution (CAF concentrations 0.575 mg L^{-1})	Grown in ly simeters containing arable soil irrigated with treated wastewater	Hydroponic in nutrition solution (drug concentrations $0.5-2 \text{ m } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$)	Hydroponic in nutrition solution (drug concentrations 0.5 mg L^{-1})	In pots under greenhouse conditions irrigated with 1 mg L^{-1} CBZ	Grown in Murashige and Skoog medium (10–250 μM CBZ)	Cultures in Petri dishes (10.8 mg L ⁻¹ CBZ) and solid- state fermentation (0.025 mg g ⁻¹ CBZ)	Hydroponic in nutrition solu- tion (drug concentrations 1.8 µM)	
Lettuce – plant	Lettuce – plant	Tomato, wheat, lettuce – plant	<i>Typha</i> spp. – plant	Tomato – plant	Lettuce – plant	Horseradish – hairy root culture	White-rot fungus – plant	Cucumber – plant	
x	1	1	I	×	1	×	1	1	
1	x	×	×	×	x	×	×	×	
BPA, BHT, BZP, CAF, CBZ, MePB, MeBT, OPL, PZE, TCP, TCS	CAF	CBZ	CBZ	CBZ	CBZ	CBZ	CBZ	CBZ (LTG)	

	N T - L - L						
	Metabol	lies					
(s)gr	Phase I	Phase II	Plant material	Growing conditions	Extraction/cleanup/ enrichment	Analysis of extracts	Ref.
, DP, FP, 9, TA, TM	×	1	Radish, silverbeet – plant	Grown on soil (drug concen- tration 0.5 mg kg ⁻¹)	Ultrasonication extraction of freeze-dried samples SPE with Oasis HLB	LC-QqQ- MS ²	[59]
	x	1	Chinese flowering cabbage – plant	Hydroponic in nutrition solution $(1 \text{ mg L}^{-1} \text{ CIP})$	Ultrasonication extraction of freeze-dried samples SPE with Oasis HLB	UPLC- QqQ-MS ²	[50]
ZC	×	1	Lettuce – plant	Hydroponic in nutrition solu- tion and clean perlite for plant fixation (drug concentrations 1 mg L^{-1})	Extraction using sonication SPE with Oasis Prime HLB	UPLC- QqQ-MS ² UPLC- QTOF-MS ²	[48]
IR, OFL, DZ, SMT, MZ, STZ,	x	×	Lettuce, tomato, cauli- flower, broad beans – plant	Farm plot irrigated with reclaimed water	Ultrasonic extraction of homogenized vegetable sam- ple SPE with Strata-X	LC-QqQ- MS ²	[39]
er, trz	×	×	Cress – plant	Hydroponic (drug concentra- tions 10 mg L^{-1})	Ultra-Turrax extraction	LC-QTOF- MS LC- Orbitrap- MS	[55]
	×	x	Arabidopsis thaliana – cell suspension	Cells grown in medium (DCF 3.59 mg L ⁻¹)	Freeze-dried cell samples extracted with sonication SPE with Oasis HLB	UPLC- QqQ-MS ² LC-TOF- MS	[09]
	x	x	Barley – plant, horse radish – hairy root culture	Hydroponic in Murashige and Skoog medium (10 μM DCF)	Liquid extraction of homoge- nized frozen samples SPE with Strata-X	LC-IT-MS ²	[58]

506

Table 1 (continued)

Planties in post filled with perfite in a growth chamber (DCF 1 mg L ⁻¹) Plant material ground in liqo- with sonication LC-IT-MS [82] Hydroponic in nutrition solu- tion (DCF 1 mg L ⁻¹) Samples ground in liquid with sonication LC-IT-MS [75] Hydroponic in nutrition solu- tion (DCF 1 mg L ⁻¹) Nitrogen and extracted with liquid extraction LC-IT-MS [75] Hydroponic in nutrition solu- tion (DCF 1 mg L ⁻¹) Ultra-Turrax extraction LC-QQ- QTOF-MS ² [40] Hydroponic (DCF 20 mg L ⁻¹) Ultra-Turrax extraction LC-QQQ- QTOF-MS ² [53] Hydroponic (drug concentra- tions 0.01-1 mg L ⁻¹) SPE with Strata-X MS ² LC-QQQ- MS ² [53] Hydroponic (drug concentra- tions 0.01-0.1 mg L ⁻¹) SPE with Strata-X MS ² LC-QQQ- MS ² [35] Hydroponic (drug concentra- tions 0.001-0.1 mg L ⁻¹) SPE with Strata-X MS ² LC-QTOF- MS ² [36] Hydroponic in nutrition solu- tion (drug concentrations 0.1- 0.000 µg L ⁻¹) SPE with Strata-X MS ² LC-QQQ- MS ² [39] Hydroponic in nutrition solu- 10.000 µg L ⁻¹) SPE with Strata-X MS ² LC-QQQ- MS ² [49] Hydroponic in nutrition solu- 10.000 µg L ⁻¹) NS ² LC-QQQ- MS ² [40] <th></th>	
Hydroponic in nutrition solu- Samples ground in liquid in liquid in liquid extracted with liquid extraction LC-IT-MS [75] Iton (DCF 1 mg L ⁻¹) liquid extraction LC-IT-MS [75] It Hydroponic (DCF 20 mg L ⁻¹) Ultra-Turrax extraction LC-DTIM- [40] It Hydroponic (DCF 20 mg L ⁻¹) Ultra-Turrax extraction LC-OqQ- [53] Hydroponic (drug concentra- Ultra-Turrax extraction LC-QqQ- [53] Hydroponic (drug concentra- Ultra-Turrax extraction MS ² [49] Hydroponic (drug concentra- Ultra-Turrax extraction </td <td>Poplar – plant</td>	Poplar – plant
1.Hydroponic (DCF 20 mg L $^{-1}$)Ultra-Turrax extractionLC-DTIM-[40]QTOF-MS ² [53]Hydroponic (drug concentra- tions 0.01-1 mg L $^{-1}$)SPE with Strata-XLC-QqQ-[53]1.NS-NS ² LC-QTOF- NS ² [53]1.Hydroponic (drug concentra- tions 0.01-0.1 mg L $^{-1}$)Ultra-Turrax extractionNS ² [53]1.Hydroponic (drug concentra- tions 0.001-0.1 mg L $^{-1}$)Ultra-Turrax extractionNS ² [49]1.Hydroponic (drug concentra- tions 0.001-0.1 mg L $^{-1}$)SPE with Strata-X and QuEChERS cleanupNS ² [49]1.Notoponic (drug concentra- tions 0.001-0.1 mg L $^{-1}$)SPE with Oasis HLB and Ino00 µg L $^{-1}$)GC-MS[49]10,000 µg L $^{-1}$)Derivatization prior to injectionNS ² [49][49]10,000 µg L $^{-1}$)Notein-bound metabolitesLC-QTrap- injection[52]1nosil (drug concentrations 0.1- 0 migetionProtein-bound metabolitesLC-QTrap- injection1nosil (drug concentrations 1 mg L ⁻¹)Protein-bound metabolitesLC-QTrap- injection[52]1noubation of the homogenate of spring onion leaf/root bulb drug concentrations 1 mg L ⁻¹)Protein-bound with ethyl actate[52]	Cattail – plant
Hydroponic (drug concentra- tions 0.01-1 mg L ⁻¹)Ultra-Turrax extraction MS2 LC-QTOF- MS2 LC-QTOF- MS2 LC-QTOF- MS2 LC-QTOF- MS2 LC-QTOF- MS2 LC-QQC- MS2 LC-QQC- MS2 	Tomato, salad, or rice, amaranth, m maize, pea, sorgh plant
Hydroponic (drug concentra- tions 0.001-0.1 mg L ⁻¹)Ultra-Turrax extraction SPE with Strata-X and QuEChERS cleanupLC-QqQ- MS2[35]Hydroponic in nutrition solu- tion (drug concentrations 0.1- $10,000 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$)Extraction using sonication SPE with Oasis HLB and CARB cartridges Derivatization prior to 	Cress – plant
Hydroponic in nutrition solu- tion (drug concentrations 0.1- $0,000 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$)Extraction using somication Extraction using somication GC-MS[49]10,000 $\mu g \ L^{-1}$)CARB cartridges Derivatization prior to injectionGC-MS[49]In soil (drug concentrations In soli (drug concentrations of spring onion leaf/root bulbProtein-bound metabolites MS ² LC-QTrap- MS ² [52]	Cress - plant
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Lettuce – plant
	Spring onion – F

		Ref.	[87]	[63]	[77]	[69]	[62]	[70]	[81]
	Analysis of	extracts	UPLC- QqQ-MS ²	LC-QqQ- MS ² LC-TOF- MS	LC- Orbitrap- MS	LC- Orbitrap- MS	LC-QTOF- MS ² LC- Orbitrap- MS	LC-QqQ- MS ²	LC-FLD
	Extraction/cleanup/	enrichment	Liquid extraction of homoge- nized frozen samples	Liquid extraction of freeze- dried samples SPE with Oasis HLB	Liquid extraction of freeze- dried samples with sonication SPE with Oasis HLB	Liquid extraction of frozen samples SPE with Oasis HLB	Liquid extraction of homoge- nized samples SPE with Oasis HLB	Sea sand disruption method	Plant material ground in liq- uid nitrogen and extracted with sonication SPE with Oasis HLB
		Growing conditions	Cultivated with Murashige and Skoog medium (drug concentrations $1 \text{ mg } L^{-1}$)	Hydroponic in nutrient solution (GEM 1 mg L^{-1}) and cell culture (GEM 2.5 mg L^{-1})	Grown in Murashige and Skoog medium (drug concen- trations 1 mg L^{-1})	Pots filled with clean perlite and culture medium (IBU $60 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$)	Grown on medium (200 μM IBU)	Horizontal subsurface flow constructed wetland system (IBU 0.1 mg L^{-1})	Grown in Murashige and Skoog medium (IBU 0.02-1 mg L^{-1})
		Plant material	Ribwort plantain – plant, cell suspension	<i>Arabidopsis thaliana –</i> plant, cell suspension	Duckweed – plant	Phragmites australis – plant	Arabidopsis thaliana – cell suspension	Typha angustifolia – plant	Duckweed – plant
ites	Phase	Π	×	x	×	×	×	1	I
Metaboli	Phase	I	x	×	×	x	x	x	x
		Parent drug(s)	FBZ, FLU	GEM	BU	IBU	BU	IBU	ΒU

Table 1 (continued)

508

f freeze- UPLC- [28] QqQ-MS ² B LC-TOF- MS		action of LC-IT-MS ² [85] en) B	action of LC-IT-MS ² [85] en) B t LMS t LMS	action of LC-IT-MS ² [85] en) B traction t LMS f ground B B	action of LC-IT-MS ² [85] B traction LC-IT-MS [84] t LMS LC-IT-MS [84] f ground LC-IT-MS [89] B action of LC-IT-MS ² [62] en) LC-TOF- MS	action of LC-IT-MS ² [85] B LC-IT-MS ² [85] traction LC-IT-MS [84] t LMS LC-IT-MS [89] B LC-IT-MS [89] action of LC-IT-MS ² [62] en) MS R B MS MS ² [62] en) B LC-TOF- B B MS MS ² [41]	action of LC-IT-MS ² [85] en) traction LC-IT-MS [84] t LMS f ground LC-IT-MS [89] B action of LC-IT-MS ² [62] en) MS B f freeze- UPLC- B B f freeze- UPLC- QqQ-MS ² B liquid LC-IT-MS ² [62] ed with LC-IT-MS ² [62]
drug Liquid extraction of 1 dried samples SPE with Oasis HLB	d Ultrasonication extra (1PR) (under liquid nitroger ground samples SPE with Oasis HLB	d Ultrasonic liquid extr 5.5- SPE with Bond Elut	Mution Liquid extraction of samples SPE with Oasis HLB	OBZ) Ultrasonication extra OBZ) (under liquid nitroger ground samples SPE with Oasis HLB	Jution Liquid extraction of f dried samples SPE with Oasis HLB	Samples ground in li R) nitrogen and extracte liquid extraction SPE with Strata-X	olu
Cells grown in medium (concentrations 2 mg L ⁻¹ ,	Pots filled with perlite an nutrition solution (20 µM	Pots filled with perlite an nutrition solution (MET 6 32.3 mg L^{-1})	Hydroponic in nutrient so (5–50 μM OBZ)	Grown in Murashige and Skoog medium (100 μM	Hydroponic in nutrient so (PAR $0.06-5 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$)	Grown in Murashige and Skoog media (1 mM PAH	Hydroponic in nutrition s tion (drug concentrations 2.4 μM)
Arabidopsis thaliana – plant, cell suspension	Typha latifolia – plant	Typha latifolia – plant	Cyperus alternifolius – plant	Horseradish – hairy root culture	Cucumber, common bean, tomato, alfalfa, wheat – plant	Horseradish – hairy root culture	Canna indica, Iris pseudacorus – plant
×	1	1	x	×	×	×	×
×	×	×	×	1	1	1	×
IBU, NPX	IPR	MET	OBZ	OBZ	PAR	PAR	SDZ, SMR, SMX SMZ, SPD

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c } \hline \mbox{Metabolites} \\ \hline \mbox{Parent dug(s)} & \hline \mbox{Metabolites} \\ \hline \mbox{Parent dug(s)} & \hline \mbox{I} & \hline \mbox{Phase} \\ \hline \mbox{Parent dug(s)} & \hline \mbox{I} & \hline \mbox{Phase} \\ \hline \mbox{Phase} \hline P$	Table 1 (continued)							
Parent drug(s)PhasePhasePhasePhasePhasePhasePhaseExtraction/cleanup/SMXxxxxCells grown in medium (SMXExtraction of freeze-SMXxxxCells grown in medium (SMXLiquid extraction of freeze-SMXxxxCells suspensionHydroponic (SMX 1 mg L ⁻¹)SPE with Oasis HLBTCSxxxFreshwater algae -Grown in medium (SMX 1 mg L ⁻¹)SPE with Oasis HLBTCSxxxFreshwater algae -Grown in culture mediumLiquid extraction withTCSxxxNHorseradish - hairyGrown in muture mediumSPE with Oasis HLBTCSxxxHorseradish - hairyGrown in culture mediumSPE with Oasis HLBTCSxxxNHorseradish - hairyGrown in culture mediumTCSxxxNHorseradish - hairyGrown in culture mediumTCSxxxxNHorseradish - hairyTCSxxxxNGrown in culture mediumTCSxxxNHorseradish - hairyTCSxxxNHorseradish - hairyTCSxxxNHorseradish - hairyTCSxxxNHorseradish - hairyTCSxxxxNTCSxxN <t< td=""><td></td><td>Metabo</td><td>lites</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>		Metabo	lites					
Parent drug(s)IIIIIPlant materialGrowing conditionsenrichmentSMXxxxxCucumber - plant,Cells grown in medium (SMXLiquid extraction of freeze- dried samplesSMXxxxCucumber - plant,I mg L ⁻¹)SPE with Oasis HLBTCSxxxFreshwater algae -Grown in culture mediumSPE with Oasis HLBTCSxxxFreshwater algae -Grown in culture mediumLiquid extraction with sonicationTCSxxxHorseradish - hairyGrown in culture mediumSamples ground in liquid nitrogen and extraction with sonicationTCSxxxKoot culture0.6 mg L ⁻¹)Inguid extraction of cellsTCSxxxcarrot - plant, cellGrown in Murashige and nitrogen and extractionInguidTCSxxxcarrot - plant, cellGrown in culture medium (TCSLiquid extraction of cellsTCSxxxcarrot - plant, cellGrown in culture medium (TCSLiquid extraction of cellsTCSxxxxxgrown in culture medium (TCSLiquid extraction of cellsTCSxxxxcarrot - plant, cellGrown in culture medium (TCSLiquid extraction of cellsTCSxxxxgrown in culture medium (TCSLiquid extraction of cellsTCSxxxxgrown in culturegrown in		Phase	Phase			Extraction/cleanup/	Analysis of	
SMXxxCueumber - plant, Arabidopsis thatiana - eell suspensionCells grown in medium (SMX 1 mg L^1)Liquid extraction of freeze- dried samplesTCSxxFreshwater algae - plantGrown in culture medium sonicationLiquid extraction with sonicationTCSxxxHydroponic (SMX 1 mg L^1) plantSPE with Oasis HLBTCSxxFreshwater algae - plantGrown in culture medium sonicationLiquid extraction with sonicationTCSxxxHorseradish - hairy plantGrown in Murashige and Skog culture medium (TCS bind extractionSamples ground in liquid nitrogen and extractionTCSxxxCarrot - plant, cellGrown in Murashige and bid in culture medium (TCS bid in contanteTCSxxxcarrot of cellsTCSxxcarrot culture bid extraction with bid extractionTCSxxcarrot of cellsTCSxxcarrot of cellsTCSxxcarrot sound in liquid bid extraction of cellsTCSxxcarrot sound in liquid bidTCSxxcarrot sound in liquid bid	Parent drug(s)	I	Π	Plant material	Growing conditions	enrichment	extracts	Ref.
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	SMX	x	x	Cucumber – plant,	Cells grown in medium (SMX	Liquid extraction of freeze-	UPLC-	[42]
TCSxxrelsuspensionHydroponic (SMX 1 mg L^{-1})SPE with Oasis HLBTCSxxreshwater algae -Grown in culture mediumLiquid extraction with sonicationTCSxxHorseradish - hairyGrown in Murashige and Skoog culture medium (TCSSamples ground in liquid nitrogen and extracted with $0.6 \text{ mg } L^{-1}$)TCSxxxCarrot - plant, cellGrown in Murashige and $0.6 \text{ mg } L^{-1}$)TCSxxxCarrot - plant, cellGrown in culture medium (TCSTCSxxxCarrot - plant, cellGrown in culture medium (TCSTCSxxxcarrot sononTCSxxcarrot sonon1 mg L^{-1})TCSxxsuspension1 mg L^{-1})TCSygrown on soil (TCSgueChERS for carrots				Arabidopsis thaliana –	$1 \text{ mg } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	dried samples	QqQ-MS ²	
$ \begin{array}{lccccc} TCS & x & x & Freshwater algae - \\ & & & \\ Plant & & \\ TCS & x & x & Horseradish - hairy & Grown in culture medium & Iciquid extraction with sonication \\ & & x & x & Horseradish - hairy & Grown in Murashige and & nicrogen and extracted with \\ & & root culture & Skoog culture medium (TCS & nicrogen and extracted with \\ & & root culture & 0.6 \mathrm{mg} L^{-1}) & nicrogen and extracted with \\ \hline TCS & x & x & Carrot - plant, cell & Grown in culture medium (TCS & Liquid extraction \\ & & nicrogen and extracted with \\ \hline TCS & x & x & Carrot - plant, cell & Grown in culture medium (TCS & Liquid extraction \\ & & nicrogen and extracted with \\ \hline TCS & x & x & 0.6 \mathrm{mg} L^{-1}) & \mathrm{mg} $				cell suspension	Hydroponic (SMX 1 mg L^{-1})	SPE with Oasis HLB	LC-TOF- MS	
	TCS	x	x	Freshwater algae –	Grown in culture medium	Liquid extraction with	UPLC-	[88]
$ TCS \qquad x \qquad x \qquad Horseradish - hairy \qquad Grown in Murashige and \qquad Samples ground in liquid root culture TCS \qquad x \qquad x \qquad root culture medium (TCS \qquad Introgen and extracted with 0.6 mg L-1) \qquad Introgen and extracted with 0.6 mg L-1) \qquad Introgen and extracted with 1 mg L-1) \qquad Introgen and extraction of cells 2 uspension 3 mg kg^{-1}) \qquad Restrict 3 mg kg^{-1}) \qquad Restrict 3 mg kg^{-1} \qquad Restrict 2 uspension 3 mg kg^{-1} \qquad Restrict 3 mg kg^{$				plant		sonication	QqQ-MS ²	
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline TCS & Introdum (TCS & Introgen and extracted with 0.6 mg L^{-1}) & Iiquid extraction \\ \hline 0.6 mg L^{-1} & Iiquid extraction \\ \hline 0.6$	TCS	x	x	Horseradish – hairy	Grown in Murashige and	Samples ground in liquid	UPLC-	[56]
TCSxx (0.6 mg L^{-1}) liquid extractionTCSxxCarrot - plant, cellGrown in culture medium (TCSLiquid extraction of cellsn1 mg L ⁻¹ 1 mg L ⁻¹ QuEChERS for carrotsn2 mg kg^{-1}3 mg kg^{-1}1 mg kg^{-1}				root culture	Skoog culture medium (TCS	nitrogen and extracted with	QTOF-MS	
TCS x x Carrot – plant, cell Grown in culture medium (TCS Liquid extraction of cells suspension $1 \text{ mg } L^{-1}$) QuEChERS for carrots Carrot grown on soil (TCS 3 mg kg^{-1})					$0.6 \text{ mg } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$)	liquid extraction		
suspension 1 mg L ⁻¹) QuECHERS for carrots Carrot grown on soil (TCS 3 mg kg ⁻¹)	TCS	x	x	Carrot – plant, cell	Grown in culture medium (TCS	Liquid extraction of cells	GC-MS	[51]
Carrot grown on soil (TCS 3 mg kg ⁻¹)				suspension	$1 \text{ mg } \mathrm{L}^{-1}$	QuEChERS for carrots	LC-QTrap-	
3 mg kg^{-1}					Carrot grown on soil (TCS		MS	
					3 mg kg^{-1}		LC-QTOF-	
							MS^2	
ortendial 178 E2 178 actendial ALD albundarala ATE atomicatoria ATD atomicatoria AVO arrohanzana DHT histolatad	estradiol,	17β -E2 1	7β-estradic	ol, ALB albendazole, ATE	atenolol, ATR atorvastatin, AVO	avobenzone, BHT butylated 1	hydroxy	toluene.
α -DZ 1/W-SMIAHON, 17/P-DZ 1/P-SMIAHON, ALD ADOSHUAZOIC, ALD ACHORON, ALA ACHVASMAHII, APU AVOUCIZOIC, D111 OUVJARO II) α -DZ 1/W-SMIAHON, 17/P-DZ 1/P-SMIAHON, ALD ADOSHUAZOIC, ALZ ACHORON, ALA AUVISASMAHII, APU AVOUCIZOIC, D111 OUVJARO II)	stamethasone dipropic arithromycin, <i>CLI</i> clin	nate, <i>BP</i> . damvcin.	A bisphene . <i>CLP</i> clon	ol A, <i>BZP</i> benzopnenone, ninramine. <i>CP</i> clonazenan	<i>CAF</i> cattene, <i>CBZ</i> carbamazepi 1. <i>DCF</i> diclofenac. <i>DP</i> diazenam.	ne, <i>CDP</i> cnlordiazepoxide, <i>CL</i> <i>El</i> estrone. <i>EE2</i> ethinvlestradio	P ciprofioxacin ol. ENR enrofic	, C
betamethasone dipropionate, <i>BPA</i> bisphenol A, <i>BZP</i> benzophenone, <i>ALE</i> actionol, <i>ALA</i> acovasianti, <i>AVO</i> avocrizone, <i>DII</i> butanet in betamethasone dipropionate, <i>BPA</i> bisphenol A, <i>BZP</i> benzophenone, <i>CAF</i> caffeine, <i>CBZ</i> carbamazepine, <i>CDP</i> chlordiazepoxide, <i>CIP</i> clarithromvcin, <i>CII</i> clindamvcin, <i>CIP</i> clominramine, <i>CP</i> clonazenam, <i>DCF</i> diclofenac, <i>DP</i> diazenam, <i>EI</i> estrone, <i>FE2</i> ethinvlestradiol	FAD furaltadone, FAZ	furazolid	lone, FBZ	fenbendazole, FL fluvast	atin, FLD fluorescence detector,	FLU flubendazole, FP flurazej	pam, FT-ICR F	ourie
<i>FIG</i> 100-530 auto, 177-52 177-530 auto, 712 automote, 712 automote, 712 automote, 717 automated in, 770 automated betamethasone dipropionate, <i>BPA</i> bisphenol A, <i>BZP</i> benzophenone, <i>CAF</i> caffeine, <i>CBZ</i> carbamazepine, <i>CDP</i> chlordiazepoxide, <i>CIP</i> clarithromycin, <i>CLI</i> clindamycin, <i>CLP</i> clomipramine, <i>CP</i> clonazepam, <i>DCF</i> diclofenac, <i>DP</i> diazepam, <i>EI</i> estrone, <i>EE2</i> ethinylestradiol <i>FAD</i> furaltadone, <i>FAZ</i> furazolidone, <i>FBZ</i> fenbendazole, <i>FL</i> fluvastatin, <i>FLD</i> fluorescence detector, <i>FLU</i> flubendazole, <i>FP</i> flurazepa	transform ion evelotron	resonanc	YE GC 038	chromatooranhy GFM of	mfihrozil HCCA a-cvano-4-hvdr	xvcinnamic acid IBU ihunrofe	IPR ionrom	de IT
<i>FIG</i> 100-530 autor, 17)-12. 17)-52. 17)-530 about 2010, 712 action, 717 activating, 717 action, 211 outgater 15 betamethasone dipropionate, <i>BPA</i> bisphenol A, <i>BZP</i> benzophenone, <i>CAF</i> caffeine, <i>CBZ</i> carbamazepine, <i>CDP</i> chlordiazepoxide, <i>CIP</i> clarithromycin, <i>CLI</i> clindamycin, <i>CLP</i> clomipramine, <i>CP</i> clonazepam, <i>DCF</i> diclofenae, <i>DP</i> diazepam, <i>El</i> estrone, <i>EE2</i> ethinylestradiol <i>FAD</i> fincalitatione, <i>FAZ</i> furzofidone, <i>FBZ</i> fenbendazole, <i>FL</i> fluvastatin, <i>FLD</i> fluorescence detector, <i>FLU</i> flubendazole, <i>FP</i> flurazepa transform ion evclotron resonance <i>GC</i> as chromatoranho, <i>GFM</i> comfitoryil <i>HCDA</i> ocvento-4-hv/froxvcinnamic acid <i>BRI</i> ihumofan	ion tran <i>KDF</i> Latonro	fan ITC	2 lamotriai	ine MaRT 5 methyl 1H b	anzotriozola MaDR methylnoreh	an MET metformin MEA m	afanamic acid	NIDD
<i>FAD</i> FIGURE 100-501 and 17. <i>The</i> submoth, <i>ALD</i> another	IOII UIAP, AFF KEUDIU		r lailloutigi	IIIC, MEDI J-IIICUIJI-III-L	Jelizou lazole, Mer D Illeui yipalau	ell, MEI Illeuolillill, MFA Ill	iciciialilic aciu,	NUL

OPLSMR TCPnordiazepam, NFA nitrofurantoin, NFZ nitrofurazone, NPX naproxen, OBZ oxybenzone, OC octocrylene, OFL ofloxacin, OP oxazepam, sulfamerazine, SMT sulfamethizole, SMX sulfamethoxazole, SMZ sulfamethazine, SPD sulfapridine, STZ sulfathiazole, TA temazepam, 4-octylphenol, OS octisalate, PAR paracetamol, PZE phenazone, SDM sulfadimethoxine, SDZ sulfadiazine, SER settraline, SIM simvastatin, alle aclu, tris(2-chloroethyl)phosphate, TCS triclosan, TEL telmisartan, TM triazolam, TMP trimethoprim, TRZ trazodone Incury r Juliou iguiv, www.ucll, ion uap, AFF

4.1 Carbamazepine

Carbamazepine (CBZ), a drug used for treatment of epilepsy and neuropathic pain, is one of the most thoroughly investigated substances regarding its uptake and metabolization in plants [25]. The studies published so far were focusing on plants with different intended usage. Those comprised edible plants such as cucumber [43], tomato [37, 38], lettuce [37, 45, 47], spinach [47], arugula [47], radish [47], and wheat [37], plants seen as potential candidates for phytotreatment (*Typha* spp.) [65], a fungus (*Pleurotus ostreatus*) [73], and cell cultures from horseradish [57]. Thereby, upon treatment with CBZ, apart from phase I metabolites formed by dehydration, hydroxylation, and subsequent epoxidation, also several metabolites belonging to phase II derived from conjugation of hydroxylated CBZ with amino acids and hexoses were found. From the manifold studies on the interaction of plants with CBZ, three stand out. One investigated synergistic effects when besides CBZ also lamotrigine was taken up by the plant. In this case, a reduced formation of dihydroxy-CBZ from the corresponding epoxide was observed due to inhibition of epoxide hydrolase, a finding corresponding with results from human pharmacokinetic studies [43]. Due to the increased experimental effort, not too many studies use plants cultivated in soil. Kodesova et al. investigated the uptake of CBZ (next to two other common drugs) from eleven topsoils and two sub-soils (whereby drug stability in the soil was also considered) [47].

The third study to be highlighted in this context investigated CBZ transformation products in *Armoracia rusticana* cell culture. Thereby the effect of endophytic rhizobacteria (*Rhizobium radiobacter* and *Diaphorobacter nitroreducens*) on the formation of these metabolites was examined [57]. The results from this work suggested that the reduction in CBZ concentrations could potentially be modulated by the endophytic community. In a more fundamental way, this issue was already researched in a study exploring the general potential of endophytic bacteria in phytoremediation [74].

4.2 Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs

With sales revenues exceeding 13 billion dollars alone in the United States, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) can be regarded as one of the most prevalent drug classes for use in humans. As a negative side effect, traces of NSAIDs are ubiquitous in the WWTP effluents and hence in the aquatic environment. This is also reflected in a particular scientific interest in the interaction of this group of pharmaceuticals with plants. Thereby the majority of studies involved the use of either diclofenac (DCF) [35, 40, 53, 58, 60, 75, 76] or ibuprofen (IBU) [28, 69, 77–81], the two most prominent representatives within the group of NSAIDs. To a lesser content, also naproxen [28, 35, 53], mefenamic acid [35, 53], and KPF [35, 53] were investigated with respect to their interaction with plants such

as *Arabidopsis thaliana* [28, 60, 79], *Lemna gibba* [77, 81], *Phragmites australis* [69], *Typha angustifolia/latifolia* [75], poplar [82] (the latter three plant types are commonly used in the realization of constructed wetlands), and the edible plants barley [58] and garden cress [35, 40, 53] upon uptake from water. In the following, a few selected papers on this topic will be discussed in detail.

The first report on the metabolization of DCF in plants was by Huber et al. [58]. In an experiment with barley, they could prove the formation of a phase I metabolite (hydroxylated DCF) in the plant that was subsequently transformed into a phase II metabolite by conjugation with glucose. This analytical work was based on HPLC with low-resolution MS (ion trap) whereby the formation of the glucose conjugate was further bolstered by enzymatic cleavage. In 2017 Fu et al. proposed a degradation/transformation pathway for DCF in Arabidopsis cells. The strategy employed to detect and further identify DCF-related metabolites was the use of data from HPLC-HR-MS, whereby the characteristic isotopic pattern resulting from the two chlorine atoms in DCF was employed as a first hint, and subsequently comparison with standard substances. This approach resulted in an unambiguous identification of a number of phase I + II metabolites [60]. A special asset of this work and a second one published by the same group [28] (focusing on IBU and naproxen) was that additional experiments with ¹⁴C-labeled drugs allowed a judgment on the non-extractable phase III metabolites integrated in cell walls (a portion that is not considered in the majority of works within this field).

Mlynek et al. presented an interesting workflow with respect to the use of drifttube ion-mobility (DT-IM) coupled to HR-MS for the detection of DCF-related metabolites in hydroponically grown garden cress (see Fig. 3) [40]. In this approach, drift times were recorded for the peaks eluting from HPLC, and, as a QTOF/MS instrument was used, all analytes were subsequently fragmented with low collision energies to yield significant fragments. This allowed to assign these signals to DCF-related drug metabolites (all in all 30 DCF metabolites formed in the plant could be identified).

As already stated in the previous section, to facilitate the detection and (at least tentative) identification of the drug metabolites formed within the plant, most studies employ relatively high concentrations of the parent drug (commonly in mg L⁻¹ to high μ g L⁻¹ range). Nonetheless, in several papers the authors tried to approximate the drug concentrations used to those expected in real environmental waters. Examples for such a practice have been published by Emhofer et al. (employing DCF, NPX, KPF, and mefenamic acid at concentrations of 1 μ g L⁻¹ each) [35] or Di Baccio et al. [81] and He et al. [69] with IBU concentrations of 20 μ g L⁻¹ and 60 μ g L⁻¹, respectively.

4.3 Antibiotics

Many antibiotics are applied for the treatment of humans as well as animals. For this reason they can enter the environment either via the sewage system or via the use of



Fig. 3 Mass spectrum and drift-tube ion-mobility data for a peak observed in the chromatogram at 6.8 min in an onion sample. (a) shows the mass spectrum from 6.67 to 6.86 min, (b) the drift spectrum for the selected range of 22.2 to 34.4 ms, and (c) the corresponding drift time versus m/z plot. The peak at 6.8 min was identified as DCF-glucose-malonic acid. From [40] with permission

manure of treated animals as a fertilizer. Sulfonamides [42, 48, 83], fluoroquinolones [39, 50], clarithromycin [48], and clindamycin [39] were investigated with respect to their uptake and metabolization by plants. Studies published so far were looking for metabolites from ofloxacin and enrofloxacin as well as clindamycin and several sulfonamides in field-grown vegetables (in this case reclaimed water was used for irrigation) [39]. Thereby, although only a smaller number of metabolites could be detected, the authors achieved quantification in real vegetable samples. Further studies described the detection of a series of clarithromycin and sulfadiazine metabolites in lettuce [48], the investigations on the intraspecies variability of cabbage varieties with respect to accumulation and metabolization of ciprofloxacin [50], and metabolism of sulfonamides in cucumber [42] and wetland plants [83]. One specific outcome of the latter research was the proposal of metabolic pathways for several sulfonamides.

4.4 Other Drugs for Use in Humans

One of the more early examples for research focused on the formation of drug metabolites in plants after treatment with the parent drug (here PAR) is the detection of PAR-glutathione, PAR-cysteine, and PAR-glucose in *Armoracia rusticana* cell culture reported by Huber et al. [36]. In this work, the cell culture was incubated with an exceptionally high concentration of PAR (~160 mg L⁻¹), and extracts from the harvested cells were subsequently analyzed by HPLC coupled to a low-resolution mass spectrometer (ion trap). MS² experiments were used to acquire knowledge on the metabolite structures. To further support data from HPLC-MS analysis, enzymatic hydrolysis was performed revealing the cleavage of glucose from the PAR-glucoside. A further study on PAR metabolism by cucumber was published 10 years later by Sun et al. [41].

A major problem encountered in many of the studies devoted to identifying the metabolites formed in plants upon uptake of PPCPs is the lack of suitable standards, particularly when it comes to phase II metabolites. For this reason as much information as possible about the compounds detected should be gathered. Investigating the interaction of garden cress with three statins, Emhofer et al. introduced DT-IM QTOF/MS offering a further parameter (collision cross sections) for compound characterization [54]. Stable isotope labeling-assisted metabolite probing for the detection of metabolites formed within the plant was tested on the example of *Arabidopsis thaliana* treated with gemfibrozil [63]. The unique diagnostic pattern due to the use of 1:3 mixture of deuterated and non-deuterated gemfibrozil facilitated the spotting of 11 novel phase II drug-conjugates in plant extracts [63]. The workflow employed in that study is depicted in Fig. 4.

MS imaging (MSI) may be used to illustrate the tissue distribution of drugs as well as their metabolites with a plant. Vilette et al. presented an MSI approach for elucidating the spatial distribution of telmisartan and its metabolites (among other drugs) in *Salix alba* leaves [67]. A multi-analyte approach was chosen by Hurtado et al. when analyzing lettuce grown in the presence of a series of different contaminants [44]. Their approach involved the use of ß-glucosidase to cleave off glucose moieties from phase II metabolites derived from a variety of parent drugs and PCPs. Comparing the results from extracts treated with ß-glucosidase and untreated ones allowed to judge the degree of metabolization. Information about further studies on interactions of plants with caffeine [46], benzodiazepines [59], antidepressants [55], steroid estrogens [49], and metformin [84] may be extracted from Table 1.

The X-ray contrast agent iopromide was tested with *Typha latifolia* whereby a large number of mainly phase I metabolites were detected [85].



Fig. 4 Schematics of identifying unknown metabolites of gemfibrozil in *Arabidopsis* cells using stable isotope labeling coupled to high-resolution mass spectrometry. Main steps include (**a**) create a mixture of labeled and unlabeled gemfibrozil, (**b**) expose the gemfibrozil mixture to *Arabidopsis* cells, (**c**) identify metabolite candidates, and (**d**) elucidate structure of metabolites. Reprinted with permission from [63]. Copyright (2018) American Chemical Society

4.5 Drugs for Veterinary Use Only

Benzimidazole anthelmintics are frequently employed in the treatment of animals against their infestation with parasitic worms with the unwanted side effect that these substances are released to the environment and subsequently can interact with the agricultural system. Uptake and metabolization of anthelmintics have been investigated in *Campanula rotundifolia* [86] and *Plantago lanceolata* [61, 87] whereby experiments with whole plants allowed to propose schemes for metabolization of albendazole, fenbendazole, and flubendazole. As an example of the metabolic pathway of drugs in plants, the transformation of albendazole in *Plantago*



Fig. 5 The metabolic pathway of ABZ in roots (R), basal parts of leaves (BL), and tops of leaves (TL) from *Plantago* regenerants. For several metabolites more than one isomer was detected. Reproduced with modifications from [61] with permission

regenerants is depicted in Fig. 5. Unfortunately even substances banned in many developed countries such as nitrofuran can still represent a hazard as it is still used (on a legal or illegal basis) for animal production. Wang et al. investigated uptake and metabolism of nitrofuran in spring onion by in vitro (incubation of homogenized plant material) and in vivo (spring onion grown in soil) experiments [52].

4.6 Personal Care Products

From the quite substantial group of PCPs, several sub-groups have been studied with respect to their interaction with plants. In this chapter we included two groups of substances, the bacteriostatic agent triclosan in combination with freshwater algae [88], horseradish [56], and carrot [51] and a series of UV filters commonly employed in sunscreen agents and by this way introduced into the aquatic system. The latter include oxybenzone (investigated in combination with horseradish [62] and *Cyperus alternifolius* [89]) as well as avobenzone, octocrylene, and octisalate where uptake

and metabolism by *Cyperus alternifolius* and *Lemna gibba* [90] were investigated. As already discussed shortly, a targeted approach for metabolite detection is always somewhat biased, as unexpected conjugates might be overlooked. Macherius et al. provided a sophisticated workflow for the identification of triclosan-related plant metabolites in horseradish [56]. They recorded HR-MS spectra for both treated and untreated horseradish hairy root tissue, whereby abundant metabolites were simply detected by comparing base peak chromatograms from both series. For less abundant conjugates, they subjected the data to data filtering and multivariate statistics (principal component analysis). Another work worth mentioning employing novel instrumentation for metabolite detection and (at least tentative) identification was published by Seyer et al. [90]. Here the interaction of several UV filters commonly employed in sunscreen agents with two water-borne plants (*Lemna gibba* and *Cyperus alternifolius*) was investigated. The use of DTIM-HR-MS provided an increased amount of data available for metabolite structure proposal.

5 Conclusions and Perspectives

In particular within the last 10 years, interest in the uptake and metabolization of pharmaceuticals by plants has faced increasing interest, leading to a series of publications in this field. There are several driving forces for conducting such studies. The first category are basic studies, mainly devoted to the identification of metabolites originating from drugs or personal care products formed in plants, ideally allowing to propose a (tentative) metabolic pathway. Second, when investigating edible plants (where uptake of xenobiotics via the use of reclaimed waters for irrigation is of particular interest), drugs and their metabolites might affect their use for food and feed. Third, there is research focusing on the potential of certain plants (such as *Typha* spp. [65], *Typha angustifolia/latifolia* [80], *Phragmites australis* [69], or *Lemna gibba* [77]) for phytoremediation of contaminated land.

Regarding current and future trends related to this scientific field, there are a number of promising developments that either can already be seen or imagined for the years coming. Climate change and with it the need for employing reclaimed waters in agriculture are an increasingly important factor within many countries. As a consequence, plants used for production of food and feed might be affected by xenobiotics (and their metabolites) taken up from irrigation water. For this reason, there is a high probability that research in this field will face growing importance. Whereas the determination of the parent drugs in food and feed at the required trace level was already accomplished [16], for the corresponding metabolites, methods for their detection and even more their quantitation in edible plants definitely need to be substantially improved [25].

To achieve these improvements, advances need to be made in all analytical steps. These include new approaches for extraction and preconcentration of the metabolites of interest and finally optimization of HPLC-MS⁽ⁿ⁾ analysis. The final goal of these efforts should be to achieve comparable standards as already accomplished in the

analysis of other environmentally relevant analytes such as pesticide residues. Although a range of metabolites formed in plants upon uptake of xenobiotics from the environment has already been identified according to the highest standards (level 1 of the scheme presented by Schymanski [68]), more standard substances should also be available for phase II metabolites, thereby allowing to move from tentative formulas and structures to unambiguously identified ones. Standards are also required for quantitative analysis, when following traditional workflows in HPLC-ESI-MS. Here new approaches allowing the standard-free quantification in HPLC-ESI-MS might be an alternative worth considering [70]. For a more comprehensive understanding of metabolites within the plant is of utmost concern. Besides a move toward more miniaturized methods for sampling (i.e., analyzing smaller and smaller plant parts), the use of imaging techniques as demonstrated by Villette et al. might be the way to go [67].

Finally despite the fact that a range of pharmaceuticals has already been investigated with respect to their metabolization in plants, there is still a lot of work left for the future with important classes of pharmaceuticals still missing completely.

Acknowledgment Part of this work was supported by the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) project I-3046 (Pharmaceuticals in the Environment and their Interaction with Plants).

References

- 1. aus der Beek T, Weber FA, Bergmann A, Hickmann S, Ebert I, Hein A, Küster A (2016) Pharmaceuticals in the environment – global occurrences and perspectives. Environ Toxicol Chem 35:823–835
- Pérez-Fernández V, Mainero Rocca L, Tomai P, Fanali S, Gentili A (2017) Recent advancements and future trends in environmental analysis: sample preparation, liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry. Anal Chim Acta 983:9–41
- 3. Wilkinson JL, Boxall ABA, Kolpin DW (2019) A novel method to characterise levels of pharmaceutical pollution in large-scale aquatic monitoring campaigns. Appl Sci 9:1368
- Tran NH, Gin KY (2017) Occurrence and removal of pharmaceuticals, hormones, personal care products, and endocrine disrupters in a full-scale water reclamation plant. Sci Total Environ 599-600:1503–1516
- 5. Ek M, Baresel C, Magnér J, Bergström R, Harding M (2014) Activated carbon for the removal of pharmaceutical residues from treated wastewater. Water Sci Technol 69:2372–2380
- Baresel C, Malmborg J, Ek M, Sehlén R (2016) Removal of pharmaceutical residues using ozonation as intermediate process step at Linköping WWTP, Sweden. Water Sci Technol 73:2017–2024
- 7. Välitalo P, Kruglova A, Mikola A, Vahala R (2017) Toxicological impacts of antibiotics on aquatic micro-organisms: a mini-review. Int J Hyg Environ Health 220:558–569
- Kümmerer K (2016) Presence, fate and risks of pharmaceuticals in the environment. In: Summerton L, Sneddon HF, Jones LC, Clark JH (eds) Green and sustainable medicinal chemistry: methods, tools and strategies for the 21st century pharmaceutical industry1st edn. RSC, London, pp 63–72
- 9. Tal A (2016) Rethinking the sustainability of Israel's irrigation practices in the Drylands. Water Res 90:387–394

- Voulvoulis N (2018) Water reuse from a circular economy perspective and potential risks from an unregulated approach. Curr Opin Environ Sci Health 2:32–45
- 11. Deviller G, Lundy L, Fatta-Kassinos D (2020) Recommendations to derive quality standards for chemical pollutants in reclaimed water intended for reuse in agricultural irrigation. Chemosphere 240:124911
- Wu X, Dodgen LK, Conkle JL, Gan J (2015) Plant uptake of pharmaceutical and personal care products from recycled water and biosolids: a review. Sci Total Environ 536:655–666
- Kaczala F, Blum SE (2016) The occurrence of veterinary pharmaceuticals in the environment: a review. Curr Anal Chem 12:169–182
- Bártíková H, Podlipná R, Skálová L (2016) Veterinary drugs in the environment and their toxicity to plants. Chemosphere 144:2290–2301
- 15. Christou A, Papadavid G, Dalias P, Fotopoulos V, Michael C, Bayona JM, Piña B, Madikizela LM, Ncube S, Chimuka L (2018) Uptake of pharmaceuticals by plants grown under hydroponic conditions and natural occurring plant species: a review. Sci Total Environ 636:477–486
- Bartrons M, Peñuelas J (2017) Pharmaceuticals and personal-care products in plants. Trends Plant Sci 22:194–203
- Madikizela LM, Ncube S, Chimuka L (2018) Uptake of pharmaceuticals by plants grown under hydroponic conditions and natural occurring plant species: a review. Sci Total Environ 636:477–486
- Reddy Pullagurala VL, Rawat S, Adisa IO, Hernandez-Viezcas JA, Peralta-Videa JR, Gardea-Torresdey JL (2018) Plant uptake and translocation of contaminants of emerging concern in soil. Sci Total Environ 636:1585–1596
- Pico Y, Alfarham A, Barcelo D (2017) Analysis of emerging contaminants and nanomaterials in plant materials following uptake from soils. Trends Anal Chem 94:173–189
- Miller EL, Nason SL, Karthikeyan KG, Pedersen JA (2016) Root uptake of pharmaceuticals and personal care product ingredients. Environ Sci Technol 50:525–541
- Carvalho PN, Basto MCP, Almeida CMR, Brix H (2014) A review of plant–pharmaceutical interactions: from uptake and effects in crop plants to phytoremediation in constructed wetlands. Environ Sci Pollut Res 21:11729–11763
- Goldstein M, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2014) Insights into the uptake processes of wastewaterborne pharmaceuticals by vegetables. Environ Sci Technol 48:5593–5600
- Kinney CA, Vanden Heuvel B (2020) Translocation of pharmaceuticals and personal care products after land application of biosolids. Curr Opin Environ Sci Health 14:23–30
- 24. Fu Q, Malchi T, Carter LJ, Li H, Gan J, Chefetz B (2019) Pharmaceutical and personal care products: from wastewater treatment into agro-food systems. Environ Sci Technol 53:14083–14090
- 25. Klampfl CW (2019) Metabolization of pharmaceuticals by plants after uptake from water and soil: a review. Trends Anal Chem 111:13–26
- 26. Bártíková H, Skálová L, Stuchlíková L, Vokřál I, Vaněk T, Podlipná R (2015) Xenobioticmetabolizing enzymes in plants and their role in uptake and biotransformation of veterinary drugs in the environment. Drug Metab Rev 47:374–387
- 27. Cummins I, Dixon DP, Freitag-Pohl S, Skipsey M, Edwards R (2011) Multiple roles for plant glutathione transferases in xenobiotic detoxification. Drug Metab Rev 43:266–280
- 28. Fu Q, Zhang J, Borchardt D, Schlenk D, Gan J (2017) Direct conjugation of emerging contaminants in arabidopsis: indication for an overlooked risk in plants? Environ Sci Technol 51:6071–6081
- 29. Kazmi SR, Jun R, Yu M-S, Jung C, Na D (2019) In silico approaches and tools for the prediction of drug metabolism and fate: a review. Comput Biol Med 106:54–64
- 30. Nash WJ, Dunn WB (2019) From mass to metabolite in human untargeted metabolomics: recent advances in annotation of metabolites applying liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry data. Trends Anal Chem 120:115324
- Pezzatti J, Boccard J, Codesido S, Gagnebin Y, Joshi A, Picard D, Gonzalez-Ruiz V, Rudaz S (2020) Implementation of liquid chromatography high resolution mass spectrometry methods

for untargeted metabolomic analyses of biological samples: a tutorial. Anal Chim Acta 1105:28-44

- 32. Gika H, Virgiliou C, Theodoridis G, Plumbe RS, Wilson ID (2019) Untargeted LC/MS-based metabolic phenotyping (metabonomics/metabolomics): the state of the art. J Chromatogr B 1117:136–147
- Wu X, Conkle JL, Ernst F, Gan J (2014) Treated wastewater irrigation: uptake of pharmaceutical and personal care products by common vegetables under field conditions. Environ Sci Technol 48:11286–11293
- 34. Herklotz PA, Gurung P, van den Heuvel B, Kinney CA (2010) Uptake of human pharmaceuticals by plants grown under hydroponic conditions. Chemosphere 78:1416–1421
- 35. Emhofer L, Himmelsbach M, Buchberger W, Klampfl CW (2018) Insights into the uptake, metabolization and translocation of four non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in cress (Lepidium sativum) by HPLC-MS². Electrophoresis 39:1294–1300
- 36. Huber C, Bartha B, Harpaintner R, Schröder P (2009) Metabolism of acetaminophen (paracetamol) in plants—two independent pathways result in the formation of a glutathione and a glucose conjugate. Environ Sci Pollut Res 16:206–213
- 37. Ben Mordechay E, Tarchitzky J, Chen Y, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2018) Composted biosolids and treated wastewater as sources of pharmaceuticals and personal care products for plant uptake: a case study with carbamazepine. Environ Pollut 232:164–172
- Riemenschneider C, Seiwert B, Moeder M, Schwarz D, Reemtsma T (2017) Extensive transformation of the pharmaceutical carbamazepine following uptake into intact tomato plants. Environ Sci Technol 51:6100–6109
- Tadić D, Matamoros V, Bayona JM (2019) Simultaneous determination of multiclass antibiotics and their metabolites in four types of field-grown vegetables. Anal Bioanal Chem 411:5209–5222
- 40. Mlynek F, Himmelsbach M, Buchberger W, Klampfl CW (2020) A new analytical workflow using HPLC with drift-tube ion-mobility quadrupole time-of-flight/mass spectrometry for the detection of drug-related metabolites in plants. Anal Bioanal Chem 412:1817–1824
- Sun C, Dudley S, McGinnis M, Trumble J, Gan J (2019) Acetaminophen detoxification in cucumber plants via induction of glutathione S-transferases. Sci Total Environ 649:431–439
- 42. Dudley S, Sun C, Jiang J, Gan J (2018) Metabolism of sulfamethoxazole in *Arabidopsis thaliana* cells and cucumber seedlings. Environ Pollut 242:1748–1757
- Goldstein M, Malchi T, Shenker M, Chefetz B (2018) Pharmacokinetics in plants: carbamazepine and its interactions with lamotrigine. Environ Sci Technol 52:6957–6964
- 44. Hurtado C, Domínguez C, Clapés P, Bayona JM (2018) Determination of the β-glycosylate fraction of contaminants of emerging concern in lettuce (*Lactuca sativa* L.) grown under controlled conditions. Anal Bioanal Chem 410:5715–5721
- 45. Martínez-Piernas AB, Nahim-Granados S, Polo-López MI, Fernández-Ibáñez PI, Murgolo S, Mascolo G, Agüera A (2019) Identification of transformation products of carbamazepine in lettuce crops irrigated with ultraviolet-C treated water. Environ Pollut 247:1009–1019
- 46. Chuang Y-H, Liu C-H, Hammerschmidt R, Zhang W, Boyd SA, Li H (2018) Metabolic demethylation and oxidation of caffeine during uptake by lettuce. J Agric Food Chem 66:7907–7915
- 47. Kodešová R, Klement A, Golovko O, Fér M, Nikodem A, Kočárek M, Grabic R (2019) Root uptake of atenolol, sulfamethoxazole and carbamazepine, and their transformation in three soils and four plants. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26:9876–9891
- 48. Tian R, Zhang R, Uddin M, Qiao X, Chen J, Gu G (2019) Uptake and metabolism of clarithromycin and sulfadiazine in lettuce. Environ Pollut 247:1134–1142
- 49. Adeel M, Yang YS, Wang YY, Song XM, Ahmad MA, Rogers HJ (2018) Uptake and transformation of steroid estrogens as emerging contaminants influence plant development. Environ Pollut 243:1487–1497
- Zhao H-M, Huang H-B, Du H, Lin J, Xiang L, Li Y-W, Cai Q-Y, Li H, Mo C-H, Liu J-S, Wong M-H, Zhou D-M (2018) Intraspecific variability of ciprofloxacin accumulation, tolerance, and

metabolism in Chinese flowering cabbage (Brassica parachinensis). J Hazard Mater 349:252-261

- 51. Macherius A, Eggen T, Lorenz W, Moeder M, Ondruschka J, Reemtsma T (2012) Metabolization of the bacteriostatic agent triclosan in edible plants and its consequences for plant uptake assessment. Environ Sci Technol 46:10797–10804
- 52. Wang Y, Chan KKJ, Chan W (2017) Plant uptake and metabolism of nitrofuran antibiotics in spring onion grown in nitrofuran-contaminated soil. J Agric Food Chem 65:4255–4261
- 53. Emhofer L, Himmelsbach M, Buchberger W, Klampfl CW (2017) High-performance liquid chromatography – mass spectrometry analysis of the parent drugs and their metabolites in extracts from cress (*Lepidium sativum*) grown hydroponically in water containing four non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. J Chromatogr A 1491:137–144
- 54. Emhofer L, Himmelsbach M, Buchberger W, Klampfl CW (2019) High-performance liquid chromatography drift-tube ion-mobility quadrupole time-of-flight/mass spectrometry for the identity confirmation and characterization of metabolites from three statins (lipid-lowering drugs) in the model plant cress (*Lepidium sativum*) after uptake from water. J Chromatogr A 1592:122–132
- 55. Reichl B, Himmelsbach M, Emhofer L, Klampfl CW, Buchberger W (2018) Uptake and metabolism of the antidepressants sertraline, clomipramine, and trazodone in a garden cress (*Lepidium sativum*) model. Electrophoresis 39:1301–1308
- 56. Macherius A, Seiwert B, Schröder P, Huber C, Lorenz W, Reemtsma T (2014) Identification of plant metabolites of environmental contaminants by UPLC-QToF-MS: the in vitro metabolism of triclosan in horseradish. J Agric Food Chem 62:1001–1009
- 57. Sauvêtre A, May R, Harpaintner R, Poschenrieder C, Schröder P (2018) Metabolism of carbamazepine in plant roots and endophytic rhizobacteria isolated from *Phragmites australis*. J Hazard Mater 342:85–95
- Huber C, Bartha B, Schröder P (2012) Metabolism of diclofenac in plants hydroxylation is followed by glucose conjugation. J Hazard Mater 243:250–256
- Carter LJ, Williams M, Martin S, Kamaludeen SPB, Kookana RS (2018) Sorption, plant uptake and metabolism of benzodiazepines. Sci Total Environ 628-629:18–25
- 60. Fu Q, Ye Q, Zhang J, Richards J, Borchardt D, Gan J (2017) Diclofenac in Arabidopsis cells: rapid formation of conjugates. Environ Pollut 222:383–392
- 61. Stuchlíková Raisová L, Podlipná R, Szotáková B, Syslová E, Skálová L (2017) Evaluation of drug uptake and deactivation in plants: fate of albendazole in ribwort plantain (Plantago lanceolata) cells and regenerants. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 141:37–42
- 62. Chen F, Huber C, May R, Schröder P (2016) Metabolism of oxybenzone in a hairy root culture: perspectives for phytoremediation of a widely used sunscreen agent. J Hazard Mater 306:230–236
- 63. Fu Q, Dudley S, Sun C, Schlenk D, Gan J (2018) Stable isotope labeling-assisted metabolite probing for emerging contaminants in plants. Anal Chem 90:11040–11047
- 64. Riemenschneider C, Seiwert B, Goldstein M, Al-Raggad M, Salameh E, Chefetz B, Reemtsma T (2017) An LC-MS/MS method for the determination of 28 polar environmental contaminants and metabolites in vegetables irrigated with treated municipal wastewater. Anal Methods 9:1273–1281
- 65. Dordio AV, Belo M, Martins Teixeira D, Palace Carvalho AJ, Dias CMB, Picó Y, Pinto AP (2011) Evaluation of carbamazepine uptake and metabolization by Typha spp., a plant with potential use in phytotreatment. Bioresour Technol 102:7827–7834
- 66. Barker SA (2007) Matrix solid phase dispersion. J Biochem Biophys Methods 70:151-162
- 67. Villette C, Maurer L, Wanko A, Heintz D (2019) Xenobiotics metabolization in *Salix alba* leaves uncovered by mass spectrometry imaging. Metabolomics 15:122
- Schymanski EL, Jeon J, Gulde R, Fenner K, Ruff M, Singer HP, Hollender J (2014) Identifying small molecules via high resolution mass spectrometry: communicating confidence. Environ Sci Technol 48:2097–2098

- 69. He Y, Langenhoff AAM, Sutton NB, Rijnaarts HHM, Blokland MH, Chen F, Huber C, Schröder P (2017) Metabolism of ibuprofen by *Phragmites australis*: uptake and phytodegradation. Environ Sci Technol 51:4576–4584
- Kruve A, Kaupmees K, Liigand J, Leito I (2014) Negative electrospray ionization via deprotonation: predicting the ionization efficiency. Anal Chem 86:4822–4830
- Kruve A, Kaupmees K (2017) Predicting ESI/MS signal change for anions in different solvents. Anal Chem 89:5079–5086
- 72. Wang T, Liigand J, Frandsen HL, Smedsgaard J, Kruve A (2020) Standard substances free quantification makes LC/ESI/MS non-targeted screening of pesticides in cereals comparable between labs. Food Chem 318:126460
- 73. Golan-Rozen N, Seiwert B, Riemenschneider C, Reemtsma T, Chefetz B, Hadar Y (2015) Transformation pathways of the recalcitrant pharmaceutical compound carbamazepine by the white-rot fungus pleurotus ostreatus: effects of growth conditions. Environ Sci Technol 49:12351–12362
- 74. Syranidou E, Christofilopoulos S, Gkavrou G, Thijs S, Weyens N, Vangronsveld J, Kalogerakis N (2016) Exploitation of endophytic bacteria to enhance the phytoremediation potential of the wetland helophyte *Juncus acutus*. Front Microbiol 7:1016
- 75. Bartha B, Huber C, Schröder P (2014) Uptake and metabolism of diclofenac in *Typha latifolia* how plants cope with human pharmaceutical pollution. Plant Sci 227:12–20
- 76. Kummerová M, Zezulka S, Babula P, Tříska J (2016) Possible ecological risk of two pharmaceuticals diclofenac and paracetamol demonstrated on a model plant *Lemna minor*. J Hazard Mater 302:351–361
- 77. Pietrini F, Di Baccio D, Aceña J, Pérez S, Barceló D, Zacchini M (2015) Ibuprofen exposure in *Lemna gibba* L.: evaluation of growth and phytotoxic indicators, detection of ibuprofen and identification of its metabolites in plant and in the medium. J Hazard Mater 300:189–193
- Santiago S, Roll DM, Ray C, Williams C, Moravcik P, Knopf A (2016) Effects of soil moisture depletion on vegetable crop uptake of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs). Environ Sci Pollut Res 23:20257–20268
- Marsik P, Sisa M, Lacina O, Motkova K, Langhansova L, Rezek J, Vanek T (2017) Metabolism of ibuprofen in higher plants: a model *Arabidopsis thaliana* cell suspension culture system. Environ Pollut 220:383–392
- 80. Li Y, Zhang J, Zhu G, Liu Y, Wu B, Ng WJ, Appan A, Tan SK (2016) Phytoextraction, phytotransformation and rhizodegradation of ibuprofen associated with *Typha angustifolia* in a horizontal subsurface flow constructed wetland. Water Res 102:294–304
- 81. Di Baccio D, Pietrini F, Bertolotto P, Pérez S, Barcelò D, Zacchini M, Donati E (2017) Response of *Lemna gibba* L. to high and environmentally relevant concentrations of ibuprofen: removal, metabolism and morpho-physiological traits for biomonitoring of emerging contaminants. Sci Total Environ 584-585:363–373
- Pierattini EC, Francini A, Huber C, Sebastiani L, Schröder P (2018) Poplar and diclofenac pollution: a focus on physiology, oxidative stress and uptake in plant organs. Sci Total Environ 636:944–952
- 83. Tai Y, Fung-Yee Tam N, Ruan W, Yang Y, Yang Y, Tao R, Zhang J (2019) Specific metabolism related to sulfonamide tolerance and uptake in wetland plants. Chemosphere 227:496–504
- 84. Cui H, Schröder P (2016) Uptake, translocation and possible biodegradation of the antidiabetic agent metformin by hydroponically grown *Typha latifolia*. J Hazard Mater 308:355–361
- Cui H, de Angelis MH, Schröder P (2017) Iopromide exposure in *Typha latifolia* L.: evaluation of uptake, translocation and different transformation mechanisms in planta. Water Res 122:290–298
- 86. Stuchlíková L, Jirásko R, Skálová L, Pavlík F, Szotáková B, Holčapek M, Vaněk T, Podlipná R (2016) Metabolic pathways of benzimidazole anthelmintics in harebell (*Campanula rotundifolia*). Chemosphere 157:10–17

- 87. Stuchlíková LR, Skálová L, Szotáková B, Syslová E, Vokřál I, Vaněk T, Podlipná R (2018) Biotransformation of flubendazole and fenbendazole and their effects in the ribwort plantain (*Plantago lanceolata*). Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 147:681–687
- 88. Ding T, Lin K, Bao L, Yang M, Li J, Yang B, Gan J (2018) Biouptake, toxicity and biotransformation of triclosan in diatom Cymbella sp. and the influence of humic acid. Environ Pollut 234:231–242
- 89. Chen F, Huber C, Schröder P (2017) Fate of the sunscreen compound oxybenzone in *Cyperus alternifolius* based hydroponic culture: uptake, biotransformation and phytotoxicity. Chemosphere 182:638–646
- 90. Seyer A, Mlynek F, Himmelsbach M, Buchberger W, Klampfl CW (2019) Investigations on the uptake and transformation of sunscreen ingredients in duckweed (*Lemna gibba*) and *Cyperus alternifolius* using high-performance liquid chromatography drift-tube ion-mobility quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1613:460673

Conclusions and Future Perspectives



Sandra Pérez, Serge Chiron, Damià Barceló, Nicola Montemurro, and Peter Eichhorn

Contents

1	Introduction	526
2	Presence of Drugs in Soils and Their Remediation	526
3	Presence, Uptake, and Metabolism of Drugs in Crops	527
4	Toxicity in the Environment and Humans	528
5	Methods for the Analysis of PhACs in Soil-Crops Systems	529

Abstract During the course of this book, we have witnessed how wastewater represents an important agronomic resource especially in areas of the world affected by drought or where availability is usually limited. However, this practice raises many fears not only in the environmental field but especially in the case of food safety. In fact, wastewater represents the main source of diffusion of pharmaceutical residues (including degradation products and metabolites) in the aquatic and terrestrial environment. For assessing the occurrence of drugs and related substances, sensitive analytical methods have recently become available.

Keywords Agrosystems, Ecotoxicity, Human health, Metabolism, Vermiremediation

Sandra Pérez Solsona, Nicola Montemurro, Serge Chiron, and Damià Barceló (eds.), Interaction and Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Crop Systems: The Impact of Reclaimed Wastewater, Hdb Env Chem (2021) 103: 525–530, DOI 10.1007/698_2020_655, © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020, Published online: 21 August 2020

525

S. Pérez (🖂), D. Barceló, N. Montemurro, and P. Eichhorn

ENFOCHEM, Department of Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research IDAEA-CSIC, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: spsqam@cid.csic.es

S. Chiron UMR HydroSciences 5569, HSM, Montpellier University, Montpellier, France

1 Introduction

Pharmaceuticals constitute a structurally diverse class of mostly synthetic organic compounds that have been designed and optimized for their efficient and selective interaction with a specific macromolecular target whose modulation has been demonstrated to result in the desired pharmacological response in the treated organism. In case of drugs for the diagnosis, prevention, and treatment of medical conditions in humans, the ultimate goal of all research and development efforts in industrial settings is to deliver medicines with proven efficacy and safety for a given indication. Therefore, drugs receiving marketing authorization from the regulatory agencies have undergone extensive testing in clinical trials involving large number of patients to fully satisfy the two aforementioned essential requirements. As desirable as it may appear from an environmental perspective, pharmaceutical compounds are designed in the first place to improve the health of human beings according to the treatment plan with a given route of administration. In many cases this means that high metabolic stability in the human body is a desirable feature; only when the rate of biotransformation is low enough can systemic exposure at an acceptable dose be achieved. If drug metabolism is extensively studied at the drug discovery stage, including the elucidation of metabolic pathways and the identification of the enzymes responsible for each of the reactions, then these investigations aim at gaining a broad understanding of the clearance mechanisms as part of the overall characterization of the elimination routes and at assessing the potential of drug-drug interactions in clinical settings. Whether a drug is extensively metabolized or rather excreted in unaltered form from the human body is indeed an important characteristic of the compound, but directing its design toward one pathway or the other is not a goal per se. In other words, whatever the excretion profile looks like, drug safety in the narrow sense essentially ends once all drug-related material has been eliminated from the human body. At this very moment, though, it may become an environmental problem.

After more than two decades of extensive studies on the environmental occurrence, distribution and fate of drugs, and the generation of a huge body of literature on these topics, it is an undeniable matter of fact that the large majority of sewageborne drugs are incompletely removed from the waste stream ultimately finding their way into the aquatic environment, or, if the treated wastewater is reused in agriculture for irrigation purposes, they can become soil contaminants.

2 Presence of Drugs in Soils and Their Remediation

Soil is an environmental compartment, which is exposed to PhACs residues through TWW reuse and acts as a sink facilitating their secondary transfer to others compartments (e.g., soil-living organisms and plants). More research is needed to quantify the current risk of PhACs in wastewater reuse systems, in particular

where multiple receptors are considered, such as exposure to wildlife and the soil microbial community. This new knowledge will enable the development of thresholds for safe reuse of wastewater. Earthworms are key organisms to evaluate soil quality and represent ideal sentinel organisms for assessing soil contamination, as they are in contact with soil and soil solution, tend to migrate over only short distances, and are widely distributed in soils around the globe. The possible role of *Lumbricus terrestris* involvement on reducing pesticides and pharmaceuticals toxicity has been demonstrated.

There are two general strategies for mitigation of PhACs in soil or their availability to crops. One is simply to decrease the concentrations of drugs before the reclaimed water is irrigated into agricultural soil. Since conventional WWTPs cannot remove most of the PhACs from domestic effluents, some advanced treatment technologies (e.g., ozone and adsorption on activated carbon) have been strongly recommended. However, these systems often require a high energy input and/or can produce undesirable by-products. The development of additional effective and low-cost treatments are needed to improve water quality. Constructed wetlands (CWs), as an eco-sustainable wastewater treatment system, have been attracted more attention especially in rural regions. However, the conventional CWs are insufficient as they are unable to remove PhACs efficiently. There is therefore an urgent need to develop more cost-effective CW systems to enhance the removal efficiency of different PhACs classes. Promising technologies are the microelectrolysis CWs, in which the electron transfer, microbial growth and metabolic enzyme activity, and biodegradation ability of microorganism can be promoted or bioaugmented CWs with endophytic microorganisms which can also help in the degradation of PhACs. The other strategy is to increase the degradation of PhACs in soil by involving a broad range of agricultural practices that have the potential to lower the amount of pharmaceuticals and/or their bioavailability but also by including possibility of on-site remediation. Amendment with fungi (e.g., Trichoderma spp.) or with adapted soil microorganisms to pharmaceutical biodegradation might be a wise choice for minimizing the level of PhACs in agricultural soil. The use of earthworms to clean biosolids and manure (ex situ vermiremediation) and to reduce pharmaceutical bioavailability to plants (in situ vermiremediation) has also been suggested. The impact of earthworms on soil physicochemical and biological properties together with the tolerance of these organisms to PhACs makes these bioremediation strategies viable in soils receiving pharmaceutical-contaminated amendments and water.

3 Presence, Uptake, and Metabolism of Drugs in Crops

From a quantitative perspective, it can be anticipated that the drug loads reaching wastewater treatment plants will increase in the near future owing to the aging population, demographic growth, expanding lifestyle diseases particularly in Western countries, and those adopting their bad habits while at the same time climate

change increases the pressure on freshwater resources in many regions where precipitations are scarce and subject to large seasonal and annual fluctuations. Concentrations of human pharmaceuticals and their metabolites are detected continuously in wastewaters. Since the use of treated wastewater to irrigate crops is getting widespread in regions where freshwater is limited, drugs are released in the agrosystems by wastewater irrigation. Then soils are exposed to drugs, and crops can take up and translocate them becoming this fact a food safety issue. Many of the reported plant uptake studies have been performed in hydroponic settings; the information on the fate of these compounds in soil-plant system is not always available. Only through field experiments can the actual potential uptake of drugs by crops be fully assessed and integrated into a database for risk assessment. The chemical uptake by plant roots in soil-root-leaves system depends largely on sorption and desorption of contaminants in soils and their physicochemical properties.

In general, organic chemicals with $\log P > 4$ are expected to have a high potential for root retention and low translocation capacity. Moderately hydrophobic compounds are most likely to be translocated by plants, as observed in previous research with the most translocatable compounds exhibiting a logP between 1 and 4. The molecular mass histogram demonstrates that translocatable compounds generally have a molecular mass of <350 Da, below Lipinski's cutoff of 500 Da. Hydrogen bond donor and acceptor histograms appear to have cutoffs around 4 and 7, respectively. Carbamazepine as a neutral compound is expected to show high mobility in plants because of its low molecular weight (236 Da), a moderate logP (2.8), and low hydrogen bonding capacity (1 donor and 1 acceptor). Other compounds that can potentially be translocated are expected to be identified by considering the balance between water solubility, passive membrane permeability, and size. Once they are translocated the compounds can covalently bound to vacuoles. There are a few studies evaluating the formation of non-extractable residues of drugs, the most informative experimental approach being the use of radiolabeled ¹⁴C compounds. Recently, in a study using ¹⁴C-labeled diclofenac and naproxen, a large fraction of these compounds was observed to be converted into not extractable material in plant tissues. There is the need to conduct more studies with radiolabeled drugs to facilitate quantitative assessment of covalent binding, in order to evaluate which compounds are most prone to be bound. At the last step prior to human consumption are studies to determine the relevance of the release of bound-residues upon cooking or other forms of food processing.

4 Toxicity in the Environment and Humans

Few studies have evaluated the exposure of drugs through the intake of vegetables. Some studies have demonstrated that health threat due to the consumption of vegetables irrigated with treated wastewater is low. However, it has been detected that in root crops for two compounds (lamotrigine and 10,11-epoxycarbamazepine) detected in carrot roots, carrot leaves, and sweet potato leaves, a health risk was suggested. The level of toxicity of these compounds and other potential toxic drugs should be determined, after which regulation of maximum permissible levels in treated wastewater for irrigation could be established.

In the environment, the toxicity of drugs has been evaluated in soil biota. *Lumbricus terrestris* has appeared as a good alternative to the *Eisenia* spp. models in acute toxicity testing and as a good bioindicator in soil toxicity assessment. Research has primarily centered on evaluating the effects of veterinary pharmaceuticals (antibiotics) with the most common end-points considering survival, reproduction, and alterations in behavior. More research, characterizing the risk using a wider variety of pharmaceuticals under environmentally relevant exposure scenarios is urgently needed by incorporating "omic" disciplines as effective and reliable biomarkers, as well as recent technical advances in metabolite identification into toxicity evaluation. As far as phytotoxicity of PhACs is concerned, it is important to highlight that the majority of studies that have elucidated their effects on plants have used high exposure concentrations into a growth medium, which do not resemble in vivo situations occurring in the natural soil environment. More recently, research has started to explore the potential for sublethal effects or changes in key plant parameters at lower, environmentally relevant concentrations. One promising approach is the measurement of the alteration of plant hormones concentrations because these play an integral role in plant growth processes as well as in biotic and abiotic stress responses and because hormone-triggered changes may be the basis for more long-term visual phytotoxic responses. The assessment of the ecotoxicity of PhACs on soil microorganisms is lagging behind the risk assessment procedures for terrestrial macroorganisms, despite their well-documented pivotal role in ecosystem functioning. We are still missing several pieces of the puzzle including (1) a meaningful tiered approach, (2) well-defined experimental protocols, and (3) functional microbial groups, which can act as bioindicators. For pesticides regulation, key functional microbial groups were identified as potential microbial indicators such as arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) due to their key role in plant nutrition and ammonia-oxidizing microorganisms (AOM) due to their involvement in the cycling of nitrogen. However, similar work has not been conducted for PhACs yet.

5 Methods for the Analysis of PhACs in Soil-Crops Systems

In the past, research has focused on the analysis and determination of PhACs in particular in waste or surface water. Only recently, due to the growing demand for water in the agricultural sector, the attention of the scientific community has started to shift to the effects of emerging contaminants in soil and plants. Therefore, the big challenge is to identify chemicals that could potentially have harmful effects on human health, terrestrial and aquatic organisms, and ecosystems.

The main problem concerns the search for more efficient and more accurate analytical methods, as well as the need to obtain reliable analytical information on a greater number of known chemical compounds that may be present in the tested samples. Indeed, determining the presence and quantification of pharmaceutical residues in soil and plant tissues requires significant effort. Therefore, rapid progress and improvements in instrumentation over the last decade have led to the development of new analytical procedures and control measurement tools that allow the detection, identification, and quantification of an ever wider range of analytes at an ever lower content level in samples characterized by a complex and variable matrix such as soil or plant tissues. In these procedures, improvements have been made in the detection, separation, identification, and quantification steps of the widest possible spectrum of analytes for a careful assessment of the state of the environment and the life of aquatic and terrestrial organisms, as well as the impact on human health.

These improvements, which can be used for the detection and quantification of analytes, can include, for example, ecological extraction procedures thanks to the use of alternative and more environmentally friendly solvents. New solutions can also be represented by the introduction of simplified analytical protocols for the preparation of samples and extraction processes, or by the application of miniaturized techniques that allow you to work on small quantities of sample, or by the introduction of new sorbents for the cleanup of the matrix.

High-resolution mass spectrometry (HR-MS) also has many unexplored potentials for studying the effects of drugs in soil or plants. In fact, its use together with mathematical and chemometric models allows the development of methodologies for the evaluation of the presence of thousands of unknown compounds or for the study of metabolism through the retrospective analysis of previously acquired data.

Finally, in the near future, it will be possible to use direct analytical techniques which allow to eliminate the treatment of the sample and which can be used for the direct detection and/or determination of analytes, limiting the loss of the analytes of interest due to the strong processes: extraction. This approach is particularly interesting because no sample preparation is necessary for the analysis of the tested material.

A last wish would be to soon establish limits of xenobiotic contaminants in the water reused in agriculture, as well as we should think of standardized analytical methods as in the case of pesticides.

Acknowledgments This study has been financially supported by the EU through Water Joint Programming Initiative (WATER-JPI) of the European Research Area (ERA-NET). Water JPI-2015 AWARE project and the Spanish Ministry of Science (PCIN-2017-067). The EU is not liable for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.